
Health and Wellbeing Board

Date Wednesday 30 January 2019
Time 9.30 am – 12 noon
Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend.
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman’s 

agreement

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Substitute Members  

3. Declarations of Interest  

4. Minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 2018  (Pages 5 - 14)

5. Health and Social Care Plan (standard item): Update from Corporate 
Director Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council; Chief 
Operating Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups; and Director of Integrated 
Community Services, NHS County Durham and Durham County 
Council  

6. Summaries of Planning Guidance and NHS Long Term Plan: Report of 
Chief Operating Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales Easington 
and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups  (Pages 15 - 24)

7. Monitoring update of SEND written statement of action: Report of 
Corporate Director, Children and Young People's Services, Durham 
County Council  (Pages 25 - 52)

8. Health and Wellbeing Board Charters: Report of Strategic Manager 
Partnerships, Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County 
Council  (Pages 53 - 76)



9. Health Protection Annual Assurance: Report of Director of Public 
Health County Durham, Durham County Council  (Pages 77 - 114)

10. Children, Young People and Adults with Autism: Report of Head of 
Commissioning, Durham County Council, and Principal Educational 
Psychologist, Durham County Council  (Pages 115 - 138)

11. Review of suicide rates and mental health and wellbeing in County 
Durham: Report of Chair of Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, Durham County Council  (Pages 139 - 200)

12. Sustainable Primary Care Services in County Durham - GP surgeries: 
Report of Chief Clinical Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups  (Pages 201 
- 228)

13. JTAI Action Plan: Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People's Services, Durham County Council  (Pages 229 - 234)

14. County Durham Plan: Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration 
and Local Services, Durham County Council  (Pages 235 - 632)

15. Public Health Campaigns: Presentation of Director of Public Health 
County Durham, Durham County Council  (Pages 633 - 640)

16. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

17. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information  

Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

18. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
22 January 2019



To: The Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board

Durham County Council 

Councillors L Hovvels (Chairman), J Allen and O Gunn

J Robinson Adult and Health Services, Durham County 
Council

M Whellans Children and Young People’s Services, 
Durham County Council

A Healy Public Health, County Durham Adult and 
Health Services, Durham County Council

N Bailey North Durham and Durham Dales Easington 
and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Groups

Dr D Smart North Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group

Dr S Findlay Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Group

Dr J Smith Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Group

S Jacques County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust

J Gillon North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation 
Trust

L Buckley Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust

V Mitchell City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation 
Trust

B Jackson Healthwatch County Durham
R Chillery Harrogate and District NHS Foundation 

Trust
L Jeavons North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington 

and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Groups and Durham County Council

J Carling

D Brown

Office of the Police, Crime, and Victim’s 
Commissioner
County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Service

Contact: Jackie Graham Tel: 03000 269704



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held in County Hall, Durham on Thursday 
29 November 2018 at 9.30 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor L Hovvels (Chairman) 

 

Members of the Board: 

Councillor O Gunn, D Brown, L Buckley, Dr S Findlay, A Healy, S Jacques and Dr D 
Smart 
 

 
1 Apologies for Absence  

 
Apologies of absence were received from Councillor J Allen, N Bailey, R Chillery, J 
Gillon, B Jackson, L Jeavons, V Mitchell, J Robinson and Dr J Smith 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
D Elliott for J Robinson, S Lamb for R Chillery and J Parkes for J Gillon 
 

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 4 September 2018 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

5 Vision for the County Durham Partnership  
 
The Board received a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships, 
Durham County Council that advised of the emerging findings  and provided an 
outline of the next public consultation phase in the development of a new vision for 
County Durham (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Head of Partnerships and Community Engagement, Durham County Council 
informed the board that further to the decision made by the County Durham 
Partnership to refresh the vision for the county, this document had been produced 
based on the findings from consultation feedback, performance data and main 
policy drivers. 
 
The Head of Partnerships and Community Engagement reported that focus groups 
had been set up through the Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) and an online 
questionnaire had been developed. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 
The Strategic Manager Partnerships asked the board to feed any comments back 
to her before the Christmas period. 
 
Resolved: 
That the emerging findings and content of the consultation plan be noted. 
 

6 Director of Public Health Annual Report, including Transforming County 
Durham's JSNA and developing Durham Insight  
 
The Board received a report and presentation of the Director of Public Health, 
Durham County Council that presented her Annual Report for 2018 (for copy see 
file of Minutes). 
 
The Director of Public Health gave a detailed presentation on the Annual Report 
that focused on the new vision for the public’s health in County Durham.  The 
presentation highlighted the following:- 
 

 Health and wellbeing across County Durham 
o Our county 
o Our children 
o Our adults 
o Our older people 
o Our assets 

 Where we are now? 
o Reduction of nearly 22,000 smoker with a pledge to further reduce this by 

another 5% by 2025 
o Now lower than the national average 
o Need to support another 53,000 smokers and lift people out of poverty 

 
The Director of Public Health informed the Committee that the report had focused 
on a fictional family ‘the Taylors’ and the challenges they faced. 
 
The presentation then highlighted:- 
 

 The seven strategic priorities 

 Our actions 

 What this meant for the Taylor family 

 JSNA transformation process – key themes 

 Proposed new structure for County Durham – JSNA process 
 
Resolved: 
That the annual report be received. 
 

7 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2019 - 22  
 
The Board considered a report of the Strategic Manager Partnerships, 
Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council that set out the draft 
vision for the Health and Wellbeing Board, the objectives for the Joint Health and 

Page 6



Wellbeing Strategy (JSNA) for 2019-22, and that provided an update on the 
process for the refresh of the strategy (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Strategic Manager Partnerships highlighted the current strategic objectives, the 
process for the refresh of the vision and the suggested new strategic objectives.  
The draft Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy would be presented to the board in 
early 2019. 
 
The Director of Operations Durham and Darlington, TEWV said that he was happy 
with the new strategic objectives and would be carrying out further work around 
adult mental health and how this could fit in with Teams Around the Patients. 
 
Councillor Gunn asked how this would be aligned to other plans such as the County 
Durham Partnership Vision, The Clinical Commissioning Groups Operational Plans 
and the Children and Young People’s Plan.  The Strategic Manager Partnerships 
advised that this alignment would be done by working with partners. 
 
Referring to the Health and Wellbeing vision, the Director of Public Health said that 
we needed consistency of what this was in line with the County Durham Vision.  In 
response, the Strategic Manager Partnerships said that the County Durham Vision 
was much wider with health being one aspect of it. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the vision for the Health and Wellbeing Board be agreed. 
(ii) That further work with leads to take place to identify key ambitions for the 

Health and Wellbeing Board to work towards be noted. 
(iii) That the six strategic objectives for the JHWS 2019-22 be agreed. 
(iv) That progress for the refresh of the JHWS 2019-22 be noted. 

 
8 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2016-19 Q2 Performance Report  

 
The Board considered a report of the Head of Strategy, Transformation and 
Partnerships, Durham County Council that described the progress being made 
against the priorities and outcomes set within the County Durham Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2016-19 (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager, Durham County Council gave a 
presentation that highlighted the following:- 
 

 Escalation Areas and Strategic Objectives 
o Smoking at the time of delivery – the figure had come down marginally 

from last year with 16.9% in County Durham compared to 10% nationally 
o Percentage of patients seen face to face second contact within 9 weeks 

of referral to CAMHS – the target of 90% had deteriorated with an 
increase in the number of people going through the system 

o Successful completion of drug and alcohol treatment – there had been a 
recent decline in performance which could be attributable to the transition 
to a new provider 

o Gap between the employment rate for those with a long-term health 
condition and the overall employment rate – an emerging issue in County 

Page 7



Durham with overall improvement over the last few years.  However, 
there was a larger gap between healthy and unhealthy people.  

 
The Chief Clinical Officer, DDES CCG asked if the indicators for drugs and alcohol 
had impacted on performance and was advised that there had been a lot of 
changes over the last six to nine months and the data was being gathered to learn 
from it.  The Director of Public Health said that there had been a lot of instability due 
to the previous provider failing and there had been a new provider procured.  Work 
was ongoing with long term opiate clients to tailor treatment for them based on age 
and gender which was expected to increase successful completions. 
 
The Director of Operations Durham and Darlington, TEWV advised that they were 
working closely with the CCGs on early interventions.  They were seeking funding 
for two further placements that would help overcome the challenges.  With regards 
to the CAMHS data there had been a 12% increase in referrals from last year.  He 
confirmed that all patients had appointments and that the nine week wait had been 
a challenge. 
 
Referring to mental health of young people, the Head of Children's Public Health 
Nursing, Harrogate & District NHS Foundation Trust informed the board that a lot of 
work was ongoing with children who were not referred to CAMHS.  The Director of 
Public Health commented that this area was a real concern and joint workshops 
had been held to look at pathways and the quality of services provided. 
 
The Chairman, as a mental health champion, said that we should all strive to do 
more in this area and to continue to tackle the challenges. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the performance highlights and areas for improvements identified 
throughout the report be noted. 

(ii) That the actions taking place to improve performance be noted, and any 
additional action planning required be agreed. 

(iii) That performance against the 2017/18 and 2018/19 Quality Premium 
Indicators be noted. 

 
9 The children and young people's mental health, emotional wellbeing and 

resilience local transformation plan on a page consultation  
 
The Board received a joint report of the Corporate Director, Children and Young 
People's Services, Durham County Council, and Director of Public Health, Durham 
County Council that provided consultation feedback on the draft children’s mental 
health, emotional wellbeing and resilience local transformation plan on a page 
2018-2020 (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Councillor Gunn was pleased to see that children and young people had been 
involved in the development of the plan as it was important to listen to their 
concerns and views.  She would like to receive some feedback on how many 
looked after children had been involved in the process. 
 
 

Page 8



Resolved: 
(i) That consultation had taken place be noted and the CYP MH LTP plan on 

page be signed off. 
(ii) That the actions within the CYP MH LTP would be part of the overarching all 

age mental health strategy for County Durham, and that would be a major 
theme within the development of the children’s strategy for County 
Durham, be noted. 

(iii) That the full CYP MH LTP assurance document, signed off by the Chair of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Corporate Director of Children 
and Young People’s Services on 25 October, as per the requirements of 
NHS England ahead of submission on 31 October 2018 be noted. 

 
10 Durham's Mental Health Strategy and Concordat 2018-2021  

 
The Board received a report of the Director of Corporate Programmes, Delivery and 
Operations, North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group that highlighted the 
comments received during Mental Health Strategic Plan (MHSPB) development, 
the impact of those on the future work of the MHSPB and it’s delivery workstreams, 
the initiatives being planned for 2018/19 and the emergence of a new mental health 
strategy and concordat (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Councillor Gunn expressed concerns about the transitional arrangements from 
children to adult services and was advised that this would be developed through the 
appropriate workstream and was an area of focus.  
 
The Director of Operations Durham and Darlington, TEWV commented that the 
workstream were suggesting that the transitional arrangements should run up to the 
age of 25 as some young people were not ready to transition at the age of 18.  
They would look at the overlaps and when it was best for that young person to hand 
over. 
 
The Interim Head of Commissioning, Adult and Health Services, Durham County 
Council reported that a lot of work was taking place with colleagues in Children’s 
Services in relation to this area of work.   
 
The Assistant Chief Fire Officer commended the fictional  ‘Taylor’ family within the 
Director of Public Health’s Annual report and said that this was a really good way to 
interlink across the board and get messages across. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the content of the report, noting the outcome of the consultation and the 
response of the Mental Health Strategic Partnership Board be noted. 

(ii) That the Mental Health Strategic Plan and infographic in Appendices 2 & 3 
be approved. 

(iii) That the Mental Health Strategy and Concordat in Appendix 4 be approved. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



11 Market Position Statement 2019/21  
 
The Board received a report of Interim Head of Commissioning, Durham County 
Council that presented the revised Market Position Statement for 2019/21 (for copy 
see file of Minutes). 
 
The Interim Head of Commissioning highlighted the key messages in the statement 
and the key areas of concern, including mental health and housing. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the report be noted. 
(ii) That the Market Position Statement, as the final document for circulation, be 

endorsed. 
 

12 Public Health Grant  
 
The Board received a report and presentation from the Director of Public Health, 
Durham County Council that highlighted the risks to future public health funding and 
the potential impact on activities related to the health and wellbeing of Durham 
residents (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The presentation included information on the following:- 
 

 Background about the grant 

 Public Health responsibilities 

 Proposals beyond 2020 and implications for Durham 

 Key Areas of Focus and Future Lobbying 

 Comparison of County Durham , the North East, England (the best and 
worst) and Surrey and Herfordshire LAs 

 Successes 

 Risks 

 Next steps 
 
The Board and partners agreed to give support by writing to central government.   
 
The Chairman stressed that this affected all partners and the prevention agenda 
that we were all trying to deliver. 
 
Councillor Gunn was fully supportive of this and commented on the real effects of 
budget cuts across the local authority and commented that it was important to work 
together across all partnerships to provide the best possible support. 
 
With regards to the 0-19 services, the Head of Children's Public Health Nursing, 
Harrogate & District NHSFT said that the amount of safeguarding issues and 
serious case reviews had increased and were in need of further funding without 
having the implications of additional cuts. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the report be noted. 

Page 10



(ii) That the activities being co-ordinated by the Director of Public Health be 
endorsed. 

(iii) That these activities be supported personally through appropriate channels.  
 

13 Health and Social Care Plan  
 
The Board received a presentation from the Chief Clinical Officer DDES CCG that 
gave an overview of the Integrated Care Partnership and an update on the 
Integrated Care System (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The presentation highlighted the following:- 
 

 ICP 
o Ambition 
o Integrated Model – Progress 
o The next steps 
o Reminder of the future 

 

 ICS 
o Overview 
o Integrated Care Partnerships 

 
Resolved: 
That the presentation be noted. 
 
 

14 Better Care Fund Quarter 1 Performance Report 2018/19  
 
The Board considered a report of the Strategic Programme Manager Integration, 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council that provided an update on the 
Better Care Fund (BCF) Q1 2018/19 benchmarking and analysis of non-elective 
admissions data (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Strategic Programme Manager advised the target for permanent admissions of 
older people to residential/nursing care homes was a challenge and above target as 
there had been an increase in the number of beds days for patients with dementia.    
With regards to delayed transfers of care performance had missed the target due to 
waiting for non-acute care. With regards to delayed transfer of care, although above 
target, there was close scrutiny taking place on this on a daily basis and Durham 
had been the 14th lowest in England, however, good performance in August had 
seen this rise to 10th.  
 
The Board were advised that quarter two data would be available shortly and 
circulated to members. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the contents of this report be noted. 
(ii) That to receive further updates in relation to BCF quarterly performance be 

agreed. 
 

Page 11



15 Smoke Free NHS  
 
The Board received a joint report from the Chief Executive, County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT), and the Director of Operations Durham 
and Darlington, Tees Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) that 
gave updates on becoming NHS Smokefree NHS Foundation Trusts (for copy see 
file of Minutes). 
 
The Chief Executive and General Manager for Mental Health and Health 
Improvement Services, CDDFT gave a presentation that highlighted the following:- 
 

 Why people smoke 

 Impact of smoking in County Durham 

 Smokefree NHS is strategically important 

 PHE Tobacco Control Delivery Plan 

 Our approach 

 Our priorities 

 Preventing ill health by risky behaviours 

 Proposed community approach 
 
The Director of Operations Durham and Darlington, TEWV presented the following 
smokefree update:- 
 

 Smokefree Trust 

 Nicotine Replacement Therapy – first 6 months 

 Trust wide Anti-Smoking Status 

 Friends & Family Test Results (FFT) 

 CQUIN 2017-2018 

 CQUIN 2018-2019 

 PHE report 

 Future Goals 2018-2019 

 Trust signing of national smokefree pledge 
 
The Strategic Manager Partnerships asked what support was given to staff and was 
advised by the Director of Operations that TEWV had carried out a nicotine 
replacement scheme initially and had introduced a smokefree site. 
 
The Director of Public Health congratulated the NHS Trusts on some fantastic 
results.  She advised of some joint working around e-cigarettes through the 
Tobacco Alliance.  The Corporate Director of Operations also advised of work that 
would be carried out in prisons and acute hospitals. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the presentation be received. 
(ii) That the Northumberland, Tyne & Wear and TEWV Executive Summary 

detailed in Appendix 2 be noted. 
 
 

Page 12



16 Evaluation of County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service Safe 
and Wellbeing Visits  
 
The Board received a report of the Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council that provided the results of the co-produced evaluation study of the Safe 
and Wellbeing Visits (SWV) delivered by County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Service (CDDFRS) and the recommendations for future consideration (for 
copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Assistant Chief Fire Officer informed the board that safe and wellbeing visits 
had been a part of the prevention agenda since 2004, and since then there had 
been a 40% reduction in fires.  He went on to advise that the Fire and Rescue 
Service also fit free smoke alarms and advised on fire safety aspects such as 
overloading sockets, consoles and exit routes.  The board were informed that 
18,000 homes were visited throughout the year and the officers had an 
understanding of looking for vulnerable homes.  Nationally, the role of a fire fighter 
had broadened and now included looking at risk factors of dying in a fire.   
 
The Public Health Strategic Manager gave a detailed presentation that included the 
following information:- 
 

 Background to the Safe and Wellbeing Visits 

 Research aims and objectives 

 Key Findings 

 Key Recommendations 
 
He advised that the next steps would be for CDDFRS and public health to develop 
an action plan. 
 
The Head of Children's Public Health Nursing, Harrogate & District NHSFT said that 
the outcomes were focused on the elderly but asked if there was any evidence that 
pointed to issues of neglect, in particular for under four year olds.  She further 
asked if the officers would look for signs of domestic abuse and make safeguarding 
referrals.  The Assistant Chief Fire Officer advised that those issues were not 
covered under safe and wellbeing but under a separate process that had its own 
pathway.  Under the safe and wellbeing visits, people had to be informed as to the 
reason for the visit.  Under the evaluation, the Public Health Strategic Manager said 
that many risk factors had been associated with age. 
 
The Director of Public Health advised that an in depth piece of work would be 
carried out looking at the measures and interactions that the fire service had.  This 
was sometimes enough for people and referrals would not be necessary, as 
intervention was just as important. 
 
In response to a question from the Chairman, the Director of Public Health advised 
that care leavers and young people were a targeted area for people accessing the 
service. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the content of the report be noted. 

Page 13



(ii) That consideration be given to the report’s findings and recommendations. 
(iii) That an action plan update in the next six months from the Fire and Rescue 

Service be received.  
 

17 Public Health Campaigns  
 
The Board received a presentation from the Director of Public Health, Durham 
County Council regarding the latest Public Health Campaigns on the following:- 
 

 Tobacco 

 Alcohol 

 Mental health and wellbeing 
 
Resolved: 
That the presentation be noted. 
 

18 Exclusion of the public  
 
Resolved: 
 
That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 

19 Pharmacy applications  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health County Durham 
which provided a summary of a Pharmacy Relocation Application received from 
NHS England in accordance with the NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local 
Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013  (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
That the report be noted. 
 

Page 14



Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
30 January 2019 
 
Summaries of Planning Guidance and 
NHS Long Term Plan 
 
 
Report of Stewart Findlay, Chief Operating Officer – Durham Dales, 
Easington & Sedgefield, and North Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCGs) 
  
Purpose of the Report 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to present an overview summary on the                 

recently published NHS Planning Guidance 2019/20 
(https://www.england.nhs.uk/operational-planning-and-contracting/ ) 
and the NHS Long Term Plan (https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/) and 
how Durham will work together to develop a single plan.   

Executive Summary 
 
2  This report provides a summary of both the NHS Long Term Plan and 

 the annual Planning Guidance and outlines the key elements of each, 
 and how we are going to work together across the Durham system. 

3 It is planned to have a Durham system one-year plan which will include 
a communication and engagement plan for the system for submission 
by 4 April 2019, coming to the Health and Wellbeing Board in March 
2019.   

4 A longer term 4 year plan for Durham taking into consideration the 
NHS      Long Term Plan and Health and Wellbeing Strategy will be 
completed for autumn 2019 inclusive of a communication and 
engagement plan.   

Recommendation(s) 
 
5  Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

a) Note the contents of this report and next steps.  

 
 
 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6

https://www.england.nhs.uk/operational-planning-and-contracting/
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/


The NHS Long-Term Plan 
 
6  The NHS Long Term Plan was published on Monday 7 January, which 

 Simon Stevens (Chief Executive) stated was realistic, practical, costed, 

 detailed, phased and ambitious.  

 

7  The Plan is expected to tackle the big killers and disablers of wellbeing 

 (heart attacks, strokes, cancers, etc.) and addressing unmet need, 

 particularly in Learning Disability, Autism and Mental Health.  

 

8  A significant element of the plan is workforce, where the majority of the 

 additional £20bn will be spent increasing the workforce and developing 

 emerging roles to enable greater flexibility within the workforce. 

 

9  The plan has 7 chapters, each of which sets out significant changes, 

 challenges or goals. 

 

10  Chapter 1 describes a new service model which builds on the  drive to 

 provide more services closer to home, rather than in hospital. Within 

 this model is the goal to reduce outpatient appointments by a third 

 through closer working between primary care and secondary care, 

 increased use of digital consultations, development of integrated 

 community teams able to respond more rapidly to urgent care needs, 

 prescribing. 

 

11  Chapter 2 focuses on prevention and health inequality. The plan 

 describes funding for specific and new evidence-based NHS prevention 

 programmes to cut smoking, reduce obesity, limit alcohol related A&E 

 admissions, and to low air pollution. NHS England will therefore base its 

 5-year funding allocations to local areas on more accurate assessment 

 of health inequalities and unmet need. Each area will be expected to set 

 out specific, measureable goals to narrow health inequality. The plan 

 also refers to the NHS possibly having a future role in the joint 

 commissioning of services currently commissioned from the Public 

 Health budget, notably sexual health, health visitors and school 

 nurses, given their impact on the demand for NHS services and that 

 these are often provided by NHS Trusts. 

 

12  Chapter 3 identifies the NHS priorities in care quality and outcomes 

 improvement, extending the work already undertaken on cancer, mental 

Page 16



 health, diabetes and dementia, to extending its reach to children’s 

 health, learning disability and autism. This includes increasing the 

 numbers of early cancer diagnosis from 50% to 75%, and ensuring that 

 the mental health budget increases at a greater rate than the overall 

 budget. 

 

13  Workforce issues are covered in chapter 4, including a commitment to 

 increase the number of training places for nurses and other staff, 

 introducing non-traditional routes into professional roles, such as 

 apprenticeships and associate roles. New roles will also be developed 

 that are inter-disciplinary and enable staff to move more flexibly across 

 staff groups. 

 

14  Chapter 5 relates to Information Technology, including universal access 

 to patient records across the NHS, and in the development of predictive 

 techniques to support local Integrated Care Systems (ICS) to plan and 

 optimise care for their population. 

 

15  Chapter 6 covers how the 3.4% five-year funding settlement will support 

 all NHS organisations to achieve financial sustainability. This includes 

 the continuation of efficiency schemes, reform of payment systems and 

 incentives, and a further reduction in reduced administrative costs 

 across both commissioners and providers. 

 

16  Chapter 7 explains the next steps in implementing the plan, recognising 

 that 2019-20 is a transition year. There are recommendations to change 

 legislation without wholesale organisational reform, including removal of 

 the requirement to promote competition and open procurement for all 

 services. The role of Local Authorities within the development of ‘Place 

 Based Care’ is central to the plan’s success, and as the foundation of 

 the wider Integrated Care Systems (ICS) which will be established 

 across the country by April 2021. 

 

The NHS Annual Planning Guidance 2019/20 

17 The NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 2019/20 
(‘The guidance’) was published on the 10th January 2019 to support 
the implementation of the first year of the Long-Term Plan. 

 

Page 17



18  The guidance is split into three sections; System Planning, Financial 

 Settlement, and Operational Plan Requirements. 

19 The guidance sets out the requirement for all operational plans to 
 contribute to, and make reference of, Integrated Care Systems (ICS) 
 and Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) plans. Whilst this year is 
 considered a ‘bridge-year’ for the development of ICS and ICPs 
 there remains a requirement to stipulate how each system will use its 
 financial resources to meet the needs of its population, and what the 
 system will deliver in 2019/20. This is to include both specialised / direct 
 commissioned services and CCG / provider plans. 
 
20 The requirements are to be underpinned with an aggregation of 
 system data (activity, workforce, finance and contracting) which 
 demonstrates how all individual organisational plans align to the 
 system plan. Therefore all activity volumes within CCG plans must 
 match those in the ICP / ICS provider plans, and vice versa. 
 
21 The financial settlement guidance is predominantly technical guidance 
 which outlines (amongst others) how; 

 staff pay increases are to be funded 

 changes to the payment / tariff system 

 changes in the NHS Standard Contract 

 Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework 

(CQUIN) reductions 

 changes to the Market Forces Factor, and 

 reforms to the Provider Sustainability Fund 

22 During 2019/20 CCGs are expected to deliver a 20% real terms 
 reduction in running costs against their 2017/18 figure. This is expected 
 to be achieved through improvement in collective efficiency and 
 effectiveness with other CCG and partners. 
 
23 The Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) for 2019/20 requires an 
 increase spend by at least the overall programme allocation growth, 
 plus an additional percentage increment , including increasing the share 
 of their total mental health spend with mental health providers. Spend 
 on Children’s and Young People’s mental health must also increase as 
 a percentage of each CCG overall mental health spend. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



24 The Operational Plan Requirements are set out in 9 parts, with each
 detailing mandatory deliverables; 
 
 1. Emergency Care 
 2. Referral to Treatment Times (RTT) 
 3. Cancer Treatment 
 4. Mental Health 
 5. Learning Disabilities and Autism 
 6. Primary Care and Community Health Services 
 7. Workforce 
 8. Data and Technology 
 9. Personal Health Budgets 
 
Local Authority Involvement in the Delivery of the Long-Term Plan. 
 
25 The Long-Term Plan makes reference to the need to deliver services in 
 partnership with the Local Authority on a number of occasions. The first 
 is within Chapter 1 where there is a requirement to deliver a new model 
 of care that focuses on population health.  
 
26 There is support for the blending of health and social care budgets 
 where both Council and CCG agree this makes sense, with 4 models 
 described; 
 1.  Voluntary budget pooling between a council and CCG for some or 
  all of their responsibilities. 
 2. Individual service user budget pooling through personal health 
  and social care budgets. 
 3. The Salford model where the local authority has asked the NHS 
  to oversee a pooled budget for all adult health and care services 
  with a joint commissioning team. 
 4. The model where the CCG and local authority ask the chief  
  executive of NHS England to designate the council chief  
  executive or director of adult social care as the CCG accountable 
  officer. 
 
27 Hospital with the highest rate of alcohol-dependence related admissions 
 will be supported to establish Alcohol Care Teams using funding from 
 the CCG health inequalities funding supplement, and working in 
 partnership with the local authority commissioners of drug and alcohol 
 services.  
 
28 In partnership with children’s social care and education the Long-Term 
 Plan outlines the need to jointly develop packages to support children 
 with autism and other neurodevelopmental disorders. 
 

Page 19



29 As new models of care are developed there is a requirement to bring 
 children’s services closer to home through the joining physical and 
 mental health teams to support the delivery of care across the local 
 authority. This will include primary care, community care, speech and 
 language therapy, school nursing, oral health and specialist services. 
 This, in part, is aimed at reducing avoidable and unnecessary A&E 
 attendances from children and young people, who account for 25% of 
 all attendances.  
 
30 Mental health support for children and young people will be embedded 
 in schools and colleges, with the NHS funding new Mental Health 
 Support Teams that will provide additional capacity for early intervention 
 and ongoing help. 
 
Developing a Combined Durham System Approach 
 
31 The County Durham Integrated Care Board will coordinate the response 
 and development of a Durham system plan taking into consideration the 
 NHS  Long Term Plan. This will include the development of the one 
 year plan for 2019/20. 
 
32 Key to developing a Place Based / System Approach to delivery of 
 health and social care planning is the sharing of information, data, 
 plans, expectations and resources, within an open book and no surprise 
 culture.  
 
33 Central to this is to ensure all plans consider intended consequences on 
 the system, and harder still the mitigation of unintended consequences. 
 This requires partners to have sight of, and be able to comment upon, 
 organisational plans prior to formal approval by respective governing 
 bodies and executives.  
 
34 Through this sharing of plans and consideration of impacts at a system 
 level it is expected to develop a single Durham System Plan, which 
 aligns to organisational requirements. 
 
Next Steps 
 
35 An officer working group with representatives from CCGs, County 
 Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust, Tees Esk and Wear 
 Valleys NHS Foundation Trust and Durham County Council has been 
 identified to work collaboratively to develop the 2019/20 Durham 
 system  operational plan and long term plan. This will be under the 
 leadership of the partners through the County Durham Integrated Care 
 Board. 

Page 20



36 A draft system operational plan for 2019/20 will be presented to the 
 Health and Wellbeing Board meeting 6 March 2019 for consideration. 
 This will include an annual communication and engagement plan. 
 CCGs and NHS Trusts 2019/20 operational plans will form the basis of 
 the system operational plan. 

37 CCGs and NHS Trusts are required to submit their final 2019/20 
 operational plans to NHS England and NHS Improvement no later than 
 4 April 2019. 

38 A timetable is as yet to be announced for submission of the long term 
 plan. At this stage the guidance suggests autumn 2019. 

39 An additional report will be taken to the 6 March 2019 Health and 
 Wellbeing Board meeting outlining an approach and draft timetable for 
 the development of the longer term Durham system plan. This will 
 work towards the autumn 2019 timetable, take account of the 
 recently published NHS Long Term Plan and communication and 
 engagement plan. 

Contacts: Jon Quine, Commissioning 
Delivery Manager North of 
England Commissioning Support   
Michael Houghton, Director of 
Commissioning and Development, 
North Durham CCG  
Sarah Burns, Director of 
Commissioning DDES CCG 

07899 086357 
jon.quine1@nhs.net  

 
michael.houghton@nhs.net 
 
 
sarahburns3@nhs.net  

   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21

mailto:jon.quine1@nhs.net
mailto:michael.houghton@nhs.net
mailto:sarahburns3@nhs.net


Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications 
The NHS Plan makes reference to the NHS Constitutional Standards and 
steps to achieve these, which are support in law; all NHS Organisations are 
therefore obliged to adhere to these. There are also changes and implications 
for NHS Standard Contracts, again subject to the appropriate law in this 
regard. 
 
Finance 
The NHS Plan sets out how the financial settlement between government and 
the NHS will be delivered, including the obligations on NHS bodies to return to 
financial balance as part of the settlement.  
 
Consultation 
The DDES and North Durham Annual Operational Plan is a public document, 
and subject to Executive approval will be made publicly available on each 
CCG website. Any specific service reform that warrants public engagement 
and / or consultation will be undertaken in accordance with standard practice. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
All schemes / projects detailed in the CCGs Operational Plan are subject to 
Equality and Diversity Risk Assessment, Quality Impact Assessment, and 
Data Protection Impact Assessments. These are to ensure that any service 
reform does not negatively impact on any one part of our community. 
 
Human Rights 
The Human Rights Act (2000) ensures that all public authorities in the UK, 
including NHS organisations, have a positive obligation to respect and 
promote peoples’ human rights. These are underpinned by the core values of 
Fairness, Respect, Equality, Dignity and Autonomy for all. These values are at 
the heart of high quality health and social care, and continue to be upheld 
through the NHS Long Term Plan and Planning Guidance.  
 
Crime and Disorder 
There are no implications within either the Long Term Plan or Guidance in this 
regard. 
 
Staffing 
Workforce issues are reflected within the guidance, including the development 
of new roles and the recruitment of additional staff to fulfil the outcomes are 
stated. Detailed workforce plans are not in place at this time.  
 
 
 

Page 22



Accommodation 
Specific changes to accommodation requirements for County Durham are not 
reflected within the Plan or Guidance, though should such changes be 
required these will be subject to appropriate consultation processes on an 
individual basis. 
 
Risk 
Failure to deliver on the Long-Term Plan and adhere to The Guidance would 
increase the risks of poorer outcomes for our community, and the risk of direct 
intervention from NHS England / NHS Improvement. 
 
Procurement  
There are no implications for procurement within this report at this point.  
 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



  

Health and Wellbeing Board 

 30 January 2019 

Monitoring Update of the SEND Written 

Statement of Action 

 Information 

 

Report of Integrated Steering Group for Children 

Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director of Children and Young 
Peoples Service, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To inform the Health and Wellbeing Board of local area progress, one 
year on from the Ofsted and Care Quality Commission SEND 
Inspection. 

2 To notify the Health and Wellbeing Board of the next steps in the 
inspection of the Local Area. 

Executive summary 

3 The Local Area has made significant progress against each of the four 
areas of the Written Statement of Action (WSoA). 

4 The Local Area have been supported since July through monitoring and 
support visits from the DfE Regional SEN and Disability Professional 
Adviser and the NHS England Deputy Director of Quality Assurance.  
The last one took place in November and progress is being reported to 
DfE nationally.  Further monitoring and support meetings are due to be 
scheduled until the SEND Inspection re-visit takes place.  

5 As a new assurance of WSoA progress, all Local Areas with a WSoA 
will be subject to a revisit from Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC).  Durham is expected to be revisited before the end of December 
2019 which is 18 months after the WSoA was declared fit for purpose. 

Recommendation(s) 

6 The Board notes the progress made since the WSoA was put in place 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

7 The Board supports refinement of partnership governance 
arrangements to continue and strengthen partnership working and 
further improve outcomes for children and young people with SEND 

Background 

8 Between 27 November and 1 December 2017, Ofsted and the CQC 
conducted a joint inspection of the effectiveness of the area in 
implementing the disability and special educational needs reforms as 
set out in the Children and Families Act 2014. 

9 In addition to a range of strengths and areas for development the 
Inspection Team determined that four specific areas required a WSoA 
drawn up to improve local area provision.  The WSoA was declared fit 
for purpose on 28 June 2018. 

10 The Local Area has received three monitoring and support visits from 
the DfE Regional SEN and Disability Professional Adviser and the NHS 
England Deputy Director of Quality Assurance.  The most recent 
monitoring visit took place on 8 November 2018. 

11 The Integrated Steering Group for Children requested that a one year 
on report be completed to summarise the progress of the Local Area 
post the Local Area SEND Inspection. 

12 A summary of progress over the last year is included in the following 
four Sections of this report. The full report is included as appendix 2, 
should partners wish to access any of the supporting information 
referred to in the full report this can be provided by the author. 

Section 1 - Strategic leadership and governance of SEND reforms 

a) A new leadership, governance and accountability framework implemented 

b) Senior management restructure of children and young people’s services in 
Durham County Council establishing a Head of Early Help, Inclusion and 
Vulnerable Children with responsibility for SEND 

c) Quality Improvement Manager post established to develop, agree and 
implement service transformation and practice improvement to further 
support children and young people with SEND 

d) Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) response with a revised job 
description for Designated Clinical Officer. 

e) Integration of the Quality Improvement Manager and Designated Clinical 
Officer through their co-location and integrated work programme 

f) Strengthening of political oversight of SEND issues 

Page 26



 

 
 

g) Regular reporting to Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) governing 
bodies 

h) Patient congress session held to improve awareness of SEND 

i) Refresh of Local Area SEND Strategy coproduced with parent carer forum 

j) Children and Young People’s Promise developed by children and young 
people themselves 

k) Participation Strategy developed by parent carer form 

l) Participation Strategy cited as best practice by Local Government 
Association 

m) System wide audit of SEND reforms conducted by local health service 
providers improving service interface for Children and Young People. 

n) Health needs assessment of young people with SEND commissioned by 
Public Health providing a deeper insight into needs for 2019 

Section 2 - Performance management and quality assurance 

a) Key performance data for priority areas agreed and reporting rationalised 
into one document 

b) Clear escalation process for performance challenges established  

c) Provision/Local Offer 

i. Schools support delivered through Special Educational Needs 
Coordinators. Attendance at network meetings improved from 
126 to 145 schools 

ii. 16 new SENCOs completed the National Award for SEN 
Coordination 

iii. 49 autism training and development sessions ran for school staff 
attended by 900 people 

iv. A two day event ran in June 2018 on autism attended by Emily 
Reuben 

v. Three new enhanced mainstream provisions identified for 
secondary school age phase 

vi. An eight bed 52 week residential and learning setting for young 
people aged 14+ jointly commissioned 

 

Page 27



 

 
 

d) Assessment 

i. Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) completions within 20 
weeks improved from 85% to 91% 

ii. New procedures introduced for Education, Health and Social 
Care Managers to monitor EHCP completion rates and implement 
learning 

iii. Steps taken to improve feedback response quality and rate from 
parent carers  

iv. Exclusion 

v. Behaviour Partnership Panels established to develop strategies 
to support young people under threat of exclusion  

vi. Exclusion trends monitored by Local Area with challenge and 
support provided to schools with high rates 

e) Health 

i. Waiting times for Speech and Language Therapy (SALT) 
continue to improve, currently 72% of routine referrals are being 
seen and assessed within 6 weeks   

ii. Over 90% of those referrals receive treatments within 12 weeks 
of assessment 

iii. Funding increased to implement a single provider Social 
Communication Assessment Team (SCAT) diagnostic service 

iv. Waiting times for patients on SCAT waiting list has halved  

v. Learning from EHCP panels shared at three half-day health 
focused training sessions  

vi. Greater scrutiny of health service provider performance 

f) Social Care 

i. 481 Social Care Staff, 71% of the workforce, undertaken SEND 
awareness training 

ii. Revised short breaks offer introduced increasing the number of 
families that can access this service 

 

Page 28



 

 
 

g) Improving progression 

i. Supported Internship Forum established resulting in 27 new 
internships 

ii. Tri-Work Young Persons’ Supported Work Experience for Schools 
Pilot introduced resulting in 125 young people gaining work 
experience 

iii. Children and young people carried out their own review of good 
practice in relation to support for young people during transition from 
schools to post-16 providers 

iv. Pilot programme introduced to increase the number of young people 
with SEND travelling independently 

v. 991 young people with SEND participated in employment, education 
or training, 438 progressed to employment 

vi. Reduction in young people with SEND who are not in education, 
employment or training reduced from 20.2% to 16.1% 

Section 3 - Strategic planning and joint commissioning 
arrangements  

a) More integrated governance and planning arrangements introduced for 
commissioning.  Including a balanced provider scorecard introduced to 
monitor performance 

b) Jointly funded assistive technology pilot improved the lives of six children 
and young people 

c) Service user engagement exercise for children’s therapy services carried 
out 

d) Co-creation and commissioning of Durham Resilience Project to improve 
independence and resilience of young people with 20 schools taking part 

e) Five emotional health and resilience nurses commissioned 

f) CCGs introducing a coordinator for personal health budgets for children, 10 
children and young people now have personal health budgets 

g) Jointly funded post for commissioning services for children with autism 
introduced 

 

Page 29



 

 
 

Section 4 - Approach to strategic co-production with parents and 
children 

a) Coproduction of a Participation Strategy which is cited as best practice by 
Local Government Association.  Leaders and frontline staff to be trained in 
the new strategy by the parent carer forum and Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities Information and Advice Service (SENDIAS) early in 2019 

b) Parent Carer Form delivered two conferences attended by over 150 
parents 

c) SEND Toolkit developed in coproduction with parents for parents with six 
parent led training sessions on the toolkit delivered in 2018 

d) Young People’s Future Event planned by young people delivered in 
October aimed at children and young people aged 13-25 

e) Children and young people supported the CCG in the children’s therapies 
review 

f) 30 secondary schools and post-16 providers engaged by SENDIASS 
Young People’s Development Worker to develop SEND practices 

g) 994 people attended Fulfilling Lives event resulting in 25 new enrolments 
of young people into higher education  

Main implications 

13 As a new assurance of WSoA progress, all Local Areas with a WSoA 
will be subject to a revisit from Ofsted and CQC.  Durham is expected to 
be revisited before the end of December 2019 which is 18 months after 
the WSoA was declared fit for purpose. 

14 The re-visit inspection team will be led by one of Her Majesty’s 
Inspectors (HMI), accompanied by a CQC inspector. Whenever 
possible, these will be the same inspectors who carried out the initial 
inspection. 

15 If it is determined that insufficient progress in any aspect of the WSoA 
the DfE and NHS England will determine the next steps. This may 
include the Secretary of State using their powers of intervention. Ofsted 
and CQC will not carry out any further re-visits unless directed to do so 
by the Secretary of State. 

16 Full details of the revisit can be found in the publication Re-visits to local 
areas issued with a written statement of action: guidance.  

 

Page 30

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-area-send-inspection-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-area-send-inspection-framework


 

 
 

Next Steps 

17 The one year on report recognises significant areas of progress since 
the SEND Inspection took place and also identifies some further areas 
for development in 2019.  These include: 

(a) We will continue with and further refine our partnership 
governance arrangements and oversight by political leaders to 
ensure we monitor progress, quality improvements and evidence 
impact for children and young people 

(b) Work with leaders across all learning settings to transform high 
needs provision ensuring the local offer is further improved 

(c) Working specifically to improve health and reduce inequalities for 
children and young people who have SEND   

18 A refresh of the SEND strategy and accompanying action plan is 
currently under way and this links in with the updated Children and 
Young People’s Strategy which has a key aim about better outcomes 
for children and young people with SEND. 

 

Background papers 

Joint local area SEND inspection in Durham 

SEND Written Statement of Action 

Other useful documents 

None 

 

Contact: Martyn Stenton Tel:  03000 268 067 
 Paul Shadforth Tel:  03000 261684 
   

  

Page 31

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/80465
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/service.page?id=soegswRyN3w&&localofferchannel=0


 

 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications - General, as defined in the Children and Families Act 

which gives clarification of the definition of ‘special educational provision’ so 
that it now states that health or social care provision which ‘educates or trains, 
a child or young person’ is to be treated as special educational provision. Also 
when determining whether a young person’s EHC plan should cease, local 
authorities should have regard to ‘whether the educational or training 
outcomes specified in the plan have been achieved’, rather than the young 
person’s age. 

Finance - The report includes joint commissioning opportunities across 
the Local Area. 

Consultation - The One Year on Report should be published on the 
Local Offer for public awareness. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - The Local 
Authority under Equalities Legislation and the Children’s Act have a duty 
to provide access to services for Children and Young People with SEND. 

Human Rights - None 

Crime and Disorder - None 

Staffing - None 

Accommodation - None 

Risk - None 

Procurement - None 

 

  

Page 32



 

 
 

Appendix 2:  County Durham Integrated Steering Group for 
Children - Local Area SEND Inspection Improvement progress 
one year on 

County Durham 

Integrated Steering Group 

for Children 
Local Area SEND Inspection 

Improvement progress one year on 

Introduction 

Thank you for the opportunity to update you with our progress against the 
recommendations made by Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission in their joint 
Local Area Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) inspection in Durham 
last year. One year has passed since the inspection was concluded. Significant 
progress has been made in the further implementation of the reforms set out in the 
Children and Families Act 2014 over the last year. The improvements that have been 
made in 2018 are detailed within this document and for reference are set out against 
each of the written statement of action (WSoA) areas below. References contained 
within this document refer to individual actions in our Written Statement of Action. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



 

 
 

Executive Summary 

Significant progress has been made in 2018 against the recommendations set out in 
the inspection letter following the joint local area SEND inspection which can be 
summarised as follow: 

Strategic leadership and governance of SEND reforms 

A new leadership, governance and accountability framework implemented 

 Senior management restructure of children and young people’s services in 
Durham County Council establishing a Head of Early Help, Inclusion and 
Vulnerable Children with responsibility for SEND 

 Quality Improvement Manager post established to develop, agree and 
implement service transformation and practice improvement to further support 
children and young people with SEND 

 CCG response with a revised job description for Designated Clinical Officer. 

 Integration of the Quality Improvement Manager and Designated Clinical 
Officer through their co-location and integrated work programme 

 Strengthening of political oversight of SEND issues 

 Regular reporting to CCG governing bodies 

 Patient congress session held to improve awareness of SEND 

 Refresh of Local Area SEND Strategy coproduced with parent carer forum 

 Children and Young People’s Promise developed by children and young 
people themselves 

 Participation Strategy developed by parent carer form 

 Participation Strategy cited as best practice by Local Government Association 

 System wide audit of SEND reforms conducted by local health service 
providers improving service interface for Children and Young People. 

 Health needs assessment of young people with SEND commissioned by 
Public Health providing a deeper insight into needs for 2019 

Performance management and quality assurance 

 Key performance data for priority areas agreed and reporting rationalised into 
one document 

 Clear escalation process for performance challenges established  

 Provision/Local Offer 

o Schools support delivered through Special Educational Needs 

Coordinators. Attendance at network meetings improved from 126 to 

145 schools 

o 16 new SENCOs completed the National Award for SEN Coordination 

o 49 autism training and development sessions ran for school staff 

attended by 900 people 

o A two day event ran in June 2018 on autism attended by Emily Reuben 

o Three new enhanced mainstream provisions identified for secondary 

school age phase 

o An eight bed 52 week residential and learning setting for young people 

aged 14+ jointly commissioned 

 

 

 

Page 34



 

 
 

 Assessment 

o EHCP completions within 20 weeks improved from 85% to 91% 

o New procedures introduced for Education, Health and Social Care 

Managers to monitor EHCP completion rates and implement learning 

o Steps taken to improve feedback response quality and rate from parent 

carers  

 Exclusion 

o Behaviour Partnership Panels established to develop strategies to 

support young people under threat of exclusion  

o Exclusion trends monitored by Local Area with challenge and support 

provided to schools with high rates 

 Health 

o Waiting times for SALT continue to improve, currently 72% of routine 

referrals are being seen and assessed within 6 weeks   

o Over 90% of those referrals receive treatments within 12 weeks of 

assessment 

o Funding increased to implement a single provider Social 

Communication Assessment Team (SCAT) diagnostic service 

o Waiting times for patients on SCAT waiting list has halved  

o Learning from EHCP panels shared at three half-day health focused 

training sessions  

o Greater scrutiny of health service provider performance 

 Social Care 

o 481 Social Care Staff 71% of the workforce undertaken SEND 

awareness training 

o Revised short breaks offer introduced increasing the number of families 

that can access this service 

 Improving progression 

o Supported Internship Forum established resulting in 27 new internships 

o Tri-Work Young Persons’ Supported Work Experience for Schools Pilot 

introduced resulting in 125 young people gaining work experience 

o Children and young people carried out their own review of good 

practice in relation to support for young people during transition from 

schools to post-16 providers 

o Pilot programme introduced to increase the number of young people 

with SEND travelling independently 

o 991 young people with SEND participated in employment, education or 

training, 438 progressed to employment 

o Reduction in young people with SEND who are not in education, 

employment or training reduced from 20.2% to 16.1% 

Strategic planning and joint commissioning arrangements  

 More integrated governance and planning arrangements introduced for 

commissioning.  Including a balanced provider scorecard introduced to 

monitor performance 

 Jointly funded assistive technology pilot improved the lives of six children and 

young people 

Page 35



 

 
 

 Service user engagement exercise for children’s therapy services carried out 

 Co-creation and commissioning of Durham Resilience Project to improve 

independence and resilience of young people with 20 schools taking part 

 Five emotional health and resilience nurses commissioned 

 CCGs introducing a coordinator for personal health budgets for children, 10 

children and young people now have personal health budgets 

 Jointly funded post for commissioning services for children with autism 

introduced 

Approach to strategic co-production with parents and children 

 Coproduction of a Participation Strategy which is cited as best practice by 

Local Government Association All leaders and frontline staff to be trained in 

the new strategy by the parent carer forum and Special Educational Needs 

and Disabilities Information and Advice Service early in the new year 

 Parent Carer Form delivered two conferences attended by over 150 parents 

 SEND Toolkit developed in coproduction with parents for parents with six 

parent led training sessions on the toolkit delivered in 2018 

 Young People’s Future Event planned by young people delivered in October 

aimed at children and young people aged 13-25 

 Children and young people supported the CCG in the children’s therapies 

review 

 30 secondary schools and post-16 providers engaged by SENDIASS Young 

People’s Development Worker to develop SEND practices 

 994 people attended Fulfilling Lives event resulting in 25 new enrolments of 

young people into higher education 

 Further detail on these improvements is presented below.   

Improvements 

WSoA Area 1 – there are fundamental weaknesses in the local area’s strategic 
leadership and governance which have resulted in the disability and special 
educational needs reforms being implemented too slowly.  

Strategic oversight and linkage with other partnership activity has been transformed 
by establishing a new leadership, governance and accountability framework for all 
local area provision for children and young people with SEND. These arrangements 
have been implemented as part of the introduction of strengthened partnership 
arrangements through the Integrated Steering Group for Children (ISGC), which is 
jointly chaired by Durham County Council’s Corporate Director of Children and 
Young People’s Services and Director of Nursing, for the Durham Dales, Easington 
and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and North Durham CCG. The 
ISGC reports into the Integrated Care Board. This is the key decision making 
authority for the new strategic model of health and social care in County Durham. 
The ICB reports to Durham’s statutory Health and Wellbeing Board. . A diagram of 
the governance structure is set out in our written statement of action. 

Work stream groups have been established for each of the written statement of 
action priorities. Each work stream has an agreed term of reference (WSoA 
references 1.1 – 1.8) setting out objectives, desired outcomes, membership and a 

Page 36



 

 
 

timetable of future meetings.  All groups have parent carer representation through 
Making Changes Together (MCT) which is Durham’s official parent carer forum to 
support coproduction in all areas of work. 

A review of the resources available to effectively lead SEND services across the 
Local Area was undertaken alongside a fundamental management restructure of 
children’s services within Durham County Council.  A number of key changes and 
appointments have been made. These include: 

 Local authority services are now combined under an Early Help, Inclusion 
and Vulnerable Children portfolio.  Following recruitment in summer 2018, 
these services are now led by a new Head of Service with SEND and 
inclusion work as a central part of this portfolio.  

 Health service resources have been reviewed and a revised job description 
for a dedicated Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) has been agreed.  This will 
build on recent work of the DCO and Designated Medical Officer (DMO) 
roles, bringing additional capacity and improving joint working on the SEND 
agenda.  

 A Quality Improvement Manager post has been established in the local 
authority and an appointment has been made to this position.  The 
postholder works with partners, children, young people and families to 
develop, agree and implement service transformation and practice 
improvement to further support improved outcomes for children and young 
people with SEND.   

  

Page 37



 

 
 

The new DCO and recently recruited Quality Improvement Manager are  based 
together within Durham County Council’s children and young people’s services, and 
have an integrated work programme agreed and overseen by the council and the 
CCGs. 

Political leaders are briefed on SEND practice, strategy development and quality 
assurance issues through Overview and Scrutiny meetings, fortnightly meetings with 
the council’s Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services and 
monthly meetings with the new Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable 
Children.  This has raised the SEND profile facilitated service improvements,  
responses to demand and gave recognition and response to financial pressures.   
This is complemented by detailed reports to Cabinet (WSoA reference 1.09 report to 
Cabinet on high needs block pressures), discussions with head teachers and reports 
to the Schools Forum regarding funding issues and options around SEND financial 
pressures. Cabinet has agreed proposals regarding high needs block funding 
pressures, which includes support from the council’s reserves to help manage 
current levels of demand.  

Regular update reports are also provided to the public meeting of the CCG Executive 
and Governing Body (WSoA reference 1.10).  In addition, updates on the SEND 
WSoA are reported to CCGs through respective work plan briefings to its Executive 
Board.  A patient congress session was also held in May 2018 dedicated to learning 
disabilities (WSoA reference 1.11) which included an update on SEND.  The impact 
of this has been to increase public awareness of SEND and also what support is 
available such as the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Information Advice 
and Support Service (SENDIASS.)  It has also increased public awareness of the 
importance of having annual health checks for people with a learning disability, 
evidenced by the improving uptake with the local area. 

The Local Area SEND Strategy has been refreshed in coproduction with 
representatives from MCT, the eXtreme group of young people and partners across 
education, health, care and commissioning.  The SEND Strategy provides a shared 
understanding of the vision for the local area incorporating the findings and 
recommendations of the extensive Local Area review work (WSoA reference 1.12 
High Needs Review and WSOA reference 1.13 Autism Review). This is underpinned 
by the Children and Young Peoples Promise developed by the eXtreme group 
(WSoA reference 1.14), a representative body of children and young people with 
SEND and the Participation Strategy developed by MCT (WSoA reference 1.15).  
The Participation Strategy is being considered as best practice in the Local 
Government Association publication Developing and sustaining an effective local 
SEND system: a practical guide for councils and partners.  

The revised SEND Strategy was discussed at the MCT Conference in November, 
and received the endorsement of a wider group of parents and carers.  Work will 
take place early in 2019 to further promote the strategy to raise public and partner 
awareness through a cross service partnership communication plan.  There will be 
further revisions to the SEND Strategy in September 2019 based on the findings of 
the needs assessment and additional engagement activity. 

  

Page 38

https://www.local.gov.uk/developing-and-sustaining-effective-local-send-system-practical-guide-councils-and-partners
https://www.local.gov.uk/developing-and-sustaining-effective-local-send-system-practical-guide-councils-and-partners


 

 
 

The coproduced Local Area SEND Strategy will continue to make positive changes 
in provision for children and young people with SEND, through the promotion of a 
shared vision across the local area and implementation of actions agreed in Local 
Area reviews.  To measure the effectiveness of cross service communications, A 
survey is currently being undertaken to measure the effectiveness of cross service 
communications across the Local Area.  Learning will be taken from the survey 
which will be repeated again in Spring 2019 and fed into the revised strategy in 
September 2019. 

To further support strategic leadership and governance, a health system wide audit 
tool (WSoA reference 1.16) was completed by local health service providers in April 
2018 to establish compliance against SEND reforms and gain assurances that 
internal systems and processes are in place.  Individual action plans for each service 
providers are rigorously monitored and discussed at the Quality Assurance and 
Standards Group. This has led to good practice can be shared such as the 
education, health and care plan (EHCP) monitoring tool (WSoA references 1.17 and 
1.18) and tracking systems being established across health teams and standard 
operating procedures being developed within health teams. 

The ISGC have prioritised a new health needs assessment (HNA) of young people 
with SEND commissioned by Durham County Council’s Public Health Team and this 
is currently underway.  The HNA process is being coproduced with a range of key 
stakeholders including parents, children and young people to ensure that co-
production is at the heart of all future service design and that the voice of children, 
young people and their families is captured in a meaningful way. 

During the process of developing the HNA a number of key products will be reported 
to the Local Area, including an updated Joint Strategic Needs Assessment SEND 
factsheet providing a comprehensive picture of the SEND population from the data 
sets currently available as well as identifying gaps from a data and intelligence 
perspectives. A specific focus of this work is vulnerable groups including those 
children and young people who are educated either outside of the boundaries of 
County Durham or those who are accessing education with an alternative provider. 
In relation to these action areas, we have identified the following as further areas for 
development in 2019: 

 We will continue with and further refine our partnership governance 
arrangements and oversight by political leaders to ensure we monitor 
progress, quality improvements and evidence impact for children and young 
people 

 Work with leaders across all learning settings to transform high needs 
provision ensuring the local offer is further improved  

 Working specifically to improve health and reduce inequalities for children 

and young people who have SEND   
 

  

Page 39



 

 
 

WSoA Area 2 – Leadership have an inaccurate view of the effectiveness of the local 
area. The analysis and use of performance information to tackle weaknesses in 
education, health and care outcomes are poor and there has been a lack of rigorous 
quality assurance and monitoring to inform decision-making. 

Key performance data on high priority areas were agreed and are now being 
reported in one document which is monitored and discussed at the Quality 
Improvement Board and Quality Standards Group, as per their terms of reference 
(WSoA reference 1.7) and escalated in accordance with the new governance 
structure.  High priority area performance data includes information on the following 
areas:  

 Out of county placements. 
 Number of EHCPs being completed within 20 weeks. 
 Identification of the schools requiring most support to include pupils. 
 Length of waiting times to access therapy services and Child and Adolescent 

Mental Health Services (CAMHS). 
 Identification of SEND status across children’s social care. 
 Take up of post-16 placements for young people with SEND. 

This improved approach is enabling a greater understanding and scrutiny by all 
partners and early identification of themes, trends and deficits in performance and 
escalation to the SEND Quality Improvement Board as necessary. In addition to this, 
there is a clearly established escalation process in place, whereby issues raised 
during contract meetings between CCG and providers will be reported to the 
DCO/DMO (WSoA reference 2.1).  The impact of this means the DCO is better 
sighted on issues as they arise and can act and resolve any problems quickly. 

The high priority areas have focussed resources used to deliver critical areas of 
SEND provision that require either positive change or maintenance of good 
performance to improve outcomes for children and young people. 

Out of county placements - Provision / Local Offer. 

Durham County Council supports schools in their SEND provision through the 
ongoing practice of Special Educational Needs Coordinators (SENCOs) through 
Network Meetings (WSoA reference 2.2) over the year attendance has improved 
from 126 to 145 schools.  In addition over the year 16 new SENCOs completed the 
Durham led National Award for SEN Coordination (NASENCO) increasing the total 
number of those qualified to 107.  The impact of effective SENCO practice and 
support on school leadership cannot be underestimated the following SENCO impact 
testimonial demonstrates this  

“The course has allowed me to have a bigger picture of the management 
of inclusion within the school. It has allowed me to work more strategically, 
delegate and upscale teaching assistants and higher level teaching 
assistants within. More strategic interventions can now be planned for” 

Further examples of the quality and support offered to and by SENCOs can be seen 
ref NASENCO studies / testimonials (WSoA reference 2.3). 

Page 40



 

 
 

The High Needs Review identified through coproduction with children and young 
people and parent carers, the need to improve the awareness and skills of schools in 
supporting young people with autism.  The LA has ran 49 autism training and 
development workshops for school staff, which was attended by over 900 people.  In 
addition an arrangement has been developed between the SEND Autism Team and 
The Oaks Special School to deliver Autism Education Trust training to support 
parental confidence in the offer to school staff. 

The Local Area also hosted a two day event in June facilitated by the SEND Autism 
Team and delivered by the internationally renowned speaker, Emily Reuben.  The 
conference was fully attended by representatives from both mainstream and special 
schools and NHS health professionals.  A follow up Social Communication, 
Emotional Regulation and Transactional Support (SCERTS) interest group has been 
established, and is having an impact on policy and practice.  The impact of the 
SCERTS approach and the AET team on supporting inclusion be seen in the 
attached case studies (WSoA reference 2.4).  A example can be seen in the 
following case study 

L a Y6 boy presenting with anxiety; felt that school was about ‘3 out of 10’ 
and could not think of anything that he liked about it, Ls behaviour resulted 
in long periods out of class. Following a 12 week support programme L 
made positive steps towards being able to talk about his feelings and use 
calming strategies.  By the end of the intervention L was in class for up to 
75% of the school week, grandparents reported that ‘his mood is much 
lighter; he seems happier in himself and he is talking about his feelings 
much more’. L said that he felt school was now ‘6 or 7 out of 10’ and that 
this was because he now ‘has someone to talk to’. 

In relation to these action areas, we have identified the following as further areas for 
development in 2019: 

• We have identified three new enhanced mainstream provisions (EMP) for 
young people in the secondary age phase, which are scheduled to come on 
line in September 2019.  An outline example can be seen in WSoA 
reference 2.5 - Developing enhanced provision for pupils with autism in 
secondary education.  The provisions are all developed in partnership with 
the local authority, special and mainstream schools ensuring access to 
appropriate adaptations and curriculum, each provision is centred in a 
strategic location to reduce associated travel time and cost.  We have 
confidence in the new provisions developed through the successful running 
of 10 EMPs in the county, a high parent demand for ASC specific EMP 
placement (Autism and High Needs Reviews) and the new provisions all 
being developed with schools judged to be good or outstanding.  

 The Local Area is jointly commissioning an eight bed 52 week residential 
and learning setting for young people aged 14 plus in order to address gaps 
in provision for the most complex needs In addition to this a further eight bed 
supported living accommodation unit will be jointly commissioned between 
education, health and care.  Despite this being a small cohort the impact on 
resources is significant and the Local Area recognise the strength of such an 
offer in County Durham.  

Page 41



 

 
 

Number of EHCPs being completed within 20 weeks. 

The Local Area maintains scrutiny on the 20 week completion schedule for new 
EHCPs. Performance has been historically been consistently high in County Durham 
but an even further improvement from 85% in 2016-17 to 91% in April-July 2018 has 
been achieved.  

Education, Health and Social Care Managers now meet on a weekly basis to 

consider Draft EHC Plans prior to the 16 week deadline, and finalisation of the draft 

EHCP for consultation with schools/providers.  This process has ensured a 

continuous improvement in the overall quality of EHC plans and improved 

communication between Education, Health and Social Care.  Areas of good practice 

and underperformance are reported back to service areas and teams to ensure 

ongoing improvement by the DCO (WSoA reference 2.6).  

We recognise that we can improve our feedback loop with parent carers and 

children.  Previous methods of surveying parents at the end of the EHCP process 

has had a low response, therefore revised methods of proactively seeking feedback 

from parents has provided a much improved response (WSoA reference 2.7). We 

will build on improving the uptake of responses, but have confidence in parental 

satisfaction as the new sample is in line with the latest Department for Education 

guidance  - Experiences of Education, Health and Care plans: a survey of parents 

and young people, This report cited Durham as having one of the highest rates of 

overall satisfaction (WSoA reference 2.7).   

Identification of the schools requiring most support to include pupils.  

As a Local Area Durham has not had any permanent exclusions of primary aged 
children, looked after children or young people with an EHCP over a 3 year period.   
Despite this the Local Area has heard from parents of the negative impact that 
repeat fixed term exclusion has on their children and themselves in our High Needs 
Review, and how this erodes confidence in the ability of mainstream schools to meet 
the SEND needs of their children.   

Schools are supported to be inclusive through Behaviour Partnership Panels.  These 
are local partnerships between schools, education, SEND, Inclusion and Early Help 
staff where strategies to support young people are put in place.  An example of this 
would be the Behaviour Improvement Team (Crisis Response) who have supported 
schools with 56 pupils in crisis, and prevented exclusion in all instances; the full 
impact report can be seen in WSoA reference 2.8.   

The Local Area is monitoring exclusion trends and identifies schools with the highest 
levels of exclusions in each age phase and each type.  These schools are provided 
with appropriate challenge and support from partners.  This has helped leadership in 
the Local Area better understand the pressures that lead to exclusion and to support 
appropriately prior to exclusion taking place.  An example of this challenge and 
support can be seen in the following case study. 

 

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-health-and-care-plans-parents-and-young-people-survey
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-health-and-care-plans-parents-and-young-people-survey


 

 
 

F has their needs recognised through an EHCP, at school, F had received 
several fixed term exclusions and parent was becoming frustrated with the 
support being made available.  The school made effort to improve support 
and received additional resource through top up funding to meet need.  
Despite this school went on to instigate what would have been the first 
permanent exclusion of a child with an EHCP in County Durham.  
Following an appropriate challenge from the Head of Education and the 
offer of further support to the school, an independent review panel 
overturned the schools decision.  F has returned to his local school with 
his siblings, the school have received advice and support from the Local 
Authority Autism team and F is now better included in the local learning 
offer. 

In relation to these action areas, we have identified the following as further areas for 
development in 2019: 

• There needs to be an agreed approach across all schools to further reduce 
exclusions of young people with SEND. Through joint working with the 
Durham Association of Secondary Heads (DASH) we have developed an 
Inclusion Strategy and are planning for the September 2019 implementation 
of:  

• Increased high quality alternative provision offered as a proactive 
alternative pathway for young people who are not benefitting from the 
core curriculum. 

• A teaching school demonstrating an early intervention nurture model 
that improves the transition of children with SEND through Year 5 
planning and engagement and the development of a nurture base in 
school (WSOA reference 2.9).  

Length of waiting times to access therapy services and Child and Adolescent 

Mental Health Services (CAMHS). 

Despite the steady increase in referrals to Speech and Language Therapy (SALT), 
on average between 62% and more recently 72% of children and young people have 
been seen and assessed within 6 weeks of referral. This demonstrates a steady 
improvement over the last year, which we expect to continue.  We also anticipate a 
reduction in the number of referrals to generic SALT service due to the new Social 
Communication Assessment Team (SCAT) pilot service, which now undertakes their 
own SALT assessments.  The 90% target for children and young people assessed 
and treated within 12 weeks of assessment has consistently been achieved 
throughout the last year.  

As previously mentioned, an escalation policy has been agreed between CCG 
contract demand management teams and DCO/DMO, which facilitates greater 
scrutiny of health provider’s performance.  The impact of this means the DCO is 
better sighted on issues as they arise and can provide further challenge on 
performance, have access to health service  improvement plans and alert CCG 
executive accordingly if health providers continue to underperform.   

Page 43



 

 
 

We have increased funding to implement a new single provider autism spectrum 
disorder (ASD) diagnostic service to address the unacceptable high waiting times 
and backlog of referrals to SCAT.  Since commencement of this new service in 
September 2018, the backlog of referrals has been reduced from 565 to 480 and 
waiting times reduced from the longest time of 98 weeks to on average 45 weeks, 
although this varies across the local area.  Contractual arrangements are now in 
place to ensure continued reduction in waiting times and quarterly performance 
monitoring to ensure the target of 12 week waiting time by the end of July 2019 is 
achieved.   

The new ASD diagnostic service has been evaluated (WSoA reference 2.10).  Part 
of the evaluation process included talking to parents and carers who told us that 
having an earlier diagnosis affects the support they receive for their child at school 
and that the report helps toward improved understanding of their child’s needs. 

Parents and carers also told us they found the clinic letter from SCAT unhelpful and 
felt there was no support available whilst they waited for the ASD assessment. The 
clinic letter has therefore been modified (WSoA reference 2.11) and positive 
feedback received by Making Changes Together Parent Carer Forum. 

The findings of the EHCP quality assurance panels and the health provider systems 
audit have been used to develop three half-day training sessions for a wide range of 
health practitioners.  These sessions were held throughout September 2018 
organised by DCO and SENDIASS, to improve practice through reflective learning 
from audits and provide an update on SEND Tribunals, Single Route of Redress 
National Trials and using anonymised real life cases from QA panels. The impact of 
the focused training has been improved understanding of expectations from health 
teams as evidenced in feedback evaluations (WSoA reference 2.12). 

Identification of SEND status across children’s social care. 

Continued awareness raising of SEND and effective adaptations in social care 
practice has seen 481 Social Care Staff 71% of the workforce undertake online 
SEND training.  This is monitored through noting how many young people have 
SEND needs recognised and at what level.  This rise in awareness has led to the 
active support of 461 children with SEND.  An example of the impact of Early Help 
Support can be seen in Case Study for T and their family (WSoA reference 2.13). 

Early Help supported the family due to T’s range of complex needs and behaviours that were 
significantly impacting on his and his family’s wellbeing. T has been supported in all areas of 
his Education Health and Care needs the contribution of Early Help was to support  T to: 

 Access he short breaks service, giving him more social activity and stimulation as 
well as allowing his parents more 1:1 time with his sibling. 

 Undertake direct work on including ‘All About Me’, 3 Houses, Queen of the Island 
and work on identifying feelings and emotions. This resulted in additional family 
support and the building of a wider community network to sustain positive change.  

 T is attending appropriate educational provision and is making educational progress 
now.  Mam states that T looks forward to going to school and is happy to go.   

 T can identify friends in school and friends at his short break provision.  He takes 
part in activities and now can play with the other young people. 

 

 

Page 44



 

 
 

 Mam reports that she feels more able to deal with T’s behaviour at home and feels 
that she has strategies to overcome difficult situations.  Mam states she is much 
less anxious about T’s wellbeing now that he is in specialist educational provision.  

The Short Breaks Review In October 2017 identified gaps in the way that the 
previous short break offer was commissioned for families in County Durham due to 
strong coproduction principles in the review of the offer.  The gaps included: 

 limited access for children with needs considered too high for universal short 
breaks. 

 some targeted Short Breaks being determined on Special School Placement 

 limited access to Specialist Short Breaks for young people with the most 
complex needs 

To address this the Local Area have revised the Short Breaks Offer (WSoA 
reference 2.14) and have achieved the following:  

 A significant increase in new families accessing community short breaks who 
were previously not able to. 

 Higher numbers of children with more complex needs accessing short 
breaks through receiving more specialist or one-to-one support. 

 Children and young people accessing community breaks reporting greater 
independence to access with less support required, or moving on to access 
wider activities. 

 Seven families assessed as requiring short breaks above the community 
through the Early Help Service who were unable to do this previously.  
Feedback so far from these families have been extremely positive. 

Take up of post-16 placements for young people with SEND.- Improving 

Progression  

The Preparation for Adulthood Group is committed to sustaining the increase in 
young people with SEND participating in education, employment or training. 

Through the development of a coproduced plan with young people their parent 
carers and partner organisations the group developed an action plan to drive an 
increase in education, employment and training opportunities (EET) for young people 
with SEND.  This plan aligned to the priority within the County Durham Progression 
Plan of improving the participation rate of young people with SEND. 

Key actions of the group in the last year have included: 

 Supported Internship (SI) Forum established to develop and lead on the 
implementation of a SI Action Plan to drive a year on year increase in SI 
opportunities available. 

  

Page 45



 

 
 

 Work experience opportunities developed for young people aged 16-24 
through implementation of the Tri-work Young Person’s Supported Work 
Experience for Schools Pilot.  This is a three way partnership between the 
young person, a job coach and a host employer to improve understanding, 
experience and progression to the world of work. 

 Investing in Children Extreme Group undertook a review of good practice in 
relation to support for young people during transition from school to post 16-
providers.  The resulting recommendations were disseminated through the 
Preparing for Adulthood (PfA) Group. 

 The transition protocol for supporting young people with SEN support needs 
focusing upon sharing of key information and documentation between school 
and post-16 providers was reviewed. 

 A pilot programme was undertaken to support an increased number of young 
people with SEND to travel independently.  The pilot was evaluated and is 
informing broader implementation of individual transport training across the 
county.  

 Adult Learning and Skills Service Changes Programme which seeks to 
provide information, advice and guidance for parents and carers who have 
children/young people with SEND was co-produced, piloted and evaluated. 

 Co-produced commission for employment provision for young people with 
SEND through DurhamWorks which resulted in NEAS delivering a bespoke  
programme for young people with ASC. 

The impact of this joint working has been:   

 The engagement of 1,638 young people with a self-declared SEND or 
mental health issue through Durham Works, 991 of those have participated 
in EET and, of those, 438 have progressed into employment 

 A reduction in young people with SEND who are not engaged in education, 
employment or training from 20.2% to 16.1%. 

 An increase in the number of Supported Internship Opportunities available 
for young people from zero in 2016/2017 to 27 in 2017/18.   

 Supported work experience opportunities delivered for 125 young people 
with SEND. 

 NEAS and Core Assets delivered 81 bespoke opportunities for young people 
with SEND through DurhamWorks. 

A report of the group’s practice and impact can be seen in WSoA reference 2.15.  

  

Page 46



 

 
 

WSoA Area 3 - Poor strategic planning and joint commissioning arrangements have 
led to unacceptably long waiting lists for access to services, delays for treatment for 
some conditions, and variability of experience for children and young people who 
have SEN and/or Disabilities. 

The Local Area has established clear governance and improved, more integrated 
planning arrangements have been established for commissioning services for 
children and young people with SEND.  All commissions relating to children and 
young people with SEND are considered by the Joint Commissioning Group for 
Children and the Co-production and Engagement Operational Workstream for 
comment and endorsement. The Joint Commissioning Group for Children has 
produced revised Joint Commissioning Strategy developed in partnership across the 
Local Area  

There are a number of examples where the joint commissioning of individual support 
packages has had a positive impact on children and young people with complex 
needs accessing learning provision.  An example would be the continued strong 
progress in early years establishing integrated support packages at the earliest point 
possible.   These include the joint working of portage, early years, schools or setting, 
NECS and continuing health care nurses, this approach enables access to a full 
early years entitlement in a mainstream setting. Early Years Joint Package Planning 
Case study (WSoA reference 3.2). 

The joint planning, resourcing and training of setting staff in the early 
years has allowed Y to transition into the reception of his mainstream 
primary with an appropriate package fulfilling Ys parents’ wishes for him 
to be supported by a Teaching Assistant and not a health professional so 
he would be like other children. 

The group has also developed a balanced provider scorecard covering finance, 
service user experience, service delivery, safeguarding and provider market health. 
The impact of the enhanced joint working has been a reduction in organisation 
specific commissioning and a greater understanding of collective pressures, priorities 
and interdependencies. 

A further development has been the jointly funded assistive technology pilot (WSoA 
reference 3.3) which has demonstrated improvements for six children and young 
people with physical and learning disabilities who require a high degree of support.  
The pilot has demonstrated improvements in: 

 Choice and control 

 Safety 

 Crisis prevention 

 Parent/carer capacity to cope 

 Family independence 

In addition, the Local Area hosted an Early Years SEND event informing parents and 
carers of the early years offer.  Feedback from parents regarding the event was 
extremely positive and Early Years services are reporting additional contacts from 
families helping them to shape their offer, for example regarding childcare costs. 

Page 47



 

 
 

A service user engagement exercise for children's therapy services (SALT, 
Occupational Therapy and Physiotherapy) was also undertaken across Health and 
Education to gain feedback and ensure robust services are in place to meet need 
(WSoA reference 3.4).  The impact of undertaking the review has been to give us a 
rich source of qualitative information, which we are using to improve services. The 
action plan agreed with providers will make a difference to families in terms of having 
clearer information on referral/discharge processes and sharing of treatment plans 
between health and education. A light touch repeat of the engagement exercise will 
be undertaken in June 2019 to evidence that improvement has been made.   

The Director of Public Health’s Office has co created and commissioned The 
Durham Resilience Project with the SEND and Inclusion Service.  This bespoke 
package for Durham schools builds resilience in children and young people.  
2017/18 saw 20 schools taking part and a further 16 schools are agreed for this year.  
The programme has improved independence in young people and increased the 
resilience of both children and staff across schools (WSoA reference 3.5). 

Secondary school A identified low resilience and limited independence in 
their pupils.  . The DRP working group developed a daily tutor group time 
package for all pupils, to ensure regular and productive use of time to 
promote core elements of emotional wellbeing. The resource has been 
implemented from September 2018 initial feedback from staff, pupil and 
parents is positive. 

The Director of Public Health’s Office has also jointly commissioned five Emotional 
Health and Resilience Nurses, aimed at improving young people’s mental health by 
building resilience and capacity within schools and raising awareness of mental 
health. The impact of this service has been to provide early help and support for 
children and young people and support schools in having a better understanding of 
mental health issues and has been extremely well evaluated as evidenced in 
testimonies from schools and students (WSoA reference 3.6) 

Specific areas for development cited in the inspection report concerning personal 
health budgets (PHBs)have been addressed. Clear information is now made 
available on the Local Offer and the number of PHBs has increased from zero to 10 
for children and young people. The CCGs do not consider the current processes 
relating to PHBs to be sufficient and have responded by recruiting to a new post 
specifically co-ordinating PHBs for children, starting with those entitled to Children’s 
Continuing Care.   

We recognise that a jointly funded post between the CCGs and Durham County 
Council, responsible for the joint commissioning of community services for children 
with Autism associated learning difficulties and mental health needs would support 
this area of significant need.  The Joint Commissioning Group for Children are 
working towards securing this appointment. 

Whilst all SEND related commissioned contracts are monitored across the Local 
Area, having a shared understanding of the performance and impact of 
commissioned contracts is a key to identifying gaps in resource.  The Joint 
Commissioning Group for Children has developed a ‘Balanced Provider Scorecard’ 
covering finance, service user experience, service delivery, safeguarding and 

Page 48



 

 
 

provider market health.  After developing this over recent months, this is being and 
will provide a quarterly update regarding service delivery issues and mechanism to 
escalate issues.  The impact of the enhanced joint working has been a reduction in 
organisation specific commissioning and a greater understanding of collective 
pressures, priorities and interdependencies. 

WSoA Area 4 - The Local Area does not have an embedded approach to strategic 
co-production with designated representatives of parents, children and young people 
to inform strategic planning and secure improvements. 

MCT has coproduced a Participation Strategy with Durham County Council and local 
partners (WSoA reference 1.15).  The process of developing the Strategy and 
implementing recommendations within has been cited as best practice by the Local 
Government Association in their publication Developing and sustaining an effective 
local SEND system: a practical guide for councils and partners  

To implement and embed the strategy, further training for leaders and frontline staff 
across the workforce is to be delivered jointly by MCT parent forum members and 
SENDIASS Manager.  Six dates are planned throughout January and February 
2019, with 90 people signed up to attend so far.  Attendees will become ‘designated 
participation champions’ and be expected to develop at least one initial project in 
coproduction with service users with feedback requested six weeks after training.   

MCT continue to deliver two annual conferences for parents and carers of young 
people with SEND.  Both spring and autumn conferences were successful with 150 
parent carers attending.  The autumn conference was themed on feedback from 
attending parent carers on what they want included at the next event and how the 
Local Area and MCT can support further parental involvement in Local SEND 
planning. 

Parents and carers with local authority staff, have developed a SEND toolkit for 
parents (WSoA reference 1.15).  The SEND toolkit helps parent determine what the 
Local Offer is for their children.  In addition to this six parent led training sessions for 
other parents were held across September and October 2018.   Feedback from 
parent carers evidenced the positive effect of the training in relation to parents being 
able to liaise directly with schools, with increased knowledge of their child’s rights as 
a child with SEND.  A further six sessions are available in January and February 
2019 and a rolling programme will continue after this. 

To ensure that the voice of children and young people is heard throughout Local 
Area SEND planning The eXtreme Group from Investing in Children have developed 
a SEND charter for services in the Children and Young Peoples SEND Promise 
(WSoA reference 1.14).  All partners have committed to this at the Integrated 
Steering Group for Children.  To ensure the SEND Promise is embedded all new 
commissioned projects throughout the Local Area have the Promise as a stipulated 
commitment for providers, the SEND Promise also underpins the revised Local Area 
SEND Strategy.   

The eXtreme Group from Investing in Children planned the Young People’s Future 
Event I October 2018 as follow up to the successful first event which took place in 
February 2017 co-ordinated by SENDIASS.  The events have been resourced by 

Page 49

https://www.local.gov.uk/developing-and-sustaining-effective-local-send-system-practical-guide-councils-and-partners
https://www.local.gov.uk/developing-and-sustaining-effective-local-send-system-practical-guide-councils-and-partners
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/durham/fsd/files/send_participation_strategy.pdf
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/durham/fsd/files/send_participation_strategy.pdf


 

 
 

Durham County Council and promoted throughout the Local Area Partnership at the 
request of the young people who planned, participated and co-delivered both events.  
The events are aimed at children and young people aged 13-25 with SEND and their 
parents/ carers.  Young people planned an event to exhibit a range of services and 
opportunities available to young people with SEND throughout County Durham. The 
event featured information, advice and activities relating to Health, Education, 
Employment and Training, Leisure Provision and Social Activities. The services that 
attended the event had been identified by the young people from the eXtreme Group 
as well as through Investing in Children facilitating conversations with other young 
people with SEND from across a range of schools within the County. 

On the day the feedback from young people and parents and carers was extremely 
positive (WSoA reference 4.1).  Further impact since the first event in 2017 includes 
young people previously home schooled or not in employment, education or training 
returning to full time education. In addition several young people are now active 
members of Investing in Children’s eXtreme Group who have the opportunity to have 
a voice and strategically coproduce future service delivery based on their lived 
experience. A number of young people have signed up to SEND specific and 
mainstream social groups which they were introduced to at the Young People’s 
Future Event.   

The Investing in Children eXtreme Group has supported DDES Clinical 
Commissioning Group with the development and engagement of the Children’s 
Therapies Review in County Durham (extract from the Children’s Therapies Review 
Summary Report below).  

 

Investing in Children continue to support peer facilitated discussions with children 
and young people with SEND across County Durham regarding opportunities post 
16 regarding education, employment and training.  A recent impact of this work is the 
development of young people led good practice guidance regarding transitions for 
young people with SEND post-16, supporting further education providers make 
effective adaptation for young people during their transitions (WSoA reference 4.2).  

SENDIASS Young Peoples Development Worker has engaged 30 secondary 
schools and post 16 providers to develop their SEND practices and identify in 
provision SEND champions.  SEND Champions will be young people ambassadors 
with additional needs who will be a peer supporter/ point of contact for peers.  The 
first round of induction training workshops are planned for early 2019 with a view to 
have all schools and colleges working with an acknowledged SEND champion by the 
end of 2019.  SEND Champions will provide general information about the “Local 
offer” “Youth Offer” signposting to services or providing some peer support.   

Page 50



 

 
 

A key focus of the Local Area over the year has been enhancing the transition 
experience of Young SEND and their parents and carers transition into adulthood.  
Fulfilling Lives an event ran by Adult Services providing information on health, social 
activities, education, sports, leisure and staying safe.  Events in October 2017 and 
May and October 18 have had 994 attendances at an average rate of 331 attendees 
per event. (WSoA reference 4.1) The last Fulfilling Lives event resulted in 25 new 
enrolments into higher education course in New College Durham. 

In relation to these action areas, we have identified the following as further areas for 
development in 2019: 

• The embedding of the Participation Strategy including measuring impact from 
the benchmarking of the first organisational Self Assessment.  

• To develop a deeper understanding of quality and impact from the perspective 
of service users.  Parents and carers have been engaged in the appointment 
of a Local Area Quality Improvement post. 

 

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 

        

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 30 January 2019 

 Health and Wellbeing Board Charters  

 

Report of Andrea Petty, Strategic Manager – Partnerships, Durham 
County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) with an update on 
how partners meet the requirements of the charters/pledges which the 
HWB have signed up to. 

Executive summary 

2 Since the inception of the HWB in 2013 all partners have signed up to 
support 8 charters or pledges. A wide range of work has been carried 
out across all partner agencies to improve services in the areas covered 
by the charters. Areas covered include dementia, disabled children, 
tobacco control, pensioner’s dignity, homeless health, motor neurone 
disease and children with special educational needs and disabilities 
(SEND). 

Recommendations  

3 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a) Accept the report for information; 
(b) Note the work being done by partners to meet the 

charters/pledges; 
(c) Agree that the report is provided to organisations who administer 

the Charters as an update from the Health and Wellbeing Board 
on the continued work to meet the commitments. 
 

Background 

4 The 8 charters or pledges are: 
 
(a) National Dementia Declaration for England (January 2013); 
(b) Disabled Children’s Charter (June 2013); 
(c) NHS Statement of Support for Tobacco Control (November 2013); 
(d) National Pensioners Convention Dignity Code (March 2014); 

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



(e) Dementia Action Alliance Carers Call to Action Charter 
(September 2014); 

(f) Charter for Homeless Health (July 2015); 
(g) Motor Neurone Disease Charter (March 2017); 
(h) Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Promise 

(November 2017). 
 

5 HWB partners have been working within their service areas to deliver 
against the criteria laid out in each of the charters. The key criteria for 
each charter/pledge can be viewed in appendix 2.  
 

National Dementia Declaration for England  
 
6 To deliver, in part, against the National Dementia declaration Durham 

County Council have commissioned and funded a Dementia Advisor 
Service (DAS) in County Durham.  The Alzheimer’s Society deliver the 
contract throughout County Durham initially employing 5 dementia 
advisors. Further funding has since been given for 2 dementia support 
workers. Since its launch in 2016, they have received nearly 2500 
referrals to the service from professionals and service users with 
dementia and their carers. 

7 The Dementia Advisor Service provides a wide range of support to 
people with dementia, their family or carers, for example, they: 
 
(a) Provide timely information and support to people with dementia 

and their carers and help people to access appropriate services 
and make informed choices; 

(b) Focus on maintaining quality of life for people within the 
community, with universal/preventative services being the 
preferred option (where appropriate) for ongoing support; 

(c) Play a key role in supporting the Dementia Friendly Communities 
initiative in County Durham, assisting local communities to 
become more dementia friendly and to improve their ability to 
support those living with dementia. 
 

8 Key partners such as County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue 
Service (CDDFRS) continue to support the service and regularly make 
referrals through their Safe and Wellbeing Visits to people’s homes. 
CDDFRS also chair the Durham Dementia Action Alliance which works 
to help support dementia friendly communities throughout County 
Durham. 
 

9 The Dementia Advisory Service also has excellent links with the carers 
centre and social care teams to develop their knowledge of Dementia, 
including how referral pathways work, as they have access to potential 

Page 54



service users that may not be involved with other services but who 
require support. The DAS is a member of the ‘Advice in County 
Durham’ (AiCD) Network, who receive referrals from, and making 
referrals to, relevant member organisations through the portal.  

 
10 A research project in Durham with the University of Oxford, The London 

School of Economics, The University of Bradford and North of England 
Commissioning Support has been set up.  This project aims to develop 
practical strategies that will improve services for those living with 
dementia and those that support them. 

 

Disabled Children’s Charter 

11 Detailed and accurate information on the disabled children and young 
people living in the area is held and used to inform the JSNA process 
and as part of the school census. This information is held on the 
Children’s Network register which is used to ensure that parents and 
carers receive relevant details of news and support, and are given the 
chance to comment. County Durham also have a well-established and 
robust parent participation forum, Making Changes Together. 

12 The Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) in County Durham (North 
Durham CCG and Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield CCG) work 
collaboratively to ensure they continue to meet the needs of disabled 
children, their parents and families across County Durham. They have a 
duty of care to ensure the services commissioned are of excellent 
quality, and they continue to work with the providers to monitor and 
review services as and when required.  

13 The CCGs have jointly appointed a qualified Children’s Nurse as the 
SEND Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) and a local General 
Practitioner (GP) as the Designated Medical Officer (DMO) for SEND. 
The DCO and DMO work closely with Local Authority colleagues to 
ensure that children and young people’s needs are identified early and 
appropriate measures taken to ensure those with SEND are able to 
reach their full potential and thrive. There is also active involvement in 
terms of CCG Governing Body Lay Representation, from the Clinical 
Chair of DDES CCG and Clinical Chair of North Durham CCG, both 
taking responsibility with specific SEND Champion roles. 

14 The CCGs also work in partnership with Durham County Council on the 
children and young people’s agenda, which has included the SEND 
Strategy and vision for the county. Engagement and consultation with 
children, young people and families is a key driver of the work 
undertaken by the CCGs to ensure true co-production of services. For 
example, the CCGs, as lead commissioners, are currently reviewing the 
Children’s Therapy Services which includes engagement with children, 

Page 55



young people (with and without a disability) and their families to ask 
their views and experiences of accessing and using these services.  

15 The CCGs also have long standing local agreements in place in relation 
to the funding split for jointly funded individual packages of care for 
severely disabled children, which allow one agency to take the role of 
lead commissioner, thus simplifying the pathways for families. 

16 The new Children and Young People’s Strategy 2019 – 2022, which is 
replacing current Children, Young People and Families Plan, includes 
specific consultation with the Investing in Children’s ‘eXtreme’ reference 
group; consultation specific to children with a disability. Children and 
young people contribute through the Investing in Children (IIC) service 
to address high-profile issues such as obesity, emotional health and 
sexual health, and they regularly attend the Children and Families 
Partnership to discuss these issues. 

17 The Learning Difficulties and Disabilities Inclusion Service work in 
partnership with schools, children and young people, parents and carers 
and other professionals and agencies, in order to seek and promote 
educational inclusion and achievement of children and young people 
with learning difficulties or disabilities. 

18 County Durham offers independent advocacy advice and support to 
parents of children with special educational needs through the Parent 
Partnership Service. 

NHS Statement of Support for Tobacco Control 

19 Partners and services have, through the County Durham Tobacco 
Control Alliance, implemented a wide range of projects and initiatives 
across the county across eight key strands of tobacco control including 
reducing the numbers of people starting to smoke, supporting people to 
stop smoking and reducing exposure to secondhand smoke. Examples 
of these include: 

(a) DCC have implemented a voluntary code to make play areas 
smoke free and have also trialed smokefree sidelines at junior 
football matches; 

(b) Training has been designed and delivered for professionals who 
regularly work with families and communities to encourage 
smokefree homes; 

(c) Support in improving compliance with smoke free NHS continues 
through the provision of training in identification and brief advice 
and development of referral pathways through to community stop 
smoking services to enable referral of patients to their nearest 
stop smoking support clinic, supporting patients to continue their 
smoke free journey outside of hospital.   

Page 56



 
(i) Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust have 

been smoke free since March 2016 and over 3200 staff 
have been trained in providing brief advice to patients about 
smoking cessation, with all inpatient hospitals stocked with 
nicotine products including e-cigarettes.   

(ii) County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust have 
identified priorities to ensure everyone is aware that there is 
no smoking on NHS property.  A smoke free lead has been 
identified and every front line professional discusses 
smoking with patients, where appropriate. 
 

(d) A three year targeted well-being approach has been undertaken 
in Stanley, to establish local smoking prevalence, this has 
involved training local people to carry out a community survey of 
smoking and well-being; 

(e) The ‘BabyClear’ project, which trains midwives about how to 
support mothers during pregnancy to stop smoking, has been 
introduced. This project has seen a rise in the number of referrals 
to specialist support and quitters during pregnancy; 

(f) Fresh, utilising media, communications and social marketing have 
ran a variety of targeted campaigns, which partner organisations 
have delivered. These include World No Tobacco Day, Don’t be 
the 1 (smoking and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 
campaign), Stoptober, No Smoking Day, New Year’s Health 
Harms, 16 Cancers, Smokefree Cars and Keep it out (illicit 
tobacco campaigns); 

(g) Making Every Contact Count safe and wellbeing visits, delivered 
by County Durham and Darlington Fire & Rescue Service 
(CDDFRS), include questions on smoking and smoking in homes; 

(h) Joint working between DCC consumer protection team and 
Durham Constabulary has resulted in reduced the availability of 
illicit tobacco available in communities. 
 

National Pensioner’s Convention Dignity Code 

20 The principles of the National Pensioners Convention (NPC) Dignity 
Code are inherent in contracts entered into between Durham County 
Council Adult and Health Services and adult social care providers.  

21 Examples of where dignity principles are included in the revised older 
persons residential and nursing care contract, and the domiciliary care 
contract are given below:  

(a) The support will be delivered with respect and dignity, and service 
users’ individuality respected to ensure a positive experience of 
care and support. Service users will be enabled to lead as 

Page 57



independent a life as possible so that their ability to exercise 
choice and achieve personal fulfilment is maximised; 

(b) Staff are taught the importance of the privacy and dignity of 
service users and that staff must treat service users with courtesy 
and respect; 

(c) Service users’ cultural and beliefs are respected and 
accommodated, e.g. food preparation practices, dignity issues 
and communication arrangements are appropriate for those 
whose first language is not English. 
 

22 The practices and actions that are considered to be unacceptable within 
the National Pensioners Convention Dignity Code are addressed by 
staff working in Older People, People with Disabilities and Sensory 
Impairment and County Durham Care and Support services through the 
Council’s Code of Conduct - the legislative framework that covers the 
work of the service e.g. the Care Act 2014 and the Mental Capacity Act 
(MCA) 2005. 

23 For example: 
 
(a) Workers within the services are required by legislation to comply 

with the wishes and feelings of services users. If service users 
reach a stage of lacking capacity for self- determination in 
decision making, the MCA governs actions that need to be taken 
and to ensure decisions are made in the ‘best interests’ of service 
users taking into account any views/wishes expressed when they 
had capacity as appropriate. 

(b) The Care Act 2014 requires that service users are able to 
participate in the needs assessment process and in developing 
their care plans where eligible needs are identified. DCC 
commissions Rethink advocacy service to provide advocates for 
service users where required. 

 

Dementia Action Alliance Carers Call to Action Charter 

24 The Carers’ Call to Action project was concluded on 31st March 2015. 
However the campaign succeeded in raising the profile and unique 
needs of carers of people with dementia, and the legacy from the 
charter continues to influence service delivery today.  
 

25 Partners across County Durham came together to develop the 
Dementia Strategy for Durham and Darlington 2014 – 2017, which was 
signed off by the HWB in July 2014. The aim of the strategy was to 
ensure the future needs of people with dementia and their Carers are 
planned for and delivered in an efficient way, and the multi-agency 
Dementia Strategy Implementation Group (DSIG) was set up to deliver 
this. The Strategy has since been reviewed and is now a Plan on a 

Page 58



Page, and Dementia now sits within the Mental Health Strategy and 
Concordat. 
 

26 Carers views and involvement has been promoted in a number of ways 
and has helped shape the implementation of strategy. Carer 
representation on the DSIG and carer views have been central to the 
development of the Integrated Dementia Pathway which aims to 
improve information and support for people with dementia, their families 
and carers and to identify any gaps.  
 

27 A variety of projects have been set up, for example The Dementia 
Advisor Service has been developed to offer pre and post diagnosis 
support and information to people living with memory 
problems/dementia, their families, and carers.  
 

28 General dementia awareness raising has been encouraged amongst 
the general public and professionals to work towards reducing stigma 
and discrimination, and Dementia Connect – an online site with 
comprehensive up to date information on services and advice for people 
with dementia and their carers,  has been developed and promoted 
extensively across the county.  

 

Charter for Homeless Health 

29 The charter asks that the health needs of people who are homeless are 
included in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. Homelessness is 
mentioned in the Health Inequalities and Social Determinants of Health 
Integrated Needs Assessment, which can be see via this link. The 
statutory homelessness indicator focuses on households in temporary 
accommodation, where the County Durham figure is significantly better 
than the England average. 
 

30 Following on from the key priority areas highlighted in the Charter for 
Homeless Health, Public health will be working to ensure the 
association between health and housing is fully embedded in County 
Durham’s Housing Strategy. Housing Solutions will be coordinating a 
consultation on the local   Housing Strategy and associated 
Homelessness Strategy from January 2019 onwards. 
   

31 To support this activity, Public Health will also undertake a Health 
Impact Assessment on the agreed Housing Strategy to inform the 
strategic direction for addressing health inequalities and housing across 
the County. The development of a private landlord licensing scheme 
and contribution to a wider prevention offer will also help increase the 
health, wellbeing and social outcomes for those individuals, families and 
carers who are homeless. 
 

Page 59

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/media/24680/Health-inequalities-and-the-social-determinants-of-health/pdf/HealthInequalities_SocialDeterminantsOfHealthHSCE003.pdf


32 As part of the Mental Health@Scale programme, housing providers will 
also be offered the opportunity to engage with training designed to 
improve mental health and wellbeing outcomes and reduce suicides. 
Specific emphasis will be given to those who present to housing 
providers with complex vulnerabilities (such as homelessness) and/or 
are ex-offenders requiring community support. 
 

33 NHS England have awarded the County Durham, Darlington, Tees 
Valley and Hambleton Richmondshire and Whitby (DDTHRW) areas 
£400k to deliver a range of schemes, between 2018 and 2021, which 
have an impact on suicide rates in the local areas. The DDTHRW 
Suicide Prevention Alliance (SPA), which includes partners from the 
CCGs, are managing the dissemination of this funding. A SPA key 
action area is to contribute to reducing the risk of suicide in key high-risk 
groups, including people who are homeless.  
  

Motor Neurone Disease Charter 

34 GPs across the county, often the first point of contact for someone 
showing symptoms of Motor Neurone Disease (MND), have been 
trained to provide early identification of a range of neurological 
problems, including MND. This enables people to access the treatment 
care and support they need at the earliest possible point. Patients also 
have access to online information and support through the ‘Locate’ 
website, a free resource which offers a wealth of information, advice, 
and services to help people live independently and find the right care 
and support to meets their needs.   

35 In order to ensure the services people with MND receive are of the 
highest standard, with a focus on continuous improvement, Health and 
social care professionals attend forums with the regional clinics 
regarding patients/clients treatment. They share best practice about the 
ongoing research work undertaken regionally and nationally in relation 
to the condition. 
 

36 Once diagnosed with MND, people have access to co-ordinated 
multidisciplinary care managed by a key worker with experience of 
MND. Patients are offered an advanced personal care plan, which 
ensures their wishes are met by delivering a person centred service. 
This makes sure that people with MND have timely and appropriate 
access to equipment, home adaptations, environmental controls, 
wheelchairs, orthotics and suitable housing, along with timely and 
appropriate access to disability benefits, respite, counselling and 
bereavement services for carers. 

37 The key worker also ensures early access to specialist palliative care 
and to appropriate respiratory and nutritional management and support, 

Page 60



as close to home as possible, are provided. A palliative end of care life 
plan is put in place to deliver high quality sustainable services and 
improvements for patients and carers with MND who are coming to the 
end of their lives. 

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Promise 

38 A wide variety of work has been delivered across partner organisations 
to achieve the pledges detailed in the promise (appendix 2), including:  

(a) Improving local short breaks and the respite offer - all short 
break contracts require providers to co-produce their plan of 
activities jointly with children, young people and parent/carers 
from their local area.  Providers are checked as part of the 
contract monitoring process to ensure that they are doing this. 
When commissioning respite services DCC have built ‘family 
choice’ as part of the selection process for awarding individual 
packages, and a buddy service has recently been commissioned 
with an emphasis on supporting greater independence for young 
people. 
 

(b) Independent travel – An Independent Travel Training 
programme has been developed with the aim of allow more 
independence and improving access to leisure activities for young 
people. It was piloted in County Durham between April and July 
2018 on a small group of students to determine the impact this 
had. The pilot is being evaluated to consider whether it can be 
extended to more students in the future. 
 

(c) Provide affordable leisure activities - An hourly charge has 
been introduced for children accessing short break activities. This 
charge was agreed as part of a consultation with a wide range of 
parent/carers to ensure that this was affordable. This will be 
considered as part of the review process for any future contracts. 
 

(d) Provide quality leisure provision – The Culture and Sport 
Service have recently implemented the Customer Charter in all 
venues, which was supported further through extensive delivery 
of improved customer care training. Including a robust system of 
safeguarding and accreditation to ensure all pool lifeguards have 
increased awareness of the needs of children with a disability.  
 

(e) High standard of education – To ensure that there is a good 
knowledge of SEND in the Education Health and Care workforce 
SEND toolkit training for all front line practitioners in Education, 
Health and Care has been introduced, and level 2  training has 
been rolled out for all SEND lead officers. Also, a SEND e-

Page 61



learning package has been produced and made accessible on 
the Local Offer.   
 

(f) Health - The Integrated Steering Group for Children have 
prioritised a new health needs assessment (HNA) of young 
people with SEND commissioned by Durham County Council’s 
Public Health Team.  The HNA process is being coproduced with 
a range of key stakeholders including parents, children and young 
people to ensure that co-production is at the heart of all future 
service design and that the voice of children, young people and 
their families is captured in a meaningful way. One of the 
identified areas for 2019 is specifically to improve health and 
reduce inequalities for children with SEND. 
 

(g) Employment – The Preparation for Adulthood Group is working 
to sustain the increase in young people with SEND participating 
in education, employment or training. Through the development 
of a coproduced plan with young people their parent carers and 
partner organisations the group developed an action plan to drive 
an increase in education, employment and training opportunities 
(EET) for young people with SEND.  This plan aligned to the 
priority within the County Durham Progression Plan of improving 
the participation rate of young people with SEND. 
 

(h) Information – The SEND Local Offer provides a range of 
valuable information to families of children and young people with 
Special Educational Needs or Disabilities, from birth to the age of 
25. This includes SEND specific information; for example on 
childcare, Health, education, things to do, getting around and 
independent living. The Local Offer is easily accessible through 
the County Durham Families Information Service website. 
 

39 The Local Area SEND Strategy has been refreshed in coproduction with 
representatives from Making Changes Together, the eXtreme group of 
young people and partners across education, health, care and 
commissioning.  The SEND Strategy will provide a shared 
understanding of the vision for the local area incorporating the findings 
and recommendations of the extensive Local Area review work, which is 
underpinned by the Children and Young Peoples SEND Promise 
developed by the eXtreme group. 

40 Work will take place early in 2019 to promote the strategy to raise public 
and partner awareness through a cross service partnership 
communication plan.  There will be further revisions to the SEND 
Strategy in September 2019 based on the findings of the needs 
assessment and additional engagement activity. 

Page 62



Other Charters and Pledges  

41 There are other examples of charters or pledges, that partner 
organisations have signed up to, which contribute towards meeting the 
HWB agreed priorities in the County Durham Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19.  

42 Durham County Council and the Office of the Durham Police, Crime and 
Victims’ Commissioner have signed up to the Local Government 
Declaration on Alcohol, which is a pledge to take action that 
demonstrates our commitment to protecting local communities from the 
harm caused by alcohol. 

43 NHS and local government partners support the Breastfeeding Call to 
Action. This includes supporting mums in their communities, supporting 
local business to be breast feeding friendly, and addressing the social 
and cultural norms through education of children and young people. 

44 Members of the County Durham Partnership signed the Time to Change 
Employer Pledge at an event to mark World Mental Health Day on 10th 
October 2018. The Employer Pledge demonstrates the commitment to 
change how we think and act about mental health in the workplace, and 
make sure that employees, who are facing these problems, feel 
supported. 
 

45 Tees Esk and Wear Valley Trust (TEWV) have signed up to the Charter 
for Employers who are Positive about Mental Health, as part of the 
Mindful Employer initiative. This is a NHS initiative that supports 
employers to help people with a mental health condition to remain in 
employment. 
 

46 North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust have signed up to the 
Royal College of Midwives Caring for You Charter, which aims to 
improve the health, safety and wellbeing support available to midwives 
and maternity colleagues.  
 

47 Working with Durham Police and the North East Ambulance Service,  
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service have signed 
up to The Strategic Commitment on Dementia, which aims to improve 
the lives of people with dementia. 
 

Conclusion 

48 This report summarises the multi-agency work carried out by partners 
which delivers against the criteria detailed in each charter or pledge. 

Page 63

http://www.balancenortheast.co.uk/latest-news/alcohol-declaration-inspiring-collaborative-working
http://www.balancenortheast.co.uk/latest-news/alcohol-declaration-inspiring-collaborative-working
http://www.durham.gov.uk/breastfeeding
http://www.durham.gov.uk/breastfeeding
https://www.time-to-change.org.uk/
https://www.tewv.nhs.uk/working-for-us/why-choose-us/mindful-employer/
https://www.nth.nhs.uk/news/maternity-services-invest-staff-help-improve-care/
https://www.ddfire.gov.uk/news/uk-first-durham-emergency-services-join-forces


49 Partners have worked together to deliver services which improve the 
lives of people who are covered by the charters, and strategies and 
plans are in place to ensure we continue to provide improved integrated 
services in the future.   

Background papers 

 None 

Other useful documents 

 None 

 

Contact: Andrea Petty, Strategic Manager – Partnerships           
3000 267312  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

N/A 

Finance 

N/A 

Consultation 

N/A 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

As the charters impact on the lives of some of the most vulnerable people in 
County Durham equality and diversity are central to the work reported here. 

Human Rights 

The human rights of the people within the scope of the charters are central to 
the work being carried out.  

Crime and Disorder 

N/A 

Staffing 

N/A 

Accommodation 

N/A 

Risk 

N/A 

Procurement 

N/A 

  

Page 65



Appendix 2:  Charters and Pledges Key Criteria 

 

See attached. 

Page 66



Appendix 2 

National Dementia Declaration for England 

1 I have personal choice and control or influence over decisions about 

me 

I have control over my life and support to do the things that matter to me. 

I have received an early diagnosis which was sensitively communicated.  

I have access to adequate resources (private and public) that enable me to choose where and how I 

live. 

I can make decisions now about the care I want in my later life. 

I will die free from pain, fear and with dignity, cared for by people who are trained and supported in 

high quality palliative care. 
 

2 I know that services are designed around me and my needs 

I feel supported and understood by my GP and get a physical check-up regularly without asking for 

it.  

There are a range of services that support me with any aspect of daily living and enable me to stay at 

home and in my community, enjoying the best quality of life for as long as possible. 

I am treated with dignity and respect whenever I need support from services. 

I only go into hospital when I need to and when I get there staff understand how I can receive the 

best treatment so that I can leave as soon as possible. 

Care home staff understand a lot about me and my disability and know what helps me cope and 

enjoy the best quality of life every day. 

My carer can access respite care if and when they want it, along with other services that can help 

support them in their role. 
 

3 I have support that helps me live my life 

I can choose what support suits me best, so that I don’t feel a burden. 

I can access a wide range of options and opportunities for support that suits me and my needs. 

I know how to get this support and I am confident it will help me. 

I have information and support and I can have fun with a network of others, including people in a 

similar position to me. 

My carer also has their own support network that suits their own needs. 
 

4 I have the knowledge and know-how to get what I need 

It’s not a problem getting information and advice, including information about the range of benefits I 

can access to help me afford and cope with living at home. 

I know where I can get the information I need when I need it, and I can digest and re-digest it in a 

way that suits me. 

I have enough information and advice to make decisions about managing, now and in the future, as 

my dementia progresses. 

My carer has access to further information relevant to them, and understands which benefits they 

are also entitled to. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 67



Appendix 2 

5 I live in an enabling and supportive environment where I feel valued 

and understood 

I had a diagnosis very early on and, if I work, an understanding employer which means I can still 

work and stay connected to people i my life. 

I am making a contribution which makes me feel valued and valuable. 

My neighbours, friends, family and GP keep in touch and are pleased to see me. 

I am listened to and have my views considered, from the point I was first worried about my 

memory. 

The importance of helping me to sustain relationships with others is well recognised.  

If I develop behaviour that challenges others, people will take time to understand why I am acting in 

this way and help me to try to avoid it. 

My carer’s role is respected and supported. They also feel valued and valuable, and neither of us feel 

alone. 
 

6 I have a sense of belonging and of being a valued part of family, 

community and civic life 

I feel safe and supported in my home and in my community, which includes shops and pubs, sporting 

and cultural opportunities. 

Neither I nor my family feel ashamed or discriminated against because I have dementia. People with 

whom we come into contact are helpful and supportive. 

My carer and I continue to have the opportunity to develop new interests and new social networks. 

It is easy for me to continue to live in my own home and I and my carer will both have the support 

needed for me to do this. 
 

7 I know there is research going on which delivers a better life for me 

now and hope for the future 

I regularly read and hear about new developments in research. 

I am confident that there is an increasing investment in dementia research in the UK. I understand 

the growing evidence about prevention and risk reduction of dementia. 

As a person living with dementia, I am asked if I want to take part in suitable clinical trials or 

participate in research in other ways. 

I believe that research is key to improving the care I’m receiving now. 

I believe that more research will mean that my children and I can look forward to a range of 

treatments when I need it and there will be more treatments available for their generation. 

I know that with a diagnosis of dementia comes support to live well through assistive technologies as 

well as more traditional treatment types. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 68



Appendix 2 

Disabled Children’s Charter for 

Health and Wellbeing Boards 

The                                                                                    Health and Wellbeing 

Board is committed to improving the quality of life and outcomes  experienced  by  

disabled  children,  young  people  and  their  families,  including  children  and  young  

people  with  special  educational  needs  and  health  conditions.  We  will  work  

together  in  partnership  with  disabled  children  and  young  people,  and  their  

families  to  improve  universal  and  specialised  services,  and  ensure  they  receive  

the  support  they  need,  when  they  need  it.  Disabled  children  and  young  people  

will  be  supported so  that  they  can  lead  ordinary  lives. 

 

By  [date  within  1  year  of  signing  the  Charter]  our  Health  and  Wellbeing  

Board  will  provide  evidence  that: 

1. We  have detailed and accurate information  on  the  disabled  children  and    

young  people  living  in  our  area,  and  provide  public  information  on  how  

we  plan    to  meet  their  needs 

2. We  engage  directly  with  disabled  children  and  young  people  and  

their    participation  is  embedded  in  the  work  of  our  Health  and  Wellbeing  

Board 

3. We  engage  directly  with  parent  carers  of  disabled  children  and  young  

people  and  their  participation  is  embedded  in  the  work  of  our  Health  

and  Wellbeing  Board 

4. We  set clear  strategic  outcomes  for  our  partners  to  meet  in  relation  

to  disabled  children,  young  people  and  their  families,  monitor  progress  

towards  achieving    them  and  hold  each  other  to  account 

5. We  promote  early  intervention  and  support  for  smooth  transitions  

between    children  and  adult  services  for  disabled  children  and  young  

people 

6. We  work  with  key  partners  to strengthen  integration  between  health,  

social  care    and  education  services,  and  with  services  provided  by  wider  

partners 

7. We  provide cohesive  governance  and  leadership  across  the  disabled  

children  and  young  people’s  agenda  by  linking  effectively  with  key  

partners. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



Appendix 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 70



Appendix 2 

Dignity Code  
 

The purpose of this Dignity Code is to uphold the rights and maintain the personal dignity 
of older people, within the context of ensuring the health, safety and wellbeing of those 
who are increasingly less able to care for themselves or to properly conduct their affairs.  
This Code recognises that certain practices and actions are unacceptable to older 
people, such as: 
  

 Being abusive or disrespectful in any way, ignoring people or assuming they cannot 
do things for themselves  

 Treating older people as objects or speaking about them in their presence as if they 
were not there  

 Not respecting the need for privacy  

 Not informing older people of what is happening in a way that they can understand  

 Changing the older person’s environment without their permission  

 Intervening or performing care without consent  

 Using unnecessary medication or restraints  

 Failing to take care of an older person’s personal appearance  

 Not allowing older people to speak for themselves, either directly or through the use 
of a friend, relative or advocate  

 Refusing treatment on the grounds of age  
 
This Code therefore calls for:  
 

 Respect for individuals to make up their own minds, and for their personal wishes as 
expressed in ‘living wills’, for implementation when they can no longer express 
themselves clearly  

 Respect for an individual’s habits, values, particular cultural background and any 
needs, linguistic or otherwise  

 The use of formal spoken terms of address, unless invited to do otherwise  

 Comfort, consideration, inclusion, participation, stimulation and a sense of purpose 
in all aspects of care  

 Care to be adapted to the needs of the individual  

 Support for the individual to maintain their hygiene and personal appearance  

 Respect for people’s homes, living space and privacy  

 Concerns to be dealt with thoroughly and the right to complain without fear of 
retribution  

 The provision of advocacy services where appropriate  
 

NPC  
Walkden House, 10 Melton Street, London NW1 2EJ  

www.npcuk.org 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 71

http://www.npcuk.org/


Appendix 2 

The Carers’ Call to Action – Our shared 

vision 

We have five clear aims to improve the well-being of family carers (Our 5 R’s) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recognition 

Family carers of people with dementia, given the character of this condition  
of the brain, should have their unique experience recognised. 

1 

Respect 

Family carers of people with dementia should be treated as essential  
partners in care – valuing their knowledge and the support they provide,  
which enables the person with dementia to live well. 

2 

Road Map 

Family carers of people with dementia should have access to a named  
person, with expertise in dementia care, who can give them personalised  
information, advice, support and co-ordination of care for the person    
with dementia. 

3 

Regular reviews 

Family carers of people with dementia should have assessments and  

support to identify their ongoing and changing needs in order to maintain  

their own health and well-being.  

4 

Respite 

Family carers of people with dementia should have confidence that    
they can access good quality care, support and respite services that are  

flexible, culturally appropriate, timely and provided by skilled staff, both    
for themselves and the person for whom they care. 

5 

Page 72



Appendix 2 

 

 

Page 73



Appendix 2 

 

Motor Neurone Disease Charter 
 

1. People with MND have the right to an early diagnosis and 

information  

● An accurate and early diagnosis, given sensitively. 

● Timely and appropriate access to information at all stages of their condition.   

● An early referral to a neurologist. 

2. People with MND have the right to high quality care and 

treatments  

● Early access to specialist palliative care in a setting of their choice, including equitable access to 

hospices. 

● Access to appropriate respiratory and nutritional management and support, as close to home as 

possible.  

● Access to the drug riluzole. 

● Timely access to NHS continuing healthcare when needed. 

● Early referral to social care services.  

● Access to co-ordinated multidisciplinary care managed by a specialist key worker with experience of 

MND. 

● Referral for cognitive assessment, where appropriate. 

3. People with MND have the right to be treated as 

individuals and with dignity and respect 
● Being offered a personal care plan to specify what care and support they need. 

● Being offered the opportunity to develop an Advance Care Plan to ensure their wishes are met, and 

appropriate end-of-life care is provided in their chosen setting.  

● Getting support to help them make the right choices to meet their needs when using personalised 

care options.  

● Prompt access to appropriate communication support and aids.  

● Opportunities to be involved in research if they so wish. 

4. People with MND have the right to maximise their quality of 

life  
● Timely and appropriate access to equipment, home adaptations, environmental controls, wheelchairs, 

orthotics and suitable housing. 
● Timely and appropriate access to disability benefits. 
 

5. Carers of people with MND have the right to be valued, 

respected, listened to and well supported 

● Timely and appropriate access to respite care, information, counselling and bereavement services. 

● Advising carers that they have a legal right to a Carer’s Assessment of their needs1, ensuring their 

health and emotional wellbeing is recognised and appropriate support is provided.  

● Timely and appropriate access to benefits and entitlements for carers. 

 Page 74



Appendix 2 

Children and Young People’s 
SEND Promise for County 
Durham 

 

Education 
We promise to provide a high standard of education that is fun and engaging in a safe 
learning environment. 
We promise to provide the best support from qualified staff so that young people can 
succeed in education. 
We promise that all young people are fully involved and prepared during transitions in 
education e.g. moving from secondary school at the end of year 11 to college or an 
apprenticeship. 
We promise to provide young people with choices within education to support the goals and 
aspirations of children and young people. 
We promise to provide young people with choices to take part in fun and challenging sports 
and activities within education. 
 

Health 
We promise to treat all children and young people with respect and to listen to the needs of 
the individual. 
We promise to provide training to staff to support children and young people with SEND, so 
they can access the best possible health care, including providing children and their families 
with information on the best place to go to meet their needs. 
We promise to fully involve and prepare children and young people during the transition 
from children and young people’s health care services to adult health care services. 
 

Activities/Leisure Provision 
We promise to provide quality leisure provision with qualified, experienced support staff to 
meet the individual needs of children and young people in County Durham. 
We promise to offer children and young people the opportunity to choose activities that 
they would like to engage in. 
We promise to fully involve children and young people in the planning and reviewing of 
leisure activities in County Durham. 
We promise to provide leisure activities that are accessible and affordable to all Children 
and young people in County Durham. 
 

Transport 
We promise to discuss home to school transport options with families to help support 
children and young people to access education. 
We promise to support children and young people to become more independent by 
providing training for them to travel on their own, to their education and leisure activities. 
 

 

Page 75



Appendix 2 

Respite Opportunities 
We promise to involve young people in making decisions about their respite care. 
We promise to support young people to achieve their personal goals and to develop a 
greater level of independence. 
We promise to provide an environment that is safe, challenging, stimulating and fun for all 
young people that access respite care. 
We promise to give young people a choice of who they would like to work with, either one 
to one, or the organisation that provides their respite. 
 

Children in Care 
We promise to fully involve children in care, with the opportunities to make decisions that 
affect their lives in line with the Local Authority ‘Our Promise to You’ document which 
includes: 
- To treat you with respect and as an individual. 
- To find you the best available home where you feel safe, cared about and treated well, for 
as long as needed. 
- To help you stay in touch with friends and family like other young people not in care. 
- To take what you say seriously by listening to you and trying to act on what you say. 
- To involve you in any decision, plans and changes that affect you and your future, and your 
Social Worker and Independent Reviewing Officer and Carers will make sure that this 
happens. 
 

Employment 
We promise to provide education, training and work experience to prepare young people so 
they are ready for employment. 
We promise to support young people to achieve their aspirations by providing access 
meaningful employment opportunities. 
We promise to provide an accessible work environment inclusive to young people with 
SEND. 
 

Access to Information 
We promise to fully involve children and young people in the development and review of all 
Education Health and Care Plans or Support Plans. 
We promise to make information and advice accessible and available to all children and 
young people and their parent/carers. 
We promise to work in partnership to enable children and young people and their families 
to access services without having to retell their story time and time again. 
 

Having a Voice 
We promise, within any service, to listen to the voices of children and young people 
ensuring services continue to make improvements based on the experiences of children and 
young people. 
 

 

 

Page 76



 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board  

30 January 2019 

Health Protection Assurance Annual 
Report 2017-18 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adults and Health 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health 

Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult and 
Health Services 
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report provides an overview to Health and Wellbeing Board on 
health protection assurance arrangements in County Durham and 
updates on the relevant activity from the health protection scorecard 
(appendix 2). 
 

2 The report also presents the new health protection action plan 
(appendix 3).  This represents an update of the original ‘plan on a page’ 
(see appendix 4); drawing together key health protection programmes 
and identifying where assurance has been obtained in each area.   
 

3 The report highlights how the implementation of the action plan and the 
management of the health protection scorecard (appendix 2) will form 
an important strand of future public health assurance priorities. This 
process will be overseen by the newly formed Health Protection 
Assurance and Development Group, which will meet quarterly and 
report to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Executive summary 

4 In August 2018 a group of representatives from Public Health England, 
NHS England, North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG, Durham County 
Council Civil Contingencies Unit, Department for Environment, Health 
and Consumer Protection and community infection control nursing team 
were invited to attend a Health Protection Assurance Event. 

Page 77

Agenda Item 9



5 This event lead to the development of a health protection action plan, 
with strategies for health protection assurance identified in the following 
key areas of health protection: 

 Screening programmes 

 Immunisation programmes 

 Outbreaks and communicable disease 

 Strategic regulation interventions 

 Preparedness and response to incidents and emergencies 

 Data and intelligence across all areas 
 

6 Monitoring towards achievement of the actions identified for each of 
these strategies will be overseen by the newly formed Health Protection 
Assurance and Development Group, which will meet quarterly and 
report to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Recommendation(s) 

7 The Health and Wellbeing Board is requested to: 

(a)      Note the content of the report and the action plan (appendix 3) 
(b) Note that the performance is generally higher than England 

averages and above target for most immunisation and screening 
programmes.  

(c) Note that the DPH is largely satisfied that effective assurance 
processes are in place for communicable disease control, 
strategic regulation intervention and emergency preparedness.   

(d) Support the implementation of the newly formed health protection 
assurance and development group which will oversee the 
reporting of progress towards achieving the goals detailed in the 
action plan in appendix 3 

(e) Support further development of the links with commissioning and 
health and safety (for e.g. legionella testing) 

(f) Support further identification and response to emerging health 
protection priorities. 

Background 

8 In the context of health system reforms brought about by the Health & 
Social Care Act 2012, health protection responsibilities are now in place 
across various bodies (local authorities, NHS England, Public Health 
England and Clinical Commissioning Groups).   
 

9 The protection of the health of the population is one of the five 
mandated responsibilities given to local authorities as part of the Act. 
The Director of Public Health (DPH) for County Durham is responsible 
under legislation for the local authority’s public health functions.   

 

Page 78



10 The health protection element of these statutory responsibilities and the 
mandatory responsibilities of the DPH are as outlined below: 

 
(a) the Secretary of State’s public health protection functions; 
(b) exercising the local authority’s functions in planning for, and 

responding to, emergencies that present a risk to public health; 
(c) such other public health functions as the Secretary of State 

specifies in regulations; 
(d) responsibility for the local authority’s public health response as a 

responsible authority under the Licensing Act 2003, such as 
making representations about licensing applications; 

(e) a duty to ensure plans are in place to protect their population 
including through screening and immunisation. 

 
11 Durham County Council’s responsibilities for public health include 

ensuring that local arrangements to protect the health of the population 
are robust and fit for purpose. This includes assuring: the delivery of 
screening and immunisation programmes; management of threats from 
infectious diseases, chemicals and poisons, radiation, and 
environmental health hazards; and that systems are in place for 
emergency preparedness, resilience and response. 

 
12 Within Durham County Council, the remit for health protection is 

delivered by public health in conjunction with the department for 
Environment, Health and Consumer Protection and the Civil 
Contingencies Unit.   The CCG has a team of infection control nurses.  

 
13 The North East Public Health England Centre’s core functions are in 

relation to protecting the population from threats including infectious 
disease, chemicals and poisons, radiation, environmental hazards and 
emergency response. 

 
14 NHS England is responsible for commissioning and quality assuring all 

of the screening and immunisation programmes.  
 
15 Regular liaison between Directors of Public Health, the Centre Director 

of Public Health England and the Head of Public Health for NHS 
England has been established via the monthly North East DsPH 
meeting. 

 

Existing health protection assurance arrangements in County 
Durham 
 

16 NHS England established a County Durham & Darlington Oversight 
Group which provides assurance to the DPH in relation to screening 
and immunisation programmes.  In addition, the management of 

Page 79



incidents and the quality assurance for screening programmes are 
reported separately to the DPH.  Programme boards have been 
established for each of the screening and immunisation programmes.   

 
17 PHE established the County Durham and Darlington Health Protection 

Group and this brings together organisations involved in protecting the 
health of the population.  The group is attended by a Consultant in 
Public Health and member of public health intelligence team.  The 
group meets quarterly and reviews the quarterly health protection data 
and vaccine preventable infection reports. 

 
18 PHE NE also has a bespoke surveillance system in place for 

communicable diseases with daily and weekly alerts for exceedances 
and identification of linked cases. The DPH is informed of outbreaks, 
incidents and exceedances via email alerts. The DPH is represented at 
all outbreak control meetings and outbreak reports are also shared.   

 
19 The DsPH for County Durham and Darlington established the County 

Durham and Darlington Healthcare Acquired Infections (HCAI) 
Assurance Group in 2004.  This group is chaired by a DPH and has 
wide membership from all provider organisations; enabling the DsPH to 
have a clear line of sight to all providers in County Durham and 
Darlington. HCAI information is also reported directly to CCGs where 
action plans are also put in place to address identified issues.  These 
are reported to the CCGs’ Governing Bodies as part of the regular 
quality reports.  

 
20 NHS England established the County Durham and Darlington and Tees 

Local Health Resilience Partnership (LHRP) in 2013.  This has now 
merged with the LHRP in the north of the patch to form a North East 
group. One of the responsibilities of the LHRP is to provide the DPH 
with assurance that the health sector has well tested plans to respond 
to major incidents that contribute to multi-agency emergency planning. 
The LHRP is co-chaired by NHSE and a DPH.   

 
21 NHS England and CCGs have a duty to cooperate with local authorities 

on health and well-being under the NHS Act 2006. This includes 
cooperating on health protection, including the sharing of plans. The 
Health and Social Care Act, 2012 makes clear that both NHE England 
and the CCGs are under a duty to obtain appropriate advice in the 
protection of the public health. CCGs are also Category 2 responders 
under the Act giving them a duty to provide information and cooperate 
with civil contingency planning as needed. 

 
22 PHE, NHS England and the lead nurse for HCAI produce annual 

reports.  PHE’s annual report covers the NE geography and includes 

Page 80



details of the prevention and surveillance of communicable diseases, 
their response to communicable disease outbreaks and incidents; 
emergency preparedness, resilience and response, environmental 
issues and quality and health inequality issues in health protection. The 
annual report is supplemented by quarterly reports to the DPH that 
detail outbreaks and issues in County Durham.  

 
23 The annual report of the Lead Nurse for infection prevention and control 

details the range of support and interventions initiated to reduce HCAI 
and reports in year activity details.  

 
24 The Environment, Health and Consumer Protection Service provide 

assurance to national regulators including DEFRA, Food Standards 
Agency and Health & Safety Executive through the implementation and 
regular reporting on their air quality strategy; contaminated land 
strategy; food safety plan; food hygiene plan; annual enforcement 
programme; various licensing and enforcement polices and disease 
contingency plans.   

 
25 In order to capture the breadth and complexity of the health protection 

responsibilities and to ensure assurance, in July 2017, the DPH brought 
together a health protection ‘plan on a page’ (appendix 4). This 
identifies the key health protection priority areas as: 

 

 Screening programmes 

 Immunisation programmes 

 Outbreaks and communicable disease 

 Strategic regulation interventions 

 Preparedness and response to incidents and emergencies. 
 

26 As detailed above, a wide range of health protection reports and 
scorecards form part of the existing assurance mechanisms. As this 
information is received at different frequencies and for varied 
geographies, the public health intelligence team amalgamated the 
information to form a health protection scorecard (appendix 2).   
This now provides assurance to the DPH of the wide range of 
information that is received including immunisation rates, screening 
coverage, rates of sexually transmitted infections, food borne infections 
and environmental hazards information. The scorecard (appendix 2) 
also provides trend information enabling oversight of health protection 
and highlighting where action may be required.  

 

New health protection assurance arrangements in County Durham  
 
27 The Director of Public Health led a Health Protection Assurance 

Session on the 23rd August 2018 with key staff to review the current 

Page 81



health protection systems, processes and protocols and update the 
original ‘plan on a page’ (appendix 4).  

 
28 The Internal Audit team attended the event as part of the work to be 

undertaken in supporting the Director of Public Health in their review of 
the DPH Assurance Framework.  Consideration was also given to the 
supporting systems and processes to determine whether the 
arrangements in place are fit for purpose’. 

 
29 The event was attended by Dr Deborah Wilson (Consultant in Health 

Protection, PHE), Gail Watkin (community infection control nurse) Kevin 
Archbold and Claire Balmont (Civil Contingencies Unit), Glen Wilson 
(Screening and Immunisation Lead, NHSE), Rachel Chapman (NHSE), 
Gill Findley (Director of Nursing, DDES CCG), and Joanne Waller 
(Environment, Health and Consumer Protection). 

 
30 During the Health Protection Assurance Session, The Director of Public 

Health sought assurance in relation to: 
 

 Screening programmes 

 Immunisation programmes 

 Outbreaks and communicable disease 

 Strategic regulation interventions 

 Preparedness and response to incidents and emergencies 

 Data and intelligence across all areas. 
 

31 The newly formed DCC Health Protection Assurance and Development 
Group will now oversee implementation of the action plan (appendix 3) 
in order to ensure the population of County Durham has its health 
protected in line with statutory requirements. The group will meet 
quarterly to report to the HWB on progress towards the identified 
actions. 

 

Screening and immunisations  
 

32 Screening and immunisation data provided below are extracted from the 
NHSE Public Health Functions Agreement (section 7a) reports as well 
as information provided on the health protection assurance day 23/8/18. 
Areas for inclusion and action have been identified based on those 
screening and immunisation programmes which are not meeting 
nationally agreed standards and may benefit from the input of the health 
protection assurance and development group. 

 

 
 
 

Page 82



Screening 
 

33 There are three cancer screening programmes (breast, cervical and 
bowel cancer), seven antenatal and newborn screening programmes 
and two further non cancer screening programmes (diabetic eye and 
abdominal aortic aneurysm screening) delivered to the County Durham 
population. 

 
34 Breast screening coverage rates are consistently above the 70% 

minimum standard.  Breast screening is delivered by 3 providers: 
Gateshead Health, Newcastle-upon-Tyne and North Tees & Hartlepool 
NHS Foundation Trust.  Over the last 4 years, Newcastle has 
sometimes failed to meet the 36 month round length KPI.  Weekend 
clinics have recently been introduced to address this. 

 
35 Coverage rates for cervical screening are higher than the England 

average, but fail to meet the 80% standard. Rates are showing a slight 
decline in recent years.  The local Screening and Immunisation Team 
(SIT) is exploring a targeted campaign aimed at improving uptake 
amongst young women. Turnaround times for sample processing on 
account of an impending change to testing practices leading to staff 
shortages are also a worry.  However, no labs have turnaround times 
which could threaten sample viability, and all are working hard to 
improve delays. 

 
36 County Durham has the second highest coverage for bowel screening 

in Cumbria and the NE (above 60%), and are performing above the 
England and regional average. 

 
37 Where data is available for the seven antenatal and new-born screening 

programmes, performance for the County Durham population is good.   
Some data is missing from CDDFT due to problems with their IT 
systems. The SIT are working hard to provide this as soon as possible. 

 
38 The providers delivering the diabetic retinopathy screening are 

achieving well above the national quality standard attendance rate of 
80%. The population of working age adults are less likely to have been 
screened than other sectors of the population, particularly amongst 
those of lower socio-economic status. The providers are working on 
possible interventions to address this. 

 
39 Between April 2017 and March 2018, 100% of eligible individuals were 

offered Abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) screening. Testing rates also 
reached the acceptable standard (82.8%).  

 

Page 83



40 Cancer screening data shows significant between practice variation in 
uptake. 

 
Immunisations 
 

41 Overall, the universal immunisation programme demonstrates high 
uptake rates across County Durham, with rates generally above 
national targets and averages.   

  
42 Trend data did however show a reduction in rates from 2013-2017 for 

the first and second MMR, Hib/ MenC, PCV and DTaP-IPV which is 
likely to have been due to a waiting list issue which is being resolved. 

 
43 The teenage booster (Td/IPV) and Men ACWY did show marginally 

lower uptake for Durham compared to its local and national 
comparators. 

 
44 Flu vaccination achieved the national ambition for 2-3 year olds, 

healthcare workers and pregnant women. National ambition was not 
achieved for the over 65 year olds, clinical risk groups and GP 
practice/independent healthcare service providers. Data was not 
available for uptake amongst social care workers.   

 
45 HPV and Prenatal pertussis vaccination has reached the minimum 

attainment. 
 
46 The shingles vaccination programme has seen a reduction in uptake 

across County Durham which mirrors a downward trend seen across 
England. Work is underway to explore options to address this. 

 
47 There is between practice variation in immunisation uptake with limited 

data regarding uptake in potentially vulnerable communities (such as 
Gypsy Roma Travellers). Work is underway to explore options to 
address this. 

 

Communicable disease control and outbreaks 
 

48 Information pertaining to the control of communicable diseases and 
outbreaks was provided by PHE, the DCC senior infection prevention 
and control nurse, the department for Environment health and 
consumer protection and the Civil Contingencies Unit during the health 
protection assurance event on 23/8/18.  Areas for inclusion have been 
identified based on those which may benefit from action by the health 
protection assurance and development group.  
 

Page 84



49 As a result of funding through the public health grant, County Durham 
has been extremely fortunate to have retained an in-house team of 
community infection control nurses who can support the care homes, 
GP surgeries and huge number of domiciliary carers in the area with 
infection control issues (especially reducing rates of reportable 
infections such as C difficile, MRSA and E.coli bacteraemia).  

 
50 The HCAI team deal with alert organisms on a daily basis and offer 

advice and support to care homes, staff and patients on HCAI. Progress 
against national targets are fed back to the DPH on a monthly basis. 

 
51 The infection control team support a network of infection control 

champions provided by the care homes, who attend regular study days 
as well as an annual conference. This is particularly valuable as due to 
a reduction in capacity within the community infection control team, care 
homes will be undertaking self-audits of infection control practices in the 
future. 

 
52 In hours, information about infection exceedances and outbreaks is 

easily communicated between organisations. There are also good 
working arrangements between the health protection team and 
Environmental Health Officers (EHO) in hours. 

 
53 The Civil Contingencies Unit provides a conduit for dissemination of 

information across the local authority both inside and outside of normal 
working hours.  However, dissemination of information across and 
within CCGs, NHSE, local authorities, PHE and provider organisations 
can be challenging in the event of an outbreak when out of hours.  

 
54 There is no environmental health officer rota out of hours, which can 

lead to delays in gathering the requisite information for risk 
assessments to be accurately undertaken in the event of an outbreak of 
infectious disease.  Whilst the CCU cannot elicit information required for 
outbreak risk assessments, they are the best route for PHE to make 
contact with an EHO out of hours. 

 
55 Undertaking swab testing, as well as provision of antivirals, vaccination 

and antibiotics in the event of flu and or pneumococcal outbreaks in 
care homes can also be challenging. Much of what happens currently 
works informally on the basis of longstanding relationships. There is no 
formal commissioning of services to meet these requirements besides 
the contract with Harrogate Foundation Trust, which provides 
vaccination services for 0-19 year olds.  

 
 

Page 85



56 The presence of several prison establishments in Durham presents 
challenges in the management of infectious diseases, particularly blood 
borne viruses and TB. Healthcare teams within prisons can feel isolated 
and have no onsite specialist infection control support provided to them. 

 
57 The Public Health in Prisons North East meetings have been held since 

June 2017.  These are chaired by one of the Consultants in Health 
Protection. The meetings allow for the dissemination and discussion of 
key material and learning relating to health protection and infection 
control; opportunities for individual prisons to share learning and good 
practise in relation to public health; and CPD for prison staff and 
commissioners in relation to public health. 

 
58 The Sexual and Reproductive Health Activity Dataset (SRHAD) together 

with Genito-urinary Medicine Clinic Activity Dataset (GUMCADv2), form 
the basis for the sexual health dataset collected from sexual health 
clinic settings. The integrated sexual health service (ISHS) is requested 
to provide data analysis relating to GUM attendances, activity and 
sexually transmitted infection (STI) trends on a quarterly basis.  

 
59 The public health scorecard (appendix 2) will provide robust quarterly 

data and information from the ISHS, although this is currently based on 
service activity. The scorecard (appendix 2) will also reflect the annual 
and quarterly data received from the NE sexual health network and 
PHE on STI rates. Current PHE sexual and reproductive health profiles 
identify County Durham as having a lower than average diagnosis rate 
for STI’s.   

 

60 Antimicrobial resistance remains a growing threat to public health. A 
wide range of factors, including indiscriminate use of antibiotics in 
medicine and wider society over many years, mean that antimicrobial 
resistance is now reaching a critical point. This means that medicines 
may become ineffective and increases the risk of bacterial infections 
spreading to others. This has significant cost implications with people 
likely to be unwell for longer and need both more tests and expensive 
drugs. With reduced ability to prevent and treat bacterial threats, people 
are likely to experience more illness and have a higher risk of disability 
and death from previously treatable illness. For example, interventions 
such as surgery, transplant and cancer chemotherapy are compromised 
without effective antibiotics to prevent infections.  

 
61 In 2018, the total number of prescribed antibiotics/ 1000 registered 

patients/quarter was 154 and 144 for DDES and North Durham CCG 
respectively.  This compares unfavourably with the England average 
(119).  

 

Page 86



62 Nationally and internationally, there is an increasing focus on blood 
stream infections caused by gram negative bacteria. Carbapenemase-
producing enterobacteriaceae (CPE) are a large family of gram-
negative bacteria which are resistant to carbapenem antibiotics. Given 
there are fewer antibiotic options for gram negative organisms and the 
proportion of gram negative organisms resistant to existing antibiotics is 
growing, enhanced CPE surveillance was introduced by PHE in 2015.  
Locally, PHE are working with provider trusts towards a common 
approach to managing CPE patients. 

 

Strategic regulation intervention 

63 Information pertaining to the strategic regulation and intervention was 
provided by the department for Environment health and consumer 
protection during the health protection assurance event on 23/8/18.  
Areas for inclusion have been identified based on those which may 
benefit from action by the health protection assurance and development 
group. 

 
64 The Environment, Health and Consumer Protection service delivers key 

frontline services which are mainly regulatory in nature and encompass 
environmental health, trading standards and licensing functions. The 
service is adopting a more strategic and risk based approach to 
regulation and works closely with a range of key partners to achieve 
better regulatory outcomes which protect and promote the health and 
wellbeing of local communities. 

 
65 The department’s food safety team are integral to the management of 

cases and outbreaks of food borne infection.  The incidence of some 
food borne infections is marginally higher in Durham compared to the 
England average (non-typhoidal salmonella: 17.6 compared to 
15.7/100,000 population; campylobacter:132 compared to 97/100,000 
population; cryptosporidium: 14.4 compared to 7.3/100,000 population, 
and ecoli O157: 2.3 compared to 1.2/100,000 population).  Rates of 
giardia infection are lower in Durham compared to the England average 
(6.7 compared to 8.5/100,000 population).   

  
66 Despite team capacity issues and a constant uncertainty around 

workload (due to the nature of the work), the team work to deliver 
proactive projects alongside their statutory duties (including business 
and housing inspections, air water and land quality improvement work) 
and reactive work (including infectious disease outbreaks and accidents 
in the workplace etc.)  These projects include a ‘community action 
team’, and the ‘better business for all’ initiative. 

 

Page 87



67 The team are also capitalising on their access to businesses and people 
in the community to deliver health improvement initiatives alongside 
their statutory duties.  Examples of this include alcohol harm reduction 
linked to licensing applications, smoking cessation linked to illicit control 
work, and gas safety inspections linked to food hygiene inspections.  
Future opportunities include work on falls, and fuel poverty linked to 
housing inspections, including a recent empty property protocol to 
reduce the risk of arson and antisocial behaviour as well as improving 
the health of the wider community. 

 
68 There may be challenges around succession planning, as 38% of staff 

are >50.  However, apprenticeships are being rolled out and they have 
taken on 3 newly qualified staff members in the last 3 years. 

 

Preparedness and response to incidents and emergencies 

69 Information pertaining to preparedness and response to incidents and 
emergencies was provided by the Civil Contingencies Unit during the 
health protection assurance event on 23/8/18.  Areas for inclusion have 
been identified based on those which may benefit from action by the 
health protection assurance and development group. 

 
70 The Civil Contingencies Unit is essentially the local authority’s point of 

contact for business continuity and emergency planning both internally 
and externally in response to incidents and emergencies.  The CCU are 
also a conduit for information for multiple agencies through the Local 
Resilience Forum (LRF) and have a duty officer on call at all times.  

 
71 They hold a community risk register which provides assurance to the 

DPH about key risks to the community including: pandemic influenza; 
flooding; adverse weather; emerging infectious disease; fuel shortage; 
widespread long duration electricity network failure; animal disease and 
building collapse. 

 
72 There are currently 3 control of major accident hazards (COMAH) sites 

in Durham. The CCU produce extensive emergency preparedness 
plans on ‘Resilience Direct’ and work with the LRF to co-ordinate the 
training exercise calendar. This also includes running exercises for the 
local university. 

 
73 All internal plans are reviewed on a regular basis. The DPH is involved 

in the initial development of relevant plans and is sent updates once 
plans are reviewed. Access to LRF plans is through ‘Resilience Direct’ 
from the LRF or the CCU. 

 

Page 88



74 The Deputy Director of Public Health has been added to the extended 
management team (EMT) rota, which will assist in assuring that 
situation reports are appropriately shared with local authority public 
health teams, so that potential health concerns of an incident are 
identified at the earliest opportunity and communicated to PHE.  

 
75 Durham County Council lead the recovery co-ordination group, 

responsible for community engagement and recovery assurance in the 
event of an incident (for example an extensive fire that may have led to 
land contamination).  

 
76 Every 2 years, the Cabinet Office survey, issues the National 

Capabilities Survey (NCS) for all category 1 and 2 responders. This 
highlighted gaps for County Durham and Darlington LRF in their mass 
casualty and excess death plans, which is why these plans are currently 
being reviewed. 

Main implications 

77 It is critical that the DPH receives assurance in relation to the health 
protection functions of: screening; Immunisation; outbreaks and 
communicable disease management; strategic regulation interventions 
and; preparedness and response to incidents and emergencies. 

 

78 Following engagement with representatives from Public Health 
England, NHS England, DDES CCG and DCC Civil Contingencies 
Unit, Department for Environment, Health and Consumer Protection 
and community infection control assurance mechanisms are now in 
place through the formulation of a health protection action plan.  This 
action plan has identified priority areas for action, achievement of 
which will be monitored through the Health Protection Assurance and 
Development Group and health protection scorecard.  The Health 
Protection Assurance and Development group will meet quarterly and 
report to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Conclusion 

79 The health protection functions delivered by a range of organisations in 
County Durham demonstrate good overall performance.  

 
80 Good communication exists between the commissioners of the various 

programmes and the DPH and remedial and corrective interventions are 
instigated when necessary.  Escalation procedures are in place in the 
event the DPH needs to raise concerns.  
 

81 There are however areas for potential improvement across screening 
and immunisation services, Communicable disease control and 
outbreaks, Strategic regulation intervention, and Preparedness and 

Page 89



response to incidents and emergencies.  Actions to achieve these have 
been identified in the action plan (Appendix 3). Monitoring towards 
achievement of the identified actions will be undertaken by the Health 
Protection Assurance and Development Group and using the health 
protection scorecard.  The health protection assurance and 
development group will meet quarterly and report to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

Background papers 

 None 

Other useful documents 

 None 

Contact: Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health.  Tel:  03000 264323  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 90



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications 
There is a statutory duty on the DPH and the Local Authorities to fulfil duties 
outlined in the 2006 Act 
 

Finance 
Some contingency funding for outbreaks in the Public Health budget 

 
Consultation 
None  

 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
None identified 

 
Human Rights 
Not applicable 

 
Crime and Disorder 
Not applicable 

 
Staffing 
None 

 
Accommodation 
Not applicable 

 
Risk 
DPH needs to have full assurance that the statutory duties and the duties of 
the Local Authority are met. 

 
Procurement 
Not applicable 
  

Page 91



 

Appendix 2:  Health protection scorecard 

 

See attached. 

 

Appendix 3:  New health protection action plan 

 

See attached. 

 

Appendix 4:  Original ‘plan on a page’ 

 

See attached. 

 

Page 92



Health Protection performance scorecard Durham County Council 15/11/2018

Significantly worse than England
Not significantly different to England
Significantly better than England

‐

No. Measure
N 2.19 - Cancer diagnosed at early stage (experimental statistics) % 2016     1,133 49.6% 51.2% 52.6%
N 2.20i - Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer % 2017   49,518 78.6% 77.1% 75.4%
N 2.20ii - Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer % 2017   99,254 76.4% 74.7% 72.0%
N 2.20iii - Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer % 2017   52,473 61.0% 60.0% 58.8%
N 2.20iv - Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Screening - Coverage % 2016/17     2,503 79.6% 79.8% 80.9%

N 2.20v – Diabetic eye screening - uptake  (%) % 2016/17 - - 84.6% 82.2%

N 2.20vii - Infectious Diseases in Pregnancy Screening – HIV Coverage  (%) % 2016/17 - - 98.7% 99.5%
N 2.20viii - Infectious Diseases in Pregnancy Screening – Syphillis Coverage  (%) % 2015 - - 96.3% 98.2%
N 2.20ix - Infectious Diseases in Pregnancy Screening – Hepatitis B Coverage  (%) % 2015 - - 96.9% 98.1%
N 2.20x - Sickle Cell and Thalassaemia Screening – Coverage  (%) % 2016/17 - - 99.0% 99.3%
N 2.20xi - Newborn Blood Spot Screening – Coverage  (%) % 2016/17 - - 98.7 96.5
N 2.20xii Newborn Hearing Screening – Coverage  (%) % 2016/17 - - 99.0% 98.4%
N 2.20xiii - Newborn and Infant Physical Examination Screening – Coverage  (%) % 2016/17 - - 89.2% 93.5%

Sc
re
en

in
g

North 
EastIndicator

Data updated 
since previous 
scorecard?

Above national goal
Close to national goal
Below national goal

Significance not tested
No sub‐regional data available

Recent 
trendMeasure Period England

County Durham

Health Protection scorecard ‐ October 2018

1

P
age 93



Health Protection performance scorecard Durham County Council 15/11/2018

No. Measure

North 
EastIndicator

Data updated 
since previous 
scorecard?

Recent 
trendMeasure Period England

County Durham

12 months          
N 3.03i - Population vaccination coverage - Hepatitis B (1 year old) % 2017/18 - - - -

3.03iii - Population vaccination coverage - Dtap / IPV / Hib (1 year old) % 2017/18     5,293 95.5% 93.1%
<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

3.03iv - Population vaccination coverage - MenC ** From 1st July 2016 the dose of MenC offered at 3 months is to be 
discontinued and so the 1 year evaluation 3.03iv indicator will become obsolete within the next two years (data for 2016/17 will be 
the last collection) **

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%
3.03v - Population vaccination coverage - PCV (1 year old) %

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

Y 3.03i - Population vaccination coverage - Hepatitis B (2 years old) % 2016/17 0 0 - -
3.03iii - Population vaccination coverage - Dtap / IPV / Hib (2 years old) % 2017/18

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%
3.03vi - Population vaccination coverage - Hib / MenC booster (2 years old) % 2017/18 95.0% 91.2%

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%
3.03vii - Population vaccination coverage - PCV booster (2 years old) % 2017/18 95.0% 91.0%

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%
3.03viii - Population vaccination coverage - MMR for one dose (2 years old) % 2017/18 94.5% 91.2%

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

3.03xviii - Population vaccination coverage - Flu (2-3 years old)    % 2017/18 5,135 43.9 43.5% No trend
<40% 40% to 65% >65%

3.03ix - Population vaccination coverage - MMR for one dose (5 years old) % 2017/18 97.2% 94.9%
<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

3.03vi - Population vaccination coverage - Hib / Men C booster (5 years old) % 2017/18 95.1% 92.4%
<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

3.03x - Population vaccination coverage - MMR for two doses (5 years old) % 2017/18 91.9% 87.2%
<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

3.03xii - Population vaccination coverage - HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (females 12-13 years old)  % 2016/17 89.8% 87.2%
                                                       <80% 80% to 90% ≥90%

3.03xvi - Population vaccination coverage - HPV vaccination coverage for two doses (females 13-14 years old) % 2016/17 84.2% 83.1%
                                                        <80% 80% to 90% >90%

N Persons entering substance misuse treatment - Percentage of eligible persons completing a course of hepatitis B vacc 2016/17 32 3.6% 6.0% 8.1%
3.03xv - Population vaccination coverage - Flu (at risk individuals) % 2017/18 34,518 50.2% 49.9%

<55% ≥55%
3.03xiv - Population vaccination coverage - Flu (aged 65+) % 2017/18 79,588 75.2% 73.9% 72.6%

<75% %≥75% 
3.03xiii - Population vaccination coverage - PPV (aged 65+) % 2017/18 37,998 70.2% 71.0% 69.5%

<65% 65% to 75% ≥75%
3.03xvii - Population vaccination coverage - Shingles vaccination coverage (70 years old) % 2016/17 3036 53.3% 51.5% 48.3%

<50% 50% to 60% ≥60%

Im
m
s 
an

d 
Va

cc
s

5 years 

Other Children and young people

Other   

    5,399 2015/16%

2017/18

95.1%97.2%

24 months          

45.3%

98.1%

97.0%

96.9%

98.5%    5,445 

93.3%95.7%98.1%    5,300 

98.0%

*98.7% 97.8%

97.2%

95.5%

2-3 years

    5,822 

    5,768 

    5,359 

    5,363 

    5,357 

96.9%

    5,671 

90.7%    2,311 

    2,127 87.4%

48.9%

Y

N

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

N

N

N

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

2

P
age 94



Health Protection performance scorecard Durham County Council 15/11/2018

No. Measure

North 
EastIndicator

Data updated 
since previous 
scorecard?

Recent 
trendMeasure Period England

County Durham

3.02 - Chlamydia detection rate / 100,000 aged 15-24 R/100,000 2017 1085 1620 2033 1882
<1,900 1,900 to 2,300 ≥2,300

N All new STI diagnoses (exc Chlamydia aged <25) / 100,000 R/100,000 2017 1893 569 644 794
N Gonorrhoea diagnosis rate per 100,000 population R/100,000 2017 273 52.3 67.4 78.8
N Syphilis diagnoses rate per 100,000 population R/100,000 2017 20 3.8 7.7 12.5

3.04 - HIV late diagnosis (%) R/100,000 2015-17 21 33.3% 40.3 41.1
≥50% 25% to 50% <25%

N Legionnaire’s disease confirmed incidence rate / 100,000 R/100,000 2015 0 0 0.95 0.67 No trend
Y Typhoid and paratyphoid confirmed incidence rate / 100,000 R/100,000 2017 0 0 0.19 0.53
Y 3.05ii - TB incidence (three year average) R/100,000 2015-17 26 1.7 4.5 9.9
Y 3.05i - Treatment completion for TB (%) % 2016 6 85.7 81.3 84.4
Y Measles (reported cases confirmed, Year to date) R/100,000 Q2 2018 0 0 0 -
Y Measles new diagnosis rate R/100,000 2016 0 0 0.1 1
Y Mumps (confirmed cases,quarterly number and annualised rates) R/100,000 Q2 2018 3 2.3 1.2 -
Y Mumps (confirmed cases,quarterly number and annualised rates) R/100,000 Q2 2018 4 3.1 1.7 -
N Rubella (confirmed cases, year to date) R/100,000 Q4 2017/18 1 0.2 0 - No trend
Y Meningococcal Infection (confirmed cases,quarterly number and annualised rates) R/100,000 Q2 2018 1 0.8 1.4 -
Y Scarlet Fever (all notifications) R/100,000 Q2 2018 111 85 97.5 -
N Haemophilus Influenzae Type B (HiB) R/100,000 Q4 2017/18 0 0 0 -
Y Non-typhoidal Salmonella (incidence) R/100,000 2017 92 17.6 16.6 15.7
Y Quarterly Salmonella Enteritidis (incidence) R/100,000 Q2 2018 2 1.5 2.4 -
Y Quarlerly Salmonella Typhimurium (incidence) R/100,000 Q2 2018 5 3.8 2.4 -
Y Quarterly Salmonella other (incidence) R/100,000 Q2 2018 4 3.1 4.2 -
Y Campylobacter (incidence) R/100,000 2017 689 132 123 97
Y Quarterly Campylobacter (incidence) R/100,000 Q2 2018 190 145.6 155.5 -
Y Cryptosporidium (incidence) R/100,000 2017 75 14.4 10.4 7.3
Y Quarterly Cryptosporidium (incidence) R/100,000 Q2 2018 16 12.3 10.3 -
Y Giardia (incidence) R/100,000 2017 35 6.7 11.9 8.5
Y Quartlerly Giardia (incidence) R/100,000 Q2 2018 4 3.1 12 -
Y STEC serogroup O157 (incidence) R/100,000 2016 12 2.3 1.5 1.2

In
fe
ct
io
us
 d
is
ea

se
s

Se
xu

al
 h
ea

lth

Y

N

3

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank



HEALTH PROTECTION ACTION PLAN (UPDATED NOVEMBER 2018)

Vision Strategies Measurable Outcomes Actions
Accountable 
person

Timescale
Assurance to DCC
HWB

W
o

rk
 in

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 t
o

 p
ro

te
ct

 a
n

d
 p

ro
m

o
te

 t
h

e 
h

ea
lt

h
, w

el
lb

ei
n

g 
an

d
 q

u
al

it
y

o
f 

lif
e 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 a

d
u

lt
s.

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t 
an

d
 Q

A
 

o
f 

Sc
re

e
n

in
g 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e

s • NHS England achieving its 
targets across all screening 
programmes particularly 
focusing on increasing 
equitable uptake

• Assurance that all screening 
programmes are being run in 
line with quality standards

• Undertaking targeted work with young women in the county to improve uptake of cervical screening particularly at 
practices with poor uptake

• Working with LMS to encourage early booking of pregnant women to ensure sufficient opportunity for antenatal screening 
to be undertaken

• Working with DES services to extend clinic times to improve uptake amongst working age adults, particularly those of lower 
socio-economic status

• Working with the Newcastle breast screening provider to run additional clinics in order to improve attainment of the 36-
month round length KPI

• Working with CDDFT to resolve IT issues that have led to an inability to report performance data for the most recent period
• Working with cervical screening services to ensure that staff shortages leading to prolonged sample turnaround time do not 

impact on sample viability

Rachel 

Chapman 

NHSE

Quarterly reporting 
via Screening and 
Immunisation 
Oversight Group to 
the health 
protection 
assurance and 
development group

• Reports from each 
screening programme 
board

• NHS England’s Inequalities 
action plan 

• QA reports on local 
screening programmes

• Public Health contracts 
containing the promotion 
of screening

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t 
an

d
 

Q
A

 o
f 

Im
m

u
n

is
at

io
n

P
ro

gr
am

m
e

s

• Improved Childhood 
immunization rates of MMR, 
Hib/Men C, PCV and DTaP-IPV

• Improved teenage vaccination 
rates for Men ACWY and 
Td/IPV

• Improved influenza vaccine 
coverage 

• Improve shingles vaccination 
rates

• Working to improve vaccination rates at low uptake GP surgeries in particular for vulnerable/ marginalised groups
• Working on specific issues such as translatable consent forms and problems with waiting list administration
• Working with schools and providers to ensure improved rates of vaccination amongst adolescents
• Focusing on improved influenza vaccination rates for >65s, clinical risk groups, and GPs/ independent providers
• Engaging in national campaigns to improve shingles vaccination rates which are reducing across the UK

Rachel 

Chapman, 

NHSE

Quarterly reporting 
via Screening and 
Immunisation 
Oversight Group to 
the health 
protection 
assurance and 
development group

• Reports from PHOG 
• NHS England’s Inequalities 

action plan 
• Reports on local 

immunisation  programmes
• Public Health contracts 

containing the promotion 
of immunisation

P
re

ve
n

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 
m

an
ag

e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
o

u
tb

re
ak

s 
an

d
 

co
m

m
u

n
ic

ab
le

 
d

is
e

as
e

 (
H

C
A

I’
s.

 T
B

 
H

IV
 S

TI
’s

)

• Maintain CCG targets in HCAI 
and Anti Microbial Resistance 
(AMR)

• Ensure quality standards are 
met in relation to management 
of outbreaks and incidents

• Work towards achieving a 
reduction in rates of sexually 
transmitted infections 

• Working with the infection control team to provide support with regards emerging work on E. coli bloodstream infections
• Supporting the infection control team with emerging work on domiciliary providers and the care home self-audit 

programme due to constraints within the teams capacity 
• Clarifying arrangements in relation to contacts in local authority and provider organisations in the event of an outbreak or 

incident out of hours
• Working with commissioners to ensure plans are in place for delivery of vaccines/testing and medicines in the event of an 

outbreak of infectious disease at a care home, school or nursery e.g. flu, pneumococcal and meningococcal disease 
• Linking with the NE sexual health group to understand whether NE strategy sufficient or whether something bespoke is 

required for Durham

Gail Watkin, 
DDES CCG

Public health

Deb Wilson PHE

Michelle 
Baldwin

Quarterly reporting 
to the health 
protection 
assurance and 
development group

• Infection Control Team 
minutes

• Outbreak Reports
• Surveillance Reports (PHE)
• PHE Annual Report
• Minutes of TB Forum, HCAI 

Group and Health 
Protection group

• Infection Control Team 
report

St
ra

te
gi

c 
re

gu
la

ti
o

n
in

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
s

• Reduce access and availability 
to age restricted products to 
children and young people

• Reduce housing health and 
safety risks

• Reduce anti-social behaviour 
and nuisance

• Better business compliance 
with safety standards

• Improve air, land and water 
quality

• Work with the environmental health team to deliver health improvement interventions alongside their statutory duties e.g. 
housing improvement, falls reduction, fuel poverty, alcohol harm reduction, smoking cessation and illicit substance control

• Add value to the work already being undertaken by community action teams and the better business for all initiative
• Work in partnership to support the air quality action plan via the technical working and steering groups that are already in 

place
• Support contribution to outbreak control situations

Joanne Waller

Quarterly reporting 
to the health 
protection 
assurance and 
development group

• Air Quality Strategy
• Contaminated Land 

Strategy
• Food Safety Plan
• Food Hygiene Plan
• Statutory returns/national 

regulations
• Annual enforcement 

programme
• Licensing and enforcement 

policies
• Disease contingency plans

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 o
f 

ro
b

u
st

 p
re

p
ar

e
d

n
e

ss
 

an
d

 r
e

sp
o

n
se

 t
o

 
in

ci
d

e
n

ts
 a

n
d

 
e

m
e

rg
e

n
ci

e
s • Working in partnership to 

provide assurance of 
robustness of multi-agency 
EPRR plans

• Assurance of recovery 
following on from an incident 
or outbreak

• Work with the CCU to ensure plans for mass casualty and excess deaths are appropriately updated
• Ensure everyone on EMT rota understands functions of public health and when they should be alerted to an incident.  
• Delineate lines of communication to be used in the event of an outbreak or incident – particularly out of hours
• Improving communication between local authority and PHE to ensure that incidents with a potential health impact are 

shared between organisations early
• Work with CCU on recovery plans particularly ensuring appropriate representation at recovery co-ordination group

Kevin Edworthy

Quarterly reporting 
to the health 
protection 
assurance and 
development group

• Emergency Plans
• Business Continuity Plans 
• PHE Annual Report
• LRF and LHRP Minutes
• Reports from Exercises

Robust surveillance and monitoring systems

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



• Work with NHS England to implement its plans to reduce inequity in uptake of screening.

• Ensure that the promotion of all current screening programmes are specified in all health and 

wellbeing contracts.

• Contribute to NHS England screening programme boards either in person or through a Public 

Health representative.

• Keep abreast of QA visits to screening programmes in County Durham and seek assurance that 

these meet quality standards and any improvement measures are completed.

• Review and establish effective and timely Public Health screening intelligence systems.

• Focus on the promotion and uptake of cancer screening programmes in line with Cancer 

Alliance funded work.

Inequity of 
Immunisation

uptake

Risks Desired FutureVision Strategies Measurable Outcomes

HEALTH PROTECTION– DRAFT PLAN ON A PAGE (JANUARY 2018) 

W
o

rk
 in

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 t
o

 p
ro

te
ct

 a
n

d
 p

ro
m

o
te

 t
h

e 
h

ea
lt

h
, w

el
lb

ei
n

g 
an

d
 q

u
al

it
y

o
f 

lif
e 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 a

d
u

lt
s

Robust surveillance and monitoring systems

• Improved Childhood 
immunization rates 
including MMR, HPV 
vaccination rates, DTaP 
booster 

• Improved influenza 
vaccine coverage 

• NHS England achieving its 

quality standards and 

targets across all 

screening programmes 

particularly focusing on 

increasing equitable 

uptake.

• Assurance that all 

screening programmes 

are being run in line with 

quality standards

• Establish immunisation governance and accountability arrangements.

• Develop strategy to maximise uptake and tackle inequalities in immunisation uptake.

• Establish immunisation public health intelligence feedback 

• Implement a seasonal flu immunisation plan for relevant DCC staff

• Implement new immunisation programmes.

• Ensure that 0-19 commissioned service contract enables emergency immunisation 

response to outbreaks.

• Respond to any outbreak with PHE internal plan.

Actions  

Im
p

le
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 o

f 
ro

b
u

st
 

p
re

p
ar

ed
n

es
s 

an
d

 
re

sp
o

n
se

 t
o

 
in

ci
d

en
ts

 a
n

d
 

em
er

ge
n

ci
es

Im
p

le
m

en
t 

an
d

 
Q

A
 o

f 
Sc

re
en

in
g 

P
ro

gr
am

m
es

To ensure 

effective 

screening and 

immunisation 

arrangements are 

in place across 

County Durham 

to support 

prevention, early 

detection and 

treatment of 

disease

To ensure safe 

and healthy 

environment for 

the public

Assurance of robustness of 

multi-agency EPRR plans, 

• DCC to participate fully with PHE in following national guidelines and local outbreak 
plans in response to  incidents and outbreaks .

• Comprehensive EPPR plans in place and understood by all partners, link to the 
community risk register.

• Pandemic Influenza Response plans updated (all)
• Full participation in all tabletop exercise   
• Ensure full DCC participation in LRF programme of simulated major incidents in 

partnership locally
• Ensure full participation in development and exercising DCC’s recovery plans
• Provide assurance of NHS EPRR via LHRP

• Reports from each screening 

programme board

• NHS England’s Inequalities 

action plan 

• QA reports on local screening 

programmes

• Public Health contracts 

containing the promotion of 

screening

• Air Quality Strategy
• Contaminated Land 

Strategy
• Food Safety Plan
• Food Hygiene Plan
• Statutory 

returns/national 
regulations

• Annual enforcement 
programme

• Licensing and 
enforcement policies

• Disease contingency 
plans

•Reports from PHOG 

•NHS England’s Inequalities 

action plan 

•Reports on local 

immunisation  programmes

•Public Health contracts 

containing the promotion of 

immunisation

• Emergency Plans
• Business Continuity Plans 
• PHE Annual Report
• LRF and LHRP Minutes
• Reports from Exercises

Inequity of 
Screening uptake 

St
ra

te
gi

c 
re

gu
la

ti
o

n
in

te
rv

en
ti

o
n

s

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t 
an

d
 

Q
A

 o
f 

Im
m

u
n

is
at

io
n

 
P

ro
gr

am
m

e
s

• Reduce access and 
availability to age 
restricted products to 
children and young 
people

• Improve standards of 
food hygiene

• Better business 
compliance with safety 
standards

• Improve air, land and 
water quality

• Reduce housing 
health and safety risks

• Reduce anti-social 
behavior and nuisance

• Ensure DCC facilities 
meet health, safety 
and infection control 
standards. 

• Full participation in HCAI Group

• Attendance and active participation in TB Forum

• Participation in Outbreak Control Team meetings

• Ensure all work in this area takes account of disadvantaged community – prisons, 

GRT, LGBT

• Infection Control Team to provide community infection control in care homes

• Participate in Sexual Health Forum(s)

• Ensure STI/HIV prevention programme are in place through provider functions

• Ensure measures are in place to reduce levels of blood borne virus transmission 

Lack of surveillance

P
re

ve
n

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 
m

an
ag

e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
o

u
tb

re
ak

s 
an

d
 

co
m

m
u

n
ic

ab
le

 
d

is
e

as
e

 (
H

C
A

I’
s.

 T
B

 
H

IV
 S

TI
’s

)

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

• Monitor progress against 
TB targets

• Maintain CCG targets in 
HCAI and Anti Microbial 
Resistance

• All Outbreak Control 
Meeting led by PHE in line 
with national guidance.

• Reduction in STIs and HIV
• Incidence of blood borne 

viruses 

• Deliver air quality implementation plan
• Risk  based interventions and inspections
• Intelligence led enforcement
• Community action initiatives
• Assess housing health and safety standards in private sector dwelling
• Take precautions in DCC and other public premises to protect the 

public from communicable diseases ( legionella, norovirus, crypto)

• Infection Control Team 

minutes

• Outbreak Reports

• Surveillance Reports 

(PHE)

• PHE Annual Report

• Minutes of TB Forum, 

HCAI Group and Health 

Protection Committee

• Infection Control Team 

report

Public Safety 
Hazards

Threats from
major incidents 
and emergencies

Threats from
communicable

diseases

Assurance to DCC/H&WB

To ensure 

effective health 

protection and 

emergency 

response and 

recovery 

arrangements 

are in place 

across County 

Durham

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



HEALTH PROTECTION ASSURANCE

Health and Wellbeing Board 

30 January 2019

Amanda Healy

Director of Public Health County Durham

Jo Darke

Public Health Registrar, Health Protection Team 

Public Health England

P
age 101



The Taylor family 2018

Antenatal 
vaccines

Cervical 
screening

Antenatal 
and 

newborn
screening Diabetic  

eye 
screening

Teenage 
vaccines

Childhood 
vaccines

Breast 
screening

Bowel 
screening

AAA 
screening

65-70 year 
vaccines

Healthcare 
acquired 
infection

Care home 
outbreaks

Food borne 
infection

Sexual 
health

Pandemic
Flu

Air quality

P
age 102



Process

• Health protection annual report presented to HWB 

January 2018 

• Review of the health protection assurance process 

undertaken

• A health protection assurance day was held on 23 

August 2018 with partner organisations

• Health protection action plan now in place

• Health Protection Assurance & Development Group will 

be established to oversee the reporting of progress of 

achieving the goals in the action plan

P
age 103



Health Protection Scorecard 

P
age 104



Health protection strategies

Screening 
programmes

Emergency 
preparedness

Strategic 
regulation 

interventions

Immunisation 
programmes

Outbreaks and 
communicable 

diseases

P
age 105



Antenatal 
vaccines

Cervical 
screening

Antenatal 
and 

newborn
screening Diabetic  

eye 
screening

Teenage 
vaccines

Childhood 
vaccines

Breast 
screening

Bowel 
screening

AAA 
screening

65-70 year 
vaccines

Healthcare 
acquired 
infection

Care home 
outbreaks

Food borne 
infection

Sexual 
health

Flooding

Air quality

Childhood vaccines

• Between the ages of 8 weeks and 3 years, children 

should received vaccines against 14 different bacterial 

and viral infections.

• Uptake rates across County Durham are consistently 

above national targets.

Immunisations

P
age 106



Immunisations

Antenatal 
vaccines

Cervical 
screening

Antenatal 
and 

newborn
screening Diabetic  

eye 
screening

Teenage 
vaccines

Childhood 
vaccines

Breast 
screening

Bowel 
screening

AAA 
screening

65-70 year 
vaccines

Healthcare 
acquired 
infection

Care home 
outbreaks

Food borne 
infection

Sexual 
health

Flooding

Air quality

Adult vaccines

• National ambition for flu vaccine was not achieved.

• Decline in shingles vaccination uptake.

• Both CCGs have similar uptake for pneumococcal vaccination 

to England (69.5%).

P
age 107



Antenatal 
vaccines

Cervical 
screening

Antenatal 
and 

newborn
screening Diabetic  

eye 
screening

Teenage 
vaccines

Childhood 
vaccines

Breast 
screening

Bowel 
screening

AAA 
screening

65-70 year 
vaccines

Healthcare 
acquired 
infection

Care home 
outbreaks

Food borne 
infection

Sexual 
health

Flooding

Air quality

Cervical Screening

• Every:

3 years for women aged 25-49 years.

5 years for women aged 50-64 years.

• Coverage rates for Durham (76%) higher than England (72%) 

but lower than 80% standard.

• Decline in recent years.

• Targeted campaigns.

ScreeningP
age 108



Screening

Antenatal 
vaccines

Cervical 
screening

Antenatal 
and 

newborn
screening Diabetic  

eye 
screening

Teenage 
vaccines

Childhood 
vaccines

Breast 
screening

Bowel 
screening

AAA 
screening

65-70 year 
vaccines

Healthcare 
acquired 
infection

Care home 
outbreaks

Food borne 
infection

Sexual 
health

Flooding

Air quality

Breast, bowel and AAA screening

• Breast screening is recommended every 3 years 

between 50-70.

• Bowel screening is recommended every 2 years 

between 60-74.

• Abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) screening is 

carried out once in men aged 65.

• Breast, bowel and AAA screening rates are 

consistently higher than the recommended 

standards.

P
age 109



Communicable disease

Antenatal 
vaccines

Cervical 
screening

Antenatal 
and 

newborn
screening Diabetic  

eye 
screening

Teenage 
vaccines

Childhood 
vaccines

Breast 
screening

Bowel 
screening

AAA 
screening

65-70 year 
vaccines

Healthcare 
acquired 
infection

Care home 
outbreaks

Food borne 
infection

Sexual 
health

Flooding

Air quality

Healthcare acquired infection

• Team of community infection control nurses for the County.

• Rates of ecoli sepsis, C Difficile infection and MRSA sepsis are 

comparable or lower than the England average.

P
age 110



Emergency Preparedness

Antenatal 
vaccines

Cervical 
screening

Antenatal 
and 

newborn
screening Diabetic  

eye 
screening

Teenage 
vaccines

Childhood 
vaccines

Breast 
screening

Bowel 
screening

AAA 
screening

65-70 year 
vaccines

Healthcare 
acquired 
infection

Care home 
outbreaks

Food borne 
infection

Sexual 
health

Pandemic 
Flu

Air quality

Pandemic Flu

• Excess death plan

P
age 111



Conclusions

• The health protection functions delivered by a range of organisations 

in County Durham demonstrate good overall performance

• Good communication exists between the commissioners of the 

various programmes and the DPH and remedial and corrective 

interventions are instigated when necessary.  Escalation procedures 

are in place in the event the DPH needs to raise concerns

• There are however areas for potential improvement and actions to 

achieve these have been identified in the action plan 

• Monitoring towards achievement of these actions will be undertaken 

by the Health protection Assurance and Development Group and 

using the health protection scorecard 

• The health protection assurance and development group will meet 

quarterly and report to the HWB

P
age 112



Recommendations from the report 

• Note that the performance is generally higher than England 

averages and above target for most immunisation and 

screening programmes 

• Note that the DPH is largely satisfied that effective 

assurance processes are in place for communicable 

disease control, strategic regulation intervention and 

emergency preparedness  

• Support the implementation of the newly formed health 

protection assurance and development group which will 

oversee the reporting of progress towards achieving the 

goals detailed in the action plan in appendix 3

• Support further identification and response to emerging 

health protection priorities

P
age 113



Questions?

P
age 114



 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
30 January 2019 
 
Children and Adults Autism Update 
‘Think Autism in County Durham’ 
 
 
 
Report of Denise Elliott, Head of Commissioning, Durham County 
Council, and Janet Crawford, Principal Educational Psychologist, 
Durham County Council 
  
Purpose of the Report 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to present an update on the development 

of an all-age approach to autism in County Durham, which 
encompasses: 

a) The delivery of a revised 14+ Autism Strategy Implementation 
Action Plan 

b) The strategic review for children and young people with complex 
social communication needs including autism and proposed 
Integrated Autism and Social Communication Strategy for County 
Durham. 

Executive Summary 
 
2 This report provides an update on the joint strategic approach to 

autism in County Durham across the age range involving Health, 
Social Care, Education and other partners. 

3 The report and action plan has been presented for approval at the 
various Durham County Council Adults, Children, Young People and 
Health management teams, as well as to relevant Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and Tees, Esk and Wear Valley (TEWV) NHS 
Foundation Trust senior managers. 

4 The report reflects the work undertaken by multi-agency planning 
groups, including engagement with stakeholders such as people with 
autism, parents, families, carers and providers. 

5 The Autism Act 2009 required the Government to produce a strategy 
to make sure adults with autism get the help they need. Originally 
entitled Fulfilling and Rewarding Lives, the strategy was published in 
March 2010 along with statutory guidance for local councils and health 

Page 115

Agenda Item 10



 
 

bodies.  An updated strategy called Think Autism was published in 
April 2014. A formal review of the strategy is expected in 2019. 

6 An Action Plan to implement this autism strategy in County Durham 
was first developed in 2014. A multi-agency Autism Strategy 
Implementation Group (ASIG), led by the Council’s Commissioning 
service, oversees the development of the action plan, monitors its 
progress and coordinates the completion of the self-assessments. 

7 The revised action plan, Think Autism in County Durham, is a working 
document, which is monitored and updated as required through the 
work of the ASIG. The action plan includes a section on Transitions 
and efforts have been made to include the needs of people with autism 
of all ages and align the Think Autism 14+ Strategy Action Plan with a 
proposed strategy action plan for children and young people with 
autism and social communication needs. 

8 Following the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting in September 2018 
it was agreed that there should be a combined ‘Think Autism in County 
Durham’ all-age strategy and action plan for 2018-20. This has been 
developed with both the ASIG and Children and Young People’s 
Autism Steering groups (See Appendix 2). 

Recommendation(s) 
 
9 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

a) Note the contents of this report and next steps.  

b) Note that the detailed all age action plan has been developed and 
is available on request. 

c) Receive further information regarding the World Autism Day 
programme of events and consider the participation of Health and 
Wellbeing Board member organisations in these events. 

Background 
 
10 Autism is a spectrum condition that affects the way a person 

communicates and relates to others and makes sense of the world 
around them. People with autism may experience hypersensitivity or 
lack of sensitivity to sound, touch, taste, smell, lights or colours. 

11 Approximately 1% of the population have autism and it affects 
individuals differently. Data from Public Health suggests that within the 
population of County Durham there is an approximate 1.1% 
prevalence rate of people on the autism spectrum. 

12 Life with autism can be confusing, frightening and isolating. Autism is 
not a learning disability or a mental health problem and many people 

Page 116



 
 

with an autism spectrum disorder can be high functioning. However, 
mental health issues can be more common among people with autism 
and one in three adults with a learning disability are also thought to 
have autism. 

13 This report provides an update on the joint strategic approach to 
autism in County Durham across the age range involving Health, 
Social Care, Education and other partners. 

14 The report and action plan has been approved at the various Durham 
County Council Adults, Children, Young People and Health 
management teams, as well as to relevant Clinical Commissioning 
Groups and TEWV NHS Foundation Trust senior managers. 

15 The report reflects the work undertaken by multi-agency planning 
groups including engagement with stakeholders such as people with 
autism, parents, families, carers and providers. 

Previous Reports 

16 On 20 March 2018, the Health and Wellbeing Board received a 
progress report on the statutory self-assessment feedback and the 
Autism Strategy Implementation action plan for County Durham, which 
relates to people age 14 years and over. 

17 In May 2018, the Health and Wellbeing Board received a report on the 
process for transitions from Children and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services (CAMHS) to Adult Mental Health Services (AMHS) within 
Tees, Esk and Wear Valley (TEWV) NHS Foundation Trust. The report 
made reference to some children and young people with autism 
needing access to specialist mental health interventions. 

18 For children and young people there is a Special Educational Needs 
and/or Disabilities (SEND) Strategy for County Durham (2015-2018).  
There is not a requirement for a separate Autism Strategy for children 
and young people, however, the need to complete a strategic review of 
children and young people with complex social communication needs 
(including autism) featured as part of the SEND Action Plan for County 
Durham. The strategic review and resultant action plan was presented 
to the Integrated Steering Group for Children in September 2018. 
Some revisions were suggested and amendments to the children and 
young people’s elements of the plan were made. 

Update on Progress 

The National Adults Autism Strategy and the 14+ Autism Strategy 
Implementation Action Plan for County Durham 

19 The Autism Act 2009 required the Government to produce a strategy 
to make sure adults with autism get the help they need. Originally 

Page 117



 
 

entitled Fulfilling and Rewarding Lives, the strategy was published in 
March 2010 along with statutory guidance for local councils and health 
bodies.  An updated strategy called Think Autism was published in 
April 2014. A formal review of the strategy is expected in 2019. 

20 Statutory guidance was updated in March 2015 and a new governance 
structure was published in March 2018 to oversee the two overarching 
national autism strategy objectives: 

a) Reducing the gap in life expectancy for people with autism. 

b) People with autism are able to play a full role in society. 

21 Progress on the national strategy will be measured within five domains 
incorporating nineteen overarching strategic objectives. The domains 
are: 

a) Measuring, understanding and reporting the needs of autistic 
people 

b) Workforce development 

c) Health, care and wellbeing 

d) Specific support 

e) Participation in local community 

22 Local authorities and NHS bodies are required to carry out a statutory 
self-assessment against priorities set out in the national autism 
strategy.  There have been four self-assessments to date since 2011. 
The results are analysed and published by the Public Health England’s 
Learning Disabilities intelligence Team. 

23 An Action Plan to implement this autism strategy in County Durham 
was first developed in 2014. A multi-agency Autism Strategy 
Implementation Group (ASIG), led by the Council’s Commissioning 
service, oversees the development of the action plan, monitors its 
progress and coordinates the completion of the self-assessments. 

24 County Durham’s 2016/17 self-assessment feedback was reported to 
the Health and Wellbeing Board in March 2018. It demonstrated areas 
of progress (e.g. reasonable adjustments within general Council 
services; carer support; advocacy; training; access to information and 
support; and interfaces with employment, housing and the criminal 
justice system) and areas requiring improvement (e.g. data collection; 
diagnostic pathways and waiting times; crisis support and post 
diagnosis support/reasonable adjustments for people who have autism 
without a learning disability). 

Page 118



 
 

 

25 The action plan has been revised as part of the strategy development, 
following the latest statutory guidance and feedback from 
stakeholders, in response to the last self-assessment in 2016/17 and 
in preparation for the 2018 self-assessment, which was completed and 
submitted on 17th December 2018. This takes into account the Care 
Act and Children and Families Act obligations. 

26 The revised action plan, Think Autism in County Durham, is a working 
document, which is monitored and updated as required through the 
work of the ASIG. The action plan includes a section on Transitions 
and efforts have been made to include the needs of people with autism 
of all ages and align the Think Autism 14+ Strategy Action Plan with a 
proposed strategy action plan for children and young people with 
autism and social communication needs. 

Strategic review for children and young people with complex social 
communication needs, including autism and proposed Integrated 
Autism and Social Communication Strategy for County Durham 
 
27 Until recently, the needs of children with autism have been dealt with 

separately to the adult autism strategy and are included in the Special 
Educational Needs and/or Disabilities (SEND) Strategy for County 
Durham (2015-2018).  

28 Meeting the needs of children and young people with complex social 
communication needs is a high priority for the local area and this group 
was specifically referenced in the Local Area SEND Inspection 2017. 

29 On available information, it is estimated that approximately 1,200 
children and young people under 19 in County Durham have social 
communication needs and who might meet diagnostic criteria for 
autism. This does not include additional children and young people 
who do not fully meet the criteria for diagnosis but who may present 
with some autism traits and additional needs requiring support. 

30 In August 2017 Durham County Council and partners completed a 
strategic review for children and young people (0-25 years) with 
complex social communication needs, including those with autism. 

31 In December 2017, the findings and recommendations of the strategic 
review were reported to the Children and Young People Services 
Management Team and then the Healthy Child Programme Board in 
January 2018, where the following proposals were agreed: 

a) Develop an ‘Integrated Autism and Social Communication 
Strategy and action plan for County Durham’ based on the 
recommendations of the strategic review. 

Page 119



 
 

b) Explore joint commissioning options relating to the action plan 
that will facilitate detailed planning relating to the risks and 
recommendations. 

c) Establish a 2 year time limited post, jointly funding through Health 
and the Local authority to identify priorities with key stakeholders 
and promote and develop this agenda. 

d) Adopt and promote ‘Autism Aware’ status across the Local Area, 
embedding the recommendation of this review, and link with the 
Adults autism strategy implementation with a view to working 
towards a joint planning approach. 

32 Since the Healthy Child Programme Board meeting the Children and 
Young People Service Autism Steering group developed an integrated 
strategy and commissioning options plan outlining risks and 
recommendations. This was presented to Education SLT in June 2018 
and the Integrated Steering Group for Children in September 2018. 

33 This has now been combined with the 14+ Strategy Action Plan. 

Developing a Combined Approach 
 
34 Following the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting in September 2018 

it was agreed that there should be a combined ‘Think Autism in County 
Durham’ Action Plan and an overarching all-age strategy for 2018-20. 
This has been developed with both the ASIG and Children and Young 
People Autism Steering groups (See Appendix 2). 

Next Steps 
 
35 The key leads for the Think Autism 14+ Autism Strategy and the 

Children’s Integrated Autism and Social Communication Strategy will 
continue to establish an all-age collaborative approach to autism for 
County Durham with Clinical Commissioning Groups, TEWV and other 
key partners. 

36 The elements of the Integrated Autism and Social Communication 
action plan that relate to children and young people, and also 14+ to 
adults will be filtered to support planning and progress monitoring 
within the two stakeholder steering groups. 

37 Both action plans will be updated as further engagement work is 
undertaken with stakeholder groups and the autism self-assessment 
has been completed for submission in December 2018. 

38 ‘Think Autism in County Durham’ is to be promoted with service and 
stakeholders in time for World Autism Day 2019; this will be linked with 
the Think Autism Strategy implementation action plan. 

Page 120



 
 

39 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to 
receive further information regarding the World Autism Day 
programme of events and consider the participation of members of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board in these events. 

 

Contact: Tricia Reed Tel:  03000 269095 
 

 Janet Crawford Tel: 03000 263333 

 Paul McAdam  
  

 

Tel:  03000 268407 
 

Page 121



 
 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications 
N/A 
 
Finance 
There may be a financial implication in terms of resource on further 
exploration of the actions 
 
Consultation 
All work is in co-production with multi-agency partners, people with autism and 
their families. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
Actions contained within the action plan to ensure compliance in relation to 
people with autism and their families/carers. 
 
Human Rights 
None highlighted 
 
Crime and Disorder 
None highlighted at this stage; needs in relation to criminal justice will be 
incorporate into the action plan. 
 
Staffing 
There may be a staffing implication in exploration of commissioning intentions 
from proposed action plan and capacity issues to fully implement the autism 
strategy in addition to other competing priorities. 
 
Accommodation 
None highlighted at this stage; housing and accommodation needs will be 
incorporated into the action plan. 
 
Risk 
There are a number of risks highlighted within the proposed action plan 
outlined as associated with gaps in provision and actions. 
 
Procurement 
Potential procurement on exploration of action plan and future commissioning 
intentions. 
 

 

 
 

Page 122



 
 

 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

11 
  

 

 

 

‘Think Autism’ in County Durham  

 

Autism Strategy for Children, Young People and Adults 

 

2018/19 - 2020/21 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 125



1 
 

Purpose 

This is our local strategy for children, young people and adults on the autism spectrum in 
County Durham, with the aim of providing focus and clarity on the priorities for improving 
services and opportunities for these people. In line with national initiatives we have called our 
strategy: ‘Think Autism in County Durham’ 

The document considers what life is currently like for people on the autism spectrum in County 
Durham, based on feedback from people and analysis of their needs. It sets out where we 
want to be in three years and what actions we will undertake to achieve this. For the public it 
provides a summary of the importance of services and support for people on the autism 
spectrum and what they can expect from local services.  

This strategy has been prepared jointly by all public services and voluntary and community 
services including the Council and local health services, who work together to improve 
outcomes for people on the autism spectrum. 

For those responsible for delivering services, any future work programmes should contribute to 
achieving the aims set out in this strategy. It can therefore be used as an aid in deciding what 
to do and of equal importance, what not to do. Members, officers and partners will find this 
document of practical use in evaluating whether to participate in new national initiatives and 
funding bids and help select the work programmes that we need to do. The strategy is 
therefore a living document that is designed to be used regularly. 

Introduction 

Autism is a spectrum condition that affects the way a person communicates and relates to 

others and makes sense of the world around them. Research shows that there is no single way 

of describing autism or autism spectrum disorder (ASD) that is universally accepted.  Some 

people prefer the term people on the autism spectrum or people with autism. The term used in 

in this document is ‘people on the autism spectrum’ as it acknowledges that each person on 

the autism spectrum is unique. 

People on the autism spectrum may experience hypersensitivity or lack of sensitivity to sound, 

touch, taste, smell, lights or colours. The person may experience differences with social 

communication, social interaction and thinking. Approximately 1% of the population have 

autism and it effects individuals differently. Data from Public Health confirms that within the 

population of County Durham there is an approximate 1.1% prevalence rate of residents on the 

autism spectrum. 

Life with autism can be confusing and frightening and some people feel isolated. Autism is not 
a learning disability, nor a mental health problem, and many people on the autism spectrum 
can function well in many aspects of their life. However, mental health problems can be more 
common among people on the autism spectrum and one in three adults with a learning 
disability are also thought to have autism. 
 
The adult strategy arose from the Autism Act 2009, which required the Government to produce 
a strategy for adults and young people from age 14 on the autism spectrum and guidance for 
local councils and health bodies to help implement the strategy. The Adult Autism Strategy – 
entitled Fulfilling and rewarding lives was published in March 2010.  An updated strategy - 

Think Autism – was published in April 2014. Its aim is to make sure that adults on the autism 
spectrum get the help they need.   
 
The needs of children on the autism spectrum are met through more general legislative 
frameworks including the Children and Families Act (2014).There is no statutory requirement 
for a separate Autism Strategy for children and young people; however the need to complete a 
Strategic Review of Autism featured as part of SEND Action Plan for County Durham.  
 
Consequently, a life span integrated Autism and Social Communication Strategy for County 
Durham has been developed. 
 
This Autism Strategy first arose out of the adults’ autism strategy which included a section on 
transitions, recognising the need to plan well for young people making the transition to 
adulthood/adult services. This strategy has now been revised to incorporate planning for both 
children and adults on the autism spectrum, albeit recognising that there may be separate 
workstreams and planning mechanisms for children and adults. This strategy pulls together all 
of the priorities and actions across the full age range, attempting to take a life-course approach 
to autism and helping to improve the lives of people on the autism spectrum whatever their 
age. 
 
National Policy  

There is a great deal of national legislative and policy impacting on services for people on the 

autism spectrum. Key policy areas are:  

 The Care Act 2014 covers the needs of people eligible for social care needs and also 

the duties of preventative approaches such as early support; advance planning; helping 

people to maintain independence and wellbeing and avoid a crisis. The Care Act also 

requires statutory agencies to work together in partnership with individuals and families 

within assessment and care planning processes, including help with accommodation 

and employment/meaningful activity, supporting families and accessing necessary 

health and social care services. 

 The Children and Families Act 2014 addresses the needs of children and young 

people up to the age of 25, including those with Special Educational Needs or 

Disabilities (SEND). Reforms include a single coordinated birth to 25 Educational, 

Health and Care (EHC) Plan for these children and young people whilst in education; 

improving cooperation and collaboration between all the services that support individual 

and families, particularly local authorities, education providers and health services; and 

the introduction of the ‘Local Offer’ including centralised information, advice and 

guidance. 

 The National Autistic Society (NAS) has produced Autism Strategy Good Practice 

Guides (2016) for local authorities and NHS bodies on the following topics 

- Ensuring preventative support 

- Diagnosis and the care pathway 

- Planning and leadership 

- Training 

- Transition 

- Employment 

P
age 126

http://www.autism.org.uk/about/strategy/2010-strategy.aspx
http://www.autism.org.uk/about/strategy/2014-strategy.aspx


2 
 

- People with complex needs or whose behaviour may challenge 

- Criminal justice 

 Future in Mind: Promoting, Protecting and Improving our Children and Young 

People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing 2015.  

 Equality Act 2010 

 All Party Parliamentary Group on Autism (APPGA) Transition to Adulthood 2009 

recommends 

- Effective and timely planning 

- Realistic yet stretching expectations 

- Effective joint working across services 

- Understanding of autism amongst professionals 

- Accessible information for young people and their families 

- Appropriate funding 

 APPGA The Right Start 2012 recommends  

- Every school has a lead teacher for autism 

- All children and young people with autism and special educational needs (SEN) 

have an action plan (including those without Statements or the proposed 

Education, Health and Care Plans)  

- There is meaningful support for all young people with autism and SEN up to 25 

years, including those not in further education. 

 The Autism Act 2009 and associated ‘Think Autism’ strategy imposes statutory duties 

on Local Areas for those with autism over 14 years of age. However, the principles of 

the strategy are relevant to all children and young people with autism or related 

presentation. These are 

- Having the right support at the right time during a lifetime 

- To be accepted within the local community 

- People and organisations in the community to have opportunities to raise their 

awareness and acceptance of autism  

- The child/young person’s views and aspirations are taken into account when 
decisions are made  

- To be able  to connect with other people, including local autism peer groups, 
family groups and low level support  

- That everyday services know how to make reasonable adjustments 

- To be safe in the community and free from the risk of discrimination, 

- Autism to be included in local strategic needs assessment 

- Families are able to get help and support when they need it  

- To be supported through big life changes such as transition from school 

- The criminal justice system to think about autism and to know how to work well 

with other services 

- For those with autism to have the same opportunities as everyone else and to be 

as independent as possible 

 Department for Education (DfE) Preparing for Adulthood Programme recommends 

that: 

- Preparing for adulthood starts from the earliest years 

- Services that have a statutory responsibility should focus on how they can 

support people to progress towards Preparing for Adulthood (PfA) outcomes 

- Mainstream agencies should be more inclusive and engaged 

- Young people and their families should be involved in strategic planning and 

service design and would support commissioners in design and development of 

future services 

- The Local Offer should provide children, young people and their families with up 

to date and clear information on what is available locally through the Local Offer. 

The Local Offer will also have a feedback and review mechanism for 

commissioners to capture information on where the gaps are for families 

- Young people and families should be involved in the ongoing development and 

review of the Local Offer 

 The government and other leading organisations across the health and care system are 

committed through Transforming Care for People with Learning Disabilities – Next 

Steps (2015) to transforming care for people with learning disabilities and/or autism who 

have a mental illness or whose behaviour challenges services. 

Our Vision  

Our vision is that in County Durham children, young people and adults on the autism spectrum 

will live fulfilling and rewarding lives within a society that accepts and understands them. They 

can access support if they need it, and they can depend on mainstream public services to treat 

them fairly as individuals, helping them make the most of their talents. 

We want to help people with autism living in County Durham: 
 

 Be an equal part of their local community  

 Get the right support at the right time throughout their lifetime 

 Develop their skills and independence and work to the best of their ability 

 Have good mental and physical health 

 

Aims 

To achieve this vision, we have developed six aims based on the priority challenges of the 

‘Think Autism’ and ‘Preparation for Adulthood’ agendas. These are: 

1. The needs of people on the autism spectrum are known and understood 

2. The workforce understands and meets the needs of people on the autism 

spectrum 

3. People on the autism spectrum have good physical and mental health 

4. People on the autism spectrum and their families receive the right amount 

of support at the right time 

5. People on the autism spectrum participate equally within their community 

6. People on the autism spectrum access aspirational employment, 

volunteering or learning opportunities 

P
age 127



 
 
 

11 
  

523,667
population of County 

Durham

Around 40%
of people on the 
autism spectrum 

experience at least 1 
anxiety disorder at 

any time 
Around

1.1% of the 

population are 
thought to be on the 

autism spectrum

Approx 300 
adults in Co. 

Durham have a 
diagnosis of autism 
and meet the social 

care eligibility 
criteria

Over80% 
of calls to SEND 

Information Advice 
and Support 

related to children 
with autism

17% of 

children with 
autism nationally 

have been 
excluded at least 

once

Over 1200
children and young 

people in Co. 
Durham meet 
criteria for an 

autism diagnosis 

Only  15% 
of adults with 

autism are in full 
time employment 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Where we are now 

Autism in County Durham 

P
age 128



 

4 
 

County Durham Draft Autism Strategy for Children, Young People and Adults 

Vision: Children, young people and adults on the autism spectrum are able to live fulfilling and rewarding lives within a society that accepts and understands them. They can access support if they 

need it, and they can depend on mainstream public services to treat them fairly as individuals, helping them make the most of their talents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aims 

1. The needs of 

people on the autism 

spectrum are known 

and understood 

Objectives 

 

1.1 There is a system 

to co-ordinate data 

across public bodies 

to aid planning  

 

2. The workforce 

understands and 

meets the needs of 

people on the autism 

spectrum  

3. People on the 

autism spectrum 

have good physical 

and mental health 

4. People on the 

autism spectrum and 

their families receive 

the right amount of 

support at the right 

time 

5. People on the 

autism spectrum 

participate equally 

within their 

community 

6. People on the autism 

spectrum access 

aspirational 

employment, 

volunteering or learning 

opportunities  

1.2 The needs of 

those with and 

without a diagnosis 

are understood and 

planned for 

2.1 All staff working 

with people on the 

autism spectrum 

have the right 

knowledge and skills  

3.1 Frontline staff in 

education, health 

and social care 

understand and 

respond to the signs 

of autism 

2.2 Staff who need 

more specialist 

training access it  

4.1 The support offer 

available is clear and 

appropriate to need 

5.1 There are 

reasonable 

adjustments 

enabling access to 

public services for 

people on the 

autism spectrum 

6.1 Children and 

young people with 

autism access high 

quality inclusive 

education and 

training 

 

1.3 People on the 

autism spectrum 

and their families 

contribute to 

planning  

3.2 There is timely 

and appropriate 

access to diagnostic 

pathways for those 

who need it 

4.2 All support 

promotes well-being 

and independence 

5.2 People on the 

autism spectrum are 

able to participate 

fully in their local 

community  

6.2 Transitions 

through education 

and into training are 

appropriately 

supported 

3.3 There is timely 

and appropriate 

access to mental 

health support if 

needed 

3.4 There is broad 

awareness of social, 

communication and 

sensory needs of 

people on the autism 

spectrum 

4.3 There are 

suitable, local 

services for those 

with complex needs 

4.4 There is specific 

support for those in 

the criminal justice 

system 

6.3 There is easy and 

positive access to 

employment and 

benefits pathways 

6.4 There is support 

to help retain 

employment or 

access volunteering 

or learning  

5.3 Young people 

are prepared for 

adulthood across 

education, health 

and social care 

 

5.4 People on the 

autism spectrum 

have access to a 

range of 

accommodation 

options 

 

P
age 129



 

5 
 

County Durham Draft Autism Strategy for Children, Young People and Adults 

Vision: Children, young people and adults on the autism spectrum are able to live fulfilling and rewarding lives within a society that accepts and understands them. They can access support if they 

need it, and they can depend on mainstream public services to treat them fairly as individuals, helping them make the most of their talents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Aim 

Objectives 

What do we need to be good at?  

Improved data sharing between agencies 

All agencies remain up to date with 

evidence-based approaches to identifying 

and meeting need 

What will help us achieve our objectives?  

Partnership Working 

Strong partnership governance systems 

Data sharing arrangements may be required 

Clear mechanisms for bringing together 

commissioners, providers, people with autism, 

and carers (as appropriate)  

 

1. The needs of people on the 

autism spectrum are known 

and understood 

1.  

1.2 The needs of those with 

and without a diagnosis are 

understood and planned for 

 

1.3 People on the autism 

spectrum and their families 

contribute to planning  

 

Clear communication channels 

Improved joint working with carers 

People on the autism spectrum and carers to 

participate in local planning and Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy  

Participation  

Systematic analysis of feedback, from 

children, young people and adults on the 

autism spectrum 

Stakeholder events on an annual basis 

 

 

Supporting arrangements  

In depth chapter in JSNA/INA on autism, 

including learning difficulties and mental 

health needs 

A strategic and operational approach to 

co-production  

 

1.1 There is a system to co-

ordinate data across public 

bodies to aid planning  

 

Improved systems for data collection and 

analysis 

Better understanding the needs of older 

people, and from Black, Asian and Minority 

ethnic communities 

P
age 130



 

6 
 

County Durham Draft Autism Strategy for Children, Young People and Adults 

Vision: Children, young people and adults on the autism spectrum are able to live fulfilling and rewarding lives within a society that accepts and understands them. They can access support if they 

need it, and they can depend on mainstream public services to treat them fairly as individuals, helping them make the most of their talents 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aim 
2. The workforce understands 

and meets the needs of 

people on the autism 

spectrum 

Objectives 

2.2 Staff who need more 

specialist training access it  

 

Identifying staff who require specialist 

knowledge and training 

Providing high quality training and staff 

support 

 

 

What will help us achieve our objectives? (Enabling factors) 

Performance management 
Complete workforce development audit 

Database of roles developed and 

access to specialist training monitored 

 

Commissioning 
Needs analysis informs training offer and provision 

 

 

 

 

Communication 
Clear promotion of ‘Think Autism in County 
Durham’ 
Clear communication strategy regarding 
the workforce knowledge, skills 
 

What do we need to be good at? (Core deliverables) 

2.1 All staff working with 

people on the autism 

spectrum have the right 

knowledge and skills  

 

That staff working with those on the autism spectrum have appropriate skills, knowledge and training 

across key organisations 

Having a graduated approach to workforce development and support based on evidence based practice 

and up to date research 

Communicating with confidence to people on the autism spectrum and their carers that needs are 

understood and appropriate adjustments, supports and interventions are in place 

All NHS, DCC and relevant partner organisations to pledge to ‘Think Autism’ 

 

Supporting arrangements 
Interagency audit of current training and gap 

analysis 

Development of joint training/shared resources 

across agencies 

 

 

P
age 131



 

7 
 

 

County Durham Draft Autism Strategy for Children, Young People and Adults 

Vision: Children, young people and adults on the autism spectrum are able to live fulfilling and rewarding lives within a society that accepts and understands them. They can access support if they 

need it, and they can depend on mainstream public services to treat them fairly as individuals, helping them make the most of their talents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aim 

3. People on the autism 

spectrum have good physical 

and mental health 

Objectives 

What do we need to be good at? (Core deliverables)  

Staff in frontline services have the right training and 
resources to recognise presenting characteristics 
and how to signpost on if necessary 
Staff in front line services understand how to make 
reasonable adjustments for those with social, 
communication and sensory needs relating to 
autism 
Inclusive access to initiatives such as Wellbeing for 
Life and Active Durham Partnership for people with 
autism 

What will help us achieve our objectives? (Enabling factors) 

Commissioning 
Clear commissioned services that 

identify and meet need 

Use of social care data return to support 

planning 

 

3.2 There is timely and 

appropriate access to 

diagnostic and care pathways 

for those who need it 

 

3.1 Frontline staff in 

education, health and social 

care understand and respond 

to the signs of autism 

 

3.3 There is timely and 

appropriate access to mental 

health support if needed 

 

3.4 There is broad awareness 

of social, communication and 

sensory needs of people with 

autism 

Access to timely information on autism and local 
support 
Establish and maintain links with the Recovery 
College 
Access to support to be based on need rather than 
IQ 
Staff in mental health teams to be trained on the 
presenting characteristics and needs of people on 
the autism spectrum and how to support them 

Utilising data to inform commissioning, and 

access to services that identify and meet needs 

Ensuring all diagnostic assessments are holistic 

and take account of the person and their context 

when reaching a conclusion and meeting need 

Support for people on the autism spectrum and 

their families should relate to identified need, and 

not necessarily diagnosis 

Implementing NIHCE recommendations for 

assessment 

Have good access to personal budgets and direct 

payments for people on the autism spectrum 

All medical staff to be aware of the 

needs of people on the autism 

spectrum and how to make 

reasonable adjustments 

Staff undertaking needs 

assessments in all agencies have 

an awareness of preventative and 

enabling approaches 

Implementing NIHCE 

recommendations for support 

Performance management 
Contract monitoring for providers of diagnostic 

pathways 

Specialist staff performance management to 

reference needs of service users with autism 

Communication 
Clearly communicate support arrangements that 

can be accessed with and without a diagnosis 

Clearly communicate diagnostic pathway to all 

stakeholders 

 

Supporting Arrangements  

Ensure partners work together to 

deliver person centred care 

 

P
age 132



 

8 
 

 

County Durham Draft Autism Strategy for Children, Young People and Adults 

Vision: Children, young people and adults on the autism spectrum are able to live fulfilling and rewarding lives within a society that accepts and understands them. They can access support if they 

need it, and they can depend on mainstream public services to treat them fairly as individuals, helping them make the most of their talents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

County Durham Draft Autism Strategy for Children, Young People and Adults 

Aim 

What do we need to be good at? (Core deliverables) 

Having a graduated offer of support to people on the 

autism spectrum and their carers with a focus on 

independence and inclusion 

Individuals are aware of their rights to a needs 

assessment or carer’s assessment if appropriate 

Access to support should be based on assessed need 

rather than IQ 

People on the autism spectrum and their families/carers 

should be able to access information about autism and 

appropriate supports 

Providing access to safe and appropriate relationship and 

sexual health support 

What will help us achieve our objectives? (Enabling factors) 

Commissioning 
 

Joint commissioning between partners 

regarding discharge planning, crisis 

intervention and preventative 

community care and support 

4. People on the autism spectrum and their 

families receive the right amount of support at 

the right time 

4.3 There are suitable, local 

services for those with 

complex needs 

 

4.4 There is specific support 

for those in the criminal 

justice system 

 

Objectives 

Partnership working 

Joint working between social care, CCG and Public Health with 

regard to people in the criminal justice system 

Identify and work with organisations that support people on the 

autism spectrum who are in prison, or who are the victims of crime 

to develop and promote training and support programmes 

4.1 The support offer available 

is clear and appropriate to need 

Supporting Arrangements 
 

All DCC and NHS services, and partners 

to nominate an autism lead 

All services to promote the ‘Think Autism’ 

strategy 

Relevant staff to understand and 

implement the Mental Health and Mental 

Capacity Acts 

Timely access to quality preventative 

services which reduce the need for 

inpatient and residential services 

Having high quality community based 

services for those with complex needs 

Residential and inpatient placements 

should be regularly reviewed and 

should be as local as possible 

4.2 All support promotes well-

being and independence 

 

Access to independent advocacy 

services who are autism aware 

Criminal justice systems that are able 

to assess the needs of people with 

autism 

Communication 
 

A clear communication 

strategy outlining how needs 

are identified, basic 

information about the 

condition, and how to access 

support if needed. 

P
age 133



 

9 
 

County Durham Draft Autism Strategy for Children, Young People and Adults 

Vision: Children, young people and adults on the autism spectrum are able to live fulfilling and rewarding lives within a society that accepts and understands them. They can access support if they 

need it, and they can depend on mainstream public services to treat them fairly as individuals, helping them make the most of their talents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

5. People on the autism 

spectrum participate equally 

within their community 

5.1 There are reasonable 

adjustments enabling access to 

public services for people on the 

autism spectrum 

5.2 People on the autism 

spectrum are able to 

participate fully in their 

local community  

5.3 Young people are 

prepared for adulthood 

across education, health and 

social care 

5.4 People on the autism spectrum 

have access to a range of 

accommodation options 

All NHS and DCC policies to 

have made reasonable 

adjustments for autism 

Easy access to public 

transport 

Improving access to 

social activities in the 

local community 

Frontline staff in leisure 

services are autism 

trained and make 

reasonable adjustments 

Transition planning at 14 

years is person centred and 

has a preparation for 

adulthood focus 

Know the accommodation needs of 

people on the autism spectrum in 

sheltered accommodation; current and 

future trends 

Improve availability of bespoke housing 

options 

Commissioning decisions regarding 

education, care and health to consider 

future accommodation needs 

Establish housing support pathway 

Partnership Arrangements 
 

Engage with stakeholders to understand how to improve access 

to: 

 public transport 

 suitable accommodation 

 social and leisure activities 

Housing representative to join Autism Strategy Implementation 

Group (ASIG) 

Commissioning 

 

Commission training for 

public transport staff  

Review short breaks 

offer 

Communication 
 

Communicate social, leisure and 

accommodation options through the Local Offer 

Performance 

management 
 

Quality assurance of EHC 

plans and commissioned 

placements 

Aim 

Objectives 

What do we need to be good at? (Core deliverables) 

What will help us achieve our objectives? (Enabling factors) 

 

 

P
age 134



 

10 
 

County Durham Draft Autism Strategy for Children, Young People and Adults 

Vision: Children, young people and adults on the autism spectrum are able to live fulfilling and rewarding lives within a society that accepts and understands them. They can access support if they 

need it, and they can depend on mainstream public services to treat them fairly as individuals, helping them make the most of their talents. 

 

 

      

 

 

6. People on the autism 

spectrum access aspirational 

employment, volunteering or 

learning opportunities  

6.1 Children and young people 

with autism access high quality 

inclusive education and training 

6.2 Transitions through 

education and into training are 

appropriately supported 

6.3 There is easy and 

positive access to 

employment and benefits 

pathways 

6.4 There is support to 

help retain employment 

or access volunteering or 

learning  

Have a wide range of quality local provision from 

mainstream to specialist provision 

Understand needs and gaps in Local provision 

that lead to out of area placements 

All education providers to be autism aware and 

confident in making reasonable adjustments 

Parental confidence in the local offer 

Supporting and challenging all providers to be 

inclusive 

Develop autism aware 

apprenticeships, internships and 

traineeship opportunities  

Improve access to employment and 

training opportunities 

A clear employment support pathway 

Clear links with independent 

assessment leading to PIP 

Increased use of supported 

internships 

Improved business and 

employment links 

Clear information to young 

people and adults about 

sources of support 

Increased use of employment 

passport/profile 

Partnership Working 
 

Closer links with DWP 

Work with stakeholders to explore barriers to 

employment to inform planning 

Invite local employers and Jobcentre Plus to join ASIG 

Performance management 

Commissioning 
 

Commission a Young person’s group to 

inform decision making relating to 

employment and training 

Aim 

Objectives 

What do we need to be good at? (Core deliverables) 

What will help us achieve our objectives? (Enabling factors) 

P
age 135



 

11 
 

Delivery Framework 

There is a delivery framework underpinning the strategic aims and objectives which includes 
detailed action plans and programmes for improvement. These will be developed and 
monitored through the Autism Strategy Implementation Group (ASIG) and Children’s Autism 
Steering Groups. 

Monitoring and Review 

Each delivery framework will be monitored through the framework described above using a 

range of performance indicators and actions (each of the sub groups will have delivery plans 

and be responsible for the delivery of those plans).  

 

Scrutiny of Progress  

Working together to achieve the vision for children, young people and adults with autism will be 

through reporting to the Integrated Steering Group for Children and into the Health and 

Wellbeing Board (see Appendix 1) 

Self-evaluation will also be undertaken in line with the statutory requirements of the ‘Think 

Autism’ framework.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 136



 

12 
 

Appendix 1  

Governance for All Age Autism Strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                             

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

County Durham Integrated Care Board 

Chair: Stewart Findlay 

 

 

Health & Wellbeing Board 

Chair: Cllr Lucy Hovvels  

Integrated Steering Group for Children 

Chair: Margaret Whellans / Gill Findley 

 

Clinical 

Commissioning 

Groups  

NHS Foundation 

Trusts  

Durham County 

Council  County Durham Partnership  

LSCB 

Safeguarding 

Executive 

Chair: Michael Banks 

Adults Wellbeing and 

Health/CYPS Overview 

and Scrutiny 

Committee 

Chairs: Cllr John Robinson 

/ Cllr Christine Potts 

Joint Strategic / 

Integrated Needs 

Assessments 

Children & Families 

Partnership 

Chair: Margaret 

Whellans  

Autism Strategy Implementation Group 

Chair: Tricia Reed 

 

LD/MH Strategy 

Oversight Group 

 

MH Partnership Board 

 

 

Transforming Care LIG 

 

 

CYPS Autism Steering Group 

Chair: Janet Crawford 

 

Employment  

Sub-group 

 

 

 

Stakeholder 

Engagement Groups 

 

 

Access to Services 

Sub-group 

 

 

Workforce 

Development Sub-

group 

 

 

Family Support Sub-

group 

 

 

P
age 137



 

13 
 

With thanks to the following partner organisations 

 

 

                 

 

                                  

 

          

 

 

P
age 138



 

              

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 30 January 2019 

 Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC – 

Review of Suicide Rates and Mental 

Health and Wellbeing in County Durham 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships 

Councillor John Robinson, Chair of the Adults Wellbeing and 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The report presents the key findings and recommendations of the 
Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s (OSC) 
Review Group report into suicide rates and mental health and wellbeing 
in County Durham. 

Executive summary 

2 This review was undertaken between October 2016 and March 2017 
following concerns identified by the Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC 
during consideration of Quarterly Performance Management reports 
which highlighted that suicide rates for County Durham were above the 
National and North East average figures. Members examined statistics 
around suicides and suicide rates during a three year period 2012-14 in 
more detail rather than wider mental health illness or public mental 
health statistics. They also assessed the measures that the Council and 
its partners have put in place to ensure improved mental health and 
wellbeing and which aim to reduce the incidence of suicides within 
County Durham.  

3 Members considered evidence based on 4 key themes of policies, 
processes and services of Durham County Council; NHS partners and 
Safe Durham Partnership together with how the community and 
voluntary sector is involved in supporting suicide prevention and the 
promotion of mental health and wellbeing. 

 

Page 139

Agenda Item 11



4 For the period 2012-14, County Durham had the second highest suicide 
rate within the North East local authorities and the highest suicide rate 
amongst its CIPFA nearest neighbour local authority group. The 2012-
14 Suicide Audit for County Durham Suicide rates in Durham (2012-14) 
were 20.6 per 100k population for males and 6.1 per 100k population 
for females. National figures are 14.1 and 4.0 per 100k population 
respectively. Durham and Derwentside are the areas with the greatest 
numbers of suicides although not statistically significantly higher than 
the County Durham average. The largest number of deaths by suicide 
occurred in the 40-49 age group with 33% of suicide victims employed 
at time of death and 31% unemployed. 34% of suicides cases lived 
alone. 

5 In September 2012, the Government published “Preventing suicide in 
England: A cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives”, a new 
strategy intended to reduce the suicide rate and improve support for 
those affected by suicide. It set out overall objectives to achieve a 
reduction in the suicide rate in the general population in England and 
provide better support for those bereaved or affected by suicide. A 
national mental health strategy, entitled “No Health without Mental 
Health” and its implementation framework set out what local 
organisations can do to turn the strategy into reality, what national 
organisations are doing to support this, and how progress will be 
measured and reported. 

6 The County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2019 
includes a strategic objective to “Improve the mental and physical 
wellbeing of the population” as well as a key outcome to reduce self-
harm and suicides. Key actions set out within the Strategy include a 
refresh of the Public Mental Health Strategy for County Durham, 
including the development of a Suicide Prevention Framework and an 
associated action plan to improve outcomes for people experiencing 
mental health crises in the community and in custody. 

7 The County Durham Public Mental Health Strategy is delivered through 
a multi-agency partnership involving Durham County Council, NHS 
Provider and Commissioning bodies, Durham Constabulary, Durham 
Prisons and a range of Community and Voluntary Organisations which 
reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board and Children and Families 
Trust. The County Durham Mental Health Implementation Plan sets out 
delivery priorities, governance structures and reporting responsibilities. 

8 Key milestones within the plan include the implementation of Public 
Mental Health; Children’s Mental Health and Dementia strategies; the 
delivery of a recovery college (TEWV FT); improved accommodation 
offers to support inpatient discharge; an improved mental health 
prevention service and improved crisis response service. 

Page 140



9 As part of the refresh of the Public Mental Health Strategy the Council 
needs to develop and implement a local suicide prevention strategy 
which delivers against the Government’s suicide prevention strategy 
and includes key actions aimed at reducing suicides, ensuring the 
mental health support services are available and accessible to those at 
risk of suicide and promotes effective partnership working which 
includes the ability to share data and learning across agencies. 

10 In terms of suicide prevention, the existing suicide early alert service 
promotes early support and interventions for those affected by suicide 
but should also be able to flag up those individuals at risk of suicide and 
which could be used to target preventative mental health services to 
such individuals. This should be explored as part of the development of 
the suicide prevention strategy and action plan. 

11 When examining NHS Policies, processes and services for suicide 
prevention and the promotion of mental health and wellbeing the 
working group have received numerous examples of effective 
partnership working across NHS Organisations including liaison 
between mental health and acute hospital services, there are 
improvements that have been identified which could lead to more 
effective suicide prevention, more timely service provision and 
interventions for those in crisis and/or at risk of suicide and a clearer 
crisis pathway and improved accessibility to mental health services. 

12 The working group have heard that often those at risk of suicide are 
known to one or more of the emergency services be that the police or 
health. Difficulties have been reported in terms of organisations ability to 
share information across partners in respect of those at risk of self-harm 
or suicide as well as learning from those incidents of suicide. The 
working group consider that a multi-agency approach to develop 
learning from suicides is needed with case conferences introduced for 
each incident with shared learning across partner agencies. 

13 The working group are concerned that there is no diagnosis flag within 
the A&E system that could give an indication of attempted suicide for 
patients who present at A&E but who are not admitted. This presents a 
risk to such patients in that they may not be offered access to mental 
health services at an early stage which could improve their chance of 
recovery and prevent potential for suicide. 

14 The working group are pleased to note the success of County Durham 
and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust’s work with TEWV NHS FT 
liaison team in ensuring that those patients who have been admitted 
and have been identified with an intentional self-harm code are able to 
access mental health services. However, it is noted that this appears to 
be more effective from 08.00 a.m. until 10.00 p.m. with a liaison gap 

Page 141



having been identified when the team handover to the crisis team. It is 
essential that a consistent level of service should be provided 24/7 to 
mitigate against risks of potential self-harm and suicide during crisis 
episodes. 

15 The mapping out of services to support individuals escalating towards 
clinical crisis and averting the crisis or ensuring the person is helped 
into the right clinical care has been identified as a much needed 
improvement in current processes. Often individuals are not aware of 
the services available to them to support their mental health and 
wellbeing and avoid crisis episodes. They also need guidance to explain 
how to access these services and whether they can self-refer into 
services or whether this needs to involve health professionals. 

16 The Crisis Care Concordat is a commitment made by all partners to 
joint working to improve the response to people in mental health crisis 
across services. Whilst this is to be welcomed, the development of a 
single point of access to crisis services has been identified as a key gap 
in current crisis service provision. 

17 When examining Safe Durham Partnership policies, processes and 
services for suicide prevention and the promotion of mental health and 
wellbeing it was noted that the prison service within County Durham has 
an effective process known as ACCT (Assessment, Care in Custody 
and Teamwork) which has been assessed as fit for purpose as an 
effective mechanism to identify, manage and support those at risk of 
suicide and self-harm with the prison environment.  The process has 
been reviewed and a series of recommendations have been 
implemented which look to improve communication and awareness 
amongst staff along with increased training in the process.  

18 Work is underway to ensure that there is a greater integration between 
the criminal justice system and health/social care services particularly 
around multi-agency casework and information sharing regarding 
mental health amongst offenders. 

19 A similar process has been examined as part of Durham Constabulary’s 
detention and custody process with risk assessments routinely 
undertaken across their 4 custody suites. As part of this process routine 
checks are made across a range of databases and records and the 
group heard evidence of joint working between the Police and Health 
services including the new street triage service which aims to ensure 
that Police Officers have access to mental health professionals when 
detentions under S136 of the Mental Health Act 1983 are being 
considered. 

Page 142



20 Notwithstanding the above, issues experienced in the past in relation to 
data sharing between agencies and accessing patients’ 
records/information which may result in delays in accessing treatment 
need to be addressed by ensuring that a process of case conferencing 
is in place. 

21 Community and Voluntary Sector organisations play a significant role in 
suicide awareness, prevention and support for mental health and 
wellbeing. The Rapid Response Suicide Prevention project developed 
by MIND, CDDFT and Durham CCGs offers a rapid response suicide 
prevention counselling service which significantly reduces PHQ9 
depression test scores and improves mental health and wellbeing. None 
of the 1649 clients referred into the service between 2011 and 2016 
took their own life. 

22 The If U Care Share Foundation offers a support after suicide service 
for those who have lost someone through suicide as well as a 
prevention referral service. Key areas of work include awareness raising 
of suicide within education services; shared lived experience of suicide 
to support those affected by suicide; advice and guidance to mental 
health support and crisis services. 

23 Single Homeless Action Initiative in Durham (SHAID) identifies the 
wider determinants of health and their impact on mental health and 
wellbeing. Key groups supported include the homeless, people fleeing 
domestic violence; ex forces personnel, prison leavers and people with 
mental health diagnoses. 

24 Durham Samaritans deliver listening services to those at risk of suicide, 
those affected by suicides and also work closely with media outlets to 
allow for sensitive reporting of suicides. Nationally they have developed 
teaching materials, including Developing Emotional Awareness and 
Listening (DEAL) which was used by professionals.  Work is undertaken 
with young people in schools, colleges and youth settings to offer 
advice on looking after emotional health and a national team of specially 
trained volunteers work with schools and colleges affected by suicide. 

25 The key issue identified across the Community and Voluntary Sector is 
the funding available to support projects and ensure their sustainability. 
It is therefore important that an assessment of the effectiveness of 
Community and Voluntary Sector services and projects is undertaken to 
enable resources to be targeted to those which demonstrate the 
necessary outcomes have been delivered. 

 

 

Page 143



Recommendation 

26 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a) Note the recommendations contained within the review report 

Recommendation 1 

(i) That a suicide prevention strategy and action plan be 
developed and implemented as part of the refresh of the 
Public Mental Health Strategy for County Durham and that 
progress against the action plan be monitored by the 
AWHOSC. 

Recommendation 2 

(ii) The existing suicide early alert system, whilst providing 
excellent support and interventions for those affected by 
suicide after the event, needs to develop appropriate 
systems to flag up those at risk of suicide and which could 
be used to target preventative mental health services and 
support to such individuals. 

Recommendation 3 

(iii) A multi-agency approach to develop learning from suicides 
is needed with case conferences introduced for each 
incident with shared learning across partner agencies 
including adult and children’s social care and health 
services, NHS services and those within the criminal justice 
system. 

Recommendation 4 

(iv) The introduction of an appropriate coding/flagging system 
for self- harm/attempted suicide across all A&E department 
attendees should be promoted which identifies those 
potentially at risk of suicide and allows for proactive offers 
of access to mental health services and support. 

Recommendation 5 

(v) The current processes for referral into mental health 
services be reviewed to ensure that there is clarity available 
to potential service users to help them to identify the range 
of services available, whether the services allow for self-
referral as well as referral by health professionals and the 
associated target timeframes for accessing services. 

Page 144



Recommendation 6 

(vi) The accessibility of the out-of-hours mental health crisis 
service be reviewed to ensure that individuals suffering 
from crisis episodes have timely access to support and 
interventions. 

Recommendation 7 

(vii) An audit of current health and wellbeing support and 
services within the Community and Voluntary Sector be 
undertaken to evaluate their effectiveness and enable 
resources to be targeted at those interventions where 
demonstrable outcomes for improved mental health and 
wellbeing and reduced suicide risk are evident. 

Recommendation 8 

(viii) That a systematic review of the report and progress made 
against recommendations should be undertaken after 
consideration of this report, within six months. 

Service Grouping Response 

27 The NE rates for suicide remain significantly higher than the national 
average. In County Durham, the number of registrations in 2017 (56) was 
broadly similar to previous years, with the annual average for the previous 
10 years being 59.1 registrations. 
 
Table 1: Suicide rates over time, County Durham, 3 years pooled, 2008-10 
to 2015/17 (ONS, 2015/17) 

 

28 Since the commission of the Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC review, 
the national Mental Health Forward Plan identified £25 million in funding 
allocated to NHS England to support the reduction in suicide rates by 

Page 145



2020/2021. The dissemination of this funding is being managed through 
the NHS England south hub for the County Durham, Darlington, Tees 
Valley and Hambleton Richmondshire and Whitby Suicide Prevention 
Group.  

 
29 In May 2018, the Local Government Association urged councils to 

change their focus on mental illness to helping everyone stay mentally 
well. This included shifting attitudes and approaches to mental health 
and mental health services, increasing investment in prevention, early 
intervention and life-time support. 
 

30 Durham County Council are working with partners on a Local 
Government Association pilot focused on Prevention at Scale. 
 

31 In Durham this has an emphasis on preventing suicides by promoting 
positive mental health across the workforce and tackling stigma and 
discrimination via Time to Change. 
 

32 Durham County Council signed the employer pledge for Time to 
Change on 10th October 2018 as part of World Mental Health day. This 
committed the council to prioritizing the mental health and wellbeing of 
the workforce. The pledge is being supported by all partners within the 
County Durham Partnership.  
 

33 The County Durham Mental Health Strategy is currently being refreshed 
to lead on the development of improved mental health systems and 
functionality across the county. This includes Suicide Prevention and 
the integration of the Mental Health Prevention Concordat for Mental 
Health. 
 

34 The Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat are currently reviewing the 
work of the Crisis Team across County Durham to standardise the 
process and management of referrals into Intensive Home Treatment 
for those in crisis.  
 

35 The County Durham Suicide Alliance has been initiated to deliver multi 
agency approach of the actions highlighted in the Suicide Alliance 
Prevention Action Plan (2018-20). This will include the 
recommendations from the Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC review 
report into Suicide Rates and Mental Health and Wellbeing. 
 

36 A review of the County Durham Suicide Prevention Early Alert System 
will be conducted between October 2018 and January 2019. This will 
ensure systems for real time data source analysis are implemented 
between partners and post-vention support is targeted at those most in 
need. 

Page 146



37 A Suicide Prevention Coordinator was appointed in July 2018, to 
support the Suicide Prevention Alliance Action Plan to ensure the 
delivery of the plan and oversee support for those bereaved or affected 
by suicides, including families and the wider community. 
 

Background papers 

 None 

Other useful documents 

 None 

Contact: Stephen Gwillym Tel:  03000 268140 
   

  

Page 147



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The report of the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee is presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board in accordance with 

the decision of Cabinet held on 14 November 2018 

Finance 

Not applicable 

Consultation 

Not applicable 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken on the review report 

and was considered by Cabinet on 14 November 2018 

Human Rights 

Not applicable 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable 

Staffing 

Not applicable 

Accommodation 

Not applicable 

Risk 

Not applicable 

Procurement 

Not applicable 

 

  

Page 148



Appendix 2: Review Report – Suicide Rates and Mental Health and 
Wellbeing in County Durham 

 

Attached as a separate document  

 

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 

Adults Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Suicide Rates and Mental Health 
and Wellbeing in County Durham 
Review Report  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
September 2018 
       

 

Page 151



2 

 

 

Scrutiny@Durham.gov.uk 
03000 268145 

 

Page 152

mailto:Scrutiny@Durham.gov.uk


3 

 

Table of Contents  
 
 

Title Page Number 
 

Chair’s Foreword 
 

4 

Executive Summary 
 

5 

Recommendations 
 

9 

Main Report 
 

11 

Appendix 1 
 

45 

           
   
   
   
   
   
   

 
 
 

 

  

Page 153



4 

 

Foreword 
 
 

We have known for some time that the North East of England and 
specifically areas within County Durham suffer from some of the 
poorest health and wellbeing measures within the country and that 
there is a significant gap between the life expectancy of men and 
women in County Durham and the England average. The rate of 
suicides within County Durham is higher when compared with the 
North East region and the England average which has prompted 
this review. 
 

The Review was undertaken between October 2016 and March 2017 and the 
Review group examined key national strategies aimed at improving mental health 
and wellbeing and suicide prevention as well as those local strategies and services 
provided jointly by the County Council and its key partners across the NHS, the 
criminal justice system and the Community and Voluntary sector. 
 
The Review Group identified key findings and recommendations which include; the 
importance of developing an early suicide alert system which is able to flag up those 
individuals at risk of suicide and which could be used to target preventative mental 
health services to such individuals in a proactive manner; the importance of a co-
ordinated partnership approach to ensure access to preventative mental health 
services and mental health crisis services is timely and responsive. The need for 
partners to be able to share information and learning across organisational 
boundaries has also been highlighted as this is crucial to a co-ordinated approach to 
the delivery of successful mental health and wellbeing interventions and support 
services. 
 
The Community and Voluntary sector have a huge role to play in improving health 
and wellbeing of the population of County Durham and the review has heard 
evidence from a range of CVS organisations. This highlighted positive practice 
across the County aimed at suicide prevention and tackling some of the wider 
determinants of health which can adversely impact upon a person’s mental health 
and wellbeing including relationship breakdown, loss of employment, access to 
housing, financial hardship and education and training. Their ability to continue to 
deliver projects, services and interventions during what has been a prolonged period 
of austerity and funding pressures is a concern. 
 
I would like to thank all those who took part in the review for their time and support 
especially representatives from the Council’s Public Health team, colleagues from 
the NHS, representatives from the prison service and Durham Constabulary and 
particular thanks go to the CVS organisations who have given evidence to the 
Review Group. 
 
Councillor John Robinson 
Chairman 
Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 154



5 

 

Executive Summary  
 
 
1. This review was undertaken between October 2016 and March 2017 

following concerns identified by the Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC during 
consideration of Quarterly Performance Management reports which 
highlighted that suicide rates for County Durham were above the National 
and North East average figures. Members examined statistics around 
suicides and suicide rates during a three year period 2012-14 in more detail 
rather than wider mental health illness or public mental health statistics. 
They also assessed the measures that the Council and its partners have put 
in place to ensure improved mental health and wellbeing and which aim to 
reduce the incidence of suicides within County Durham. Members 
considered evidence based on 4 key themes of policies, processes and 
services of Durham County Council; NHS partners and Safe Durham 
Partnership together with how the community and voluntary sector is 
involved in supporting suicide prevention and the promotion of mental health 
and wellbeing. 
 

2. For the period 2012-14, County Durham had the second highest suicide rate 
within the North East local authorities and the highest suicide rate amongst 
its CIPFA nearest neighbour local authority group. The 2012-14 Suicide 
Audit for County Durham Suicide rates in Durham (2012-14) were 20.6 per 
100k population for males and 6.1 per 100k population for females. National 
figures are 14.1 and 4.0 per 100k population respectively. Durham and 
Derwentside are the areas with the greatest numbers of suicides although 
not statistically significantly higher than the County Durham average. The 
largest number of deaths by suicide occurred in the 40-49 age group with 
33% of suicide victims employed at time of death and 31% unemployed. 
34% of suicides cases lived alone. 
 

3. In September 2012, the Government published “Preventing suicide in 
England: A cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives”, a new 
strategy intended to reduce the suicide rate and improve support for those 
affected by suicide. It set out overall objectives to achieve a reduction in the 
suicide rate in the general population in England and provide better support 
for those bereaved or affected by suicide. A national mental health strategy, 
entitled “No Health without Mental Health” and its implementation framework 
set out what local organisations can do to turn the strategy into reality, what 
national organisations are doing to support this, and how progress will be 
measured and reported. 
 

4. The County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2019 
includes a strategic objective to “Improve the mental and physical wellbeing 
of the population” as well as a key outcome to reduce self-harm and 
suicides. Key actions set out within the Strategy include a refresh of the 
Public Mental Health Strategy for County Durham, including the 
development of a Suicide Prevention Framework and an associated action 
plan to improve outcomes for people experiencing mental health crises in the 
community and in custody. 

Page 155



6 

 

 
5. The County Durham Public Mental Health Strategy is delivered through a 

multi-agency partnership involving Durham County Council, NHS Provider 
and Commissioning bodies, Durham Constabulary, Durham Prisons and a 
range of Community and Voluntary Organisations which reports to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board and Children and Families Trust. The County 
Durham Mental Health Implementation Plan sets out delivery priorities, 
governance structures and reporting responsibilities. 

 
6. Key milestones within the plan include the implementation of Public Mental 

Health; Children’s Mental Health and Dementia strategies; the delivery of a 
recovery college (TEWV FT); improved accommodation offers to support 
inpatient discharge; an improved mental health prevention service and 
improved crisis response service. 

 
7. As part of the refresh of the Public Mental Health Strategy the Council needs 

to develop and implement a local suicide prevention strategy which delivers 
against the Government’s suicide prevention strategy and includes key 
actions aimed at reducing suicides, ensuring the mental health support 
services are available and accessible to those at risk of suicide and 
promotes effective partnership working which includes the ability to share 
data and learning across agencies. 

  
8. In terms of suicide prevention, the existing suicide early alert service 

promotes early support and interventions for those affected by suicide but 
should also be able to flag up those individuals at risk of suicide and which 
could be used to target preventative mental health services to such 
individuals. This should be explored as part of the development of the 
suicide prevention strategy and action plan. 

 
9. When examining NHS Policies, processes and services for suicide prevention 

and the promotion of mental health and wellbeing the working group have 
received numerous examples of effective partnership working across NHS 
Organisations including liaison between mental health and acute hospital 
services, there are improvements that have been identified which could lead 
to more effective suicide prevention, more timely service provision and 
interventions for those in crisis and/or at risk of suicide and a clearer crisis 
pathway and improved accessibility to mental health services. 
 

10. The working group have heard that often those at risk of suicide are known to 
one or more of the emergency services be that the police or health. Difficulties 
have been reported in terms of organisations ability to share information 
across partners in respect of those at risk of self-harm or suicide as well as 
learning from those incidents of suicide. The working group consider that a 
multi-agency approach to develop learning from suicides is needed with case 
conferences introduced for each incident with shared learning across partner 
agencies. 
 
 

 

Page 156



7 

 

11. The working group are concerned that there is no diagnosis flag within the 
A&E system that could give an indication of attempted suicide for patients 
who present at A&E but who are not admitted. This presents a risk to such 
patients in that they may not be offered access to mental health services at an 
early stage which could improve their chance of recovery and prevent 
potential for suicide. 
 

12. The working group are pleased to note the success of County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust’s work with TEWV NHS FT liaison team in 
ensuring that those patients who have been admitted and have been 
identified with an intentional self-harm code are able to access mental health 
services. However it is noted that this appears to be more effective from 08.00 
a.m. until 10.00 p.m. with a liaison gap having been identified when the team 
handover to the crisis team. It is essential that a consistent level of service 
should be provided 24/7 to mitigate against risks of potential self-harm and 
suicide during crisis episodes. 

 
13. The mapping out of services to support individuals escalating towards clinical 

crisis and averting the crisis or ensuring the person is helped into the right 
clinical care has been identified as a much needed improvement in current 
processes. Often individuals are not aware of the services available to them to 
support their mental health and wellbeing and avoid crisis episodes. They also 
need guidance to explain how to access these services and whether they can 
self-refer into services or whether this needs to involve health professionals. 
 

14. The Crisis Care Concordat is a commitment made by all partners to joint 
working to improve the response to people in mental health crisis across 
services. Whilst this is to be welcomed, the development of a single point of 
access to crisis services has been identified as a key gap in current crisis 
service provision. 
 

15. When examining Safe Durham Partnership policies, processes and services 
for suicide prevention and the promotion of mental health and wellbeing it was 
noted that the prison service within County Durham has an effective process 
known as ACCT (Assessment, Care in Custody and Teamwork) which has 
been assessed as fit for purpose as an effective mechanism to identify, 
manage and support those at risk of suicide and self-harm with the prison 
environment.  The process has been reviewed and a series of 
recommendation s have been implemented which look to improvement 
communication and awareness amongst staff along with increased training in 
the process. 
  

16. Work is underway to ensure that there is a greater integration between the 
criminal justice system and health/social care services particularly around 
multi-agency casework and information sharing regarding mental health 
amongst offenders. 
 

 
 

Page 157



8 

 

17.  A similar process has been examined as part of Durham Constabulary’s 
detention and custody process with risk assessments routinely undertaken 
across their 4 custody suites. As part of this process routine checks are made 
across a range of databases and records and the group heard evidence of 
joint working between the Police and Health services including the new street 
triage service which aims to ensure that Police Officers have access to mental 
health professionals when detentions under S136 of the Mental Health Act 
1983 are being considered. 
 

18. Notwithstanding the above, issues experienced in the past in relation to data 
sharing between agencies and accessing patients’ records/information which 
may result in delays in accessing treatment need to be addressed by ensuring 
that a process of case conferencing is in place. 

 
19. Community and Voluntary Sector organisations play a significant role in 

suicide awareness, prevention and support for mental health and wellbeing. 
The Rapid Response Suicide Prevention project developed by MIND, CDDFT 
and Durham CCGs offers a rapid response suicide prevention counselling 
service which significantly reduces PHQ9 depression test scores and 
improves mental health and wellbeing. None of the 1649 clients referred into 
the service between 2011 and 2016 took their own life. 

 
20. The If U Care Share Foundation offers a support after suicide service for 

those who have lost someone through suicide as well as a prevention referral 
service. Key areas of work include awareness raising of suicide within 
education services; shared lived experience of suicide to support those 
affected by suicide; advice and guidance to mental health support and crisis 
services. 

 
21. Single Homeless Action Initiative in Durham (SHAID) identifies the wider 

determinants of health and their impact on mental health and wellbeing. Key 
groups supported include the homeless, people fleeing domestic violence; ex 
forces personnel, prison leavers and people with mental health diagnoses. 

 
22. Durham Samaritans deliver listening services to those at risk of suicide, those 

affected by suicides and also work closely with media outlets to allow for 
sensitive reporting of suicides. Nationally they have developed teaching 
materials, including Developing Emotional Awareness and Listening (DEAL) 
which was used by professionals.  Work is undertaken with young people in 
schools, colleges and youth settings to offer advice on looking after emotional 
health and a national team of specially trained volunteers work with schools 
and colleges affected by suicide. 

 
23. The key issue identified across the Community and Voluntary Sector is the 

funding available to support projects and ensure their sustainability. It is 
therefore important that an assessment of the effectiveness of CVS services 
and projects is undertaken to enable resources to be targeted to those which 
demonstrate the necessary outcomes have been delivered. 

 
 

Page 158



9 

 

Recommendations 
 
24. The review group having considered the findings and conclusions of the review 

have made the following recommendations: 
 

Recommendation one 
 
That a suicide prevention strategy and action plan be developed and 
implemented as part of the refresh of the Public Mental Health Strategy for 
County Durham and that progress against the action plan be monitored by the 
AWHOSC. 
 
Recommendation two 
 
The existing suicide early alert system, whilst providing excellent support and 
interventions for those affected by suicide after the event, needs to develop 
appropriate systems to flag up those at risk of suicide and which could be used 
to target preventative mental health services and support to such individuals. 
 
Recommendation three 
 
A multi-agency approach to develop learning from suicides is needed with 
case conferences introduced for each incident with shared learning across 
partner agencies including adult and children’s social care and health 
services, NHS services and those within the criminal justice system. 
 
Recommendation four 
 
The introduction of an appropriate coding/flagging system for self- 
harm/attempted suicide across all A&E department attendees should be 
promoted which identifies those potentially at risk of suicide and allows for 
proactive offers of access to mental health services and support 
 
Recommendation five 
 
The current processes for referral into mental health services be reviewed to 
ensure that there is clarity available to potential service users to help them to 
identify the range of services available, whether the services allow for self-
referral as well as referral by health professionals and the associated target 
timeframes for accessing services. 
 
Recommendation six 
 
The accessibility of the out-of-hours mental health crisis service be reviewed 
to ensure that individuals suffering from crisis episodes have timely access to 
support and interventions. 
 
 
 
 

Page 159



10 

 

Recommendation seven 
 
An audit of current health and wellbeing support and services within the 
Community and Voluntary sector be undertaken to evaluate their 
effectiveness and enable resources to be targeted at those interventions 
where demonstrable outcomes for improved mental health and wellbeing and 
reduced suicide risk are evident. 
 
Recommendation eight 
 
That a systematic review of the report and progress made against 
recommendations should be undertaken after consideration of this report, 
within six months. 

 
 

Page 160



11 

 

MAIN REPORT 

 
Suicide Rates within County Durham – Statistical Analysis 
 
Key Findings 
 

 
25. Public Health England in its 2014 guidance for developing a local suicide 

prevention action plan identified local suicide audits as being an effective way 
for authorities to identify and respond to high risk groups in their areas, as well 
as reveal hot spots. 
 

26. An audit of suicides through the systematic collection and analysis of local 
data on suicides provides valuable information to learn lessons and inform 
suicide prevention plans. In order to draw together meaningful numbers while 
still preserving the anonymity of those involved, a three year pool of data is 
used 
 

27. The rate of suicide per 100,000 of the population is a performance indicator in 
the Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF). 
 

28. Between 2001-03 and 2006-08 the rate of suicide within County Durham 
although slightly higher, was not statistically different from the England rate. 
However since 2007-09 the rate for County Durham has risen significantly 
more than that for England. County Durham has a suicide rate of 13.3 per 
100,000 population for the 2012-14 aggregated data. This remains above the 
suicide rate for the North East (11.0 per 100,000 population) and significantly 
higher than the suicide rate for England (8.9 per 100,000). 
 

29. For the period 2012-14, County Durham had the second highest suicide rate 
within the North East local authorities with only Middlesbrough higher. It also 
had the highest suicide rate amongst its CIPFA nearest neighbour local 
authority group. 
 

 For the period 2012-14 County Durham had the 2nd highest 
suicide rate in the North East and the highest in our CIPFA 
nearest neighbour group. 

 Suicide rates in Durham (2012-14) were 20.6 per 100k 
population for males and 6.1 per 100k population for females – 
National figures are 14.1 and 4 respectively). 

 The largest number of deaths by suicide occurred in the 40-49 
age group. 

 33% of suicides were employed at time of death and 31% 
unemployed. 

 34% of suicides cases lived alone. 
 

Page 161



12 

 

30. The suicide audit considered by the working group showed that in 2012-14 
suicide rates for males in County Durham stood at 20.6 per 100,000 
population compared with the figures for the North East (17.9 per 100,000 
population) and England (14.1 per 100,000 population). 
 

31. In 2012-14 suicide rates for females in County Durham stood at 6.1 per 
100,000 population compared with the figures for the North East (4.5 per 
100,000 population) and England (4.0 per 100,000 population). 
 

32. There were 198 deaths by suicide or undetermined injury in County Durham 
between 2012 and 2014. Eight of these deaths were non-County Durham 
residents and were not included in the suicide audit analysis 

 
33. Of the 190 deaths recorded in County Durham between 2012 and 2014 75% 

(142) were male and 25% (48) were female. 
 

34. The geographical breakdown of numbers of suicides reveals Durham and 
Derwentside areas as areas with high numbers of suicides between 2012 and 
2014. Removing the cases where the death has occurred in prison identifies 
the former Derwentside and Durham areas as having the highest numbers 
and rates across the three years although not statistically significantly higher 
than the County Durham average. 
 

35. Of the suicides and undetermined injuries 67% of both male and female cases 
were of people who were under the age of 50 at time of death. The greatest 
numbers of deaths were seen in those aged 40 to 49 (in part due to the age 
structure of the county). Whilst suicide is relatively rare in children and young 
people there were nine deaths recorded in those 19 and younger. At the other 
end of the age distribution there were eight deaths by suicide or undetermined 
injury in those aged 70 years or more. 
 

36. When examining employment status amongst suicides, around 33% (63) were 
employed at the time of death whereas 31% (59) were unemployed, 11% 
were retired and 7% were long-term sick or disabled. 
 

37. In 34% (65) of cases the person lived alone at the time of death. 
 

Conclusions 
 

38. The statistical analysis shows that County Durham had a relatively high 
suicide rates with the majority of cases relating to those under 50 and male. 
 

 
National and Local Strategic Context for Suicide Rates and Mental 
Health and Wellbeing – Key service strategies, policies and action 
plans 
 
 

Page 162



13 

 

Key Findings 

 
 
National Policy Context 
 
39. In September 2012, the Government published “Preventing suicide in 

England: A cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives”, a new 
strategy intended to reduce the suicide rate and improve support for those 
affected by suicide. The strategy sets out key areas for action; states what 
government departments will do to contribute; and brings together knowledge 
about groups at higher risk, effective interventions and resources to support 
local action. 
 

40. The strategy sets out overall objectives to achieve a reduction in the suicide 
rate in the general population in England and provide better support for those 
bereaved or affected by suicide. 
 

41. There are six key areas for action to support delivery of these objectives 
 
(i) Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups; 

 Government policy exists to prevent suicides and includes 
objectives to reduce suicide rates and provide better support for 
those bereaved or affected by suicides. 

 “No Health without Mental Health” national strategy requires 
organisations to produce a local implementation framework; 

 House of Commons Health Select Committee into suicide 
prevention has identified failings in delivering the Government’s 
suicide prevention strategy; 

 The County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
includes a strategic objective to “improve the mental and 
physical wellbeing of the population” as well as a key outcome to 
reduce self-harm and suicides. . 

 The County Durham Mental Health Implementation Plan sets out 
delivery priorities, governance structures and reporting 
responsibilities. 

 Key milestones within the plan include the implementation of 
Public Mental Health, Children’s Mental Health and Dementia 
strategies; the delivery of a recovery college (TEWV FT); 
improved accommodation offers to support inpatient discharge; 
an improved mental health prevention service and improved 
crisis response service. 

 The County Durham Public Mental Health Strategy details a 
summarised action plan against the key objectives of the Public 
Mental Health Strategy rather than a specific suicide prevention 
action plan as recommended by the PHE guidance and set out in 

the Government’s national suicide prevention strategy. 

Page 163



14 

 

(ii) Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups; 
(iii) Reduce access to the means of suicide; 
(iv) Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by 

suicide; 
(v) Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and 

suicidal behaviour, and  
(vi) Support research, data collection and monitoring. 

 
42. There is also a national mental health strategy, published in 2011, entitled “No 

Health without Mental Health”. The strategy implementation framework sets 
out what local organisations can do to turn the strategy into reality, what 
national organisations are doing to support this, and how progress will be 
measured and reported. This is vital, because suicide prevention starts with 
better mental health for all - therefore “Preventing suicide in England: A cross-
government outcomes strategy to save lives” has to be read alongside that 
implementation framework. 
 

43. The publication of the national mental health strategy “No Health without 
Mental Health” in 2011 set out at a national level the following high level 
objectives to improve the mental health and wellbeing of the population: 
 

 More people will have good mental health; 

 More people with mental health problems will recover; 

 More people with mental health problems will have good physical 
health; 

 More people will have a positive experience of care and support; 

 Fewer people will suffer avoidable harm; 

 Fewer people will experience harm and stigma. 
 

44. The House of Commons Health Committee Inquiry into suicide prevention 
produced an interim report in December 2016 which set out a number of key 
areas that the Government needed to take account of when refreshing its 
suicide prevention strategy. These included:- 
 

 the refreshed Government strategy must be accompanied by a clear 
implementation plan, with strong external scrutiny of local authority 
plans and progress and that local authority suicide prevention plans are 
mandatory; 
 

 the need for services to support people who are vulnerable to suicide; 
 

 consensus statements on sharing information with families to ensure 
that there are opportunities to involve families and friends in a patients 
recovery; 

 

 timely and consistent data is needed to enable swift responses to 
suspected suicides and to identify possible clusters in order to prevent 
further suicides; 

 

Page 164



15 

 

 greater awareness amongst the media of data breaches regarding the 
reporting of suicides at national and local level together with restrictions 
to potentially harmful internet sites and content. 

 
45. The Health Select Committee produced its final report in March 2017 and a 

response to that by Government was published in July 2017 which included 
reference to an updated cross-Government suicide prevention strategy. 

 
Local Policy Context 
 
46. The County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2019 includes 

a strategic objective to “Improve the mental and physical wellbeing of the 
population” as well as a key outcome to reduce self-harm and suicides. Key 
strategic actions set out within the Health and Wellbeing Strategy include a 
refresh of the Public Mental Health Strategy for County Durham, including the  
development of a Suicide Prevention Framework and working in partnership 
through the Crisis Care Concordat  an associated action plan to improve 
outcomes for people experiencing mental health crises in the community and 
in custody. 
 

47. The County Durham “No Health without Mental Health” local implementation 
plan 2014-17 is being delivered through a multi-agency partnership and sets 
out how the Council and its partners will deliver against the national strategy’s 
objectives by developing and improving mental health services covering all 
ages. The Plan has been developed via the local Mental Health Partnership 
Board, which is a sub group of the Health and Wellbeing Board and involves a 
wide range of agencies and stakeholders. 
 

48. To deliver against the national priorities identified in paragraph 41, a series of 
local priorities has been developed and will be aligned to a specific group as 
part of the established governance structure. These are summarised at 
Appendix 1 of this report. 
 

49. Key milestones in delivering against the County Durham Mental Health 
Implementation Plan have been identified and progress reported to the review 
group includes:- 
 

 Public Mental Health, Children’s Mental Health and Dementia 
Strategies being implemented; 

 Recovery College (real and virtual) being delivered by Tees Esk and 
Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust; 

 Detailed work on accommodation options for people with mental health 
needs which includes a new service in Bishop Auckland and another 
being built in Meadowfield; 

 Increase in move-on accommodation to support hospital discharge and 
recovery; 

 Strategic review of Mental Health Prevention services with a new 
operating model to be developed and implemented in 2017; 

 Improving crisis responses through the Crisis Care Concordat -  
funding awarded for a new crisis centre; 

Page 165



16 

 

 Local Anti-Stigma and Discrimination group in place with a bid made 
for national funding from ‘Time to Change’ 

 Multi-agency ‘Active Durham’ partnership to increase levels of physical 
activity. 

 
50. In considering how to progress work against the Plan further, the local Mental 

Health Partnership Board has suggested that the Council and partners 
should:- 
 

 Rationalise the number of strategies and consolidate joint working; 

 Develop and deliver the crisis response centre in Durham; 

 Improve access to ‘talking therapies’ with CCGs; 

 Ensure the ‘Durham Works’ programme promotes benefits to people 
with mental health needs; 

 Continue development of specialist accommodation; 

 Consolidate the ‘Recovery College’ and extend its benefits to a wider 
service user group to include GPs and the ability to self-refer into the 
service; 

 Explore and promote ongoing work with Voluntary and Community 
Sector 

 Explore the potential of Cultural Opportunities to improve mental health 
and wellbeing through dance, theatre, music, etc.  

 
Suicide Prevention 
 
51. The National Strategy “Preventing suicide in England sets out overall 

objectives to achieve a reduction in the suicide rate in the general population 
in England and provide better support for those bereaved or affected by 
suicide. 
 

52. Guidance issues by Public Health England (PHE) suggests that successful 
implementation of the national strategy at a local level relies on:- 
 
1. Establishing a multi-agency suicide prevention group involving all key 

statutory agencies and voluntary organisations; 
2. Developing a suicide prevention strategy and/or action plan that is 

based on the national strategy and local data, and 
3. Completing a suicide audit. 

 
53. The County Durham Public Mental Health Strategy vision states that 

“Individuals, families and communities within County Durham to be supported 
to achieve their optimum mental wellbeing”. The strategy’s key objectives are 
geared towards promoting mental health and wellbeing; prevention of mental 
health; early identification of those at risk of mental health and recovery form 
mental health. 
 

54. Specific objectives related to suicide prevention include:- 
 

Page 166



17 

 

Objective 1: Improve mental health and wellbeing of individuals through 
engagement, information, activities, access to services and education, and 
 
Objective 3: Reduce the suicide and self-harm rate for County Durham. 
 

55. The strategy details a summarised action plan against the key objectives of 
the Public Mental Health Strategy rather than a specific suicide prevention 
action plan as recommended by the PHE guidance referenced above. 
 

56. Governance arrangements for the delivery of the Public Mental Health 
Strategy exist with the performance management framework aligned to the 
priorities identified within the strategy. The Public Mental Health Strategy 
group is accountable to the County Durham Mental Health Partnership Board. 
Progress on the delivery of the strategy objectives and action is reported to 
the Children and Families Trust and the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

57. The Suicide Audit considered by the Suicide Review Working Group covered 
the three year period 2012-14, the key findings of which are set out at 
paragraphs 25 to 38 of this report. The Audit involved the collection and 
collation of data by the Public Health team from a variety of partners including 
 

58. Key services, interventions and programmes have been identified and 
developed which are aimed at delivering against those actions detailed within 
the Public Mental Health Strategy specifically related to Suicide prevention. 
These include:- 
 

 The development of a Suicide early alert system to inform of a death 
from suicide and emerging trends and which promotes early support 
and interventions for those affected by suicide; 

 Suicide Safer Communities County Durham – a helpline and website 
resource detailing a range of support services which includes 
bereavement counselling, relationship advice, suicide bereavement 
support; 

 If U Care Share – a post-bereavement support service for families 
affected by suicide; 

 The County Durham Sheds Programme – a project aimed at tackling 
loneliness and social isolation; financial and relationship problems 
initially aimed at men and based on an Australian model but now 
widened to include women and young people; 

 Wellbeing for Life service – Commissioned by Durham County Council 
and delivered by five partners:- County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust; County Durham Culture and Sport; the Pioneering 
Care Partnership; Leisureworks and Durham Community Action. The 
service aims to empower individuals to say what is important to them 
and to support them make choices that will benefit them.  Specific 
services available on either a 1 to 1 or group activity basis includes 
Getting more active; healthy eating/weight loss; smoking cessation; 
improving one’s mental wellbeing; practical cooking; cancer 
awareness; volunteering; access to training; alcohol and drug 
awareness and how to access services in the community. 

Page 167



18 

 

 
Conclusions 
 
59. The County Durham Public Mental Health Strategy’s key objectives are 

geared towards promoting mental health and wellbeing; prevention of mental 
health; early identification of those at risk of mental health and recovery from 
mental health. The strategy also details key objectives related to suicide 
prevention.  
 

60. However, the strategy details a summarised action plan against the key 
objectives of the Public Mental Health Strategy rather than a specific suicide 
prevention action plan as recommended by the PHE guidance and set out in 
the Government’s national suicide prevention strategy. The working group 
consider it important that a specific suicide prevention strategy and associated 
action plan be developed and implemented. 
 

61. Whilst recognising the value of the existing suicide early alert system in terms 
of promoting early support and interventions for those affected by suicide, 
members of the working group consider that partners should work closely to 
develop an early alert system that would flag up those individuals at risk of 
suicide and which could be used to target mental health preventative services 
to such individuals. Such an early alert system could utilise information 
gathered from health services and the criminal justice system such as 
admissions to Accident and Emergency Departments, inpatient mental health 
services, mental health crisis services, drug and alcohol treatment services 
and those individuals within the Criminal justice system or released from 
prison/custodial sentences on parole. This should be explored as part of the 
development of the suicide prevention strategy and action plan 

 
 
Recommendation one 
 
62. That the County Council develop and implement a suicide prevention strategy 

and action plan as part of the refresh of the Public Mental Health Strategy for 
County Durham and that progress against the action plan be monitored by the 
AWHOSC. 

 
Recommendation two 
 
63. The existing suicide early alert system, whilst providing excellent support and 

interventions for those affected by suicide after the event, needs to develop 
appropriate systems to flag up those at risk of suicide and which could be used 
to target preventative mental health services and support to such individuals. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 168



19 

 

 
NHS Policies, processes and services for suicide prevention and 
the promotion of mental health and wellbeing 

 
Key Findings 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 Of the 190 suicides in County Durham (2012-14) 80 had been 
seen by GP services in the last three months of life; 54 had 
been seen by mental health services in the last three months 
of life and 39 had contact with A&E hospital services in the 
last year of life. 

 Where individuals were seen by mental health services in the 
last six months of life a known diagnosis existed. 

 TEWV NHS FT conduct an annual review of all serious 
incidents occurring within the Trust which when examined 
found no root cause with multiple factors identified including 
Post Traumatic Stress Disorder; access to mental health 
services; drug and alcohol abuse and chronic pre-existing 
health problems which impacted on mental health and 
wellbeing. 

 The coding of patients presenting at A&E differs between 
those treat and discharged and those admitted – there is no 
diagnosis flag indicating intentional self-harm in the former 
but a sub code for this exists where patients are admitted. 

 Coding of self-harm at A&E would potentially enable the 
identification of patients at risk of suicide and allow for 
proactive offers of access into mental health services to aid 
recovery and reduce the incidence of suicide. 

 A positive element of A&E experience is the excellent 
relationship with rapid response access to the mental health 
liaison service between the hours of 08.00 a.m. and 10.00 p.m. 
There is an apparent gap in service provision between 10.00 
p.m. and 08.00 a.m. once the mental health liaison team 
handover to the crisis team. 

 A multi-agency “Crisis Care Concordat” is in place to improve 
the response to people in mental health crisis across services. 

 The Concordat has introduce a number of initiatives aimed at 
enhancing access to mental health crisis services which 
include improving patient conveyance under the Mental Health 
Act 1983; crisis pathway mapping; the use of Section 136 
“Places of Safety suites” and the implementation of a street 
triage model which allows for closer working between mental 
health professionals and the police. 
 

Page 169



20 

 

 
64. During the review, members have been eager to ascertain the level of 

engagement between health services and those individuals who had 
committed suicide in order to ascertain the effectiveness of diagnoses, access 
to preventative service and interventions and how those at risk of suicide 
could be identified and offered support. 
 

65. Of the 190 suicides in County Durham between 2012 and 2014, a date of last 
contact with GP services was known in 125 cases. Of these cases 64% (80) 
were seen within three months of their death. The majority of these 
consultations may not have been directly related to suicidal ideation or mental 
health. In nine cases a suicide risk was noted in GP records, with a further 19 
people having multiple risks noted. Previous attempted suicides were 
recorded in eight cases. 

 
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 
 
66. Of the 190 suicides in County Durham between 2012 and 2014, fifty percent 

of cases (95) had been referred to or were known to mental health services at 
some point in their lives. Of these individuals 63 had been seen in the 12 
months prior to their death, with the majority (54 people, 57%) being seen in 
the three months prior to death. Of those referred to mental health services 
seven cases had never been seen.  

 
67. Where cases had been seen by mental health services in the six months prior 

to death (57) a known diagnoses were: 
 

Mental Health Diagnosis Cases 

Multiple diagnosis  7 

Depressive illness  6 

Bipolar affective disorder  Suppressed 
(less than or 
equal to 5) 

Other (including personality disorder; Schizophrenia & 
other delusional disorders; Adjustment disorder/reaction; 
Anxiety/phobia/panic disorder/OCD; and drug misuse) 

19 

 Mental Health Diagnosis 2012-14 
 

68. Other and multiple diagnoses include: 
 

 Depression, pathological jealousy, bi-polar and emotionally unstable 
personality disorder 

 Alcohol and drug misuse  

 Anxiety and Depression  

 Bipolar Affective Disorder & Emotionally Unstable Dependant 
Personality Disorder 

 HIV, Mental and Behavioural Disorder due to multiple drug use & use of 
other psychoactive substances 

 Mixed anxiety, depressive disorder and schizophrenia 

Page 170



21 

 

 Mixed anxiety and depression 

 Alcohol dependence, suicidal idealisation, severe depressive disorder 

 Psychotic depression, differential OCD 

 Schizoaffective disorder, Personality Issues, Polydrug misuse 

 Moderate depressive episode with somatic symptoms, low mood & 
anxiety 

 Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) & Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder 
(ADHD) 

 Mixed Anxiety and Depressive disorder 

 Social anxiety & low mood  

69. Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS FT undertake an annual review of all 
serious incidents which occur within the Trust to establish and identify areas 
of learning for the Trust and its staff. Procedures have been revised to ensure 
greater data reliability and the inclusion of a manual review of narrative issues 
in each incident. The Trust has identified that there can be flaws in the data 
due to delays arising from the coroner process and confirmation of verdicts 
into such incidents. 

 
70. The data in respect of suicides and drug/substance related deaths requires 

further examination and any attempts to correlate the two should be treat with 
a degree of caution as it is often not known whether death was intentional. 
 

71. The months of February, March, July and October have the highest numbers 
of serious incidents with the most common methods being hanging and 
overdose. 
 

72. When the Trust looked for any key trends and issues arising from the 
investigation of serious incidents it found that:- 
 

 No single identifiable root cause could be established; 

 Improvements needed to be made in the documentation kept in respect 
of risk assessment and management of patients as well as the 
effectiveness and timeliness of record keeping; 

 The involvement of family in the care of individuals could be 
considered; 

 A number of incidents occurred when individuals were on leave from 
inpatient services and that the Trust were currently undertaking a 
thematic review of this issue; 

 In a number of cases, patients have disclosed traumatic events that 
adversely impact upon their mental health and wellbeing and this has 
resulted in an identified need to reflect trauma questioning/counselling 
in staff training and development; 

 A series of socio-economic factors including benefits, service 
reductions and access to social care and mental health services 
impacted on incidents; 

 Mental health issues coupled with drug and alcohol misuse and the 
ineffectiveness of drug and alcohol treatment services could be linked 
to some incidents; 

Page 171



22 

 

 Some individuals had pre-existing chronic physical health problems 
which often impacted on their mental health and wellbeing.  

 
73. TEWV NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed these trends and embarked on a 

programme of actions at a Trust wide and locality level which aims to address 
some of the shortcomings identified during the examination of serious 
incidents. Actions across the Trust have been focussed on improving the 
existing Serious Incident review processes through enhanced governance 
arrangements; greater effectiveness in identifying improvement and learning 
from SI cases and also utilising learning from the National Confidential 
Enquiry into Suicide Harm and the Care Quality Commission’s “Learning, 
candour and accountability” benchmarking. 
 

74. Actions taken at a locality level have built on the Trust-wide learning through 
speciality level governance meetings within adult mental health services 
which includes quarterly adult mental health clinical incident reviews using  
“Plan, Do, Study, Apply” tools which promote change management based on 
learning from incidents. This process involves senior nurses, consultants and 
psychologists. The establishment of a Children’s and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services (CAMHS) Crisis team has also enhanced the service 
provided to that age group. 
 

75. The Working group examined the availability and accessibility of current 
mental health services involving TEWV. Concerns had been expressed by the 
working group regarding the accessibility of services, particularly whether 
there was open access to services or whether a referral process into the 
service was followed. 
 

76. Across primary and secondary care the following services were available:- 
 

 Community Intervention Teams – Open Access 

 Crisis Teams – Open Access 

 Mental Health liaison services – Accessed via Acute Trusts/A&E 

 Veteran’s services – Open Access 

 Inpatient mental health services – Accessed through Crisis team 
referral 

 Talking Changes (Accessing psychological therapies) – Open access 
 

77. Members noted that these were supplemented by a range of “third 
sector/Community and Voluntary sector” services including links with crisis 
teams and MIND. 
 

78. TEWV has identified a number of challenges facing the service, not least of 
which involve the current socio-economic climate and the stigma still attached 
to mental health conditions. The Trust is working to improve assurances that 
required changes identified within the Trust and its services are embedded at 
individual staff level. Pressures associated with capacity and demand across 
services must be managed alongside service user expectations as well as 
engaging those groups identified as hard to reach including LGBT and the 
Gypsy/Traveller Groups. 

Page 172



23 

 

 
79. The Trust recognises the importance of continues and improved joint working 

across partners citing the work of the Crisis Care Concordat; the recovery 
college project, CVS support and ongoing work with the police which are all 
aimed at addressing current failings within the system including enhanced 
engagement across all partners; improved information sharing protocols and 
greater patient and family involvement in service developments. 
 

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 
 
80. Between 2012 and 2014, there were 39 cases of suicide which had contact 

with A&E/hospital services in the year prior to their death. While 10 were 
associated with overdose (of which we do not know the proportion which were 
intentional or indeed attempted suicide), the majority were from a range of 
conditions not necessarily associated with suicidal ideation or mental ill 
health. 
 

81. Treatment for general medical conditions was the next most common cause 
of an A&E/hospital contact (six cases) followed by gastrointestinal (five 
cases). There were fewer than five cases per each of the remaining 
categories, including contact for reasons of mental illness or alcohol 
problems. 6 cases were known to have a psychological assessment prior to 
discharge. 
 

82. The working group are aware of a range of services delivered either in 
partnership or directly by County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust (CDDFT) related to suicide prevention. 
 

83. The wellbeing for life service adopts a model similar to the recovery model 
principles adopted by TEWV in respect of mental health and wellbeing 
improvement. Provided in partnership with the Pioneering Care Partnership, 
DCC Culture and Sport, Leisureworks and Durham Community Action, the 
wellbeing for life service follows the NICE stepped care model for the 
treatment of depression. 
 

84. Since 1 April 2016 there have been over 2000 one-to-one contacts with the 
wellbeing for life service and CDDFT staff have received suicide ideation 
training and applied suicide intervention skills training.  
 

85. CDDFT are also involved in the Talking Changes service commissioned by 
County Durham and Darlington CCGs and delivered jointly by TEWV, CDDFT 
and Mental Health Matters. This a self-help and talking therapies service 
designed to help anyone living in the County Durham and Darlington area to 
deal with common mental health problems such as stress, anxiety or 
depression, as well as panic, phobias, obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) 
and post-traumatic stress disorder. 
 

86. Offering a range of talking therapies, this free, confidential service is open to 
people aged 16 or over who live in County Durham or Darlington and whose 
mental health is causing them concern and is affecting an individual’s 

Page 173



24 

 

employment, health or home life. The service is not available if an individual is 
already accessing adult mental health services. 
 

87. The service is part of the national improving access to psychological therapies 
(IAPT) programme and offers psychological interventions that include talking 
therapies and supported self-help programmes. Treatments currently include:- 
 
 Step 2a Telephone Guided Self Help 
 Step 2a Psycho-Education Groups 
 Step 2b Face to Face Guided Self Help 
 Step 3 Face to Face Cognitive Behavioural Therapy 
 Step 3 Interpersonal Therapy 
 Step 3 Eye Movement Desensitisation Therapy 
 Step 2 / Step 3 Long Term Conditions Pathway 
 Employment Support

 
88. Members were advised that around 10000 people per year access these 

services. 
 

89. The Primary Care Psychology service delivered by CDDFT received 308 
referrals during 2015/16 with 177 patients discharged in the first 2 quarters of 
2016/17. The service treat patients including those with enduring trauma and 
personality disorder with the complexity and risk associated with their 
conditions assessed using a variety of mental health assessment tools. 
Patient’s condition and outcomes are assessed pre and post treatment with 
success gauged by securing a reduction in the appropriate rating scores. 
 

90. The working group were advised that the service was to be de-commissioned 
on 30 June 2017 and members were extremely concerned at the risk to 
patients’ mental health and wellbeing and chances of securing improvements 
in their conditions with the cessation of this service as well as what 
replacement services were proposed.  
 

91. There is a view that suicide is only associated with a person’s mental health 
and that they relate to an associated mental health illness. The review heard 
evidence that within clinical (health) psychology, patients whose physical 
health condition deteriorates or who may have a physical disability can trigger 
thoughts about taking their own life. In such circumstances, the physical state 
of a patient is such that their quality of life may be poor and they feel unable to 
lead a “normal” life. 
 

92. Several factors have been identified which may trigger such thoughts 
including:- 
 

 not wanting to be a burden on their family and services as their 
disease/condition progresses; 

 not wanting their family/spouse to witness them suffer; 

 avoidance of experiencing deteriorating symptoms as their prognosis 
worsens; 

 fear of increased pain; 

Page 174



25 

 

 anxiety over financial implications especially if a person cannot work or 
has to move home due to their illness/disability; 

 feeling in control about the end of their life when there has been little 
control or predictability in their health. 

 
 

93. Many of these patients have never previously suffered with serious mental 
health problems and would simply view their suicidal thoughts as logical and 
as a way to lessen further suffering 
 

94. CDDFT also provides a small clinical health psychology service aims to 
provide support to people who may experience such circumstances around a 
chronic physical illness. 
 

95. Members heard evidence that with more publicity in recent years about 
assisted suicide, or people travelling to clinics such as Dignitas when they 
have a terminal condition, society in general may be more accepting of 
suicide when there is a physical illness perhaps because of this there is less 
stigma. 

  
96. When a person has a physical condition/illness where the course is medically 

known to deteriorate (or an event where the person has been left with 
debilitating effects) these patients are perhaps more likely to have suicidal 
thoughts, so it is vital to ensure good support is in place. For example, in 
stroke, heart failure, Parkinson’s disease, terminal cancer, COPD, 
uncontrolled diabetes, MS, HIV, motor neurone disease, and also in early 
stages of dementia. 

  
97. Research suggests that patients are more likely to report suicidal thoughts 

soon after a diagnosis of a chronic or terminal condition. Often support is not 
available then, and the person’s distress is not responded to appropriately. It 
is therefore vitally important for services like health psychology to be involved 
in the care of these patients, consulting with non-psychology healthcare staff 
to offer support and intervene in a timely manner. 
 

98. In considering the role played by CDDFT in respect of suicide prevention and 
improving mental health and wellbeing, the working group have examined the 
procedures that exist within the Trust’s Accident and Emergency Departments 
in Darlington Memorial Hospital and University Hospital North Durham and 
how these are used/able to identify suicide attempts and self-harm and 
highlight potential patient need for access to mental health services. 
 

99. There is currently no relevant diagnosis flag within the A&E system that can 
give an indication of attempted suicide. What is coded is effectively the 
condition of the patient, for example overdoses would be covered by a 
poisoning diagnosis code but it would not be possible to tell from the data 
whether this was accidental or deliberate.  
 

Page 175



26 

 

100. However, for inpatient clinical coding (where A&E patients are admitted) there 
is an intentional self-harm code that is used as a sub code alongside an 
eventual diagnoses. 
 

101. Experience across the two A&E departments indicates that patients arrive via 
ambulance or the Police and that the department is seen as a place of safety 
even though this is not the best environment for a patient who is experiencing 
an acute crisis. With the ongoing pressures placed on the service, treatment 
is often seen as “patching up” rather than offering longer term mental health 
support that patients might need. Patients are also often keen to “just go” 
following their initial acute ED treatment although patients often end up 
staying overnight where a required mental health assessment is required. 
 

102. The positive element of the A&E experience appears to be in respect of the 
excellent relationship with rapid response access to the mental health liaison 
service between the hours of 08.00 a.m. and 10.00 p.m. Unfortunately there is 
an apparent gap in service provision between 10.00 p.m. and 08.00 a.m. once 
the mental health liaison team handover to the crisis team. 
 

103. CDDFT have effective liaison follow on arrangements with TEWV staff to deal 
with patients who need mental health support. For those patients at A&E who 
have experienced an identifiable self-harm event or where they feel that there 
is nowhere else to turn, a risk based assessment is made which can result in 
an offer of up to six follow up sessions as a brief intervention and solution 
focussed therapy. 
 

104. For those patients who are admitted with for example delirium or dementia up 
to six weeks of community support post discharge can be made. There is also 
a potential onward referral to community psychiatric nurses/community mental 
health teams and mental health secondary care. 
 

105. CDDFT acknowledges that there is an identified need to enhance the Trust’s 
role as an organisation in educating general medical staff in respect of mental 
health and wellbeing, suicide risk identification and prevention and associated 
mental health and wellbeing services. 
 

106. Data collected from the Trust’s Safeguard incident management system in 
respect of serious untoward incidents for 2014/15; 2015/16 and 2016/17 (to 
December 2016) shows that there were 64 incidents over that period of which 
2 were deemed to be suspected suicide. Both of these incidents were the 
subject of a root cause analysis and subsequent action planning. 
 

107. The working group are concerned that there is no diagnosis flag within the 
A&E system that could give an indication of attempted suicide for patients 
who present at A&E but who are not admitted. This presents a risk to such 
patients in that they may not be offered access to mental health services at an 
early stage which could improve their chance of recovery and prevent 
potential for suicide. 
 

Page 176



27 

 

108. The working group are pleased to note the success of the Trust’s work with 
TEWV NHS FT liaison team in ensuring that those patients who have been 
admitted and have been identified with an intentional self-harm code are able 
to access mental health services. However it is noted that this appears to be 
more effective from 08.00 a.m. until 10.00 p.m. with a liaison gap having been 
identified when the team handover to the crisis team. The working group feel 
that it is essential that a consistent level of service should be provided 24/7 to 
mitigate against risks of potential self-harm and suicide during crisis episodes. 
 

109. The working group also acknowledged the work being done within the Trust to 
train employees on mental health awareness and suicide prevention and 
suggested that this needed to be systematic throughout the Trust. 

 
Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat 
 
110. The Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat is a partnership consisting of 

Durham Constabulary, Durham County Council, Darlington Borough Council, 
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, North East Ambulance 
Service, North Durham CCG, DDES CCG, Darlington CCG and voluntary and 
community sectors. The concordat is a commitment made by all partners to 
joint working to improve the response to people in mental health crisis across 
services. 
 

111. The working group received information regarding three initiatives aimed at 
improving patient experiences during crisis episodes :- 
 

 Patient conveyancing – the conveying of a patient who has been 
detained under the Mental Health Act 1983 and needs to go to hospital; 
 

 Crisis pathway mapping – the mapping out of services to support 
individuals escalating towards clinical crisis and averting the crisis or 
ensuring the person is helped into the right clinical care; 

 

 Section 136 suites – usually called a place of safety, this is somewhere 
that a patient in crisis can be taken, usually by the police for 
assessment. 

 
112. Improvements implemented for patient conveyancing involved the 

commissioning of a private ambulance provider to focus solely on attending 
mental health crisis incidents thus removing the risk which had been 
previously evident of NEAS ambulances being diverted to attend “blue light” 
calls which delays attendance at the mental health crisis incident. Whilst this 
has been commissioned by Durham and Darlington CCGs, it is possible that 
such a service could be commissioned regionally and thus benefit from 
economies of scale. 
 

113. For crisis pathway mapping, work has been undertaken to map current mental 
health crisis services to establish what services need to be improved, what is 
working well and any gaps in services identified. Following this work, a 

Page 177



28 

 

refreshed 2 year action plan for the Crisis Care Concordat has been 
developed focussing on prevention actions that avoid crisis episodes. 
 

114. Nationally it has been accepted that the use of police cells as Section 136 
suites (Places of Safety) is inappropriate and CCGs are required to reduce 
their use of police cells for this purpose and eliminate their use for those 
under 18 years of age. 
 

115. The Crisis Care Concordat developed health based places of safety, one in 
Lanchester Road Hospital, Durham and one in West Park Hospital, Darlington 
which were staffed from the hospital wards.  TEWV were given additional 
funding to enable them to staff the hospitals to a level where people could 
come off the wards into the s136 suite when required.  The suites are used 
mainly by the police when they have picked someone up under s136 of the 
Mental Health Act and they need assessment in a place of safety. 
 

116. Working jointly with the Police and TEWV, commissioners found that this 
model was ineffective in that it was not as easy as hoped to get a member of 
staff from a ward to the s136 suite quickly.   
 

117. Consequently, the Concordat has developed a street triage model which 
involves TEWV staff (a mental health professional) working in the police force 
control room and out on the street in the car to provide support in cases 
where mental health issues may be a factor in a crisis incident. 
 

118. The other major implication of the Policing and Crime Bill (which includes the 
prohibition of the use of Police Cells as Places of Safety for under 18s) is the 
reduction of time an individual can be held on a s.136 from 72 hours to 24 
hours.  This may have implications when someone under 18 has been 
assessed as needing admission but there is difficulty finding a bed.  Also, 
there is a potential issue in obtaining an opinion from a second doctor should 
admission be required because there is a national shortage of doctors who 
are able to assess and admit.  TEWV are working these issues through with 
commissioners. 

 
119. Ongoing areas of development reported to the working group include the 

need to identify high intensity users of all emergency services. In mental 
health, these individuals invariably also use other emergency services (police, 
social services) frequently and the theory is that the response they are 
receiving is not helping them.  If it were, they wouldn’t ring back.  People 
behave in this manner for a variety of reasons and the response they need 
will need to be individualised.  
 

120. The Crisis Care Concordat aims to identify these individuals who are common 
to us all, then work out what they need to support them personally. We will 
then need to agree a way of identifying people who start to behave in this way 
and work out how we are going to support them as they become known to the 
services.  
 

Page 178



29 

 

121. This will involve all statutory bodies working together and sharing information. 
This is complicated because of the laws surrounding information sharing and 
patient confidentiality. 

 
122. The development of a single point of access to crisis services has been 

identified as a key gap in current crisis service provision. In a crisis scenario it 
has been suggested that currently patients are expected to work out if they 
are in a social crisis (and need social services support); an emotional crisis 
(and need support for that such as bereavement support or relationship 
counselling) or a clinical crisis (and are in need of support from the TEWV 
crisis team).  This often leads to patients accessing services that are 
inappropriate to their crisis needs. 
 

123. Crisis Care Concordat partners agree that one point of access is needed 
where patients can go and say they need help, then be given the time to talk 
through the help which they need so that they can be directed to the right 
place.  This could be the patient themselves, or a third party. The service 
would receive self-referrals as well as referrals from other professionals (GPs 
could refer someone they are seeing for sleep problems but are concerned 
that there is a different underlying cause) as well as from the community and 
voluntary providers. 
 

Conclusions 
 

124. Whilst the working group have received numerous examples of effective 
partnership working across NHS Organisations including liaison between 
mental health and acute hospital services, there are improvements that have 
been identified which could lead to more effective suicide prevention, more 
timely service provision and interventions for those in crisis and/or at risk of 
suicide and a clearer crisis pathway and improved accessibility to mental 
health services. 
 

125. The working group have heard that often those at risk of suicide are known to 
one or more of the emergency services be that the police or health. Difficulties 
have been reported in terms of organisations ability to share information 
across partners in respect of those at risk of self-harm or suicide or 
alternatively learning from those incidents of suicide. The working group 
consider that a multi-agency approach to develop learning from suicides is 
needed with case conferences introduced for each incident with shared 
learning across partner agencies. 

 
126. The working group are concerned that there is no diagnosis flag within the 

A&E system that could give an indication of attempted suicide for patients 
who present at A&E but who are not admitted. This presents a risk to such 
patients in that they may not be offered access to mental health services at an 
early stage which could improve their chance of recovery and prevent 
potential for suicide. 
 

127. The working group are pleased to note the success of the Trust’s work with 
TEWV NHS FT liaison team in ensuring that those patients who have been 

Page 179



30 

 

admitted and have been identified with an intentional self-harm code are able 
to access mental health services. However it is noted that this appears to be 
more effective from 08.00 a.m. until 10.00 p.m. with a liaison gap having been 
identified when the team handover to the crisis team. It is essential that a 
consistent level of service should be provided 24/7 to mitigate against risks of 
potential self-harm and suicide during crisis episodes. 

 
128. The mapping out of services to support individuals escalating towards clinical 

crisis and averting the crisis or ensuring the person is helped into the right 
clinical care has been identified as a much needed improvement in current 
processes. Often individuals are not aware of the services available to them to 
support their mental health and wellbeing and avoid crisis episodes. They also 
need guidance to explain how to access these services and whether they can 
self-refer into services or whether this needs to involve health professionals. 

 
129. The Crisis Care Concordat is a commitment made by all partners to joint 

working to improve the response to people in mental health crisis across 
services. Whilst this is to be welcomed, the development of a single point of 
access to crisis services has been identified as a key gap in current crisis 
service provision. 

 
Recommendation three 

 
130. A multi-agency approach to develop learning from suicides is needed with 

case conferences introduced for each incident with shared learning across 
partner agencies including adult and children’s social care and health 
services, NHS services and those within the criminal justice system. 

 
Recommendation four 
 
131. The introduction of an appropriate coding/flagging system for self- 

harm/attempted suicide across all A&E department attendees should be 
promoted which identifies those potentially at risk of suicide and allows for 
proactive offers of access to mental health services and support. 
 

Recommendation five 
 

132. The current processes for referral into mental health services be reviewed to 
ensure that there is clarity available to potential service users to help them to 
identify the range of services available, whether the services allow for self-
referral as well as referral by health professionals and the associated target 
timeframes for accessing services. 

 
Recommendation six 

 
133. The accessibility of the out-of-hours mental health crisis service be reviewed 

to ensure that individuals suffering from crisis episodes have timely access to 
support and interventions. 
 

 

Page 180



31 

 

 
 
  
  

Safe Durham Partnership - Policies, processes and services for 
suicide prevention and the promotion of mental health and 
wellbeing 
 
Key Findings 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

134. As part of the review, the working group examined the extent to which those 
individuals who had committed suicide were known to the various parts of the 
criminal justice system. 
 

135. Between 2012 and 2014 there were 9 deaths from suicide in prison. A further 
five suicides took place within a year of release from prison.  
 

136. Only a minority of 14% (27) of suicide cases had ever been known to the 
Probation Services. Eight people had their last contact with the probation 
service within three months prior to their death and a further four people had 
contact a year prior to their death. 

  
137. A small majority of cases (51%, 97) were known to the police prior to death. A 

quarter (24) had their last police contact within three months of death. A 

 Of the 190 suicides in County Durham (2012-14), 9 occurred in 
prison with a further 5 within a year of release from prison; 27 
were known to the probation service and 97 were known to 
police prior to death with 24 having their last contact with 
police in the last three months of life. 

 The prison service has reviewed and improved its 
Assessment, Care in Custody and Teamwork (ACCT) process 
which identifies, supports and manages those at risk of 
suicide or self-harm. 

 Issues of prison officer staffing, the availability of 
psychoactive substances and an increase in prison violence 
have been suggested as reasons behind an increase in self-
harm in prisons nationally. 

 Whilst nationally suicides in or following custody are higher 
now that before 2012, there have been no deaths in police 
custody during 2012-14 and 2 following police custody. 

 Durham Constabulary have an established detention and 
custody process which safeguards against suicide risk. 

 The new street triage process is welcomed by Durham 
Constabulary although some issues are experienced 
regarding data sharing protocols between partners. 

 

Page 181



32 

 

further 18% (17) had their last contact with the police within a year of their 
death. 
 

Suicide and Self Harm in Prisons 
 
138. The Safe Durham Partnership Board undertook a prison suicide audit in 2016 

specifically examining deaths by suicide at Low Newton Remand Centre; 
HMP Frankland and HMP Durham across the period January 2009 to 
December 2015. During this period there were 20 deaths by suicide within 
County Durham prisons, the highest number occurring in HMP Durham. 
 

139. The Audit aimed to identify key areas within prisons where pathways may be 
improved to reduce the suicide risk within prisons 
 

140. By utilising four case study reviews, findings showed that in these cases 
suicide risk factors were noted but that the prison emergency procedure 
(Code Black) was not implemented immediately. 
 

141. Across the prisons, the emergency procedure has been changed and all staff 
are now trained in this procedure as well as receiving suicide prevention 
training also. All prisoners now have a suicide assessment upon entry to 
prison. 
 

142. Additional recommendations from the audit included the inclusion of probation 
data within future audits; a transfer from prison to community pathway to be 
established; consent from individuals must be requested and medical 
information and suicide risk shared with GPs and probation within 24 hours of 
discharge. 
 

143. Members noted the many vulnerable groups in prison populations including 
those with drug/alcohol issues, financial crisis, mental health problems and 
abuse all of which contribute to the risk of suicide. The prison service’s own 
Assessment, Care in Custody and Teamwork (ACCT) process is considered 
to be fit for purpose as an effective system to identify, manage and support 
those at risk of suicide or self-harm, when it is applied properly. 
 

144. Members note that for the last five years 35-40% of self-inflicted deaths within 
prisons have been of people within the ACCT process which indicates that the 
quality of care and supervision that is provided for prisoners on ACCT needs 
to be improved. The prison service also acknowledged their need to improve 
the identification of prisoners at risk. 
 

145. A review of the ACCT process resulted in several recommendations being 
made in areas such as communications, national policies, process 
improvements and increase training all of which have been referenced in the 
Director of Public Sector Prisons’ Suicide and Self Harm project. The project’s 
objectives are:- 
 

 Implementation of the ACCT review recommendations; 

Page 182



33 

 

 Delivering improvement in the prison service early weeks in custody 
work; 

 Improving identification of individuals at risk of self-harm and / or 
suicide; 

 Addressing repeat Prison and Probation Ombudsman 
recommendations; 

 Enhancing staff and partner involvement in supporting those at risk, 
providing clear operational guidance and information and by improving 
training packages;  

 Developing appropriate interventions for male and female offenders; 

 Increasing the evidence base and understanding of what drives self-
harm and self-inflicted deaths. 

 
146. Extensive work has been done to establish whether reasons for the increase 

in self-inflicted deaths can be identified.  The National Offender Management 
Service’s (NOMS) continuing work with partners and academics through the 
National Suicide Prevention Strategy Advisory Group and the Ministerial 
Board on Deaths in Custody is important in ensuring that the prison service 
learns from experience in other sectors. 
 

147. There are also difficulties in quantifying the effect of other changes and 
challenges facing prisons and prisoners.  Operational experience suggests 
that there is less predictability and familiarity in the prisoner experience with 
the reductions in overall prison officer headcount combined with vacancies 
and the use of detached duty.  Other known challenges include the increase 
in the use of new psychoactive substances, which may have health 
implications for users, and relate to problems of indebtedness and violence 
which may increase feelings of despair or vulnerability.  Violence in prisons 
has increased and feeling less safe in prison could also heighten fear or 
despair.  Extensive programmes of work are tackling both these issues. 

   
148. Analysis suggests that the reasons for the increase in self-inflicted deaths are 

complex and involve an interplay between heightened levels of vulnerability 
amongst prisoners as a cohort, and factors which may affect the way in which 
NOMS is managing these risks amongst prisoners.  For example, operational 
feedback frequently identifies the challenges of convening timely case 
management conferences with all relevant partners, the challenges of 
releasing staff for training, and the need to support prisoners through key 
periods of vulnerability such as the first month in custody. 

  
149. Work is underway to ensure that there is a greater integration between the 

criminal justice system and health/social care services particularly around 
multi-agency casework and information sharing regarding mental health. 
 

Durham Constabulary 
 

150. Deaths in or following police custody include deaths that happen while a 
person is being arrested or taken into detention. It also includes deaths of 
people who have been arrested or have been detained by police under the 

Page 183



34 

 

Mental Health Act 1983. The death may have taken place on police, private or 
medical premises, in a public place or in a police or other vehicle. 
 

151.  This also includes deaths that happen: 
 

 during or following police custody where injuries that contributed to the 
death happened during the period of detention; 

 in or on the way to hospital (or other medical premises) following or 
during transfer from scene of arrest or police custody; 

 as a result of injuries or other medical problems that are identified or 
that develop while a person is in custody; 

 while a person is in police custody having been detained under Section 
136 of the Mental Health Act 1983 or other related legislation  

 
152. This does not include: 

 

 suicides that occur after a person has been released from police 
custody; 

 deaths that happen where the police are called to help medical staff to 
restrain individuals who are not under arrest. 

 
153. Apparent suicides following Police Custody include apparent suicides that 

happen within two days of release from police custody. This category also 
includes apparent suicides that occur beyond two days of release from 
custody where the time spent in custody may be relevant to the death. 
 

154. In examining the national picture in respect of deaths in or following police 
custody and apparent suicides following police custody, members found that 
the number of deaths in or following police custody had decreased to 14, 
similar to the levels observed in the three years before 2014/15.  
 

155. The number of recorded apparent suicides following custody has decreased 
to 60 compared to 70 recorded in the previous year. This is the lowest figure 
recorded since 2012/13 when there was a notable increase in this category. 
However, it remains considerably higher than the average before 2012/13. 
 

156. Reporting of these deaths relies on police forces making the link between an 
apparent suicide and a recent period in custody. The overall increase in these 
deaths over the 11 year period may therefore be influenced by improved 
identification and referral of such cases. 
  

157. Of the 60 apparent suicides following police custody, 56 were male and four 
were female. More than half of the individuals (33) had known mental health 
concerns. Twenty-eight people were reported to be intoxicated with drugs and 
/or alcohol at the time of the arrest, or it featured heavily in their lifestyle. 
Eighteen apparent suicides occurred on the day of release from police 
custody, 24 occurred one day after release, and 16 occurred two days after 
release. 

  

Page 184



35 

 

158. Twenty-two of those who died had been arrested for a sexual offence. Of 
these, 17 were in connection with sexual offences or indecent images 
involving children.  
 

159. There were no deaths in custody within Durham Constabulary and 2 apparent 
suicides following police custody. 

 
160. When examining the impact of mental health upon police activity within 

County Durham, out of an average of 15000 calls per month to Durham 
Constabulary’s force control over 800 (5%) have a mental health need or 
component identified which equates to around 27 calls per day. Whilst this 
may not appear high, such calls take up an estimated 15 to 20% of an 
officer’s time on duty, each requiring the attendance of 2 police personnel. 
 

161. The use of police to convey individuals to places of safety designated under 
Section 136 of the Mental Health Act 1983 has been examined as part of the 
work of the Crisis Care Concordat referenced at Paragraph of this report. As 
stated earlier, the Policing and Crime Bill includes the prohibition of the use of 
Police Cells as Places of Safety for under 18s. There has been no such use of 
a police cell for under 18s since 2014 in County Durham. 
 

162. In examining Durham Constabulary’s detention and custody processes, 
members were advised that all persons arrested and detained in one of 
Durham Constabulary’s 4 Custody Suites are risk assessed on arrival or as 
soon as practicable after arrival depending on that person’s presenting 
behaviour. This covers questions around the following:- 
 

 How are you feeling in yourself now? 

 Do you have any illness or injury? 

 Are you experiencing any mental ill health or depression? 

 Would you like to speak to the doctor/nurse/paramedic (as 
appropriate)? 

 Have you seen a doctor or been to a hospital for this illness or injury? 

 Are you taking or supposed to be taking any tablets or medication? If 
yes, what are they and what are they for? 

 Are you in contact with any medical or support service? If yes, what is 
the name of your contact or support worker there? 

 Do you have a card that tells you who to contact in a crisis? 

 Have you ever tried to harm yourself? If yes, how often, how long ago, 
how did you harm yourself, have you sought help? 

 
163. Answering “Yes” to any of the questions will result in more detailed 

questioning around that area. 
 

164. As part of the process the checks are made of the PNC, previous custody 
records, risk assessments and other parties such as the Arresting Officers, 
relatives, friends, legal representatives and medical professionals including 
Liaison and Diversion services. 
 

Page 185



36 

 

165. All these as well as the answers from the detainee and their behavior/ 
demeanor affect the risk assessment. Key elements are those highlighted 
around alcohol/drug misuse and dependency as well as mental ill health 
including depression, and medical conditions and ailments. 
 

166. If necessary formal assessments by trained health care practitioner’s or force 
medical examiners take place, available 24/7. In addition there is access to 
criminal justice liaison nurses from Liaison and Diversion services who work 
within custody suites 7 days a week. Children and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services are also contactable 7 days a week as are the crisis team for 
advice/referrals. This helps to reduce the likelihood of suicide or self-harm 
both while detained and in preparation for release. 
 

167. Pre-Release of a detainee is considered at an early stage in the process so 
that a suitable care plan, post release, is in place prior to release of the 
detainee. The custody officer is required to complete a pre-release risk 
assessment. They do not leave this until the point of release. Instead it is an 
ongoing process throughout detention and concluded at the point of release. 
This is in line with approved professional practice for detention and custody. 
 

168. Custody officers refer to all existing risk assessment information for the 
detainee. They speak to all detainees prior to release to confirm suitable 
processes are in place prior to release to reduce the risk of suicide or self- 
harm. They then need to decide what action, if any, is appropriate to support 
vulnerable detainees upon release. This can be anything from making sure 
there are suitable transport arrangements and clothing available to release 
the detainee to ensuring there is the required support of parents, carers, or 
indeed referrals to Community Mental Health Teams, Alcohol or Drug 
dependency support schemes, local authorities regarding homelessness, GP 
services or hospitals for medical issues and referrals for service veterans.  
 

169. Custody Officers are encouraged to reduce the risk of re-offending by actively 
considering alternatives to charge or formal Out of Court Disposals such as a 
caution where appropriate. An approach such as the Checkpoint program or 
restorative justice approaches, can also help address the issues that might be 
the root cause of that offending or behaviour such as alcohol, drugs, 
homelessness or dealing with mental health issues such as Post Traumatic 
Stress Disorder. 

 

170. All Custody Sergeants receive training prior to being in post. This training 
received is approved by the College of Policing and forms part of the 
Detention and Custody Learning Program for Custody Sergeants. Custody 
Sergeants continue in post to receive 2 additional Continuous Professional 
Development days training each year as in addition to mandatory training 
refreshers around PST and First Aid. Training also covers mental health 
issues, risk assessment and Pre-Release. 
 

171. Reference has been made within this report to the introduction of street triage 
service as a partnership between Durham Constabulary and Tees, Esk and 
Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust which aims to assist police officers in 

Page 186



37 

 

accessing mental health professionals where s.136 detentions are being 
considered/carried out. This is particularly welcomed by Durham Constabulary 
in view of the demand being placed upon their service for such instances and 
the importance of appropriate access to mental health/crisis services. 
 

172. The importance of joint working between Durham Constabulary and mental 
health practitioners cannot be overstated as problems have been experienced 
in the past regarding the protocol for data sharing between agencies and 
accessing patients records/information which may result in delays in 
accessing treatment.  
 

173. Durham Constabulary are also key partners within the suicide and attempted 
suicide early alert process which commissions “If you care, share” to provide 
support to the families of suicide victims. 
 

Conclusions 
 

174. The prison service within County Durham has an effective process known as 
ACCT (Assessment, Care in Custody and Teamwork) which has been 
assessed as fit for purpose as an effective mechanism to identify, manage 
and support those at risk of suicide and self-harm with the prison environment.  
The process has been reviewed and a series of recommendations have been 
implemented which look to improvement communication and awareness 
amongst staff along with increased training in the process. 
  

175. Work is underway to ensure that there is a greater integration between the 
criminal justice system and health/social care services particularly around 
multi-agency casework and information sharing regarding mental health 
amongst offenders. 
 

176.  A similar process has been examined as part of Durham Constabulary’s 
detention and custody process with risk assessments routinely undertaken 
across their 4 custody suites. As part of this process routine checks are made 
across a range of databases and records and the group heard evidence of 
joint working between the Police and Health services including the new street 
triage service which aims to ensure that Police Officers have access to mental 
health professionals when detentions under S136 of the Mental Health Act 
1983 are being considered. 
 

177. Notwithstanding the above, the problems experienced in the past in relation to 
data sharing between agencies and accessing patients’ records/information 
which may result in delays in accessing treatment needs to be addressed by 
ensuring that a process of case conferencing is in place. 

 
Recommendation three 

 
178. A multi-agency approach to develop learning from suicides is needed with 

case conferences introduced for each incident with shared learning across 
partner agencies including adult and children’s social care and health 
services, NHS services and those within the criminal justice system. 

Page 187



38 

 

 
 

Suicide prevention and the promotion of mental health and 
wellbeing – Community and voluntary sector involvement and 
support networks 
 
Key Findings 

 
 

 
 

179. In examining the extent and effectiveness of community involvement and 
support networks in identifying the risks and potential root causes associated 
with suicides, the working group received evidence from:- 

 

 Darlington MIND 

 The Community and Voluntary Sector play a significant role in 
suicide awareness, prevention and support for mental health 
and wellbeing. 

 The Rapid Response Suicide Prevention project developed by 
MIND, CDDFT and Durham CCGs offers a rapid response 
suicide prevention counselling service which significantly 
reduces PHQ9 scores and improves mental health and 
wellbeing. None of the 1649 clients referred into the service 
between 2011 and 2016 took their own life. 

 The If U Care Share Foundation offers a support after suicide 
service for those who have lost someone through suicide as 
well as a prevention referral service. Key areas of work include 
awareness raising of suicide within education services; 
shared lived experience of suicide to support those affected 
by suicide; advice and guidance to mental health support and 
crisis services. 

 Single Homeless Action Initiative in Durham (SHAID) identifies 
the wider determinants of health and their impact on mental 
health and wellbeing. Key groups supported include the 
homeless, people fleeing domestic violence; ex forces 
personnel, prison leavers and people with mental health 
diagnoses. 

 Durham Samaritans deliver listening services to those at risk 
of suicide, those affected by suicides and also work closely 
with media outlets to allow for sensitive reporting of suicides. 

 The Samaritans have developed teaching materials, including 
Developing Emotional Awareness and Listening (DEAL) which 
was used by professionals.  Work is undertaken with young 
people in schools, colleges and youth settings to offer advice 
on looking after emotional health and a national team of 
specially trained volunteers work with schools and colleges 
affected by suicide. 

 The key issue identified across the Community and Voluntary 
Sector is the funding available to support projects and ensure 
their sustainability. 

 

Page 188



39 

 

 If u Care Share Foundation 

 Single Homeless Action Initiative in Durham (SHAID) 

 Central Durham Samaritans 
 
Darlington MIND – Rapid Response Suicide Prevention project (RRSSP) 
 
180. The RRSSP was developed in response to a significant increase in the 

number of suicides within County Durham around 2010. The partnership 
project involved three local MIND associations (Darlington; Derwentside and 
Hartlepool and East Durham) together with County Durham and Darlington 
NHS Foundation Trust. The project was funded initially by NHS County 
Durham and Darlington (PCT) and more recently North Durham CCG and 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG. 
 

181. The project offers a rapid response suicide prevention counselling service for 
residents of County Durham or those registered with a County Durham GP. 
Referrals are received from the TEWV NHS FT Crisis or access teams only 
and aim to help those identified as at risk of or have attempted suicide but 
who do not need inpatient care. 
 

182. Each referral is triaged within 24 hours with each client seen by a 
psychotherapist or counsellor within 5 working days of receipt of the referral, 
although in practice this is often quicker than that. 
 

183. Clients are seen in either local MIND counselling rooms or in GP surgeries in 
their locality. The MIND facilities are in Stanley, Consett, Peterlee, Darlington, 
Newton Aycliffe or Durham City. 
 

184. Clients are offered an initial assessment and up to six counselling sessions 
which can be weekly, monthly or more frequent depending on need with 
BACP registered psychotherapists or counsellors. A report is submitted back 
to the client’s GP upon completion of the sessions and aim to provide an 
assessment of what longer term interventions may be necessary. 
 

185. The project has a management board and robust governance arrangements. 
 

186. Members learned that from July 2011 to December 2016, 1649 referrals had 
been made into the service with 818 referrals from North Durham CCG and 
831 from the DDES CCG. Of the referrals, 56% were male and 44%were 
female which is quite different from the incidence of suicides across the 
gender groups. 
 

187. The PHQ9 depression test scores for clients are taken at the start and end of 
the course of counselling with dramatic and positive results. Members noted 
that none of the clients referred to the service took their own lives during 
therapy with satisfaction levels above 95%. In terms of PHQ 9 scores, the 
most severe is 27 and after these sessions 90% of clients have scores under 
10. 
 

Page 189



40 

 

188. The project has been funded on an annual basis with the current contract 
running until March 2019. Whilst funding has not increased over the duration 
of the project, the number of referrals into the service is increasing with the 
largest number of referrals in a single month being 44. 
 

189. Members note the concerns around the funding of the project and the success 
of the rapid response suicide prevention counselling service. Key risks 
identified by members include the importance of rapid referral into specialised 
mental health services following counselling where this is identified as 
necessary. Members have heard anecdotal evidence from service users 
about the pressure that existing mental health crisis teams are facing, the 
ability to access crisis services and the impact that this has on the timeliness 
of required interventions. 
 

190. Reference has been made to the funding crisis in mental health services and 
the government promise for further investment in these services. However an 
integrated service is needed that addresses not just mental health but also 
contributing factors such as debt, housing need, social care, pain 
management, social isolation and employment. 
 

If u Care, Share Foundation 
 

191. The If U Care Share Foundation was established as a campaign in 2005 after 
the loss of a young man to suicide aged 19. It aims to provide prevention 
services, intervention and support after suicide. The service is linked to 
Durham Constabulary who offer referral into the service to those affected by 
suicide with services having grown due to an increase in demand for these 
services. 
 

192. As at March 2017, 658 people had been referred into the Foundation’s 
support after suicide service within County Durham after the loss of a loved 
one through suicide with 443 of these being female and 215 male. A further 
172 prevention referrals have also been made. 
 

193. The Foundation works at national and international level to raise awareness of 
suicide and suicide prevention. The Foundation provided evidence to the 
Government Health Select Committee on suicide prevention and this featured 
within the Committee’s interim report into Suicide Prevention published in 
December 2016. 
 

194. Key evidence provided to the parliamentary select Committee suggested that 
health professionals should consider how information about those who feel 
suicidal can be shared with families.  Whilst acknowledging the importance of 
patient confidentiality, it has been suggested that encouraging the option to 
involve a trusted family members or friend could improve support and aid 
recovery. 
 

195. The Foundation are members of the:- 
 

 National Suicide Prevention Strategy Advisory Group 

Page 190



41 

 

 All-party Parliamentary Group on Suicide and Self-harm prevention 

 Support after Suicide Partnership 

 International Association for Suicide prevention 

 The Alliance of Suicide prevention charities. 
 

196. The Foundation is a small organisation of 10 staff and volunteers who have 
been affected by suicide and have worked with over 14000 young people in 
respect of suicide prevention and mental health. Key issues identified by the 
Foundation during their work include:- 

 

 The importance and need for education services to highlight/promote 
the availability of mental health crisis and support services to children 
and young people; 

 The value of sharing lived experience stories with young people to 
encourage them to seek support and to increase awareness of the 
support that is available; 

 The need to provide mental health support and access to interventions 
at an early stage; 

 Concerns about the availability and sustainability of suicide prevention 
and support services in the ongoing climate of public sector funding 
cuts and government austerity measures; 

 The availability of IAPT (Improved Access to Psychological Therapies) 
services and the long waits to access these services. 

 
 
Single Homeless Action Initiative in Durham (SHAID) 
 
197. During the course of the Review, members of the working group have 

commented on the wider determinants of health and wellbeing, noting the 
importance of employment, housing accommodation and social interaction as 
contributing to positive mental health and wellbeing.  This report has 
previously identified that of the 190 deaths recorded in County Durham 
between 2012 and 2014, around 31% (59) were unemployed and in 34% (65) 
of cases the person lived alone at the time of death. 
 

198. SHAID  has worked with a number of priority groups identified as at risk of 
suicide including homeless people of all ages; women fleeing domestic 
violence; ex-Armed Forces homeless of all ages; LGBT clients; prison 
leavers; people with diagnosed mental health issues. 
 

199. Key support services offered by SHAID, include: pre-tenancy advice; social 
isolation navigation; floating support; Plan 4 Life / DurhamWorks; St Peter’s 
Court Armed Forces; Support Groups; Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner (PCVC) recidivism housing programme. 
 

200. The Working Group learned that 127 people had been helped with pre-
tenancy advice and other interventions such as negotiations with landlords to 
stop tenancies ending.  Other support included: access to furniture; securing 
energy suppliers; help in terms of accessing Housing Benefit and; challenging 
decisions from statutory services. 

Page 191



42 

 

 

201. Councillors were reminded of the issue of social isolation, with SHAID having 
set up a social isolation navigator which looked to help any people who were 
lonely or isolated within the Derwentside area.  It was explained that 187 
people were supported face-to-face, above the target of 100, and it was 
added that the service was not a wellbeing service rather it looked to help 
individuals enrich their lives.  Members noted many referral routes to the 
navigator with good buy-in from GPs, Pharmacists and the Police and Fire 
Service. 
 

202. SHAID were a partner in the DurhamWorks programme and have set up their 
“Plan 4 Life” programme which provides personal development training to 16-
24 year olds living in County Durham. It aims to help individuals broaden their 
aspirations and explore career prospects.  
 

203. SHAID have also assisted 175 ex-Armed Forces individuals to access 
accommodation at the St. Peter’s Court apartments, Sacriston. Tenants can 
stay for up to 2 years during which SHAID can offer tenants support and 
advice on issues such as funding avenues for training and employment as 
well as housing support to allow a tenant to more on to their own 
accommodation. 
 

204. Councillors learned of the work with LGBT clients, and how their specific 
group had integrated with the youth group and they have an excellent rapport, 
there being no stigma amongst the group.   

 
Central Durham Samaritans 
 
205. Members of the working group noted the vision of the Samaritans was that 

fewer people died by suicide and to bring about this vision they worked to 
make an impact through:- 

 

 Reducing the feelings of distress and despair that can lead to suicide 

 Increasing access to support for people in distress and crisis 

 Reducing the risk of suicide in specific settings and vulnerable groups 

 Influencing Governments and other agencies to take action to reduce 
suicide 

 
206. Notwithstanding the resilience of some people affected by thoughts of suicide, 

the Samaritans received a call every 6 seconds, and every 30 seconds from 
someone with suicidal feelings.  It was added that talking to someone and 
being listened to can help to give a sense of perspective and find solutions to 
problems.  Two-thirds of people did not like to burden others with their 
problems and the Samaritans were trained listeners available 24 hours a day, 
every day of the year and were confidential and listen without judging. 
 

207. Anyone could contract the Samaritans, by telephone, e-mail, text, letter or 
face-to-face and that encouraging people to talk about what was bothering 
them contributed to good mental wellbeing. People could speak to the 
Samaritans anonymously and even if they had given details, the Samaritans 

Page 192



43 

 

would not pass on their information to anyone else or intervene against their 
wishes. 
 

208. The Samaritans ethos was that a reduction in suicide comes from the actions 
of many different organisations working together and that they would provide 
information on other services that offered further support and help. It was 
noted that certain groups had a heighten vulnerability to suicide and that 
certain settings contributed to an increased suicide risk and therefore these 
situations required a tailored range of interventions.  The Samaritans offered 
training for those working in contact with vulnerable people and also to editors 
and journalists from national and local newspapers in terms of how to 
sensitively report suicides and sensitively depict the issue within television 
dramas. 
 

209. The Samaritans also work in partnership with Network Rail and the wider rail 
industry to help reduce suicide on the railways, post-vention advisors were 
also made available post-incident at stations to support passengers and staff. 
 

210. The work of the Samaritans in prisons, supporting and providing training for 
the last 25 years, including for “Listeners”, inmates that provided emotional 
support for fellow inmates was highlighted.  The Samaritans had many 
respected teaching materials, including Developing Emotional Awareness and 
Listening (DEAL) which was used by professionals.  The organisation also 
delivered talks to young people in schools, colleges and youth settings to offer 
advice on looking after emotional health and had a national team of specially 
trained volunteers that could go into schools and colleges affected by suicide. 
 

211. Samaritans worked to support those bereaved by suicide through “Facing the 
Future”, in partnership with Cruse Bereavement Care. The Samaritans also 
work with the Police in terms of a missing people partnership, to reach out to 
those who are missing at risk of suicide.  Samaritans also work to support 
those from the Armed Forces with issues such as Post-Traumatic Stress 
Disorder (PTSD) and that the Samaritans had worked with politicians to drive 
policy change, including the “Five Year Forward View for Mental Health” by 
the Mental Health Task Force, a key report outlining recommendations for the 
NHS and Government to improve mental health in England. 
 

Conclusions 
 

212. The Community and Voluntary sector have a huge role to play in improving 
health and wellbeing of the population of County Durham and the review has 
heard evidence from a range of CVS organisations. This highlighted positive 
practice across the County aimed at suicide prevention and tackling some of 
the wider determinants of health which can adversely impact upon a person’s 
mental health and wellbeing including relationship breakdown, loss of 
employment, access to housing, financial hardship and education and 
training.  

 

Page 193



44 

 

213. Their ability to continue to deliver projects, services and interventions during 
what has been a prolonged period of austerity and funding pressures has 
been identified by the CVS organisations engaged in the review as a concern. 
 

214. It is therefore important that an assessment of the effectiveness of CVS 
services and projects which addresses suicide prevention and improved 
mental health and wellbeing is undertaken to enable resources to be targeted 
to those which demonstrate that the necessary outcomes have been delivered 

 
Recommendation seven 

 
215. An audit of current health and wellbeing support and services within the 

Community and Voluntary sector be undertaken to evaluate their 
effectiveness and enable resources to be targeted at those interventions 
where demonstrable outcomes for improved mental health and wellbeing and 
reduced suicide risk are evident. 

 
  

Page 194



45 

 

No Health without Mental 
Health Objective 

 
Local Priorities 

APPENDIX 1 
Lead Group 

 
1. More people will have 

good mental health 
 
More people of all ages 
and back grounds will have 
better wellbeing and good 
mental health. Fewer 
people of will develop 
mental health problems – 
by starting well, developing 
well, working well, living 
well and ageing well. 
 

1.1 
Undertake and assessment of the mental health needs of the population 
of County Durham 
 

Public Mental Health 
Strategy 
Implementation Group 

1.2 
Develop and implement programmes to increase resilience and wellbeing 
through practical support on healthy lifestyles 
 

Public Mental Health 
Strategy 
Implementation Group 

1.3 
Develop an Integrated Primary Care Model for Access to talking therapies 
 

Mental Health Care 
Delivery Working 
Group 

1.4 
The development and implementation of the Children and Young People’s 
Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing Plan 
 

Children and Young 
People’s Mental Health 
and Emotional 
Wellbeing Group 

1.5 
Implement the multi-agency Public Mental Health and Suicide Prevention 
Strategy for County Durham 
 

Children and Young 
People’s Mental Health 
and Emotional 
Wellbeing Group 

 

2. More people with 
mental health 
problems will recover 

 

More people who develop 
mental health problems will 
have a good quality of life 
– greater ability to manage 

2.1 
Work together to find ways that will support the armed services 
community who have poor mental or physical health 
 

Mental Health Care 
Delivery Group 

2.2 
Ensure that people using mental health services who are in employment 
have a care plan that reflects the additional support needed to help them 
retain this employment 
 

Mental Health Care 
Delivery Group 

P
age 195



46 

 

their own lives, stronger 
social relationships, a 
greater sense of purpose, 
the skills they need for 
living and working, 
improved chances in 
education, better 
employment rates and a 
suitable and stable place 
to live. 

2.3 
Implement the Recovery College to offer training opportunities for people 
with mental health difficulties to gain a better understanding of their 
difficulties and how to manage them as well as providing opportunities to 
learn from others with similar experiences 
 

New Recovery Working 
Group 

2.4 
Ensure that all services adopt a Recovery orientated approach and use 
validated recovery measure to evaluate outcomes. By using relevant 
recovery related Patient Reported Experience Measures (PREMs) and 
Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) enables service providers 
and service users to evaluate progress 
 

New Recovery Working 
Group 

2.5 
Explore opportunities to embed co-production and peer support models 
within contracts 
 

All Groups to contribute 

2.6 
Ongoing monitoring and awareness of the financial challenges and how 
the welfare reforms impact on the ability to access services 
 

Public Mental Health 
Strategy 
Implementation Group 

2.7 
Ensure service users and their carers have access to NICE 
recommended guidance and evidence based interventions 
 

All Groups to contribute 

 
3. More people with 

mental health 

3.1 
Develop a more integrated response for people with both mental and 
physical health conditions 

Mental Health Care 
Delivery Group 

P
age 196



47 

 

problems will have 
good physical health 

 
Fewer people with mental 
health problems will die 
prematurely, and more 
people with physical ill 
health will have better 
mental health 
 

3.2 
Provide a wide range of physical activity opportunities across County 
Durham to support more active lifestyles 

Public Mental Health 
Strategy 
Implementation Group 

3.3 
Ensure that people with mental health conditions have their physical 
health needs actively addressed 
 

Mental Health Care 
Delivery Group 

 
4. More people will have 

a positive experience 
of care and support 

 
Care and support, 
wherever it takes place, 
should offer access to 
timely, evidence based 
interventions and 
approaches that give 
people the greatest choice 
and control over their own 
lives, in the least restrictive 
environment, and should 
ensure that people’s 
human rights are 
protected. 
 

4.1 
Continue to improve access to psychological therapies and other 
interventions 
 

Mental Health Care 
Delivery Group 

4.2 
Improve the experience of hospital discharge processes 

Mental Health Care 
Delivery Group 

4.3 
Through co-production involve individuals and carers more closely in 
decisions about the shape of future service provision 
 

All Groups to update 

4.4 
Work together to give people greater choice and control over the services 
they purchase and the care that they receive 
 

All Groups to update 

4.5 
Improve awareness of the range of service provision available to General 
Practices and improve the accessibility and uptake to these services 
 

Mental Health Care 
Delivery Group 

4.6 
Development and Implementation of the County Durham Dual Needs 
Strategy 

Dual Needs Strategy 
Implementation Group P

age 197



48 

 

 
5. Fewer people will 

suffer avoidable harm 
 
People receiving care and 
support should have the 
confidence that the 
services they use are of 
the highest quality and at 
least as safe as any other 
public service 

5.1 
To co-ordinate a local response to the Crisis Care Concordat 
 

Mental Health Crisis 
Care Concordat Task 
Group 

5.2 
To develop a more extensive, accessible crisis team 

Mental Health Care 
Delivery Group 

5.3 
To ensure close working with all Co. Durham partnership groups that 
have an impact on mental health issues 

Public Mental Health 
Strategy 
Implementation Group 

 
6. Fewer people will 

experience stigma and 
discrimination 

 
Public understanding of 
mental health will improve 
and , as a result, negative 
attitudes and behaviours to 
people with mental health 
problems will decrease 
 

6.1 
Work with the voluntary and community sector to develop opportunities 
for early identification of those people at risk of social isolation 
 

Public Mental Health 
Strategy 
Implementation Group 

6.2 
Undertake local campaigns to raise awareness as well as taking an active 
part in any regional or national campaigns 

Public Mental Health 
Strategy 
Implementation Group 

P
age 198



49 

 

 

 

Page 199



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

30 January 2019 

Sustainable Primary Care Services 

   

Report of Joseph Chandy, Director of Primary Care, North Durham 

Clinical Commissioning Group and Durham Dales, Easington and 

Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board 
with an update on challenges faced by general practices and initiatives 
being taken forward to support sustainability and transformation of 
general practice primary care in Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group (DDES CCG) and North 
Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (ND CCG), in line with national 
policy and local strategy. 

Executive summary 

1. Primary care is often described as the ‘front door of the NHS’ and 
provides patients with community-based access to medical services for 
advice, prescriptions, treatment or referral, usually through a General 
Practitioner (GP) or nurse. General practice is the first point of contact 
with the NHS for most people. Other primary care providers include 
dentists, community pharmacists and optometrists. It has been 
estimated that around 90 per cent of interactions in the NHS take place 
in primary care. 
 

2. NHS DDES CCG and NHS ND CCG are clinically-led organisations 
made up of their respective member GP practices. DDES CCG is 
currently made up of 37 GP practices with a total registered practice 
population of 292,701. ND CCG is currently made up of 30 GP 
practices; the total registered practice population is 262,686. A 
breakdown of practices and list sizes for each CCG is included in 
Appendix 2.  
 

3. Commissioning responsibility for general practice services now sits with 
the CCGs who have taken on delegated responsibility from NHS 
England. This provides an opportunity to integrate general practice into 
the wider health and social care system and to give greater flexibility 

Page 201

Agenda Item 12



and influence at a local level over the way in which services are 
delivered to patients. 
 

4. General practice, both nationally and locally, is under pressure due to 
rising demand for GP appointments, growing complexity of need, 
changing patients’ expectations, high expectations of policy makers and 
politicians and constrained financial resources. 
 

5. GP practices have entered into an at scale arrangements with other 
practices, known as Federations. In total there are six Federations 
across County Durham. Federations offer an opportunity for practices to 
work more collaboratively, at greater scale, with the view to share costs 
and resources (for instance, workforce or facilities) and bid for 
enhanced services contracts. Federations or GP networks are 
increasingly being viewed as a vital part of the future of general 
practice. 

Recommendation(s) 

6. Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to:  
 

a) Receive the report, recognising the challenge faced by general 
practices and the work being undertaken to support sustainability 
and transformation, aligned to national and local strategy, to improve 
services for the patients/local residents. 

 

National Context 

 

7. GP practices face many challenges. The number of people with long-
term conditions has grown sharply, as have advances in medical care 
and treatment - keeping more people well for longer. Workload has 
increased substantially in recent years and has not been matched by 
growth in either funding or in workforce. This situation has been further 
compounded by initiatives to move care from hospitals to the 
community; in addition primary care is taking on an increasingly central 
role in the access to and coordination of a wide range of social and 
medical services that support wellbeing. Practices are finding it 
increasingly difficult to recruit and retain GPs and are seeing this trend 
extend to other members of the primary care team, such as nurses and 
practice managers. 

 
8. To address some of these national challenges, the NHS Five Year 

Forward View, published in October 2014, set out the direction of future 
healthcare, and put forward a number of new innovative models of care 
which encourage integration and a patient centred approach to delivery 
of care across a geographic population. The report recognises the vital 
role which primary care plays at the heart of the NHS, and outlines the 

Page 202

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf


need for improvement and innovation, including an ambition to improve 
access and deliver more personalised, proactive and co-ordinated care. 
 

9. The General Practice Forward View published in April 2016 sets out 
NHS England's approach to strengthening general practice and service 
transformation. The report details plans to enable CCGs to commission 
and fund additional capacity across England to ensure that, by 2020 
everyone has improved access to GP services including sufficient 
routine appointments at evenings and weekends to meet locally 
determined demand, alongside effective access to out of hours and 
urgent care services. The report also details 10 high impact changes to 
help release time for care (more detail is offered in Appendix 3).  

 

10. NHS Long Term Plan published in January 2019, emphasises a shift of 
focus away from hospitals and towards community and primary care; 
reshaping ‘the NHS around the changing needs of patients’. The Long 
Term Plan also acknowledges challenges around funding, staffing, 
increasing inequalities and pressures from a growing and ageing 
population. The plan sets out how the NHS will move to a new service 
model in which patients get more options, better support and properly 
joined up care at the right time in the optimal setting. 

 
Local Strategic Delivery 

11. CCGs in County Durham have developed a General Practice Primary 
Care Strategy for each of their respective areas. The latest published 
versions of the CCGs primary care strategies can be found below: 

 DDES CCG Primary Care Strategy Refresh (September 2016) 

 North Durham CCG Primary Care Strategy Refresh (2016)  
 

12. Each strategy aims to ensure the sustainability of general practice in 
light of the challenges, building on existing strengths and ensuring safe, 
effective and high quality care.  

 

13. Whilst CCGs have separate strategy documents, common areas of 
delivery underpinning system transformation include: improving access 
to general practice; workforce sustainability; workload/resilience; and 
care redesign linked to the integration agenda and digital infrastructure.  
 

Improving Access to General Practice   

14. Improving access to GP appointments is one of the main elements of 
the national NHS England strategy to support and improve primary care 
services.  

Page 203

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/gpfv.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan.pdf
https://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2018/01/Primary-Care-Strategy-FINAL-for-website-13.09.2016.pdf
https://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/vision-for-primary-care-in-north-durham/


Extended access is the term given to appointments with GPs or nurses 

outside of normal opening hours, which may include evenings or at 

weekends.  

Extended access is about giving patients the convenience and choice to 

have an appointment at a time that better suits their particular needs. 

Extended GP access means more appointments for patients will help 

those patients who struggle to find an appointment to fit in with work and 

family life. 

15. In DDES CCG, seven day access is provided by hubs spread across 
the geography; with additional GP access replacing walk in centres. The 
hubs offer additional appointments beyond 18:00 on weekdays and 
additional appointments on a Saturday and Sunday.  Patients can 
access these appointments via NHS 111. GP extended access forms 
part of their current review of access to urgent care services which is 
currently out to consultation.  
 

16. Patients across North Durham are able to access GP extended access 
appointments.  GPs in central Durham, Chester-Le-Street and 
Derwentside are working together to offer extra GP appointments from 
18:30 on weekday evenings as well as Saturday and Sunday 
mornings.  Patients call their surgery to book any available evening and 
weekend GP appointments. Patients can also access these 
appointments via NHS 111. 

 

Care Navigation  

 
17. Care Navigation offers individuals choice by providing information to 

help them move through health and social care services and access the 
support that is right for them. Care Navigation in County Durham 
involves members of GP practice teams being trained to support 
patients by signposting them to the most appropriate professional or 
service. This is being implemented to help patients ensure they receive 
the right care, first time and as efficiently as possible. Care Navigation 
provides a link between patients in primary care with sources of support 
within the community to help improve their health and wellbeing. 
 

18. In the first phase of implementation, practice staff received training 
between June and September 2018 around the scheme and six service 
provider pathways including:  
 

 Smoking Cessation; 

 Sexual Health 

 Community Pharmacy; 

 Citizens Advice Bureau (e.g. benefits and evidence claims); 

Page 204



 Wellbeing for Life (e.g. weight loss support); and 

 Ophthalmology Services (DDES).  
 

19. The second phase of implementation, practice staff will receive further 
training on personal resilience; confidence building; how to deal with 
difficult people; stress management and time management skills. An 
additional six pathways will also be developed and implemented.  

  

20. The Care Navigation programme is being independently evaluated by 
Healthwatch Durham; report findings are anticipated in March 2019.  

 

Challenges in the general practice workforce in County Durham 

21. Faced with an ageing population living with increasingly complex health 
needs and a chronic shortage of GPs and nursing staff, primary care is 
experiencing unprecedented pressure, including recruitment and 
retention issues. The current total percentage of full time equivalent 
general practice staff eligible to retire (i.e. 55 plus) within the next 10 
years across all staff groups is 24% in DDES and 27% in North 
Durham; this includes 24% of GPs working in DDES practices and 21% 
of GPs in North Durham (Quarter 2, 2018/19 Heath Education England 
Primary Care Workforce report). 

 

22. Workforce transformation based around new models of care and ‘skill-
mix’ change is developing but not without challenges. Whilst practice 
nurses have been working in extended roles in general practice for 
some time other ‘new’ roles are emerging e.g. physician associates. 
Existing professionals roles are also operating in new ways to release 
the capacity of GPs e.g. paramedics. These new roles and ways of 
working have brought workforce expectations e.g. reluctance to work 
remotely and without available support within the same branch. The 
success of local general practice in the future will also rely on the 
development of the wider, non-clinical workforce. 

 

23. General practice skill mix across DDES CCG and North Durham CCG 
varies with a higher proportion of Advanced Nurse Practitioners in 
DDES practices and a lower number of GPs, with a slightly higher 
proportion of GPs and significantly less Advanced Nurse Practitioners in 
North Durham in Quarter 2, 2018/19. A breakdown of the headcount 
and full-time equivalent (FTE) by staff group for each CCG is included in 
Appendix 4. 

 

 

 

 

Page 205



Workforce Sustainability 

 

24. DDES CCG and North Durham CCG have worked collaboratively to 
develop a five point plan specifically to respond to the primary care 
workforce challenge. The five point plan was designed to provide 
additional support for the GP workforce and includes the following 
initiatives: 
 

(i) GP Career Start Scheme: This initiative is aimed at attracting 
GPs who are looking for the opportunity to take up a post in 
general practice at an early point in their career and offers them 
the chance for ‘added value’ personal development e.g. medical 
student teaching, minor surgery, etc., as well as benefit from a 
mentorship programme whilst at the same time trying to expand 
the role of primary care within the local health economy. This 
approach fits with the General Practice Forward View in terms of 
workforce expansion and the vision to deliver an extra 5,000 
additional doctors in the UK working in general practice by 2020. 
The scheme, run in partnership with Health Education North East 
(HENE), has proved successful in expanding the GP workforce, 
with over 40 GPs recruited across County Durham since the 
scheme commenced in DDES in 2015 and North Durham in 
2016. 

 

(ii) Federated Salaried GPs: The CCGs are continuing to work with 
federations to design and develop federated employed GPs who 
will work into practices.  

 

(iii) International Recruitment: The international recruitment 
programme, hosted by NHS England, aims to recruit primary care 
clinicians from overseas, providing support to doctors making this 
challenging transition from other countries whilst providing 
reassurance to the recruiting practice that the doctor who joins 
them will be a valued member of their team. Nationally the 
number of candidates coming through the scheme has been low; 
14 candidates have been confirmed across England, with five 
being in the North region. The central NHS England team are 
looking at other strategies to help to increase numbers and 
overcome barriers for candidates. 

 

(iv) GP Resilience Scheme: The scheme, led by NHS England, aims 
to deliver a menu of support that will help practices to become 
more sustainable and resilient, better placed to tackle the 
challenges they face now and into the future, and securing 
continuing high quality care for patients. In 2016/17 there was 
£16m available to be invested in support to help practices 

Page 206



become more sustainable and resilient, with £8m available in 
2017/18 and per year thereafter until March 2020. GP practices 
and Federations submit an application to the CCG and NHS 
England for funding.  Those bids must meet the criteria set by 
NHS England. 

 

(v) GP Retention Scheme: This is a Health Education England 
scheme, which offers a package of financial and educational 
support to help doctors, who might otherwise leave the 
profession, remain in clinical general practice.  The CCG 
identified those GPs who in the next five years would retire from 
the NHS.  The primary care team work with those clinicians to 
support revalidation, provide training and development with the 
potential to extend employment within the NHS. 

 

25. Whilst the above focus on GP workforce, the CCGs also have a Career 
Start scheme for Practice Nurses. The scheme offers an individually 
structured training programme for nurses wishing to pursue a career 
within Primary Care. 
 

26. The Community Education Provider Network (CEPN), covering the 
geography of County Durham, supports workforce development around 
the population needs, using a network arrangement of education and 
service providers. The CEPN supports workforce planning; education 
quality; faculty development; a respond to local workforce needs; 
workforce development; primary care placements and training; 
education programme co-ordination and CCG and local authority 
engagement. The membership consists of all the Federations and the 
CCGs. It is representative of all Practices. The CEPN has supported the 
implementation of care navigation, practice manager training and nurse 
training.  
 

Identifying and Supporting Vulnerable Practices  

 

27. DDES CCG and North Durham CCG continue to work with the Local 
Medical Committee on the development of a Practice Sustainability 
Tool. The tool is a qualitative method of assessing vulnerability in 
general practice, the primary reason for this is to provide evidence of 
sustainability issues.  
 

28. The first section of the tool draws upon information already available 
through NHS England and Health Education England with a significant 
amount already being in the public domain. The second voluntary 
section of the tool is completed by the practice and is overlaid with a 
series of operational questions that have a bearing on practice 

Page 207



resilience. Criteria within the tool are summarised below; however it 
should be noted these are in process of being refined. 

 

Practice Sustainability Tool Scoring Criteria  

SECTION 1 

CCG completion  

SECTION 2 

General practice completion  

 CQC rating: inadequate; requires 
improvement 

 Primary Care Web Tool: approaching review 
or review identified 

 Number of GP Partners and salaried GPs 

 Number of patients per FTE GP 

 Number of patients per FTE Advanced Nurse 
Practitioner 

 QOF % achievement 

 Referral or prescribing performance 
compared to CCG average 

 GP Patient Survey: Overall, how would you 
describe your experience of your GP 
practice? (% Good); ease of getting through 
by telephone 

 List closure, including application to close list 
 

 Clinical sessions per week 

 GP employment 

 GP retirement plans 

 GP exit interviews 

 GP training posts 

 Individual professional performance issues 

 Professional isolation 

 Practice leadership issues   

 Significant practice changes 

 Practice branch surgeries 

 Buildings –fit for purpose 

 

29. Once identified ‘vulnerable’, the CCG will work with the practice on a 
tailored offer of support, appropriate to the identified needs.  
 

30. Some examples of work around practice vulnerability include: 

 developing a package of support for practice mergers, particularly 
relevant to those practices experiencing difficulty in continuing to 
manage their patient register and contracting obligations due to 
GP shortage and long term GP vacancies; 

 encouraging practices to share any emerging issues (e.g. staff 
resource) with their CCG at an early stage so we can work 
together to provide the right support, as soon as possible; 

 support around management of workload; 

 approaching practices assessed as being more resilient, to see if 
there would be willing to offer support to less resilient practices; 

 facilitating and establishing a register of GP practices and 
Federations to share their experience and learning e.g. pre CQC 
advice and practice improvement; development of significant 
event process; clinical meeting templates; policies and 
procedures; practice mergers and leadership; and 

 benchmarking the CCG offer of support to general practice, with 
other CCGs to determine if further actions can be taken to 
promote sustainability. 

 

 

Page 208



Workload/Resilience 

 

31. Nationally, GP workload has grown hugely, both in volume and 
complexity. Population changes account for some of this increase, but 
changes in medical technology and new ways of treating patients also 
play a role. 

 

32. In the 12 month rolling reporting period, from November 2017 to 
October 2018, the total number of booked appointments in DDES 
practices was 1,841,272. In the same reporting period there were a total 
of 1,466,274 booked appointments recorded for practices in North 
Durham CCG. DDES CCG has seen more GP practice appointments 
than North Durham CCG which is likely due to their increased 
registered population. The County Durham total number of booked 
appointments is 3,307,546. Of this number total number, 3,177,555 
appointments were seen; resulting in ‘did not attend’ (DNA) rate of 
3.9%. 

 

33. DNA appointments have an enormous impact on the healthcare system 
in terms of increasing both costs and waiting times.  More than 15 
million general practice appointments are wasted each year because 
patients do not turn up and fail to warn surgeries that they will not be 
attending. Each appointment costs an average of £30, putting the cost 
to the NHS at more than £216 million on top of the disruption for staff 
and fellow patients1. 
 

34. The CCGs are indirectly supporting practices with workload, by 
promoting key messages to the public around self-care support and 
accessing appropriate services; also cancelling appointments when no 
longer needed, to enable appointment slots to be maximised. Self-care 
support and reducing DNAs are both high impact changes for releasing 
time for care. 
 

35. Applying findings within the Making Time in General Practice, of the 
total 3,177,555 seen appointments in County Durham across a 12 
month period, it has been estimated that 635,511 appointments may 
have been ‘avoidable’ and could have been seen outside of general 
practice. Schemes such as Care Navigation, which appropriately 
signposts patients, to an alternative pathway should help in reducing 
‘avoidable’ appointments. Active signposting is one of the 10 high 
impact changes to release time for care. 
 
 

 

                                         
1 https://www.england.nhs.uk/2019/01/missed-gp-appointments-costing-nhs-millions/ 

Page 209

https://www.primarycarefoundation.co.uk/images/PrimaryCareFoundation/Downloading_Reports/PCF_Press_Releases/Making-Time-in_General_Practice_FULL_REPORT_28_10_15.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/2019/01/missed-gp-appointments-costing-nhs-millions/


Care Redesign 

 

How will Primary Care Home (PCH) and Team Around Patients (TAPs) 

support transformation / sustainability? 

 

36. The NHS Long Term Plan aims to accelerate the redesign of patient 
care to future-proof the NHS for the decade ahead.  Integral to this is 
the development of Primary Care Networks to support the aspiration of 
fully integrated community-based health care.  The CCGs in County 
Durham have already commenced on this journey, beginning with the 
development of Teams Around Patients (TAPs) and then Primary Care 
Home (PCH). 

 

37. The Team Around Patients model is the wrapping of community based 
services for groups of populations of between 30,000 and 50,000. The 
focus is on frail elderly and patients with long term conditions. The 
model aims to pool community and virtual social care budgets to 
support integration of primary, community, social care and voluntary 
sector. The strengths of the model are the development of resilient 
partnerships and local coordination of resources. 

 

38. The National Association of Primary Care (NAPC)2 developed the 
Primary Care Home (PCH) programme to inspire and support general 
practice to integrate with the wider health and social care workforce. 
PCH is a provider of services based in a community setting, but 
incorporates some appropriate secondary care services and personnel 
and so enables primary care, community health and social care 
professionals to work in partnership with hospital-based specialists. A 
detailed understanding of the needs of the registered population (and 
therefore the expected volume and type of workload) will enable the 
creation of the right team at the outset who can then strengthen their 
efforts on maximising efficiency in the deployment of care resources 
and specifically in the ‘provide or refer’ decisions with their patients. 

 

39. The four core characteristics of the PCH model are:  

 a combined focus on personalisation of care and population 
health;  

 an integrated workforce with partnerships spanning primary, 
secondary, mental health, community care, social care and the 
voluntary sector;  

 aligned clinical and financial drivers that allow for shared risks 
and rewards between partners; and  

 provision of care to a registered population of between 30,000 
and 50,000. 

                                         
2 http://napc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Primary_Care_Home_Evaluation_of_the_Model.pdf 

Page 210

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan.pdf
http://napc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Primary_Care_Home_Evaluation_of_the_Model.pdf


40. In 2016 the Health and Wellbeing Board tasked Chief Officers of the 
County Council, NHS Commissioners and NHS Trusts to explore 
opportunities for the further integration of services. County Durham had 
a long history of integrated working. However, this had not previously 
involved primary care.  Subsequent to the challenge from the Health 
and Wellbeing Board a new NHS community specification was 
developed with primary care at the centre. Our approach of Teams 
Around Patients (TAPs) was specifically aimed at integration at a 
practice and community level.  To ensure buy-in of primary care, 
practices were asked to group together in populations of 30,000 and 
50,000 to form PCHs.   

 

41. A Director of Integration was appointed in early 2017 and a programme 
approach was taken to developing PCHs with teams aligned to primary 
care.  This process was overseen by an Integrated Care Board (ICB) 
comprising Chief Officers from the respective partner organisations.  
The ICB incorporates the Integrated Care Partnership (was Accountable 
Care Network) and Accountable Care Partnership and reports to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. The governance structure is included in 
Appendix 5. 

 

42. The first eight PCHs were established in DDES CCG in 2017 and the 
second group of five was established in North Durham CCG in 2018.  
This has ensured true partnership working with general practice at the 
heart of patient coordination with regular meetings of practices and 
representatives of the partners.   

 

43. The Director of Integrated Community Service’s role was made 
permanent in 2018 and now oversees the management of all services 
aligned to PCH/TAPs on behalf of the partners. 

 

What has been achieved so far? 

44. Examples of key achievements in PCHs in DDES are: 

 PCH Leads have been recruited in all eight PCHs;  

 all practices are signed up to a gain/share risk scheme; 

 reward is directly linked to practice performance; 

 incentive is set aside by CCG; 

 rapid specialist opinion schemes are in place; 

 intranet of guidelines have been developed; and 

 the block contract is now agreed with the main providers. 
 

45. Some of the key achievements specific to TAPs in North Durham are: 

 community nursing teams have been configured in TAPs following 
formal procurement process; 

Page 211



 a GP lead and senior (Band 7) nurse are jointly co-ordinating TAPs 
as a multi-agency group; 

 social care and voluntary sector represented;  

 GP practices having a relationship with community colleagues;  

 practices multi-disciplinary teams (MDTs) commenced with a new 
pathway for cohorting; and 

 notional budgets with all community nursing and therapy staff have 
been given to each TAPs. 

 

How does this help with transformation and sustainability? 

46. The development of PCHs has encouraged the closer working of these 
independent businesses at a neighbourhood level. The development of 
Practice Based Budget/Fair Funding Schemes is encouraging peer 
working.  It is supported by CCGs providing regular comprehensive 
dashboards which inform each individual PCH where they need to 
focus, encouraging a more efficient targeted approach for improving 
care, meeting the specific needs of their local population.   

 

47. The benefits of this approach are sharing of workload and resources, 
including back office and staffing; acceleration of closer working; 
simplification of local enhanced services contract into a single 
community contract; rewarding practices for managing demand and 
disincentives for uncontrolled budgets; reducing bureaucracy and 
offering stability in year to general practice.  

 

48. An example of the increased collaboration between GP practices is 
where a practice was recently put into special measures. There was a 
collective response from neighbouring practices in the PCH for support. 
This resulted in a signed consultancy contract with neighbour as a ‘Turn 
Around Team’. 

 

49. Progress of this will now be accelerated as the December 2018 NHS 
Operating Framework is proposing to mandate GP practices to 
contractually sign up to being a PCH (Network) member. 

 

Digital infrastructure 

50. A range of digital approaches are being implemented to support new 
models of care in general practice. 

 

(i) E-Consultations: Following a procurement exercise with 
neighbouring CCGs leading to contract awarded. The software, 
named eConsult, offers an online triage and consultation tool and 
is proving to be an effective means to increase patient access. 
Fifteen pilot sites have been identified across North Durham CCG 

Page 212



and DDES CCG and work began in September 2018.  Full role 
out to other interested practices will begin from March 2019. The 
latest figures below show the savings made by the five practices 
that were live during the month of November 2018. 

 

Visits 

290 

Unique visitors 

265 

Self-help visits 

35 

Pharmacy 

self-help visits 

10 

Call service provider 

visits 

5 

eConsults submitted 

60 

eConsults diverted  

to other services 

1 

Attempts to save 

appointment 

47 

Estimated appointments 

saved 

36 

   

(ii) Online access to primary care clinical records in care 
homes: All SystmOne practices across DDES CCG, subject to 
patient consent, have opened up access to the full detailed 
patient record using the proxy functionality in SystmOne. This 
gives nursing staff in care homes the ability to view up-to-date 
clinical information for the first time at the point of care. EMIS 
practices will follow when developments to their clinical system 
are complete. North Durham practices will open up their records 
from April 2019. 

 

(iii) Access to primary care clinical records in 13 North East 
Trusts: All GP practices across North Durham CCG and DDES 
CCGs are sharing patient records (subject to patient consent) 
with the 13 North East Trusts using the Medical Interoperability 
Gateway (MIG).  This gives trust staff access to up-to-date clinical 
information at the point of care for the first time.  

 

(iv) Electronic hospital correspondence: All acute trusts are 
working to send transfer of care documentation electronically to 
GP practices by 31 March 2019, in line with the national directive.  
Examples includes: inpatient/day case discharge letters; 
emergency care discharge letters; outpatient letters and radiology 
reports. All DDES and North Durham practices are now 
configured to receive this information electronically and work is 
underway to resolve ad hoc technical issues. 

Page 213



(v) Health and Social Care Network Implementation / CoIN 
Dissolution: The existing N3 network is currently being replaced 
with the Health and Social Care Network (HSCN) framework.  
This will ensure a minimum of 20MB bandwidth allocation at 
every GP practice, replacing all of the slower links in rural areas.  
All GP practices will benefit from a faster connection which will 
reduce delays currently experienced. 

 
(vi) Veteran health support: DDES CCG practices are piloting an 

online support tool specifically aimed at offering guidance to 
military veterans.  NHS England intends to offer this nationally 
once the pilot is completed. 

 

Stakeholder Engagement 

51. As part of the primary care strategy delivery the CCGs continue to 
engage with the local community regarding general practice primary 
care services through the existing engagement model, which includes 
Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) and the Patient, Public and Carer 
Engagement Committee (PPCEC).  

 

52. PPGs in many practices play a big part in being advocates in using 
primary care appropriately and act as champions to spread the 
message about ensuring booked appointments are used or cancelled. 
There are examples of PPGs writing in patient newsletters to 
emphasise this and also in developing other materials for waiting rooms 
which often include the costs of missed appointments which they think 
is powerful to share.  PPGs are also working with local pharmacies to 
promote their services. 

 

53. The CCGs will continue work with PPGs over the coming year 
specifically looking at primary care and how we can increase awareness 
of different roles within primary care to try and encourage a change in 
culture including a focus on self-management. PPGs are included as 
part of the Primary Care Quality Scheme, with the potential to 
encourage peer dialogue and to change culture regarding the usage of 
general practice primary care services. 

 

54. CCG representatives regularly attend Practice Manager meetings and 
members of the CCG Senior Team ensure regular dialogue with 
practices via a range of methods including practice visits, newsletters 
and practice wide meetings. 

 

 

 

 

Page 214



Quality Assurance 

55. The role of the Care Quality Commissions (CQC) is to make sure health 
and social care services provide people with safe, effective, 
compassionate, high-quality care and encourage care services to 
improve. 

 

56. The latest Care Quality Commission (CQC) published ratings for the 
vast majority of DDES CCG and North Durham CCG general practices 
are positive, with most practices rated ‘overall’ as good; performing well 
and meeting CQC expectations (see table below). The majority of the 
five inspection areas (safe, effective, caring, responsive and well-led) 
and specific services are also rated as good across general practice in 
both CCGs. This provides significant assurance on the quality of patient 
care, safety and experience across general practice in DDES and North 
Durham. 
 

Rating North East % 

North 

Durham 

CCG 

% 

DDES 

CCG 

% 

Outstanding 22 8.6 3 10 2 6 

Good  225 87.5 25 80 30 88 

Requires 

Improvemen

t 

8 3.1 3 10 

 

1 

 

3 

Inadequate  2 0.8 0 0 1 3 

Total  257 100% 31 100% 34 100% 

 
57. South Dene Medical Centre, Shinwell Medical Group (East Durham 

Medical Group) was rated ‘overall’ as outstanding on their most recent 
CQC visits. A number of other DDES CCG practices have been rated 
as outstanding for specific inspection areas. In North Durham, Great 
Lumley Surgery, Consett Medical Centre and Stanley Medical Centre all 
received an ‘overall’ rating of outstanding at their most recent CQC visit. 
With two North Durham practices receiving ratings of outstanding for 
specific inspection areas. 

 

58. A small number of practices have been rated by the CQC as ‘overall’ 
requiring improvement (the service is not performing as well as it should 
and the CQC have told the service how it must improve) in their latest 
CQC published reports. Station Road Surgery (DDES CCG) and 

Page 215



Bowburn Medical Centre, The Lavender Centre (Dr Hall) and Gardiner 
Cresent Surgery in North Durham. Phoenix Medical Group (DDES 
CCG) was inspected by the CQC in 2018 and received an ‘overall’ 
rating of inadequate, with four inspection areas also rated as 
inadequate. DDES CCG and North Durham CCG have provided and 
continue to provide support to general practices in both CCGs that have 
been rated by the CQC as requiring improvement or inadequate. 

 

59. The Royal College of General Practitioners (RCGP) has extensive 
experience in supporting practices in difficulty and quality assessment. 
In 2017, the RCGP introduced practice-funded ‘resilience support’ 
providing preventative interventions, though many practices seeking 
individual help continue to be those in ‘special measures’. Practices are 
able to seek support, via the RCGP central team who provide a guide to 
the process, agree partnership arrangements and a potential budget, 
and sign a ‘memorandum of understanding’. Deputy program leads 
scope the intervention e.g. local collaboration, background issues, 
specific targets, and personnel needs. Within two weeks, appointed 
advisors contact the practice and agree visit arrangements. The 
practice/ CCG agrees intended outputs and length of intervention at the 
visit/ or after the ‘diagnostic report’. 
 

Investment in General Practice Primary Care Services 

60. The General Practice Five Year Forward View indicates that there 
would be increases in CCG funding to general practice at least equal to 
and ideally more than the increases in CCG allocations.  
 

61. There is commitment from the CCGs to support primary care, and the 
table below provides a breakdown of the 2018/19 investment forecast 
out-turn in primary care by CCG; the County Durham total is 
£93,944,000. 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 216



62. Explanatory notes on the investment lines are as follows: 
 

 Primary Care Delegated Budgets:  
o General Medical Services (GMS) is a national contract and 

payments are in line with the Statement of Financial 
Entitlement;  

o Primary Medical Services (PMS) is a local contract and 
payments are in line with the Statement of Financial 
Entitlement;  

o Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF) covers clinical and public 
health, practices can chose to provide this service; 

o Enhanced services covers payments made to practices who 
provide extended hours, minor surgery, learning disability, 
dementia, extended patient choice and unplanned admissions;  

o Premises costs relate to rent, rates and water and are paid in 
line with the GMS/PMS directions; and 

o Other GP services relate to payments for seniority, needles 
and syringes, interpretation, locums and suspended GP’s.  

 

 Primary Care Scheme: relates to the Practice Based Budget 
schemes within both CCGs - the purpose of the schemes are to 
increase investment in primary care/community services and reduce 
variation in spend between practices; 
 

 Extended Access: relates to services agreed by the Local Area 
Delivery Board (LADB), funded from CCG resilience monies; 
 

 Integrated Diabetes Service: provided via GP Federations; and 
 

 GPIT: covers information technology services and support provided 
to GP practices. 

 Other:   
o Minor Ailments are payments made to Pharmacies for the 

minor ailment service 
o GP Career Start relates to the GP career start scheme for 

which funding was previously received by Health Education 
North East and is now funded by the CCGs 

o Career Start Nurses relates to  the practice nurse career start 
scheme funded by the CCGs 

o PLT relates to Protected Learning Time supported by the CCG 
 
63. There is indication within the NHS Long Term Plan that investment in 

primary medical and community services will grow faster than the 
overall NHS budget, with a commitment to create a ring fenced fund 
worth at least an extra £4.5 billion a year in real terms by 2023/24. 

Page 217



Further information is awaited, to understand how this translates at local 
level to further investment. 

 
Looking forward to 2019/10 - Primary Care and Community Health 

Services 

64. On 10 January 2018, NHS England and NHS Improvement published 
the NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 2019/20. The 
guidance highlights key areas to be taken forwarded related to primary 
care and community health services including: 

i. Increasing resilience and sustainability at a practice level – 
to support transform the care and services provided to the local 
population.  

ii. Primary care networks – building on the £3/head CCG 
investment in primary care transformation during 2017/18 and 
2018/19, the CCGs are required to commit a recurrent 
£1.50/head recurrently to developing and maintaining primary 
care networks. 

iii. New service models – CCGs and community providers should, 
during 2019/20, make progress towards implementing the new 
service models set out in the Local Transformation Plan, including 
the urgent response standards for urgent community support. In 
County Durham we have already made good progress in the 
transformation of Community Services and a plan has been 
developed to outline how the transformation programme will be 
delivered over the next five years with an initial focus on the first 
12 months of the new contract. 

iv. Primary care strategy refresh: Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnerships (STPs)/Integrated Care Systems 
(ICPs) must include a primary care strategy as part of the system 
strategy that will be developed in Autumn 2019 response to the 
Long Term Plan, which sets out how we will ensure the 
sustainability and transformation of primary care and general 
practice as part of our overarching strategy to improve population 
health; and which engages primary care providers in its 
implementation. The primary care strategy for each CCG will 
include local priorities identified for support; Primary Care 
Networks development plan; and local workforce plan supporting 
the development of an expanded workforce and multidisciplinary 
teams.  

v. Internal audits for assurance purposes - where primary 
medical care commissioning has been delegated, CCGs are 
required to undertake a series of internal audits to provide 
assurance that this statutory function is being discharged 
effectively. 

Page 218

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/NHS-Operational-Planning-and-Contracting-Guidance-201920-FULL-VERSION.pdf


vi. Data analytics and risk stratification - to allow Primary Care 
Networks to understand in depth their populations’ needs for 
symptomatic and prevention programmes including screening 
and immunisation services. 

Conclusion 

65. Whilst good progress is being made towards delivery of the primary 
care agenda, there is still work to be done to improve primary care 
services to meet the future needs of the local population. 

 
66. In accordance with the NHS Planning Guidance 2019/20, the CCGs will 

refresh their respective primary care strategy by Autumn 2019, to 
support the sustainability and transformation of general practice and 
community care as part of their overarching strategy to improve 
population health. 

Background papers 

 List any papers required by law / None 

Other useful documents 

 Previous Cabinet reports / None 

 

Contact: Joseph Chandy, Director of 
Primary Care 

josephchandy.ddes@nhs.net       

   

  

Page 219

mailto:josephchandy.ddes@nhs.net


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None 

Finance 

The report details CCG forecasted investment in GP practices for 2018/19.  

Consultation 

As part of the primary care strategy delivery the CCGs continue to engage with 

the local community regarding general practice primary care services through 

the existing engagement model, which includes Patient Participation Groups 

(PPGs) and the Patient, Public and Carer Engagement Committee (PPCEC).  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

CCG primary care strategies are subject to Equality Impact Assessment. 

Human Rights 

N/A 

Crime and Disorder 

N/A 

Staffing 

CCG primary care strategies take into consideration workforce sustainability. 

Accommodation 

N/A 

Risk 

The CCGs hold risk management plans related to specific areas of strategy 

delivery. 

Procurement 

N/A 

 

 

 

Page 220



Appendix 2:  CCG General Practices and List Size 

DDES CCG 

Code Practice Population 

A83003 Willington Medical Group  9,225 

A83020 North House Surgery 13,423 

A83035 The Weardale Practice 7,165 

A83015 Station View Medical Centre 10,173 

A83021 Auckland Medical Group 14,345 

A83025 Bishopgate Medical Centre 13,433 

A83032 Woodview Medical Practice 2,451 

A83043 Old Forge Surgery 2,702 

A83046 Barnard Castle Surgery 10,610 

A83060 Pinfold Medical Practice 2,990 

A83061 Gainford Surgery 3,425 

A83626 Evenwood Surgery 2,015 

A83007 Blackhall Practice 9,949 

A83012 William Brown Centre 16,386 

A83044 Horden Group Practice 7,406 

A83627 Silverdale Family Practice 5,628 

A83019 Station Road Surgery 5,160 

A83042/A83057 East Durham Medical Group  10,821 

A83610 Intrahealth (Wingate) 2,913 

A83616 Shotton Medical Practice 2,534 

A83619 Southdene Medical Centre 3,022 

A83017 Phoenix Medical Group 7,533 

A83041 Murton Medical Group 7,555 

A83004 Avenue Family Practice 3,835 

Page 221



A83051 Marlborough Practice 10,216 

A83071 New Seaham Medical Centre 5,047 

A83075 Deneside Medical Centre 4,665 

A83008 Hallgarth Surgery 5,536 

A83037 Bewick Crescent Surgery 13,877 

A83074 Peaseway Medical Centre 11,529 

A83066 Jubilee Medical Group 10,619 

A83001 St Andrews Medical Practice 11,171 

A83052 Bishops Close Medical Practice 8,734 

A83603 Oxford Road Medical Centre 2,644 

A83045 Ferryhill & Chilton Medical Practice 15,255 

A83054 Skerne Medical Group 15,497 

A83634 West Cornforth Medical Practice 2,704 

 

There are currently 37 member practices in DDES CCG. 

Practice mergers: 

 Caradoc and Shinwell merged – Quarter 2 2018 to East Durham Medical Group 

 Shotton and Station Road merged – January 2019 to Bevan Medical Group 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 222



North Durham CCG 

Code Practice Population 

A83014 Belmont and Sherburn Medical Group 7,019 

A83635 Bowburn Medical Centre 4,119 

A83630 Brandon Lane Surgery 2,412 

A83036 Chastleton Medical Group 11,430 

A83055 Cheveley Park Medical Centre 4,311 

A83011 Claypath and University Medical Group 30,952 

A83027 Coxhoe Medical Practice 6,395 

A83030 Dunelm Medical Practice 12,810 

A83022 The Medical Group 24,271 

A83024 West Rainton Surgery 5,659 

A83009 Bridge End Surgery 8,503 

A83050 Cestria Health Centre 12,331 

A83029 Great Lumley Surgery 4,907 

A83028 Middle Chare Surgery 9,665 

A83637 Middle Chare Gardiner Surgery 2,070 

A83033 Pelton and Fellrose Medical Group 8,892 

A83033 Sacriston Surgery 10,130 

A83644 Annfield Plain Surgery  3,506 

A83617 Browney House Surgery 2,640 

A83038 Cedars Medical Group 5,731 

A83022 Consett Medical Centre 18,850 

A83632 Craghead Medical Centre 2,403 

A83072 Lanchester Medical Centre 4,213 

A83636 Leadgate Surgery 5,910 

A83618/A83076 Oakfields & Dipton Health Group 7,225 

Page 223



A83049 Queens Road Surgery 13,629 

A83032 Stanley Medical Group 11,454 

A83016 Tanfield View Medical Group 11,342 

A83622 The Haven Surgery 1,621 

A83073 West Road Surgery 5,160 

 

There are currently 30 member practices in North Durham CCG. 

Practice Mergers:  

 Oakfields and Dipton merged - July 2018 to Oakfield Health Group. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 224



Appendix 3:  10 High Impact Actions to Release Time for Care 

1. Active signposting: Provides patients with a first point of contact which directs 
them to the most appropriate source of help. Web and app-based portals can 
provide self-help and self-management resources as well as signposting to the 
most appropriate professional. 
 

2. New consultation types: Introduce new communication methods for some 
consultations, such as phone and email, improving continuity and convenience 
for the patient, and reducing clinical contact time 
 

3. Reduce Did Not Attend (DNAs): Maximise the use of appointment slots and 
improve continuity by reducing DNAs. Changes may include redesigning the 
appointment system, encouraging patients to write appointment cards 
themselves, issuing appointment reminders by text message, and making it 
quick for patients to cancel or rearrange an appointment. 
 

4. Develop the team: Broaden the workforce in order to reduce demand for GP 
time and connect the patient directly with the most appropriate professional. 
 

5. Productive work flows: Introduce new ways of working which enable staff to 
work smarter, not harder. 
 

6. Personal productivity: Support staff to develop their personal resilience and 
learn specific skills that enable them to work in the most efficient way possible. 
 

7. Partnership working: Create partnerships and collaborations with other 
practices and providers in the local health and social care system. 
 

8. Social prescribing: Use referral and signposting to non-medical services in 
the community that increase wellbeing and independence. 
 

9. Support self care: Take every opportunity to support people to play a greater 
role in their own health and care with methods of signposting patients to 
sources of information, advice and support in the community. 
 

10. Develop QI expertise: Develop a specialist team of facilitators to support 
service redesign and continuous quality improvement. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 225

https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/1-active-signposting
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/2-new-consultation-types
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/3-reduce-dnas
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/4-develop-the-team
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/5-productive-work-flows
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/6-personal-productivity
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/7-partnership-working
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/8-use-social-prescribing
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/9-support-self-care-and-management
https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/releasing-capacity-in-general-practice/messageboard/10-build-qi-expertise


Appendix 4:  Workforce 
Figure 1:  Breakdown of Headcount and Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) by staff group 

DDES CCG practices 

 

Source: Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 

Health Education England Primary Care Workforce report (Quarter 2, 2018/19) 

 

Figure 2:  Breakdown of Headcount and Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) by staff group 

North Durham CCG practices 

 

Source: North Durham CCG Health Education England Primary Care Workforce report (Quarter 2, 2018/19) 

Page 226



Appendix 5:  Primary Care Home  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 227



 

 

 

Page 228



             

       

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

30 January 2019 

Joint targeted area inspection 

(JTAI) of the multi-agency response 

to domestic abuse in Durham – 

Action Plan  

   

Report of Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director of Children and 
Young People’s Services, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an update following the 
Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) of the Multi-Agency Response to 
Domestic Abuse in Durham and to present the Improvement Action 
Plan for information. 

Executive Summary 
2 Between 9 and 13 July 2018, four separate Inspectorates undertook a 

joint inspection of the multi-agency response to domestic abuse in 
Durham.  The inspection team was made up of 15 inspectors from the 
following:   

 Ofsted 

 Care Quality Commission 

 HMI Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS)  

 HMI Probation  
 

3 The inspection included a ‘deep dive’ focus on how all agencies worked 
together to respond to the needs of children of all ages living with and 
experiencing domestic abuse. 

4 Key findings from the inspection are contained within a letter which was 
provided to all key partners (Appendix 2) and includes a number of 
strengths, one area for priority action and a number of areas for 
improvement. 

5 The Corporate Director of Children’s and Young People’s Services is 
the lead officer and was required to work with Chief Officers of the Local 
Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) to provide a response to the 
joint inspectorate with a written statement of proposed actions.  The 
JTAI Improvement Action Plan was submitted on 3 December 2018.   

Page 229

Agenda Item 13



Recommendation 

6 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a) Note the information contained within this report and the JTAI 
Improvement Action Plan. 

Background 

7 During the inspection, inspectors spent time in our front of house First 
Contact and multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH), they met with 
senior and middle managers from across the partnership, with front-line 
practitioners across all agencies and they also spoke to children and 
families.  They inspected a large number of case files of children who 
had experienced domestic abuse, 7 of these were in-depth “deep dive”. 

8 Inspectors acknowledged the challenging nature of the multi-agency 
inspection and the complexities that exist for agencies working with 
families experiencing domestic abuse, where there is often more than 
one victim and risk assessment and decision making is often complex 
because domestic abuse is not the only risk factor and also because the 
impact upon children of domestic abuse is not always immediately 
apparent. 

9 The JTAI process does not provide an overall “grade”.  These 
inspections identify multi agency strengths in practice and areas for 
improvement.   

 

The JTAI Improvement Action Plan 
 

10 Both during and immediately after the JTAI the LSCB Executive Group 
and its partners worked closely together to address the areas 
Inspectors identified as requiring improvement.   

11 Careful consideration was given to the outcome of the inspection by all 
partners and a detailed Improvement Action Plan has been finalised 
and is attached to this report (Appendix 3). 

12 The Inspection findings have been grouped into 5 Key Improvement 
Areas as follows:- 

1. Priority Action to Improve Strategy Meetings 
2. Front Door/Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements (MASH) 
3. Safeguarding Practice and Workforce Development 
4. Leadership & Management 
5. Voice of the Child 

13 The Action Plan includes the expected impact of actions together with a 
programme of scrutiny and audit that will provide assurance that the 
desired impact has been achieved.   

Governance & Monitoring: 
 

Page 230



14 The LSCB Executive Group will hold responsibility for the overall 
monitoring and scrutiny of the Action Plan.  By receiving quarterly 
reports, they will hold to account, challenge and scrutinise the actions of 
individual partner agencies and partnership groups to ensure actions 
are having the desired impact on outcomes for children in County 
Durham.   

15 Individual partner agencies and partnership groups will be required to 
report quarterly to the LSCB Executive Group on the progress of actions 
and the outcome of assurance activity.   The first of these will be 
provided in January 2019. 

Conclusion 

16 This report summarises the outcomes of the JTAI Inspection into the 
multi-agency response to domestic abuse in Durham.  

17 All partners worked closely together both during and after the Inspection 
to address the key findings and to develop a comprehensive action plan 
designed to robustly address all areas of improvement identified by the 
joint inspectorate. 

18 The strategic governance of the JTAI Improvement Action Plan and the 
commitment of all partners to provide scrutiny and challenge provides 
assurance of a robust focus on ensuring good progress is made and 
children and families are supported to achieve good outcomes. 

Background papers 

 JTAI Inspection Report 

Other useful documents 

 JTAI Improvement Action Plan 

Contact: Julie Scurfield Tel:  03000 261630 

 

  

Page 231



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications 
The Joint Inspection was carried out under Section 20 of the Children Act 
2004.  The Local Authority, as the Lead Agency, is required to provide a 
written response to the findings.  
 
Finance 
Actions to address capacity issues identified by inspectors will be required, 
wherever possible, to be delivered within existing resource  

Consultation 
None. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
An equality impact screening assessment has been carried out to ensure 
compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

Human Rights 
None. 

Crime and Disorder 
The criminal justice agencies, including Police, NPS, CRC and YOS, to take 

required actions to work in partnership to address and tackle the impact of 

domestic abuse upon children. 

 
Staffing 
The JTAI letter identifies the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) is 
under-resourced to deal with the volume of referrals received.  The action in 
response is that a review of the MASH will be carried out.  The review may 
have staffing implications depending upon the outcome and any actions to 
address capacity and volume.  These will be issues for the partnership to 
address collectively. 

Accommodation 
None. 

Risk 
There is a risk that the actions identified do not deliver the required improvement 
in safeguarding practice and outcomes for children and families do not improve.  
The LSCB Executive Group will receive quarterly reports on progress from all 
partners contributing to the plan and remedial action will be identified and taken 
where actions are not delivering the required impact. 

Procurement 
A procurement process may be required to facilitate independent scrutiny and 

overview of the delivery of the JTAI Improvement Action Plan and provide 

assurance that the required impact has been achieved. 

Page 232



Appendix 2:  Report of the Joint Targeted Area Inspection 

DURHAM JTAI 

REPORT.24 AUGUST 2018.pdf 

Appendix 3:  JTAI Improvement Action Plan 

JTAI IMPROVEMENT 

ACTION PLAN.FINAL.3Dec18.pdf 

 

 

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

 Health and Well Being Board 

 30 January 2019 

 County Durham Plan Pre-Submission 

Draft 

 Key Decision REAL/01/18  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services 

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The Health and Well Being Board is asked to consider and provide 
comments to the Pre-Submission Draft of the County Durham Plan 
which is subject to a six week consultation between 25 January until 8 
March 2019. 

Executive summary 

2 The Pre-Submission Draft of the County Durham Plan is the final stage 
in the Plan’s development.  It has been informed by extensive formal 
consultation with residents, businesses, the development industry, key 
stakeholders and neighbouring authorities at all stages. 

3 The Pre-Submission Draft has also been informed by a number of 
integral assessments including Sustainability Appraisal, Habitat 
Regulation Assessment and Health Impact Assessment.  It is also 
supported by Supplementary Planning Documents and an extensive 
evidence base. 

4 The County Durham Plan seeks to ensure that County Durham is a 
successful place to live, work, invest and visit by focussing on 
supporting and creating vibrant communities by delivering: 

 More and better jobs and sustained economic growth;   

Page 235

Agenda Item 14



 A wide choice of high quality homes that supports economic 
growth and meets the needs of all people;  

 A high quality built and enhanced natural environment; and 

 The necessary supporting infrastructure including transport, 
health and educational needs. 

5 Subject to Cabinet approval, consultation on the Pre-Submission Draft 
will run from 25 January 2019 until 8 March 2019.  This is in accordance 
with the adopted Local Development Scheme. 

6 Following this consultation there will an opportunity to make minor 
modifications to the Plan before submission to the Secretary of State. 
Before submission the Plan must be agreed by Cabinet and Full Council 
this is likely to be in June 2019.  The Planning Inspectorate will then 
inform us of dates for the Examination in Public which we would 
anticipate would be Autumn/Winter 2019. 

Recommendation(s) 

7 The Health and Well Being Board is recommended to: 

a) Provide comments to the County Durham Plan Pre-Submission Draft 
during consultation from 25 January 2019 to 8 March 2019; and 

b) Consider the Health Impact Assessment which has informed the 
County Durham Plan. 

Background 

8 All Local Planning Authorities have a statutory requirement to prepare 
and maintain an up to date development plan for their area.  The 
County Durham Plan has been prepared during a time of significant 
change, including a recently revised National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and a new standard approach to housing numbers.  

9 The second stage of the new County Durham Plan, the Preferred 
Options, was published for consultation in June 2018.  The Pre-
Submission Draft is the final stage in the Plan’s development.  It has 
been informed by extensive formal and continuous consultation with 
residents, businesses, the development industry, key stakeholders and 
neighbouring authorities at all stages. 

10 A list of the supporting evidence base which has been prepared or 
changed for the Pre-Submission Draft is available on the council’s 
website here www.durham.gov.uk/cdp.  There are other documents 
which were prepared for the Preferred Options and previously endorsed 
by Cabinet which are not listed but will be submitted alongside the Plan 
All of these documents underpin different elements of the Plan and 
provide the justification for the detail of many of the policies.  Where 

Page 236

http://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp


relevant key conclusions and recommendations from the evidence 
documents are referenced in the policy’s supporting text. 

Consultation 

11 The Preferred Options were consulted on widely from 22 June until 3 
August 2018.  A significant number of public events were held including 
19 drop-in sessions across the county, events at a number of primary 
and secondary schools, all 14 Area Action Partnerships, older persons 
task group, NHS Estates group and a Party in the Park event amongst 
others.   

12 A total of 3990 comments from 1130 different respondents were 
received.  The representations received and the council’s proposed 
responses are set out within the Statement of Consultation and 
attached at Appendix 10.  In addition, social media played a large part 
in the consultation process raising questions and communicating 
events.  In total social media messages sent by the council were viewed 
438,633 times.   

13 The Preferred Options sought comments on a Vision, Objectives, 
Spatial Strategy and 61 policies.  Policy areas included the location and 
quantity of new development, including housing and employment 
allocations, promoting a strong economy, the vitality of town centres, 
design, the built, historic and natural environment; and promoting 
healthy communities.  In preparing the Pre-Submission Draft the 
comments made have been carefully considered and the changes 
suggested, incorporated wherever possible. 

14 The main changes made in response to the Health Impact Assessment 
are attached.  There were also many other minor changes made to 
policies in response to comments made which improve their clarity and 
effectiveness.  

Page 237



Content of the Plan 

15 In order to ensure that County Durham is a successful place to live, 
work, invest and visit the Plan focusses on supporting and creating 
vibrant communities by delivering: 

 More and better jobs and sustained economic growth;   

 A wide choice of high quality homes that supports economic growth 
and meets the needs of all people;  

 A high quality built and enhanced natural environment; and 

 The necessary supporting infrastructure including transport, health 
and educational needs. 

Employment 

16 The County Durham Employment Land Review (ELR) has concluded 
that the use of past take up rates is the most appropriate method of 
determining how much employment is needed.  Taking this into account 
together with the location and quality of land available results in 302 
hectares of land being allocated.  The distribution of this employment 
land relates to the economic markets that exist in County Durham i.e. 
A1 Corridor; Durham City; A19 corridor; Consett; Bishop Auckland; and 
the rest of the county. 

17 As a result of the approach to employment land significant areas for 
business are identified at; Forrest Park, Newton Aycliffe; Hawthorn 
Enterprise Zone Murton; Hownsgill, Project Genesis, Consett; 
Meadowfield Industrial Estate; Integra 61 (South of Bowburn) and 
NETPark, Sedgefield.  The Pre-Submission Draft also identifies the 
strategic employment site at Aykley Heads. 

Housing 

18 The revised National Planning Policy Framework and accompanying 
guidance make it clear that local authorities should use the 
government’s standard methodology for calculating housing need.  The 
Preferred Options used the government’s standard methodology 
resulting in a Local Housing Need (LHN) figure of 1,368 houses per 
annum in County Durham.  However this figure was based on the 2014 
Household Projections. When the 2016 Household Projections were 
released earlier this year re-running the government’s methodology 
resulted in a LHN of 1032 houses per annum.  This figure was much 
lower than what was being delivered on the ground and there was a 
similar affect across much of the country and particularly the north of 
England.  As a result on 26 October 2018 the government released a 
technical consultation which determined that there was a case for public 
policy to support delivery in excess of household projections.  As a 
result the consultation document proposes that the 2014 Household 

Page 238



Projections should provide the demographic baseline for assessment of 
LHN.  In the longer term and before the next household projections are 
issued the government intend to produce a new methodology. 

19 Housing needs in County Durham have therefore been developed in 
line with the government's standard methodology as set out in Planning 
Practice Guidance and reflect the government's technical consultation.  
This approach results in a LHN of 1,287 homes per annum.  However 
Planning Practice Guidance also notes that the standard method for 
assessing local housing need provides the minimum starting point for 
determining the number of homes needed in an area and should also 
consider previous delivery levels.  Over the past 5 years (2013/14 - 
2017/18) the council has delivered on average 1,308 homes.  This 
record of delivery can be considered as being indicative of a greater 
housing need above the minimum starting point.  The housing need for 
County Durham is therefore 1,308 dwellings per annum.  When this is 
applied over the plan period 2016–35 this equates to 24,852 
new dwellings. It is however recognised that the approach set out in the 
Technical Consultation is subject to consultation and if there are 
material changes in the final version of the guidance then a review of 
the Pre-Submission Draft may be required. 

20 In reflecting past delivery, it is considered that this level of housing will 
serve to maintain recent momentum within the County Durham 
economy, deliver more affordable housing and support the Plan's vision 
and objectives.  

21 The Sustainable Communities option has been chosen as the preferred 
approach to the distribution of housing and for identifying housing 
allocations. A detailed description and the reasons for this are set out in 
the Spatial Strategy Justification and in summary are: 

 Delivering sustainable patterns of development by focussing on the 
county’s largest settlements but also providing sites in other 
suitable locations; 

 Maximising access to jobs, services and facilities and minimising 
commuting; 

 Giving the best opportunity to support economic growth and 
regeneration across the county; 

 Maximises the use of viable previously developed land; and 

 Giving the best opportunity for housing to be delivered and built to 
meet need. 

22 The Sustainable Communities option is a dispersed pattern of 
development across key settlements in the county, principally focused 
in and around the towns where the greatest opportunities for 
employment, services and facilities, public transport and other 

Page 239



infrastructure such as healthcare and education exist.  This spatial 
strategy will ensure we have a balance of housing across the county 
taking into account the most sustainable locations, market 
attractiveness and the prospects for regeneration to meet our need for 
housing. 

23 Of the housing sites allocated in the Preferred Options to meet the LHN, 
a number now have planning permission and others following a more 
detailed assessment including viability work are no longer allocated or 
have been reduced in size or yield.  As a result the Pre-Submission 
Draft now includes a total of 28 housing allocations, 15 fewer than the 
Preferred Options. 

24 As a result of the chosen spatial strategy the Plan proposes some 
Green Belt land to be deleted at Sniperley Park and Sherburn Road, 
Durham City.  The exceptional circumstances to justify this are set out 
in the Exceptional Circumstances document but in summary are: 

 Enabling sustainable patterns of development; 

 Maximising the number of journeys undertaken by sustainable 
means; 

 Providing good quality housing to meet needs and aspirations; 

 Help address economic under-performance; and 

 Maximising the delivery of affordable housing and other 
infrastructure. 

Student Accommodation 

25 Durham University makes a strong, positive contribution to the local, 
regional and UK economy, for example through direct investment, as a 
large employer, an extensive supply chain and staff and student 
spending.  The Pre-Submission Draft includes a policy which considers 
future Durham University development, proposals for Purpose Built 
Student Accommodation (PBSA) and proposals for Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs).  Durham University has published a Strategy for 
the period 2017–27, which contains an Estate Masterplan.  Part 1 of this 
policy will be used to assess applications brought forward by the 
University.  Part 2 will be used to assess any applications for PBSA 
from the university or other accommodation providers. It also allocates 
suitable sites for student accommodation.  Part 3 of the policy seeks to 
avoid over concentrations of HMOs and will be used in conjunction with 
the Article 4 Directions in place across Durham City. 

  

Page 240



Town Centres 

26 Nationally, town centres face increasing economic challenges including 
a change in consumer behaviour and the rise in e-commerce, mobile 
technology and Internet shopping.  Although town centres are now not 
always the main focus for people's shopping, they are still key drivers to 
the economy and play an important social role.  We need to ensure our 
centres remain viable going forward by understanding national trends 
and ensuring that they reflect the needs and opportunities of the 
communities that they serve including a flexible approach to uses. 

27 The Retail and Town Centre Study found that there is not sufficient 
outstanding need to require any retail allocations within the county.  In 
Barnard Castle it did however identify leakage of food spend out of the 
town to other centres within and outside of the county.  The Pre-
Submission Draft therefore supports proposals for new retail provision 
across the county that comply with the sequential and retail impact 
tests. 

28 The Plan also links to the council’s work on improving our towns and 
villages.  Cabinet has recently confirmed the continuation of its 
programme of town centre regeneration in conjunction with the suite of 
masterplans.  This programme seeks to transform the economy of the 
county by delivering projects that improve our town centres thereby 
increasing investment and job creation. 

Hot Food Takeaways 

29 Reducing levels of obesity is a key objective of the council. One way 
this can be achieved is to encourage healthy eating. Large 
concentrations of hot food takeaways within our town centres can have 
the opposite effect by encouraging unhealthy eating habits. An over-
concentration of hot food takeaways can also have a detrimental impact 
on vitality and viability. They can also give rise to concerns about noise, 
disturbance, odours, parking and litter and are likely to be 
considerations in the determination of any planning application. In 
assessing proposals within town centres, consideration will therefore be 
given to the detrimental impact that an over-provision of A5 uses may 
have. 

30 An assessment has been carried out of the numbers of A5 units within 
our town centres. This has identified that some have relatively high 
existing numbers of A5 uses within them ranging from 1.6% in Peterlee 
to 9.3% in Shildon. It is considered that a threshold of 5% is appropriate 
to ensure a diverse mix of uses within our centres. If a proposal would 
exceed this threshold, in terms of number of units. it will not be 
permitted, this will include units that are vacant but have planning 

Page 241



permission for A5. Seven centres (Consett, Ferryhill, Crook, Newton 
Aycliffe, Seaham Spennymoor and Shildon) already have more than 5% 
of units as hot food takeaways, therefore no further A5 uses would be 
permitted in these centres. 

31 The nature of our local centres in terms of their size and function means 
that the application of a 5% threshold is not appropriate in assessing 
such applications. In assessing proposals for A5 uses within local 
centres, consideration should be given to the impact that such a 
proposal would have on the overall vitality and viability of the centre, 
considering the mix of uses and also the levels of existing vacancies. 

32 The council has carried out an assessment of Fast Food and its Impact 
on Health which looks at the density of fast food outlets in County 
Durham. This provides evidence of a correlation between the density of 
fast foods outlets and obesity levels amongst children within locations in 
the county. As the promotion of healthy eating amongst young people is 
a key national and local priority it is reasonable to limit the number of 
hot food takeaways close to schools and colleges. Therefore proposals 
for A5 uses outside of retail centres but within a five to ten minute 
walking distance of the school, equating to 400 metres radius, will not 
be permitted. 

Rural Areas 

33 County Durham's rural areas vary widely in character from remote and 
sparsely populated areas in the Pennine Dales, to the larger villages 
located within the former coalfield communities in the centre and east. 

34 It is important that rural settlements are not unduly constrained and 
remain sustainable.  The Pre-Submission Draft allow our rural 
communities proportionate growth so they are able to thrive and grow 
while also respecting the character of the countryside.  They also 
include policies which are flexible enough to support housing and 
employment needs in our rural areas to support the modernisation and 
diversification of existing practises and encourage the vitality and 
viability of these communities. 

Environment 

35 A range of policies are included within the Pre-Submission Draft which 
will positively respond to opportunities to enhance and protect important 
assets from inappropriate development including policies relating to 
landscape, protection of the countryside, Green Belt, protected species 
and the historic environment amongst others.  Climate change remains 
a challenge to which we need to respond, ensuring our communities 
remain resilient to the impacts and is integrated throughout the Plan. 

Page 242



Transport 

36 The Pre-Submission Draft’s sustainable transport policies seek to 
deliver more sustainable transport choices by seeking to put new 
development in locations which minimise the distance and time of 
journeys, makes the best use of existing public transport and supporting 
sustainable transport choices such as walking and cycling.  There is 
also an allocation for a new railway station at Horden and safeguarding 
of the route of the Leamside Line and a possible Bowburn relief road.  A 
corridor of interest is also identified in Barnard Castle.  

37 In order to create a more sustainable transport network in Durham City 
there is a need for a positive strategy that manages the demand for car 
use by re-allocating, sharing and creating highway space for 
sustainable transport.  To enable this to happen and to reduce 
congestion, improve air quality and improve the setting of the World 
Heritage Site the Pre-Submission Draft safeguards two possible routes 
for a Northern Relief Road (there was only one route in the Preferred 
Options but further investigation of Belmont Viaduct has identified this 
as a possible alternative to a new bridge over the River Wear) and 
proposes a Western Relief Road for Durham City.   

38 The full build out of the strategic housing allocation at Sniperley Park is 
dependent on the delivery of the Western Relief Road.  As a result that 
site will be expected to make a significant financial contribution towards 
the road in the form of a planning obligation/Section 106 agreement. 
The remainder of the cost of the road is expected to come from 
government or regional infrastructure funding.  As all of the funding for 
the road will not be in place immediately there may be a role for the 
council in forward funding its construction and then recouping the cost 
over time. This would have some financial implications for the council’s 
capital and revenue budgets.  

Minerals and Waste 

39 Minerals are a fundamental natural resource.  They are of vital 
importance to modern economies and are essential to sustainable 
economic growth and quality of life.  Three sites are proposed in the 
Pre-Submission Draft at Hulands, Todhills and Heights Quarry, which 
will enable a steady and adequate supply of crushed rock aggregate, 
sand and gravel aggregate and brick making raw materials to be 
worked to 2035.  There are no waste site allocations although a number 
of existing sites are safeguarded.  More detailed polies and non-
strategic site allocation will be included in the separate Minerals and 
Waste Policies and Allocations Document. 

Infrastructure 

Page 243



40 As well as policies in the Pre-Submission draft that address the need for 
infrastructure there is also an accompanying Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan (IDP) which includes: 

 Physical infrastructure such as highway improvements, sewage 
treatment works or broadband; 

 Social infrastructure such as schools, medical, doctor’s surgeries 
or community buildings; and 

 Green Infrastructure such as play areas, public open space or 
rights of way. 

41 The IDP identifies existing and future infrastructure deficiencies that 
need to be addressed if the Plan’s vision for growth is to be achieved. 

Health Impact Assessment 

42 To ensure that health considerations have been embedded into the Pre-
Submission Draft a Health Impact Assessment has been undertaken 
with public health colleagues.   

43 HIA is a structured, solution-focused and action orientated approach to 
maximising the positive and minimising the negative impacts of new 
initiatives. This approach is not about advocating for the removal of a 
policy but more positively how additions or recommendations to the 
existing polices could help deliver improved health outcomes to our 
residents. Importantly it aims to reduce or eliminate health inequities 
and social inequities occurring as part of the proposal. 

44 Health impacts are the overall effect, direct or indirect, of a policy on the 
health of population. Direct effects could be exposure to pollutants 
including noise, which a proposal may release in the air, water or soil. It 
also considers indirect influence on health such as access to a job 
market or the accessibility of public space. 

45 An HIA considers the impact directly upon disease and also considers 
the social determinants of health which impact our residents, unequally, 
across County Durham. By taking into account these social 
determinants an HIA can support the development of healthy public 
policy. 

46 A steering group was been established to ensure the delivery of the 
HIA. This group had membership from Durham County Council spatial 
policy, sustainability, public health, research and public health 
intelligence and the AAPs. 

47 The HIA has provided a number of recommendations including ensuring 
that community facilities are conveniently located and open space within 
new development is accessible and of high quality, which have been 

Page 244



incorporated into the Plan. The executive summary is attached to this 
report.  

Equalities Impact Assessment 

48 An Equalities Impact Assessment has been prepared for the County 
Durham Plan. Its main conclusions are that the Plan aims to promote 
equality through its spatial vision and in all of its objectives and policies; 
that no negative impacts have been identified; that it aims to reduce 
inequality of opportunity by various means; that it will have a positive 
impact across all of the protected groups but is likely to have a greater 
positive impact in relation to age (young and older), disability, and 
gender (women). 

Main Implications 

49 This is the final, formal stage of consultation.  The paragraph below 
indicates how it will differ from previous rounds of consultation in order 
to follow government guidelines.  This is an important stage as it is the 
last opportunity for people to make comments on the Plan before it is 
submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination by a 
planning inspector. 

50 This round of consultation provides the opportunity to comment on the 
Plan itself in its whole form.  These comments need to formally support 
or object to the Plan in terms of its legal compliance and compliance 
with national policy, known as 'soundness tests'.  Comments made on 
the Plan at this stage will go forward to an independent inspector when 
the Plan is submitted, who will examine the ‘soundness’ of the Plan and 
who will invite interested individuals and groups who objected to the 
Plan to attend public hearings to test the Plan.  This will involve the 
inspector considering whether the Plan is: 

 Positively prepared – providing a strategy which, as a minimum, 
seeks to meet the area’s objectively assessed needs; and is 
informed by agreements with other authorities, so that unmet need 
from neighbouring areas is accommodated where it is practical to 
do so and is consistent with achieving sustainable development; 

 Justified – an appropriate strategy, taking into account reasonable 
alternatives, and based on a proportionate evidence; 

 Effective – deliverable over the plan period, and based on 
effective joint working on cross-boundary strategic matters that 
have been dealt with rather than deferred, as evidenced by the 
statement of common ground; and 

 Consistent with national policy– enabling the delivery of 
sustainable development in accordance with the policies in this 
Framework. 

Page 245



 
51 Consultation with residents, businesses, local partnerships, regional 

and national stakeholders and neighbouring authorities will run from 25 
January 2019 until 8 March 2019.  This is in accordance with the 
adopted Local Development Scheme. Members’ seminars will be held 
on 17 January 2019 to ensure they are briefed on the content of the 
Pre-Submission Draft before consultation begins. 

52 Following this consultation there will an opportunity to make minor 
modifications to the Plan before Submission to the Secretary of State. 
Before Submission the Plan must be agreed by Cabinet and Full 
Council this is likely to be in June 2019.  The Planning Inspectorate will 
then inform us of dates for the Examination in Public which we would 
anticipate would be Autumn/Winter 2019. 

Conclusion 

53 All local authorities are required to produce a local plan to give certainty 
to residents, investors and developers about how the area will develop 
over time.  The County Durham Plan will provide this certainty and also 
seeks to ensure that the county is a successful place to live, work and 
invest. Consultation is key to the development of the Plan and this is the 
final opportunity for comment before it is submitted to the Planning 
Inspectorate for an Examination in Public. 

Background papers 

 Pre Submission Draft County Durham Plan 

 Health Impact Assessment 

 Fast Food and its Impact on Health 

Other useful documents 

 Preferred Options Cabinet report 13 June 2018  

 

Contact: Mike Allum Tel:  03000 261906 

   

  

Page 246

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s101244/CDP%20Appendix%203%20revised%20-%20County%20Durham%20Plan%20Pre%20Submission%20Draft.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s101213/Appendix%2014%20-%20HIA%20Executive%20Summary%20Report.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s101213/Appendix%2014%20-%20HIA%20Executive%20Summary%20Report.pdf
http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/4958672


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Local plans must be positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with 
national policy in accordance with section 20 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF).  The NPPF gives guidance to local authorities in drawing 
up their local plans. The preparation of the Plan has been informed by a 
continuous dialogue with the council’s legal team. 

Finance 

The County Durham Plan has a continuing budget commitment for appropriate 
evidence gathering, consultation, printing and EIP costs. 

As all of the funding for the Western Relief Road will not be in place 
immediately there may be a role for the council in forward funding its 
construction and then recouping the cost over time.  This would have some 
financial implications for the council’s capital and revenue budgets. 

Consultation 

The programme of consultation has been agreed with the council’s Corporate 
Communications Team and agreed by the council’s Consultation Officers 
Group and will be undertaken in accordance with the Statement of Community 
Involvement and the 2012 Local Plan Regulations. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Statement of Community Involvement describes how stakeholders will be 
involved in local plan and neighbourhood plan preparation and the 
determination of planning applications.  An Equality Impact Assessment has 
been prepared in partnership with the community engagement team and is 
attached at Appendix 7.  The Plan will continue to be subject to Equality 
Impact Assessment as it progresses. 

Human Rights 

Protocol 1 Article 1: Every natural or legal person is entitled to the peaceful 
enjoyment of his possessions, including their property.  The Plan allocates 
land for development which will affect landowners’ rights to develop their land.  
However, such control is necessary and proportionate in the public interest. 

  

Page 247



Crime and Disorder 

The Sustainable Design policy now includes a criterion which seeks to reduce 

vulnerability, increase resilience and ensure public safety and security. 

Staffing 

The resource required to progress the local plan is in place. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

Not having an adopted local plan makes it more difficult to resist inappropriate 
development and also to provide the necessary certainty to facilitate 
appropriate development to support the local economy.  Failure to make 
progress risks Government intervention. 

Procurement 

When required consultants have been commissioned to deliver evidence 

studies in accordance with the council’s procurement rules/procedures. 

 

 

Page 248



Pre Submission Draft 2019
County Durham Plan

Page 249



Page 250



4Foreword

6Introduction1

7Stages of Local Plan Preparation and Next Steps
8How Do I Get Involved?
9Neighbourhood Plans
10Assessing Impacts
11Duty to Cooperate: Cross-Boundary Issues
12County Durham Plan Key Diagram and Monitoring

14What the County Durham Plan is Seeking to Achieve2

17Vision and Objectives3

21Delivering Sustainable Development

23How Much Development and Where4

23Quantity of Development (How Much)
23Quantity of Development
31Spatial Distribution of Development (Where)
31Distribution of Employment
32Employment Land
41Aykley Heads
46Distribution of Housing
50Housing Allocations
63Durham City's Sustainable Urban Extensions
71Development on Unallocated Sites in the Built Up Area

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Contents

Page 251



74Core Principles5

75Building a Strong Competitive Economy
76Durham University
77Visitor Economy Introduction
78Visitor Attractions
81Visitor Accommodation
84Ensuring the Vitality of Town Centres
85Retail Hierarchy and Town Centre Development
92Supporting a Prosperous Rural Economy
94Development in the Countryside
98Rural Housing and Employment Exception Sites
101Permanent Rural Workers’ Dwellings
103Equestrian Development
105Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land and Soil Resources
107Delivering a Wide Choice of High Quality Homes
108Addressing Housing Need

115Durham University Development, Purpose Built Student Accommodation and
Houses in Multiple Occupation

127Sites for Travellers
130Children's Homes
132Type and Mix of Housing
134Protecting Green Belt Land
136Green Belt
138Non-Strategic Green Belt Amendments
140Sustainable Transport
142Delivering Sustainable Transport
145Durham City Sustainable Transport
151Allocating and Safeguarding Transport Routes and Facilities
155Provision of Transport Infrastructure
157Supporting High Quality Infrastructure
158Developer Contributions
161Green Infrastructure
164Utilities, Telecommunications and Other Broadcast Infrastructure
167Safeguarded Areas
170Requiring Good Design
171Sustainable Design
178Promoting Healthy Communities
179Hot Food Takeaways
181Amenity and Pollution
185Despoiled, Degraded, Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable Land
188Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal Change
189Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
191Wind Turbine Development
197Water Management
200Water Infrastructure
205Durham Heritage Coast and Wider Coastal Zone
208Conserving and Enhancing the Natural and Historic Environment
210North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
212Landscape

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Contents

Page 252



215Trees, Woodlands and Hedges
219Biodiversity and Geodiversity
221Internationally Designated Sites
224Protected Species and Nationally and Locally Protected Sites
227Historic Environment
232Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site
235Stockton and Darlington Railway
238Minerals and Waste
241Sustainable Minerals and Waste Resource Management

245Safeguarding Minerals Sites, Minerals Related Infrastructure and Waste
Management Sites

249Primary Aggregates Provision
250Locational Approach to the Future Supply of Primary Aggregates
251Meeting Future Aggregates Requirements
260Brick Making Raw Materials
263Surface Mined Coal and Fireclay
267Natural Building and Roofing Stone
270Reopening of Relic Building Stone Quarries for Heritage Projects
272Safeguarding Mineral Resources
274The Conservation and Use of High Grade Dolomite
276Preferred Areas for Future Carboniferous Limestone Working
278Strategic Area of Search to the South of Todhills Brickworks
280Providing for Waste Management Capacity
280Waste Management Provision
285Location of New Waste Facilities

Appendices

288Strategic PoliciesA

289Table of Superseded PoliciesB

290Coal Mining Risk Assessments and Mineral AssessmentsC

294Safeguarding Mineral Resources and Safeguarded Minerals and Waste SitesD

309Glossary of TermsE

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Contents

Page 253



Foreword

In my time as Cabinet Member for regeneration and economic development and in that time I have
experienced first-hand the many issues and opportunities that exist for the county.

Austerity has certainly had an impact on some of our more deprived communities and in particular
welfare reform and changes to housing benefits. Like the rest of the country we are seeing increasing
demands on public services - and the pressure this places on our communities - an ageing population
and significant changes in our local economy with high street banks, shops and pubs struggling.

However there is much to be positive about in County Durham. I have spoken to businesses,
developers and investors who are bringing forward exciting and significant opportunities, creating
much needed jobs and training for our residents. But even better is that we’re seeing this right across
our county with Auckland Trust’s exciting developments in Bishop Auckland including the world class
event at Kynren, the opening of Forest Park at Newton Aycliffe, investment at the former Hawthorn
Pit and Cokeworks now Jade Business Park at Murton and the exciting opportunities resulting from
a new approach at Integra 61 at Bowburn to name just a few.

Durham City is currently undergoing one of its biggest transformations for many generations. The
developments on the riverside will provide new destinations for the city adding to the already fantastic
offer available. This will include bringing new cinemas and restaurants to Durham along with city
centre living and offices, as well as the jobs that they create. The growth of the university is something
I believe will have many positive impacts bringing new businesses, increasing entrepreneurship and
enhancing our research and development and scientific base.

The council itself is in the process of moving its headquarters from Aykley Heads giving the opportunity
for what is seen as a once in a generation opportunity to create a new high-tech business park that
we hope will eventually create up to 6,000 jobs.

But it’s vital that we continue to appreciate that Durham is a small city and any development must be
of the highest quality, fit into the local environment and not impact on what makes the city special.

I therefore think the County Durham Plan (the Plan) we are presenting takes us a long way in delivering
on some of the key issues I hear from our residents. Delivering not just more jobs, but better paid
jobs with better prospects and providing the homes across the county that will meet the needs of our
residents as well as their aspirations. Importantly, it seeks to build on the current pipeline of investment
into the county which is estimated at over £3 billion and ensure that the confidence is there to deliver
these improvements for the benefit of residents of County Durham.

The Plan also seeks to address the needs of our rural communities, Brexit presents uncertainty right
across our county but no more so than in our farming communities. We therefore have flexible polices
and encouragement for all businesses to develop, recognising in particular the opportunities that the
increasing visitor economy will have in the future.

Infrastructure is a key element of the Plan and we need to ensure that together with the new homes
we get the necessary education, health and social provision, as well as improved transport links.

One of the county’s biggest selling points is the quality of place and life. Our coast, our dales, Durham
City and the Cathedral and our landscape are all assets which we need to continue to protect and
enhance.

While the Plan should not be seen as the answer to all of our problems, it seeks to create the conditions
and the framework for an ambitious and deliverable future for our residents and businesses.

Pre-Submission Draft January 20194

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 254



I am therefore extremely pleased to support the Plan which offers significant hope to our young
people, more support for our older people and confidence to our businesses. All whilst protecting and
enhancing the environment in which we live.

The Plan looks forward to 2035 so we are asking you to help shape the future of the county for you,
your community and future generations.

Councillor Carl Marshall

Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic Regeneration

5Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 255



1 Introduction

1.1 A local plan seeks to guide the future development of a place to improve the lives of its existing
and future residents. We therefore need a local plan that meets the differing needs of our communities.
The county has seen some successful regeneration in the past but our overall economy is the weakest
in the North East, itself the poorest performing economy in England. We therefore need an
ambitious local plan that promotes quality of life, provides jobs for a flexible and skilled workforce,
protects and enhances our special environment and supports our towns and villages.

1.2 Without a local plan, development including housing, will still happen given the context of a
growing population and a national housing shortage. The County Durham Plan will therefore give us
the ability to guide and direct where it goes and what it looks like.

1.3 This is the third and final stage of consultation on the County Durham Plan, which will provide
the policy framework for the county up to 2035 to support the development of a thriving economy, so
that our residents can experience the benefits that ensue as a result. It is important that local
communities, interested people and groups get involved and have their say. This document sets out
how many new homes and jobs we need to plan for and where they will go, what infrastructure we
need and how we can protect our important landscapes and habitats. The Plan has been prepared
in accordance with the most up-to-date National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning
Practice Guidance (PPG) published in 2018.

1.4 The NPPF requires all councils to produce a local plan and keep it up-to-date. Since Local
Government Review in 2009 we have been using saved policies from the existing local plans produced
by the previous local authorities. Without an up-to-date local plan, the council has much less influence
over the location of new development and the provision of infrastructure. Not having an up-to-date
local plan therefore creates uncertainty and makes it harder to resist inappropriate development and
secure new infrastructure such as schools and health facilities. Policies in the Plan cover a wide
range of topics and some set the strategic direction for County Durham while others will be used on
a day to day basis to help determine planning applications. The list of policies that the council considers
to be strategic are set out in Appendix A.

1.5 Government continues to stress the need for economic and housing growth in all areas and
has stated that if councils do not deliver this by way of a local plan then the Government could
potentially intervene in that area. The new local plan is the opportunity for local communities and
stakeholders to plan for how County Durham should grow and improve.

1.6 In a local context, the Plan should have regard to the Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS)
which is the overarching strategy for County Durham and is published by the County Durham
Partnership. It sets out our shared long-term vision for the county, our ambitions for the area and the
priorities that partners and communities believe are important. It provides the blueprint to deliver
long-lasting improvements and sets the scene for the Plan.

1.7 In addition to the Plan, there will be one other future document. The Minerals andWaste Policies
and Allocations Document will be prepared to complement the strategic minerals and waste policies
in this Plan. It will contain detailed development management policies and any non-strategic minerals
and waste allocations which are considered necessary to meet the future needs of County Durham
and make an appropriate contribution, where necessary, to wider regional and national needs for
mineral supply. Once adopted, the policies and provisions of the Minerals and Waste Policies and
Allocations Document will replace the remaining saved policies of the County DurhamMinerals Local
Plan 2000 and the saved policies of the County Durham Waste Local Plan 2005.

Pre-Submission Draft January 20196

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 256



Stages of Local Plan Preparation and Next Steps

1.8 The timetable for preparing the Plan with details on key stages of public consultation is
summarised below. The detailed timetable is set out within our Local Development Scheme which is
available to view online at: www.durham.gov.uk/cdp. After the close of the consultation on the
Submission Draft, the comments received will be forwarded on to an appointed Planning Inspector,
following formal submission of the Plan for an Examination in Public.

Figure 1

7Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 257

http://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp


How Do I Get Involved?

1.9 Consultation on the Preferred Options took place between 22 June and 3 August 2018. A total
of 4,007 responses were received from 1,128 respondents. The council welcomes the significant
level of response received and has carefully considered all of the comments made and taken them
into account in preparing the Submission Draft. A summary of the representations made and the
council’s response is set out in a Statement of Consultation which is available on our website.

1.10 We now encourage everyone to get involved with this stage of the preparation of the County
Durham Plan. For more information on the Submission Draft consultation please visit our website at:
www.durham.gov.uk/cdp

1.11 You can send responses in a number of ways, but we would like to encourage you to submit
your views online, via our consultation website: www.durham.gov.uk/cdp

1.12 This method should save you time and it will allow us to process and consider your comments
more quickly. We hope that you will find the website quick and easy to use. Once your comments
have been submitted they will be processed and added to the interactive website following the end
of the consultation where you will also be able to see what comments have been made by others.
Names will be made available, unless we are notified otherwise. In order to protect your privacy all
other information you provide when registering will not be open to public view. All of your comments
will however be publicly available so please ensure that you do not include any personal details, such
as your address within your comments. Responses can also be sent by email
to: cdpconsultation@durham.gov.uk.

1.13 A response form is also available for download from the website. If you do not have access
to the Internet, please respond in writing to: FREEPOST SPATIAL POLICY. No further information
is required on the address.

1.14 You can also call the Spatial Policy Team with any questions, to request hard copies of the
documentation or to request further information on: 0300 026 0000.

1.15 The Submission Draft and other supporting documents will be published on our website from
8 January 2019 and the formal consultation begins on 25 January 2019. All comments should be
submitted to us by 4.30pm, 8 March 2019.

1.16 The council will share details in line with the Spatial Policy Privacy Notice and when required
to do so by law and/or statutory regulations in producing the development plan and planning policy
documents. Any information and personal data will be retained securely and in line with Durham
County Council's retention guidelines.

Pre-Submission Draft January 20198

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 258

http://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp
http://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp
mailto:cdp@durham.gov.uk


Neighbourhood Plans

1.17 Town and Parish Councils, or constituted community organisations (Neighbourhood Forums)
have the ability to prepare further plans and orders that complement the Plan. These powers were
introduced to enable communities to get more involved in planning for their areas and consist of the
following:

Neighbourhood Plan – provides local policies for development and use of land in a neighbourhood;

Neighbourhood Development Order – enables Town and Parish Councils to grant planning
permission for certain types of development without the need for people to apply to the County
Council; and

Community Right to Build Order – enables small scale development in communities such as
housing or community facilities.

1.18 These tools are designed to be used positively to support planned growth in a local area and
build on, and conform with, the strategic needs set out in a local plan, including through additional
site allocations. They must also conform with national policy and guidance. We will work together
with communities who are developing their community-led plans alongside the Plan, to make sure
they complement each other. Once a Neighbourhood Plan has been finalised and following an
examination by an appointed examiner, a referendum is held in the neighbourhood area it covers. If
it is approved by the community, then it will form part of the development plan and be a key material
consideration in the determination of planning applications.

1.19 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that strategic plans should set out a
housing requirement figure for designated neighbourhood areas. The NPPF notes that, where it is
not possible to provide a requirement figure for a neighbourhood area, an indicative figure can be
provided, if requested by the neighbourhood planning body. As the Plan allocates sufficient sites to
meet housing needs for the county it does not set out housing requirements for designated
neighbourhood areas. The council will however on request, provide an indicative housing requirement
for neighbourhood areas based on the latest evidence of local housing need and the Plan's spatial
strategy and allocations. This neighbourhood housing requirement is a minimum and therefore
neighbourhood plans can include additional allocations.

9Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 259



Assessing Impacts

Sustainability Appraisal

1.20 Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is a statutory process integrated into the preparation of all aspects
of a local plan. The process assesses the potential impacts of policies and allocations against a range
of economic, social and environmental considerations and includes the requirements of Strategic
Environmental Assessment legislation. The SA advises on ways in which any adverse effects can
be avoided, reduced or mitigated or how any positive effects could be maximised. This helps to shape
the Plan and ensure that it is promoting sustainable development. You can give us your views on the
Submission Draft Sustainability Appraisal using the methods set out in the 'How do I get involved?'
section.

Habitat Regulations Assessment

1.21 Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) is integral to the development of land use plans such
as the County Durham Plan as it provides a statutory process(1) to assess the potential impact on
Natura 2000 sites. Natura 2000 sites are of exceptional importance in respect of rare, endangered
or vulnerable natural habitats and species within Europe. These include Special Protection Areas
(SPAs) designated under the EU 'Wild Birds' Directive, Special Areas of Conservation (SACs)
designated under the EU 'Habitats Directive', and European Marine Sites (EMS). As the Habitats
Directive applies the precautionary principle, plans can only be adopted if no adverse impact on the
integrity of site(s) in question is proven. To ascertain this, a Screening Assessment, followed by an
Appropriate Assessment, where necessary, must be undertaken. You can give us your views on the
Submission Draft HRA Screening Assessment using the methods set out in 'How do I get involved?'
section.

Equality Impact Assessment

1.22 Undertaking an Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) allows us to assess any risk of
discrimination before introducing new policies. Sometimes certain groups, such as Gypsies and
Travellers or older people, will be treated differently to ensure that they are not unfairly impacted or
that their needs such as in respect of housing can be met. An EQIA has been undertaken at each
stage of plan preparation and has been built into the development of the policies and proposals as
the Plan has evolved.

Health Impact Assessment

1.23 The Plan plays a key role in shaping the physical environment which can have a significant
impact on health and well-being by making it possible for people to make healthier lifestyle
choices. Many people in County Durham today live in different social circumstances and experience
avoidable differences in health, well-being and length of life. Creating a fairer society is fundamental
to improving the health of the whole population and ensuring a fairer distribution of good health. To
ensure that health considerations have been embedded into the County Durham Plan a Health Impact
Assessment has been undertaken with public health and other health professionals. Recommendations
from the Health Impact Assessment have strengthened the policies and provide a strategic direction
for decision making on planning applications ensuring that interventions such as encouraging more
walking and cycling can help shape health behaviours.

1 In accordance with Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/490/contents/made), which transposes the EU Habitats Directive,
(http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/legislation/habitatsdirective/index_en.htm).

Pre-Submission Draft January 201910

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 260

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/490/contents/made
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/legislation/habitatsdirective/index_en.htm


Duty to Cooperate: Cross-Boundary Issues

1.24 One of the changes brought about by the Localism Act 2011 was the introduction of the Duty
to Co-operate with neighbouring authorities and key stakeholders when preparing plans. County
Durham borders a number of county, district and unitary councils and a National Park Authority.
Regular liaison meetings are held with neighbouring councils to inform plan preparation and to ensure
that issues of common concern are identified, taken into account and hopefully resolved as the local
plan evolves. Notably, the council has developed working groups with the Tyne and Wear authorities
and those in Tees Valley, where we have our closest interaction. We also have formal arrangements
with authorities in Northumberland, North Yorkshire and Cumbria where specific issues such as
minerals and waste are discussed. Our ongoing duty to cooperate work has also led to the development
of cross boundary evidence bases in the past and has also led to the production of a Joint Local
Aggregate Assessment with mineral planning authorities in both Northumberland and Tyne andWear.
Other meetings with statutory consultees such as Historic England and Natural England have been
held throughout the process.

1.25 The revised 2018 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires authorities to
demonstrate effective and on-going joint working by preparing one or more statements of common
ground, documenting the cross-boundary matters being addressed and progress in cooperating to
address these. The government has provided further guidance on preparing these statements including
that they need to be publicly available. The council is working with neighbouring authorities and other
partners in the preparation of a number of statements of common ground, and as they are a new
requirement, they will be available for Submission. In the meantime an Outline Statement has been
prepared which identifies:

the geographical area covered by the statement, and justification for the area;
key strategic cross-boundary matters being addressed by the statement;
primary authorities responsible for the statement; and
governance arrangements for the co-operation process.

11Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 261



County Durham Plan Key Diagram and Monitoring

Key Diagram

1.26 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that broad locations for development
identified in a local plan should be identified on a Key Diagram. The Key Diagram for the County
Durham Plan is shown below.

Picture 1

Monitoring

1.27 Monitoring the success of the Plan will be important to ensure that it is being delivered and
remains effective. It also indicates when policies may need to be reviewed in response to changing
circumstances. An Annual Monitoring Report will therefore be produced to measure the effectiveness
of our policies.

1.28 In order to aid monitoring and discuss issues across an area the size of County Durham, with
its many different communities, it is useful to break the county down into geographical areas which
have similar characteristics in terms of their housing, economy and history. We have therefore identified
nine monitoring areas which will assist in measuring the success of the Plan's policies. In reality, the
boundaries between these areas are not distinct and in some cases, issues overlap as they are not
physically discrete. The general extent of the monitoring areas is shown below.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201912

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 262



Map 1 County Durham Plan Monitoring Areas

13Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 263



2 What the County Durham Plan is Seeking to Achieve

2.1 The ambition for County Durham is to build a successful and sustainable future in which all of
our residents have the opportunity to access good housing and employment in an environment which
delivers a healthy and fulfilled lifestyle.

2.2 The strategy, by understanding the opportunities and needs of all our people as well as the
towns and villages to which they belong, seeks to focus on delivering more and better jobs; the
delivery of a wide choice of quality homes meeting needs and in locations that reduce the need to
travel and where people want to live; protecting and enhancing our high quality built, historic and
natural environment; and ensuring that the key infrastructure required to support this growth such as
transport, health and education is delivered alongside any future development.

2.3 Over the past nine years, County Durham has started to turn its economy around, promoting
a confident approach to maximising the opportunities that exist in the county. It has attracted investment
not usually associated with the county’s economic profile and is now seen as a key regional contributor
to the economy. This has been possible with the development of key emerging industries, the opening
up of strategically important sites and a pipeline of investment at an all-time high. The continued
success of Durham University, an increasing diversity in science and high tech industries as well as
significant growth and excitement in developing a national and international tourism offer based on
the county’s heritage, culture and natural beauty, all add to this growing confidence.

2.4 Despite this significant potential for continued success, the county continues to lag behind
national and regional indicators in respect of employment and wages. In response the County Durham
Plan sets out an ambitious but deliverable vision to build on this optimism and capitalise on the range
of opportunities which exist to move the county forward through the Plan period to 2035.

2.5 The many existing locational advantages of County Durham, including the A1(M), A19, A66,
and the East Coast Main Line, provide ease of movement to the rest of the region and country for
both business and tourism. This, coupled with good access to ports on the North East coast and to
three airports within one hour of travelling time provide direct links to Europe and the rest of the world.
The A1(M) and A19 in particular have seen significant investment over the last five years as well as
having supported Durham’s manufacturing firms in respect of the exporting of goods and expertise.

2.6 We have a strong rural economy with some significant industries located within our rural areas,
which we need to continue to support to enable their growth and continued success. Farming and
food production are an important part of the rural economy. The Plan needs to be sufficiently flexible
to allow this sector to diversify and remain resilient.

2.7 We also have a number of larger towns such as Barnard Castle, Consett, Spennymoor, Peterlee,
Stanley, Bishop Auckland, Newton Aycliffe and Crook which all provide a key location for local and
regional businesses contributing to the employment base and local economy.

2.8 Tourism across the county continues to grow year on year with new attractions developing in
the Durham Vale, rural west and east coast. The ongoing roll out of broadband provides a significant
opportunity for new industries and businesses to locate in rural areas and for home working to become
a viable option too. These sectors can all provide sustainable employment and future opportunities
meaning Durham’s economy is well positioned to grow. To enable this it is vital to have flexibility in
our policies; the necessary infrastructure to strengthen the opportunity and meet the needs of our
communities balanced against respecting the amenity, character and beauty of the places where
they are proposed.

2.9 Previous plan strategies for the county have largely focused on the regeneration priorities at
that time. In addition, planning strategies were largely defined by government regeneration initiatives
aimed at reversing decline with significant public funding in order to mitigate the historic collapse of

Pre-Submission Draft January 201914

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 264



heavy industry and the impact this had on residents and communities evidenced by some of the worst
health and deprivation indicators in the country. The public sector remains important to the success
of the county however this Plan proposes better co-operation and an improved understanding of
private sector investment and business in the face of reduced public sector funding. This process of
change is well underway with many positives now realised; the Plan therefore seeks to build on this
momentum, providing further confidence in the economy and ensuring that the needs of our residents
are met.

2.10 Key employment sectors within the county include financial services and advanced
manufacturing, in particular the automotive and transport industries, tourism, healthcare, construction
and utilities and communications. Research and development also have a strong presence partly as
a result of tapping into Durham University’s ambition to work harder for the benefit of the county.

2.11 In allocating new development there is a need to ensure that both the site and the essential
infrastructure required to support it are deliverable. Locating jobs in themost accessible and sustainable
locations is a key objective of the Plan. Similarly allocating housing close to jobs and services in order
to reduce the need to travel and ensuring that existing services are supported is fundamental to
ensuring sustainable development. The Plan is also based on the principle of allocating brownfield
land first wherever possible, then utilising sustainable greenfield sites, only then considering the
release of Green Belt as a last resort and where exceptional circumstances exist. Indeed, a significant
proportion of the housing required up to 2035 currently benefits from planning permission or is under
construction.

2.12 Regeneration has, in some areas, resulted in recent rapid housing growth which has seen
much of the demand in these areas met, whilst in other cases there are sites which have been granted
planning permission but have not started due to site issues or viability. As such, any new allocations
must seek to increase the range and amount of new housing available and be located in strong market
areas and/or where viability and sustainability indicate that the housing will be successfully delivered
within the timescales to meet the identified needs of our communities. The Plan reflects this approach
by focusing primarily on areas which are both sustainable and deliverable, whilst taking account of
pockets of low demand where the importance of facilitating any regeneration opportunities is vital.
The result is that most large towns and villages contain an allocation or already benefit from an existing
planning permission for housing which will help support their future vitality and will ensure that the
range and choice of housing improves, meeting the needs of all of our residents and helping to support
our economic ambitions.

2.13 The nature of our town centres presents particular challenges in the context of retail
development. Despite recent increases in the number of supermarket developments which have
largely met convenience shopping needs, all town centres are suffering some level of decline with
the numbers of vacant units and the growth of fast food takeaways affecting the experience and
quality of our retail centres. Many now need to diversify including by encouraging alternative uses.
Whilst the evidence does not identify a specific need to identify new sites we will continue to support
development which adds to their vitality and brings positive uses, to these centres. The Plan also
includes flexible polices which will encourage our centres to deliver the services that support our
communities by being safe and welcoming including being a focus for leisure and the night time
economy and making the most of the assets that our centres do have such as their historic character.

2.14 County Durham has a rich history of mining and mineral working and large areas of the county
are underlain by mineral resources of local and national importance. County Durham's many quarries
are regionally important producers of aggregates, industrial minerals and other mineral
commodities which provide the raw materials for the infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that
society needs. Taking into account that minerals can only be worked where they are found, the Plan
will provide for their extraction whilst minimising their impacts on the environment, health and the
amenity of local communities.

15Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 265



2.15 County Durham's existing waste management facilities receive approximately 1.5 million
tonnes of waste per annum. Ensuring the sustainable management and use of waste are important
aims of the Plan which must also ensure that their operation does not have unacceptable adverse
impacts on the environment of the county and the health and the amenity of local communities.

2.16 Our built, historic and natural environment is as diverse as the communities that make up the
county and includes a landscape that is celebrated and appreciated by visitors and residents alike.
Through consultation the extent to which County Durham residents and businesses value their built,
historic and natural heritage has been made clear, and the Plan responds to that. A significant area
of outstanding natural beauty, the Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site, a heritage coast
and the Durham Dales provide a backdrop to our towns and villages. Large swathes of high quality
landscape means that you are rarely far from being in the countryside. Protection and management
of these assets and the widespread and varied ecology runs right through the Plan.

2.17 Culturally the history of the Prince Bishops has helped to define many of the older settlements
as well as the communities that live there. Over 90 conservation areas, 226 scheduled monuments
and well over 3,000 listed buildings provide a history of Britain from Roman times through early
Christianity to the birth of the railways and the start of the industrial revolution. Durham is proud of
its heritage and the Plan seeks to protect and enhance all of these assets which make Durham a
unique place.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201916

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 266



3 Vision and Objectives

Spatial Vision

3.1 The key community priorities set out in the County Durham Sustainable Community Strategy
(SCS)(2) draw upon the needs, expectations and aspirations of local communities, groups and partner
organisations across the county. The spatial vision for the Plan needs to reflect the SCS and the key
challenges and issues facing the county:

Spatial Vision for County Durham

By 2035 County Durham will have a thriving economy, reducing levels of deprivation, social
exclusion and joblessness with the associated health and quality of life improvements. It will also
be bridging the gap between its economic performance and that of other parts of the North East
and the rest of England. It will be a top location for business and tourism, capitalising on its
strategic location on the A1(M), A19, A66, East Coast Mainline, its east/west links and its close
proximity to Durham Tees Valley and Newcastle International Airports.

The county will comprise of sustainable, balanced and regenerated communities, with key
development being located to achieve sustainable patterns of development, ensure the effective
use of land and reduce our contribution to climate change and support the vitality and vibrancy
of existing centres. All communities and businesses will benefit from an accessible, integrated
and sustainable transport system, resulting in increased public transport use and safe, well used
and attractive cycling and walking routes.

The county will have an accessible, well designed range and choice of good quality housing,
including affordable housing, services and community, leisure and recreational facilities,
complementing and contributing to the area’s thriving economy and meeting the needs of all
existing and future residents. At the heart of communities will be accessible green infrastructure,
not only improving the quality of place but people's quality of life and reducing health inequalities.
The county’s rural areas will be continuing to play a vital role in the county’s economy, employment
and tourism, including through diversification and embracing the opportunities provided by
improved broadband connectivity.

The county will continue to be renowned for its culture and diverse and high-quality built, historic
and natural environment. This will be enjoyed, protected and enhanced by ensuring new
development adheres to high standards of design and sustainability principles. This will ensure
that our environmental resources are secured in the long-term, providing for sustained economic
growth, a better sense of place and strong communities. Our environment, communities,
businesses and transport infrastructure will be capable of adaptation and be resilient in the face
of climate extremes supporting opportunities to establish a low carbon economy.

County Durham will continue to play its role and remain an important source of minerals. Its
quarries will continue to produce the steady and adequate supply of minerals, as required. New
or extended mineral workings will be guided to environmentally acceptable locations and carried
out to the highest environmental standards. County Durham's waste will be viewed as a valuable
resource and waste recycling will be an integrated part of daily lives. All our planning functions
will aim to drive waste up the waste hierarchy and use resources efficiently. New waste facilities
will be built in the right place and at the right time, protecting human health and the environment
from waste development.

2 http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/Pages/CDP-SustainableCommunityStrategy.aspx

17Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 267

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/Pages/CDP-SustainableCommunityStrategy.aspx


Objectives

3.2 The strategic objectives are derived from the Vision and focus on the key issues which the Plan
needs to address. The objectives provide the broad direction of the spatial strategy and the detailed
policies of the Plan and cannot be achieved in isolation.

Objective 1: Economic Ambition - Improve the economic performance of the whole of County
Durham by creating more and better jobs, increasing the employment rate and reducing
unemployment, thereby increasing GVA (a measure of economic performance), household
income, demand for local goods and services and improving the resilience of the county's
economy.

Objective 2: Sustainable Communities - Locate new development in areas which offer the best
opportunity for sustainable development patterns, including means of travel other than the private
car, thus ensuring that new homes and jobs are supported by a high quality environment, services
and infrastructure, and in turn new development supports the vitality, viability and economic
performance of our towns and villages.

Objective 3: Housing Need - Deliver new, high quality housing, in a range of house types and
tenures, that is accessible to, and meets the needs and aspirations of, County Durham’s residents
(including affordable, families with children, young people, older persons, multi-generational
housing, specialist housing and those people wishing to build their own home) while making
effective use of the existing stock.

Objective 4: Infrastructure - Enable the delivery of the necessary infrastructure such as transport,
health and education, digital and green infrastructure, that is required to support new and existing
development and the economic, social and environmental ambitions of the county.

Objective 5: Town Centres - Maintain a clear hierarchy of vibrant, diverse and distinct retail
centres that are the focus for commercial, retail, leisure, culture and other appropriate uses.

Objective 6: Rural Economy - Support and improve the rural economy by encouraging
diversification, retaining and enhancing key facilities, infrastructure and services while promoting
appropriate new development in rural settlements.

Objective 7: Green Belt - Support the aims and purposes of Green Belt and seek to positively
enhance its beneficial use, including increased opportunities to provide access, outdoor sport
and recreation, to retain and enhance landscapes, visual amenity and biodiversity and/or to
improve damaged and derelict land.

Objective 8: Effective Use of Land - Make the most effective use of land, buildings and existing
infrastructure, re-using land and buildings that have been previously developed, wherever
possible, provided that, in the case of land, it is not of high social, heritage or ecological value
and taking into account the need for remediation or the existence of unstable and/or contaminated
land.

Objective 9: Natural Environment - Protect, enhance, maintain and manage the county’s locally,
nationally and internationally important natural environment, including through securing net
gains, protecting connectivity and recognising the wider benefits from natural capital.

Objective 10: Built and Historic Environment - Protect and enhance the significance of County
Durham's locally, nationally and internationally important built and historic environment, including
its wide range of buildings, sites, archaeology, parks and gardens and other heritage assets.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201918

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 268



Objective 11: Well Designed Places - Ensure the creation of high quality buildings and places
that reflect local distinctiveness, promote sustainability, support the transition to a low carbon
future and achieve safe and secure communities.

Objective 12: Raising Aspirations - Encourage greater prosperity by supporting education,
training and research establishments that help to raise the aspirations, participation and attainment
of young people, re-engage adults with work and lifelong learning and develop workforce skills.

Objective 13: Tackling Deprivation and Inequalities - Ensure that the regeneration needs of
County Durham’s communities are met in order to reduce deprivation, improve health and address
social, economic and environmental inequalities.

Objective 14: Quality of Life - Safeguard, enhance and provide a wide range of educational,
social, sporting, health, recreational and cultural facilities, including green infrastructure and
natural capital, and seek to prevent and address pollution issues to contribute to the quality of
life, satisfaction and health and well being of people who live, work within and visit County
Durham, including addressing the needs of those with physical and mental disabilities.

Objective 15: Visitor Economy - Strengthen County Durham’s role as a visitor/tourist destination
through supporting and enhancing existing attractions, visitor accommodation, townscapes,
landscapes and the historic and natural environment.

Objective 16: Adaptation to Climate Change - Adapt to the impacts of climate change and
extreme weather conditions by promoting appropriate sustainable urban drainage systems
(SUDs) in new developments, promoting sustainable landmanagement and conservation including
protecting habitats such as woodland and peatland, ensuring that new development is located
away from areas of flood risk, with an integrated approach to water management across all areas
and encouraging appropriate building and infrastructure design and through the restoration of
minerals and waste sites.

Objective 17: Low Carbon - Reduce the causes of climate change and support the transition to
a low carbon economy by encouraging and enabling the use of low and zero carbon technologies,
supporting the development of appropriate renewable energy sources and sustainable and active
transport.

Objective 18: Sustainable Transport - Ensure that new development can be easily and safely
accessed by all modes of transport and, wherever possible, contribute to reducing the need to
travel, thereby reducing the impact of traffic and congestion on air quality, the wider environment,
businesses and the economy, communities and health.

Objective 19: Natural Resources - Protect and enhance air, water and soil quality and encourage
the efficient and sustainable use of the county’s resources, particularly energy, water, soils, best
andmost versatile agricultural land, timber, minerals and waste including through the development
of a diverse and thriving local food system.

Objective 20: Supply of Minerals - Meet society’s needs and ensure a steady and adequate
supply of both energy and non-energy minerals, in accordance with the principles of sustainable
development; while also protecting the environment, amenity and health of local communities;
ensuring the early and high quality restoration and aftercare of mineral sites; and the safeguarding
economically important mineral resources, mineral sites and minerals related infrastructure from
incompatible development.

19Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 269



Objective 21: Waste Management - Support the development of a network of modern waste
management facilities which help ensure that society's waste arisings are managed in accordance
with the principles of the waste hierarchy; which facilitate re-use, recycling, composting and
recovery of value from waste and enabling the disposal of waste as the last resort; while also
protecting the environment, the amenity and health of local communities; and existing and
proposed facilities from incompatible development.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201920

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 270



Delivering Sustainable Development

3.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) makes it clear that the purpose of the planning
system and local plans is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. In accordance
with this, the County Durham Plan, when read as a whole, seeks to deliver sustainable development
as a means of growing the county's economy, supporting the wellbeing of communities across the
county, and protecting and enhancing the environment. The Plan therefore includes clear policies
and the Sustainable Development Statement below, to guide how the presumption in favour of
sustainable development will be applied in County Durham.

Sustainable Development Statement

When considering development proposals, the council will take a positive approach that reflects
the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National Planning Policy
Framework. It will work pro-actively with applicants jointly to find solutions which mean that
proposals can be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that improves the
economic, social and environmental conditions in County Durham.

Planning applications that accord with the policies in the Local Plan and the Minerals and Waste
Policies and Allocations Document(3)(and, where relevant, with policies in neighbourhood plans)
will be approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important
for determining the application are out of date, the council will grant permission unless the
application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance
provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed, or any adverse impacts of doing
so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

To deliver sustainable development in County Durham and achieve the economic, social and
environmental benefits that development can bring we will pursue the following principles:

1. New development should create and support strong, vibrant, resilient and healthy
communities, making the most effective use of previously developed land wherever possible,
and enabling a larger number of people to have convenient access to jobs, training, services
and facilities (including multi-functional green space) by public transport and safe walking
and cycling, as alternatives to the private car.

2. In order to secure balanced communities, development should deliver economic growth and
new job opportunities. This should be supported by an appropriate scale and mix
of housing which meets identified need and is located in places where people wish to live.

3. The location and scale of new development should meet the needs of our communities and
businesses, supporting levels of growth commensurate with their access to services and
facilities (as set out in the County Durham Settlement Study(4)), its rich and diverse
environment and existing infrastructure constraints, whilst seeking opportunities to secure
improvements and balancing this with land supply and viability.

4. To allow smaller communities to become more sustainable and resilient, development that
delivers environmental and community benefits, social cohesion and economic vitality will
be permitted, particularly if it benefits nearby communities that individually lack, services,
facilities and/or employment opportunities; and

3 Until the Minerals and Waste document has been adopted saved policies in the Minerals Local Plan and Waste Local Plan will
continue to be used.

4 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

21Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 271

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


5. In rural areas, development that meets the economic and housing needs of the local
community, including tourist development, will be permitted providing it is appropriate and
the quality, character and valuable features of the countryside are protected.

6. Development should contribute to protecting and enhancing the natural, built and historic
environment, be resilient to climate change, while promoting low carbon construction.

3.4 A local plan should ensure that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places
to support growth by identifying and coordinating development requirements, including the provision
of infrastructure. Development must also be viable, deliverable and located in places where people
wish to live. In order to secure the infrastructure that is required to support new development such
as highways improvements, open space or in the case of housing, school places or affordable housing
then development must be allowed in those areas where there is sufficient opportunity for delivery.

3.5 The County Durham Plan should reflect all of the principles set out in the NPPF by directing
most new development to those places that offer the best access to services and facilities (both now
and for the foreseeable future). This can help reduce the need to travel, as well as making best use
of existing infrastructure and previously developed land in built-up areas. By reflecting viability it also
gives us the best chance of development being delivered. The nature of the county’s dispersed
settlement plan does mean however that some development would be acceptable in smaller, more
rural settlements, to support their resilience and sustainability.

3.6 Through the Plan, we will support opportunities to create new and better jobs as well as help
people to improve their education and skills levels, obtain work, and set-up businesses. It is important
that there is a cohesion between education, training and links to current and emerging sectors within
the county. We will also ensure there is a portfolio of available sites to attract new businesses to the
county and have the flexibility to respond to the changing needs of existing businesses.

3.7 Given the rural nature of much of the county, it is essential that we continue to promote a strong
rural economy by supporting sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and enterprise
in rural areas. It is essential that opportunities are sought which will allow those who work in the
countryside to also live there.

County Durham Settlement Study

3.8 County Durham consists of over 229 communities of differing character and size. These
communities all play different roles, have different ambitions and have different relationships with the
communities around them. To help understand these roles and relationships we have developed a
Settlement Study(5)which assesses the availability of services and facilities in each settlement such
as jobs, shops, schools and access to public transport. The Settlement Study lists all settlements in
order from the highest ranked settlement to the lowest, reflecting the range and number of services
available. This then informs the location of new development allocated within the Plan.

5 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

Pre-Submission Draft January 201922

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 272

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


4 How Much Development and Where

Quantity of Development (How Much)

4.1 Whilst the economy is seen as a high strategic priority of the council and its partners, it also
needs to be balanced with ensuring that social and environmental issues are fully considered and
prioritised equally. The Plan therefore reflects the need to create successful places by improving the
economic performance of County Durham and providing the housing and facilities that we need. The
Plan is paramount to creating the right conditions for a sustainable County Durham. This includes
creating a better environment for business and residents by providing the infrastructure that is needed
to enable an increased proportion of the working age population to be in employment, people to live
in good quality housing and to have access to a range of facilities, with all the benefits to residents
health, wellbeing and prosperity that follow as a result. The Plan therefore seeks to enable growth
and economic prosperity by ensuring that there is sufficient land, of the right type and in the places
where people and business wish to locate within the environmental constraints which exist.

Quantity of Development

Policy 1

Quantity of New Development

In order to meet the needs and aspirations of present and future residents of County Durham
and to deliver a thriving economy, the following levels of development are proposed up to 2035:

a. 302 hectares of strategic and general employment land for office, industrial and warehousing
purposes; and

b. 24,852 new homes of mixed type, size and tenure.

Determining the Need for Employment Land

4.2 In order to support economic growth across the county, it is essential that a suitable supply of
sites and premises is actively planned for if we are to attract and retain businesses in the future. The
County Durham Employment Land Review (ELR) (6)provides the link between demographic change,
job growth and the quantity of employment land that is needed to 2035. Government guidance
suggests three approaches to understanding the quantitative need:

Labour Demand – This approach uses employment forecasts of growth in different employment
sectors from companies such as Experian and reflects recent trends and economic growth
projections at the national and regional level. They also take into account how specific employment
sectors in County Durham have performed relative to regional growth rates in the past. This
results in a figure of 88 hectares;

6 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

23Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 273

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


Labour Supply – This approach is based on the estimated growth in jobs and a calculation of
land needed to support these jobs. The jobs figures used are outputs from the calculation of the
OAN set out below. This results in a figure of 86 hectares; and

Past Take-up of employment land and property – The amount of employment land which has
been developed for different employment uses across the county since 2001. This results in a
figure of 287 hectares.

4.3 The main difference between the forecasting techniques is conflicting views regarding the future
requirements of manufacturing. The baseline labour demand and labour supply scenarios indicate
pessimistic forecasts for the manufacturing sector. This does not reflect the reality on the ground with
the past take up analysis indicating that future manufacturing demand will be 105 hectares.

Qualitative Demand

4.4 All three forecasting techniques have their strengths and limitations and consideration needs
to be given as to how appropriate each scenario is to the circumstances of County Durham, taking
into account current market conditions. Therefore in determining a final figure for the levels of
employment land required, it is important to also take into account relevant qualitative factors. Such
factors include the views of businesses, agents and developers, to obtain a detailed understanding
of the commercial market context for the county, emerging sectors and market signals. We also need
to factor in current business trends andmonitor relevant business, economic and employment statistics.
This will allow us to build up the qualitative and quantitative picture necessary to provide a full
understanding of demand for employment land to ensure that land is identified in areas which are
most attractive to businesses.

Supply

4.5 The ELR also considers the current supply of employment land. We estimate the county has
around 728 hectares (gross) of allocated employment land, quite often in parts of the county which
do not serve the needs of business. The reason this figure is so high relates to the local plans of the
former local authorities which each allocated their own sites.

4.6 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) recommends the reallocation or de-allocation
of land where there is no reasonable prospect of an application coming forward for the allocated
use as this could be a constraint on the development of our towns and villages by reducing the amount
of land that may be available for housing. The long term protection of these sites may also make it
difficult to resist non-employment uses, such as housing, being developed on our more valuable
employment allocations.

Quantity of Employment Land

4.7 When comparing the existing supply of employment land to the forecasted need there is a
significant oversupply. This oversupply is particularly high in areas where existing market demand is
low and forecast expects it to remain so. Therefore following a review of the existing supply of
employment land and potential new employment sites, the ELR recommends that County Durham's
portfolio of employment land should be circa 260 hectares. To give flexibility and to acknowledge that
many of the employment land allocations are within existing employment areas and therefore unsuitable
for other uses, the Plan identifies a supply of land of 302 hectares.

4.8 The Plan also identifies NETPark, where the land is allocated for a specific type of employment
use. It therefore will fall outside of the 302 hectares of employment land supply. In addition further
land at NETPark and Integra61 is safeguarded beyond the Plan period.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201924

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 274



Employment Land Trajectory

4.9 The Employment Land Trajectory identifies the projected delivery of employment land by
hectares, over the Plan period. It takes into account existing planning permissions, past take up rates
and market intelligence in terms of the strength of economic market areas across the county.

Figure 2 Employment Land Trajectory

Determining the Objectively Assessed Need for Housing

4.10 The County Durham Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) has found that County
Durham is a self-contained Housing Market Area (HMA) and an appropriate geography for the
purposes of undertaking an assessment of housing need and for the purposes of planmaking. Through
the Duty to Cooperate it has also been confirmed that the County Durham HMA does not overlap
with any other local authority boundaries or other HMAs. Furthermore no local authority has asked
Durham County Council to make provision to meet a proportion of their housing need and similarly
all have confirmed that they would not wish to meet a proportion of our housing need.

4.11 In September 2017, the government consulted on and updated the approach to assessing
housing needs. This approach was set out for comment within the 'Planning for the Right Homes in
the Right Places' and has now been taken forward in the NPPF and accompanying draft Planning
Practice Guidance (PPG) published in July 2018. Both the NPPF and the guidance make it clear that
local authorities should use the government’s standard methodology for calculating housing need
unless there are exceptional circumstances.

4.12 There are three steps required to assess Local Housing Need (LHN) in line with the new
standard approach:

Step 1: Setting the Baseline

25Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 275



Step 2: An adjustment to take account of market signals

Step 3: Capping the level of any increase

4.13 In the Preferred Options we made use of the most up to date 2014 based Sub National
Household Projections. In line with the methodology, these projections have been taken over a 10
year period and annualised. This resulted in 1,322 households per annum. In response to step 2,
making use of the formula in the guidance the affordability adjustment equated to an additional 46
dwellings per annum in County Durham. In line with the guidance at step 3, a cap is not required for
County Durham. The standard methodology therefore resulted in 1,368 dwellings per annum in County
Durham.

4.14 The 2016 based Household Projections were published on 20 September 2018. When these
projections were taken as an input to the methodology for determining LHN, this resulted in a LHN
for County Durham of 1,032. It had been expected that the 2016 based Household Projections would
result in a reduced LHN. The Planning Practice Guidance published alongside the revised NPPF in
June 2018, noted that the government anticipated that lower than previously forecast projections
would have an impact on the outputs associated with the method for calculating LHN. The Guidance
noted that the revised projections were likely to result in housing need numbers being subject to a
significant reduction and that this would be inconsistent with the housing white paper. At this stage,
the Guidance signalled the government's intention to adjust the standard method following the
publication of the 2016 based Projections.

4.15 In October 2018, the government published a technical consultation, which sets out the
government's proposed approach. This proposed approach is consistent with the housing white paper
and previously published Guidance and notes that for the short term, the 2014 based Household
Projections should provide the demographic baseline for the assessment of LHN. It was noted that
in the longer term, the method for calculating needs will be reviewed and amended.

4.16 Housing needs in County Durham have therefore been developed in line with the government's
standard methodology as set out in Planning Practice Guidance and reflect the government's technical
consultation published on 26 October 2018. This approach results in a LHN of 1,287 homes per
annum. Planning Practice Guidance notes that the standard method for assessing local housing need
provides the minimum starting point for determining the number of homes needed in an area. In this
context, the Guidance notes that authorities should also consider previous delivery levels. Over the
past five years (2013/14 - 2017/18) the council has delivered on average 1,308 homes. This record
of delivery can be considered as being indicative of a greater housing need above the minimum
starting point. For this reason, housing need in County Durham is based on the minimum assessment
for Local Housing Need adjusted for recent past delivery. The adjustment made to accommodate for
past delivery, would also serve to deliver more affordable homes in County Durham to meet affordable
housing needs. The housing need for County Durham is therefore 1,308 dwellings per annum and
when applied over the plan period equates to 24,852 dwellings needed over the plan period 2016 -
2035.

4.17 In reflecting past delivery, it is considered that this level of housing will serve to maintain recent
momentum within the County Durham economy and will therefore support the Plan's vision and
objectives. It should be noted that this number is a minimum and not a ceiling, if housing completions
do exceed this level then this will be reflective of a buoyant housing market. It is however recognised
that the approach set out in the Technical Consultation is subject to consultation and if there are
material changes in the final version of the guidance then a review of the Pre-Submission Draft may
be required.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201926

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 276



Delivering the New Housing Required

4.18 The Plan seeks to ensure that the the housing need for the county is met. There are a number
of sources of housing supply that can contribute to meeting this need. The gap between this contribution
and the total housing need determines how much additional land needs to be allocated. When
allocating the sites to bridge this gap, the Plan has looked to ensure they will deliver the right homes
in the right places, taking into account need, demand, deliverability, sustainability and improving
choice.

Commitments

4.19 A significant proportion of the new houses we need are already committed either on sites
under construction or sites not started with planning permission (a total of 15,946 houses as at 30
September 2018 and shown in the table below).

Table 1 Total Commitments by Monitoring Area

Total Commitments (1)Local Plan Monitoring Area

969Durham City

2,064Central Durham

1,497North Durham

1,884North West Durham

2,548Mid Durham

2,500South Durham

572South East Durham

3,121(7)East Durham

791West Durham

15,946Total

1. including sites under construction and those with an outstanding planning permission

4.20 It is unlikely that all of these commitments will come forward during the Plan period for a variety
of reasons such as abnormal costs, including contamination, a lack of house builder interest etc. As the
existing commitments make up almost two thirds of the LHN the effect of non-delivery of some
of these developments on the ability to meet the Plan’s LHN has the potential to be significant. An
assessment of the lapse rate of planning permissions granted in County Durham shows that from
2011/12 to 2014/15, an average of 17% of the units granted permission have lapsed. In order to take
this evidence into account and ensure we are not hampered in meeting our housing need we have
applied a reasonable discount (of 10%) to sites with planning permission that have not started to
account for sites that are likely to lapse within the Plan period. We have applied a 10% rate rather
than the 17% average, as it is noted that there was a spike in 2012/13 where two large sites (243
and 258 units) lapsed equating to 35%, and we recognise that lapse rates this high are rare.
Furthermore, once the County Durham Plan is adopted there will be less large windfall sites granted
planning permission than in recent years, and the housing allocations identified to meet the housing
need have been subject to robust methodology including viability assessments giving more certainty
over their delivery. In addition there are a further 845 houses on nine sites (some started, some not

7 This includes a figure of 560 houses for the recently approved South of Seaham development.

27Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 277



started) which we expect to be delivered beyond the Plan period for various reasons set out in the
data supporting the housing trajectory (these have already been subtracted from the figures in the
table above).

4.21 We do not believe a lapse rate is required for the proposed housing allocations in the Plan as
the deliverability of these has been assessed, including using viability assessments. This provides
confidence that they will deliver the expected number of homes during the Plan period.

Windfalls

4.22 Government guidance states that local plans may include allowances for windfall sites
(non-allocated sites) which may come forward at some time in the future if there is evidence to justify
that allowance. Small sites under 0.4 hectares (12 houses) have historically made a contribution to
past housing delivery (an average of 117 houses per annum for the past five years). However it is
expected that with the Plan in place the number of windfalls will reduce, therefore it is considered
that an allowance of 80 per annum on small sites would be appropriate. This would reflect the
contribution small sites can make but does not make future housing delivery over reliant on them.
This figure has not been applied in the residual for allocation calculation for the first three years of
the Plan period as this would double count those small sites already included in the supply of existing
commitments.

4.23 Due to the age of the existing local plans in County Durham, large windfalls have made a
significant contribution to housing delivery in the recent past. However, although it is accepted that
some large windfalls may still receive planning permission during the Plan period, it is considered
that these should not be relied upon to meet our housing requirement. We therefore consider it
inappropriate to include an allowance for large windfall sites as this could undermine the purpose of
the local plan in providing certainty on where new housing should go.

Empty Homes

4.24 Bringing empty homes back in to use is a key priority for the council. We also recognise the
issues experienced in some areas as a result of concentrations of vacant, underused properties and
will continue to work with all relevant agencies and in particular Homes England to pursue funding
that will allow as many properties as possible to be brought back into use. Past performance shows
that on average, around 34 houses per year have been brought back into use. This gross figure is
however offset to some degree by those that move from being short term vacancies to become long
term vacancies during the same period. As homes fall in and out of long term vacancy for a whole
host of reasons, it is difficult to do anything more than estimate future impact upon housing supply
based upon past trends and known future council activity. It therefore seems reasonable to assume
a figure of 40 houses per year although this figure will be carefully monitored.

Student Housing

4.25 The PPG states that all student accommodation, whether it consists of communal halls of
residence or self-contained dwellings, and whether or not it is on campus can be included towards
the supply of housing based on the amount of accommodation it releases into the housing market.
Despite the development of new student accommodation within the county, current evidence does
not indicate that it is resulting in houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) being released into the general
housing market. Therefore no allowance for this has been made when calculating the amount of new
housing which needs to be allocated in the Plan although this position will be monitored.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201928

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 278



Demolitions

4.26 Sometimes where there is little or no demand for houses or they are in such poor condition
that they are uninhabitable, it is necessary to demolish them. If they are not council owned then they
may have to be purchased before they can be demolished. Although funding for future demolitions
is uncertain it is likely that there will be a degree of further demolitions across the Plan period,
particularly in areas of low demand. Although on average, there have been around 35 demolitions per
year for the past five years this can only be an estimate of the number of future demolitions. We
therefore think it is reasonable to assume a figure of around 40 houses per year although this figure
will be carefully monitored.

Residual for allocation

4.27 Taking the sources of supply set out above into account the following table sets out the
calculation used to determine how many houses we need to plan for, through allocating specific
housing sites across the county.

Table 2 Number of Houses to be Allocated

TotalComponent

24,852LHNA

-1,120Windfall allowance for sites under 0.4 hectares (12 houses) (80 pa from 2021 onwards)B

0Windfall allowance for sites over 0.4 hectares (12 houses)C

760Demolition Allowance (40 pa)D

-760Bringing empty homes back into use (40 pa)E

0Former student units released back into the housing market (0 pa)F

-15,946Commitments as at 30 September 2018(1)G

97910 % Discount for non-delivery of commitments which have not yet startedH

-3,442Completions 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2018I

5,323Residual for allocationJ

1. Includes sites where Section 106 agreements have not been signed. Does not include those units expected to be built beyond the
Plan period on sites started. Includes a figure of 560 expected within the Plan period at South of Seaham Garden Village.

Housing Trajectory

4.28 Trajectories are a planning tool designed to illustrate the expected rate of housing delivery
across the plan period. In order to prepare the housing trajectory for the county, we have estimated
the projected build out rates for all existing housing commitments and allocated sites. It is important
to emphasise that the housing trajectories are not intended to produce perfect forecasts of the future
but do provide as good an understanding as possible of the prospects for delivery. The advice of
developers and local agents has proved important in assessing lead-in times and build-out rates. The
trajectory sets out how the plan will maintain delivery of a five-year supply of housing land to meet
the objectively assessed need.

29Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 279



Figure 3

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Employment Land approved and completed

2. Number of houses approved and completed per year

Target:

1. Annual employment land delivery target - based on the Employment Trajectory

2. 1,308 houses

Pre-Submission Draft January 201930

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 280



Spatial Distribution of Development (Where)

4.29 A local plan not only identifies the amount of new development needed but also where it should
be located. Any options for locating new development should reflect the Sustainable Development
Statement but must also be realistic, deliverable, support the achievement of sustainable development
and reflect an understanding of our neighbouring authorities' strategies.

Distribution of Employment

4.30 It is important to ensure that there is a portfolio of available sites across the county which are
attractive to new employers, allow the expansion of existing businesses and respond to the changing
needs of businesses. It is essential that these are located in areas of the county that offer good
opportunities to attract investment. The Employment Land Review (ELR)(8) identifies a number of
economic market areas across County Durham which reflect different commercial markets and
recognise cross boundary relationships. These market areas are:

Durham City;

A1(M) Corridor;

A19 Corridor;

Consett and Surrounds;

Bishop Auckland and surrounds; and

The Rest of County Durham including rural areas.

4.31 The ELR has assessed land across these market areas and identifies surpluses and shortages
against the levels of demand for employment land. This then informs the employment land allocations,
focusing on the most attractive market areas, while also ensuring that we meet the needs of other
areas.

8 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

31Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 281

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


Employment Land

Policy 2

Employment Land

Employment Allocations

Undeveloped land and plots at the following employment sites and at proposed extensions to
these existing employment sites, as shown on the policies map, are allocated for B1 (Business),
B2 (General Industrial) and B8 (Storage and Distribution) unless specifically stated.

Table 3 Employment Land Allocations by Local Plan Monitoring Areas

Area (hectares, net)Name

DURHAM CITY

3.0(9)Aykley Heads (B1 only)

5.48Belmont Industrial Estate

0.66Abbey Woods

1.18Dragonville

10.32Total

CENTRAL DURHAM

26.67Meadowfield Industrial Estate

0.42Bowburn North Industrial Estate

44.25Integra61 (Land South of Bowburn Road)

71.34Total

NORTH DURHAM

4.44Drum Industrial Estate (Chester-le-Street)

1.29Stella Gill Industrial Estate (Chester-le-Street)

1.01Westline Industrial Estate (Birtley)

0.17Bowes Business Park (Lambton) (B1 only)

10.04Lambton Estate

16.95Total

NORTH WEST DURHAM

9 As detailed in Policy 4 (Aykley Heads) and excludes areas that are currently in use for employment

Pre-Submission Draft January 201932

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 282



Area (hectares, net)Name

0.78Villa Real (Consett Business Park)

0.61Delves Lane South

1.06Leadgate Industrial Estate

1.9Tanfield Lea Industrial Estate (North)

2.13Tanfield Lea Industrial Estate (South)

5.66Greencroft Industrial Park (Annfield Plain)

1.37Number One Industrial Estate (Consett)

24.31(10)Total

MID DURHAM

0.76Chilton Industrial Estate

3.42Chilton Extension

0.23Dean and Chapter Industrial Estate (Ferryhill)

10.18Green Lane Industrial Estate/Durham Gate (Spennymoor)

11.16Low Willington Industrial Estate

0.26Dan's Castle Industrial Estate (Tow Law)

1.16Inkerman

27.17Total

SOUTH DURHAM

10.19Aycliffe North

11.09Aycliffe South

10.12Merchant Park (Newton Aycliffe)

50.85Forrest Park (Newton Aycliffe)

6.86South Church Enterprise Park (Bishop Auckland)

2.46St Helens Auckland

2.74Future Business Park (Shildon)

6.72All Saints Industrial Estate (Shildon)

101.03Total

SOUTH EAST DURHAM

10 Includes 10.8 hectares on Hownsgill Industrial Estate

33Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 283



Area (hectares, net)Name

0.82Fishburn Industrial Estate

0.82Total

EAST DURHAM

18.85Jade Park

8.52Peterlee North West Industrial Estate

8.2Peterlee South West Industrial Estate

1.6Sea View Industrial Estate (Horden)

37.17Total

WEST DURHAM

2.32Harmire Industrial Estate (Barnard Castle)

0.2Stainton Grove Industrial Estate

7.13Land at Shaw Bank (Barnard Castle)

2.78Randolph Coke Works (Evenwood)

12.43Total

301.54 (11)COUNTY DURHAM

Specific Use Employment Sites

A site of 13.5 hectares at land north of NETPark, Sedgefield is allocated for uses with use class
B1, specifically for Research and Development only.

Safeguarded Employment Sites

An area of 17.69 hectares to the north of NETPark allocation is safeguarded for future expansion
beyond the end of the Plan period.

A site of 61.95 hectares to the west of the Integra61 allocation is safeguarded for future expansion
land beyond the end of the Plan period.

Project Genesis

In order to continue to progress the regeneration of Consett the council will support mixed use
development on the Project Genesis site, as shown on the policies map, including a site of 10.8
hectares at Hownsgill Industrial Estate for general employment land, provided the development
accords with all relevant development plan policies.

11 Includes 10.8 hectares on Hownsgill Industrial Estate

Pre-Submission Draft January 201934

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 284



Development of Employment Sites for Other Uses

Development for non-employment uses(12) on employment allocations (as identified in Table 3)
or existing protected employment sites (as identified in Table 4) will not be permitted unless:

a. there is documented evidence of unsuccessful active marketing for employment use with
at least one recognised commercial agent at local market levels, over a continuous period
of at least 12 months for a change of use of a property and 5 years for the development of
a plot of land; or

b. the proposed use would support the wider functioning of an employment site and would be
ancillary to the main employment use of the site.

Any new development for non-employment purposes on employment allocations or existing
protected employment sites must comply with the other relevant policies in the Plan and any
existing jobs located on the site must be relocated.

4.32 The County Durham Employment Land Review (ELR)(13) has assessed all employment sites
across the county together with sites put forward as part of the 'Call for Sites' for employment land,
against a range of criteria. These assessments give an indication of the relative strengths and
limitations of these sites and has informed the site allocations detailed above. Many of these are
undeveloped plots on existing industrial estates. Schedules for each employment allocation are
included in the ELR which identify any constraints. Where a site may impact on a heritage asset, a
separate assessment has been made.

4.33 It is important that a variety of sites are retained for employment purposes to achieve a balanced
and sustainable local economy and to provide opportunities for sustainable economic growth. Therefore
non-employment uses will be resisted unless they meet the criteria detailed within this policy. In some
instances, particularly on larger employment sites, facilities such creches/nurseries, gyms, sandwich
shops and cafés can support the wider functioning of the employment site and provide valuable
facilities for employees working within these locations. Such uses should however, be ancillary to the
main employment use.

4.34 The Plan allocates two significant areas for business at Newton Aycliffe. These are sites that
will contribute significantly to the economy of the county and provide unique investment opportunities.
Newton Aycliffe Industrial Estate is one of the largest estates in the North East and land exists to the
south and west of the estate for further expansion. The adjoining Merchant Park was identified as
the preferred location by Hitachi for a train manufacture and assembly plant. A purpose built facility
has recently opened and will produce new rolling stock for East Coast and Great Western Trains.
The site will see large scale job creation with the Hitachi development having the potential to act as
a catalyst for further growth and investment within the sector and bring wider benefits to Newton
Aycliffe and County Durham as a whole.

4.35 Forrest Park is a site of 50 hectares located adjacent to junction 59 of the A1(M) bounding
the A167 and Shildon Branch line. This site has the potential to deliver a prestige employment
development, which may include a major freight interchange operation providing rail linked distribution
warehousing and having direct motorway access to rail and port container services. The site may

12 Development for non employment uses is uses other than Business (B1), General Industrial Use (B2) or Storage and Distribution
(B8) unless specifically stated.

13 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

35Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 285

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


also provide further accommodation for businesses attracted to Newton Aycliffe following the location
of Hitachi in the town. Funding has recently been secured that will provide utility infrastructure and
an access onto the site.

4.36 To the south of Murton is the site of the proposed Enterprise Zone, Jade Park. With good links
to the A19, the Jade Park site is one of 10 sites around the region that has been given Enterprise
Zone status by the North East Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP). Businesses located within this
Enterprise Zone will receive a number of benefits that are in place to drive economic growth. For this
reason nearly 20 hectares of land is allocated for development.

4.37 There is also 10.8 hectares allocated at Hownsgill as part of Project Genesis in Consett. The
Project Genesis Trust was formed in the late 1980s as a registered charity in order to regenerate the
site of the former Consett Steelworks and reinvestment of the funds from the development for the
provision of environmental, recreational and social benefits to local people. Alongside a number of
new commercial developments including a Tesco’s Superstore, new housing and a new building for
Derwentside College, a number of new industrial premises and offices for local and international
businesses have also been delivered. The remaining land on Hownsgill will support further jobs growth
and contribute to the regeneration of the town.

4.38 Meadowfield Industrial Estate is located to the west of Durham City. It covers a large area
and currently houses a variety of businesses and uses. The popular estate has seen recent land take
up with new premises having been developed. Land exists for business and industrial growth, building
on its locational advantages relatively close to Durham City and the A1(M). The Plan therefore
identifies 26.67 hectares of land which will provide opportunities for further growth over the Plan
period.

4.39 The economy of Bishop Auckland has undergone a period of change within recent years.
There are however seven hectares of undeveloped land at South Church Enterprise Park which
continues to be a popular location for business in the town. The Plan therefore allocates land there
to continue to meet business needs in the town.

4.40 The remaining allocations in this policy are for general employment use, light/heavy
industry/warehousing, within the B1 (Business), B2 (General Industrial) and B8 (Storage and
Distribution) use classes. These sites will meet the county's employment land requirements to 2035
as set out in Policy 1 (Quantity of Development).

4.41 The development of the employment allocations identified in Table 3 will contribute to creating
a prosperous economy in County Durham. Therefore they will be protected from development for
non-employment uses except in the specific circumstances set out in the policy.

Specific Use and Safeguarded Employment Sites

4.42 NETPark is a regionally significant centre for research and development (R&D) and plays a
vital role in unlocking the research potential of North East universities and colleges. It is important to
the continued success of NETPark that future phases of development are allocated and safeguarded
for R&D and technology transfer activity linked to the research specialisms of the region's higher and
further education institutions. The Plan therefore allocates 13.5 hectares of land within the Plan period
and a further 17.7 hectares is safeguarded as future expansion land beyond 2035. Given its economic
importance it is necessary to ensure that the safeguarded land is retained for future phases of
development. If the monitoring of the take up of land at NETPark indicates that the safeguarded land
is required earlier, this will be addressed in a future review of the Plan.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201936

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 286



4.43 The Plan allocates 44.25 hectares of employment land to the south of Bowburn, known as
Integra61. Further land of nearly 62 hectares adjacent to this site, west of the Leamside Line is
considered to provide a logical next phase to the development of Integra61 if it is successful. The
site has been safeguarded beyond the Plan period however, should the take up of the allocated land
indicate that land is required earlier, this will be addressed through a future review of the Plan.

Protected Employment Sites

4.44 In addition to the new land identified for employment, the ELR also identifies a number of
other existing employment sites which make an important contribution to the economy of the county
and are of sufficient quality that they should be protected for employment use. These are listed in
Table 4 below. These will only be permitted to change to non-employment uses subject to the criteria
in this policy.

Table 4 Protected Employment Sites

Durham City

Belmont Industrial Estate (Durham City)Abbey Road (Durham City)

Durham Science Park (Durham City)Abbeywoods (Durham City)

Dragonville (Durham City)Aykley Heads (Durham City)

Central Durham

Langley Park Industrial Estate (North)Bowburn Industrial Estate (North)

Langley Park Industrial Estate (South)Bowburn Industrial Estate (South)

Meadowfield Industrial EstateCoxhoe Industrial Estate

Quarrington Hill Industrial EstateEsh Winning Industrial Estate

Sherburn Hill Industrial EstateKimblesworth Industrial Estate

Tursdale Industrial EstateLangley Moor & Littleburn Industrial Estate

North Durham

Sacriston Colliery Industrial EstateBowes Business Park (B1 uses only)

Stella Gill Industrial Estate (Chester-le-Street)Drum Industrial Estate (Chester-le-Street)

The Turnpark (Chester-le-Street)Lumley Sixth Pit

Westline Industrial Estate (Birtley)Sacriston Industrial Estate

North West Durham

Leadgate Industrial EstateBradley Workshops (Consett)

Morrison Busty (South) (Annfield Plain)Castleside Industrial Estate (Consett)

Morrison Busty (North) (Annfield Plain)Craghead Industrial Estate (Stanley)

Morrison Service (Annfield Plain)Crookhall Industrial Estate (Consett)

Number One Industrial Estate (Consett)Delves Lane (North)

37Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 287



Park Road Industrial Estate (Consett)Delves Lane (South)

Park Road Industrial Estate (North) (Consett)Derwentside/Consett Business Park

Ponds Court (Consett)Derwentdale Industrial Estate (Consett)

Tanfield Lea Industrial Estate (North)Greencroft Industrial Park (Annfield Plain)

Tanfield Lea Industrial Estate (South)Harelaw Industrial Estate

The Grove (Consett)Hamsterley Industrial Estate

Watling Street (Consett)Hobson Industrial Estate

Hownsgill (Consett)

Mid Durham

Inkerman (Tow Law)Chilton Industrial Estate

Mainsforth Industrial EstateDan's Castle Industrial Estate (Tow Law)

Merrington Lane (Spennymoor)Dean and Chapter Industrial Estate (Ferryhill)

Thistleflat/Beechburn Industrial Estate (Crook)Dunelm Industrial Estate (Willington)

Thrislington/CornforthGreen Lane/Durham Gate (Spennymoor)

Tudhoe Industrial EstateHigh Hope Street (Crook)

Low Willington Industrial Estate

South Durham

Laurel Way Industrial Estate (Bishop Auckland)All Saints (Shildon)

Romanway Industrial Estate (Bishop Auckland)Aycliffe Business Park (North)

Shildon (Dabble Duck) Industrial EstateAycliffe Business Park (South)

South Church Enterprise Park (Bishop Auckland)Coundon Industrial Estate (West)

St Helen Auckland Industrial EstateFurnace Industrial Estate (Shildon)

West Auckland Industrial EstateFuture Business Park (Shildon)

Hackworth Industrial Estate (Shildon)

South East Durham

Trimdon Grange Industrial EstateFishburn Industrial Estate

Sedgefield StationNETPark (Sedgefield) (B1 uses in Research and
Development only)

Salters Lane Industrial Estate (Sedgefield)

East Durham

Pre-Submission Draft January 201938

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 288



Peterlee South West Industrial EstateBlackhall Industrial Estate

Seaham GrangeBrackenhill Business Park (Peterlee)

Sea View (Horden)Cold Hesledon Industrial Estate

Spectrum Business Park (Seaham)Foxcover Industrial Estate (Seaham)

Thornley StationGeorge Street (Seaham)

Whitehouse Business Park (Peterlee)Peterlee North East Industrial Estate

Wingate Grange Industrial EstatePeterlee North West Industrial Estate

West Durham

Middleton Station (Middleton-in-Teesdale)Bond Isle (Stanhope)

Randolph Industrial Estate (Evenwood)Broadwood (Frosterley)

Stainton Grove Industrial Estate (Barnard Castle)Evenwood Industrial Estate

St John's Chapel Industrial EstateFrosterley

Wolsingham Industrial EstateHarmire Industrial Park (Barnard Castle)

Non-Protected Employment Sites

4.45 The ELR identifies a number of existing employment sites that are currently in use (either in
full or in part) that are not considered necessary to protect. This is due to various factors such as
high vacancy rates, low demand and in some instances large areas of the site that have already been
lost to alternative uses such as housing, often due to low demand. In line with guidance in the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), their redevelopment for other uses will be permitted where the
proposed scheme is in accordance with the relevant policies of the Plan and any jobs on site are
successfully relocated.

Monitoring

4.46 The take up of employment land allocated in the Plan will be monitored and further land will
be identified if required. The extent of each Employment Allocation and Protected Employment Site
are shown on the policies map. Applications for employment uses outside of identified employment
sites will be assessed against relevant policies in the Plan.

39Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 289



How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Amount of employment land approved and completed by Use Class on allocated sites.

2. The amount of allocated and protected employment land lost to other uses.

Target:

1. In accordance with the employment trajectory.

2. None lost to other uses.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201940

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 290



Aykley Heads

Policy 3

Aykley Heads

In order to provide a high quality employment location to contribute to the delivery of the new
and better jobs which Durham City and County Durham need, land at Aykley Heads, as shown
on the policies map, is allocated as a Strategic Employment Site. The development of this site
will have regard to the provision and timing of the infrastructure necessary to support it.

The development of the site will reflect the following principles of development:

Employment

a. Deliver approximately 48,698 sqm of new high quality, flexible office (use class B1a)
floorspace on 9 hectares(14) of land to attract national and international employers;

b. An area of 1.0 hectare, currently occupied by the County Hall car park(15), will be released
from the Green Belt in order to provide office floorspace, providing a key gateway frontage
into the site; and

Services

c. To ensure the commercial attractiveness of the site, supporting ancillary facilities will be
permitted on the site provided that they complement the wider range of facilities in the city
centre and satisfy the sequential and impact test as outlined in Policy 10 (Retail Hierarchy
and Town Centre Development). Uses which may be appropriate include:

A2 (financial and professional services)A1 (convenience retail, sandwich bar)

A4 (drinking establishments)A3 (restaurant, snack bar, café)

D1 and D2 (health facilities, crèche, gym)C1 (hotels)

Green Infrastructure

d. Incorporate an interconnected network of good-quality, multi functional green infrastructure
including an adequate supply of different types of open space. An appropriate and enhanced
landscape structure with clearly defined boundaries will also be developed;

e. Set the new office development within a strong landscape framework which capitalises on
the site's natural landscape features, provides integration with the surrounding landscape,
preserves and enhances wildlife potential and embraces environmental standards;

14 This includes the existing plot of County Hall.
15 To the south east of County Hall.

41Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 291



f. Enhance the land to the east of the site to a high quality as an integral part of the site's
development, retaining its openness and providing an attractive, safe enhanced network
of multi-user routes, enhancing the opportunity for tree planting and habitat creation; and

g. Provide enhanced green routes running through the new park to provide attractive and safe
routes linking this area to the northern entrance of Durham Railway Station and Wharton
Park and residential areas to the north of the site.

Sustainable Design

h. Deliver attractive, well designed places incorporating sustainable development principles
and adopting sustainable construction methods;

i. Have regard to views and the significance of the Durham Castle and Cathedral World
Heritage Site and the Durham City Conservation Area;

j. A water drainage management plan, incorporating SuDS, will be required. It will consider
wider opportunities for improvement of local water quality. Any SuDS developed should be
designed to incorporate wetland habitats;

k. Enhance the entrance to the site from Durham Railway Station and provide good quality
pedestrian and cycle links from the station into the site; and

l. Create a new high quality gateway entrance fronting onto the A691/B6532.

Transport

m. Bus, pedestrian and cycle routes must be incorporated within, and connecting to the city
centre and other adjoining facilities. A Transport Assessment and Travel Plan will also be
required to ensure that reliance on the private car is reduced and to mitigate the impact of
increased traffic; and

n. Encourage the use of Park and Ride schemes and other forms of sustainable transport
while providing sufficient parking to major investors and prestige businesses.

4.47 Durham City is the most important employment centre in the county and the only key
employment location within the county which can be described as having a county-wide employment
draw(16). Durham City performs well relative to other areas of the county, it currently has significant
levels of public sector jobs including Durham Passport Service, National Savings and Investment
(NS&I), Durham Constabulary, University Hospital and the County Council. Durham has a world
leading university, good infrastructure and an excellent environment and quality of life on offer,

16 Commuter inflows into Durham City are far greater than outflows. Durham City has the largest working population of all settlements
in County Durham and is also the highest attractor of work trips in the county. Source County Durham Travel Patterns - 2011 Census
Date Analysis, Jacobs.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201942

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 292



however historically it has struggled to attract significant private sector investment. This is principally
because the city lacks a modern business quarter and a shortage of suitable sites. It is therefore
important that the Plan identifies a location that is attractive to private sector investment and business.

4.48 The Employment Land Review (ELR) recognises that Durham City is the county's key office
location and dominates the county's office market. It reports of rising demand for office accommodation
and low vacancy rates within the City Centre and DH1 postcodes. This is due to the take up in Durham
City having been constrained by a lack of available sites and Enterprise Zone status in other areas
which directed development to the A19 Corridor. This demand supports the need to develop a business
location of strategic importance within Durham City to promote private sector investment.

4.49 The site is located close to the city centre, adjacent to Durham Railway Station, has cycle
paths and footpaths and excellent road links to the A1(M) and A167. Detailed analysis and consultation
with business and developers through the preparation of the ELR, has also concluded that Aykley
Heads compares favourably with other sites in the city, the county and the remainder of the North
East. The high quality landscape and unique setting has the potential to provide a high quality office
environment that would therefore be attractive to private sector investment.

4.50 Recent private sector investment in the city at The Gates, Freeman's Reach and Milburngate
House and by Atom Bank (a new and exclusively online bank) and Waterstons (a business and IT
consultancy) at Aykley Heads, is evidence that the city, and Aykley Heads in particular, have the
potential to attract further significant private sector investment. It is important that this momentum is
maintained through a policy approach that allows the Aykley Heads site to maximise its potential as
a strategic employment site over the Plan period.

4.51 The Aykley Heads redevelopment is supported by a number of regional organisations including
the North East LEP and North East England Chamber of Commerce as well as Durham University.
The redevelopment of Aykley Heads requires that the council vacates its current building, the council's
cabinet has now agreed that the new HQ will be located on the Sands car park, opposite Freeman's
Quay leisure centre. A masterplan has also been agreed for the Aykley Heads site.

4.52 The current Green Belt boundary at Aykley Heads has been drawn tightly around the existing
buildings and includes 1.0 hectare of land which is a hard-surfaced car parking area at County Hall.
This area was assessed as part of the Green Belt Assessment which found that although this area
does contribute to preserving the setting and special character of historic towns it does not perform
strongly with regards to the other Green Belt purposes set out in the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF). Not withstanding the findings of the Green Belt Assessment the car park is a
clear urban use which adjoins the Durham City Conservation Area. Whilst development may therefore
have an impact, by connecting the site with the city centre and creating a 'presence' on Framwellgate
Peth/A691 it would provide an opportunity to enhance the setting of the Conservation Area and the
approaches into the city centre. The exceptional circumstances to justify the removal of the car park
fromGreen Belt include the unique economic opportunities a strategic employment site in a sustainable
location brings in terms of the creation of a large number of more and better jobs and the opportunity
to enhance the contribution that this site makes to the Conservation Area and the setting of the historic
core. In addition as this area would act as a gateway for the site, linking it to the city centre and the
station, its sensitive development would be important to the eventual success of the entire site.

4.53 In order for Aykley Heads to effectively stimulate economic growth, the provision of start-up
space andmove-on accommodation is as important as providing opportunities for large scale premises.
This could provide opportunities to increase rates of graduate retention and will be an important factor
in the marketing of DurhamCity as an office location. Occupiers are likely to come from the professional
services, financial and health sectors. Future businesses at Aykley Heads will be encouraged to
participate in the 'Better Health at Work' scheme, as part of promoting healthy lifestyles and considering
the health of their employees.

43Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 293



Aykley Heads Site

4.54 On the Aykley Heads site there are two large plots at the front of the site which will result from
the council's relocation away from County Hall. There are further sites available adjacent to the new
Police Headquarters on the former bowling greens, utilising the overflow car park and on the site of
the former Durham Trinity School.

4.55 It is estimated therefore that the site can accommodate a total floorspace of around 48,698
sqm(17)which using the national OFFPAT/HCA employment densities guide(18) will provide
approximately 4,000 jobs(19).

4.56 Aykley Heads is dominated by a variety of landscape environments and settings, which any
scheme must respect and work with to ensure that the unique setting is preserved. The site contains
dense woodland, open grassland, streams and ponds, as well as shaded slopes and open spaces.
The space and variety of these green spaces can be utilised for circulation (linking parts of the site
and allowing people to pass through), for activity (whether recreation or education) and to allow the
buildings to be set in an attractive landscape, which is a key asset of the Aykley Heads site. There
is also an informal parkland area that is well used particularly with dog walkers. As an integral part
of the redevelopment of the site, there is an opportunity to improve this area preserving and enhancing
existing habitats and creating new habitats. The public access into and around Aykley Heads will be
retained and improved, creating more attractive gateways into the site particularly from the railway
station and Wharton Park.

4.57 Views of the World Heritage Site are a major positive characteristic of the Aykley Heads site.
To ensure this remains the case and to similarly protect sensitive views of the World Heritage Site
from locations across the city, the development of the site must have due regard to these views and
the impact buildings, in terms of size and massing, would have. The development of the site should
seek to minimise any harm to the significance of the World Heritage Site or and designated heritage
assets including the conservation area (including cumulative or consequential harm).

4.58 Aykley Heads' location in close proximity to the city's railway and bus stations and on key bus
routes, including those used for the Park and Ride, provides excellent access to public transport.
New walking and cycle routes will connect the site to surrounding housing, Wharton Park, the railway
station and the city centre. It is acknowledged however that access by car and car parking are attractive
to private sector employers. In order to ensure that the traffic associated with the new businesses
does not have unacceptable impacts on the existing road network, highways improvements will be
required. The detail of these improvements will be determined as part of a future planning application
when the detail of the final proposal is known. It is likely that some of the funding and delivery of these
improvements will be linked to the delivery of the site, whilst some others will occur independently.

Possible Future Opportunities

4.59 The former police playing fields could provide a longer term opportunity to create a
further 19,000sqm of floorspace and around 2,000more jobs. However this will depend on the success
of the existing strategic employment site and will be considered as part of a future review of the Plan.

17 gross floorspace
18 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/378203/employ-den.pdf
19 There are currently 2,700 people working on Aykley Heads, the vast majority at the Police HQ and Durham County Council. Those

associated with the County Council will be relocated elsewhere within the city.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201944

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 294

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/378203/employ-den.pdf


How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Gross employment floor space completed at Aykley Heads.

Target:

1. 48,698sqm of floorspace completed.

45Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 295



Distribution of Housing

4.60 The Issues and Options presented four different spatial options for the distribution of housing;
Main Town Focus; Sustainable Communities; Sustainable Communities with Central Durham Villages;
and Wider Dispersal, set out in the table below.

Table 5 Options for the Distribution of Housing

Wider Dispersal %Sustainable
Communities with
DurhamVillages%

Sustainable
Communities %

Main Town Focus
%

571728Durham City

12211212Central Durham

10776North Durham

15131310NorthWest Durham

18161611Mid Durham

18151514South Durham

2111South East Durham

16151514East Durham

5444West Durham

4.61 In identifying the Sustainable Communities option as the preferred option in the Preferred
Options and now in the Pre-Submission Draft, comments made during consultation have been fully
considered together with the following principles. More detail on this is set out in the Spatial Strategy
Justification document (20).

Sustainability

4.62 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) makes it clear that the purpose of the planning
system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development in terms of its economic, social
and environmental impacts. Therefore patterns of growth should be managed so that significant
development is focussed on locations which are or can be made sustainable. This limits the need to
travel and allows the fullest possible use of public transport, walking and cycling by maximising access
to services, facilities and employment opportunities.

4.63 To this end The County Durham Settlement Study(21) helps us understand the roles and the
access to services and facilities of each of the county's settlements. The Study also assists in
understanding the relationship between settlements and how they serve social and community needs,
where people shop and go to school, work and leisure. It shows that locating most new housing in
the county's larger settlements would maximise the opportunity for residents to travel to work and
to other services and facilities by sustainable modes of transport. It also shows that Durham City has
more employment opportunities, services, facilities, cultural offer, leisure facilities etc. than any other
settlement in the county and should therefore play a major role in the spatial strategy for the county.
Other towns with a good range of services and facilities include Bishop Auckland, Consett, Newton
Aycliffe, Peterlee and Seaham.

20 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
21 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

Pre-Submission Draft January 201946

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 296

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


4.64 The existing location of employment opportunities and associated commuting patterns (which
are likely to remain similar in the future) show that in order to maximise access to jobs, to minimise
the increase in commuting and to deliver sustainable patterns of development, the focus for
new housing should be the county's larger settlements.

4.65 The chosen distribution should also identify appropriate quantities of development in other
settlements across the county, to sustain their vitality, support new and existing services and facilities
and to provide suitable housing for local communities. It is considered that the Sustainable Communities
option best reflects these locational requirements.

Impact on Economic Growth

4.66 The government is committed to ensuring that the planning system should help create the
conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. NPPF states that plan-making should
provide a positive vision for the future and address housing needs and other economic, social and
environmental priorities. It can do this by supporting the delivery of the homes, industrial land and
units, infrastructure and successful places that the country needs. Every effort should therefore be
made to identify and meet the development needs of an area, and respond positively to wider
opportunities for growth. It is considered that the Sustainable Communities option gives us the best
opportunity to support economic growth and the regeneration requirements of County Durham.

4.67 The County Durham Employment Land Review shows that the settlements in the A1(M) and
A19 corridors are more likely to be a regional and national draw for business investment. Other
settlements such as Bishop Auckland and Consett serve a more local market. In addition some parts
of the county have recently, or are currently experiencing significant new investment. This includes
Hitachi at Newton Aycliffe with over 1,000 jobs, a £92 million investment by GSK in Barnard Castle,
a £750 million masterplan for Durham University and Durham City Riverside with the new offices for
the Passport Office and NS&I and the redevelopment of Milburngate and The Gates.

4.68 To continue our economic progress and the existing and future investment described above
wemust also have a complementary housing offer with the right types of housing in the right locations.
It is therefore necessary to ensure that homes are being built which meet the needs and aspirations
of the county's existing and future population by identifying sites in the right locations including
releasing some land in high value areas. This ensures that our housing market is not over reliant on
products such as Help to Buy and will secure additional affordable housing and other supporting
infrastructure.

4.69 It is considered that the Sustainable Communities option will be the most effective in supporting
economic growth as it recognises the importance of settlements in the main economic corridors and
those that can support continued investment in the county including by ensuring the right homes are
provided in the right places.

Effective Use of Land

4.70 The availability of suitable land is a key driver for the distribution of housing. Environmental
designations and physical constraints such as flood risk and topography limit the areas of land available
for allocation. Land which may be suitable for new housing is examined in great detail in the County
Durham Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) resulting in a long list of potentially
suitable sites.

4.71 NPPF also encourages the effective use of land, including making as much use as possible
of land that has been previously developed (brownfield land), provided that it is viable and not of high
natural or historic environmental value. County Durham has an excellent record of maximising
brownfield land with much of the development that has taken place over the last 20 years bringing
such land back into use. The council is also committed to the reuse of brownfield land and to this end

47Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 297



has joined the government's Brownfield Register pilot programme. As part of this project we are
helping to develop the methodology that has been used for all local authorities to develop and publish
their brownfield registers. The County Durham Brownfield Register has been made available as part
of the evidence base for the Plan(22). The Sustainable Communities option seeks to maximise the
use of viable brownfield land wherever possible and this is reflected in the allocations identified in
the Plan.

Viability and Delivery

4.72 Evidence within the Local Plan Viability Study(23), shows that viability and market attractiveness
vary significantly across the county with values fluctuating significantly across short distances. This
results in Highest Value areas mainly in DurhamCity and parts of Chester-le-Street, High Value areas
principally in Teesdale and South East Durham, Medium Value in much of the rest of the county and
Low Value areas mainly in many of the former coalfield communities. The delivery of development,
taking into account the reduced availability of public funding and market signals such as land prices
and housing affordability, is a key consideration if our local housing need is to be met.

4.73 Therefore to ensure that the housing, which our existing and future residents need, is actually
built, we must provide a good spread of allocations across the county including in the highest and
high value areas where delivery is more certain. The Sustainable Communities option best reflects
this approach.

The Chosen Spatial Strategy for the Distribution of Housing

4.74 As a result of the considerations set out above, the Sustainable Communities option for
the spatial strategy for the distribution of housing is the council's chosen strategy for sustainable
development and informs the Plan's housing allocations. It is a dispersed pattern of development
located across key settlements in the county and principally focused in and around the towns where
the greatest opportunities for employment, services and facilities, public transport and other
infrastructure such as healthcare and education exist. This reflects the Plan's Sustainable Development
Statement and will ensure we have a balance of housing across the county taking into account the
most sustainable locations, market attractiveness and the prospects for regeneration to meet our
objectively assessed need for housing. In order to achieve successful places, an appropriate level
of new housing is identified in settlements to ensure they can be sustained and be vibrant places to
live. Although the distribution of housing and employment land have not been undertaken using the
same methodology they are complementary and the location of existing and future employment
opportunities has been a key consideration in the selection of the chosen option.

4.75 The Sustainability Appraisal(24) also assessed the options for the distribution of housing in a
significant level of detail and concluded that overall, the Sustainable Communities option provides
greater opportunities to deliver sustainable patterns of growth in comparison to the other housing
distribution options assessed, reduce the need to travel, deliver good quality new housing and
affordable housing and support the county's economy.

4.76 Since the Issues and Options consultation and as a result of houses being built, sites being
granted planning permission and assessments of land availability and viability, the percentages for
the Sustainable Communities option have evolved slightly and are set out below. However the
Sustainability Appraisal has concluded that as the approach is sufficiently similar it would have the
same benefits and advantages.

22 http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
23 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
24 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

Pre-Submission Draft January 201948

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 298

http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


Table 6 Comparison of Sustainable Communities option from Issues and Options to Submission Draft

Change %Submission
Draft %

Issues and
Options %

-31417Durham City

-1212Central Durham

+187North Durham

-11213North West Durham

-1616Mid Durham

+11615South Durham

+121South East Durham

+11615East Durham

-44West Durham

49Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 299



Housing Allocations

Policy 4

Housing Allocations

The following sites, as shown on the policies map, are allocated for housing:

Table 7 Housing Allocations

Greenfield/

Previously
Developed
Land

Estimated
Yield

Gross
Site
Area
(Ha)

SiteRefSettlement

DURHAM CITY

PDL602.6Gilesgate SchoolH1Durham City

(4/DU/157)

Greenfield200.7North of Hawthorn HouseH2

(4/DU/118)

PDL100.3South of Potterhouse TerraceH3

(4/DU/161)

PDL501.9Former Police Skid Pan, Aykley
Heads

H4

(4/DU/93)
Development of the site will:

reinforce existing
landscape/woodland edge
planting.

Greenfield1700107.8Sniperley ParkH5

Development of the site will:(4/DU/101)

see Policy 6 (Durham City’s
Sustainable Urban
Extension).

Greenfield42018.7Sherburn RoadH6

Development of the site will:

Pre-Submission Draft January 201950

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 300



Greenfield/

Previously
Developed
Land

Estimated
Yield

Gross
Site
Area
(Ha)

SiteRefSettlement

(4/DU/104) see Policy 6 (Durham City’s
Sustainable Urban
Extension).

CENTRAL DURHAM

Greenfield2005.6Cook AvenueH7Bearpark

Development of the site will:(4/BE/01)

deliver local highway
improvements including the
widening of Colliery Road to
a minimum of 6.75m, to
complete a loop road
connection through the site
to Hilltop Road;

in addition to the developer
contributions for normal
infrastructure requirements,
and subject to viability,
provide an additional
contribution to the Western
Relief Road.

Greenfield502.2Cook Avenue NorthH8

Development of the site will:(4/BE/06)

deliver local highway
improvements including the
widening of Colliery Road to
a minimum of 6.75m, to
complete a loop road
connection through the site
to Hilltop Road;

in addition to the developer
contributions for normal
infrastructure requirements,
and subject to viability,
provide an additional
contribution to the Western
Relief Road.

51Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 301



Greenfield/

Previously
Developed
Land

Estimated
Yield

Gross
Site
Area
(Ha)

SiteRefSettlement

NORTH DURHAM

PDL652.8FormerRoseberryComprehensive
School

H11

(2/PE/11)

Pelton/Newfield

Development of the site will:

maintain an access to the
adjacent playing pitches.

NORTH WEST DURHAM

PDL1004.2Former Blackfyne SchoolH16Consett

Development of the site will:(1/CO/89a)

provide replacement sports
changing room;

provide a financial
contribution towards the
improvement of the existing
playing fields immediately to
the west of the site.

Greenfield302.0East of Muirfield CloseH17

Development of the site will:(1/CO/89d)

provide a significant buffer
of at least 50 metres
adjoining the Ancient
Woodland to the east.

Greenfield29014.7Laurel DriveH18

Development of the site will:(1/CO/07,
1/CO/08)

provide improved pedestrian
links with Leadgate local
centre;

maintain and enhance
existing links across the site;

Pre-Submission Draft January 201952

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 302



Greenfield/

Previously
Developed
Land

Estimated
Yield

Gross
Site
Area
(Ha)

SiteRefSettlement

include structural planting
adjoining the A691;

provide a site of at least 2
hectares for a new primary
school adjoining Villa Real
roundabout.

Greenfield20012.3South of Knitsley LaneH19

Development of the site will:(1/CO/42)

include structural planting
along the southern boundary
and to the south of Redmire
Drive to complement that to
the south of Langdon Close;

provide a substantial area of
open space for public
access that connects with
existing adjoining housing
and the Lanchester Valley
Walk;

contribute to Delves Lane
Community Centre for the
benefit of new and existing
residents;

reinforce the existing
screening around Delves
Lane Primary School;

retain the ditch and stream
running through the site to
create a wildlife corridor (this
could also form part of a
SuDS solution for the
development);

consider potential impacts
on the setting of High
Knitsley Farm (Grade II
listed).

Greenfield502.1Rosedale AvenueH20

Development of the site will:(1/CO/16)

53Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 303



Greenfield/

Previously
Developed
Land

Estimated
Yield

Gross
Site
Area
(Ha)

SiteRefSettlement

be accessed from Rosedale
Avenue.

MID DURHAM

Greenfield25015.1High West RoadH22Crook

Development of the site will:(3/CR/02)

provide significant structural
planting (in the order of 30
to 50metres wide) along the
north western boundary;

incorporate pedestrian and
cycle routes within and
connecting to, adjoining
facilities;

retain mature hedgerows
within the site to form the
basis of green corridors and
linkages with the wider
countryside;

locate open space to the
rear of existing properties
adjoining the site, in order to
protect their privacy;

provide access from a new
roundabout on the A690 with
additional traffic calming to
be provided on that road;

in addition to the developer
contributions for normal
infrastructure requirements,
and subject to viability,
provide an additional
contribution to the Western
Relief Road.

PDL853.7Former Tudhoe Grange Lower
School, Durham Road

H24

(7/SP/333)

Spennymoor

Development of the site will:

Pre-Submission Draft January 201954

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 304



Greenfield/

Previously
Developed
Land

Estimated
Yield

Gross
Site
Area
(Ha)

SiteRefSettlement

retain a suitable
maintenance access to the
adjoining playing pitch.

PDL1106.9Former Tudhoe Grange Upper
School, St Charles Road

H25

(7/SP/097)
Development of the site will:

incorporate 15 self-build
plots;

retain the vehicular and
pedestrian access to the
adjoining playing pitches;

incorporate open space and
landscaping within the
northern part of the site to
maintain visual separation
between Tudhoe Village
Conservation Area and
Spennymoor.

Greenfield2008.9Land to East of Ash Drive

Development of the site will:

H26

(3/WI/03)

Willington

provide structural planting
along the southern and
eastern boundaries;

access to be from the
existing roundabout on the
A690;

in addition to the developer
contributions for normal
infrastructure requirements,
and subject to viability, an
additional
contribution to the Western
Relief Road will be required.

55Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 305



Greenfield/

Previously
Developed
Land

Estimated
Yield

Gross
Site
Area
(Ha)

SiteRefSettlement

SOUTH DURHAM

PDL756.1Former Chamberlain Phipps

Development of the site will:

H28

(3/BA/21)

Bishop
Auckland

include provision of off-site
highways works to mitigate
impacts upon local network;

incorporate amenity
mitigation on the site for
future residents - these
measures should not
impinge on the operational
requirements of the existing
employment uses adjacent
to the site.

Greenfield502.3Bracks RoadH29

Development of the site will:(3/BA/31a)

include reinforcement of
existing planting along the
eastern boundary;

incorporate suitable noise
attenuation adjoining the
A688.

PDL &60098.6CopelawH30

Newton Aycliffe

GreenfieldDevelopment of the site will:(7/NA/313)

provide a new primary
school;

provide community facilities
in the form of a local centre
incorporating A1, A2, A3 and
A5 where viable and in
accordance with other Plan
policies;

be accessed from a new
junction on the A167 and
include the redesign of the

Pre-Submission Draft January 201956

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 306



Greenfield/

Previously
Developed
Land

Estimated
Yield

Gross
Site
Area
(Ha)

SiteRefSettlement

existing junction at the north
end of Newton Aycliffe and
Rushyford roundabout;

provide strong pedestrian
and cycle links across the
A167;

include significant structural
planting along the entire
perimeter of the site;

incorporate bus, pedestrian
and cycle routes within, and
connecting to, adjoining
facilities;

A further 800 units will be
completed on the site beyond the
Plan period.

Greenfield802.3Eldon WhinsH31

Development of the site will:(7/NA/005)

provide significant structural
planting (in the order of 30
to 50metres wide) along the
western boundary.

Greenfield1004.4Land at Woodham CollegeH32

Development of the site will:(7/NA/326)

include peripheral
landscaping.

Greenfield501.8Cobblers HallH33

Development of the site will:(7/NA/186)

provide aminimum 20metre
buffer adjacent to the Local
Nature Reserve;
retain ecological links to the
rough grassland areas to the
north and south.

57Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 307



Greenfield/

Previously
Developed
Land

Estimated
Yield

Gross
Site
Area
(Ha)

SiteRefSettlement

EAST DURHAM

Greenfield652.4North BluntsH36Peterlee

Development of the site will:5/PE/01a,
5/PE/01b)

reinforce existing planting
along the western boundary;

provide a 15 metre buffer
adjoining the Ancient
Woodland to the east;

provide new or improved
green infrastructure and
contribute to coastal access
measures to off-set
increased recreational
pressure resulting from
development, to satisfy the
Habitat Regulations
Assessment (HRA).

PDL33510.8Seaham CollieryH37Seaham

Development of the site will:(5/SE/09)

include structural planting
along the western boundary;

provide new or improved
green infrastructure
and contribute to coastal
access measures to off-set
increased recreational
pressure resulting from
development to satisfy the
Habitat Regulations
Assessment (HRA);

the full build-out of the site
will be dependent on
completion of improvements
to the junction of the A19
and the A1018.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201958

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 308



Greenfield/

Previously
Developed
Land

Estimated
Yield

Gross
Site
Area
(Ha)

SiteRefSettlement

PDL &
Greenfield

953.7Former Seaham School

Development of the site will:

H38

(5/SE/21)

include structural planting
along the western boundary;

provide new or improved
green infrastructure
and contribute to coastal
access measures to off-set
increased recreational
pressure resulting from
development, to satisfy the
Habitat Regulations
Assessment (HRA).

WEST DURHAM

PDL403.2Land off Leazes LaneH43Wolsingham

Development of this site will:(3/WO/20)

retain and enhance the
existing structural
landscaping.

5,390Total

Planning applications for housing on these allocations, that are in accordance with the site specific
requirements in this policy and any infrastructure constraints identified in the Infrastructure
Delivery Plan, will be approved if the proposed scheme is in accordance with other relevant
policies in the Plan.

4.77 We believe the sites allocated in this policy are the most appropriate to deliver the new homes
we need to ensure that we meet our Local Housing Need (LHN), making the most efficient use of
land and utilising previously developed land where it is available and viable. These allocations, together
with the other elements of housing supply such as sites with planning permission and under
construction, will provide the range and choice of sites to meet our needs and deliver the preferred
spatial strategy for the distribution of housing in County Durham.

4.78 By allocating a site we are establishing the principle that the development of the site for housing
is acceptable. Site allocations are important because they help local people understand what will
happen in their neighbourhood in the future and give certainty to developers and landowners. They

59Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 309



also allow the council and infrastructure providers to assess the cumulative impact of development
and enable us to plan for future needs such as transport schemes, school places and water
infrastructure. Allocations are positive policies which promote the development of a site and help
ensure the right type of development happens. If a site is not allocated, it may still be suitable for
development, subject to other relevant policies in the Plan and in particular Policy 6 (Development
on Unallocated Sites in the Built Up Area). When identifying sites consideration has been given to
likely delivery to ensure a continuous supply of suitable available land can be maintained.

4.79 In order to ensure choice and competition in the market for land every local authority is expected
to demonstrate that they have a rolling five year supply of deliverable sites, calculated against the
LHN in Policy 1 (Quantity of Development), with a buffer of 5%, 10% or 20% added depending on
past delivery.

4.80 In a local plan we are expected to identify developable sites or broad locations for years 6-10
of the Plan period and, where possible, for years 11-15. To fulfil these requirements and to provide
additional certainty we have chosen to identify allocations for the full Plan period up to 2035. Table
1 in the supporting text to Policy 1 (Quantity of Development) shows that our total housing requirement
is 24,852. Once the other sources of supply are taken into account we need to allocate sufficient sites
to accommodate at least 5,323 houses.

4.81 It is likely that in the future, a number of Neighbourhood Plans will also allocate housing sites.
These will be in addition to those in the County Durham Plan and will provide some additional flexibility
in allowing us to meet our LHN. It should also be noted that the number of homes identified in this
Plan is a target and not a ceiling, if housing completions do exceed this level then this will be reflective
of a buoyant housing market.

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment

4.82 The Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)(25) is the primary source of
potential housing sites to be considered for allocation. Sites in the SHLAA have been derived from
a number of sources including:

previous unimplemented housing allocations;

surplus employment sites identified in the Employment Land Review;

sites submitted by land-owners and developers;

sites proposed by communities, Parish and Town Councils and members of the public; and

other sites known or owned by the council.

4.83 All sites have been assessed by a multi-disciplinary team which considered: settlement pattern
and form; road access and highway safety; flood risk; impact upon landscape, ecology and heritage;
as well as other planning considerations such as accessibility to services and facilities and adjoining
land uses. Infrastructure constraints; viability; deliverability; and marketability were also considered.
All 'Green' and 'Amber' sites were then subject to Sustainability Appraisal to give an understanding
of their sustainability credentials and any possible mitigation requirements. This was undertaken
against the criteria in our Sustainability Appraisal screening matrices (26). The SHLAA Partnership
(the council, The Home Builders Federation, registered providers, estate agents and community
representatives) have collectively considered the resulting categorisation of sites as 'Green' (potentially

25 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
26 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

Pre-Submission Draft January 201960

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 310

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


suitable for housing), 'Amber' (potentially unsuitable) and 'Red' (unsuitable) and delivery time frames
for suitable sites. This three stage process, which was undertaken in consultation with external
agencies and infrastructure providers, resulted in the identification of the sites to be considered as
the allocations in this policy.

Selecting the Allocations

4.84 The spatial strategy for the distribution of housing section is informed by the Plan's Sustainable
Development Statement. For the reasons set out previously we have chosen the Sustainable
Communities option and this has been used as the starting point for the distribution of houses
and identifying allocations, bearing in mind the other sources of supply such as existing commitments,
bringing empty properties back into use etc. We also have to take into account the availability
of suitable, viable sites and therefore used the following approach to identify where housing
allocations should be located to meet our LHN and our chosen distribution of housing:

Using the list of settlements in the order identified in the Settlement Study(27) suitable, deliverable,
viable(28) brownfield sites were identified in each monitoring area;

If the list of brownfield sites was insufficient, the exercise was repeated but this time suitable,
deliverable, viable greenfield sites were identified;

Once these suitable deliverable sites were exhausted sites within inset settlements and beyond
the outer Green Belt boundary were considered and only then sites within the Green Belt.

4.85 The inability to meet our full LHN on suitable, deliverable, viable sites supports the exceptional
circumstances which justifies consideration of sites in the Green Belt(29). Therefore in line with the
Sustainable Communities option once the suitable brownfield sites and greenfield sites (non Green
Belt) in Durham City were identified, the residual figure that remained was allocated on sites in the
Green Belt as set out in Policy 6 (Durham City's Sustainable Urban Extensions)(30).

Site Delivery and Yield

4.86 In some cases the site allocations require specific on site improvements such as structural
landscaping which are needed to ensure a site does not have an unacceptable adverse impact. These
have been identified in the policy and must be addressed when planning applications are submitted
for these sites. There may also be infrastructure requirements, as identified within this policy and the
Infrastructure Delivery Plan, which may have an impact on the delivery and timing of the sites and
will need to be addressed. Whilst, it is acknowledged that some allocations will exacerbate existing
network performance issues and will therefore be required to contribute towards a Western Relief
Road evidence shows that transport interventions are required to support government projected,
business as usual, levels of traffic growth in County Durham, i.e. regardless of the sites selected for
allocation.

4.87 All sites will need to include sustainable drainage features to mitigate for run-off and flood
risks, where relevant. These may include areas particularly at risk of surface water and ground water
flooding, and sites which fall within source protection zones.

4.88 The policy also includes an estimate of the number of dwellings to be delivered on each site.
This was determined by adopting an average density (30 houses to the hectare) and net developable
area. Where we were aware of a specific site constraint e.g. topography this was also taken into

27 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
28 Viability as determined in the Local Plan Viability Study https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
29 See introduction to Policy 6 (Durham City's Sustainable Urban Extensions).
30 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

61Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 311

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


account. These yields enable us to confirm that the sites allocated are sufficient to contribute to the
housing supply fulfilling the LHN. It should be noted however that they are only indicative and could
be lower or higher depending on the specific circumstances of each site.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of units approved and completed on allocated housing sites.

2. Status of five year land supply/delivery test.

3. Delivery of infrastructure requirements as set out in the policy.

Target:

1. Annual Housing Delivery Target - based on the Housing Trajectory.

2. At least a five year supply and meeting the delivery test in accordance with the NPPF.

3. No target.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201962

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 312



Durham City's Sustainable Urban Extensions

4.89 Durham City is the largest settlement in the county with a total population of 44,886 people
(Census 2011) and employing 33,940 people (Business Register and Employment Survey 2016).
This is substantially greater than the next largest towns across the county as set out within the Spatial
Strategy Justification (31). Durham City also serves as the key town in terms of access to services
and facilities, offering significantly more than the next town Bishop Auckland(32). Durham City also
performs a key supporting role for many of its surrounding villages by providing services such as
secondary education. These together with Durham City's role as a transport hub, including Durham
Railway Station and bus station, indicate that the city should play an important role in meeting housing
needs and delivering sustainable patterns of growth.

4.90 DurhamCity is also steeped in history and heritage, home to the DurhamCastle and Cathedral
World Heritage Site and Durham University, which is internationally renowned and attracts some of
the highest calibre students in the UK and the world. These key assets contribute to the city's identity
and distinctiveness.

4.91 A full and robust assessment of brownfield sites and other urban land has been undertaken
within the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)(33) and the Brownfield Land
Register(34) to understand the level of suitable, deliverable land across the county.

4.92 As at 30 September 2018, 969 houses had planning permission within Durham City. This is
significantly lower than the surrounding Central Durhammonitoring area where the number of houses
with planning permission was 2,064. Without the release of Green Belt land, Durham City would only
be able to contribute around 6% of the total housing need of 24,852 houses. This is not sufficient for
what is the county's largest and most sustainable settlement. Furthermore the Local Plan Viability
Assessment (35) confirms that Durham City is the highest value area of the county, in terms of viability
and delivery, and is therefore the best opportunity to meet the county's housing and affordable housing
needs. This approach aligns with the Plan's spatial strategy and distribution of housing.

Exceptional Circumstances

4.93 We attach great importance to the Green Belt. However, and as required by the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) we believe there are exceptional circumstances which justify the
removal of some land from the Green Belt. The NPPF is clear that when alterations to the Green Belt
are being contemplated that the need to promote sustainable patterns of development should be
taken into account. The exceptional circumstances are set out in the Exceptional Circumstances
document and whilst both Sniperley Park and Sherburn Road perform strongly against some of the
Green Belt purposes, on balance the benefits clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt (36) and in
summary are as follows.

Ensuring sustainable patterns of development are achieved by building on DurhamCity's position
as the county's employment centre, regional transport hub and regional centre for services and
facilities, such as secondary schools and health facilities. This would provide greater opportunities
to achieve locational sustainability and secure social, economic and environmental improvements
compared to a more dispersed housing distribution;

31 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
32 As set out in the County Durham Settlement Study ( https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/ ).
33 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
34 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
35 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
36 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

63Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 313

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


Maximising the number of journeys undertaken by sustainable means such as walking, cycling
and public transport and minimising overall journey distances and times. This will help address
congestion and associated issues such as air quality and carbon emissions and enable the
creation of a more sustainable transport network across the city;

Providing the right type of housing to meet the needs and aspirations of existing and future
residents and a housing stock which supports the economy of the county and the need for more
and better jobs;

Helping address economic under-performance across the county by supporting the economic
potential of Durham City and the delivery of Aykley Heads by capturing business and investment
growth, retaining graduates and creating opportunities to increase and retain spending in the
city, supporting an improved retail offer and reducing the impact of the fluctuation in population
between University terms; and

Maximising the delivery of affordable housing and other infrastructure by locating development
in the highest viability areas around Durham City.

Policy 5

Durham City's Sustainable Urban Extensions

In order to meet housing need and to promote sustainable patterns of development, land at
Sniperley Park and Sherburn Road, as shown on the policies map, are allocated for planned
urban extensions and will be removed from the Green Belt. Development is required to be
comprehensively masterplanned and to demonstrate how the phasing of development on these
sites will have regard to the provision and timing of the infrastructure and services necessary to
support them.

The sites will deliver attractive, well designed places, incorporating sustainable development
principles, adopting sustainable construction methods, and using appropriate densities across
the sites in accordance with Policy 30 (Sustainable Design in the Built Environment). Design
codes will be utilised to ensure distinctive, high quality design outcomes for the sites.

The sites will incorporate an appropriate mix of house types and tenures to reflect housing need
including housing for older people and affordable housing in accordance with Policy 15
(Addressing Housing Need). Development will comprise of:

1. 1,700 houses at Sniperley Park; and

2. 420 houses at Sherburn Road.

Sniperley Park

a. Sniperley Park will be a sustainable urban extension incorporating a centrally located local
centre which will act as the focus for community activity, including convenience retail
provision for A1 floorspace and an allowance for A2, A3 and A4 units to facilitate a viable
and vibrant community. The local centre will also include a building suitable to be used as
a health centre;

Pre-Submission Draft January 201964

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 314



b. A new primary school and associated playing pitches will be provided of a scale which will
meet the expected requirement for school places generated by the new housing
development. The primary school should be readily accessible to public transport, walking
and cycling routes and incorporate mini soccer pitches;

c. Structural landscaping will be required along the A167 and the southern edge of the new
road from the A691 to the Pity Me Roundabout to ensure suitable screening and that the
perception of an extension to Durham City is minimised;

d. A surface and foul water drainage management plan incorporating SuDS will be required
with no further water draining into the Blackdene Burn. Where possible wider opportunities
for improvement of local water quality should be explored;

e. The design of development in the vicinity of Sniperley Hall and Farm will have regard to
their character and setting, and the recognition of the area as an Historic Park and Garden
of Local Interest, including through the provision of public open space and the use of reduced
housing densities. The woodlands in that area will be retained;

f. Any visual association with the Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site needs
to be considered in the detailed design;

g. As a major benefit to new and adjoining existing residents and as a compensatory
improvement to offset the removal of land from the Green Belt, a linear park will be provided
in perpetuity through the centre of the site. It will run from the mature woodland at Folly
Plantation and habitats of the former Cater House Pit to the parklands of Sniperley Hall in
the west to Folly Bridge in the east. Within the park new and improved linkages with the
wider countryside and the urban areas to the east will also be included;

h. Opportunities for a district heating network will be explored given the site's proximity to
Lanchester Road Hospital and Aykley Heads;

i. In order to achieve sustainable and cohesive communities, the development must be
connected to the existing development to the east of the A167 through suitable, convenient,
safe and attractive cycleways and footpaths;

j. The expansion of the Sniperley Park and Ride facility will be required. Attractive and safe
links between the housing and the existing Park and Ride facility will be created to maximise
its use by residents; and

k. Upgrade and realign Trout's Lane and Potterhouse Lane from the A691 to Pity Me
Roundabout, improving access into the site and forming part of the Northern Relief Road,
with a new roundabout provided on the B6532 and forming the northern boundary of the
development;

l. The full build out of Sniperley Park is reliant on the delivery of the Western Relief Road and
it will therefore be required to contribute to funding the Western Relief Road, together with
associated improvements, through the use of Section 106 and/or Section 278 agreements.
An agreed Section 106 for the delivery of the Western Relief Road will be required in
perpetuity to the full masterplanned site and in advance of any planning permission. A
contribution to the implementation of the Durham City Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan
will also be required. Three hundred and fifty houses will be permitted before the Western
Relief Road is operational.

65Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 315



Sherburn Road

m. Sherburn Road will be developed to help support regeneration efforts in the adjoining estate
by offering a greater diversity of housing offer within the area;

n. The design of Sherburn Road will provide a positive gateway for Durham City particularly
from the A1(M) and protect the character and integrity of Bent House Farm. Development
must also be kept above the 80 metre contour line to protect the character of Old Durham
Beck and Old Durham;

o. Outward views to the Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site will be retained
and framed with any impacts on the inner setting of the World Heritage Site minimised;

p. A community building will be incorporated on site or the development will deliver the
improvement of an existing community building on the Sherburn Road Estate;

q. Developer contributions will fund the necessary additional school places that are generated
by the new housing development;

r. There is an opportunity for Sherburn Road to deliver a combined Sustainable Drainage
attenuation scheme in order to manage surface water drainage into the Old Durham Beck
which will deal with surface water from the development as well as exploring the potential
to deal with drainage from the A1(M) with Highways England;

s. Compensatory improvements to the remaining Green Belt will be provided, to maintain and
enhance the rural character of the valley side and to provide improved public access and
ecological value. The planting of new hedgerows along with the gapping up of existing
hedgerows will enhance and strengthen field patterns. Structural landscaping to the south
of the existing Sherburn Road Estate will improve the character of the wider area. Ecological
enhancements will be provided in the area leading down to Old Durham Beck to provide
better linkages to existing footpaths through to PelawWoods and the city centre and provide
benefits to the setting of the buildings at Old Durham;

t. The woodland on the boundary with the A1(M) will be enhanced to ensure appropriate
screening and noise attenuation. The planting on the 80 metre contour should be sufficient
and at least 20 metres wide, to ensure that the perception of the extension of Durham City
is minimised in views from the A1(M). This area will remain in the Green Belt; and

u. The development must be integrated with existing development to the north of the A181
and west of Bent House Lane, including facilitating safe and convenient crossing points for
all users to ensure sustainable and cohesive communities. A network of multi user paths
must be created with a number of circular routes of varying lengths ensuring the network
is functional for local users, as well as providing connections to existing well used
footpaths. An enhanced recreational route attractive to all users linking Sherburn Road to
Durham city centre must also be provided.

In order to reduce the dominance of car traffic and improve the permeability, both sites will
incorporate convenient, safe and high quality bus, pedestrian and cycle routes within, and
connecting to, adjoining facilities. A Transport Assessment and Travel Plan for each site will also
be required to ensure that reliance on the private car is reduced and to mitigate the impact of

Pre-Submission Draft January 201966

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 316



increased traffic in accordance with Policy 22 (Delivering Sustainable Travel) and Policy
23 (Durham City Transport). The movement frameworks of each site should also incorporate
any relevant schemes within the Durham City Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan.

The sites will incorporate an interconnected network of good-quality, multi functional green
infrastructure including an adequate supply of different types of open space, in accordance with
Policy 27 (Green Infrastructure). An appropriate and enhanced landscape structure with clearly
defined boundaries will also be developed to ensure permanent Green Belt boundaries which
are capable of enduring beyond the Plan period.

4.94 In accordance with the Plan's chosen spatial strategy and housing distribution, and after
demonstrating exceptional circumstances alongside a comprehensive assessment of the Green
Belt(37), sites at Sniperley Park and Sherburn Road have been identified as suitable, sustainable
urban extensions. The Green Belt Assessment, which has taken into account advice from the Planning
Advisory Service, other best practice and discussions with Historic England, found that both sites did
perform a role against the five purposes as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

4.95 The Green Belt assessment concludes that Sniperley Park performs strongly against checking
unrestricted sprawl and safeguarding the countryside from encroachment and moderate against
preventing neighbouring towns from merging, preserving the setting and special character of historic
towns and assisting in urban regeneration. The Green Belt assessment also concludes that Sherburn
Road performs a strong role against safeguarding the countryside from encroachment and amoderate
role against checking the unrestricted sprawl, preventing neighbouring towns from merging and
assisting in urban regeneration. It performs weakly against preserving the setting and special character
of historic towns. However the Exceptional Circumstances document (38)concludes that the benefits
associated with the development of these sites in line with the Plan's spatial strategy outweighs the
harm to the Green Belt.

4.96 These sites will be developed to the high standards necessary to make them attractive and
sustainable places to live. Although some specific policy cross-references are mentioned in this policy,
future planning applications for the strategic sites will conform with any relevant policies of the Plan.

4.97 The sustainable urban extensions to Durham City will become strong, vibrant and healthy
communities by creating a high quality built environment using an agreed design code and adopting
principles of the Garden City movement including accessible local services. The use of clear boundaries
such as Potterhouse Lane and the provision of structural landscaping where required will create
strong and defensible boundaries to the Green Belt which are required to ensure permanence. The
areas deleted from the Green Belt will be contiguous with the red line boundaries of the proposed
allocations with the exception of the Fire Station on the A691 which will also be removed to leave a
more logical boundary. The 20 metre woodland planting strip to the south of Sherburn Road will
remain in the Green Belt.

4.98 Compensatory improvements will be made to the remaining Green Belt particularly where
opportunities exist to create country parks and to deal with existing environmental issues which
currently exist. Ecological improvements should be sought alongside the protection of species and
habitats. Any proposal will need to demonstrate how net gains will be achieved as well as any
archaeological impacts.

37 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
38 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

67Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 317

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


4.99 In order to ensure a wide choice of high quality homes which cater for the needs of different
groups including families with young children, older people, people with disabilities, self-builders, it
is envisaged that the sites will be developed by a number of builders, providing different products
across the sites working to overall masterplans.

Sniperley Park

4.100 Sniperley Park is predominantly agricultural land, although there are also a number of existing
playing pitches and a small local wildlife designation within the site. It is situated immediately to the
east of Framwellgate Moor and Pity Me and to the south of Sacriston. The site’s eastern boundary
follows the A167 Durham Road and the northern boundary is along Potterhouse Lane and Trout's
Lane. New College, Durham is sited adjacent to the southern end of the site with residential
development extending northwards. Sniperley Hall historic park of local interest with its walled gardens
and parkland and Lanchester Road Hospital are located along the western boundary. Sniperley Park
and Ride is immediately to the south of the site at the junction of the A167 and the A691.

4.101 The site rises gradually northwards to a ridge at the northern extent providing a strong visual
boundary from higher ground. Views outwards from the site are semi-rural in character to the north
and west but become increasingly urban closer to the A167 in views towards the settlement edge.
The site does not form part of the setting to the World Heritage Site (WHS) and views of Durham City
and the WHS from the site are very limited owing to the historic core being generally screened from
view by intervening topography and buildings.

4.102 The development of Sniperley Park will deliver 1,700 new homes along with associated retail,
services and facilities contributing to meeting housing needs and creating a viable, vibrant and
self-sustaining mixed community. It will also promote innovative approaches to sustainable design
which reflect current best practice in order to deliver a sustainable development supported by
appropriate supporting utilities and infrastructure.

4.103 The new local centre which will include retail, community and other services will be located
adjoining the B6532 to ensure access to public transport and provide a focus for the development.
One new primary school will also be provided. An upgraded and realigned road linking the A691 and
Pity Me roundabout will improve access to the site, from its northern boundary and be part of the
Northern Relief Road.

4.104 The site will be an exemplar of design quality and sustainable development and include a
strong landscape framework and green infrastructure network that will be provided to capitalise on
the site’s natural features, ensure integration with the surrounding landscape and provide compensatory
benefits to offset the loss of Green Belt. The mature woodland at Folly Plantation and habitats of the
former Cater House Pit will be retained within the development as a part of a linear park. The park
will be retained in perpetuity and will extend through the centre of the site from the parklands of
Sniperley Hall in the west to Folly Bridge in the east. Improved linkages with the wider countryside
and to the urban areas to the east of the site will be provided to ensure beneficial enjoyment of the
area from the residents of the site and those living nearby. The wildlife potential of these areas and
across the wider site will be enhanced and development will embrace environmental standards to
provide an attractive living environment, including opportunities for recreation. Enhanced opportunities
for sustainable access to the city centre and surrounding areas for public transport, walking and
cycling, will also be created.

4.105 The Durham City Playing Pitch Action Plan (PPAP)(39) indicates that there is an adequate
supply of senior football pitches in the Durham City area even after considering the loss of pitches
at Sniperley Park. There is however a requirement to provide additional mini soccer pitches to meet
latent demand from teams based within the area should their existing central league venues in

39 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

Pre-Submission Draft January 201968

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 318

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


Sunderland cease, or change to home and away format. Whilst the PPAP recommends mitigating
latent demand by the conversion of surplus senior pitches on specified sites, on a 1:4 ratio, it will be
necessary to incorporate some additional mini pitches at the new primary school/s which can be used
both by the school and by community teams via a formal community use agreement.

Relationship with Western Relief Road

4.106 Traffic modelling undertaken to accompany the Plan demonstrates that the build out of
Sniperley Park will exacerbate existing traffic issues on the A167 therefore the development of the
site will require the additional capacity introduced into the highway network by the Western Relief
Road. The Plan therefore requires a significant contribution to the funding of theWestern Relief Road
of between £15 million and the total cost of the road. Contributions to the implementation of the
Durham City Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan will also be required. Transport Assessments will
be required to show how the build out of the site will relate to the completion of the Western Relief
Road. In order to enable the Sniperley site to get underway and because of the relatively small impact
in transport terms, 350 houses will be permitted to be completed before the WRR is in place. This is
reflected in Policy 23 (Durham City Sustainable Transport).

Sherburn Road

4.107 The site is located on the eastern edge of Durham City close to Carrville and Belmont. The
A181 Sherburn Road forms the northern boundary of the site. This road serves as a significant artery
for the city accessing the eastern villages and beyond to the Tees Valley and the A19. Although the
A1(M) forms the eastern boundary of the site, it is not directly accessible, the nearest point of access
being Junction 62 some 2 kilometres to the north. The site forms part of the plateau of high land which
includes most of Gilesgate and Belmont. To the south, the land falls steeply to the River Wear. Further
to the east and south east, the land rises steeply to form the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment.

4.108 Sherburn Road will create a sustainable urban extension with 420 new homes. It will provide
regeneration benefits to the wider Sherburn Road area by adding to the mix of housing opportunities,
improve access to jobs, encourage employment and higher incomes in a deprived area of the city.
The site will be one of the first visible signs of Durham City when travelling northwards on the A1(M)
and should therefore present an attractive gateway to the city. The site also lies in the backdrop of
the World Heritage Site in some views from the west although it is largely screened by existing
housing. The existing woodland along the boundary with the A1(M) will be strengthened to protect
against any perceived increase in the scale of Durham City.

4.109 In order to protect the character of Old Durham Beck and Old Durham, no housing will be
built below the 80metre contour. The character and integrity of Bent House Farmwill also be protected.
The development should maximise pedestrian links to Durham City and the River Wear, incorporate
Bent House Lane and provide a link to the existing Sherburn Road Estate. The remainder of the site
on the southern boundary will then be landscaped and integrated with the compensatory improvements
to the remaining area of Green Belt nearby to enhance its enjoyment by residents and the wider
community and its value for wildlife.

69Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 319



How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Gross housing units approved and completed by site.

2. Delivery of infrastructure requirements as set out in the policy and an agreed project plan.

Target:

1. Annual Housing Delivery Target - based on the Housing Trajectory (including no more than
400 units on Sniperley Park before the opening of the Western Relief Road).

2. On track in accordance with the project plan.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201970

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 320



Development on Unallocated Sites in the Built Up Area

Policy 6

Development on Unallocated Sites in the Built Up Area

The development of sites within the built up area that are not allocated in the Plan or in a
neighbourhood plan will be permitted provided the proposal accords with all relevant development
plan policies and:

a. is compatible with, and is not prejudicial to, any existing, allocated or permitted use of
adjacent land;

b. does not contribute to coalescence with neighbouring settlements;

c. does not result in the loss of open land within the settlement that has recreational, ecological
or heritage value, or contributes to the character of the locality which cannot be adequately
mitigated or compensated for;

d. is appropriate in terms of scale, design, layout, and location to the character, function, form
and setting of the settlement and the significance or setting of heritage assets;

e. will not be prejudicial to highway safety or have a severe residual cumulative impact on
network capacity;

f. has good access by sustainable modes of transport to relevant services and facilities both
within the settlement to which it relates and beyond whilst taking into account that
opportunities to access sustainable transport will vary in rural areas. In these circumstances
development will be required to exploit any opportunities to make the location more
sustainable;

g. does not result in the loss of a settlement's last community building, or essential service or
facility unless it has been demonstrated that it is no longer viable;

h. minimises vulnerability and provides resilience to impacts arising from climate change,
including but not limited to, flooding; and

i. where applicable maximises the effective use of previously developed (brownfield) land
(providing it is not of high environmental value).

4.110 This policy recognises that in addition to the development of specifically allocated sites, there
will be situations where future opportunities arise for additional new development over and above
that identified in the development plan for the area. This policy sets out the circumstances where
such opportunities will be acceptable. This will include new build housing on suitable previously
developed or greenfield sites, as well as conversions to accommodate new uses, the expansion or
replacement of existing buildings, along with proposals including for example live/work units, community
facilities, leisure, specialist living accommodation, small scale retailing, employment, infrastructure and
other economic generating uses.

71Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 321



4.111 This policy applies to new development proposals within existing built up areas only, with
the exception of householder development and minor alterations to existing buildings which do not
involve a change of use or increased floor space. For the purposes of this policy, a site will
be considered to be within the built up area if it is within a settlement boundary that is defined in a
Neighbourhood Plan or is contained within the main body of existing built development of any
other settlement. New development proposals falling outside of built up areas will be considered
against Policy 11 (Development in Countryside).

4.112 Wewant to ensure that new development does not detract from the existing form and character
of settlements and will not be harmful to their surroundings. Therefore, not all undeveloped land within
the built up area is suitable for development. However, in the case of smaller linear settlements the
infilling of small gaps within an otherwise built up frontage that have no recreational, historical or
amenity value may be permissible. Where buildings already exist on site, their retention will be
encouraged where they make a positive contribution to the area or have intrinsic value. In determining
whether a site is appropriate for new development, the relationship with adjacent buildings and the
surrounding area will be taken into account along with the current use of the site and compatibility of
the proposal with neighbouring uses.

4.113 In the case of conversions and replacement buildings, proposals should not significantly
increase the size or impact of the original building where this would have an adverse affect on the
character of the surrounding area or the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. Similarly, the sub-division
and intensification of dwellings should not result in concentrations of such dwellings to the detriment
of the range and variety of the local housing stock.

4.114 Under the Localism Act 2011, communities can nominate important local buildings and
facilities as 'assets of community value' (e.g. shops, public houses, cultural buildings) for inclusion
on a central list held by the council. If the owner of a building on this list wishes to sell it, they must
then conform to the Community Right to Bid procedure. This means that if the community are interested
in buying the asset they have six months to prepare a bid to buy it before the asset can be sold.
Proposals which would result in the loss of a community facility which has been included on that list
or is the last remaining facility of that type which is considered essential to the continuing sustainability
of the community will be resisted unless it can be demonstrated that the facility is no longer viable.
To demonstrate that such a building or facility is not viable the applicants must be able to evidence
that the premises has been advertised as a going concern in the press, online and on-site, at least
four times within a six month period and all reasonable offers have been explored. This evidence will
be considered on a case by case basis.

4.115 New development should seek to minimise the use of resources, including by the recycling
of previously developed land. It is also vital to plan buildings and communities that are resilient to
potential climate change impacts. Development must therefore be designed to withstand future
weather trends as flooding events and heat waves will become a much more regular occurrence. For
example, the use of green and brown roofs, and sustainable drainage systems, will be encouraged.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Percentage of housing units permitted and completed on unallocated sites.

2. Amount of employment space permitted and completed on unallocated sites.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201972

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 322



3. Amount of retail floor space permitted beyond a defined town centre.

4. Number of community facilities lost that were the last such essential facility in the settlement.

Target:

1. No Target.

2. No Target.

3. No Target.

4. Zero.

73Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 323



5 Core Principles

5.1 The council deals with approximately 4,500 planning applications per year and these can be
wide ranging from works to trees and single storey extensions through to major applications for
housing sites and business premises. Planning applications are to be determined in accordance with
the statutory development plan, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise. Therefore
across the county this means the 'saved' policies of the adopted Development Plans provide the
framework for determining planning applications together with the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) and other material considerations. The weight attributed to each policy is dependent on its
consistency with the NPPF.

5.2 The Plan is the opportunity to provide a consistent planning policy framework across the county.
This will provide certainty to communities, businesses and developers to ensure that planning
applications can be processed and decisions made in a timely, consistent and appropriate manner.
The following sections, in conjunction with the Vision and Objectives, set out the policies on a thematic
basis.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201974

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 324



Building a Strong Competitive Economy

5.3 As clearly set out at the start of this Plan, a key priority of the council and its partners is to
improve economic performance and reduce deprivation in County Durham to ensure that all of its
residents have equal access to quality job opportunities. Over the last 30 years the county has gone
through significant structural economic change with the decline of its traditional industries and the
pressure of globalisation.

5.4 Over this period, government initiatives and public sector investment enabled the development
of regeneration programmes and settlement renewal. However, despite the receipt of significant
resources and sustained efforts to attract inward investment to support the creation of new jobs and
businesses, economic performance has been mixed and areas of deprivation within the county
continue to exist. The fundamental challenge therefore is to improve the economic performance of
the county.

5.5 We also need to be aware of the regional context and major proposals in our neighbouring
authorities. In particular, we will need to monitor the progress of the proposed International Advanced
Manufacturing Park (IAMP), a 150 hectare site to the west of the A19 near Sunderland. The park
would provide modern business premises close to existing employers and would build on the region's
advanced manufacturing heritage, creating up to 7,850 new jobs. Given the proximity to County
Durham it is likely that there will be some impacts on the county which will need to be assessed as
more detail becomes available.

5.6 As well as ensuring that the county has the right levels of employment land in the right locations,
we believe that the Plan should also identify locations where new and emerging sectors may seek
to locate into County Durham. This approach is advocated in the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) and the recent investment of Hitachi at Newton Aycliffe is an example of where this may
create the potential for further new investment. The allocation of additional employment land within
such locations would allow us to exploit these opportunities.

5.7 Another factor which would impact on the future economy of the county is its changing age
structure. Unprecedented demographic change due to the population ageing and the reduction of
the number of people that are economically active, makes it challenging to maintain an adequately
sized labour force and to maintain and increase the overall rate of employment. This is particularly
the case in County Durham where the average age of the population is projected to increase
considerably over the next 25 years, with a larger proportion of the population in the older age-groups.

75Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 325



Durham University

5.8 DurhamUniversity makes a strong, positive contribution to the local, regional and UK economy,
for example through direct investment, as a large employer, an extensive supply chain and staff and
student spending. It produces high calibre graduates who in turn generate wealth. The University
also participates in the Knowledge Transfer Partnership – a UK wide initiative designed to enable
businesses to access the knowledge and expertise available within UK Universities and is a centre
for research in its own right.

5.9 The University’s new strategy identifies the future size and shape of the University which will
be needed to support their vision of 'world-leading in research, education and the wider student
experience'.

5.10 To enable this new strategy the University has consulted on its Estate Masterplan. This
document provides a guide to how the University could develop its estate over the long-term. As such
it presents a number of options which will be considered by the University’s governing bodies in light
of the consultation. The University’s aspiration is to house 50% of students in college affiliated
accommodation by 2027. This will be achieved by developing new build colleges on DurhamUniversity
land and working in partnership with purpose-built student accommodation (PBSA) providers.

5.11 Durham University is one of the country’s leading institutions, attracting the highest calibre
of students. The University is committed to increasing both the number of students from the County
and the graduates retained in the area. Working with the University provides a major opportunity and
is a priority for improving the county's economy by providing adequate and appropriate space to
facilitate investment related to the work and research of the University and the conditions in which
graduates want and have the opportunity to stay within the county. Given the University's location
within Durham City there may be particular opportunities related to the development of the Aykley
Heads site as well as their continued contribution at NetPark in Sedgefield.

5.12 The Plan also includes policies against which any future proposals related to the University
will be considered, in particular Policy 16 (Durham University Development, Purpose Built Student
Accommodation and Houses in Multiple Occupation).

Pre-Submission Draft January 201976

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 326



Visitor Economy Introduction

5.13 The visitor economy is an important and resilient part of the County Durham economy, worth
over £807million a year and consistently sustains the equivalent of around 11,682 full time jobs(40).
But there remains a great deal of untapped potential. A healthy tourism industry can help sustainable
economic growth, and contribute to prosperous communities and attractive environments.

5.14 County Durham aims to offer a visitor experience that matches its outstanding natural
landscapes and its internationally famous built heritage. The development priorities for the visitor
economy are identified and assessed through the Durham TourismManagement Plan (DTMaP). This
is produced by Visit County Durham, the official Destination Management Organisation for County
Durham, which coordinates the development of the visitor economy and manages and markets the
County as a destination. Visit County Durham offers support and guidance to potential tourism
developers through the Investment Evaluation Process. This ensures that projects are desirable in
terms of market need, viability, sustainability(41) and how they would impact on visitors, the economy,
the tourism industry, the environment and residents. One of the key roles of the DTMaP process is
to ensure that potential investment is based on robust evidence.

5.15 Tourism and leisure development, including visitor attractions, leisure facilities, visitor
accommodation and green infrastructure will be protected, and where necessary, enhanced, promoted
and expanded in partnership with key agencies and delivery partners. This will ensure their enhanced
role as key economic drivers in stimulating and regenerating the local economy. The Plan aims to
strengthen County Durham's role as a visitor/tourist destination, building on and adding to, the strength
of existing attractions, townscapes and landscapes, encouraging the development of new visitor
attractions and accommodation and increasing the contribution of Durham's rural areas to the overall
value of the county's visitor economy. The DTMaP builds on this objective through specific priorities
identified in partnership with key public and private visitor economy stakeholders. To enable and
encourage the development of the county's tourism industry the following policies deal specifically
with visitor attractions and accommodation. It is acknowledged that the visitor economy is much
broader in scope than these two elements (including events, retail, food tourism and the night-time
economy for example), however these are covered by other mechanisms or policies within the Plan.

40 Figures from the 2016 STEAM Report: http://www.visitcountydurham.org/intelligence
41 The process will signpost applicants to the requirement for a sustainability statement as detailed in the Sustainable Design in the

Built Environment Policy and an HRA Screening Opinion where appropriate.

77Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 327

http://www.tourismnortheast.co.uk/visit-county-durham/strategies-and-plans


Visitor Attractions

Policy 7

Visitor Attractions

The visitor sector is an important and resilient part of the county's economy. In order to raise the
quality of the visitor experience, the provision of new visitor attractions or the expansion of existing
attractions will be permitted provided:

a. it is located in sustainable and accessible locations or can be made so;

b. it is appropriate to the site's location in terms of scale, design, layout and materials;

c. it does not have an unacceptable adverse impact on the county's valuable natural, built or
heritage assets and helps to sustain and enhance any affected asset;

d. it can demonstrate the viability of the new attraction or where appropriate helps support the
viability of an existing attraction; and

e. it enhances and complements existing visitor attractions or priorities in the county and
supports the development of a year-round visitor economy and/or extends visitor stays.

Where a countryside location is necessary the development should:

f. meet identified visitor needs;

g. support local employment and community services;

h. ensure adequate infrastructure; and

i. relate to an existing tourism asset that is based upon a site specific natural, built or heritage
feature.

Large Scale Development

Comprehensive master planning and a robust business plan to articulate the potential impacts,
proposed mitigation and economic, social and environmental benefits should accompany
applications for large scale new or expanding visitor attractions.

5.16 There are approximately 70 regionally, nationally and internationally recognisable visitor
attractions in the county which can be viewed at www.thisisdurham.com. The most visited are Durham
Cathedral (more than 619,000 visitors and worshippers in 2016) and Beamish Museum (797,203
paying visitors in 2017). Other attractions with significant visitor numbers(42) include Hamsterley

42 Approximately 20,000 or more visitors per year.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201978

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 328

http://www.thisisdurham.com


Forest, Hardwick Park, Locomotion (National Railway Museum at Shildon), Palace Green Library,
The Oriental Museum, the World Heritage Site Visitor Centre, The Bowes Museum, Bowlees Visitor
Centre, Auckland Castle, Raby Castle, Durham Castle, Diggerland, Crook Hall & Gardens, Barnard
Castle, The Botanic Gardens, Durham County Cricket Club, Adventure Valley (Durham City) and
High Force. In addition the county boasts a number of historic townscapes as well as local and national
walking, cycling and riding routes which link beyond County Durham's borders. The county also hosts
major events which attract large visitor numbers such as Lumiere Durham and the Durham Brass
Festival. A major new attraction at Eleven Arches, Bishop Auckland has recently added to the county's
tourism offer. Known as Kynren, this open air amphitheatre explores 2,000 years of history and links
to the wider art and heritage based tourism opportunities being realised at Auckland Castle and
Bishop Auckland Market Place.

5.17 The county's strong railway heritage includes the Bishop Auckland to Darlington railway, which
is recognised as an asset running through the core economic area of south Durham; connecting the
main towns of Bishop Auckland, Shildon and Newton Aycliffe and providing a key gateway to the
Durham Dales. Together with theWeardale Railway it forms a strategic railway tourism corridor linking
the Darlington Railway Museum, Locomotion at Shildon and Weardale Heritage Railway. These
heritage assets are further supported through Policy 48 (Stockton and Darlington Railway).

5.18 The rural and tranquil nature of Durham's countryside is an important asset for residents and
visitors. Therefore development within the countryside needs to be compatible with its location in
order to protect this area's unique character. It is also important to ensure that existing heritage and
environmental assets are both protected and supported in appropriate ways to help them flourish,
this can include addressing visitor needs such as providing interpretation boards, adequate parking
spaces including electric vehicle charging points or a visitor centre for example.

5.19 New visitor attractions will be directed to accessible and sustainable locations in the first
instance in order to address the need to develop the visitor offer and encourage visitors to stay
longer. Where development is not in accessible locations it will be focused on the conversion of
existing buildings, well designed new buildings and developments that contribute to rural diversification,
enjoyment of the countryside and access to heritage. These development applications will need to
demonstrate suitable accessibility.

5.20 Historic Rural Estates play an important role in County Durham, in social, economic and
environmental terms. Sensitive development, including forms of rural diversification, will be supported
where it can be demonstrated to be necessary to secure the long-term future of rural estates and
their historic assets.

5.21 Newcastle International Airport, Durham Tees Valley Airport and our regional ports act as vital
gateways bringing international visitors to the region. Whilst there are some sustainable transport
links, such as the East Coast Main Line, between these gateways and the key visitor attractions in
the county, improved connectivity would be welcomed.

5.22 Planning for tourism should make the most of our assets, enriching them rather than harming
the very character, quality and beauty that makes them attractive to residents and visitors. This can
be achieved by ensuring development is appropriately located and levels of visitor activity are not
likely to significantly affect protected sites and species, particularly those of national and European
importance.

79Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 329



How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of approved and completed visitor attractions.

Target:

1. No Target.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201980

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 330



Visitor Accommodation

Policy 8

Visitor Accommodation

1. Subject to parts 2 and 3 of this policy, all new visitor accommodation or extensions to existing
visitor accommodation, will be supported where:

a. it is appropriate to the scale and character of the area;

b. it does not have an unacceptable impact on the county's valuable natural, built or heritage
assets; and

c. it is not used for permanent residential occupation.

2. Proposals for visitor accommodation that are in the countryside will be supported where they
meet criteria (a) to (c) and where:

d. it is necessary to meet identified visitor needs; or

e. it is an extension to existing visitor accommodation and helps to support future business
viability or is a conversion of an existing building; and

f. it demonstrates clear opportunities to make its location more sustainable.

3. Proposals for new, and extensions to existing, sites for chalets, camping(43) and caravaning
(both static and touring) along with associated storage and infrastructure will be supported where
they meet criteria (a) to (f) and where:

g. they provide a specific Flood Risk Warning and Evacuation Plan in accordance with Table
2 in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) Technical Guidance; and

h. they are not unduly prominent in the landscape from either long or short range views by
ensuring:

(i) adequate year-round screening through existing topography, vegetation or other features
which are compatible with the landscape. Where new or additional screening is required this
must be suitably established before development can take place;

(ii) the layout would not adversely affect the character of the area; and

(iii) the materials and colour of chalets or static caravans, site services and infrastructure
are designed to blend with the surroundings of the site and limited in scale to the needs
of the site occupants only.

43 Chalets and camping can include basic ridge/dome-tents, yurts, tipis/teepees, geodesic domes, safari-style tents/canvas lodges,
bell tents, wooden shepherds huts, wooden wigwams/cocoons/snugs, cabins, eco-pods or similar structure.

81Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 331



5.23 In County Durham there are approximately 589 visitor accommodation businesses with over
14,424 (Durham STEAM report 2017) bed spaces (this includes seasonal university accommodation).
A detailed audit of existing accommodation and gaps in provision(44) has been completed and this
will help inform the determination of future planning applications, for example if there is an over or
under provision of certain types of holiday accommodation, to meet visitor needs, in a given area.
Liaison with Visit County Durham is recommended to establish demand and the quality of the offer
being proposed.

5.24 Durham City's dual role as a visitor and business centre assists in the provision of visitor
accommodation and ensures a high level of occupancy throughout the year. However the city currently
lacks sufficient quality business and conference facilities which would help build upon this high value
non seasonal market. A detailed audit of facilities, capacity, market demand and potential has been
completed and this helps to inform the determination of future planning applications.(45)

5.25 There is an expectation from the council that applicants will provide evidence of how
development proposals will help to support future business viability, the evidence will need to be
proportionate to the scale of development.

5.26 In relation to tourism accommodation in built up areas, Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) highlights that hotels fall into the category of main town centre uses, which would
therefore require a sequential test to be carried out if the application was outside of a defined town
centre boundary. However the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) acknowledges that the use of the
sequential test should recognise that certain main town centre uses have particular market and
locational requirements which mean that they may only be accommodated in specific locations. The
PPG highlights that robust justification must be provided where this is the case, and land ownership
does not provide such a justification.

5.27 Tourism accommodation in rural areas, providing it is in suitable locations, can have a positive
impact on the local economy, including some social benefits. Appropriate conditions restricting this
accommodation to holiday use will be employed to avoid the provision of owner occupied second
homes which do not positively contribute to the production of sustainable communities and are
economically less significant. The condition will ensure that whilst accommodation can operate all
year, it will be available for commercial holiday lets for at least 140 days a year and that no let must
exceed 31 days.

5.28 In order to be commercially successful, tourism facilities must be easily accessible for visitors
and where possible should enable sustainable travel. The NPPF recognises that different policies
and measures will be required in different communities, and that opportunities to maximise sustainable
transport solutions will vary from urban and rural areas. In locations that are not served by public
transport or that are not close to existing services and facilities, applicants will need to demonstrate
that development is sensitive to its surroundings and does not have an unacceptable impact on local
roads, and that any opportunities to improve the scope for access by foot, by cycling and/or by public
transport are made the most of, thereby making the development more sustainable.

5.29 The occupation of static caravans for permanent residential use is not considered appropriate
unless they are located within an established static caravan park specifically developed for that
purpose. Storage sites for touring caravans help remove caravans from residential areas where they
are often unsightly. However sites need to be secure, well screened throughout the year and preferably
located close to settlements.

44 Visit County Durham - County Durham Visitor Accommodation Futures Study and Visitor Accommodation Development Strategy
and County Durham Hotel & Visitor Accommodation Development Programme 2017/18.

45 The DTMaP and associated reports can be viewed at: https://www.visitcountydurham.org/visitor-economy

Pre-Submission Draft January 201982

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 332

https://www.visitcountydurham.org/visitor-economy


How will it be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Net additional bed spaces.

Target:

1. No net loss.

83Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 333



Ensuring the Vitality of Town Centres

5.30 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) maintains the 'town centres first' approach
to the location of main town centre uses, requiring planning policies to be drawn up to positively
promote competitive town centres and manage their growth.

5.31 Nationally, town centres face increasing economic challenges including a change in consumer
behaviour and the rise in e-commerce, mobile technology and internet shopping. The significant
growth in this sector has inevitably impacted on the number and range of shops, with many national
retailers withdrawing from town centres including those in County Durham. We have seen similar
changes in respect of food retail with the development of large format stores now either shelved or
closing. We have however at the same time seen growth of smaller and more local convenience and
discount stores coming forward as a direct response to the economic climate that currently exists.
The ease of travel and the increasing attraction out of town shopping across the region has further
impacted on how our town centres are used.

5.32 Although town centres are now not always the main focus for people's shopping, they are
still key drivers to the economy. Therefore it is important that we ensure our centres remain viable
going forward by understanding national trends and ensuring that they reflect the needs and
opportunities of the communities that they serve. It is essential that we set out this strategy in the
context of national policy.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201984

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 334



Retail Hierarchy and Town Centre Development

Policy 9

Retail Hierarchy and Town Centre Development

Retail Hierarchy

The council will protect and enhance the following hierarchy of Sub Regional, Large Town,
Small Town, District and Local retail centres in the county.

Sub Regional Centres - Bishop Auckland, Durham City

Large Town Centres – Barnard Castle, Chester-le-Street, Consett, Crook, Newton Aycliffe,
Peterlee, Seaham, Spennymoor, Stanley

Small Town Centres - Ferryhill, Shildon

District Centres - Arnison Centre, Durham City, Sherburn Road/Dragonville, Durham City

Local Centres - Annfield Plain, Bearpark, Blackhall, Bowburn, Brandon, Burnopfield, Chilton,
Coundon, Coxhoe, Dipton, Easington Colliery, Esh Winning, Fencehouses, Fishburn,
Framwellgate Moor, Great Lumley, Horden, Lanchester, Langley Moor, Langley Park,
Leadgate, Middleton-in-Teesdale, Murton, Pelton, Sacriston, Sedgefield, Sherburn Village,
Shotley Bridge, Shotton, South Moor, Stanhope, Tow Law, Trimdon Grange, Trimdon
Village, Ushaw Moor, West Auckland, West Cornforth, Wheatley Hill, Willington, Wingate,
Wolsingham

The Plan will look to support new town centre development across all of the county's centres
that will improve choice and bring about regeneration and environmental improvements where
a proposal will:

a. be consistent in scale with the size and function of the centre; and

b. be convenient and accessible in order to meet the day to day needs of residents and
contribute to social inclusion and sustainable development.

In all other locations outside of those identified in the retail hierarchy the loss of essential shops
and services will be resisted.

Town Centre Boundaries

Proposals for town centre uses, as defined by National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)(46)

not located within a defined centre, as shown on the policies map, will be required to provide a
sequential assessment.

46 Main town centre uses: Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres); leisure, entertainment and
more intensive sport and recreation and recreation uses (including cinemas, restaurants, drive-through restaurants, bars and
pubs, night clubs, casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor bowling centres, and bingo halls); offices; and arts, culture and
tourism development (including theatres, museums, galleries and concert halls, hotels and conference facilities) .

85Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 335



Proposals for retail, in excess of 1,500 sqm (gross) convenience floorspace or 1,000 sqm (gross)
comparison floorspace, not located within an in-centre location (47), and that could impact on a
Sub Regional, Large Town or District Centre, will be required to provide an impact assessment
in accordance with the guidance within the NPPF and the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).

Proposals for retail, as defined by NPPF, in excess of 400 sqm (gross) convenience or comparison
floorspace, not located within an in-centre location (48), and that could impact on Small Town or
Local Centres, will be required to provide an impact assessment in accordance with the guidance
within the NPPF and the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).

For leisure development, the national default threshold of 2,500 sqm is applicable.

Where an application fails the sequential test or would have a significant adverse impact on
investment or the vitality and viability of a town centre, it will be refused.

District Centres

For major development proposals within the defined District Centres, applicants will be required
to consider the impact on Durham City Centre where the proposed floorspace is above 2,500
sqm.

Primary Shopping Areas

Within the Primary Shopping Areas, as shown on the policies map, A1 (retail) uses will be
supported. Other uses will be permitted where they preserve the vitality and viability of the Primary
Shopping Areas. A5 uses will also be considered in the context of this and the need to consider
the requirements of Policy 32 (Hot Food Takeaways A5 uses).

Residential Uses

Within defined sub regional, large and small town centres, residential uses will be supported
where they accord with other relevant policies in the Plan.

Evening Economy

Proposals that would positively contribute to the evening economy will be supported provided
they contribute to the vitality and viability of town centres, promote public safety and accord with
this and other relevant policies in the Plan.

Retail Hierarchy

5.33 Retailing and the county’s town centres are key drivers of the economy. Setting out a strategic
framework for the retail centres is an important factor in improving the overall performance of County
Durham's economy.

5.34 To determine the retail needs within the county, it is important to understand the role of each
town and local centre. National guidance advocates the need to develop a hierarchy of centres with
each performing an appropriate role to meet the needs of its catchment area. The County Durham
Retail and Town Centre Uses Study(49) provides recommendations for a retail hierarchy in County

47 For retail purposes a location within the defined PSA, for all other main town centre uses a location with the defined centre
boundaries.

48 For retail purposes a location within the defined PSA, for all other main town centre uses a location with the defined centre
boundaries.

49 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

Pre-Submission Draft January 201986

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 336

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


Durham. The hierarchy is based on a quantitative and qualitative assessment of each centre, its wider
function in terms of overall shopping and service offer, and the number of national multiples
represented. It should be noted that whilst the Retail and Town Centre Uses Study did not identify a
need to specifically allocate sites for new retail development within our town centres, the Plan will
support new retail and town proposals that will improve choice and bring regeneration benefits.

Sub Regional Centres

5.35 Analysis carried out within the Town Centres Uses Study found that Durham City and Bishop
Auckland function as Sub Regional Centres. Both centres have significant levels of floorspace within
their defined centre boundaries and have several major national multiple retailers represented. They
are the largest centres in the county and their influence extends over a wide area. Durham City serves
a central Durham catchment including Chester-le-Street and Peterlee, whilst Bishop Auckland serves
Spennymoor, Crook and much of the rural west.

5.36 Within Durham City there has seen significant recent and continued investment.
Redevelopment of The Gates Shopping Centre in North Road is well underway with completion due
later this year. This will include a multiplex cinema, associated leisure uses and the opening up of
the riverside walkways and improvement of the retail offer. This will create a draw for this part of the
city centre. Alongside this, is the 60,000 sqm re-development of the former Milburngate House site.
The site will be mixed use and include residential, leisure and commercial uses, regenerating this
riverbank location.

5.37 A masterplan for Bishop Auckland town centre has been developed that seeks to build on
the significant investment at Auckland Castle through the Auckland Project and Eleven Arches. A
range of projects are being developed across the town centre investing in the culture, heritage and
economy of the town including the Bishop Auckland Heritage Action Zone and also the Zubaran
Centre for Spanish and Latin American Art. The Plan will support proposals that will deliver the aims
of the masterplan, increase footfall within the town centre and improve its vitality and viability.

Large Town Centres

5.38 The defined Large Town Centres perform a supporting role to the Sub Regional Centres
providing a lesser, more limited offer and serving a more localised catchment. Whilst these towns
have major foodstores and a full range of local services and employment uses, the non-food retail
offer in each of these centres is relatively limited with few national multiple comparison retailers
present.

5.39 Within Barnard Castle, the Retail and Town Centre Study has identified food spend leakage
out of the town to other centres within and also outside of the county. In terms of main food retail
destinations, the town only has a single small Morrison's store resulting in a lack of choice for local
residents. The Plan will therefore support proposals that will deliver new food retail provision within
Barnard Castle that comply with the sequential and retail impact tests.

5.40 A masterplan is being developed in Chester-le-Street that will focus on utilising vacant and
underused land within the town centre as well as improving the quality of the local environment. This
is with the aim of improving the vibrancy of the town centre and the quality of the offer. A key element
of the masterplan is the opening up of the Cong Burn that currently runs underneath the town’s market
place. This will reduce the risk of flooding in the town as well as seeing the watercourse transformed
into a public realm feature. The Plan will support proposals that deliver the aims of the masterplan.

87Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 337



5.41 The council has focused on a range of improvements for Consett town centre in order to
improve the visual quality of the shopping environment. This has delivered public realm improvements
including new paving, lighting, street furniture and planting areas with the town centre. Over the next
18 months, the council will be refreshing a masterplan with the aim of further revitalising the town
centre.

5.42 Crook town centre has seen recent development with the former Co-Op store on New Road
demolished and replaced by a new Lidl store. This alongside the approved Aldi store on Queen Street
will improve choice in the town and improve the levels of expenditure retention.

5.43 Newton Aycliffe has recently seen the adoption of a neighbourhood plan where the importance
of retail and the town centre was highlighted. This specifically related to improving the retail offer in
the town as well as the evening economy. A proposed development of four retail units has recently
been approved on the former Cubby site that will deliver wider choice in the town. The Plan will
support further proposals that improve the offer within the town centre.

5.44 Peterlee has seen approvals for two large foodstore schemes, at the former Easington College
site and the partial redevelopment of the Castle Dene Shopping Centre. Neither of these schemes
have come forward since approval in 2012. Whilst the Retail and Town Centre Study does not identify
any overriding retail need, there are significant regeneration benefits to the redevelopment of the
former Easington College site for a retail based scheme. The Plan will therefore support retail
development on this site which broadly accords with the original permission.

5.45 Seaham town centre has benefited from recent investment in North Terrace, however there
are a number of sites within the town centre that provide development opportunities that can deliver
improvements to the town centre. The Plan will support proposals that will bring about further range
and choice in the town's retail provision.

5.46 Festival Walk lies in the heart of Spennymoor town centre. It currently suffers from high
vacancy rates including the large former KwikSave unit. It has a detrimental impact on the appearance
of the town centre and has long been recognised as an area in need of regeneration. The Plan will
support redevelopment of this area of the town that has the potential to improve the retail offer while
also bringing considerable environmental and regeneration benefits.

5.47 Work on two multi-million developments as part of the ongoing regeneration of Stanley town
centre are now underway. The former KwikSave building on Clifford Road in Stanley is being
redeveloped for a new Home Bargains store and, the old bus station and former Co-op building,
which were demolished several years ago, are being cleared for a new Aldi store. A new £1.4 million,
23-bed hotel in Stanfield House, the former council care home, also opened recently creating 20 jobs.
The Plan will continue to support further schemes which improve the range and choice in the town.

Small Town Centres

5.48 The defined Small Towns predominantly perform a local top up role with the majority of local
residents looking towards mainstream food provision in larger centres to meet their main convenience
shopping needs. In addition, the towns have a limited comparison retail offer and basic service and
leisure provision. They do however perform an important role and will be protected within the retail
hierarchy.

5.49 Ferryhill town centre plays an important local role with stores such as the Co-op and B&M
Bargains together with a number of independent shops providing a good level of provision. The Plan
will support further proposals that will improve retail choice within the town centre.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201988

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 338



5.50 Shildon town centre's proximity to Bishop Auckland means that it performs a complementary
function as a retail destination. With further investment at Locomotion, this can act as a catalyst for
increased visitor numbers and increased spend within Shildon and its town centre which in turn could
lead to further investment.

District Centres

5.51 Both of the defined District Centres have large mainstream convenience foodstore anchors
and also a higher order non-food retail offer which reflects the origins of both centres as out of centre
retail park developments. The District Centres do however lack the local service function (banks,
professional services etc.) of traditional centres. It is particularly important that the future development
of these centres does not undermine the role of other higher order centres and particularly Durham
city centre therefore proposals over 2,500 sqm will be required to consider their impact on these
centres.

5.52 Dalton Park, Murton and Tindale, Bishop Auckland are not designated within the retail hierarchy.
They are recognised as out of centre locations and further development would be subject to a
sequential test, and if applicable, an impact test.

Local Centres

5.53 The Local Centres are found within a large number of villages across the county. These
support a number of local shops and services that meet local residents’ daily shopping needs.

Essential Shops and Facilities

5.54 In some of our smaller settlements, where there are not sufficient shops for a local centre to
be defined, a local shop/convenience store or community facility is of even greater importance to the
local population. It is important that the unnecessary loss of shops, community or cultural facilities
within the county's smaller settlements is avoided. In assessing applications that would potentially
see the loss of such facilities, particular consideration will be given to the accessibility or availability
of equivalent facilities near by and the role that facility plays within the settlement. The views of local
people and relevant Town or Parish Councils will be of particular importance in assessing such
applications.

Protection of Town Centres

5.55 Town and local centres, are the heart of their communities. Government policy continues to
support town centres by promoting vitality and viability within them. The council monitors the
performance of the county's towns annually and has defined town centre boundaries across the
county based on the changing dynamics of these centres(50). The boundaries for these centres are
defined on the policies map and define the most suitable locations for retail and other town uses such
as leisure or cultural facilities.

5.56 Applicants proposing retail and town centre uses on edge of centre or out of centre sites will
be required to carry out a sequential assessment. In addition schemes that are proposing food retail
developments in edge of centre or out of centre locations with a floorspace greater than 1,500 sqm
(gross), which could impact on a Sub Regional, Large Town and/or District Centres, should be
accompanied by a retail impact assessment. This threshold will be adjusted to 1,000 sqm (gross)
where the proposal is for comparison retailing.

50 link to TC surveys

89Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 339



5.57 A specific impact threshold has also been defined for proposals that would impact on a Small
Town and Local Centres. In this instance where proposals for comparison or convenience retail are
in excess of 400 sqm (gross), an impact assessment will be required.

5.58 For leisure development the national default threshold of 2,500 sqm is applicable. In producing
sequential and impact assessments, applicants will be required to follow guidance within the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).

Primary Shopping Areas

5.59 The Plan defines Primary Shopping Areas for all of the county's Sub Regional, Large and
Small Town centres. Primary Shopping Areas are the principal retail locations and have the highest
proportion of A1 retail uses within a centre.

5.60 Within defined Primary Shopping Areas, we aim to maintain the retail offer, but with an
appropriate provision of non A1 facilities to enhance the town centre experience by offering a
reasonable choice of services to shoppers and visitors. In response to the challenges that town
centres face across the county, it is important that policies allow for sufficient flexibility within town
centres. Proposals within the Primary Shopping Area will be assessed against the existing provision,
vacancies and mix of commercial and retail uses. Harm to the retail character will be determined by
assessing a proposal's contribution to the vitality and viability of a centre. Consideration will need to
be given to whether a proposal would result in 'dead frontage' i.e. not require passing trade, and
whether it would result in a significant over concentration of non-retail uses within the defined Primary
Shopping Area. Outside the Primary Shopping Areas non-retail uses will be supported across town
centres allowing for growth and diversification. Support will be given to pop-up shops, given the
positive contribution they can make to the vitality and vibrancy of town centres. In addition, support
will be given to re-using buildings with town centres for art and cultural facilities.

Residential Uses

5.61 In some instances town centres may provide suitable locations for residential uses, contributing
to the overall housing supply and also to a centre's vitality and viability, whilst also increasing footfall.
Residential uses will be encouraged within Sub Regional, Large and Small town centres, where it
complies with relevant policies in the Plan.

Evening Economy

5.62 The Retail and Town Centre Uses Study identifies deficiencies in the evening and night time
economy in many of the county's town centres. It will be important to support appropriate proposals
that can improve the evening economy in these towns.

5.63 Proposals that relate to the development of the evening and night time economy (e.g. pubs,
clubs, restaurants, shops and night-time entertainment) will be supported as valuable additions to
the vitality and viability of Sub Regional and Large Town Centres, provided that the operation of such
activities can be controlled to address amenity impacts (in accordance with Policy 33 (Amenity and
Pollution)) and take into account public safety. Such developments will be resisted where they have
a detrimental impact on other uses or areas or otherwise undermine town centres.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201990

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 340



How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Vacancy rates in retail centres.

2. Approved and completed retail floor space outside of town centres on sites that are over
1,500 sqm for convenience and over 1,000 sqm for comparison.

Target:

1. Vacancy rates below national rate.

2. None delivered which failed the required impact threshold.

91Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 341



Supporting a Prosperous Rural Economy

5.64 County Durham is primarily a rural county and therefore any vision for future prosperity must
also seek to achieve success in our rural areas. This is reflected in the Plan's Vision, Objectives and
Sustainable Development Statement. There are also policies throughout the Plan which apply equally
to our towns, villages and rural areas. For example Policy 15 (Addressing Housing Need) seeks to
meet the need for affordable housing and housing for older persons, the need for which is particularly
acute in rural areas. There are also a range of policies including Policy 30 (Sustainable Design) which
seek to protect the natural, historic and built environment within rural areas and ensure development
reflects local distinctiveness and is well-designed.

5.65 Furthermore to ensure that the specific issues within rural areas are taken into account, all
policies within the Plan have been subjected to a rural-proofing exercise, both during and after the
policy creation stage in line with the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra)
rural-proofing good practice guidance. Rural-proofing is not about providing special treatment for
rural areas, but rather reflecting the reality that some policies will not necessarily work as effectively
in rural areas due to their dispersed population, settlements and economic markets. Rural-proofing
aims to ensure that the needs of, and issues affecting, those living and working in rural areas are
considered as new planning policies are developed.

5.66 There are however some issues which are specific to rural areas which require their own
policies such as development in the countryside, exception sites and those related to rural enterprises
such as agriculture and equestrian development and this is the purpose of this chapter.

County Durham's Rural Areas

5.67 Ninety percent of the county's population lives east of the A68 in forty percent of the county
area, yet rural communities do not only exist within the west of the county. In fact County Durham's
rural areas vary widely in character from remote and sparsely populated areas in the Pennine Dales,
to the larger villages located within the former coalfield communities in the centre and east. These
areas do not have good access to more urban areas and the services and facilities in those areas
including housing and employment. Defra defines our rural areas by lower super output area(51) as
shown on the map below.

51 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/86364/NE_GOR_LSOA.jpg

Pre-Submission Draft January 201992

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 342

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/86364/NE_GOR_LSOA.jpg


Picture 2 Rural Urban Classification Map produced by DEFRA

5.68 It is important that rural settlements are not unduly constrained and remain sustainable. Our
rural communities require proportional growth so that their population have a balance of ages and
are able to thrive and grow while also respecting the character of the countryside. Rural communities
can have quality environments to live in and visit but can also have an important role to play in the
rural economy as workplace locations. Therefore the council supports development that meets the
needs of the local community such as affordable housing and economic diversification, provided the
countryside is protected from wider development pressures and widespread new building.

5.69 Rural areas can experience a far greater reliance on the car than urban areas which can
cause problems in accessing work. Similarly young people need the means to be able to access the
further education system including maintaining public transport links.

5.70 One of the key issues that has constrained the economy of rural areas is the lack of a reliable
broadband connection. As this is improving with the roll out of superfast broadband, we need to be
in a position to capitalise on this opportunity but in a way which preserves the quality and character
of what makes these areas special. This will stimulate a prosperous rural economy by opening up
new economic sectors as well as improving the traditional sectors such as tourism, agriculture and
forestry. It should also improve the quality of lives of residents by providing greater access to key
services. We need to ensure that the Plan supports and enables rural growth in order to provide
sustainable jobs and be proactive and flexible in attracting investment to the area.

93Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 343



Development in the Countryside

Policy 10

Development in the Countryside

Development in the countryside will not be permitted unless allowed for by specific policies in
the Plan(52), relevant policies within an adopted neighbourhood plan relating to the application
site or where the proposal relates to one or more of the following exceptions:

Economic Development

Development necessary to support:

a. an existing agricultural or other existing rural land-based enterprise or associated farm
diversification scheme, including the provision of new or the extension of existing building(s),
structures or hard standings required for the functioning of the enterprise;

b. the expansion of an existing business falling beyond the scope of a rural land based
enterprise, where it can be clearly demonstrated that it is, or has the prospect of being,
financially sound and will remain so;

c. the establishment of a new agricultural or other rural land based enterprise which clearly
demonstrates an essential and functional need for that specific location and where it can
be clearly demonstrated that it has the prospect of being financially sound and will remain
so; or

d. the undertaking of non-commercial agricultural activity which is located within or directly
adjoining the applicant’s existing residential curtilage which is of a scale commensurate to
the incidental enjoyment of that existing dwelling.

In all instances the resulting development must be of a design, construction and scale which is
suitable for and commensurate to the intended use. In respect to (a), (b) and (c) any resulting
building(s), other structure(s) and hard standing(s) must be well related to the associated
farmstead or business premises unless a clear need to ensure the effective functioning of the
business for an alternative location can be demonstrated by the applicant.

Infrastructure Development

Development necessary to support:

e. essential infrastructure where the need can be demonstrated for that location;

f. the provision of new, or the enhancement of, existing community facilities; or

g. development of a new, or the enhancement of, an existing countryside based recreation or
leisure activity which will improve access to the countryside for all in terms of walking,
cycling, horse riding and sailing without giving rise to adverse environmental impacts.

52 Relevant policies include: housing allocations; employment land allocations; visitor attractions and accommodation; equestrian
development; rural exceptions; travellers; green infrastructure; rural workers dwellings; low carbon and renewables, all applicable
policies relating to minerals and waste development; and transport routes (roads, cycle-ways and rail).

Pre-Submission Draft January 201994

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 344



Development of Existing Buildings

Development necessary to support:

h. the change of use of an existing building or structure which:

1. already makes a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the area and
is capable of conversion without complete or substantial rebuilding, disproportionate
extension or unsympathetic alterations;

2. results in an enhancement of the building’s immediate setting;

3. does not result in the unjustified loss of a community service or facility; and

4. in the case of a heritage asset, represents the optimal viable use of that asset consistent
with their conservation.

i. the intensification of a use through subdivision;

j. the replacement of an existing dwelling in the same location with one of a comparable
footprint and mass where this is clearly justified; or

k. an extension of an existing dwelling or other householder development within the existing
curtilage which is incidental to the enjoyment of the dwelling, including proposals to facilitate
home working.

General Design Principles for all Development in the Countryside

New development in the countryside must accord with all other relevant development plan policies
and by virtue of their siting, scale, design and operation must not:

l. give rise to unacceptable harm to the heritage, biodiversity, geodiversity, intrinsic character,
beauty or tranquillity of the countryside either individually or cumulatively, which cannot be
adequately mitigated or compensated for;

m. result in the merging or coalescence of neighbouring settlements;

n. contribute to ribbon development;

o. impact adversely upon the setting, townscape qualities, including important vistas, or form
of a settlement which cannot be adequately mitigated or compensated for;

p. be solely reliant upon, or in the case of an existing use, significantly intensify accessibility
by unsustainable modes of transport. New development in countryside locations that is not
well served by public transport must exploit any opportunities to make a location more
sustainable including improving the scope for access on foot, by cycle or by public transport;

q. be prejudicial to highway, water or railway safety; and

r. impact adversely upon residential or general amenity.

New development in the countryside must also:

95Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 345



s. minimise vulnerability and provide resilience to impacts arising from climate change, including
but not limited to, flooding; and

t. where applicable, maximise the effective use of previously developed (brownfield) land
providing it is not of high environmental value.

5.71 For the purposes of this policy, land which is not within an existing built-up area, as defined
by Policy 6 (Development on Unallocated Sites In the Built-Up Area) will be regarded as 'countryside'.
As a general principle, the Plan seeks to direct new development to sites within the built-up area or
those specifically allocated for development and which respect the dispersed settlement pattern which
characterises much of County Durham. However, it is recognised that in the interests of the rural
economy and the sustainability of its communities, they too need to be supported by appropriate new
development. Therefore the circumstances where development relating to both existing and new uses
and buildings will be acceptable in the countryside, are set out in this policy alongside other relevant
policies in the Plan.

5.72 Modern agricultural buildings in the form of portal-framed or other similarly constructed
structures are cheap to construct, flexible for a wide range of uses and are therefore attractive to
small-scale hobby farmers and non-agricultural uses. To avoid the proliferation of these buildings in
the countryside, all proposals for an 'agricultural' building in the countryside will be assessed to
determine whether the proposed building is genuinely required for agricultural purposes and is of a
commensurate scale for the intended purpose. Small scale non-commercial activity may also be
acceptable where this is closely related to the applicant's existing residence.

5.73 As well as providing leisure and recreational opportunities, the countryside is a constantly
changing workplace. It is necessary to balance and integrate the requirement to protect the countryside
with the need to sustain and encourage the vitality and viability of the rural economy including through
agriculture and tourism. The modernisation and diversification of existing activities as well as the
creation of new activities, will be supported where this can be achieved in a sustainable manner
and, where applicable, will enable their retention as a viable use. New, and improvements to existing,
infrastructure will also be supported especially where this will bring about wider economic and social
benefits.

5.74 There are a varied range of buildings in the countryside which are under threat of closure, are
disused for their original purpose or are redundant. The majority are likely to be agricultural buildings
but there may also be community facilities including places of worship, mills, schools, or public houses,
for which an alternative use is being sought. Many of these buildings make a positive contribution to
the character and appearance of the countryside and some are heritage assets in their own right and
may be 'at risk'. The sympathetic conversion of these buildings, for example to employment or
community use, visitor accommodation or housing, can safeguard their future. The change of use of
any such building must be clearly justified on a case-by-case basis according to their individual
circumstances including consideration of the proposed use's future viability and the impact the loss
of that proposed use would have. Any such proposals requiring alterations to enable the conversion
must be accompanied by a structural survey to demonstrate that this can be done without significant
rebuilding or alteration. Any proposed extension must be proportionate, respect the scale, form
and character of the building, as well as being appropriate to its wider setting. The policy also sets
out the circumstances whereby householder development for purposes incidental to the enjoyment
of the dwelling house, the replacement of an existing dwelling with another where the need for a
replacement is clearly justified, for example due to structural issues or the intensification of use through
sub division will be permitted.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201996

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 346



5.75 New development should seek to minimise the use of resources, including by the recycling
of previously developed land. It is also vital to plan buildings and communities that are resilient to
potential climate change impacts. Development must therefore be designed to withstand future
weather trends as flooding events and heat waves will become a much more regular occurrence. For
example, the use of green and brown roofs, and sustainable drainage systems, will be encouraged.

5.76 The general design principles set out within this policy relate to all development within the
countryside, including housing developments acceptable under the provisions of Policy 11 (Rural
Housing and Employment Exception Sites).

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

2. Number of new agricultural or other rural land-based enterprise ventures (approved and
completed).

3. Number of buildings brought back into use for economic generating uses.

4. Number of community facilities within the countryside being lost to alternative non community
uses (approved).

5. Proportion of new dwellings (excluding rural exceptions, replacement, conversions,
subdivisions and those associated with a rural enterprise) within the countryside approved
and completed.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

2. No target.

3. No target.

4. Zero.

5. Reducing trend.

97Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 347



Rural Housing and Employment Exception Sites

Policy 11

Rural Housing and Employment Exception Sites

New housing and employment related development that is contrary to Policy 10 (Development
in the Countryside), but is proposed in rural parts of the county shown on Defra's Rural Urban
Classification map, will be permitted where the following criteria are met:

Where housing is proposed it must be shown that:

a. the development is immediately adjacent to an existing settlement;

b. there is an identified local need for affordable housing sufficient to justify the scale and
nature of the development, with accompanying evidence showing this could not reasonably
be satisfied in other settlements in the vicinity;

c. any market housing is only included where it can be robustly demonstrated that this is
essential to support the viable delivery of affordable housing. Only the minimum necessary
should be included; and

d. the affordable housing is made available to the local community identified as being in need,
with priority given to occupation by households with a local connection.

Where employment related development is proposed it must be shown that:

e. it is of a scale and type that is appropriate to its location; and

f. it could not be more appropriately situated on an existing or allocated industrial estate, an
existing suitable building or other land within other settlements in the vicinity.

All proposals must be in scale and keeping with the form and character of any nearby settlements
and the local landscape.

5.77 As shown on Defra's Rural Urban Classification map in the introduction to this section, County
Durham has substantial rural areas, which are characterised by villages, hamlets and isolated dwellings,
particularly in the west. There may be circumstances where affordable housing and employment
related development is needed in these areas, but can only be delivered by permitting development
in the rural areas defined on this map (which may include Green Belt), either adjacent or close to
existing settlements which would normally be contrary to Policy 10 (Development in the Countryside).
Such sites are known as exception sites.

Pre-Submission Draft January 201998

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 348



Housing

5.78 Affordable housing which is being proposed should meet local needs, reflect demand for
particular sizes, types and tenures of housing and conform with the definition in the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF). It must be justified on the basis of a pressing local need for affordable
housing which is demonstrated by appropriate evidence, including a local needs study relating to the
area concerned. Those regarded as being in local need are:

people who need to be housed but are unable to compete in either the open market for house
purchase or are unable to afford private sector rents; and

people who are local to a village or a group of villages by birth, previous or current residence,
employment or by virtue of having a close family member living in the area.

5.79 It is generally expected that any scheme proposed should consist entirely of affordable housing.
In some circumstances, an element of market housing may be acceptable, provided that it is robustly
shown to be necessary to achieve viability across the whole scheme.

Employment

5.80 The County Durham Employment Land Review (ELR) suggests that there is only very modest
demand for employment land in areas away from the county's key economic market areas and our
larger towns. Employment land allocations in the most rural parts of the county are therefore limited.
Also, in many cases existing plots on industrial estates do not meet the needs of modern rural based
businesses. However we wish to support economic growth and the expansion of local businesses
that are appropriate to the unique circumstances, within rural areas. Therefore in some specific
circumstances it may be appropriate to allow employment uses that would otherwise be contrary to
Policy 10 (Development in the Countryside). Any proposal would need to demonstrate why it could
not reasonably be situated on an existing or allocated industrial estate or an existing suitable building
or other available land in a nearby settlement. Any proposal should reflect the character, appearance
and landscape setting and should be sympathetic in scale to any nearby settlement.

5.81 It should be noted that this policy does not relate to the conversion of rural buildings for
residential or employment use, or rural diversification proposals. These are included in Policy 10
(Development in the Countryside) where uses and developments which enhance the rural economy
are supported.

5.82 Any exception site, whether proposed for residential or employment, must still comply with
other relevant policies in the Plan and also the provisions of the Habitats Regulations, which prevent
adverse impacts on European protected sites such as Natura 2000 sites and RAMSARS. Policies
relating to design, amenity, visual and landscape impact are likely to be particularly relevant.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of housing units approved and completed on Exception Sites.

2. Amount of employment floorspace approved and completed on Exception Sites.

3. Number of new businesses created on Exception Sites.

99Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 349



Target:

1. No Target.

2. No Target.

3. No Target.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019100

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 350



Permanent Rural Workers’ Dwellings

Policy 12

Permanent Rural Workers’ Dwellings

Proposals for new permanent agricultural, forestry and other rural workers’ dwellings outside the
built up area will be permitted provided it can be demonstrated that:

a. the nature and demands of the work involved means that there is an essential existing
functional need for a permanent full time worker to live at, or very close to, the site of their
work in order for the enterprise to function effectively or the dwelling is required to
accommodate a person with majority control of the farm business;

b. the rural business activity has been established for at least three years, is currently financially
sound as verified by a qualified accountant, and has a clear prospect of remaining so;

c. the proposed dwelling is not harmful to the rural landscape and character of the area and
is physically well related to the activities required;

d. the scale of the dwelling is commensurate with the established functional requirement of
the enterprise; and

e. the functional need could not be fulfilled by another existing dwelling on the unit, or any
other existing accommodation in the area which is suitable and available for occupation by
the workers concerned.

Planning permission will be granted subject to a planning condition protecting its continued
occupation by agricultural, forestry, other rural workers with an essential housing need to live
permanently at or near their place of work or those with a majority share in the farm business.

Permitted Development Rights will be removed in order to ensure that a dwelling is not
subsequently extended to a size which exceeds its functional requirement and continues to be
affordable for a rural worker.

If the enterprise has not been established for three years, temporary accommodation will only
be permitted for a maximum of three years where criteria a) and c) are satisfied and there is
evidence from a suitably qualified person that the enterprise is planned on a sound financial
basis.

Removal of Occupancy Conditions

Removal of a rural workers' occupancy condition will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated
that:

f. there is no longer a current or potential future need for the dwelling in relation to a rural
enterprise; and

g. the dwelling has been suitably marketed for sale and/or rent for at least 12 months at a
price that reflects the occupancy condition and no reasonable offer has been refused.

101Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 351



5.83 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) makes it clear that isolated new houses in
the countryside require special justification for planning permission to be granted. One of the few
circumstances in which isolated residential development may be justified is when there is an essential
need for agricultural, forestry and other full-time rural workers to live permanently at, or in the immediate
vicinity of, their place of work.

5.84 Whether the need is essential in any particular case will require a demonstration that there is
a functional requirement for a full time worker to be available at all times on the site for the enterprise
to function properly; that the enterprise is financially sound so that this functional requirement is likely
to continue well into the future; and that the need for a dwelling could not be met by existing buildings
on the site or existing housing in the area. Cases will be judged on the needs of the enterprise and
not the personal preferences of the specific individuals.

5.85 Many people work in rural areas in locations such as offices, schools, farm shops, workshops,
garages and garden centres, or carry out their business in the rural area, but being employed in a
rural location is not sufficient to qualify as a rural worker with an essential housing need to live
permanently at or near their place of work.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of applications for rural workers dwellings approved.

Target:

1. 100%.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019102

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 352



Equestrian Development

Policy 13

Equestrian Development

Equestrian development will be considered an appropriate countryside use and will be permitted
where the following criteria are met:

a. stables are of an appropriate size, design and construction for their intended use and the
number of stables reflect the amount of grazing land available;

b. the proposal involves the appropriate conversion of existing buildings or, where proposals
involve new permanent buildings, these are located as part of, or close to, an existing
famstead or other building grouping;

c. the proposal would not, by virtue of their siting, design, scale, materials or layout, lighting
or through the inappropriate intensification of existing bridleways, routes and land,
unacceptably affect the character, heritage or nature conservation value or the locality,
either individually or cumulatively with other development;

d. the proposals provide appropriate measures for screening buildings, hard standings, arenas
and storage areas with trees or hedges;

e. the proposal is supported by details of appropriate waste storage, management, end disposal
and surface and ground water drainage;

f. the proposal would not adversely impact on the general amenity of neighbouring properties
and the wider area; and

g. safe and suitable access can be achieved, and in the case of commercial establishments
are located close to existing bridleways or other routes suitable for trekking or hacking out
where this forms part of the business.

New equestrian development in the Green Belt will normally be regarded as inappropriate
development. Where the proposal involves limited infilling relating to an existing use, small scale
stables will be permitted where they do not harm the openness of the Green Belt or conflict with
the purposes for which the land was included in the Green Belt.

In all cases, applicants will be expected to demonstrate adequate provision for the proper care
of horses, including stabling, grazing and exercise, in accordance with the Equine Industry
Welfare Guidelines and the British Horse Society standards. Equestrian development commercial
establishments need to be located sufficiently close to existing residential accommodation to
allow for appropriate levels of supervision. Proposals for a residential use associated with the
equestrian development will be determined against Policy 13 (Permanent Rural Workers'
Dwellings).

5.86 Many parts of the county, including within the Green Belt, are experiencing growth in horse
riding as an outdoor recreation and leisure pursuit and subsequently an increase in demand for land
to graze and stable horses. The countryside is also easily accessible from many built up areas and

103Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 353



therefore this combination of demand and accessibility, coupled with changes in the farming economy,
is making the release of agricultural land by farmers for grazing and stabling increasingly attractive.
However the impacts need to be controlled to ensure the protection of the countryside together with
the general amenity of neighbouring occupiers.

5.87 Careful attention needs to be paid to the design, siting and layout of any proposal to ensure
that there is no harm to the character and appearance of the area, its heritage or conservation value.
The cumulative impact with other similar activities in the area will also need to be considered. Any
buildings and associated development should be sensitively located and constructed of appropriate
materials having regard to the character of the area. For buildings in locations away from farmsteads
or other buildings, timber will often be the most suitable material provided that is of a muted colour
and be well maintained.

5.88 In many cases, it is other features associated with the development such as tracks and hard
standings, menages, storage of straw, hay, manure heaps, horse boxes, jumps, etc. that contribute
to visual impact, rather than just the principal buildings. A landscaping scheme will often be needed
to help assimilate the proposals into the surrounding countryside and screen visual clutter through
the use of native trees and hedges.

5.89 In establishing new commercial establishments, the developer will be expected to demonstrate
that adequate investment is being made in the new enterprise to ensure that it is viable in the long
term.

5.90 Horses can be ridden on bridleways and byways so to ensure that the recreational and health
benefits are maximised, proposals will be expected to be located near to existing bridleways unless
it can be demonstrated that this is not necessary and adequate facilities are provided within the site
to exercise horses.

5.91 The management of waste, including manure, needs to take account of both the amenity of
neighbouring residents and any environmental impacts such as nitrogen-rich run-off which can affect
the quality of water courses. This would be particularly relevant in Nitrate Vulnerable Zones.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019104

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 354



Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land and Soil Resources

Policy 14

Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land and Soil Resources

Agricultural Land

Development of the best and most versatile agricultural land will only be permitted where it can
be demonstrated that the need for the development, its benefits and/or sustainability
considerations outweigh the need to protect such land taking into account the economic and
other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land.

Proposals for development on unallocated sites which would individually or cumulatively result
in a significant loss of best and most versatile agricultural land will also need to demonstrate that
there are no other suitable alternative sites which could accommodate either all or part of the
development on either previously developed land, or land within the built up area of existing
adjacent or nearby settlements, or on poorer quality (53) agricultural land.

Where mineral working is proposed on best and most versatile agricultural land proposals should
also seek where practicable to minimise its loss and retain its longer term capability unless the
benefits of alternative restoration strategies outweigh its loss.

Soil

All development proposals should demonstrate that soil resources will bemanaged and conserved
in a viable condition and used sustainably in line with accepted best practice.

5.92 This policy seeks to conserve and protect best and most versatile agricultural land and
associated soil resources. It sets out the circumstances when development of the best and most
versatile agricultural land will be permitted and how soil resources will be managed and conserved
in a viable condition and used sustainably in line with accepted best practice(54).

5.93 Agriculture is the predominant land use in County Durham(55). Agricultural land quantity varies
from place to place and the Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) system, provides a method for
assessing the quality of agricultural land with grades 1, 2 and 3a considered to be the best and most
versatile agricultural land(56). There is no Grade 1 land in County Durham and less than 2% of the
county is classified as Grade 2. Approximately 38% of the County is classified as Grade 3 but it is
not currently possible to differentiate the amount of grade 3a and grade 3b land as a comprehensive
survey of grade 3 land is not available. Where land is identified as grade 3 on the ALC maps(57) and
an agricultural land classification statement is not provided, the council will consider the land to be

53 Poorer quality agricultural land is agricultural land which is not best and most versatile agricultural land.
54 Best practice on works affecting soil resources can be found from Defra in the Defra Construction Code of Practice for the Sustainable

Use of Soils on Construction Sites, 2009. Additional guidance relating to minerals and waste sites can be found in Guidance for
Successful Reclamation of Mineral and Waste sites (Defra, 2004) and the Good practice guide for handling soils (MAFF, 2000)

55 Approximately 92% of the county's land surface of 223,094 ha is classified as agricultural land. Source, Provisional Agricultural
Land Classification (ALC) Dataset, Natural England.

56 The Agricultural Land Classification grades are: Grade 1 (excellent), Grade 2 (very good), Grade 3a (good), Grade 3b (moderate),
Grade 4 (poor) and Grade 5 (very poor).

57 The Agricultural Land Classification Map, North East Region
(http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/142039?category=5954148537204736) shows Grades 1-5, but Grade 3 is not
subdivided.

105Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 355

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/142039?category=5954148537204736


best and most versatile agricultural land unless it is proven otherwise. All proposals over one hectare
which would have the potential to involve the loss of best and most versatile agricultural land will be
expected to be accompanied by an agricultural land classification statement.

5.94 Soil is a fundamental and finite resource that fulfils many important functions and ecosystem
services. For example it provides a growing medium for food, timber and other crops, as a store for
carbon, water and air filtration, support for buildings, as a reservoir of biodiversity and as a buffer
against pollution. Some of the most fundamental impacts on this resource occur as a result of
construction activity. It is therefore important that the soil resources are managed and conserved in
a viable condition and used sustainably in line with best practice. Where development proposals are
permanent it is important that soil resources are used effectively on undeveloped areas of the site
for landscape, habitat or garden creation or used appropriately on other suitable sites. All proposals
over one hectare which have the potential to adversely affect soil resources will be expected to
produce a strategy for the use of topsoil and/or subsoil.

5.95 When considering development proposals which would result in the loss of best and most
versatile agricultural land the council will consider the need for the development and the economic
and other benefits of the proposal and whether they outweigh the need to protect the agricultural
land. In addition when considering proposals for development on unallocated sites which would either
individually or cumulatively lead to the loss of a significant quantity of best and most versatile
agricultural land, the applicant will need to demonstrate that there are no other more suitable alternative
sites that could satisfactorily accommodate either all or part of the proposed development, for example
on either previously developed land, or land within the built up area of existing adjacent or nearby
settlements, or on poorer quality agricultural land.

5.96 The winning and working of minerals may involve the use of large areas of best and most
versatile agricultural land as the winning and working of minerals is limited to where the mineral
resource naturally occurs. Mineral working requires the careful handling and management of soil
resources to preserve the potential to recreate best and most versatile agricultural land. Where
working is proposed on the best and most versatile agricultural land the outline strategy for the working
of the site should where practicable seek to minimise its loss and how the methods used in the
restoration and aftercare enable the land to retain its longer term capability. However, in some
cases, including where a substantial void has been created through mineral extraction, it is recognised
that restoration to agriculture may not be practicable and alternative restoration strategies may be
preferable and may provide benefits which could outweigh the loss of the best and most versatile
agricultural land. Further guidance relating to mineral extraction and soil resources will be provided
within the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document.

How will it be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Percentage of eligible schemes accompanied by a Agricultural Land Classification
Assessment.

2. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. 100%.

2. None upheld at appeal.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019106

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 356



Delivering a Wide Choice of High Quality Homes

5.97 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local plans to proactively drive and
support sustainable economic development to deliver the homes and thriving local places we need.
Identifying and meeting Local Housing Need (LHN) is set out in Policy 1 (Quantity of Development).
This section covers other aspects of housing such as providing housing that is affordable, is of the
right type and meets the needs of all sections of society including older people, children, students,
travellers and those that wish to build their own homes.

107Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 357



Addressing Housing Need

Policy 15

Addressing Housing Need

To contribute towards meeting the needs of the county’s existing and future residents we will
require all qualifying new housing proposals to provide a percentage of Affordable Housing(58)

which is accessible, affordable and meets the needs of those residents unable to access the
open housing market.

Affordable Housing Provision

Affordable housing will be sought on sites of over 10 units and in line with the percentages set
out below. In designated rural areas, schemes of between 6 and 10 units will provide a financial
contribution towards the delivery of affordable housing.

Table 8 Affordable Contributions

Percentage of Housing UnitsViability Area(59)

25%Highest Value Area

20%High Value Area

15%Medium Value Area

10%Low Value Area

Affordable Housing Tenure Mix

Affordable housing should be provided with a tenure mix of 70% affordable rented housing to
30% intermediate products.

Where it can be evidenced by the applicant to the council's satisfaction that that this tenure mix
would make the required affordable housing contribution unviable or that alternative affordable
housing products are required to meet local needs, then proposals for an alternative tenure mix
as proposed by the applicant will be considered.

Off-Site Provision of Affordable Housing

In certain circumstances where it can be justified by the developer, or it is considered by the
council that it is the most appropriate course of action, we will accept off-site contributions in lieu
of on-site provision where:

a. there would be five or fewer affordable homes on the site;

58 As defined in Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
59 As shown on Map F in the policies map document.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019108

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 358



b. there is clear evidence that a greater number of affordable homes could be delivered
off-site, in a more suitable location; or

c. the resulting financial contribution would contribute to specific regeneration activity including
bringing viable vacant housing back into use.

In all instances financial contributions should be of a broadly equivalent value of developing or
buying on the open market the same number of new properties of the size and type and in a
similar location that would have been provided on site. The calculation for the financial contribution
will take into account the following key factors:

d. The unencumbered residual land value;

e. Total number of units on site;

f. Registered Providers purchase amount;

g. Number of units for affordable housing; and

h. Total development costs.

Meeting the Needs of Older People

To contribute towards meeting the needs of the county’s ageing population we will require a
minimum of 10% of private or intermediate housing on sites of over 10 units which, in relation
to design and house type, increase the housing options of older people. Appropriate house types
considered to meet this requirement include:

level access flats;

level access bungalows;

or

housing products that can be shown to meet the specific needs of a multi generational
family.

All of these properties must be built to Building Regulations Requirement M4 (2) (accessible and
adaptable dwellings) and situated in the most appropriate location within the site for older people.

Where it can be demonstrated that this requirement would undermine the viability of the scheme,
either in terms of financial viability or lack of market demand for these products, then as an
alternative we will require at least 10% of the total units on the site to be built to Building Regulation
Requirement M4(2) (accessible and adaptable dwellings). Exceptionally, this requirement will
not be applied where topographical issues or other physical constraints on sites make this
unviable.

Specialist Housing

The council will support the provision of specialist housing for older people, vulnerable adults
and people with disabilities where:

109Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 359



i. the development is in an appropriate location with reference to the needs of the client;

j. it is designed to meet the particular requirements of residents;

k. appropriate measures will be in place to ensure access for emergency vehicles and safety
measures such as fire escapes; and

l. satisfactory outside space, highway access, parking and servicing can be achieved.

Specialist housing for older people, will meet the following standards:

M. 100% of accommodation to meet M4(2) Category 2 - Accessible and adaptable dwellings;
and

N. A minimum of 25% of accommodation to meet M4(3) Category 3 - Wheelchair User
Dwellings.

Where it can be evidenced by the applicant to the council's satisfaction that applying the Optional
Standards at these proportions would make the proposal unviable, then proposals for alternative
proportions of dwellings which meet the Optional Standards, as proposed by the applicant, will
be considered. Where viability considerations dictate that the provision of affordable housing or
older people's housing is below the levels set out in the policy, the council will include an overage
payment clause in the Section 106 Agreement relating to the planning permission.

5.98 Many households in County Durham who lack their own housing or live in unsuitable housing
cannot afford to buy or rent suitable houses at market rates. These households need affordable
housing.The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)(60) has undertaken an assessment of
the need for affordable housing within County Durham and determined that there will be a need to
provide annual additional affordable housing for 829 households over the plan period 2016-35.

5.99 In line with National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) pursuing sustainable development
requires careful attention to viability. The council has undertaken an assessment of viability through
the Local Plan Viability Assessment (61). This has informed realistic targets for the delivery of affordable
housing which do not threaten viability and the delivery of housing, and which include an assessment
of the impacts of other policy requirements included within the Plan. On sites where site specific
circumstances indicate that viability is an issue, negotiations on the proportion of affordable housing
required, together with other planning obligations, will continue to take place. The affordable housing
targets will be subject to regular review, alongside the SHMA, in recognition of changing circumstances
and economic conditions.

5.100 In setting targets for affordable housing delivery, it is recognised that new housing development
in the highest and high value areas, where prices for new houses are more buoyant, can support the
greatest level of provision. The evidence suggests that an opportunity to deliver lower levels of
affordable units in medium and low value areas is also possible without compromising the viability of
development. The viability areas are shown on Map F in the policies map document.

60 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
61 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019110

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 360

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


5.101 In designated rural areas, schemes of between 6 and 10 units will provide a financial
contribution towards the delivery of affordable housing. Designated rural areas are described under
section 157 (1) of the Housing Act 1985 and are set out on Map XX of the Plan. Financial contributions
should be determined in line with the approach for determining off site contributions as set out in the
policy.

5.102 In meeting the need for affordable housing, it is important to note that a local plan is not the
only mechanism for the delivery of affordable homes. Traditionally, affordable housing has been
delivered through three main mechanisms. The majority of affordable housing has been funded
through Homes England programmes and delivered by Registered Providers with the remainder
delivered through Section 106 agreements and a small number funded directly by Registered Providers
through Recycled Capital Grant Fund or capital reserves.

Tenure Mix of Affordable Housing

5.103 The NPPF provides a definition of affordable housing which is set out in the glossary of the
Plan. It is important that a variety of affordable housing options are offered to meet the circumstances
of those in need and to cater for the affordable housing needs of specific groups. The SHMA suggests
that a tenure mix of affordable housing across the county of 70% affordable rented housing and 30%
intermediate housing would be appropriate. Other factors will also need to be taken into account,
including the tenure mix in the existing settlement, local housing need, the viability of the site and the
availability of related mortgage products.

Off-Site Provision of Affordable Housing

5.104 It is recognised that the provision of affordable housing on-site as part of a wider housing
development serves to support the creation of mixed and balanced communities. However, it is
considered that there are some circumstances in which it may be appropriate to provide affordable
housing off-site. For instance, where there were such a small number of properties that would be
difficult for a registered provider to manage them, where off site contributions would serve to deliver
more affordable housing than if delivered on site, or where the site was in an area where there is
already a localised oversupply of affordable homes.

5.105 There may also be circumstances where a financial contribution of broadly equivalent value
can be accepted in place of on-site provision of affordable homes, for example in order to improve
existing housing stock as part of the council's regeneration activities. However, in all instances, the
developer or the council would be expected to robustly demonstrate that the off-site provision or
financial contribution was acceptable as part of the determination of the planning application.

Affordable Housing Trajectory

5.106 Trajectories are a planning tool designed to illustrate the expected rate of delivery across
the plan period. The affordable housing trajectory is based upon the countywide housing trajectory
and assumes that each proposed allocation in the trajectory will deliver the required quantum of
affordable housing in line with the percentage targets outlined in the policy. In respect of commitments,
the trajectory reflects the approved schemes. This trajectory only shows affordable housing anticipated
as a proportion of market housing.

111Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 361



Figure 4

Meeting the Needs of Older People

5.107 The population of the county is already ageing and over the next few decades, there will be
a ‘demographic shift’ with the number (and proportion) of older people increasing. 2014
based population projections County Durham indicate that from 2016 to 2035 the number of people
aged over 65 will increase from 105,200 to 146,300 (a 39% increase) and those aged 75 and over
will increase from 45,700 to 75,700 (a 65.6% increase). As most older people usually live in small
households, usually as couples and single people, a minimum of 90% of household growth over the
Plan period will be in households aged over 65.

5.108 A survey undertaken as part of the development of the Strategic Housing Market Assessment
considered the housing options of older persons. Whilst a range of options were considered a notable
proportion of older people were considering buying a property on the open market or renting from a
housing association to meet their housing needs. This evidence suggests a need to continue to
diversify the range of housing options for older people.

5.109 At the moment the stock of bungalows and flats in the private sector across the county is
much too small to meet the interest that has been expressed from older people, particularly as most
flats have not been built with their needs in mind. In recent years very few properties of this type have
been built and therefore the proportion of bungalows and flats in the private sector housing stock is
declining.

5.110 For the purposes of assessing the viability of the requirement for older people's housing, the
Local Plan Viability Study has made an assumption that the full 10% of the provision would be provided
as bungalows and that they would meet the Building Regulation M4 (2) ‘Category 2 – Accessible and
Adaptable Dwellings standard.(62). The study has confirmed that it is generally viable for all sites to
include 10% of private houses as bungalows. On unallocated sites, we may consider revising
requirements for these specified types of houses to purely a requirement for Building Regulations

62 The Building Regulations 2010, access and Use of buildings, approved Document M, 2015 edition incorporating 2016 amendments
- for use in England.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019112

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 362



Requirement M4 (2) (accessible and adaptable dwellings) should this be justified by issues related
to viability. This will apply in all circumstances except where topographical issues such as very steep
levels or vulnerability to flooding make this impractical.

5.111 The 10% requirement for housing aimed at increasing options for older people also includes
an option for developers to provide housing aimed at meeting the needs of ‘multi-generational’ families.
The formation of multi-generational families, which include older people, is being driven by financial
pressures and rising care costs. Multi-generational housing is a popular product in other countries
but, to date, has not been used on a widespread basis in the UK, which limits the evidence base from
a viability perspective. For this reason, this product has not been subject to viability testing. It is
considered that this type of housing should generally have potential for a semi-private living space
within the house with an additional bathroom and perhaps kitchen facilities.

5.112 There may also be opportunities to provide self-build plots for retirement housing in housing
schemes, or a group of self-build plots aimed at co-housing groups.

5.113 All new housing provided for older people must meet high standards of accessibility and
amenity relevant to their needs. We will also be sympathetic to households which wish to extend or
adapt existing homes in order to care for older relatives, where any related impacts are acceptable.

5.114 Where viability considerations dictate that the provision of affordable housing or older people's
housing is below the levels set out in the policy, the council will include an overage payment clause
in the Section 106 Agreement relating to the planning permission. This will serve to secure a financial
contribution upon the completion of the scheme which would reflect any changes in market conditions,
typically any uplift in the market. The financial contribution will be used to provide affordable housing
and housing for older people.

Specialist Housing

5.115 There is a need for specialist housing in County Durham for older people, for the disabled
and for vulnerable adults. Such forms of development include sheltered and extra care facilities (both
for rent and owner occupation) and nursing homes. In considering future needs it is important to note
that other forms of specialist accommodation may be more appropriate than conventional sheltered
housing to rent.

5.116 Locational issues are important and the applicant should consider the needs of the future
residents in this regard. Some residents will likely experience a greater degree of independent living
than others, however depending on the needs of the resident, being situated in an established housing
area, with proximity to public transport and local services, can serve to promote independence.
Applicants will be required to demonstrate how the location of a proposed specialist housing is
appropriate to future residents.

5.117 There may be particular opportunities within some housing schemes for developers to
accommodate commercial sheltered housing with a resident warden or extra care schemes which
offer round the clock care. Housing sites near to existing or proposed retail centres and services are
likely to be particularly suitable.

5.118 Specialist housing should be designed with the particular requirements of the future residents
in mind and buildings should be fit for purpose, accommodating for facilities which meet residents'
needs. Specific consideration should be given to access for emergency vehicles and other safety
measures linked to the needs of residents. Specialist housing should accommodate for satisfactory
outside amenity space designed with the occupiers in mind. Access and parking should seek to make
suitable provision for residents, carers and visitors.

113Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 363



5.119 In respect of specialist accommodation for older people, this policy brings into effect the
Optional Standards as set out in Building Regulations requiring 100% of new accommodation to
meet M4(2) Category 2 - Accessible and adaptable dwellings and a minimum of 25% of
accommodation also to meet M4(3) Category 3 - Wheelchair User Dwellings. This need has been
evidenced through the council's SHMA. However, where it can be evidenced by the applicant to the
council's satisfaction that that applying the Optional Standards at the proportions as set out in the
policy, would make a proposal unviable, then the council will consider alternative proportions of
dwellings which meet the Optional Standards, as proposed by the applicant.

How will it be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Percentage of approved and completed housing units that meet the specific needs of older
people by tenure type.

2. Percentage of affordable housing units delivered by viability area.

3. Affordable housing units approved and completed by tenure and viability area.

Target:

1. 10% of private or intermediate housing provided on all sites to meet specific needs of older
people in terms of design, form and layout.

2. Percentage of Housing UnitsViability Area

25%Highest Value Area

20%High Value Area

15%Medium Value Area

10%Low Value Area

3. Affordable housing with a tenure mix of 70% affordable rented housing to 30% intermediate
products.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019114

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 364



Durham University Development, Purpose Built Student Accommodation and Houses
in Multiple Occupation

5.120 This policy provides a means to consider Durham University development, proposals for
purpose built student accommodation and proposals for houses in multiple occupation in the Durham
City area. Durham University has published a Strategy for the period 2017–27, which contains an
Estate Masterplan. Part 1 of this policy will be used to assess applications brought forward by the
University. Part 2 of the Policy relates to Purpose Built Student Accommodation and will be used to
assess any applications for such proposals from the university or other accommodation providers.
Part 2 of the policy also allocates suitable sites for student accommodation. The council has introduced
Article 4 Directions in Durham City, which means that within the area of these directions, planning
permission is required for a change of use to a House of Multiple Occupation. These Article 4
Directions, in combination with Parts 2 and 3 of this policy will serve to deliver student accommodation
to create inclusive places and in line with the objective of creating mixed and balanced communities.

Policy 16

Durham University Development, Purpose Built Student Accommodation
and Houses in Multiple Occupation

1. Durham University Development

Durham University will continue to evolve and compete as a vibrant, diverse and high quality
education-led mixed-use establishment, including arts and cultural uses, managed workspace
for start-up businesses and other complementary uses.

Planning permission will be granted for new University facilities including academic, residential,
sport and cultural floor space and for the refurbishment of existing buildings where:

a. the proposal respects the character and setting of the area and has regard to the needs
and requirements of the local community;

b. there is no unacceptable impact on the Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site
or its setting as assessed against the Outstanding Universal Values and opportunities are
taken to enhance and better reveal its significance;

c. it sustains and enhances the significance of designated heritage assets, including the
conservation area, including their settings and where appropriate, better reveals their
significance. Development that results in harm to the setting and/or significance of designated
or non designated heritage assets will not be supported unless the harm is outweighed by
the public benefit;

d. there is no unacceptable harm on ecology and biodiversity;

e. the movements of staff and students around the city have been considered for all users
and, where necessary, measures are provided for this demand such as widening footways,
improving junctions, or through the provision of new routes for pedestrians and cyclists;

f. parking spaces and electric vehicle charging points are provided in line with the County
Durham Parking and Accessibility Standards;

115Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 365



g. in the case of sport and recreation facilities a community access agreement will be required;
and

h. the proposal will enhance or create well-designed spaces, and exploit sustainable energy
opportunities, including the delivery of district heating, where possible.

2. Purpose-Built Student Accommodation

The following sites are allocated for purpose-built student accommodation:

Table 9 Allocations for Purpose Built Student Accommodation in Durham City

NotesSiteRef

Site 1:Leazes RoadPBSA1

Development of the site will:

preserve or enhance the significance and setting of the non-designated
heritage assets contained within the site. This will be achieved through
retention, restoration and sympathetic re use/conversion;
ensure that views towards the World Heritage Site (WHS) are protected
and opportunities taken to enhance views or create new views;
respect and conserve the landscape quality of the site including retention
of key landscape features;
retain key historic boundary features within the site.

Site 2:

Development of the site will:

preserve or enhance the setting of the designated and non-designated
heritage assets adjacent to the site;
preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the conservation
area;
maximise opportunities to redevelop the buildings which currently have
a negative impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding
conservation area;
retain key historic boundary features within the college site;
preserve or enhance the significance and setting of the non-designated
heritage assets contained within the site. This will be achieved through
retention, restoration and sympathetic re use/conversion.

Site 3:

Development of the site will:

preserve or enhance the significance and setting of the designated and
non-designated heritage assets contained within the site. This will be
achieved through retention, restoration and sympathetic re
use/conversion;
ensure that views towards the WHS are protected and opportunities
taken to enhance views or create new views;
respect and conserve the landscape quality of the site including retention
of key landscape features;

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019116

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 366



NotesSiteRef

retain key historic boundary features within the site;
maximise opportunities to better reveal the significance of the listed
building within the site.

Development of the site will:Howlands
(Josephine
Butler and
Ustinov)

PBSA2

preserve or enhance the significance and setting of the non-designated
heritage asset contained within the site, specifically the historic farm
buildings;
consist of limited infill or the partial or complete redevelopment of
previously developed land which would not have a greater impact on the
openness of the Green Belt than the existing development;
respect the strong radial pattern of the existing buildings;
respond positively to the landscape features and topography of the site.

Development of the site will:James
Barbour
House

PBSA3

ensure that views towards the WHS are protected;
preserve or enhance the setting of the designated and non-designated
heritage assets adjacent to the site;
retain the existing trees around the periphery of the site;
respond positively to the height constraints of the site;
be confined to the existing developed areas of the site.

Development of the site will:Elvet Hill Car
Park

PBSA4

preserve or enhance the setting of the non-designated heritage assets
adjacent to the site;
retain the existing trees which contribute positively to the visual amenity
of the area and setting of heritage assets.

Development of the site will:St Mary's
College

PBSA5

consist of appropriate refurbishment and limited infill;
respect the college’s architectural qualities and plan form while reinforcing
its local distinctiveness;

respond positively to the landscape features and topography of the site.

Development of the site will:Mill Hill LanePBSA6

retain the existing tree belts to the east and west of the site;

preserve or enhance the setting of the non-designated heritage asset
adjacent to the site.

117Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 367



All proposals for new, extensions to, or conversions to, Purpose-Built Student Accommodation
on sites not allocated for student accommodation, will be required to demonstrate:

a. that there is a need for additional student accommodation of this type in this location;
b. consultation with the relevant education provider pursuant to the identified need;
c. it would not result in a significant negative impact on retail, employment, leisure, tourism,

housing or the council’s regeneration objectives;
d. the development is readily accessible to an existing university or college academic site, or

hospital and research site;
e. the design and layout of the student accommodation and siting of individual uses within the

overall development are appropriate to its location and in relation to adjacent neighbouring
uses;

f. the internal design, layout and size of accommodation and facilities are of an appropriate
standard;

g. the activities of the occupants of the development will not have an unacceptable impact
upon the amenity of surrounding residents in itself or when considered alongside existing
and approved student housing provision. Prior to occupation a management plan or draft
outline management plan appropriate to the scale of the development shall be provided;

h. the quantity of cycle and car parking provided is in line with the council’s Parking and
Accessibility Guidelines; and

i. the applicant has shown that the security of the building and its occupants has been
considered along with that of other local residents and legitimate users.

Where appropriate, development will be expected to sustain the significance of designated and
non-designated heritage assets, including any contribution made by their setting. Development
proposals should contribute positively to the built and historic environment, and should seek
opportunities to enhance and better reveal the significance and understanding of heritage assets
whilst improving access where appropriate.

3. Houses in Multiple Occupation

In order to promote create and preserve inclusive, mixed and balanced communities and to
protect residential amenity, applications for new build Houses in Multiple Occupation (both Use
Class C4 and sui generis) and changes of use from any use to:

a Class C4 (House in Multiple Occupation), where planning permission is required; or

a House in Multiple Occupation in a sui generis use (more than six people sharing)

will not be permitted if:

a. including the proposed development, more than 10% of the total number of residential
units within 100 metres of the application site are exempt from council tax charges (Class
N Student Exemption);

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019118

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 368



b. there are existing unimplemented permissions for Houses in Multiple Occupation within 100
metres of the application site, which in combination with the existing number of Class N
Student exempt units would exceed 10% of the total properties within the 100 metres area;
or

c. less than 10% of the total residential units within the 100 metres are exempt from council
tax charges (Class N) but, the application site is in a residential area and on a street that
is a primary access route between Purpose Built Student Accommodation and the town
centre or a university campus.

In all cases applications for new build Houses in Multiple Occupation, change of use to Houses
in Multiple Occupation or a proposal to extend an existing House in Multiple Occupation to
accommodate additional bed space(s) will only be permitted where:

d. the quantity of cycle and car parking provided is in line with the council’s adopted Parking
and Accessibility Guidelines;

e. they provide acceptable arrangements for bin storage and other shared facilities and consider
other amenity issues;

f. the design of the building or any extension would be appropriate in terms of the property
itself and the character of the area; and

g. the applicant has shown that the security of the building and its occupants has been
considered, along with that of neighbouring local residents.

However, new build Houses in Multiple Occupation or a change of use to a House in Multiple
Occupation would not be resisted in the following circumstance:

h. Where an area already has such a high concentration of council tax exempt properties
(Class N) that the conversion of remaining C3 dwellings will not cause further detrimental
harm to the residential amenity of surrounding occupants; or

i. Where an existing high proportion of residential properties within the 100 metres are exempt
from council tax charges (Class N), on the basis that commercial uses are predominant
within the 100 metre area.

Durham University Development

5.121 Durham University is a major asset to the city, shaping the built environment, contributing
to the cultural and heritage offer, developing highly skilled individuals as well being a major employer
and a purchaser of local goods and services. The University is also renowned for its research
departments and facilitates business and industrial research, including at NETPark, the North East’s
only science park. In this context, the positive impacts of the economic, social and environmental
benefits brought about by the University are felt across the county.

5.122 Durham University has published its Strategy for the period 2017 to 2027. This Strategy sets
out how the University will build upon its strengths including research, education and the wider student
experience. It sets out the intention to globalise the University and make it a more significant player
in the region, the UK and beyond. The Strategy also encompasses the Estate Masterplan 2017-2027

119Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 369



which provides a guide to how the University could develop its estate in the long term. Its purpose is
to provide a clear spatial framework for the delivery of the Accommodation and Estate Strategy. It
sets out a scenario for possible future land use, distribution of activities, flexibility of building use and
movement patterns within which individual projects may be taken forward in the future.

5.123 Part 1 of the policy relates to the University Masterplan and sets out a framework to consider
the impacts of proposals for university related development including arts and cultural uses, managed
workspace for start-up businesses and other complementary uses. In assessing major development
proposals consideration will be given to the impact of the development in the context of existing and
approved development. To note, any student accommodation element of the proposals would also
be assessed under Part 2 of the policy.

5.124 Themedieval core of DurhamCity is focused around the Castle and Cathedral World Heritage
Site which lie on a steep-sided peninsula formed by an incised meander of the River Wear. The
historic core remains small, compact and legible, separated from the suburbs on higher ground by
the strong ‘green fingers’ of the Wear valley which penetrate into the heart of the city from the north
and south, and defined in the west by the valley of the River Browney. The form of the modern city
and its relationship to the underlying topographymakes a significant contribution to its special character.
With the definition of an encircling Green Belt in the City of Durham Local Plan (2004) the outward
expansion of the city ceased, primarily to preserve the setting and special character of the city but
also to assist in urban regeneration by directing development to the surrounding villages. Since that
time there has been some localised consolidation of the built form in areas like Belmont Business
Park and Mount Oswald. Within the city of Durham Local Plan, a number of university sites were
identified formally as Major Developed Sites. In line with NPPF, Policy 21 (Green Belt) no longer
identifies major developed sites. There is however a recognition that there are longstanding uses
which already exist within the Green Belt where there may be opportunities for limited infilling or
redevelopment providing that there will be no greater impact on openness or Green Belt purposes.

5.125 Within the immediate environs of Durham City, the University acts as the custodian for a
total of 60 listed buildings: 5 grade 1; 5 grade 2*; and 50 grade 2, and one ancient monument. It is
also the guardian of numerous buildings of quality, identified through the planning process as
non-designated heritage assets. The University continues to invest in the upkeep and maintenance
of these buildings and structures and is also a key partner in delivering the World Heritage Site
Management Plan. Proposals should be based on a thorough understanding of the significance of
the site and its setting having regard to the adoptedWorld Heritage Site Management Plan, Statement
of Outstanding Universal Value, Durham City Conservation Area Character Appraisal and the
appropriate recommendations of any other specialist reports required to support an application. In
circumstances where harm is identified to heritage assets or their setting, the applicant will be expected
to demonstrate appropriate public benefits which outweigh such harm, and that those public benefits
could not be delivered through development in an alternative form.

5.126 The University estate includes large areas of green space, including sports pitches, parks,
gardens and woodland, which act as green corridors forming part of a wider environmental network
across the city.

5.127 With a student population of 18,000 and as a key employer which employs over 4,300 people,
Durham University has a major impact on how the city functions. This means that if the council wants
to achieve sustainable transport solutions in Durham City it is important to fully understand the
implications of the University’s expansion plans for the city's transport systems. Within its Masterplan,
the University has a clear objective of moving towards sustainable travel and decreasing car
dependency. This objective will be supported by the measures in the Durham City Sustainable
Transport Delivery Plan. It is also important that the provision of any additional parking spaces are
assessed using the County Durham Parking and Accessibility Standards.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019120

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 370



5.128 The redevelopment of theMaiden Castle Sports andWellbeing Park will improve and enhance
this part of the University’s estate providing upgraded sport and recreation facilities. The improved
development will be more attractive to host major external sporting events that will raise the city’s
profile, attract visitors and generate new income. However it is critical that these facilities and similar
other developments undertaken by the University, whilst improving staff and student experience,
must also benefit the wider community. Therefore the council will require that community access
agreements are agreed to support the development of any sports or leisure facilities to enable their
use by residents, visitors and local schools and community clubs.

5.129 The Durham Energy Institute is working to mitigate the University Masterplan through
de-carbonising new and existing development. The University’s new build policy also confirms that
its buildings should aim to be built to BREEAM Excellent (or equivalent) standard and be zero carbon
as far as practicable.

5.130 There are further opportunities which the University is exploring that could also bring significant
benefits for the city, both in relation to new buildings and new projects. Examples include generating
heat from mine-water, solar carports and district heating.

Purpose Built Student Accommodation

5.131 Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) is accommodation built, or converted, with
the specific intent of being occupied by students, either individual en-suite units or sharing facilities.
PBSA is a building which is not classified as Use Class C4 or anything licensable as an HMO. In
Durham City it is recognised that other forms of residential development such as, but not limited to,
one bed apartments, may appeal to the student population andmay ultimately be occupied by students
even though they are not developed specifically as PBSA. For this reason, where it is considered
that a proposal may appeal to the student population, based on the type of accommodation proposed,
the size of the units and the location of the proposal, then it will be appropriate to assess the proposal
against Part 2 of the Policy.

5.132 The University's Strategy (2017–2027) notes that in 2017, there were 15,500 students in
Durham City and 2,500 students at the University’s Queen’s Campus at Stockton. The University
Strategy and Estate Masterplan notes that all students at the University will be located in Durham
City from the academic year 2018/19, and in this regard the Stockton campus will be re-purposed.
The University Strategy sets out that by 2027, the student population at Durham University and in
Durham City is targeted to be 21,500. The impact of the University Strategy and Estate Masterplan
has been subject to an Impact Study undertaken by the council (63).

5.133 The University’s aspiration, as set out in the Strategy, is to house 50-55% of students in
college-affiliated accommodation by 2027. The University is seeking to achieve this by developing
new colleges on their own land. It is also noted that the University will also work in partnership with
some of the PBSA providers. In recognition of the importance of Durham University to the county
and the scope of the University Strategy, following the call for sites undertaken in 2016, we have
allocated a number of sites for student accommodation as listed in the policy and shown on the
policies map. The policy includes site-specific requirements associated with each allocation in order
to ensure an appropriate form of development. In some circumstances, given the current built form
of development on the site, a combination of refurbishment of existing buildings, with infill development
and elements of redevelopment, sensitive to the built form and site context would be appropriate.
Whilst the policy confirms in principle PBSAwould be acceptable on the site, the form of development
would be subject to consideration at applications stage. The Howlands site allocation is a current
major developed site in the Green Belt. Limited infill or the partial or complete redevelopment of
previously developed land which would would not have a greater impact on the openness of the

63 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

121Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 371

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


Green Belt than the existing development, would therefore be appropriate. Each of the PBSA
allocations are associated with a site assessment covering ecology, landscape and transport
implications as well as a detailed Heritage Impact Assessment which provides further information on
how the site could be developed.

5.134 The Plan approach aligns with that of the University Strategy in that, wherever possible the
increase in student numbers in the city should be accommodated in PBSA designed and managed
in a way that meets the needs of students on-site which will attract student take-up. It is however,
recognised that the student housing market is not static, for example some existing provision needs
upgrading, there needs to be choice in the market and that some areas of the city have high
concentrations relative to the number of residents.

5.135 East Durham and Houghall Community College, New College Durham, The University
Hospital of North Durham, St John’s College and St Chad’s College are other further education
establishments in Durham City; and there are also Colleges of Further/Higher Education in Bishop
Auckland, Consett and Peterlee within County Durham, and in Darlington and other major towns
around the county’s borders. Any future expansion of these establishments may impact on the
requirement for student accommodation and the situation should be kept under review.

5.136 The consideration of ‘need’ for additional student accommodation which developers must
undertake shall include, but not be limited to, the potential contribution of schemes with planning
consent; and University student growth forecasts. Developers should demonstrate what specific need
the proposal is aimed at and why this need is currently unmet, giving consideration to the type of
accommodation proposed. In seeking to meet need, the council recognises that PBSA can increase
choice for the student population and is an alternative to HMOs.

5.137 To ensure that PBSA is designed to meet the needs of the students, it is important that the
applicant can demonstrate consultation with the relevant education provider. This will ensure that
accommodation reflects the accommodation requirements of the student population.

5.138 Assessing proposals for new purpose built accommodation against the criteria above will
ensure that schemes are progressed in appropriate locations which meet the council’s regeneration
priorities. It is recognised that PBSA can support the viability of a wider development and support
regeneration opportunities. However, where PBSA is proposed on town centre sites that could have
been used for other types of more traditional city centre uses such as retail or leisure it is important
that PBSA will only be one element of mixed use schemes (such as was the case with the
redevelopment of The Gates) to ensure that the impact on the city centre’s vitality and viability is
minimised.

5.139 New student accommodation should not be built at the expense of general housing as the
council must address the need for new family and affordable housing. In order to protect the delivery
and supply of sites for general housing, proposals for purpose built student accommodation on sites
allocated for general housing, will not be acceptable.

5.140 In order to promote sustainable methods of travel, PBSA should be readily accessible to
university or other relevant teaching buildings. Developments should be sited to take advantage of
opportunities for walking, cycling and the use of public transport.

5.141 PBSA should be designed to meet the accommodation needs and aspirations of the student
population. The development should be accessible and appropriate to disabled students. It is
considered prudent for the design of PBSA to build in flexibility to ensure that it could potentially
appeal to other users. For instance, outdoor areas designed for student amenity areas could be
re-purposed for car parking should it be required in line with a future use on the site. Developers
should ensure that there is no unacceptable effect on residential amenity in the surrounding area
through increased noise, disturbance or impact on the street-scene either from the proposed

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019122

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 372



development itself or when combined with existing accommodation. The impacts of a large number
of students living in an area maybe more easily mitigated when they are living in purpose built
accommodation which has a management plan, rather than a number of HMOs.

5.142 Implementation of the management plan will be controlled through the use of planning
conditions or an appropriate legal agreement. The management plan should set out what measures
will be put in place to ensure the best integration of the development with the local community and
neighbours. It will also address issues such as (but not limited to), the tenants moving in and out at
the beginning and end of each term, management of the building, tenancy agreements, fire and health
and safety and community liaison. The management plan should also address opportunities for waste
recycling.

5.143 The council's Parking and Accessibility Standards for Non Residential Development include
standards for student accommodation. The standard in Durham City is different from the rest of the
county in recognition of the fact there is a controlled parking zone (CPZ) and students would not be
issued with permits to park in the CPZ. It requires one space per five members of staff plus disabled
persons parking space. No requirement is made for student car parking if the accommodation is
within the CPZ. Outside the CPZ the requirement is one per five members of staff plus one space
per six students. Cycling parking requirements are a minimum of one enclosed covered space per
five students plus one short stay space per 20 students. Applications should accord with the most
recently approved iteration of the County Durham Parking and Accessibility Standards.

5.144 Students and student properties are often targeted for crime. It is considered important to
pay particular attention to the security of PBSA and to ensure the safety of its occupants and other
legitimate users (who may include members of the public accessing on site facilities by agreement
such as an on-site café or leisure facility). The applicant will be expected to make provision for security
of the building in the design of the scheme.

Homes in Multiple Occupation

5.145 A House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) under planning legislation is defined as a house or
flat occupied by a certain number of unrelated individuals who share basic amenities and is classified
by the Uses Classes Order as Class C4 (between three and six residents); and Sui Generis (more
than six residents). Planning permission is not required for changes of use fromClass C3 (residential)
to Class C4 (HMO) unless an Article 4 Direction has been made for a particular locality. It is possible
to apply for a dual use (e.g. Class C3 and Class C4), in Durham City, Part C of this policy will apply
to the assessment of such proposals, given the likelihood of occupation as an HMO.

5.146 HMOs can provide accommodation for a wide range of groups including professionals,
students, migrants, and people on low incomes. In County Durham the majority of HMOs are located
in Durham City and are occupied by students of Durham University.

5.147 Given the relatively large size of the University in relation to that of the city, students make
up a significant proportion of the term time population contributing greatly to its culture, economy and
vibrancy. However there can also be adverse impacts on the amenity of residents in areas where
student HMOs are dominant. This policy will therefore be used to assess the acceptability of a proposal
for an HMO, balancing the contribution that such a development will make to meeting housing demand
against the potential harm that might be caused to the character and amenity of the surrounding area
and the suitability of the property concerned. It is however recognised that the University and its
students undertake positive actions to help mitigate these challenges such as volunteering, community
liaison and policy on anti-social behaviour.

5.148 HMOs are not spread evenly throughout the city. The highest concentrations are in the
Viaduct area, where over 90% of all properties are thought to be occupied by students living in HMOs
benefiting from a Class N council tax exemption. In recent years, more students have been occupying

123Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 373



houses around Elvet andWhinney Hill, which is very close to the main University campus and students'
union. There is a general perception that students want to live as close to the city centre as possible.
However, because of increasing demand, students are also moving into other areas further afield.

5.149 It is estimated that there are around 350 HMOs that fall under mandatory HMO licensing. It
is estimated that there are an additional 1,200-1,400 two-storey or smaller HMOs in Durham City.
This may be an underestimate as not all HMOs are occupied by students. In Durham City, HMOs
are overwhelmingly occupied by students. For these reasons, for applications for HMOs in Durham
City, the assumption is that they will be occupied by students.

5.150 The council’s approach is to seek to maintain and create sustainable inclusive and mixed
communities in Durham City. Residents have expressed concerns that concentrations of student
accommodation in HMOs amongst the general housing stock can negatively impact upon residential
amenity and change the overall character of an area. This is primarily as a result of noise, the general
appearance of properties, refuse management and parking issues. Properties becoming unoccupied
outside of term times can also have a negative impact upon remaining residents.

5.151 The council has introduced Article 4 Directions to remove permitted development rights for
change of use from C3 to C4 for Durham City, Framwellgate Moor, Newton Hall and Pity Me. We will
consider the introduction of further Article 4 Directions where appropriate and will also give
consideration to removal of permitted development rights on new housing outside of the Article 4
Direction area.

5.152 Part 3 of the policy uses a threshold of 10%. This 'tipping point' has been derived from section
2 of the ‘National HMO Lobby Balanced Communities and Studentification Problems and Solutions’,
which was published in 2008. The policy approach recognises that it is the cumulative impact of
HMOs that has an impact upon residential amenity and can change the character of an area over
time.

5.153 In order to assess the percentage of student exempt properties, the council will use council
tax information consisting of those properties with Class N exemption mapped using the council’s
GIS mapping system. Council tax data provides an independent, secondary and consistent data set
to understand the presence of student properties within general market housing. The council will
make use of council tax data relating to the relevant academic year and this will be updated annually.
An individual’s council tax status is a private matter and subject to data protection. Therefore, in line
with the policy whilst a percentage figure will be generated for each application, it is not possible to
note the location of these properties or to confirm the number of properties this relates to.

5.154 An exemption from council tax is only possible if the property is solely occupied by students.
If one occupier of an HMO is not a student the property cannot benefit from a Class N exemption. It
is considered that the presence of non-students in a HMO may change the character of the property
and accordingly the impact upon residential amenity of neighbours and the character of the wider
area.

5.155 Part 3 of the policy considers the proportion of Class N student exempt council tax properties
within 100 metres of the application site. It is considered that the use of a 100 metre radius from the
application site serves to provide an understanding of the potential cumulative impact of the localised
concentration of Class N student exempt properties and the impact that the proposed development
would have on this concentration.

5.156 It is recognised that there may be a time lag between permission being granted and
implemented. Particularly, as occupation of properties will likely follow the cycle of the academic year.
There may therefore be a situation where a number of commitments are in place but, are not occupied

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019124

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 374



therefore are not registered as Class N student exempt. The policy provides a means to consider the
impact of these unimplemented consents on a residential area in combination with the council tax
data.

5.157 PBSA, by its very nature, can house a large number of students. Whilst these forms of
development are a distinct and separate form to HMOs, student populations returning to and from
and accessing PBSA through a predominantly residential area can impact upon residential amenity.
Cumulatively, alongside HMOs this can have an impact upon the character of an area. The policy
therefore seeks to acknowledge the impact of student populations in a neighbourhood, for example
the impact of comings and goings along primary access routes between PBSA and the town centre
or a university campus.

5.158 In relation to parking, each application will be assessed on an individual basis taking into
account the capacity of the street, the controlled parking zone (CPZ), and the council’s adopted Car
Parking and Accessibility Guidelines.

5.159 Poor management of rubbish and recycling at HMOs can lead to unattractive frontages,
problems with vermin and raise concerns over health and safety. Such issues can affect the amenity
of nearby properties and may lead to complaints from neighbouring residents. These matters should
therefore be appropriately addressed at the planning application stage. Applications for new build or
change of use to an HMO will be expected to be accompanied with appropriate details of how
household waste and recycling will be stored and presented for collection at the property. This should
include layout drawings of the application site and its surroundings, clearly indicating the bin storage
area. Acknowledgement should be made of the fact that the occupiers of an HMO may generate
more waste than a single household with the same number of occupiers.

5.160 The council would like the areas with high concentrations of HMOs to become more mixed.
However, there may be some cases where localised communities are already so imbalanced that
the policy objective of protecting a balance is unlikely to be achieved. In these cases owners of Class
C3 dwellings may find difficulty in finding a purchaser for continued Class C3 use and may therefore
wish to change to Class C4/HMO use. In considering whether to make an exception in such cases
the council will have regard to things such as:

the proportion of existing Class N council tax exempt properties within 100 metres of the
application site and their impact upon the character of the area in terms of whether such a
concentration might be likely to affect the amenity of normal family life;

there is documented evidence of unsuccessful active marketing of the property as a Class C3
dwelling, with at least one recognised estate agent at local market levels, over a continuous
period of at least 12 months; or

other circumstances where the applicant can provide evidence which confirms that the policy
restriction is causing severe personal hardship.

5.161 There are some instances where a high proportion of residential properties are exempt from
council tax charges in a given area because there is a low proportion of other residential uses. An
example of this would be in a town centre location where other uses are dominant and a small number
of Class N exempt properties equate to a large proportion. In such circumstances, a HMO use may
be appropriate, for instance in an upstairs flat above a retail unit. Such an approach would not impact
upon the character of residential areas or the amenity of residents.

How will the Policy be monitored?

125Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 375



Indicator:

1. Number of new bedspaces in HMOs approved.

2. Number of units approved and completed on allocated PBSA sites.

3. Percentage change of total HMOs in Durham City.

4. Number of new bedspaces in PBSA approved.

5. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. Related to identified need.

2. No Target.

3. No Target.

4. Related to identified need.

5. None upheld at appeal.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019126

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 376



Sites for Travellers

Policy 17

Sites for Travellers

Proposals for new Traveller sites or extensions to existing sites will be permitted provided that:

a. the site is within an existing settlement or is immediately adjacent to a settlement providing
employment, schools, medical facilities, public transport and other local services;

b. the site is within short and safe walking distance of services and facilities or a public transport
route;

c. the development is sympathetic to the scale of any adjoining settlement;

d. the scale or location of the development will not detract from the amenity or living conditions
of local residents or occupants of the site;

e. the development can be integrated into the landscape and reflects the character of the
surrounding area; and

f. the site has been comprehensively planned to meet statutory licensing requirements for
caravan sites and takes into account the needs of the households that are to occupy it and
any impacts on neighbouring residents' amenity, including screening between plots, storage,
circulation, parking and any employment uses proposed.

Temporary ‘stop-over’ areas related to common travelling routes will be permitted where their
impact is reasonable when weighed against short term use. If temporary sites are needed to
enable existing sites to be refurbished, nearby locations will be considered in the first instance
and permission granted on a temporary basis.

5.162 County Durham has significant numbers of Gypsies and Travellers. Most live in housing but
a sizeable population live on six council sites and a number of authorised private sites across the
county. With 126 pitches, County Durham has the second highest number of social pitches for Gypsies
and Travellers of all English authorities and over a third of all pitches for Gypsies and Travellers in
the North East. Since 2009, planning permission has also been secured for 31 pitches on 12 privately
owned sites across the county with 10 of these available for letting. The council also provides six
temporary 'stop-over' areas in the county which are made available for 28 days or less each year for
seasonal use, also enabling Gypsies and Travellers to travel to popular events like Appleby Fair. The
council takes responsibility for maintaining gates, fencing, grass cutting, and the access points to
these areas. Refuse collection and temporary toilets are also provided to Gypsies and Travellers
using other areas, to enable them to travel and maintain their cultural lifestyle.

5.163 We have recently completed a comprehensive refurbishment programme of all of our sites
to modern standards and have introduced modern management regimes. This was the most
comprehensive refurbishment programme of its type in the country. Ten additional pitches were
created as part of this process. The distribution of social sites and pitches across the county is:

13 double pitches at Tower Road, Greencroft, Stanley;

127Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 377



19 double pitches at Drum Lane, Birtley;

19 double pitches at Adventure Lane, West Rainton;

25 single pitches at St Phillip's Park, Coundon Grange;

25 double pitches at Ash Green Way, Bishop Auckland; and

25 double pitches at East Howle, Ferryhill.

5.164 The disruption created by the refurbishment extended over a number of years commencing
in 2009 and completed in February 2015. Gypsies and Travellers' normal settlement patterns on
pitches were significantly disrupted over this period. Standard vacancies were temporarily filled by
Gypsies and Travellers dispersed from other sites; some Gypsies and Travellers moved away from
the county, some moved into housing; others who might have moved into the county or from housing
on to sites did not. Following completion of the refurbishment, a substantial number of new lettings
became available attracting a significant number of Gypsies and Travellers from outside the county.
However demand from outside County Durham is now lower, supporting the view that the turnover
of pitches has now returned to a more stable equilibrium.

Travellers Site Needs Assessment

5.165 In order to assess future needs for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople, a Travellers
Site Needs Assessment (TSNA) has been undertaken (64). The TSNA calculated the supply and
demand for permanent Gypsy and Traveller sites up to 2035 by identifying the current level of supply
and demand, and then making adjustments for flows of households moving between different types
of accommodation and into or out of the county. Household flows that increase supply include for
example households vacating pitches to move into bricks and mortar housing, or moving out of the
county. Examples of flows that increase demand include new families setting up home, or households
in bricks and mortar choosing to move onto sites.

5.166 The TSNA has been prepared in accordance with the Government's guidance document
'Planning Policy for Traveller sites', August 2015. Although this 2018 TSNA has taken account of the
Government’s 2015 change to the planning definition of ‘Gypsy and Traveller’, it has also assessed
the needs of those meeting the earlier, wider 2012 definition of ‘Gypsy and Traveller’.

Gypsy and Traveller Pitches

5.167 The TSNA concludes that for the Plan period to 2035, there is no need for any new pitches
for those meeting the planning definition of Gypsies and Travellers. When considering the wider
definition there is an identified need for six additional pitches (although since the base date of the
assessment, an additional private family site has been granted planning permission which
accommodates two Gypsy and Traveller households). However as a result of the very limited need,
the relatively high vacancy rate and turnover on sites and the modest waiting list, there is no substantial
or immediate need for the Plan to identify any additional pitches for those meeting the wider definition.
Furthermore, if more pitches were required, it should be noted that of the 126 social pitches managed
by the council, 101 are double pitches capable of accommodating two households but most are
currently only occupied by single households.

64 LINK

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019128

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 378



Travelling Showpeople

5.168 There are three sites for Travelling Showpeople in the county at Coxhoe, Tudhoe and
Thornley. Travelling Showpeople have specific requirements which include the need for good access
to the road network to travel to fairs and shows, along with space within sites to store and maintain
equipment.

5.169 An assessment of the need for new plots and sites for Travelling Showpeople has been
carried out in the Travellers Site Needs Assessment, based on earlier fieldwork. This concluded that
no new plots and sites will be needed for Travelling Showpeople.

Future Planning Applications

5.170 Applications for new private sites and extensions to existing sites will be assessed in relation
to the criteria in this policy. The social requirements of Traveller families are, of course, the same as
any other family. The Travellers Site Needs Assessment also suggests that Gypsy and Traveller
families have larger families than average. Like everyone else, Travellers require good access to
shops, education, health and other social facilities. All private caravan sites are also statutorily required
to be licensed under the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act, if planning permission is
granted.

5.171 In addition to this policy, proposals for new sites and pitches will be subject to other policies
in the Plan in the same way as any other type of development, including for example flood risk
which would possibly impact on the expansion of four of the six existing sites.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Net additional Gypsy and Traveller pitches approved and completed by type and meeting
the 2015 planning definition.

2. Net additional Gypsy and Traveller pitches approved and completed by type and meeting
the wider 2012 definition.

3. Net additional Travelling Showpeople pitches approved and completed by type.

4. Status of five year supply of pitches and plots.

Target:

1. No target.

2. Pitches for six Gypsy and Traveller households delivered by 2035.

3. No target.

4. At least a five year supply.

129Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 379



Children's Homes

Policy 18

Children's Homes

In order to promote the creation of sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities, applications
for children’s care homes, will only be permitted where:

a. the applicant is able to demonstrate a local need to the satisfaction of the Local Planning
Authority;

b. sites offer a positive and safe environment for the occupants of the premises ensuring that
there is appropriate access to local services and community facilities;

c. the children's home replicates a family home, normally of no more than three children;

d. the occupants would not be placed at any risk having regard to the latest crime and safety
statistics in the area and that this has been agreed in advance with Durham Constabulary,
the council's Children's Services and other appropriate agencies;

e. there is no unacceptable, cumulative impact relating from concentrations of similar
establishments within the locality through liaison with Durham Constabulary, Children's
Services and any other appropriate agencies;

f. it is unlikely to cause unacceptable impact on the residential amenity, fear of crime or
community cohesion;

g. appropriate measures will be in place to ensure access for emergency vehicles and safety
measures such as fire escapes; and

h. satisfactory outside space, highway access, parking and servicing can be achieved.

In all instances, a planning application must be supported by a management plan which
incorporates a locality risk assessment, for approval by the Local Planning Authority in consultation
with Durham Constabulary, Children's Services and any other appropriate agencies.

5.172 In 2016 the government set out its ambitions and strategy to reform Children’s Social Care.
The government’s vision is that every child in the country, whatever their background, whatever their
age, whatever their ethnicity or gender, should have the opportunity to fulfil their potential. For the
around 70,000 children who are looked after, this means that their experience of care should prepare
them for a future where they are able to fulfil their potential and ambitions.

5.173 The children and young people living in children’s homes are among the most vulnerable in
society. Whilst children's homes have traditionally been for children under 16, provision for young
people beyond the age of 16 years old would also be determined against this policy or Addressing
Housing Needs. Many have special educational needs or disabilities, including social, educational
and mental health difficulties and many are victims of abuse or neglect. It is therefore vital that we

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019130

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 380



do everything possible to improve their experience of being looked after in care, helping them to
overcome their previous experiences, and setting them up for futures which allow them to achieve
their potential.

5.174 In order to understand the issues surrounding supply and demand and to get a national
picture of the needs of the children placed on welfare grounds, government set up a National
Coordination Unit in May 2016. With the data gathered by the unit, the government is developing
options for how secure places can be better planned, co-ordinated and joined up at national level, to
better meet the needs of young people needing secure accommodation.

5.175 A review by Sir Martin Narey suggested that children should be placed within 20 miles from
their home. Nationally, 37% of children in children’s homes were placed over 20 miles from home
and outside their local authority at 31 March 2015.

5.176 Within County Durham, there are currently 44 registered providers, 27 of which are registered
children's homes, which is the largest number in the north of England (Ofsted data). In order to ensure
that any further provision is well managed and the needs of children are being met by offering safe
and positive environments, early discussions will be required between Children’s Services, Planning
Services and other external agencies as appropriate including Durham Constabulary. Proposals for
new children's homes will be expected to demonstrate that they are meeting an identified local need
and the provision best replicates a family home environment, normally of no more than three children.

5.177 In support of any planning application, evidence will need to be provided that the needs will
be met in terms of access to any services and facilities and to ensure that any necessary safeguards
are put in place including having had regard to any crime or safety concerns of the particular area.
A locality risk assessment will be required which is in line with the Care Standards Act and will need
to be submitted in support of a planning application. This should be undertaken through consultation
with relevant organisations including Durham Constabulary and Children's Services and will be
required to also take into account the cumulative impact of any similar establishments in the locality
and the impact this could have of emergency services.

5.178 In addition to the safeguarding and general needs of the children, consideration must also
be given to the existing residents in terms of residential amenity. Any proposals must demonstrate
that there will be no unacceptable impact on the character of the area and the proposal would not
impact on the quality of life or community cohesion by way of fear of crime.

How will the policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

131Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 381



Type and Mix of Housing

Policy 19

Type and Mix of Housing

On all new housing developments the council will seek to secure an appropriate mix of dwelling
types and sizes, taking account of existing imbalances in the housing stock, site characteristics,
viability, economic and market considerations and the opportunity to facilitate self build or custom
build schemes.

5.179 The county has an imbalanced housing stock in relation to type and mix, with for example
a higher proportion of terraced housing compared with the national average. This is largely a result
of the industrial legacy. The council has started to improve its economy and to maximise the
opportunities for growth across the county. In order to support these economic ambitions and
expectations of residents, we need a complementary housing offer with better homes in the right
locations. Our housing need therefore goes beyond increasing the supply of housing and this has
been reflected as far as possible in the delivery strategy underpinning the Plan.

5.180 There are parts of County Durham, particularly in the east and south of the county, that are
associated with low demand for housing. In such instances it will be important to ensure that
development does not perpetuate low demand, for example through the delivery of only entry-level
properties. We therefore need to ensure an appropriate choice and mix to meet the requirements of
a range of household sizes, ages and incomes.

5.181 The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) provides information on the current
dwelling stock profile and household preferences. Requirements in Policy 15 (Addressing Housing
Need) for affordable housing and for housing which increases the options of older people are informed
by this assessment, along with the viability assessment for the Plan. Additional data in the SHMA
can help to inform an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes on all new housing developments
although developers can provide additional supporting information if they wish. Wherever possible,
new development should seek to address these preferences. However it is likely that flexibility on the
housing composition of schemes will be required in some circumstances, for example on some smaller
sites where it may be impractical. Flexibility may also be required where there are specific physical
site constraints or where there may be market demand or viability issues.

Self-Build and Custom-Build

5.182 Planning guidance advises that self-build or custom-build is where the initial owner has
primary input into the final design and layout of their own home. The level of input can vary
considerably, from hands on building of all or parts of a home to commissioning professionals to
manage the building process.

5.183 The UK has much lower rates of self and custom building than other European countries.
National figures suggest the sector currently accounts for between 7-10% of completions, compared
to around 80% in Austria and 60% in France. The government has introduced a number of measures
to support the self and custom-build sector and remove barriers which prevent people from building
or commissioning their own home. This includes supporting a portal to act as a one stop shop for
advice managed by the National and Custom and Self-Build Association (Nacsba) (65).

65 https://www.selfbuildportal.org.uk/

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019132

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 382

https://www.selfbuildportal.org.uk/


5.184 The government also requires councils to establish demand for self and custom-build and
to ensure that there is the opportunity for this demand to be met. As part of our statutory obligations
(66) we have established a register for those with an interest in purchasing a serviced plot which we
will have regard to when carrying out our functions in relation to housing, planning, land disposal and
regeneration(67).

5.185 We also have a statutory obligation to grant sufficient planning permissions to match the
level of demand for serviced plots for self/custom-build which is evident from our register. These must
be capable of providing serviced plots within the lifetime of the permission. At the present time there
are 51 people on the self-build register, with a number of planning permissions in place to more than
meet this requirement equating to around 68 plots across various sites around the county. There
are also further opportunities currently being pursued to provide self-build plots across a number of
council owned sites.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Housing units approved and completed by dwelling type and size.

2. Numbers on the self and custom-build register.

3. Numbers of planning permissions granted which are capable of delivering serviced plots.

Target:

1. No Target.

2. No Target.

3. More or equivalent planning permissions granted which are capable of delivering serviced
plots than numbers on the self and custom build register.

66 The Self-Build and Custom House building Act 2015; The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 2016; The Self-build
and Custom-Build (Time for Compliance and Fees Regulations 2016

67 http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/7578/Building-your-own-home

133Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 383

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/7578/Building-your-own-home


Protecting Green Belt Land

5.186 Great importance is attached to our Green Belt, which covers a total land area of 8,726
hectares. The Green Belt's essential characteristic is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land
permanently open. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the five purposes of a
Green Belt:

To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;

To prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;

To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;

To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and

To assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land.

5.187 The county's Green Belt was designated in three distinct areas and for different purposes
as set out below. There was also an additional area in the north west of the county which was proposed
as Green Belt to the north of Consett and Stanley but this was never designated in the Derwentside
Local Plan.

City of Durham Green Belt

5.188 The Green Belt surrounds Durham City, extends to the east of Bearpark and then southwards
towards Croxdale and then northeastwards to Sherburn and West Rainton. Whilst the boundaries of
the Green Belt were only formerly adopted in the City of Durham Local Plan in 2004, its history spans
to 1955 where the proposals were first introduced. The proposals were rejected in 1968 and instead
it was suggested that the city would be best served by way of an Area of High Landscape Value.

5.189 Durham City now has a fully encompassing Green Belt which was designated in the Durham
County Structure Plan Review (adopted 1999) with boundaries identified in the City of Durham Local
Plan (2004). The Durham City Green Belt largely aligns with an Area of High Landscape Value
(designated in the County Durham Structure Plan 1968) which extended to the south-east, south and
west of the city. The exception is the Green Belt designation to the north and north-west of the city.
The original purpose of the Durham City Green Belt, as referenced within the Durham City Local Plan
2004 was 'to preserve the setting and special character by preventing unplanned outward expansion
of the city and coalescence with the surrounding villages'. The development strategy in the 2004
DurhamCity Local Plan is also reflected stating that 'the most appropriate location for new development
in the District, if it cannot be accommodated within Durham City, is in the larger villages outside the
Green Belt which are readily accessible to the city.

North East Durham Green Belt

5.190 TheGreen Belt is located to the north of Seaham and forms a strategic gap between Seaham
and Ryhope in the south of neighbouring authority, Sunderland. The Green Belt extends between
Lord Byron's Walk and Ryhope Dene and includes land to the west of Tuthill Quarry to Ryhope railway
adjacent to Seaton Village and to the north of the B1404 towards the administrative boundary.

5.191 The North East Durham Green Belt was designated in the County Durham Structure Plan
review (1999) with boundaries established in 2001 through the Easington Local Plan (adopted 2001).
The purpose was to check the unrestricted sprawl of the Tyne and Wear conurbation, to prevent
settlements merging and to encourage urban regeneration.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019134

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 384



North Durham Green Belt

5.192 The North Durham Green Belt reaches around Chester-le-Street and along the north of the
A693, encircles Urpeth and Ouston and then eastwards towards Tyneside. The Green Belt seeks to
prevent coalescence of Perkinsville, Pelton, Beamish, High Handenhold, Kibblesworth and Birtley
and maintains the open countryside between Chester-le-Street and Pelton. To the east, the Green
Belt maintains open countryside between Shiney Row,Washington (Fatfield, Harraton and Rickleton),
Bournmoor and Fencehouses.

5.193 The North DurhamGreen Belt was designated in the County Structure Plan Review (adopted
in 1999) with boundaries established in 2003 through the Chester-le-Street Local Plan. The North
Durham Green Belt aims to check the unrestricted sprawl of the Tyne and Wear conurbation, to
prevent settlements within the area from merging and to encourage urban regeneration.

Proposal for New Areas of Green Belt

5.194 The NPPF is clear that the general extent of Green Belts across the country is already
established and areas of new Green Belt should only be established in exceptional circumstances.
A number of proposals have been put forward, however none of the proposals have successfully
demonstrated: why normal planning and development management policies would not be adequate;
what major changes in circumstances have occurred; what the consequences of the proposal would
be for sustainable development; the necessity of the Green Belt and its consistency with other strategic
plans for adjoining areas and how the proposed Green Belt would meet the other objectives of the
NPPF.

135Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 385



Green Belt

Policy 20

Green Belt

The Green Belt, as shown on the policies map, will be provided with the strongest possible
protection. The construction of new buildings will be regarded as inappropriate and will not be
permitted unless very special circumstances are demonstrated with substantial weight given to
any harm to the Green Belt. The exceptions to this are:

a. buildings necessary for the purposes of agriculture or forestry;

b. provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land or a change of
use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial grounds and allotments, as
long as the facilities preserves the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the
purposes of including land within it;

c. the extension or alteration of a building providing that is does not result in disproportionate
additions over and above the size of the original building;

d. replacement of a building, providing it is in the same use and not materially larger than the
one it replaces;

e. limited infilling in inset villages;

f. limited affordable housing for local community needs as set out in the exceptions policy;

g. limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed sites, whether
redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings) providing the proposal has no
greater impact on openness on the Green Belt than the existing development or the purpose of
including land within it; or where the development would reuse previously developed land and
contribute towards meeting an identified affordable housing need.

Certain other forms of development are also not inappropriate in the Green Belt, providing they
preserve its openness and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it. These
are:

h. mineral extraction;

i. engineering operations;

j. local transport Infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a Green Belt location;

k. the re-use buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent and substantial construction;

l. material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor sport or recreation,
or for cemeteries and burial grounds); and

m. development brought through a Community Right to Build Order or Neighbourhood
Development Order.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019136

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 386



Opportunities for increased or enhanced access to the countryside as well as improvements to
landscapes, visual amenity and biodiversity will be supported where they will maintain openness
and do not harm the purposes of the Green Belt either individually or cumulatively.

5.195 There is a presumption against inappropriate development in the Green Belt unless very
special circumstances can be demonstrated. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets
out a number of exceptions: buildings for agriculture and forestry; appropriate facilities for outdoor
sport, outdoor recreation and for cemeteries; proportionate extensions or alterations of a building;
replacement buildings which are not materially larger; limited infilling and limited affordable housing
for community needs and partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed land which do
not have a greater impact on openness. The NPPF also sets out other forms of development which
may not be inappropriate in the Green Belt including: mineral extraction; engineering operations and
transport infrastructure.

5.196 When located in the Green Belt, elements of many renewable energy projects will comprise
inappropriate development. In such cases developers will need to demonstrate very special
circumstances if projects are to proceed. Such very special circumstances may include the wider
environmental benefits associated with increased production of energy from renewable sources.

5.197 There are a number of longstanding uses which already exist within the Green Belt including
sewage treatment works and institutional uses. These sites remain within the Green Belt and have
been washed over. There may be opportunities for limited infilling or redevelopment of these existing
uses on the previously developed footprint providing that the proposal has no greater impact on
openness or the purpose of including land within it.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of planning applications and type of development approved in the Green Belt
contrary to this Policy.

Target:

1. No planning applications approved in the Green Belt contrary to this Policy.

137Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 387



Non-Strategic Green Belt Amendments

Policy 21

Non-Strategic Green Belt Amendments

In order to reaffirm the continued permanence of the Green Belt the following sites are to be
removed:

a. Former Police Skid Pan, Durham City;

b. Lumley Boys School, Great Lumley; and

c. Fernhill, Durham City.

5.198 Green Belt boundaries are to be permanent in the long term and capable of enduring beyond
the Plan period. During the Issues and Options and Preferred Options consultation, representations
were received where it was believed that a change to a Green Belt boundary would be justified and
that exceptional circumstances warranted that change. All sites were also considered as part of the
Green Belt Assessment(68).

Skid Pan, Durham City

5.199 The skid pan area is a derelict, redundant site which until recently was used by Durham
Constabulary as a skid pan and car park as part of the former Police Headquarters on Aykley Heads.
The adjoining former police headquarters site has now been demolished and is under construction
for a total of 217 houses. However the planning permission does not include the former skid pan or
car park site due to these being located in the Green Belt. The site has been assessed within the
Green Belt Assessment and it is concluded that it does not perform strongly against the Green Belt
purposes and offers the opportunity to create a durable, permanent boundary. The exceptional
circumstances identified for the removal of this site from the Green Belt are to ensure that a fully
comprehensive, design solution can be found for this area of redundant land which if left would be
an unsightly area of derelict land which could attract future anti-social behaviour. The site is previously
developed and would be otherwise suitable for housing and is therefore proposed as a housing
allocation for 50 dwellings in Policy 5 (Housing Allocations).

Former Lumley Boys School, Great Lumley

5.200 The proposed development site is set on the western edge of Great Lumley. The site fronts
onto FentonWell Lane, a country road without footpaths, where a stone wall forms the front boundary
of the site. It is bounded by agricultural land to the north and west, with Fenton Well Lane lying to the
south, and a cluster of residential properties approximately 50 metres to the east. The site is previously
developed land with the remnants of a derelict building which is becoming unpleasant in appearance
on the edge of the village. The site has been assessed within the Green Belt Assessment and it is
concluded that it performs strongly against purpose 3: to assist in safeguarding the countryside from
encroachment. There have also been reports of vandalism and anti-social behaviour with the site
becoming a target for unwanted behaviour. The previously developed nature of the site provides
some opportunity for development. The exceptional circumstances that exist are that this is a previously

68 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019138

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 388

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


developed site, close to the village of Great Lumley where the boundary should be amended to ensure
the permanence of the Green Belt boundary in the long term. Any development will need to be in
accordance with other policies within the Plan to ensure any site specific mitigation.

Fernhill, Durham City

5.201 Fernhill is a residential dwelling set within garden land to the south of Club Lane and to the
west of the A167 and is an anomaly to the Green Belt. The site forms part of the built up area of
Durham City and is bound by mature planting and vegetation. Durham City is the primary settlement
within the county and therefore the site offers a high quality development opportunity which would
be well screened and would provide for sustainable development opportunities. The site was
considered to perform strongly against Purpose 4: to preserve the setting and special character of
historic towns and therefore mitigationmay be required to limit any harm. The removal of the residential
dwelling from the Green Belt would ensure the permanence of the Green Belt boundary in the long
term. Any development will need to be in accordance with other policies within the Plan to ensure
any site specific mitigation.

How will the policy be monitored?

This policy will be monitored through the monitoring of Non-Strategic Green Belt Amendments.

139Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 389



Sustainable Transport

5.202 The council is committed to delivering a high quality integrated and sustainable transport
network which supports our aspirations for a strong economy, a vibrant tourism offer and improved
quality of life for all of our residents, including reducing air pollution and emissions of CO2. The county's
dispersed settlement pattern does however create specific transport issues that need to be addressed.
As the majority of its residents do not live, work, shop or spend recreational time all in one place, the
location of housing, employment, education, health, retail and leisure facilities can therefore have a
significant impact on patterns of travel and accessibility, particularly for those without a car. The
provision of public transport is also sometimes difficult to plan for and is often reliant on subsidies,
especially in rural parts of the county where it is recognised that there is a greater reliance on the
private car.

5.203 Whilst the planning system cannot directly change people's travel behaviour, it can influence
the delivery of more sustainable transport choices by seeking to put new development in locations
which minimise the distance and time of journeys, making the best use of existing public transport
hubs and the highways network, while delivering new sustainable transport choices. It is also important
that we maximise opportunities to access sustainable forms of transport for residents of both existing
and new developments. Therefore, the design of new development should proactively seek to provide
opportunities for the integration of walking, cycling and public transport as well as encouraging car
sharing and electric vehicles. It should also encourage efficient and sustainable growth of freight and
minimise the number of road journeys created by business and industry.

Walking and Cycling

5.204 In addition to our local cycling and footpath networks, there are long distance routes, including
the nationally protected PennineWay and C2C (Coast to Coast) and the regionally significant Teesdale
Way, Weardale Way and Heritage Coastal Path which make a significant contribution to the network,
encouraging and enabling walking and cycling for recreation and travel. Many of the county’s important
paths are designated as Public Rights of Way and Railway Paths and any potential impact upon
these paths will need to be considered in accordance with Policy 27 (Green Infrastructure) and have
regard to the Walk, Ride, Cycle, Rights of Way Improvement Plan for County Durham 2015-2018(69).

Public Transport

5.205 Bus travel is by far the most used form of public transport in County Durham. A dispersed
settlement pattern, low car ownership and an ageing population are all reasons why the bus service
is so important. Bus services in rural areas are often a lifeline to smaller communities and the council
will work with operators to ensure that services are supported in rural areas. Smart ticketing, promotions
and real-time information have a major role to play in making public transport more attractive.

5.206 The railway network connects a number of settlements in the county with major centres in
the Tyne and Wear and Tees Valley conurbations, but rail as a mode only accounts for 6% of the
total public transport journeys in the county. Rail is still vital for the economy though, with services
on the East Coast Main Line (ECML) linking Edinburgh and London, and stopping in Durham City
and Chester-le-Street, and is therefore a major asset for County Durham. There are also a number
of opportunities for improving the rail network in the county including the reinstatement of the Leamside
Line.

5.207 There is evidence that both the ECML(70) and parts of the A1(M), particularly the Gateshead
Western Bypass, are running at or above capacity. The reinstatement of the Leamside Line would
provide additional capacity and relieve the existing two track railway between Darlington and Newcastle.

69 http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/8367/Rights-of-Way-Improvement-Plan/pdf/RightsOfWayImprovementPlan.pdf
70 ECML Capacity Review December 2010.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019140

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 390

http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/8367/Rights-of-Way-Improvement-Plan/pdf/RightsOfWayImprovementPlan.pdf


The Leamside Line could help enable a more regular rail service from Chester-le-Street and Durham
City to York and Newcastle on the ECML as well as making the ECML HS2 ready. On a reinstated
Leamside Line, new services and stations could be provided for passengers and additional capacity
would be created for more freight to be transported in and out of the county without delaying trains
on the ECML.

5.208 A new station at Horden (Peterlee) will improve access for passengers on the Durham Coast
Line. It will connect areas of high population with areas of employment (such as the Tees Valley and
Tyne and Wear conurbations) as well as making East Durham more attractive for inward investment.
A funding package for the new station has now been established and detailed site studies
and consultation are being undertaken as part of delivering the proposed station.

5.209 Although not included in the Plan there is also potential the Tyne and Wear Metro could
extend into County Durham in the longer term with an extension. The Metro and Local Rail Strategy
(71) expresses an interest in extending the service southwards on the Durham Coast Line, to Seaham
and to the new station at Horden Sea View. The extension would be dependent on the electrification
of the Durham Coast Line and compatibility with existing passenger and freight services. The Strategy
also suggests possible Metro or Local Rail connections to Chester-le-Street and Durham City.

Freight

5.210 The ability of business to transport goods and raw materials is essential to the efficient
functioning of the economy. The council will support the efficient growth of road freight by allocating
manufacturing, storage and retail premises in the right locations and via its role on the North East
Freight Partnership.

5.211 There are currently no inter-modal freight terminals or major rail freight generators in the
county. The North East is the only region in the UK that is a net exporter of manufacturing goods
while ports such as Teesport and Port of Tyne have grown significantly. It is important that the county
capitalises on this growth in freight and the opportunity that it presents to improve the distribution
network. Theremay be opportunities at Newton Aycliffe (Forrest Park) and Tursdale/Bowburn (adjacent
to Integra 61) to provide sites for inland rail freight interchanges that would potentially serve the wider
North East.

71 http://www.nexus.org.uk/sites/default/files/Metro%20Futures%20brochure.pdf

141Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 391

http://www.nexus.org.uk/sites/default/files/Metro%20Futures%20brochure.pdf


Delivering Sustainable Transport

Policy 22

Delivering Sustainable Transport

The transport implications of development must be addressed as part of any planning application,
where relevant this could include through Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and
Travel Plans. All development(72) shall deliver sustainable transport by:

a. delivering, accommodating and facilitating investment in safe sustainable modes of transport
in the following order of priority: those with mobility issues or disabilities, walking, cycling,
bus and rail transport, car sharing and alternative fuel vehicles;

b. providing appropriate, well designed, permeable and direct routes for walking, cycling and
bus access, so that new developments clearly link to existing services and facilities together
with existing routes for the convenience of all users;

c. ensuring that any vehicular traffic generated by new development, following the
implementation of sustainable transport measures, can be safely accommodated on the
local and strategic highway network and does not cause an unacceptable increase
in congestion or air pollution and that severe congestion can be overcome by appropriate
transport improvements; and

d. ensuring the creation of new or improvements to existing routes and facilities do not cause
unacceptable harm to the natural, built or historic environment.

All development should have regard to the policies set out in the County
Durham's Strategic Cycling and Walking Delivery Plan and, where possible, contribute to the
development of a safe strategic cycling and walking network and in particular the routes set out
in Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans. Any new routes should not have an
unacceptable adverse impact on environmental or heritage assets.

Proposals for new development should comply with the council's Parking and Accessibility
Standards and accommodate current and future demand for low emission vehicles.

5.212 Whilst the Plan cannot directly change people's travel behaviour, it can help provide more
sustainable transport choices. It is crucial therefore that the council, developers and other stakeholders
deliver sustainable transport choices as development sites come forward via the planning system.
This can often be done through Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans.

5.213 Transport Assessments should reflect the scale of the development and the extent of the
transport implications of the proposal and should illustrate accessibility to the site by all modes of
transport, and the likely modal split of journeys to and from the site. It should also give details of
proposed measures to improve access by sustainable modes in order to reduce the need for car
parking which would otherwise be generated by the proposal and to mitigate transport impacts. Where

72 Mineral extraction, waste management and householder extensions excluded.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019142

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 392



appropriate, proximity and access to rail services and impact on nearby level crossings should also
be included. For smaller schemes the transport aspects of the application can be set out in a Transport
Statement.

5.214 Sustainable modes of travel such as walking, cycling, public transport, car sharing and
alternative fuel vehicles can be provided through Travel Planning as well as good design. Travel
Plans seek to change travel behaviour and recent evaluation work has shown that they can, with the
right level of commitment from all partners, achieve significant value for money, with benefits
outweighing costs by up to 13:1(73). Crucially, mode shift benefits include a reduction in congestion
on both local and national roads and reduce unacceptable air pollution as well as a reduction in carbon
emissions. Travel Plans should also include measures to encourage alternatives to car based travel,
such as providing changing facilities, showers and cycle parking and storage in new office
developments to encourage active travel.

5.215 Access to sustainable forms of transport must be integrated into the design of new
developments. All future development should be planned to maximise opportunities for travelling
according to the following priority: those with mobility issues or disabilities, walking, cycling, public
transport, car sharing and alternative fuel vehicles. It is important that all users are considered when
designing new transport infrastructure. Priority must go to those with mobility impairments, visual
impairments and dementia. All transport journeys include an element of walking, whether it is walking
to a bus stop or even walking to a nearby car park. All new developments must include pedestrian
and cycle routes which are direct, attractive and convenient and take priority over motor traffic. Walking
and cycling routes provided through new developments must be permeable for users and allow greater
accessibility to bus stops, existing routes and to nearby local attractors such as education and training
facilities, employment sites and shops.

5.216 Cycling provides a major opportunity in the county to reduce reliance on the private car and
a well designed, safer and greener network of cycle routes is more likely to succeed in changing
behaviour and encourage people to be more active. Recognising the importance of cycling in County
Durham, as well as the government's ambition to make cycling and walking a natural choice for shorter
journeys, or as part of longer journeys by 2040 (74), we are setting out our ambition for cycling in the
forthcoming County Durham Strategic Cycling and Walking Delivery Plan 2018-28 which will also
provide a policy framework for Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs).

5.217 LCWIPs are a strategic approach to identifying cycling and walking improvements required
at the local level which enable a long term approach to planning for cycling and walking. These plans
will be created in a number of key areas across County Durham and will detail network plans for
walking and cycling which identifies preferred routes and core zones for further development as well
as a prioritised programme of infrastructure improvements for future investment. Having LCWIPs in
place will ensure that consideration is given to cycling and walking in local planning and transport
policies and strategies as well as making the case for future funding for walking and cycling
infrastructure.

5.218 A wide range of funding will be used to develop the entire cycling and walking network
including developer funding of routes on development sites and where necessary off site routes to
link to the existing network. Where development abuts or encroaches on a route identified in the
LCWIP, then provision must be made within the planning application to improve, maintain and
incorporate the existing route or to provide a new route through the site so that the development
proposed does not prejudice the implementation of the strategic walking and cycling network.

73 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/creating-growth-cutting-carbon-making-sustainable-local-transport-happen
74 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/603527/cycling-walking-investment-strategy.pdf

143Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 393

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/creating-growth-cutting-carbon-making-sustainable-local-transport-happen
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/603527/cycling-walking-investment-strategy.pdf


5.219 When identifying new development sites the proximity and frequency of bus services is a
key consideration. As part of major planning applications, developers should therefore consider the
proximity and impact on local bus routes. Where sufficient demand will be generated, developers will
be required to make a financial contribution to allow the council and bus operators to work together
to improve bus provision for a particular site. Where possible, bus routes should penetrate new
development sites through permeable routes and bus priority measures should be considered.

Mitigating Travel Impacts

5.220 Where the measures outlined in a Travel Plan or the design of a scheme are insufficient to
fully mitigate the impact of increased vehicular trip generation on the local highway network, off site
transport infrastructure improvements will be required. For example, a contribution could be made to
improve the local bus service or to provide additional capacity on the highway network.

5.221 By working with bus and rail operators, the council will seek to encourage operators to provide
transport that is as reliable, affordable and as simple to use as possible. We will also encourage
operators to consider the impact of proposed development in their future investment plans through
work on the Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

Parking and Accessibility Standards

5.222 All new developments must provide car and cycle parking and the relevant standards are
set out in the council's Parking and Accessibility Standards(75). These do not seek to minimise car
parking at origin but rather focus on limiting car parking supply at destination. They also provide
minimum car parking standards that house builders must adhere to when building new housing. On
employment sites, the council will still be enforcing maximum parking standards and cycle parking
as a means of encouraging more sustainable travel behaviour.

Alternative Fuel Vehicles and Car Sharing

5.223 It is very important that we plan to enable the adoption of alternative fuel vehicles and also
actively discourage the number and frequency of single occupancy car journeys through the provision
of charging infrastructure for electric vehicles and car sharing bays. Electric vehicle charging
infrastructure and car sharing bays will be will be required in accordance with the Parking and
Accessibility Standards. We will also support taxi and bus operators to switch to alternative fuel
vehicles by identifying and helping with suitable funding opportunities.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

75 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019144

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 394

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


Durham City Sustainable Transport

Policy 23

Durham City Sustainable Transport

In order to reduce the dominance of car traffic, relieve existing highway network problems,
facilitate growth, address air quality and improve the historic environment, the council proposes
to deliver the following transport interventions in Durham City:

Demand Management

Encourage modal shift to more sustainable modes of transport by promoting and influencing
changes in travel behaviour including:

marketing and promotion programmes;

employer travel plans;

school travel plans; and

residential travel plans.

Re-allocation, Sharing and Creation of Highway Space

To displace through-traffic from Durham city centre, highway space will be re-allocated, shared
and created to allow more priority for sustainable transport modes, including:

a. a new crossing of the River Wear through the provision of a Northern Relief Road linking
the A691 and the A690, including an upgrade of Rotary Way. Two possible routes, as shown
on the policies map, have been safeguarded;

b. improvements to existing city centre transport infrastructure;

c. walking and cycling improvements linking the University to the city centre;

d. walking, cycling and public transport improvements linking Aykley Heads, Sniperley,
Framwellgate Moor, Newton Hall and the city centre; and

e. walking, cycling and public transport improvements linking Gilesgate, Dragonville, Carrville,
Belmont and the city centre.

Following completion of the Northern Relief Road, the vehicular capacity of Milburngate Bridge
will be reduced to provide more space to accommodate pedestrians, cyclists and public transport.

Western Relief Road

In order to reduce congestion on the western edge of the city around Neville's Cross and the
surrounding network and to facilitate development at Sniperley Park, land as shown on the
policies map, is allocated for the construction of the Western Relief Road to the west of the A167
which will connect the A691 at Sniperley Park and Ride roundabout at its northern end with the
B6302 Broom Lane at its southern end.

145Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 395



5.224 In order to create a more sustainable transport network in Durham City there is a need for
a positive strategy that manages the demand for car use by re-allocating, sharing and creating highway
space for sustainable transport modes and correcting the faults in the current highway network. This
policy aims to deliver this positive strategy and, in conjunction with the Durham City Air Quality
Management Action Plan, seeks to reduce air pollution in the city centre.

5.225 Rather than build a ring road in the 1960s, Durham City’s solution to traffic growth was to
create a 'through road' through the city centre. This link crosses the River Wear at Milburngate Bridge
and now accommodates over 40,000 vehicles per day during the working week(76) and approximately
14 million in total for a year. Furthermore data from 2015(77) reveals that 33-36% of trips into the city
are by vehicles that have no origin or destination in the city. This through traffic uses up limited
highway space in the city and is a major factor in peak hour congestion.

5.226 The large volumes of slow moving and standing traffic make the city less attractive to visit
and has an adverse impact on the environment of the city centre and the setting of theWorld Heritage
Site. The amount of traffic also acts as a barrier to walking and cycling routes, discouraging sustainable
travel. It also impacts on the health of local people, with heavy traffic creating local air quality and
road safety issues. In particular nitrogen dioxide levels in the city centre have exceeded statutory
limits and as a result an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) has been designated.

Durham City Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan

5.227 The Durham City Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan (DCSTDP) (78) sets out an ambitious
and positive vision for the entire transport network across the city and has been developed in
partnership with the city’s key stakeholders after a series of targeted events and consultations. The
DCSTDP sets out how modal shift can be practically achieved in the city by identifying packages of
demand management and infrastructure improvements to reduce traffic. Its key proposals are also
included in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP).

Demand Management

5.228 Demandmanagement is about managing the demand for cars by influencing travel behaviour
so residents travel in a more sustainable way. It can be delivered more quickly than infrastructure
improvements that require greater levels of design and consultation. The DCSTDP sets out four core
activities relating to demand management:

Marketing and promotion programmes, providing comprehensive information about all sustainable
travel options to encourage the uptake of sustainable modes;

Employer travel planning, where major employers set out how they will reduce car use and
promote sustainable travel by their employees;

School travel planning, school children are particularly receptive to environmental messages
and enthusiastic about sustainable and active travel modes;

Residential travel planning, particularly relating the new developments proposed in the Plan.

76 This figure was calculated from taking average daily flows on the Bridge in 2015.
77 Durham City Model Rebase - Review of 2015 Traffic Data & Key Trends Analysis, July 2016
78 http://durhamcc-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019146

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 396

http://durhamcc-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning


Re-allocation, Sharing and Creation of Highway Space

5.229 To ‘lock in’ the benefits of demand management measures, sustained programmes of
investment in infrastructure are also needed. The DCSTDP finds that because of the shortage of
highway space across the city, most transport improvements in the city relate to the re-allocation of
the existing highway space or improving transport infrastructure.

5.230 By implementing the proposals set out in the policy a more sustainable transport network in
the city can be achieved by re-allocating, sharing and creating space and improving sustainable
transport infrastructure. It is important that all users are considered when designing new transport
infrastructure. Priority must go to those with mobility impairments, visual impairments and dementia.
Further detail on these projects is included in the DCSTDP. It should also be noted that these individual
schemes will require more detailed work such as feasibility studies, public and business consultation
and the identification of funding, to be completed before they can be fully implemented.

Northern Relief Road

5.231 The DCSTDP is clear that the long term transport strategy for the city centre is dependent
on the ability to provide more space ‘for people’ travelling on foot, by bike and bus and where there
are barriers to direct continuous routes, those barriers need to be removed. This is impossible to
achieve without a new crossing of the River Wear which provides an alternative to Milburngate Bridge.
A new crossing provides the opportunity to re-prioritise space onMilburngate Bridge bringing significant
transport and environmental benefits to the city centre. Specifically, the DCSTDP recommends
reducing the number of car lanes on the Bridge, making this route less attractive for through trips
and creating more space for pedestrians, cyclists, bus users, those with disabilities and visitors. It
will also create significant air quality benefits by removing unnecessary slow moving and standing
traffic including heavy goods vehicles from the city addressing the principal cause of the increased
nitrogen dioxide levels that resulted in the designation of the Air Quality Management Area. Displacing
non-essential car trips away from the city centre will also encourage residents and visitors to use
active travel and public transport when travelling into the city at peak hours, rather than taking the
car into the city. In order to provide this crossing the Plan therefore proposes a Northern Relief Road
(NRR).

5.232 The NRR is a longstanding proposal to improve the road network around Durham City. The
principle was established in the 1979 County Durham Structure Plan which stated that a Northern
link road 'will improve the link between Consett and the A1 (M) at Carrville and together with aWestern
Relief Road, reduce traffic congestion through the city centre'. The road was also safeguarded in the
City of Durham Local Plan 2004.

5.233 The improvements resulting from the provision of a NRR will have major benefits for the
cultural and historic environment of the city, making it a much more pleasant place to work, shop and
visit and having direct benefits to the built fabric and public realm of the city including the World
Heritage Site. The route of the NRR is located in the Green Belt. Although it will not be removed from
the Green Belt, a Landscape Impact Assessment(79)has concluded that there is likely to be some
impact on the openness of the Green Belt, it would therefore be considered inappropriate development
in the Green Belt. However the council considers that for the reasons set out here and in the supporting
evidence, there is no alternative means of achieving the benefits resulting from removing traffic from
the city centre and therefore very special circumstances have been demonstrated.

79 http://durhamcc-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev

147Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 397

http://durhamcc-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev


5.234 The NRR would also improve links between North West County Durham and the A1(M),
providing potential regeneration benefits for this area. As well as the strategic improvements in
connectivity, the road will also have cross-city benefits improving the entire network and strengthening
links between the housing, retail and employment centres on opposite sides of the river, such as
between the Arnison Centre and Belmont Industrial Estate.

5.235 There are currently two possible routes for the NRR from the A690 to the Red House
roundabout. One option would require a new bridge over the River Wear whilst the other would utilise
the existing Belmont Viaduct. Initial survey work on the Viaduct indicates that it may be suitable as
a vehicle carrying structure however more detailed survey work is required to confirm this is the case.
Similarly there are two options for crossing the East Coast Mainline, either over or under. Due to the
uncertainty over the precise route and the timing of the work needed to determine the preferred route,
for the purposes of this Plan both alternative routes are shown as safeguarded on the policies map.
Between Red House and Pity Me roundabouts the route would then utilise Rotary Way. There will
be a need to upgrade the junctions on this section to accommodate the additional traffic. The final
part of the route to the A691 will be part of the Sniperley housing allocation and form the northern
limit of that development.

5.236 Impact studies have been undertaken that assess the NRR's impact on ecology, landscape,
heritage and air quality at a relatively broad level. A full Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) will
be required if the road progresses to a full planning application. It is the council's view that the harm
identified is outweighed by the public benefit. Detailed design of the schemes will incorporate mitigation
measures. Within the safeguarded route of the NRR, development will only be permitted if it does
not prejudice the implementation of the road scheme. The road will also be accompanied by a shared
use walking and cycling route.

5.237 In order to bring the delivery of the NRR forward and realise its wide-ranging benefits, the
council is confident that it can secure local, regional and national transport funding through the
preparation of a robust business case. However the part of the relief road between the A691 and Pity
Me roundabout will be provided by the developer as part of the Sniperley Park development. This
could be used as match funding for the remainder of the scheme.

A167 Congestion

5.238 Traffic modelling shows that the A167 is currently the most congested part of the transport
network in both the AM and PM peaks. The traffic on the A167 creates a barrier for traffic when
entering or leaving the city at peak times with significant bottlenecks especially where the A690 and
A691 join the A167 in the west of the city at the Neville's Cross Junction and Sniperley Roundabout.
The modelling predicts that congestion on the network will increase both as a result of predicted
national increases in traffic and more localised increases as a result of proposed new development.
Therefore to relieve congestion and to enable development to the west and north of the city to come
forward a solution is required.

5.239 In order to identify this solution the council therefore commissioned a feasibility study of
possible highway improvements to the A167 corridor between Neville's Cross and Sniperley
roundabout. The objectives of the study were to try and improve journey times and reduce traffic
congestion on the A167 in order to accommodate existing and future traffic.

5.240 The study found that two lanes could be provided in a southbound direction for the entire
length between Sniperley roundabout and Nevilles Cross but, due to physical constraints,
in a northbound direction only a number of smaller measures to increase capacity were possible.
Once these improvements were modelled it showed a reduction in journey times in the AM peak
along both the northbound and southbound carriageways. However, in the PM peak, whilst there is
a reduction in the journey time on the southbound carriageway, there is a noticeable increase in the

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019148

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 398



journey time on the northbound carriageway. This increase in journey time is due to northbound A167
traffic struggling to exit onto Sniperley roundabout, as traffic from the A691 travelling north-westbound
gets an easier exit onto the roundabout. The modelled A167 improvements are estimated to around
£6.9 million however the results of the modelling show no overall benefits to traffic movements on
the A167.

Western Relief Road

5.241 Given this absence of an effective alternative and the existing and future congestion there
is therefore a requirement for the provision of a Western Relief Road (WRR). The relief road will allow
traffic from the A690 and A691 to avoid bottlenecks thus reducing congestion for all users. The most
significant reductions in traffic take place on the length of the A167 by-passed by the proposed WRR.
The route of the WRR is also located in the Green Belt. Although it will not be removed from the
Green Belt, a Landscape Impact Assessment(80) has concluded that there is likely to be some impact
on the openness of the Green Belt, it would therefore be considered inappropriate development in
the Green Belt. However the council considers that for the reasons set out here and in the supporting
evidence there is no alternative means of addressing the congestion on the A167 and therefore very
special circumstances have been demonstrated.

5.242 The route identified is the shortest possible to alleviate the traffic congestion, running parallel
to the A167 and crossing the River Browney. Toll House Road will remain open as the proposed
WRR will be sensitively bridged over it. Within the allocated route, development will only be permitted
if it does not prejudice the implementation of the road scheme.

5.243 Due to the significant benefits in reducing journey times that would result, it is anticipated
that local, national or regional funding will be the principal means of delivering the WRR (and in fact
this proposal has attracted funding previously). However as the new development at Sniperley Park
will add to congestion on the A167 a significant contribution of between £15 million and the total cost
of the road will be required, via a Section 106 Obligation, from the developers of the site. This
contribution will be calculated taking into account of viability and will be identified as match funding
in a future business case for the scheme in order to increase the likelihood of securing additional
funding. Progressing the road will be an early priority to ensure future development is not constrained
as well as providing certainty to developers. In order to enable the Sniperley site to get underway
350 houses will be allowed to be completed before the WRR is in place. This is reflected in Policy
5 (Durham City's Strategic Urban Extensions).

5.244 Impact studies have been undertaken that assess the WRR's impact on ecology, landscape,
heritage and air quality at a relatively broad level. As with the NRR a full Environmental Impact
Assessment (EIA) and Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) for the WRR will be required as part of a future
planning application which will consider the road's impact, including the new bridge over the River
Browney, on the natural and historic environment. The crossing of the River Browney should not
increase the risk of flooding and will need to pass a flood risk exception test if any part of the structure
is sited within flood zone 3. It is the council's view that the harm identified is outweighed by the public
benefit. Detailed design of the schemes will incorporate mitigation measures including a shared use
walking and cycling route.

Durham City Transport Modelling

5.245 In addition to the A167 modelling, strategic transport modelling across Durham City has been
undertaken to assess the transport interventions required to accommodate projected traffic growth.
The modelling included testing changing travel behaviour without any of the proposals included in
the Plan. This showed that a reduction in car trips as a result of demand management techniques
did not adequately mitigate the projected increase in traffic. The demand management measures

80 http://durhamcc-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev

149Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 399

http://durhamcc-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev


were found to provide some benefit but not to address the expected increase in traffic. The conclusion
therefore was that demandmanagement measures, improvements which encouraged walking, cycling
and public transport together with theWestern and Northern Relief Roads would be the most effective
way to deal with projected increases in traffic and the new development proposed in the Plan.

5.246 The transport modelling indicates that theWRRwould address existing congestion and future
increases in traffic associated with the forecast growth in traffic and the impact of the new development
proposed to the west and north of the city. The modelling also indicates that the delivery of
the sustainable transport improvements set out in the DCSTDP together with both relief roads provides
the most effective transport solution for the city.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Percentage of employees in Durham City walking or cycling to work.

2. Percentage of pupils walking, cycling or using public transport to school.

3. Accessibility of Durham City Centre, Aykley Head Strategic Employment Site and retail
district centres as employment centres (access within one hour and by 08:30 by public
transport) from County Durham.

4. Level of nitrogen dioxide at Durham Air Quality Management Area.

5. Western Relief Road progress in accordance with project plan.

6. Northern Relief Road progress in accordance with project plan.

Target:

1. Increasing trend above the baseline figure.

2. Increasing trend above the baseline figure.

3. Increased accessibility by public transport to Durham City employment and retail centres
from baseline figure.

4. Reduction of levels nitrogen dioxide in AQMA year on year.

5. On track in accordance with the project plan.

6. On track in accordance with the project plan.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019150

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 400



Allocating and Safeguarding Transport Routes and Facilities

Policy 24

Allocating and Safeguarding Transport Routes and Facilities

The following transport routes and facilities, as shown on the policies map, are allocated:

a. Sherburn Retail Link Road; and

b. Horden Rail Station (Peterlee).

The following transport routes and facilities, as shown on the policies map, are safeguarded:

c. The Leamside Line and associated infrastructure; and

d. Bowburn Industrial Estate Access Road.

Development that would prevent the future development of the allocated and safeguarded
transport routes and facilities will not be permitted. A corridor of interest for a possible future
Barnard Castle Relief Road is also identified on the polices map.

Sherburn Retail Link Road

5.247 Sherburn Retail Link Road will provide a link road from Sherburn Retail Park through
Dragonville Industrial Estate to the north of Damson Lane. It will help the regeneration of the Sherburn
Road/Dragonville area of Durham City and help relieve congestion on the east side of Durham City.
Much of the funding for the Link Road is now in place and it will progress in the near future.

New Station at Horden (Peterlee)

5.248 A new station at Horden (Peterlee) will improve access for passengers on the Durham Coast
Line. It will connect areas of high population with areas of employment (such as the Tees Valley and
Tyne and Wear conurbations) as well as making East Durham more attractive for inward investment.
It is expected that the newly constructed station will generate 71,000 trips per annum by 2024.

5.249 The council has now identified a preferred location, allocated in this Plan and shown on the
policies map, and a funding package for the new station from the New Stations Fund, Local Growth
Fund and Durham County Council is now also in place.

5.250 Due to the station's proximity to coastal Internationally Designated Wildlife sites it has been
subject to Habitats Regulations Assessment. In order to avoid adverse effects on the integrity of these
sites no access from the station to the coast will be provided and native plant species will be
incorporated into the landscape design.

151Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 401



The Leamside Line

5.251 The reinstatement of the Leamside Line and better rail links to Tyne and Wear received
popular support from residents as part of the Preferred Options consultation. The Leamside Line is
a major opportunity to improve rail services and cross boundary links into the major conurbations
north and south of County Durham. It runs for 34 kilometres from Tursdale Junction near Ferryhill to
Pelaw in Gateshead via the east side of Durham City and to the east of Washington. The line was
'mothballed' in 1992 when the East Coast Mainline (ECML) was electrified and re-signalled as it was
believed at that time that the ECML would be sufficient for forecasted demand. However since 1992,
rail patronage has accelerated beyond forecasts and there is evidence that the ECML(81) is now
running at or above capacity. There is therefore a growing momentum from businesses (represented
by the North East Local Enterprise Partnership), key government transport agencies, politicians and
local authorities to re-open the Leamside Line in order to facilitate HS2 and Northern Powerhouse
Rail.

5.252 The reinstatement of the Leamside Line would be a regionally important piece of transport
infrastructure which would provide additional capacity and could provide a number of potential new
stations for example at Ferryhill, Belmont Park and Ride and Fencehouses. It would also improve
transport accessibility across the region and provide opportunities for modal switch, including reducing
pressure on the A1(M) Gateshead Western Bypass, with the associated environmental benefits this
would bring. It would also have the added benefit of providing extra capacity for more freight to be
transported in and out of the county and could also help support a possible new rail freight interchange
the Forrest Park employment site.

5.253 Since the last services were withdrawn the council has sought to preserve the corridor of
the line but unfortunately the track has now been removed and the signalising and embankments
have deteriorated to the point where the most recent estimated reinstatement costs are believed to
be above £300 million(82). This is a major barrier to the reopening of the line. As a result we are
safeguarding the route of the Leamside Line rather than allocating it as there is currently too much
uncertainty over how the reopening will be funded.

5.254 In addition to ongoing work on Leamside, the council participates in the East Coast Main
Line Authorities (ECMA) group to lobby for investment in the ECML corridor and contributes to work
on HS2 to ensure the county retains an appropriate mix and level of service for the existing stations
located on the ECML.

Bowburn Industrial Estate Access Road

5.255 The proposal to protect a corridor for a future Bowburn Industrial Estate Access Road has
been accepted for a number of years. It has previously been suggested that such a road would serve
both current and planned development in the area and potentially offer a modest reduction in the
amount of traffic using the A177. It has also been suggested that this corridor should be promoted
as an industrial access road however given the fact that such a route would only be attractive to a
relatively modest proportion of traffic using the A177 and offers no time savings, a need for a new
road cannot currently be established.

5.256 However the proposals at Integra 61 will bring forward significant new industrial and
housing development. Some of the associated traffic generated from the development could potentially
avoid using part the A177 through Bowburn if a highway connection were provided along the line of
the previously protected corridor. As this development is built out the impact of the associated additional
traffic will monitored and it maybe that at some point in the future an industrial estate access road

81 ECML Capacity Review December 2010.
82 A feasibility study would be needed to estimate up to date reinstatement costs.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019152

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 402



will be required. In order to ensure that the option of providing this road remains, the Plan will safeguard
the proposed route on the policies map. The layout of the scheme at Integra 61 that received planning
permission does include a stretch of road which would link to the new access road if it is required.

Barnard Castle Relief Road

5.257 Some support for an eastern relief road for Barnard Castle has been expressed in
representations made to the Plan. As a result a corridor of interest has been identified within which
a possible road would be located, connecting the A688 and A67 withWestwick Road thereby allowing
vehicles to cross the River Tees using Abbey Bridge and then join the A66 eastbound. The relief road
would help reduce the quantity of through traffic in Barnard Castle and in particular HGVs. The impact
of the relief road on general traffic flows is predicted to be relatively modest however the proposed
road could be used to divert HGVs travelling through the town in association with an appropriate
Traffic Regulation Order, banning vehicles over 18 tonnes. Such a ban could help reduce potential
damage to the historic fabric of the town as well as address public concerns regarding safety and
amenity.

5.258 The delivery of the relief road would be dependent on securing funding from the Department
for Transport (DfT) which would require a robust business case demonstrating a high benefit to cost
ratio. Currently these benefits are usually measured by DfT and other funding sources in terms of
reducing journey times and delivering economic benefits rather than heritage preservation factors.
Therefore as a result of the projected traffic flows expected on the new road it would be difficult to
secure funding for this scheme during the Plan period. Therefore, although the council recognises
that there would be some benefits resulting from a relief road the uncertainty over how it would be
funded means that we are unable to allocate or safeguard the route. However as the council believe
there is some merit to the scheme we have identified a corridor of interest on the polices map. If the
position was to change in the future then we would consider the relief road in a future review of the
Plan.

Darlington Northern Relief Road

5.259 We are also aware of an emerging proposal for a new road to the north of Darlington linking
the A167 junction on the A1(M) to the A66. This could have potential benefits to County Durham as
a result of improved links to Teesport. Although the majority of this link will be located in Darlington
Borough, a small part of the route - specifically the link to the A1 junction - will be in County Durham.
We will therefore continue to monitor progress and will safeguard the relevant part of the route in the
Plan when more information is available.

Other Schemes

5.260 A number of other schemes have been considered for inclusion in this policy however for
various reasons including the limited benefits that would result, they have not been included at this
time. These schemes will be reconsidered as part of future reviews of the Plan. This is particularly
relevant to the proposed East Durham Link Road which would improve east-west links in the county
and into Sunderland City Council's administrative area. However the part of the route in Sunderland's
area has not been included in their current local plan and therefore if it was included in our Plan it
would be impossible to complete. If Sunderland were to include it in a future version of their local
plan, then this position would be revisited.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Sherburn Retail Link Road progress in accordance with project plan.

153Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 403



2. Horden Rail Station progress in accordance with project plan.

3. Number of planning applications approved within the safeguarded areas and corridors of
interest which would prevent development of the routes and facilities.

Target:

1. In accordance with the project plan.

2. In accordance with the project plan.

3. No applications approved.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019154

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 404



Provision of Transport Infrastructure

Policy 25

Provision of Transport Infrastructure

New and improved transport infrastructure will be permitted where it:

a. is necessary to improve the existing highway network and/or rail network;

b. minimises andmitigates any harmful impact upon the built, historic and natural environment
and the amenity of local communities including by incorporating green infrastructure; and

c. makes safe and proper provision for all users which prioritises the movement of pedestrians,
cyclists and public transport; or

d. supports economic growth;

e. enhances connectivity either within the county or with other parts of the region; or

f. accommodates future development sites.

5.261 Transport infrastructure improvements can be critical to the delivery of development. They
can support economic growth, sustainable transport and regeneration, whilst helping to improve
connectivity between the county and adjoining areas within the North East and beyond. Funding or
developers contributions will be sought as appropriate to support the delivery of key transport
infrastructure improvements. While all transport schemes will have to conform to other relevant Plan
policies, new highway schemes and other transport infrastructure will have to specifically conform to
the criteria of this policy.

5.262 The safe efficient and free flowingmovement of vehicles and people across the entire highway
network can help achieve the council’s ambition of improving the economy as well as being essential
in the move towards sustainable local communities. It is important that all users are considered when
designing new transport infrastructure including those with mobility impairment, visual impairment,
dementia and other forms of mental illness. Proposals for improvements to the highway network and
other transport infrastructure will be supported, where it can be demonstrated to be necessary in the
absence of suitable transport alternatives and where they are viable and increase economic prosperity.
New roads must be justified in accordance with the criteria set out above and should be routed and/or
designed in such a way that they are assimilated into their surroundings with minimum disturbance
to the built, historic and natural environment.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of major transport infrastructure schemes identified in the Infrastructure Delivery
Plan that have been approved and completed.

155Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 405



Target:

1. No Target.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019156

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 406



Supporting High Quality Infrastructure

5.263 Infrastructure can take many forms:

Physical, such as roads, utilities and energy supply networks;

Social, such as community buildings, education, health facilities, sport and recreation and
employment or training opportunities; and

Environmental, such as heritage assets, areas for wildlife and green infrastructure.

5.264 We have worked with statutory undertakers, utility companies and other agencies to identify
the need for new infrastructure. If additional infrastructure is not delivered alongside new development,
it can put pressure on existing facilities that may not have the ability or capacity to cope with the
additional demand. This may have a detrimental impact on the existing population.

5.265 The provision of infrastructure is managed by a wide range of organisations, not just the
council. The Plan, together with an Infrastructure Delivery Plan, will play a key role in securing private
sector involvement in infrastructure delivery, and in aligning the programmes of the various providers.

157Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 407



Developer Contributions

Policy 26

Developer Contributions

New development will be approved where any mitigation necessary to make the development
acceptable in planning terms is secured through appropriate planning conditions or planning
obligations. Such mitigation will relate to the provision, and/or improvement, of physical, social
and environmental infrastructure taking into account the nature of the proposal and identified
local or strategic needs.

Planning Conditions

Developers will be required to adhere to specific, fair and reasonably practicable planning
conditions as a means of mitigating any adverse effects resulting from a development.

Planning Obligations

Developers will be required to enter into Planning Obligations which are directly related to the
development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development, in order
to secure the mitigation that is necessary for a development to be acceptable in planning terms.

In order to ensure that the mitigation and any associated benefits of a scheme are secured and
sustainable development achieved, review mechanisms and/or an overage payment clauses
may be built into Planning Obligations to ensure that contributions can be periodically reviewed
to reflect any changes in circumstances or market conditions seeking to ensure that where market
conditions have improved, the scheme can deliver all requirements in full.

5.266 It is important to ensure that development proposals contribute to improvements in
infrastructure capacity to mitigate for the additional demands that new development creates. A planning
obligation is a legal agreement between the planning authority, the applicant/developer and anyone
else that has an interest in the land when planning permission is granted. By securing
financial contributions, developers would help fund the physical, social and environmental infrastructure
that is needed to make development acceptable and ensure that the development mitigates its impact
upon existing infrastructure. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) makes clear however
that any planning obligation must be directly and fairly and reasonably related to the development. In
some cases this may include improvements to infrastructure off-site. To provide certainty, known
infrastructure requirements and associated developer contributions will be set out at the pre-application
stage and therefore early discussions are encouraged.

5.267 Where there are site specific infrastructure requirements, without which a development should
not be granted planning permission, either this will be secured via a planning condition or through a
planning obligation. These are negotiated on a site by site basis. Any conditions need to be relevant
to planning and to the development to be permitted, as well as being enforceable, precise and
reasonable in all other respects.

5.268 In the unlikely circumstance where the viability of a scheme is in question, the developer will
be required to demonstrate that this is the case through a site-specific financial evaluation which will
be made available in the interests of transparency, undertaken to the council's satisfaction at the
earliest possible stage. Where a scheme is agreed to be unviable, we will review the timing or phasing

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019158

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 408



of payments to assist the financial viability of the scheme. In such circumstances or when the planing
application is likely to have a build out rate spanning more than two years, a review mechanism and/or
an overage payment clause will be included in any planning obligation. This will ensure that obligations
can be periodically reviewed and updated to reflect any changes in circumstances or market conditions.

5.269 There should be no instances where site specific infrastructure and mitigation cannot be
secured because of viability concerns. However in these situations where the infrastructure is an
essential prerequisite to enable the site to be developed, a scheme will be deemed unacceptable in
planning terms.

Removal of Pooling Restrictions

5.270 Regulation 123 of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) regulations currently prevents
local authorities from using more than five planning obligations to fund a single infrastructure project.
The purpose of the pooling restriction was to incentivise local authorities to introduce CIL in order to
collect a fixed contribution towards infrastructure from a large number of developments. However,
the government recently published its response to a consultation relating to 'Supporting housing
delivery through developer contributions' which proposes removing the pooling restrictions in all areas.
It is considered that this would remove barriers to development, and could in some circumstances
give local planning authorities the ability to secure more funding through planning obligations to deliver
the infrastructure needed to support development.

Viability and Plan-Making

5.271 Sustainable development requires careful attention to viability and costs in plan-making and
decision taking. The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) confirms that the role of viability assessments
is primarily at the plan-making stage. To ensure a viable and deliverable Plan, a Local Plan Viability
Assessment (83) has tested notional sites across the highest, high, medium and low value areas and
also the housing allocations. All development sites are different and as such will have different costs
and values associated with their build. Residential schemes have been tested including assumptions
around infrastructure and policy requirements such as education, older people, open space and water
management.

5.272 It is recognised that there will be some areas of the county where there may not be much
new development but where there may be opportunities to invest that may benefit the county as a
whole and deliver on countywide strategies such as the Housing Strategy. Therefore the sums received
through planning obligations, and in particular those in lieu of affordable housing, should have some
flexibility in terms of where they are spent.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Amount of money agreed through planning obligations.

2. Amount of money received through planning obligations.

3. Amount of money spent through planning obligations.

4. Number of applications where required contributions have been waived.

83 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

159Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 409

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


Target:

1. No Target.

2. No Target.

3. No Target.

4. No Target.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019160

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 410



Green Infrastructure

Policy 27

Green Infrastructure

Development will be expected to maintain and protect, and where appropriate improve, the
county’s green infrastructure network. This will in turn help to protect and enhance the county's
natural capital and ecosystem services. Development proposals should incorporate appropriate
Green Infrastructure (GI) that is integrated into the wider network, which maintains and improves
biodiversity, landscape character, increases opportunities for healthy living and contributes to
healthy ecosystems and climate change objectives.

Loss of provision

Development proposals will not be permitted that would result in the loss of open space or harm
to green infrastructure assets unless the benefits of the development clearly outweigh that loss
or harm. Where valued open spaces or assets are affected, proposals must incorporate suitable
mitigation and make appropriate provision of equivalent or greater value on site or within the
locality. Where appropriate there will be engagement with the local community.

New provision

Development proposals should provide for new green infrastructure both within and, where
appropriate, off site, having regard to priorities identified in the Strategic GI Framework. Proposals
should take opportunities to contribute to existing green infrastructure projects in the locality
including those identified in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

New green infrastructure will be required to be appropriate to its context and of robust and
practical design, with provision for its long term management and maintenance secured. The
council expects the delivery of new green space to make a contribution towards achieving the
net gains in biodiversity and coherent ecological networks as required by the NPPF.

Proposals for new residential development will be required to meet the standards of open space
provision set out in the Open Space Needs Assessment (OSNA). Where it is determined that
on-site provision is not appropriate, the council will require financial contributions secured through
planning obligations towards the provision of new open space, or the improvement of existing
open space elsewhere in the locality.

Public Rights of Way

Development will be expected to maintain or improve the permeability of the built environment
and access to the countryside for pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders. Proposals that would
result in the loss of, or deterioration in the quality of, existing Public Rights of Way (PROWs) will
not be permitted unless equivalent alternative provision of a suitable standard is made. Where
diversions are required, new routes should be direct, convenient and attractive, and must not
have a detrimental impact on environmental or heritage assets.

5.273 Green Infrastructure (GI) is the network of green spaces and corridors that exist within and
between cities, towns and villages. As well as public open space, it includes wildlife sites, river
corridors, coastlines, mountains, moorland, woodland and agricultural land and is integral to the health

161Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 411



and quality of life of sustainable communities. The term GI is closely related to the concepts of natural
capital and ecosystem services. Ecosystem services are the benefits which people gain from natural
ecosystems, and natural capital is the stock of natural ecosystems from which these benefits arise.
Natural capital can be defined as our 'stock' of waters, land, air, species, minerals and oceans. This
stock underpins our economy by producing value for people, both directly and indirectly. Natural
Capital is the most fundamental of the forms of capital since it provides the basic conditions for human
existence, delivering food, clean water and air, and other essential resources. Many aspects of natural
capital such as biodiversity, clean air, land, and water are both limited and vulnerable.

5.274 Ecosystem services are the benefits that people obtain from ecosystems. These include:
provisioning services such as food and water; regulating services such as flood and disease control;
cultural services such as spiritual, recreational, and cultural benefits; and supporting services such
as nutrient cycling that maintain the conditions for life on earth.

5.275 GI can be regarded as a strategic network of green spaces designed to deliver ecosystem
services to human communities and support natural capital. It fulfils a number of important functions
including: access, recreation and sport; agriculture; woodland and forestry; biodiversity and
geodiversity; economic development through improving the image of towns and cities, making them
more attractive places to live, work and invest; health and wellbeing; landscape and townscape; flood
control and drainage; food production and climate change mitigation.

5.276 The NPPF requires local plans to set out a strategic approach to planning for the creation,
protection, enhancement, and management of networks of biodiversity and to plan for biodiversity at
a landscape scale across local authority boundaries. The council has produced a Strategic GI
Framework which sets out the principles and recommendations for GI in the county, and the
conservation and enhancement of the existing network. New housing development will be required
to include the provision of sufficient green infrastructure to meet the principles set out within the GI
framework.

5.277 In determining whether it is appropriate for open space to be provided on or offsite, the
council will have regard to the OSNA which clarifies (84) the types of provision considered to be
appropriate to the scale of the development. The use of green walls and green roofs will be encouraged
where they are considered to be appropriate.

5.278 Where all or part of the required GI is to be secured by way of a planning obligation, the
costs payable will be calculated by determining the likely cost to the council of providing the required
area of open space, less the amount provided in kind by the developer.

5.279 Where new open spaces are provided, the council will expect the developer to maintain them
for a minimum of 12 months following practical completion (85). Following this, the council may be
prepared to adopt the land, providing it meets the required standard. A commuted sum for maintenance,
calculated on the basis of typical maintenance costs per square metre for a 15 year period, will be
payable. Alternatively, the developer may utilise a management company.

5.280 It is recognised that not all uses of green space are compatible. In particular, some sites
which have a significant biodiversity value may be adversely affected by recreational use. Where
such sites exist, it may be desirable to ensure that suitable alternative green spaces exist in the
vicinity, which can absorb likely recreational pressure. This is particularly relevant with respect to the
Durham Coast, where increased recreational use of green space forms a crucial part of the mitigation
strategy for the council’s Habitat Regulations Assessment.

84 Table 19 of the Open Space Needs Assessment (OSNA) set out the requirement for open space, sport and recreation facilities
within housing developments.

85 This is dependent on the nature of the habitats created and establishment period required in order to determine success of creation

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019162

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 412



5.281 In assessing whether a site is surplus to local requirements, and to inform whether the
compensatory amount of open space is of an equivalent or better quality, regard should be had to
any relevant assessments, strategies and action plans (including the OSNA, Strategic GI Framework,
Playing Pitch Strategy and associated Action Plans) and any changes in circumstances that have
taken place since they were produced, or which would take place as a consequence of the
development.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Amount of new Green Infrastructure lost on approved sites.

2. Amount of new Green Infrastructure created on approved sites.

3. Amount of Green Infrastructure enhanced on approved sites.

4. Loss of Open Space Needs Assessment sites by hectare and number of sites where there
is no compensation or mitigation provided.

Target:

1. No Target.

2. No target.

3. No target.

4. Zero.

163Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 413



Utilities, Telecommunications and Other Broadcast Infrastructure

Policy 28

Utilities, Telecommunications and Other Broadcast Infrastructure

Proposals will be permitted for new or extension to existing energy generation(86), utility
transmission facilities, telecommunication masts or other broadcast and broadband equipment
which facilitate the electronic transfer of data where:

a. it can be demonstrated that the scheme will not cause significant adverse impacts or that
its benefits outweigh any adverse negative effects;

b. it is located at an existing mast or transmission site, where it is technically and operationally
feasible and does not result in visual clutter. Where a new site is required applicants must
demonstrate to the council's satisfaction that the use of existing sites in the area have been
fully explored and are not feasible. Equipment must be sympathetically designed and
camouflaged and not result in visual clutter; and

c. where applicable, it does not cause significant or irreparable interference with other electrical
equipment, air traffic services or other instrumentation operated in the national interest.

Broadband Connectivity

The council will require developers to ensure that all new residential and commercial
development is served by a high speed broadband connection. This will need to be directly
accessed from the nearest exchange and threaded through resistant tubing to enable easy
access to the cable for future repair, replacement and upgrading.

5.282 As well as taking into account existing utilities infrastructure such as sub-stations, overhead
power lines, underground cables and gas pipelines which run across or adjacent to development
sites, the provision of new infrastructure is required to enable the growth proposed in the Plan. Whilst
generally utilities infrastructure is covered by permitted development rights some of these rights are
time limited or below specified thresholds. Developments will therefore need to be determined on a
case by case basis. We will continue to work in close partnership with energy providers to ensure
minimum disruption to existing networks as well as enabling the phasing and delivery of appropriate
utility infrastructure to support proposed development. Additional guidance in relation to planning and
amenity aspects of building close to existing high voltage electricity transmission lines, gas pipelines
and substations can be found on the National Grid website and includes information on statutory
safety clearances. (87)

5.283 Changes in demand patterns or the introduction of new technology, such as the increased
use of electric cars, can also require new infrastructure or the reinforcement or expansion of existing
infrastructure. As the UK's energy infrastructure is updated there will be a requirement for an expansion

86 Other than renewable energy generation which is covered in Policy 35 (Renewable and Low Carbon Energy).
87 Guidance in relation to development near overhead lines, gas pipelines and 'A Sense of Place' guidance can be found

here:https://www.nationalgridet.com/network-and-assets/planning-and-development,www.nationalgridgas.com/land-and-assets/working-near-our-assets
and www.northerngasnetworks.co.uk/network-supply/our-pipes/

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019164

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 414

https://www.nationalgridet.com/network-and-assets/planning-and-development
https://www.nationalgridgas.com/land-and-assets/working-near-our-assets
https://www.northerngasnetworks.co.uk/network-supply/our-pipes/


of existing infrastructure such as overhead power lines, underground cables, extending substations,
new gas pipelines and associated installations and also new forms of infrastructure including smaller
scale distributed generation, battery storage and gas storage sites.

5.284 This policy does not cover renewable, low carbon, or waste based energy generation, which
are covered by other policies in the Plan. New power stations over 50 MW are classed as nationally
significant infrastructure projects (NSIPs) and as such the Planning Inspectorate will examine
applications and make recommendations to the Government. This policy covers power stations of
10 MW or more but less than 50 MW, which use oil or natural gas, they will also require energy policy
clearance under section 14(1) of the Energy Act 1976(88).

5.285 Modern telecommunications and access to high speed, reliable broadband are now considered
essential to growing a sustainable economic future, providing opportunities to reduce our carbon
footprint by reducing the need to travel, vital for education and individual lifestyles, as well as an
increasingly central part to community cohesion and resilience . It is particularly important in rural
areas where it can benefit businesses, tourism and enable communities to access services and
facilities online, but where commercial providers are less willing to provide access.

5.286 The council is working in partnership with the government to help improve broadband speeds
for residents and businesses through several initiatives. The importance of Next Generation Access
capable of delivering high speeds (89) is recognised, and the council is committed to extending fibre
coverage to as many businesses, homes and communities in County Durham as possible with the
funding available.

5.287 Full fibre access is the most future-proof option and the council will require developers to
include this provision to new residential or commercial development including major site renovations.
Exceptions may be made to this and alternative fibre optic broadband solutions to full fibre may be
considered. Developers will be encouraged to consult with a range of infrastructure providers to
ensure competition and choice on new developments. Therefore applicants must show, through
consultation with broadband infrastructure providers, that full fibre access would not be possible,
appropriate, practical or economically viable. Evidence of this must be clearly demonstrated to the
council to show that this is the case.

5.288 The government has carried out a series of consultations to stimulate private sector investment
to achieve a transformation in broadband in the UK, and in 2017 the Digital Economy Act was brought
into effect. This Act introduces a new Universal Service Obligation (USO) that will give people the
legal right to request broadband download speeds of at least 10Mbps. The obligation will be initiated
by 2020 and will put broadband on a more equal footing to other essential services such as electricity
and water supply. Whilst the USO is less than half of the current government superfast speed target
of 24Mbps, it provides a safety-net minimum, designed to ensure that those properties that cannot
access superfast broadband infrastructure, are still able to access broadband at a minimum speed
that ensures they are not socially or economically left behind.

5.289 The Act also removes the time limit for broadband street cabinets, new poles and lines to
be installed under permitted development rights in any location other than a Sites of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSI) without the need for prior approval from local planning authorities, as long as the
development was completed on or before 30 May 2018. Further guidance on permitted development
rights can also be found in Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). (90)

88 More information is available here: https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/
89 The UK Government recognise speeds of 24Mbps and above as Superfast Broadband. During the lifetime of the plan, as new

technology develops, Ultrafast Broadband offering speeds of 100Mbps and above may become more readily available.
90 Specifically Paragraphs 070 reference ID: 13-070-20140306 to 073 Reference ID:13-073-20140306.

165Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 415

https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/


5.290 In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), all new infrastructure
installations should, where possible, minimise the number of masts and new sites required and be
sympathetically designed and camouflaged where appropriate. In this context the phrase ‘visual
clutter’ is used to describe the visual impact created by bringing together a number of potentially
unrelated structures in one place resulting in an overwhelming and unsightly cluster. Therefore the
cumulative impact of additional infrastructure being added to an existing site will need to be taken
into account as part of the application process.

5.291 Where new equipment is proposed, which cannot be located on an existing site due to
technical and operational constraints, operators will be required to provide evidence that they have
explored the possibility of alternative existing sites. This is of particular importance where the site
falls within an area of sensitivity, where it would normally be refused because of siting or appearance
considerations. Green infrastructure can also be a valuable tool in helping to mitigate the potential
adverse visual and environmental impacts of new infrastructure development and should be considered
as part of the application process. This could include landscaping with plants or trees to soften the
visual impact of new infrastructure or new habitat creation where trees or vegetation have been
disturbed during the installation phase.

5.292 The NPPF also makes clear that local planning authorities must determine applications on
planning grounds and should not seek to prevent competition between different operators, question
the need for the telecommunications system, or determine health safeguards if the proposal meets
International Commission guidelines for public exposure(91).

5.293 The Code of Best Practice on Mobile Network Development in England (2016) has been
drawn up in partnership between Arqiva; the Department for Communities and Local Government;
the Department for Culture Media and Sport; the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs;
Historic England; the Local Government Association; Mobile UK (representing the Mobile Network
Operators); Landscapes for Life; National Parks England; and the Planning Officers Society(92). The
Code applies to all forms of wireless development, but is most relevant to proposals for new masts
or base stations and significant additions or extensions to existing sites. There is also a cabinet-siting
and pole-siting Code of Practice for Fixed Line Code Operators and an ongoing review of how the
planning system in England can support the delivery of mobile connectivity and the roll-out of the
government's 5G Strategy. (93). One of the aims of the Future Telecoms Infrastructure Review, is to
assess whether any further policy interventions may be needed to create the conditions for long term
investment in world-class digital connectivity. The outcome of this review will need to be taken into
account in future plan and decision making.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

91 http://www.hse.gov.uk/radiation/nonionising/faqs.htm
92 http://www.mobileuk.org/cms-assets/documents/259876-147086.code-of-best-practice-2016-edition-pub
93 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/577906/CONNECTED_FUTURE_ACCESSIBLE.pdf

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019166

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 416

http://www.hse.gov.uk/radiation/nonionising/faqs.htm
http://www.mobileuk.org/cms-assets/documents/259876-147086.code-of-best-practice-2016-edition-pub
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/577906/CONNECTED_FUTURE_ACCESSIBLE.pdf


Safeguarded Areas

Policy 29

Safeguarded Areas

Within safeguarded areas as shown on the policies map(94), development will be subject to
consultation with the relevant authority and will be permitted:

a. within the defined consultation zones of the Major Hazard Sites and Major Hazard Pipelines,
where it can be demonstrated that it would not prejudice current or future public safety;

b. within the defined Durham Tees Valley and Newcastle International Aerodrome Safeguarding
Areas where it can be demonstrated that it would not prejudice the safety of air traffic and
air traffic services; and

c. within the defined safeguarding area around the High Moorsely Meteorological Office radar
site where it can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable adverse impact upon
the operation of the site.

Within the defined Fishburn Airfield, and the Shotton Airfield and Peterlee Parachute Drop Zone
Safeguarding Areas (including parachute landing areas), proposals for development which could
adversely impact upon the operation or lead to the closure of these facilities will be carefully
considered. Proposals will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:

d. they would not prejudice the safety of air traffic and air traffic services; and

e. they would not have an unacceptable adverse impact upon the operation of the Peterlee
Drop Zone unless the benefits of the proposed development clearly outweigh the resulting
harm.

When considering relevant planning applications within the defined safeguarded areas the council
will ensure that developers always consider both potential individual and cumulative impacts.
Where demonstrated to be necessary mitigation will always be sought to either remove or reduce
the potential impact upon each safeguarded areas to acceptable levels.

5.294 Government guidance(95) requires that we consult the Health and Safety Executive (HSE),
Durham Tees Valley Airport, Newcastle International Airport and the Secretary of State for Business
Innovation and Skills, acting through the Meteorological Office, on planning applications within officially
safeguarded areas and their surrounding defined consultation zones. None of these safeguarded
areas are the responsibility or the proposal of the local planning authority but need to be taken into
account in the consideration of planning applications. Depending upon the specific safeguarded area,
within these areas there may be be restrictions on for example:

the physical location of development;

94 Maps D and E in the Policies Map.
95 The Town and Country Planning (Safeguarded Aerodromes, Technical Sites and Military Explosives Storage Areas) Direction 2002

and Town & Country Planning (Safeguarded Meteorological Sites) (England) Direction 2014.

167Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 417



the height of structures and buildings (fixed or transient which could impact upon radar systems
or present a collision hazard);

the design of new development to avoid using reflective materials or lighting which could cause
distraction or glare for pilots or could imitate airfield lighting; and

upon landscaping schemes or open water which might create or lead to an increased bird strike
hazard.

5.295 The HSE is a statutory consultee for planning applications around major hazard sites and
major accident hazard. The HSE has set a consultation distance around major hazard sites and major
accident hazard pipelines after assessing the risks and likely effects of major accidents at the major
hazard. Within County Durham major hazards comprise a wide range of chemical process sites, fuel
and chemical storage sites, and pipelines including the High Pressure Gas Pipeline between Bishop
Auckland/Sutton Howgrave and theWilton-Grangemouth Ethylene Pipeline. The HSEwill be consulted
on certain developments which lie within the consultation distance of a major hazard site or a major
accident hazard pipeline(96). Similarly, the council will also consult the National Grid and Northern
Gas networks in relation to development proposals around their network of pipelines and high voltage
pylons(97).

5.296 The Civil Aviation Authority has identified both Newcastle International Airport and the Durham
Tees Valley Airport as officially safeguarded aerodromes. The Newcastle Airport Safeguarding Area
extends into the far north of the county for general development and in addition 30 kilometres from
the aerodrome for windfarms. Similarly the Durham Tees Valley Airport Safeguarding Areas extend
into south east Durham and require consideration of bird strike 13 kilometres from the aerodrome, 15
kilometres for general development and 30 kilometres for windfarms. The policies map(98) also
identifies Fishburn Airfield Safeguarding Area. Within these safeguarded zones we will consult the
individual airport operator on certain development proposals. Development proposals which would
prejudice the air safety of these airports and airfields will not be permitted within the safeguarding
zones. This includes proposals which might increase the risk of collision between aircraft and birds
due to the creation of a bird strike hazard(99).

5.297 An officially safeguarded area has been designated for the Meteorological Office radar site
at High Moorsley in Sunderland. The safeguarded area extends into the county covering large areas
of Central, North and South Durham. The radar site provides important observation information which
is essential for producing weather warnings and forecasts for a large number of customers including
Local Authorities, the Ministry of Defence, the Environment Agency, Airports, emergency services
and other maintainers of essential infrastructure (such as transport and service providers). Within the
consultation zone we will consult the Meteorological Office on certain planning applications(100).

96 Within the identified consultation distance of major hazard installations / complexes and pipelines, HSE should only be consulted
for developments involving: residential accommodation; more than 250 square metres of retail floor space; more than 500 square
metres of office floor space; more than 750 square metres of floor space to be used for an industrial process; transport links (railways,
major roads, etc.); a material increase in the number of persons working within, or visiting, a location within the consultation distance
of a major hazard site. In addition the HSE should also be consulted on: proposed development involving the siting of new
establishments where hazardous substances may be present; or modifications to existing establishments which could have significant
repercussions on major accident hazards; or proposed development that is in the vicinity of existing hazardous installations and
pipelines where the siting is such as to increase the risk or consequences of a major accident.

97 Guidance on safe working near high pressure gas pipelines and pylons can be accessed on both the National Grid and Northern
Gas Networks
websites:https://www.nationalgridet.com/network-and-assets/planning-and-development,www.nationalgridgas.com/land-and-assets/working-near-our-assets
and www.northerngasnetworks.co.uk/network-supply/our-pipes/

98 Maps D and E in the policies base document.
99 In instances where the council intends to grant planning permission against the recommendation of a safeguarding consultee, the

council will refer the application to the Civil Aviation Authority.
100 The Meteorological Office will be consulted on all pylon proposals over 10 metres in height within 10 kilometres of the radar site;

any development involving wind turbines and buildings, structures and works exceeding between 10.7 metres and 91.4 metres
above ground level (depending on location and topography) within 20 kilometres of the radar site.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019168

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 418

https://www.nationalgridet.com/network-and-assets/planning-and-development
https://www.nationalgridgas.com/land-and-assets/working-near-our-assets
https://www.northerngasnetworks.co.uk/network-supply/our-pipes/


5.298 The policies map also identifies the Parachute Landing Areas (PLA), Overshoots and
designated Drop Zone (DZ) associated with Shotton Airfield and the Peterlee Parachute Centre. The
Peterlee DZ has operated continuously since 1987 and is now the only designated site for parachuting
in the North East serving County Durham, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear, the Tees Valley, North
Yorkshire and South East Scotland. It is also listed by Sport England as a Significant Area For Sport
(SASP)(101).

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

101 In order to avoid restrictions to parachuting activity these criteria include a PLA largely free of minor hazards (hedges, fences,
ditches), overshoots largely free of Major Hazards (large hangars, buildings, small wind turbines, woods), no electric power lines
within 800 metres of the PLA/DZ, no special hazards (open deep water/rivers, electric power lines, large wind turbines) within 1.2
kilometres of the PLA/DZ centre, and no aerial hazards (any obstacle in excess of 90 metres AGL) within 2.4 kilometres of the
PLA/DZ centre and no windfarms within the designated DZ (minimum 2.4 kilometres from the centre). The CAA also lay down criteria
in CAP 793 that there should be no obstacles exceeding a height of 150 feet (45 metres) above the mean elevation of the runway
within 2 kilometres of the centre of the runway.

169Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 419



Requiring Good Design

5.299 The design quality of new development in the county has varied significantly. We are
committed to ensuring that in future it will be of a high standards in terms of architecture, urban design,
sustainability and innovation. This ensures that new development enhances and complements existing
high quality areas and raises the design standards and quality of areas in need of regeneration. New
development should provide local people with civic pride, make them feel safe and secure and help
improve the overall image of the county and reflect local distinctiveness.

5.300 Development needs to be carefully planned to ensure important features and characteristics
are protected and enhanced. The layout and design of new developments must be based on a
thorough understanding of a site and its wider context. This requires careful consideration of site
layout, including how the development integrates into its setting in terms of: building layouts; built
form; height; mass; scale; building line; plot size; elevational treatment; materials; streetscape and
rooflines. The layout, form and mix of development should also support walking, cycling and public
transport provision.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019170

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 420



Sustainable Design

Policy 30

Sustainable Design

All development proposals will be required to achieve well designed buildings and places in
accordance with local guidance documents, and:

a. contribute positively to an area’s character, identity, heritage significance, townscape and
landscape features, helping to create and reinforce locally distinctive and sustainable
communities;

b. create buildings and spaces that are adaptable to changing social, technological, economic
and environmental conditions and include appropriate and proportionate measures to reduce
vulnerability, increase resilience and ensure public safety and security;

c. minimise greenhouse gas emissions, by seeking to achieve zero carbon buildings and
providing renewable and low carbon energy generation, and include connections to an
existing or approved district energy scheme where viable opportunities exist. Where
connection to the gas network is not viable development should utilise renewable and low
carbon technologies as the main heating source;

d. minimise the use of non-renewable and unsustainable resources, including energy, water
and materials, during both construction and use by encouraging waste reduction and
appropriate reuse and recycling of materials, including appropriate storage space and
segregation facilities for recyclable and non-recyclable waste and prioritising the use of
local materials;

e. provide high standards of amenity and privacy, and minimise the impact of development
upon the occupants of existing adjacent and nearby properties; and

f. contribute towards healthy neighbourhoods and consider the health impacts of development
and the needs of existing and future users, including those with dementia and other sensory
or mobility impairments.

Landscape proposals should:

g. respond creatively to topography and to existing features of landscape or heritage interest
and wildlife habitats;

h. respect - and where appropriate take opportunities to create - attractive views of and from
the site;

i. reflect in the detailed design any features characteristic of the locality such as boundaries,
paving materials and plant species;

j. create opportunities for wildlife including though the use of locally native species;
k. make appropriate provision for maintenance and long term management; and
l. in the case of edge of settlement development, provide for an appropriate level of structural

landscaping to screen or assimilate the development into its surroundings and provide an
attractive new settlement boundary.

171Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 421



Places and Spaces

Major development proposals and those which effect, or add to, the public realm should:

m. create a well-defined, easily navigable and accessible network of streets and spaces which
respond appropriately to local context, to ensure that:

1. the public realm, including new roads, paths and other rights of way, open spaces,
hard and soft landscaping, boundary features and other structures, are designed to
be functional, well-managed safe and durable, taking into account the lifetime needs
of its users;

2. convenient access is provided for all users whilst prioritising the needs of pedestrians,
cyclists, public transport users, people with a range of disabilities, and, emergency
and service vehicles;

3. connections are made to existing cycle and pedestrian networks;

4. the public realm benefits where possible from natural surveillance;

5. amenity open space is designed with regard to the local micro-climate including sunlight,
shade and shelter; and

6. private and communal amenity space is well-defined, defensible and appropriate in
its design, size and location to the needs of its users.

Buildings

All new residential development will be required to:

n. comply with the Nationally Described Space Standard (NDSS).

All major new residential development will be required to:

o. when assessed against the Building for Life Supplementary Planning
Document (102)secure as many greens as possible, whilst minimising the number of ambers.
Schemes with one or more red will not be acceptable and will be refused planning permission
unless there are significant overriding reasons;

p. achieve reductions in CO2 emissions of 10% below the Dwelling Emission Rate (DER)
against the Target Emission Rate (TER) based on current Building Regulations; and

q. be built to at least 30 dwellings per hectare (dph) in and around town centres and locations
where there is good access to facilities and frequent public transport services. Lower
densities may be acceptable in other locations or where it is necessary to:

1. ensure good design and development that is compatible with its surroundings and
character;

102 The BfL review process covers all major residential-led schemes of 50+ units (or 1.5 hectares+), as well as any smaller schemes
in particularly sensitive locations

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019172

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 422



2. secure particular house types to meet local needs; and,

3. meet infrastructure requirements.

All major new non-residential development will be required to:

r. achieve Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM)
minimum rating of ‘very good’ (or any future national equivalent).

Extensions and Alterations

Proposals for alterations and extensions to residential property, and development associated
with the incidental enjoyment of a dwelling, should ensure the development is sympathetic to
the existing building(s) and the character and appearance of the area in terms of design, scale,
layout, roof design and materials.

Signage, Adverts, Street Furniture and Public Art

Proposals should ensure:

s. street furniture, public art, adverts and signage are appropriate and sympathetic to all users
and the local setting in terms of scale, design, lighting and materials.

t. Adverts and signage are not:

1. detrimental to visual amenity or highway safety; and

2. sited in inappropriate locations.

5.301 This policy addresses all new development in the built environment including new housing
and other new buildings, as well as extensions, alterations and changes of use of existing buildings.
It aims to ensure that development is well-designed, responds to the local context and incorporates
appropriate energy standards.

Design

5.302 New development will be expected to be of a high design quality that respects and responds
to the local context and distinctiveness of the area. The layout and design of new developments must
be based on a thorough understanding of the site itself and its wider context including any relevant
history, topography, infrastructure constraints, building layouts, built form, height, mass, scale, plot
size etc. It should also seek to maximise the benefits of the site's characteristics and ensure valuable
features and characteristics are protected and enhanced. Development should seek to incorporate
design solutions for buildings and spaces that optimise solar gain (without increasing the risk of
overheating) and adapt to climate change impacts. They may include, for example, green/brown roofs
and walls, green infrastructure planting and solar shading. The retention of established planting and
trees in particular can visually enhance a development, as can ensuring an appropriate relationship
with the wider landscape, both visually and in terms of activity and through the creation of habitat for
wildlife.

173Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 423



5.303 Creating an accessible and permeable public realm through connecting places and spaces,
will help to ensure that many daily needs can be met by the use of walking, cycling or public transport.
Opportunities should be taken to create or reinforce a logical and legible hierarchy of routes,
intersections and public spaces. The design of these spaces will vary dependent upon movement,
activities and uses supported however, they should be accessible in accordance with the local design
standards (103). The built form should be used to assist in this regard, with the inclusion of focal
buildings and features where appropriate to act as visual points of reference. Development should
also take account of the requirements of the Policy 27 (Green Infrastructure).

5.304 A high quality built environment should consider the amenity of both existing and future
development and consideration should be given to matters of privacy, outlook, natural lighting,
ventilation, as well as local climatic conditions. Indoor and outdoor space, including private and
communal gardens, should be provided as appropriate in order to support a reduction in health
inequality and the promotion of healthy lifestyles. Spaces should be designed to be accessible and
safe to all users, including people with sensory and cognitive issues as well as reduced physical
mobility. The design and layout of open and amenity spaces should be flexible and explore
opportunities for community food growing space where appropriate to support the creation of healthy
communities and improve wellbeing.

5.305 There are many occasions when alterations and extensions are proposed to buildings, both
domestic and business premises. Extensions and/or alterations that are sympathetically designed,
do not detract from the character of the area and have no adverse effect on the amenity of neighbours
in accordance with Policy 32 (Amenity and Pollution) will be approved.

5.306 Street furniture and materials within the public realm should be robust and hard wearing to
ensure their longevity. Wherever possible materials and equipment should be selected from standard
palettes to ensure cost effectiveness and ease of replacement and maintenance. As a general rule
the public realm should be free from clutter and feature surfaces that are level and avoid high reflectivity
and contrasting patterns as these can present difficulties for some users, including the elderly, those
with dementia and similar conditions.

5.307 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) acknowledges the role of planning in
improving health. Examples include ensuring healthy living environments for people of all ages which
support social interaction, encourage active travel and access to green open space and safe places
for active play and food growing. As our population ages, development should also consider the
needs of those users who are not in good health, for example those with sensory or mobility
impairments. It is important therefore that developers should consider the health needs of the local
community when designing and delivering new development and neighbourhoods so that they create
inclusive, health-promoting buildings and communities (for example making them dementia
friendly(104)).

5.308 A Health Impact Assessment demonstrating the health credentials of a proposal will be
required in support of all large development schemes(105). For smaller developments, evidence will
be required to highlight how the development reflects the health needs of the local population.

5.309 High quality development should be achieved through a robust and collaborative design
process from inception to completion on the ground. The design process should go beyond the
development construction phase and should also ensure suitable management arrangements and
maintenance regimes are put in place. The Design and Access Statement, that accompanies planning
applications should demonstrate how development proposals contribute to the appropriate criteria

103 Including the Durham County Council Highways Design Guide For Residential Development
104 Guidance notes are available from the Alzheimers Society: https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/get-involved/dementia-friendly-communities
105 100 dwellings or more, employment sites 10ha and over

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019174

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 424



set out within this policy and within established best practice guidance (e.g. Building for Life 12, By
Design, Urban Design Compendium, Manual for Streets, Streets for All, Secured by Design, Active
Design, Neighbourhoods for Life, etc.).

Energy and Resources

5.310 The built environment accounts for over half of the UK’s CO2 emissions, through both
construction and use. It is essential to meet both national and local targets to ensure that new
development does not overly increase this burden. Development must therefore target Zero Carbon
Buildings through energy efficiency and include renewable and low carbon energy technologies to
mitigate carbon dioxide emissions.

5.311 New development should seek to minimise the use of resources, including energy, water
and materials by minimising waste and encouraging recycling. This should apply both during
construction and the lifetime of the completed development. For proposals that are likely to generate
significant volumes of waste through the development or operational phases it will be useful to include
a waste audit as part of the application. Incorporating energy minimisation and solar optimisation
within the overall design and layout of developments can also contribute to this aim.

5.312 Renewable energy technologies will be encouraged on-site. Where opportunities for viable
installations have been identified, it is expected that such installations would go forward as part of
the development. Major developments will also be required to connect to an existing or approved
district energy scheme where viable opportunities exist. Developments in off-gas areas usually use
oil or LPG as their main heating fuel which is both expensive and carbon intensive. New development
in these areas will therefore be required to utilise renewable and low carbon technologies as their
main heating source.

5.313 NPPF is clear that new development should help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions
including through its location, orientation and design. Any local requirements for the sustainability of
buildings should reflect the government’s national technical standards. While there has been some
confusion and uncertainty about what can and cannot be done at the local level to raise the
sustainability of new build homes, particularly for energy and carbon, a Written Ministerial Statement
in March 2015 confirmed that local authorities can continue to set energy performance standards
higher than building regulations, up to the equivalent of Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 'until
commencement of amendments to the Planning and Energy Act 2008’. The powers to amend the
2008 Act have not been enacted.

5.314 The council haschosen to require higher standards and major new build residential
development will be expected to achieve reductions in CO2 emissions of 10% below the Dwelling
Emission Rate (DER) against the Target Emission Rate (TER) based on current building regulations
(106). This can be achieved entirely through energy efficiency measures, for example through enhanced
insulation, glazing, 'airtightness' and high efficiency heating, Solar PV and hot water heat recovery.
Major residential schemes will also be encouraged to adopt the Home Quality Mark accreditation
scheme to ensure that wider sustainability measures are incorporated. This would help house builders
to promote high quality homes and at the same time give householders the confidence that their new
home is well designed and built and cost effective to run. Major non-residential schemes can also
contribute to achieving reductions in emissions, and should achieve a BREEAM rating of 'Very Good'
as a minimum. A Sustainability Assessment will be required setting down how schemes meet these
requirements.

106 2013 edition of the 2010 Building Regulations (Part L) at the time of publication

175Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 425



Building for Life

5.315 Building for Life 12 (BfL) (107) is a government endorsed industry standard for well-designed
homes and neighbourhoods. BfL seeks to address the concerns of local communities by setting
standards which developers have to meet in order to achieve planning approval. BfL incorporates a
scoring system which is used to assess the performance of a scheme against a list of 12 questions.
These refer to topics such as car parking, design of streets, legibility, local character and access to
facilities and public transport amongst others.

5.316 The council has incorporated the BfL Standards into a design review process which has
been operating since 2016. This process has now been formalised within the council's Building for
Life Supplementary Planning Document which is out for final consultation alongside the Plan. Applicants
will need to provide evidence of how their development performs against each question to enable a
conversation about the design of new schemes between the applicant and the local planning authority.

5.317 The process uses the BfL traffic light system (green, amber, red) to assess quality. Schemes
should secure as many ‘greens’ as possible, whilst minimising the number of ‘ambers’ and avoiding
‘reds’. A red gives warning that a particular aspect of a development needs to be reconsidered.
Applicants at the pre-application stage should address any ‘reds’ before progressing to formal planning.
Where schemes score 'ambers' and ‘reds’ at the formal application stage the council will provide
advice on amending the proposal. If an applicant cannot demonstrate that they have done enough
to address improvements in line with review findings then the scheme will not be supported. Schemes
with one or more red will not be acceptable and will be refused planning permission unless there are
significant overriding reasons.

Density

5.318 Density is part of the design process and it is essential that imaginative design solutions are
encouraged to achieve appropriate density levels. Developments should make efficient use of land
and resources by achieving higher densities (i.e. 30 plus dwellings per hectare) in locations with good
access to public transport and facilities.

5.319 Lower densities may be more appropriate in response to the prevailing existing character of
a site, in smaller settlements or to provide a range and choice of housing. The density of development
should be a product of a robust site assessment which responds positively to the county's exceptional
environmental quality.

Residential Internal Space Standards

5.320 The amount of space in a home influences how people live, impacting on their health and
wellbeing. Providing homes of sufficient size to allow residents ‘room to grow’ is a critical part of
delivering sustainable communities. The government has set Nationally Described Space Standard
(NDSS) (108) which reflect the need for sufficient indoor space to ensure homes meet typical day to
day needs at a given level of occupation. These standards address internal space within new dwellings
across all tenures, including both market and affordable. They also cover minimum floor areas and
room widths for bedrooms, minimum floor to ceiling heights and minimum floor areas for
storage. Evidence (109) shows that many new homes across the country are being built below the
recommended NDSS minimum size standards. Our own evidence (110) also shows that many new
homes in the county are being built below NDSS having an impact on the quality of life of residents.

107 http://www.designcouncil.org.uk/resources/guide/building-life-12-third-edition
108 Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard, March 2015
109 The Case for Space, RIBA, September 2011
110 Housing Internal Space Standards LINK

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019176

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 426



As a result of this evidence the council has therefore determined that it is necessary to introduce the
NDSS in County Durham. All housing schemes will therefore be expected to apply the standards
unless they can demonstrate to the council that they would render the scheme unviable.

Residential Amenity Standards

5.321 A high quality built environment should consider the amenity of both existing and future
residents and consideration should be given to matters of privacy, outlook, natural lighting, ventilation,
as well as local climatic conditions. The council's new draft Residential Amenity Standards
Supplementary Planning Document sets down standards for alterations, extensions and distances
between new dwellings. This is being consulted upon alongside the Plan.

Public Safety

5.322 Safety and crime prevention are key elements of sustainable places and developments.
The incorporation of design and security measures which reduce opportunities for crime will be
supported and developers are encouraged to seek further advice on this from Durham Constabulary
at the earliest opportunity in the design process. Similarly, the incorporation of sprinkler systems to
aid fire safety within new developments will be supported.

5.323 Where appropriate, development should promote public safety and take into account wider
security and defence requirements. Proposals should anticipate and address possible malicious
threats and natural hazards especially in locations where large numbers of people are anticipated to
congregate and to incorporate mitigation within the design at an early stage. Whilst the following list
is not exhaustive, particular focus should be given to transport hubs, cinemas and theatres, sports
stadia and arenas, shopping centres, health and education establishments, places of worship, bars,
hotels and restaurants, visitor attractions, commercial centres, government buildings, critical
infrastructure and venues deemed to be of note.

5.324 Through working in partnership with Durham Constabulary at a pre-application stage the
layout and design of these types of developments can be informed with most up to date information
and intelligence available. Developments should consider all recommended mitigation options so
that appropriate and proportional steps can be taken to reduce vulnerability, increase resilience and
ensure public safety and security.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Density of new housing schemes on allocated and windfall sites.

2. Proportion of housing schemes which are put forward for Building for Life 12 accreditation
achieve it.

3. Schemes receiving one or more red scores through internal Building for Life design review.

Target:

1. 30 dwellings per hectare and where applicable the allocation yield.

2. 100%.

3. Zero.

177Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 427



Promoting Healthy Communities

5.325 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that the planning system can play
an important role in facilitating interaction and creating healthy, safe and inclusive communities. This
Plan seeks to embed health and wellbeing considerations throughout to achieve healthy places with
safe, accessible and inclusive environments for people to come together. It is also necessary to
deliver the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services that communities need to facilitate
active and healthy lifestyles such as through the provision of appropriate green infrastructure.

5.326 Many people in County Durham today live in different social circumstances and experience
avoidable differences in health, well-being and length of life. Improving the health of the whole
population and reducing health inequalities is key. Good health is central to people’s happiness and
wellbeing. It is important at an individual and social level, as it creates social and economic value.
Alternatively, the cost of poor health can be measured in both human terms – lost years of life and
active life, and in economic terms – the cost to the economy of additional illness. Research does
seem to consistently report that the majority of our health outcomes are explained by factors other
than healthcare.

5.327 There is a clear relationship between the local economy and health. Improved local economies
can provide access to employment, which may then provide access to better housing or health
promoting activities. While ‘good work’ is linked to positive health outcomes, insecure and poor quality
employment is associated with an increased risk of poor physical and/or mental health, from conditions
caused by work that in turn lead to absence due to illness, and worklessness.

5.328 Transport helps people access work, education, social networks and services that can
improve their health. The type of transport can also have a positive outcome on health such as
impacting upon air quality, levels of physical activity, noise pollution, and road traffic injuries. People’s
health is affected by the nature of their physical environment; the quality of their housing, what kind
of neighbourhood they live in, whether they have access to good quality green spaces, access to a
good quality food environment or places for children to play. Living close to areas of green space –
parks, woodland and other open spaces – can improve physical and mental health. Access to green
space is associated with a decrease in health complaints such as blood pressure and cholesterol,
reduced stress levels and perceived better general health. It can also encourage social contact,
provide space for physical activity and play and improve air quality.

5.329 Communities are important for physical and mental health and well-being. The physical
environment and the social characteristics of communities, can combine to promote healthy behaviours
and contribute to our health. Neighbourhoods are places where people live, work, and play and have
a sense of belonging and their design can contribute to improving health. The walkability and mixed
land use can provide opportunities for social engagement and active travel. Neighbourhoods can
shape our day-to-day decisions and therefore have a significant role in improving the health behaviours
of our whole population.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019178

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 428



Hot Food Takeaways

Policy 31

Hot Food Takeaways (A5 Uses)

Within sub-regional, large town, small town and district centres (as defined in Policy 10 (Retail
Hierarchy and Town Centre Development) and as shown on the policies map), in order to minimise
the potential detrimental impacts of hot food takeaways, planning applications for A5 uses will
only be approved where the proposal would not result in more than 5% of the premises within
the centre being in A5 use.

Within defined local centres consideration should be given to the impact that the proposed A5
use would have in terms of the overall vitality and viability considering the numbers of existing
A5 uses and will be refused if the impact is unacceptable.

In order to promote healthy lifestyles in young people, proposals for A5 uses outside of defined
centres but within 400 metres of an existing or proposed school or college building will not be
permitted.

Where a proposed A5 use is considered locationally acceptable, consideration will need to be
given to the impact that the development would have in terms of amenity, particularly in relation
to noise and odours. Where it is considered that the proposal would give rise to unacceptable
impact, the application should be refused.

5.330 Reducing levels of obesity is a key objective of the council. One way this can be achieved
is to encourage healthy eating. Large concentrations of hot food takeaways within our town centres
can have the opposite effect by encouraging unhealthy eating habits. An over-concentration of hot
food takeaways can also have a detrimental impact on vitality and viability. They can also give rise
to concerns about noise, disturbance, odours, parking and litter and are likely to be considerations
in the determination of any planning application. In assessing proposals within town centres,
consideration will therefore be given to the detrimental impact that an over-provision of A5 uses may
have.

5.331 An assessment (111) has been carried out of the numbers of A5 units within our town centres.
This has identified that some have relatively high existing numbers of A5 uses within them ranging
from 1.6% in Peterlee to 9.3% in Shildon. It is considered that a threshold of 5% is appropriate to
ensure a diverse mix of uses within our centres. If a proposal would exceed this threshold, in terms
of number of units. it will not be permitted, this will include units that are vacant but have planning
permission for A5. Seven centres (Consett, Ferryhill, Crook, Newton Aycliffe, Seaham Spennymoor
and Shildon) already have more than 5% of units as hot food takeaways, therefore no further A5 uses
would be permitted in these centres.

5.332 The nature of our local centres in terms of their size and function means that the application
of a 5% threshold is not appropriate in assessing such applications. In assessing proposals for A5
uses within local centres, consideration should be given to the impact that such a proposal would
have on the overall vitality and viability of the centre, considering the mix of uses and also the levels
of existing vacancies.

111 Link to town centre surveys

179Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 429



5.333 The council has carried out an assessment of Fast Food and its Impact on Health(112) which
looks at the density of fast food outlets in County Durham. This provides evidence of a correlation
between the density of fast foods outlets and obesity levels amongst children within locations in the
county. As the promotion of healthy eating amongst young people is a key national and local priority
it is reasonable to limit the number of hot food takeaways close to schools and colleges. Therefore
proposals for A5 uses outside of retail centres but within a five to ten minute walking distance of the
school, equating to 400 metres radius, will not be permitted.

5.334 It should be noted that this policy does not apply to proposals where a hot food takeaway
use would be ancillary to the main use proposed.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Percentage of units within Sub Regional, Large Town, Small Town and District centres in
use or with planning permission for A5 (hot food takeaways).

Target:

1. A5 not increasing to or exceeding 5%.

112 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019180

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 430

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


Amenity and Pollution

Policy 32

Amenity and Pollution

Development will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable
impact, either individually or cumulatively, on health, living or working conditions or the natural
environment and should be integrated effectively with any existing business and community
facilities. The proposal will also need to demonstrate that future occupiers of the proposed
development will have acceptable living and/or working conditions. Proposals which will have
an unacceptable impact such as through overlooking, visual intrusion, visual dominance or loss
of light, noise or privacy will not be permitted unless satisfactory mitigation measures can be
demonstrated whilst ensuring that any existing business and/or community facilities do not have
any unreasonable restrictions placed upon them as a result.

Development which has the potential to lead to or be affected by unacceptable levels of air
quality; inappropriate odours; noise and vibration or other sources of pollution, either individually
or cumulatively, will not be permitted including where any identified mitigation cannot reduce the
impact on either the environment, amenity of people or human health to an acceptable level.

Development which does not minimise light pollution and demonstrate that the lighting proposed
is the minimum necessary for functional or security purposes will not be permitted.

Sensitive development (such as housing, schools and hospitals) will not be permitted near to an
existing or potentially polluting development including waste water and sewage treatment facilities.
Potentially polluting development will not be permitted near to sensitive uses unless satisfactory
mitigation can be demonstrated.

5.335 Planning has an important role to play in making sure that new and existing development
does not have, and is not at risk from, pollution or nuisance which could unacceptably impact upon
the health, living conditions or the natural environment including water quality. The National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out that new development needs to be appropriate for its location
taking into account the likely effects of pollution on health and living conditions including the sensitivity
of the site or wider area to impacts. The purpose is to ensure that new development can be integrated
effectively with existing businesses and other community facilities (such as places of worship, pubs,
music venues and sports clubs). Existing businesses and facilities should not have unreasonable
restrictions placed on them due to development permitted after they were established. Proposals
which have the potential to impact on the general amenity and health of people either living or working
near a proposal will need to demonstrate that there will be no unacceptable impact.

5.336 Development can have the potential for unacceptable impact on the environment and/or
people and this can be during all stages of development including construction. This could include
air quality, dust, odour, noise and vibration or light and can be of particular significance where they
affect the amenity and health of people. Particular attention needs to be paid to any identified sensitive
uses such as housing, schools and hospitals or the environment such as sensitive species and
habitats.

181Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 431



5.337 The council's Validation Checklist will set out which applications will be required to be
supported by an assessment of amenity and pollution. Best practice and guidance materials should
be considered in the assessment of relevant development proposals together with relevant Technical
Advice Notes for dust, lighting, noise and odour. The assessments are necessary to identify any
sources of pollution will be required together with any appropriate mitigation measures where relevant.

Air Quality

5.338 The planning system can play an important role in the improvement of air quality. Whether
or not air quality issues are relevant to a planning decision will depend on the proposed development
and its location. In determining a planning application, the development's likely effect, either directly
or indirectly, on air quality will be considered. This will be particularly important in areas which have
been designated as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA).

5.339 There are currently two AQMAs in County Durham, one from Stonebridge to the junction of
Dragon Lane and Sunderland Road together with short sections of Claypath and New Elvet in Durham
City and a small area at Pelton Fell Road in Chester-le-Street. Airborne pollutants will therefore need
to be minimised in these areas, to ensure that development proposals do not prejudice the
implementation of an Air Quality Action Plan to reduce the specified pollutants. Proposals for sensitive
land uses (including residential, education and hospitals) in areas exposed to air quality concentrations
above the National Air Quality Strategy objectives must take into account the need to reduce exposure
by applying the mitigation hierarchy: separation by distance; external layout; internal layout and
suitable ventilation. Major planning and development schemes within an AQMA and surrounding
areas will need to be assessed to determine any impact on air quality and showing any ameliorating
design measures.

5.340 In addition to reducing impacts on human health, development should not result in the
deterioration of protected habitats and species. In addition major development proposals that are
likely to increase air pollution in the vicinity of a Natura 2000 site (or a site of equivalent value), either
directly or indirectly through, for example an increase in vehicular traffic, will be subject to a Habitats
Regulation Assessment in accordance with Policy 43 (Internationally Designated Sites).

Dust

5.341 The assessment of the impact of dust pollution, both during the construction and operational
phase of development, will need to consider the impact on air quality from emissions of PM10
(Particulate Matter below 10 microns) and PM2.5 (Particulate Matter below 2.5 microns) and the
potential for visible dust emissions to give rise to unacceptable amenity impacts or to a statutory
nuisance to neighbouring sensitive receptors. Dust monitoring may need to be carried out where dust
generating activities are to be carried out close to neighbouring sensitive properties. The onus for
carrying out the monitoring should normally fall with the operator. The results of monitoring will need
to be examined in relation to established ambient background levels.

Odour

5.342 The location of development in areas where there is a sensitive use (including residential,
education and hospitals) which may be unacceptably impacted on by odour emissions from new
development or changes to existing development should be dealt with through the design of the
development and the planning stage rather than needing to seek to abate a statutory nuisance under
Environmental Protection legislation. Having quantified the degree of risk of odour emissions from
the development then consideration can be given to the mitigation measures included in the policy.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019182

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 432



Light Pollution

5.343 Light pollution is artificial light that illuminates areas that are not intended to be lit. The
intrusion of overly bright or poorly directed lights can cause glare, wasted energy, have impacts on
nature conservation, and affect people's right to enjoy their property. It can also severely affect our
view of the night sky. Light pollution may also damage the perception of a heritage asset in its setting,
especially if the asset is experienced at night or is floodlit. The NPPF is clear that planning policies
should limit the impact from light pollution on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes, and nature
conservation, primarily through promoting and requiring good quality design.

5.344 Development proposals with the potential to result in unacceptable levels of light pollution,
either individually or cumulatively with other proposals, should be accompanied by an assessment
of the likely impact to show that the lighting scheme is the minimum necessary for functional or security
purposes and that is minimises potential pollution from glare and spillage. Particular attention will be
paid to areas where tranquillity and dark skies are valued and may also be sensitive to light pollution,
such as theWorld Heritage Site, North Pennies Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, open countryside,
within the setting of heritage assets close to sensitive uses or to areas or features important for nature
conservation.

Noise Pollution

5.345 Noise pollution is noise created by man-made sources which, if excessive can cause
disturbance or annoyance and negatively affect wildlife and sensitive areas including areas known
for their tranquillity. It often occurs as a result of industrial operations, transportation or roads. Good
planning should aim to prevent the adverse effects of noise from being unacceptable, as stated in
the NPPF. This includes the siting of development that generates noise and development that is
sensitive to noise. Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) clarifies that noise is a complex technical issue
and that it is necessary to identify whether the overall effect of noise exposure is, or would be, above
or below the significant observed adverse effect level and the lowest observed adverse effect level
for the given situation.

5.346 It will be necessary to determine the impact of noise producing sources on prevailing ambient
background levels and achievement of the World Health Organisation’s recommended maximum
noise levels in residential areas. Development proposals will be unacceptable where any resulting
noise from new development would constitute a Statutory Nuisance under Part III of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990 or where the noise impacts, although not sufficient to constitute a Statutory
Nuisance, would nonetheless have an unreasonable adverse effect on amenity.

5.347 The impact from potential noise producing sources is dependent on the type and scale of
the development proposed. This, in turn, will govern the type of noise assessment that will be
necessary.

Sensitive Uses

5.348 Development of sensitive uses within close vicinity of an existing potentially polluting
development(113) such as a waste water treatment or sewage works are likely to be considered
inappropriate development as it is likely to lead to amenity issues such as odour, noise and vermin
and potentially statutory nuisance. This can also be an issue in areas where speculative development
of sensitive uses such as housing, can lead to the loss of land for expansion of existing waste water
facilities. Therefore careful consideration, in consultation with the necessary bodies, must be given
to the proximity of sensitive receptors, the likelihood of complaints and any implications on health.

113 Whilst a 'buffer' is difficult to determine as cases will differ, 200 metres is considered a reasonable distance to identify potential issues.

183Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 433



5.349 Adverse effects can sometimes occur beyond 200metres however whether an assessment is
required will be a matter of judgement. (114)

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

114 Northumbrian Water Limited currently produce a factsheet 'Building near to Sewage Treatment Works' which specifically deals with
noise and odours and the potential for statutory nuisance.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019184

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 434



Despoiled, Degraded, Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable Land

Policy 33

Despoiled, Degraded, Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable Land

Development will not be permitted unless the developer can demonstrate that:

a. any existing despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated or unstable land issues can be
satisfactorily addressed by appropriate mitigation measures prior to the construction or
occupation of the proposed development;

b. the site is suitable for the proposed use, and does not result in unacceptable risks which
would adversely impact on the environment, human health and the amenity of local
communities; and

c. all investigations and risk assessments have been undertaken by an appropriately qualified
person.

5.350 New development can provide an opportunity to address the risk associated with despoiled,
derelict, degraded, contaminated or unstable land by bringing about its improvement through
remediation.

5.351 Despoiled land is land which has been affected through the removal of material assets i.e.
mineral resources which have affected the condition of the land. Degraded land is land that has lost
some degree of its natural productivity due to human-caused processes. Derelict land is land that
has become damaged by industrial or other development possibly with the remains of previous
buildings and structures upon it. Such land requires remediation to make it suitable for a new land-use.
Within County Durham significant areas of these types of land have previously been subject to
remediation by the council following the closure of the coal mines and other heavy industries.

5.352 Contaminated land can be regarded as any land which is in such a condition by reason of
substances in, on or under the land, that it can cause a risk to human health, property or the wider
environment. Contaminated land can arise from a number of sources typically associated with some
types of industrial and manufacturing uses such as gas, coke, chemical and steel works. While it is
more likely to arise in former industrial areas, it can also occur in other locations including in the
countryside.

5.353 The effects of land instability may result in landslides, subsidence or ground heave. Failure
to deal with land stability issues could cause risk to human health, local property and associated
infrastructure, and the wider environment. Within County Durham the principle issue which relates
to ground instability relates to past coal mining. Large parts of County Durham have been identified
by the Coal Authority as 'Development High Risk Areas' and 'Development Low Risk Areas' due to
the known occurrence of coal mining legacy issues and related hazards. In these areas, coal mining
legacy issues have the potential to create unstable land and risks to surface development and it is
essential for developers to demonstrate that new development will be safe and stable(115).

115 Please refer to the Map A - Coal Mining Legacy Map in the policies map document. This map shows the extent of the 'Development
High Risk Areas' and 'Development Low Risk Areas' in County Durham. Further information about the Coal Authority's Risk Based
Approach can be found on the Coal Authority's website: http://coal.decc.gov.uk/en/coal/cms/services/planning/strategy/strategy.aspx.

185Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 435

http://coal.decc.gov.uk/en/coal/cms/services/planning/strategy/strategy.aspx


5.354 When new development is proposed it is essential that the developer undertakes
investigations and risk assessments and undertake any necessary remedial measures to ensure that
any despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land issues are satisfactorily addressed.
The possibility of contamination and stability issues should always be considered when the proposed
development introduces vulnerable end uses, such as housing.

5.355 Where land is contaminated or there is reason to believe contamination could be present
the council will adhere to the Yorkshire and Humberside Pollution Advisory Council technical guidance
on contaminated land(116). In line with current best practice all aspects of investigations into possible
land contamination should follow the guidelines within CLR11Model Procedures for the Management
of Land Contamination (Environment Agency 2004). Investigations will also need to consider the
possibility that new pollution pathways may be introduced as a result of development activities, such
as piling, drain laying and trenches for services and that new receptors may be introduced by the
development proposed. Following remediation contaminated land should be suitable for the proposed
use, and as a minimum, it should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land under
Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

5.356 Where there is reason to believe that land stability is an issue which must be taken into
account in the determination of a planning application, a slope stability or land stability risk assessment
will be required. In particular, where there is reason to believe that unstable land could be present
due to coal mining legacy issues a Coal Mining Risk Assessment Report will be required to be
submitted either as part of the planning application, or subsequently via condition whereby the council
will consult the Coal Authority unless the development is exempt. There may also be a need for
appropriate mitigation measures to ensure that there will be no future ground instability and public
safety issues arising from the development. Within the rest of the coalfield the Coal Authority's Standing
Advice will apply(117).

5.357 Despoiled, derelict, degraded, contaminated or unstable land can sometimes contain land
of value to both the natural and built environment including habitats or species of nature conservation
value and features of historical interest. In addition substantial parts of the county are above
groundwater aquifers, and therefore development proposals should not create a pollution pathway
into any potential water supply. A careful balance will need to be made in many cases between the
benefits of remediation and the harm to other interests. Sufficient information will be needed at the
planning application stage to ensure the impacts on the natural and built environment are fully
understood.

5.358 It is recognised that remediating and mitigating despoiled, derelict, degraded, contaminated
and unstable land may add substantially to the difficulty and cost of developing land. Consequently,
the viability of development where there are high remediation costs will be a factor which will be taken
into account.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of eligible schemes that are supported by an appropriate assessment.

Target:

116 Development on Land Affected by Contamination - Technical Guidance for Developers and Landowners and Consultants has been
adopted for use by the County Council.

117 Guidance on Coal Mining Risk Assessments are set out in Appendix B.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019186

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 436



1. 100%.

187Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 437



Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal Change

5.359 One of the objectives of the Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS) is to mitigate the impact
of, and adapt to climate change. Addressing climate change is of importance for sustainable
development and a key priority of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). We therefore
need to encourage the prudent use of non-renewable resources, contribute to reducing emissions
and stabilising climate change (mitigation) and take into account the unavoidable consequences
(adaptation). However, addressing climate change is multi-faceted and cannot be addressed through
a single policy or plan. Reducing carbon emissions and adapting to the effects of climate change
therefore underpin every aspect of planning and help support regeneration and improve the health
and quality of life of everyone in County Durham. Climate change mitigation and adaptation must
therefore be integrated throughout the Plan.

5.360 The NPPF sets out a positive approach in order to secure radical reductions in greenhouse
gas emissions. It is made clear that decisions should be taken in line with the 2008 Climate Change
Act, which has the provision to reduce carbon dioxide emissions by 80% by 2050 and by 34% by
2020. We have gone further and want to reduce emissions by 40% by 2020 and by 55% by 2030(118).
The NPPF also states that development should avoid increasing vulnerability to a range of impacts
arising from climate change including flood risk, coastal change, water supply and changes to
biodiversity and landscape.

5.361 The Plan can make a major contribution to mitigating and adapting to climate change by
shaping new and existing developments in ways that reduce carbon emissions and positively build
community resilience to problems such as extreme heat or flood risk. It can do this by ensuring that
new development is located to reduce the need to travel and support the fullest possible use of
sustainable transport. It should be designed in a way that limits carbon dioxide emissions, uses
decentralised and renewable or low carbon energy and minimises vulnerability to future climate
impacts.

118 http://durhamcc.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/archive/

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019188

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 438

http://durhamcc.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/archive/


Renewable and Low Carbon Energy

Policy 34

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy

Renewable and low carbon energy development in appropriate locations will be supported. In
determining planning applications for such projects significant weight will be given to the
achievement of wider social, environmental and economic benefits.

Proposals should include details of associated developments including access roads, transmission
lines, pylons and other ancillary buildings. Where relevant, planning applications will also need
to include a satisfactory scheme to restore the site to a quality of at least its original condition
once operations have ceased. Where necessary, this will be secured by bond, legal agreement
or condition.

5.362 We will seek to contribute to reducing our energy dependence on external sources and
encourage the development of an ever widening range of renewable energy schemes. To increase
awareness of these schemes we will continue to form working partnerships with academic and
industrial associations.

5.363 The development of renewable sources of energy makes a valuable contribution to tackling
the rate of climate change, enabling us to live in a more sustainable manner, and helps to reduce
our reliance on fossil fuel derived energy provision from abroad. We recognise the wide ranging
opportunities for accessing renewable energy that exist within County Durham and will seek to make
full use of those opportunities. However, their exploitation must be carefully weighed against the need
to protect our unique built and natural environment and heritage assets.

5.364 The Energy Act 2013 sets out the legislative framework for delivering secure, affordable and
low carbon energy. In addition, the Clean Growth Strategy (2017), promotes ambitious economic and
environmental policies to mitigate climate change and deliver clean, green growth. The document
sets out the government’s commitment to meet 15% of the UK energy demand from renewable
resources by 2020 and that this overall obligation includes three sub-targets: 30% in electricity, 12%
in heat and 10% in transport. Nonetheless MPs on the Energy and Climate Change Committee have
warned that, on its current course, the UK will fail to achieve its 2020 renewable energy targets.

5.365 County Durham has the capacity for a wide range of renewable energy schemes which may
allow us to exceed the 15% target baseline set by the government, subject to environmental constraints
and the impact on communities. Currently there is in excess of 200MW of renewable electricity
operational or approved in County Durham. Any such figure is a snapshot in time and will constantly
change over the period of the Plan.

5.366 Whilst most renewable technologies currently within the county are electricity generators
such as wind and solar photovoltaics (PV), renewable heat technologies form an essential part of
our carbon reduction strategy, with solar thermal panels, biomass and heat pumps potentially having
a substantially positive impact by displacing fossil fuels used for heating and hot water. Further
opportunities include the potential to utilise the significant deep geothermal resource inWeardale and
along the Butterknowle Fault and to investigate the use of mine water as potential sources of low
carbon heating in appropriate areas. We are also engaged in examining the potential for low carbon

189Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 439



district energy within Durham City. We will continue to work with partners to investigate and drive
forward emerging and innovative opportunities around low carbon and renewable energy technologies
as we seek to move to a secure, low carbon society and economy.

5.367 We will continue to work with and support businesses, communities and individuals who
wish to develop their own renewable or low carbon scheme, especially those communities in rural
areas not connected to the gas network. Community benefits associated with renewable energy
schemes can help to give a community a sense of ownership and address their concerns over
development. Wewill consider the community benefits attached to developments, such as the provision
of local employment, community funds and cheaper local electricity rates to alleviate fuel poverty
where the community fund or other benefits are directly related to the development. In some cases
the benefits to the community may be more direct for instance when a renewable energy scheme is
a community-led initiative, again this will be considered when determining a proposal.

5.368 The restoration of sites once operations have ceased also needs careful consideration.
Where relevant, planning applications should clearly set out the length of time that the development
will be in place. Some developments will also have conditions attached to their planning permission
imposing a time limit and requiring the restoration of the site. In addition, a restoration or performance
bond may be required to ensure that the site is appropriately restored post decommissioning.
Restoration means that all development, including ancillary infrastructure, footings and access tracks
should be removed from the site and any soils and vegetation restored, to ensure the land is returned
to the condition it was in before the development. The generic provisions of this policy especially in
relation to associated development and restoration apply to all renewable energy developments
including the development of wind turbines. Other specific issues relating to the development of
conventional wind turbines are covered by Policy 35 (Wind Turbine Development).

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Energy generated from renewable sources (GWh).

Target:

1. Increase above the baseline figure (2018) (529.21 GWh).

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019190

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 440



Wind Turbine Development

Policy 35

Wind Turbine Development

Wind turbine development will only be permitted in the areas identified as suitable for development
on the policies map and where the applicant is able to demonstrate that, following consultation,
those planning-related impacts identified by any affected local communities have been fully
addressed and that the proposal has their backing. In those circumstances, planning permission
will be granted unless:

a. there would be unacceptable harm, individually or cumulatively, to the amenity of local
communities or nearby residents, due to noise, traffic or visual intrusion;

b. in respect of the visual amenity of individual residential properties, any proposed turbine
would be located at a distance of less than 6 times its overall height of the property, unless
it can be demonstrated that it would not be overbearing;

c. in respect of shadow flicker, any proposed turbine would be located at a distance of less
than 10 times its rotor diameter of a susceptible dwelling house, community facility or
workplace, unless it can be demonstrated that shadow flicker would not occur, or would be
prevented from occurring;

d. there would be unacceptable harm individually or cumulatively to important species or
habitats(119);

e. there would be unacceptable harm individually or cumulatively to the character of the
landscape;

f. there would be any adverse impacts on radar and other aviation and navigation systems
which are not capable of being acceptably mitigated ;

g. there would be an unacceptable adverse impact on TV reception, communications links or
telecommunications systems which is not capable of being acceptably mitigated;

h. there would be unacceptable harm either individually or cumulatively to the significance of
a heritage asset or its setting; or

i. any proposed wind turbine would be located within topple distance plus 50 metres or its
height x1.5 (whichever is the lesser) of a Motorway, Trunk Road or Railway line or topple
distance plus 10% of an A, B or C class road, or if its blades would over-sweep a public
right of way.

Neighbourhood Plans

In addition to the areas identified in this Plan, permission will be granted for wind turbine
development where it is in an area clearly identified as suitable for such development in a
Neighbourhood Plan, and the development meets the other provisions of this policy(120). Support

119 For some species, this may include functionally linked land.
120 This does not preclude the necessity for Environmental Impact Assessment and other site specific environmental assessment.

191Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 441



will also be given to community-led initiatives for renewable and low carbon energy, including
developments outside areas identified in local plans or other strategic policies that are being
taken forward through neighbourhood planning.

Extensions and Alterations to Existing Wind Turbine Development

Extensions to existing wind farms will be supported provided that the proposals are in keeping
with the character of the existing development and meet the other provisions of this policy.

Proposals to re-commission or re-power wind turbine development will be supported provided
that the development meets the other provisions of this policy, taking full account of the effects
of the extended timescale.

In the case of localities containing more than one wind turbine development, proposals for an
integrated approach to the design and phasing of their re-powering will be supported.

Wind Turbine Development Affecting the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty (AONB)

Small scale wind turbine development(121)within the AONB will be permitted in the suitable areas
identified on the policies map for its benefits to the economy, rural communities and wider
environment provided that it meets the other provisions of this policy.

Wind turbine development outside of the AONB which has an unacceptable impact on views
within the AONB, or important views of the AONB, will not be permitted. Wind turbine development
affecting the Yorkshire Dales National Park will be subject to the same considerations.

5.369 Wind energy makes up the majority of operating renewable energy generating capacity within
the county (around 68% of operational and approved capacity). Recent changes in government policy
and support mechanisms for wind development have led to a reduction in the number of new proposals
for larger scale schemes coming forward but there continues to be some interest from this sector,
and particularly for single turbines. The Plan identifies areas that are suitable for different scales of
wind energy development and criteria against which all applications will be assessed.

5.370 Considerable new capacity for wind energy has been developed in County Durham over the
last ten years. At January 2016, over 142 MWh(122) of installed capacity was operational or permitted.
This equates to around 281 GWh per annum (assuming a 22% load factor) which represents over
14% of the County's overall electricity use or 35% of its household electricity use. The majority of
this, and all of the commercial scale development, is within areas which were identified as BALC (123).

5.371 Current government policy(124) is that local authorities should only grant planning permission
for wind energy development involving one or more turbines if the development site is in an area
identified as suitable for wind energy development in a local or Neighbourhood Plan. This applies to
development of any scale requiring planning consent. If any further development of wind energy is
to be accommodated in the county, it is therefore necessary for the Plan to identify suitable areas.

121 Turbines of 25 metres or less.
122 Megawatt electric; electric output of a power plant in megawatts. The electric output of a power plant is equal to the thermal overall

power multiplied by the efficiency of the plant.
123 Broad Areas of Least Constraint identified in the studies carried out by ARUP on behalf of the North East Assembly.
124 http://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-vote-office/June%202015/18%20June/1-DCLG-Planning.pdf

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019192

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 442

http://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-vote-office/June%202015/18%20June/1-DCLG-Planning.pdf


Suitable Areas

5.372 The suitability of an area to accommodate wind energy development in its various forms,
from small scale single turbines to wind farms of larger turbines depends on a number of factors. The
Wind Turbine Evidence Paper(125) contains a county-wide analysis of the main technical and
environmental factors that can constrain the potential for the development of turbines of different
sizes. This is not exhaustive, dealing only with those constraints that can be readily mapped at a
strategic scale. The size ranges used in the analysis were based on development proposals that
have come forward in the area in recent years:

Small - 11-25 metres in height;

Small-Medium - 26-40 metres in height;

Medium - 41-65 metres in height;

Medium-Large - 66-100 metres in height; and

Large - 100-136 metres in height.

5.373 TheWind Turbine Evidence Paper also contains a landscape sensitivity study which analyses
the potential sensitivity of different landscape types and character areas to wind energy development
in these size ranges and the cumulative effects of any existing development in those areas. This was
informed by the County Durham Landscape Character Assessment(126). The Wind Turbine Evidence
Paper explores a range of alternatives for identifying suitable areas for wind energy development
having regard to landscape sensitivity, the mapped technical and environmental constraints, and the
cumulative effects of existing development.

5.374 This analysis informed the identification of suitable areas for wind energy development of
different sizes shown on the policies map document. Height is measure to blade tip. Suitable areas
for small (11-25m) and small-medium (26-40m) turbines are identified as relatively extensive tracts
of land. These areas are considered to be broadly suitable for the development of turbines in those
size ranges subject to site-specific factors which will need to be assessed on a case by case basis.
Suitable areas for medium and larger turbines (>41m) are identified as point symbols relating to
existing turbines in that size range. These are indicative of the areas in which the re-commissioning
of, or extension to, existing developments would be likely to be acceptable, subject again to site
specific factors and informed by the landscape sensitivity study.

Assessment of Proposals

5.375 In the development of wind turbine applications, positive, proactive and meaningful
engagement with the affected communities will be expected from an early stage. From 17 December
2013, pre-application consultation with local communities became compulsory for the 'more significant'
onshore wind applications(127). Current government guidance also states that local authorities should
only grant planning permission for wind energy development involving one or more turbines if, following
consultation, it can be demonstrated that the planning impacts identified by affected local communities
have been fully addressed and therefore the proposal has their backing. Whether the proposal has
the backing of the affected local community is a matter of planning judgement and will be made on
a case by case basis.

125 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
126 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
127 By virtue of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure and Section 62A Applications (England)

(Amendment) Order 2013 (SI 2932). This is for onshore wind development involving more than two turbines or any turbine with a
hub height exceeding 15 metres height and should be in line with our Statement of Community Involvement (SCI).

193Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 443

https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


5.376 A number of issues influence the location of wind turbine developments and the acceptability
of planning application proposals. Key issues to be considered include: residential amenity in respect
of visual impact, noise, and shadow flicker; biodiversity, ecology and ornithology; highways; heritage;
aviation; Public Rights of Way; landscape and visual impacts; impacts on designated landscapes
such as the North Pennines AONB; and impacts upon TV reception and telecommunications links.

5.377 Due to their operation wind turbines create noise. Government guidance is clear on the
methodology to be used to assess wind turbine development(128). The council take seriously the
potential for noise impacts from all forms of new development on local communities and those working
in the vicinity.

5.378 While there is no right to a view, the effects of large moving structures in close proximity to
a residential property can be overbearing. This will depend partly on measurable factors such as
scale and proximity, partly on contextual factors such as the screening effects of terrain, buildings or
vegetation, the orientation of the windows of habitable rooms or garden areas, and partly on the
subjective response of the individual viewer. Contextual factors can be assessed on a case by case
basis but we believe that in order to give some certainty to developers and those whomay be affected
by development, it is useful to establish at what kind of distance range in open views it is likely to
consider a tall structure to be overbearing. We accept that any figure given for this will be a point on
a continuum rather than an obvious threshold on which there will be a high degree of consensus. In
identifying a figure of six times tip height we have had regard to past decision-making, both our own
and those of a range of planning appeal decisions. The vast majority of the 180 turbines currently
operating or approved within the county are in excess of that distance from the nearest non-involved
property.

5.379 Shadow flicker is the effect caused when an operating turbine is located between the sun
and a receptor, such as a dwelling or place of work. The effect occurs when the shadow of the rotating
blades falls over the dwelling causing the light intensity within affected rooms to fluctuate. Shadow
flicker can be controlled either passively, by maintaining an appropriate distance from a susceptible
property, typically around 10 times the diameter of the rotor, or actively by installing management
systems which shut down a turbine during periods when shadow flicker could occur. Although this
issue is routinely dealt with well in larger scale developments, proposals continue to come forward
for smaller developments where the potential for shadow flicker has not been assessed or where
reference is made to acceptable levels of shadow flicker based on standards from other countries.
There is no UK standard for acceptable levels of shadow flicker. We believe that shadow flicker can
and should be avoided, either by passive or active means, and that developments which fail to do so
should not be permitted.

5.380 All wind turbine applications will be subject to and must be compliant with other relevant
policies within the Plan and any other relevant planning documents. All turbine applications will require
an adequate level of ecological survey and assessment including up to Environmental Impact
Assessment level when required. Any ecological data submitted in support of a turbine application
will need to be compliant with all relevant protected species and habitats legislation including
groundwater habitats. Ecological surveys submitted in support of turbine applications will need to be
compliant with the most up to date industry guidance in terms of timing, survey nature, duration and
content and must provide a comprehensive assessment of the biodiversity value of the site as well
as a clear understanding of all impacts on biodiversity the application may have. This may mean that
surveys and assessments will have to extend outside of the application area when it is necessary to
provide comprehensive data and to comply with legislation.

128 The National Planning Practice Guidance section on Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Paragraph 015 Reference ID:
5-015-20140306 states that 'The Assessment and Rating of Noise from Windfarms' (ETSU-R-97) should be used, and that the
Institute of Acoustics good practice guidance on noise assessment is recognised as a supplement to ETSU-R-97 and is industry
good practice.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019194

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 444



5.381 In relation to the impact on designated and non-designated heritage assets, proposals should
not cause substantial harm to the significance of such assets including their setting unless such harm
is proven necessary to secure significant public benefits. Proposals which result in less than substantial
harm would be weighed against the public benefits of the development. Opportunities to mitigate
harm and enhance understanding of the historic environment will be encouraged. The potential impact
of proposals within the identified Suitable Areas will be assessed on a case by case basis, through
the development management process.

5.382 In the case of aviation, any adverse impact upon radar, either civil or military, should be
avoided, and mitigation should be agreed with the airport or operator involved. Wind energy
development can cause issues with regard to airspace and radar, and the UK has a densely populated
airspace. This can lead to objections on radar grounds from a variety of sources from the Royal Air
Force, Ministry of Defence to NATS (National Air Traffic Control Services) and the airports themselves.
The council will work with developers to reach positive solutions where possible with the objectors
concerned. In addition to air traffic radar, wind turbines may affect other types of systems such as
weather radar operated by the Meteorological Office, and seismological recording equipment. It is
important to mitigate these effects and regard should also be had to Policy 30 (Safeguarded Areas).

5.383 The identification of stand-off distances from highways and footpaths is based on both the
risk of harm and the consequences of harm. Highways England/Department for Transport (DfT)(129)

recommend that commercial turbines should be set back a distance equal to their height plus 50
metres or their height x 1.5, whichever is the lesser from motorways and trunk roads. It is considered
that this should also apply to railway lines for safety. Stand-off distances of topple height distance
(THD) (130) to blade tip plus 10% are generally observed for other public highways. We consider this
to be an appropriate set back for A class (non-trunk), as well as for B and C class roads. In situations
where it is impossible to achieve this distance from minor roads, where the risks of harm are lower,
nacelle/hub components should generally be outside THD to the highway. Turbines are considered
to pose a very low risk to users of public rights of way. A set back equivalent to the area over-swept
by the rotor blades prevents footpath users from being intimidated by the moving structure.

5.384 Due to their operation wind turbines can interfere with telecommunication links and TV
reception. Early consultation should be sought with the Office of Communications, who hold a central
register of all civil radio communications operators in the UK and act as a central point of contact for
identifying specific consultees relevant to a site. We believe that any impact on telecommunications
systems can and should be avoided, and that developments which fail to do so should not be permitted.

5.385 As tall moving structures wind turbines inevitably dominate their immediate visual environment
and can be prominent features in wider views. Where wind farms or scattered single turbines are
developed in proximity to each other they can create more extensive tracts of what are sometimes
described as ‘wind farm landscapes’. The potential cumulative effect of existing and new wind turbines
on the character of the landscape has informed the selection of Suitable Areas. The approach taken
has been to seek to avoid the further extension or coalescence of existing wind farm landscapes and
to avoid a substantial intensification of development in those areas. It is nevertheless likely to be the
case that areas where development has taken place in the past will be the best places to locate
development in future should the need arise. Where carefully considered, extensions to, or re-powering
of, existing wind farms can be done without unacceptable additional effects, and this has been
demonstrated as part of a masterplanning exercise this should be supported. Wind development is
a temporary use of land and its impacts are assessed on that basis. The de-commissioning of wind
turbines and the restoration of the site are generally secured by condition. In determining whether to
extend the life of development through re-powering care will need to be taken to ensure that the
effects of the extended timescale are fully considered.

129 DfT Circular 02/2013 'The strategic road network and the delivery of sustainable development' (2013).
130 Topple distance is the fall over distance.

195Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 445



5.386 England’s AONBs vary in their character and in their sensitivity to different forms of
development. Conserving the relative wildness and remoteness of the North Pennines landscape is
fundamental to the purposes of its designation. This wildness, coupled with the openness of the
landscape and high degree of inter-visibility across the high ground of the AONB where much of the
better wind resource lies, makes it highly vulnerable to the impacts of wind energy development. The
sensitivity analysis contained in the TheWind Turbine Evidence Paper identifies relatively widespread
sensitivity to small-medium and larger scales of turbine in the AONB, but also identifies lower sensitivity
in some areas to small turbines (<25 metres). Potentially suitable areas for small scale development
within the AONB are identified on the policies map. While identified as suitable for turbines up to 25
metres range, in many cases the appropriate scale for turbines in these landscapes will be towards
the lower end of the assessed scale (11-25 metres) rather than the maximum of 25 metres.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

2. Renewable energy capacity of approved and completed schemes.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

2. Increasing trend above the baseline figure (2011).

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019196

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 446



Water Management

Policy 36

Water Management

Flood Risk and Sustainable Drainage Systems

All development proposals will be required to consider the effect of the proposed development
on flood risk, both on-site and off-site, commensurate with the scale and impact of the development
and taking into account the predicted impacts of climate change for the lifetime of the proposal.
This includes completion of a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) where appropriate. Development
will not be permitted unless:

a. in the functional floodplain (flood zone 3b), as identified in the Strategic FRA, it is water
compatible or essential infrastructure;

b. in flood zones 2 and 3a it passes the Sequential Test, and if necessary the Exceptions Test,
as required by national policy; and

c. it can be proven through a FRA that the development, including the access, will be safe,
without increasing or exacerbating flood risk elsewhere, any residual risk can be safely
managed and where possible will reduce flood risk overall(131).

Regarding Surface Water Flood Risk:

d. for major developments (132) the management of water must be an intrinsic part of the overall
development;

e. on all new development there is no net increase in surface water runoff for the lifetime of
the development. Where greenfield sites are to be developed, the runoff rates must not
exceed and where possible should reduce the existing greenfield runoff rates(133). On
previously developed land, as close as practicable to a greenfield rate must be achieved.
In exceptional cases where the developer can satisfactorily demonstrate that greenfield
run-off rates are unachievable, a betterment rate (which should be a minimum of 50% of
the existing site run-off rate) will be agreed with the council(134). Surface water run-off must
be managed at source wherever possible and disposed of in the following order:

1. To an infiltration or soak away system.

2. To a watercourse open or closed.

3. To a surface water sewer.

4. To a combined sewer.

131 In flood zone 1 an FRA will only be required for sites over one hectare, where it has been identified as being within in a critical
drainage area or where proposed development or a change of use to a more vulnerable class may be subject to other sources
of flooding.

132 See Glossary for definition.
133 Existing greenfield run off rates for different areas in the county are set out in the Surface Water Management Plan 2011.
134 In line with the County Durham Surface Water Management Plan 2011 and the Durham County Council Sustainable Drainage

Systems (SuDS) Adoption Guide 2016 or any subsequent iterations

197Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 447



Disposal to combined sewers should be the last resort once all other methods have
been clearly explored and evidenced;

f. part of the development site is set aside for surface water management and uses measures
that do not increase flood risk elsewhere. These measures will supplement green
infrastructure networks, thereby contributing to mitigation of climate change, water quality and
flooding as an alternative to, or complementary to, hard engineering;

g. where sites may be susceptible to over land flood flows (as shown in the Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment) or lie within a Surface Water Risk Area (as shown in the Surface Water
Management Plan) then developers must put adequate protection in place;

h. the development incorporates a Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS) to manage surface
water drainage. Where SuDS are provided arrangements must be put in place for their
whole life management and maintenance. Where appropriate SuDS should contribute to
the provision of Green Infrastructure and biodiversity net gains; and

i. all new development with culverts running through the site must seek to de-culvert
watercourses for flood risk management and environmental benefit, unless it can be clearly
demonstrated that this is not practical.

Where improvement works are required to ensure that the drainage infrastructure has sufficient
capacity to support proposed new development, developer contributions will be required in
accordance with Policy 26 (Developer Contributions).

Water Quality

The quantity and quality of surface and groundwater bodies shall be protected and where
possible enhanced. All commercial, industrial and major residential development must
demonstrate control of the quality of surface water runoff during construction and for the lifetime
of the development. New development will be required to incorporate appropriate water pollution
control measures.

Development adjacent to, over or in a watercourse should consider opportunities to improve the
river environment and water quality.

Development which could adversely affect the quality or quantity of surface or groundwater, flow
of groundwater or ability to abstract water will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated
that no adverse impact would occur or mitigation could be put in place to minimise this impact.

How will the policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of water bodies which show Water Framework Directive improvement as a direct
consequence of new development.

2. Percentage of major developments which include SuDS.

Target:

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019198

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 448



1. An increasing trend.
2. 100%.

199Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 449



Water Infrastructure

Policy 37

Water Infrastructure

Disposal of Foul Water

In the consideration of development proposals, the hierarchy of drainage options that must be
considered and discounted for foul water are (in the following order):

1. Connection to the public sewer;

2. Package sewage treatment plant (which can be offered to the Sewerage Undertaker for
adoption(135);

3. Septic Tank (which must drain into an appropriate soak away and not discharge directly
into a watercourse).

Applications involving the use of non-mains methods of drainage (including Septic Tanks/Cess
Pits) will not be permitted in areas where public sewerage exists.

Sewage and Waste Water Infrastructure

Proposals for new or extensions/improvements to existing water treatment, waste water, sludge
or sewage treatment works will be permitted, unless the adverse impact of development outweighs
the need for greater capacity and other benefits.

Flood Defence Infrastructure

Proposals for additional flood defences will be permitted only where it can be demonstrated that
the proposal represents the most sustainable response to a particular threat and demonstrates
long term maintenance can be achieved.

Proposals which seek to mitigate flooding, create natural flood plains or seek to enhance and/or
expand flood plains in appropriate locations will be permitted.

5.387 The water environment is vital for its contribution to the county’s biodiversity and is important
to the quality of life of people both within and outside the county. Development must be within
environmental limits and carefully consider how the water environment will be affected. Howwastewater
can be safely disposed of, the protection of vulnerable aquifers (including Environment Agency
designated Drinking Water Protected Areas (DrWPAs) and Groundwater Source Protection Zones
(136)and the prevention of increased flooding are key considerations in developing sustainable
communities.

135 Package plants must comply with the Sewers for Adoption standards in order for them to be adopted.
https://www.nwl.co.uk/business/dev-sewerage-services.aspx

136 EA mapping can be accessed via https://magic.defra.gov.uk/MagicMap.aspx

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019200

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 450

https://www.nwl.co.uk/business/dev-sewerage-services.aspx
https://magic.defra.gov.uk/MagicMap.aspx


5.388 The Environment Agency is the regulator for licensing abstractions, pollution control and the
quality of the water environment, whilst Northumbrian Water Limited (NWL) is responsible for water
services and sewerage. The council has been working closely with the Environment Agency and
NWL, and we will continue to collaborate with them and other infrastructure providers to inform future
decision making.

5.389 The council as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), is responsible for developing,
maintaining and applying a strategy for local flood risk management and for maintaining a register of
flood risk assets. We also have lead responsibility for managing the risk of flooding from surface
water, groundwater and all watercourses that are not classified as a main river (which are the
responsibility of the Environment Agency).

5.390 As the LLFA, we are a statutory consultee for surface water flood risk on all sites and ensure
that the proposed drainage system applies the principles of the surface water management train and
meets the National Standards for Sustainable Drainage 2011(137) covering design, construction,
operation andmaintenance. The council will consider adopting SuDS onmajor developments providing
they meet specific design and maintenance criteria, as set out in the Durham County Council
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) Adoption Guide, which also provides guidance on applying
the surface water management train(138).

5.391 The Water Cycle Study (WCS)(139) was carried out to ensure that the growth envisaged for
the county can be supported and is not hindered by water infrastructure and resources. This has
informed the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) as well as allocations in this Plan. Water shortage is
a great concern in relation to climate change, however the WCS identifies that due to the presence
of Kielder Reservoir, Northumbrian Water is confident that "both of the Company's water resource
zones have a supply surplus across the full planning period to 2060".

5.392 The Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA)(140)provides an overview of the areas
susceptible to flooding and the risk posed by flooding from rivers, the North Sea, groundwater and
surface water runoff. The SFRA assessed the risk at the time it was prepared, as well as the increased
risk from a number of factors including a changing climate and the construction of new development.
It is also necessary to take into account updated Environment Agency flood maps which may include
changes to flood zones 2 and 3, which have occurred since the SFRA was completed together with
up to date climate change allowances.

5.393 The Surface Water Management Plan (SWMP)(141) contains more detail and informs and
interacts with the Plan by giving action plans and priorities for each area, in line with our proactive
approach to flood risk and climate change. It identifies SurfaceWater Risk Areas (SWRAs) and has an
action plan for these and other issues. Additional attenuation measures are required within these
areas including decreasing the volume of surface water entering the combined sewer system by
managing this on-site or disposing to a watercourse where flood risk would not be increased. The
removal of surface water from combined sewers has two benefits - the reduction in downstream
sewer flooding risk and the reduction in unnecessary treatment of surface water at sewage treatment
works (thereby increasing available capacity). The majority of SWRAs are in the east of the county
or around the urban conurbations. Critical Drainage Areas have also been identified and development
in these areas will need careful consideration including a Flood Risk Assessment where appropriate.

5.394 It is acknowledged that over the life time of the Plan, groundwater levels in some areas will
increase, due to wetter climates and changes to mine water pumping regimes. The Coal Authority in
partnership with the Environment Agency has developed a groundwater screening tool which seeks

137 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/82421/suds-consult-annexa-national-standards-111221.pdf
138 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
139 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
140 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
141 https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

201Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 451

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/82421/suds-consult-annexa-national-standards-111221.pdf
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/
https://durhamcc.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


to raise awareness of a variety of mining and groundwater constraints which could affect development
and to influence the type of SuDS which may be used, to ensure they are appropriate and effective,
both now and in the future. This screening tool has been introduced to provide developers and
competent authorities with a better understanding of the drainage implications they will need to
consider within new development proposals, and if necessary to seek pre-consultation advice with
the Coal Authority and/or the Environment Agency. The screening tool is currently part of a North
East pilot and is being tested by Local Authorities and Northumbrian Water Group which will be
reviewed in 2019. The mapping and guidance document can be found on the Coal Authority
webpage. (142)

5.395 The River Tyne, Wear and Tees Catchment Partnerships were established under Defra's
Catchment based approach in 2014. The partnerships include representatives from a range of
organisations, including the Environment Agency, Local Authorities, Northumbrian Water, the Rivers
Trusts as well as a number of other stakeholders. Their purpose is to support flood management,
environmental enhancement and water quality improvement at a catchment scale. This allows partners
to work collaboratively across administrative boundaries, avoid competing for resources and maximise
the benefits of projects being delivered on the ground. This approach is welcomed and encouraged
when looking at wider flood risk implications and mitigation opportunities. More information about the
role of the Partnerships and current project delivery can be found on their respective websites. (143)

Flood Risk

5.396 In County Durham flood risk is mainly fluvial, from rivers and watercourses, although we are
seeing increasing events of surface and ground water flooding due to climate change and development
pressure. The SFRA assesses all sources of flood risk including fluvial, surface water, ground water,
sewer and highway drainage flooding. National policy is clear that planning policy should minimise
vulnerability and provide resilience to impacts arising from climate change and avoid inappropriate
development in areas at risk of flooding, which is primarily done through sequential/exception testing
in line with National Planning Practice Guidance. Where there is the possibility of any flood risk to a
proposed development site, or the potential for flood risk impact on other sites, a site-specific Flood
Risk Assessment will be required, once it has passed the sequential and exception test. The sequential
test can also be used to inform site layout by locating the most vulnerable elements of a development
in the lowest risk areas as well as building in resilience into a site's design for example through raised
floor levels or dry pedestrian access routes.

Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)

5.397 Green infrastructure can be an important flood management and flood mitigation mechanism
as well as providing benefits for communities, wildlife, biodiversity, ecological networks and helping
to reduce the impact of climate change. Similarly SuDS can make a contribution to the green
infrastructure provided on a site. If surface water is removed from combined sewers it increases their
capacity, therefore reducing the risk of sewer flooding downstream and reducing the unnecessary
treatment of surface water at sewage treatment works (thereby increasing available capacity). This
is particularly important to development proposed in key SWRAs, as identified in the SWMP.

5.398 SuDS and green infrastructure can also prevent pollution by filtration of surface water run-off
thereby contributing to improvements in the quality of watercourses in line with legislation thereby
contributing to theWater Framework Directive objectives. The Northumbria River Basin Management
Plan prepared by the Environment Agency is the key over-arching source of information on the water
environment including the condition of water bodies and measures to help meet Water Framework

142 http://mapapps2.bgs.ac.uk/coalauthority/home.html
143 http://www.tynecatchment.org , http://www.wear-rivers-trust.org.uk/ and http://teesriverstrust.org/.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019202

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 452

http://mapapps2.bgs.ac.uk/coalauthority/home.html
http://www.tynecatchment.org
http://www.wear-rivers-trust.org.uk/
http://teesriverstrust.org/


Directive objectives. (144) Developers will be encouraged to explore how SuDS within their scheme
can achieve reductions to wider catchment flood risk issues where possible. This reduction in flow
rate is termed by the industry as ‘Betterment’.

5.399 SuDS developments in the south east of the county may fall within the aerodrome safeguarding
zone as detailed in Policy 29 (Safeguarded Areas). Proposals within this zone will need to consider
the risk of potential bird strikes and choose appropriate SuDS techniques which will minimise any
risks.

Water Quality

5.400 It is important to consider the protection of water resources from pollution particularly when
assessing any development that has the potential to adversely affect water quality either above or
below ground, directly or cumulatively. The Magnesian Limestone Principal Aquifer underlies the
eastern part of the county and is a source of drinking water for both NWL and Hartlepool Water
Company. It is therefore vital that this resource is protected. Pollution can affect groundwater for
many decades and may be impossible to remove completely, even after the source of the pollution
has been cleared up. The NPPF requires pollution prevention in new and existing development. Water
quality assessments will be required for any physical modifications to a watercourse or any
development which could adversely affect water bodies. Where appropriate, management plans will
be required to demonstrate sufficient pollution prevention measures, including maintenance
arrangements for agreed measures, have been incorporated into the development proposals. This
can include commercial enterprises which discharge trade effluent or where potentially polluting
materials are to be used/stored either during redevelopment works or as part of the new land use i.e.
use of tanks to store chemicals or fuels.

5.401 Where development is in close proximity to a watercourse then opportunities to improve the
river environment and water quality should be explored. This could include naturalising watercourse
channels, improving the biodiversity and ecological connectivity of watercourses, safeguarding and
enlarging river buffers with appropriate habitat or mitigating diffuse agricultural and urban pollution.

Sewage and Waste Water Infrastructure

5.402 NWL is the supplier of water and sewerage services for the county, looking after around 136
sewage treatment works. Changes in population distribution and economic growth over the Plan
period will increase demand on sewage treatment and the disposal of waste water. We have been
working closely with NWL and the Environment Agency to ensure there is adequate and timely
provision of treatment works in areas identified for growth in the Plan. This is a key part of the IDP
and the detail is contained in theWCS. In addition to these roles, once 'Sewers for Adoption 8' comes
into effect in 2019 regulatory Water and Sewerage Companies, in addition to the LLFA, will be able
to adopt SuDS going forward. The LLFA will remain a statutory consultee in relation to surface water
flood risk.

5.403 Priority should be given, where possible, to accommodate any additional flows within existing
sewage treatment works. Where new sewage treatment works are required there will need to be a
balance between meeting higher discharge standards, the environmental benefits of the development
and the protection of the existing environment and amenity.

5.404 Non-mains drainage systems, such as package treatment plants and septic tanks should
only be employed in non-sewered areas. Where they are required, careful consideration of their
siting and design will be required to ensure that there is no adverse impact upon ground water, water
quality or existing ecosystems. It is advised that any new development proposing the use of a

144 Emerging evidence from the Woodland Trust and Manchester University states that the planting of trees or woods in the right
locations can bring about improvements in water quality of 90% and can also help alleviate certain types of flooding.

203Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 453



non-mains foul drainage system should be supported by a Foul Drainage Assessment (FDA1) as a
mimimum. The form provides the information required to assess the development's impact, however
in certain instances further justification and/or assessment may be required to ensure no detriment
to the environment or quality of receiving water bodies.

5.405 Policy 32 (Amenity and Pollution) highlights that sensitive receptors, such as dwelling houses,
should not be built in close proximity to existing sewage treatment works as this is likely to lead to
amenity issues arising. A buffer has been provided in the policy to overcome these issues.

5.406 Increased demand for sewage treatment and higher water quality standards will mean that
in the future there will be additional sludge (a by-product of the process) to be disposed of. Proposals
for the recovery of sludge to produce beneficial end products will be encouraged where they can be
located without significant adverse effects on local communities or the environment.

5.407 Whilst this policy is applicable to all forms of development, a policy addressing the specific
requirements for Minerals and Waste proposals (the disposal of sewage sludge) will be contained in
the future Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Development Plan Document. The policy
approach to the Durham Coast is addressed separately in Policy 39 (Durham Coast and Heritage
Coast).

Works Carried Out To or Near a Watercourse

5.408 Any works carried out to, or near, a watercourse, either open or closed, may require Water
Course Consent from the LLFA. Works within eight metres of a main river will require a Flood Risk
Activities Permit from the Environment Agency.

5.409 Any culverting, de-culverting or works affecting the flow of a watercourse require the prior
written consent of either the Environment Agency (for main rivers), or the council (for ordinary
watercourses) under the terms of the Land Drainage/Water Resources Act 1991 and Flood andWater
Management Act 2010. These regulatory bodies seek to avoid culverting and their consent for such
works will not normally be granted except as a means of access.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of major developments permitted where connection to a mains sewer is not possible
and an alternative solution has not been secured.

Target:

1. Zero.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019204

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 454



Durham Heritage Coast and Wider Coastal Zone

Policy 38

Durham Heritage Coast and Wider Coastal Zone

The council will seek to protect and enhance the Durham Heritage Coast and wider Coastal
Zone. Development proposals within the Durham Heritage Coast or wider Coastal Zone, as
defined on the policies map, or that have the potential to individually or cumulatively impact on
their setting must:

a. be appropriate in terms of scale, massing and design;

b. not give rise to adverse impacts upon the tranquil or isolated character of the area;

c. not increase the risk from climate change, flooding, erosion or land instability;

d. demonstrate consistency with the protection, conservation and enhancement of its natural
assets and heritage features; and

e. not be inconsistent with the purposes of the Heritage Coast and objectives of the Heritage
Coast Management Plan.

Development proposals within, or within the setting of, the Durham Heritage Coast or wider
Coastal Zone which meet the above criteria and support appropriate public access, enjoyment
and understanding of this resource will be permitted. Small scale proposals for agriculture,
forestry, fisheries, the operation of the port or to meet community needs will be supported where
appropriate.

Other types of development within, or within the setting of, the Durham Heritage Coast or wider
Coastal Zone will only be permitted where they meet criteria (a) to (e) above and it can be clearly
demonstrated that there are overriding social, environmental and/or economic benefits which
will be derived from that particular proposal and that it cannot be accommodated outside of the
coastal zone. Major development within the defined Durham Heritage Coast is unlikely to be
appropriate, unless it is compatible with its special character.

The council will also support:

appropriate enhancement, management and restoration of the Heritage Coast and wider
Coastal Zone having regard to the Heritage Coast Management Plan; and

the extension of the Durham Heritage Coast to include the area around Dene Mouth,
Blackhall.

5.410 The coastline of County Durham is a unique asset which comprises distinctive bays and
headlands carved from the magnesian limestone and overlying clays unique to this area. The Durham
coast stretches over 17 kilometres from the border with the City of Sunderland at Ryhope Dene in
the north to Hartlepool south of Crimdon Dene. The majority of the area up to one kilometre inland

205Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 455



from the cliff edge is undeveloped other than the port and coastal town of Seaham and Crimdon
Caravan Park where development extends to the high water mark. It is this undeveloped area which
contributes to the special character of the Heritage Coast.

5.411 The Durham coast is internationally important for nesting and migratory birds and rare
limestone grasslands, almost its entire length is designated as SAC, SSSI, SPA or Ramsar. Important
species present include the Purple Sandpiper, Little Tern and the Durham Argus butterfly.

5.412 The limits of the wider Coastal Zone extend both seaward and landward from the coastline,
reflecting the geographical extent of natural coastal processes and also human activities related to
the marine environment. For the purposes of planning on the coast, the wider Coastal Zone is defined
as the area of land between the mean low water mark on the seaward side and the coastal railway
line, from the county boundary with Hartlepool to Hawthorn Junction south of Dawdon. To the north
of this point, the wider Coastal Zone is defined as the cliff line as far as the Seaham Hall car park
and then the B1287, as shown on the policies map. Development proposals in this area should only
be undertaken on the basis of maintaining and enhancing its environmental capital in accordance
with the principles of the Marine Policy Statement and other principles of sustainable development.
Development proposals relating to minerals and waste will be assessed through the appropriate
minerals and waste policies which recognise the importance and level of protection afforded to this
area.

5.413 The main purposes of the Heritage Coast are:

to conserve, protect and enhance the natural beauty of the coastline, their terrestrial, coastal
and marine flora and fauna and their heritage features;

to encourage and help the public to enjoy, understand and appreciate these areas;

to maintain and improve the environmental health of inshore waters affecting heritage coasts
and their beaches through appropriate environmental management measures; and

to take account of the needs of agriculture, forestry and fishing, and of the economic and social
needs of the small communities on the coast.

5.414 Coastal management and planning is a strategic issue which requires an integrated approach.
This is more formally termed Integrated Coastal Zone Management (ICZM). Accordingly the council
works closely with partners and neighbouring planning authorities and the Marine Management
Organisation (MMO) in planning and managing the coastal area. Decisions that affect or might affect
the UK marine area must take into account the MMO's licensing requirements and should comply
with the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 and any relevant adopted Marine Plan or UK Marine
Policy Statement (MPS) to ensure the necessary considerations are included in the decision making
process. There is further guidance on the MMO website, including the emerging North East Marine
Plan, access to the marine information system and the Planning Advisory Service soundness
self-assessment checklist.

5.415 The entirety of the Durham coastline has been assessed by the Shoreline Management Plan
2(145)as being at no significant risk of coastal change other than the specific area referred to as Red
Acre Cliffs (near the Londonderry building, Seaham). National policy is clear that the planning system
should reduce risk from coastal change by avoiding inappropriate development in vulnerable areas
or adding to the impacts of physical changes to the coast.

145 River Tyne to Flamborough Head (SMP2).

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019206

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 456



5.416 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Marine and Coastal Act (2009)
require local authorities to maintain, enhance and protect the character of the undeveloped coast,
especially where it is defined as Heritage Coast. In this regard strict control of development up to the
edges of the delineated coastal zone is of particular importance in preserving its special setting and
in maintaining views out of the coastal area. Regard should be had to the principles of landscape
and seascape character assessment as development adjacent to the coastal zone is a key factor
which impacts upon its quality and the visitor experience. This is particularly important for the setting
of the Heritage Coast and also the possibility of development affecting processes on the coast or
increasing flood risk.

5.417 The Durham Heritage Coast Partnership delivers improvements to the coast via the Durham
Heritage Coast Management Plan, which has recently been updated, and aims to balance
enhancement with conservation, whilst taking account of the economic and social needs of the area.
It is important that the type and location of recreational activities is sympathetic to the sensitive habitats
and species which thrive there. In particular, the presence of protected bird species will constrain
certain forms of development in this location. The Partnership is also currently seeking to extend the
Heritage Coast status for the Denemouth area of Castle Eden Dene.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

2. Status of proposed extension of Heritage Coast around Dene Mouth.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

2. Completed by 2035.

207Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 457



Conserving and Enhancing the Natural and Historic Environment

5.418 County Durham's environment and well-being are fundamental to the quality of life of the
people who live and work in the county and to the success of its economy. Environmental
considerations are therefore fundamental to all policy areas addressed in the Plan. The quality and
diversity of the built, historic and natural environment are amongst the county's major assets.

5.419 County Durham has a wealth of attractive natural and historic assets which present unique
opportunities for residents, businesses and visitors. The Plan must therefore successfully balance
the protection and enhancement of these assets with the requirement for new development to meet
our need for new homes and jobs. New development in and around our historic towns and villages
must complement their built heritage and natural landscapes. Across the county development pressures
must not compromise the natural and historic assets that make them attractive and valuable.

5.420 TheNational Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning policies should contribute
to and enhance the natural and local environment and recognises the intrinsic character and beauty
of the countryside, seeks to protect and enhance valued landscapes, minimise impacts on and
providing net gains for biodiversity and reduce the risks of pollution, land instability and contamination.

A Positive Strategy for the Historic Environment

5.421 The NPPF also requires the council to have a positive strategy for the conservation and
enjoyment of the historic environment. This strategy is contained in a number of policies throughout
the Plan including Policy 46 (Historic Environment) and Policy 31 (Sustainable Design in the Built
Environment).

5.422 The strategy also relates to the actions that the council has committed to undertaking including:

The adoption of conservation area character appraisals and management proposals for all of
the county's 93 conservation areas. These will be kept under review and where appropriate
additional areas included or existing areas de-designated;

Targeting areas and properties which are identified through character appraisals and seeking
to influence change in a proactive way, wherever opportunities arise;

Supporting the improved condition of Heritage at Risk through identifying and facilitating works,
resources and providing advice and where appropriate using powers of enforcement and repair;

Taking considered and timely enforcement action to protect designated heritage assets where
unauthorised works have taken place;

Managing, promoting and delivering an annual partnership programme of Heritage Open Days;

Developing proposals for external bidding;

Contributing to the revised Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site Management
Plan;

Improved curation and accessibility of the county's Historic Environment Record (HER);

Ongoing partnership working including Heritage Action Zones and Landscape Partnership;

Community engagement including cultural activities;

Public realm investment;

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019208

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 458



Tackling heritage crime; and

Local listing of parks and gardens.

209Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 459



North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty

Policy 39

North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty

The North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) will be conserved and enhanced.
In making decisions on development great weight will be given to conserving landscape and
scenic beauty.

Major developments(146) will only be permitted in the AONB in exceptional circumstances and
where it can be demonstrated to be in the public interest, in accordance with national policy.

Any other development in or affecting the AONBwill only be permitted where it is not, individually
or cumulatively, harmful to its special qualities(147) or statutory purposes.

Any development should be designed and managed to the highest environmental standards and
to have regard to the conservation priorities and desired outcomes of the North Pennines AONB
Management Plan, and to the guidance given in the North Pennines AONB Planning Guidelines
and the North Pennines AONB Building Design Guide as material considerations.

5.423 Large parts of the North Pennines are designated as an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
(AONB). The Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 places a statutory duty on public bodies to
have regard to the purpose of conserving and enhancing natural beauty when discharging any function
which could affect land in an AONB, and reaffirms the purposes of designation as follows:

The primary purpose of designation is to conserve and enhance natural beauty;

In pursuing the primary purpose of designation, account should be taken of the needs of
agriculture, forestry, other rural industries and of the economic and social needs of local
communities. Particular regard should be paid to promoting sustainable forms of social and
economic development that in themselves conserve and enhance the environment; and

Recreation is not an objective of designation, but the demand for recreation should be met so
far as this is consistent with the conservation of natural beauty and the needs of agriculture,
forestry and other uses.

5.424 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) confirms that AONBs, along with National
Parks and the Broads, have the highest status of protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty.
It states that great weight should be given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in AONBs,
and that the conservation of wildlife and cultural heritage are also important considerations in these
areas. Therefore the scale and extent of development within the AONB should be limited. The NPPF
also sets out the considerations which need to be assessed as part of any major development
application in order to demonstrate that the proposal is in the public interest and there are exceptional
circumstances for the proposal to be located within the AONB.

146 As defined in the Glossary.
147 Information on the special qualities of the AONB can be found in the North Pennines AONB Management Plan.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019210

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 460



5.425 The North Pennines AONB is the second largest AONB in the United Kingdom, covering
almost 2,000 square kilometres. Approximately one third of the AONB lies within County Durham,
the remainder lying within Cumbria and Northumberland and a small part in North Yorkshire. The
North Pennines is acknowledged to be one of England's most remote, wild and tranquil places, with
nationally and internationally important landscapes, biodiversity, geodiversity and cultural heritage,
dark skies free of light pollution and little artificial noise. 36% of the AONB is designated SSSI, and
the area includes 30% of England's blanket bog and 40% of the UK's upland hay meadows. The
North Pennines holds a significant stock of natural capital and provides a wide range of ecosystem
goods and services for the county and wider society, such as carbon storage, flood risk management,
clean water, food and timber production. The whole of the AONB is also designated as a UNESCO
Global Geopark. In addition to being a landscape for which we share a national responsibility, the
AONB is an asset of great strategic importance to the county both environmentally and economically.

5.426 The AONB is a living, working landscape, its character influenced by generations of human
activity. Sustaining that character will depend on careful stewardship of the land, and careful decision
making about future development. Major development generally can and should be located outside
of AONBs. Development that meets the needs of local communities and visitors should be
accommodated provided that it protects the AONB's special qualities for the benefit of all.

5.427 This policy recognises the importance and sensitivity of the AONB and the need to conserve
and enhance it as an environmental and economic asset. It recognises that varying degrees of
protection should be afforded to international, national and locally designated sites and aims to protect
its special qualities to an appropriate degree. Policies on Renewable Energy, Minerals, Waste and
other developments including criteria for the protection of the AONB are contained in the relevant
sections of the Plan, as are policies on other environmental assets such as Biodiversity, Geodiversity
and Cultural Heritage.

5.428 The AONB is covered by a statutory Management Plan (148) produced by the North Pennines
AONB Partnership on behalf of the five relevant local authorities. This document is intended to
'formulate the policies of local authorities in relation to their AONB' (Countryside and Rights of Way
Act 2000) and it provides a framework and programme of action for the area's conservation and
enhancement. The AONB Partnership and constituent local planning authorities have also produced
a number of guidance documents including the North Pennines AONB Planning Guidelines and the
North Pennines AONB Building Design Guide(149), which give greater expression to the more
broadbrush policies in local planning documents. These documents have been endorsed by the
council and are therefore material considerations when considering development proposals. This will
include any successor or replacement documents endorsed by the council during the life of the Plan.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

148 The current Management Plan runs to 2019 however this will be replaced by the updated Management Plan, which is currently out
for consultation http://www.northpennines.org.uk/management-plan-2014-2019/

149 http://www.northpennines.org.uk/publications/north-pennines-aonb-planning-guidelines/

211Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 461

http://www.northpennines.org.uk/management-plan-2014-2019/
http://www.northpennines.org.uk/publications/north-pennines-aonb-planning-guidelines/


Landscape

Policy 40

Landscape

Proposals for new development will be permitted where they would not cause unacceptable
harm to the character, quality or distinctiveness of the landscape, or to important features or
views.

Proposals will be expected to incorporate appropriate measures to mitigate adverse landscape
and visual effects.

Development affecting valued landscapes, defined as Areas of Higher Landscape Value and
shown on Map H, will only be permitted where it conserves, and where appropriate enhances,
the special qualities of the landscape, unless the benefits of development in that location clearly
outweigh the harm.

Development proposals should have regard to the County Durham Landscape Character
Assessment and County Durham Landscape Strategy and contribute, where possible, to the
conservation or enhancement of the local landscape.

5.429 The Durham landscape is one of enormous contrast and diversity. From its western boundary
high in the summit ridges of the North Pennines, to the limestone cliffs of the North Sea coast, remote
moorlands and pastoral dales give way to fertile settled farmlands. This diversity is a product of both
natural and human influences. The varied rocks, landforms and soils of the county and differences
in climate between the exposed uplands and sheltered lowlands have influenced both the natural
flora of the landscape and the way it has been populated, managed and exploited by its people over
the centuries.

5.430 The intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside are important both to the quality of life
of local communities and the economic prosperity of the county as a whole. In the past there has
been an emphasis on identifying and protecting high quality landscapes. In recent years there has
been an increasing recognition that all landscapes matter and that their sensitivity to development
depends on their character. This character-led approach to all landscapes, of whatever quality,
whether urban or rural, built or natural, is fundamental to the European Landscape Convention, of
which the UK is a signatory. This is reflected in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
which advises that policies should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by
protecting and enhancing valued landscapes and recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of
the countryside.

5.431 The character of England's landscapes is mapped at a strategic level by Natural England
who identify 159 National Character Areas (NCA). A NCA profile, which provides descriptive material
on the character of the landscape and guidance on management, is produced for each of the six
NCAs in County Durham. Further information on landscape character is contained within a suite of
documents produced by the council. The County Durham Landscape Character Assessment (CDLCA)
provides detailed information about the character of the county's landscape at three levels, from the
strategic to the local. The County Durham and Darlington Historic Landscape Characterisation (HLC)
provides information on how the landscape has evolved over time. The County Durham Landscape
Strategy (CDLS) analyses the issues affecting the landscape and sets out objectives and priorities

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019212

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 462



for conservation and improvement. The County Durham Landscape Guidelines (CDLG) cover a range
of topics including trees, woodlands and forestry, hedges and grasslands and provide development
and land management guidelines for individual landscape types(150).

5.432 The NPPF advises that the planning system should protect and enhance valued landscapes
in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in the development plan
and that plans should distinguish between the hierarchy of international, national and local designations.
It does not provide a definition of valued landscape. One indicator of value can be designation, either
at a national or local level. Parts of the county are designated nationally as Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty (AONB) (see Policy 39 above). Outside of the AONB, parts of the county have been
identified in the past as Areas of High Landscape Value (AHLV) in local plans. The work done to
support these local designations was done some time ago and varied in its approach. The Guidelines
for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (GLVIA) (151) advise that a range of factors can help
in the identification of valued landscapes including landscape quality (condition), scenic quality, rarity,
representativeness, conservation interest, recreational value, perceptual qualities and historical
associations. The council has undertaken an assessment of the county’s rural landscapes, the County
Durham Landscape Value Assessment, which analyses how these factors contribute to their value.
This was used to inform a review of local designations, the County Durham Local Landscape
Designations Review, which identified new Areas of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV). These are
local landscapes identified as having particularly valued attributes which would benefit from additional
protection. These are defined on Map H.

5.433 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) advises that strategic policies should make
sufficient provision for the conservation and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment
including landscapes and that policies should ensure that developments are sympathetic to local
character. This policy seeks to do this by requiring that development proposals should not cause
unacceptable harm to the character, quality or distinctiveness of the landscape, or to important features
or views. Whether harm is considered unacceptable will depend partly on the significance of the
effects of development on those attributes, and partly on the extent to which the benefits of the
development outweigh that harm in the balance of considerations. These are matters that need to
be assessed on a case by case basis. The policy refers to important features and views. Important
features will include those that are particularly characteristic of, and make a notable contribution to,
the character, quality or distinctiveness of the local landscape. Important views will include notable
views of landscapes, landscape features or landmarks. These will need to be evaluated on an individual
basis.

5.434 The NPPF notes the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local
character and distinctiveness and advises that permission should be refused for development of poor
design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area
and the way it functions. Development can make a positive contribution to the landscape either directly
through its design, through off-site works, or though financial contributions supporting the delivery of
landscape improvements in the surrounding area. The CDLCA is the main source of information on
local landscape character and distinctiveness. The CDLS is the main source of information on
opportunities for improving character and quality. Parts of the county are covered by long term
landscape scale partnerships covering specific geographical areas, including the North Pennines
AONB and the DurhamHeritage Coast. There are also long standing countywide thematic partnerships
such as the County Durham Hedgerow Partnership and a number of shorter term or thematic
partnership projects, many supported by the Heritage Lottery Fund. The plans and strategies of these
partnerships can provide additional information on opportunities to improve the character and quality
of the local landscape, and can provide mechanisms for delivering off-site mitigation.

150 These documents can be found on the Durham Landscape website at http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/8748/Home
151 Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment. Landscape Institute and Institute of Environmental Management and

Assessment (2013)

213Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 463

http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/8748/Home


How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

Map 2 Broad Landscape Types

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019214

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 464



Map 3 National Character Boundaries and Landscape Conservation and Improvement Priority Areas

Trees, Woodlands and Hedges

Policy 41

Trees, Woodlands and Hedges

Trees

Proposals for new development will not be permitted that would result in the loss of, or damage
to, trees of high landscape, amenity or biodiversity value unless the need for, and benefits of,
the proposal clearly outweigh the harm. Where development would involve the loss of ancient
or veteran trees it will be refused unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable
compensation strategy exists.

Proposals for new development will be expected to retain existing trees where they can make
a positive contribution to the locality or to the development, maintain adequate stand-off distances
between them and new land-uses, including root protection areas where necessary, to avoid
future conflicts, and integrate them fully into the design having regard to their future management
requirements and growth potential .

Where trees are lost, suitable replacement planting, including appropriate provision for
maintenance and management, will be required within the site or the locality.

215Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 465



Where applications are made to carry out works to trees in Conservation Areas or that are
covered by a Tree Preservation Order, they will be determined in accordance with the council's
Tree Management Policy Document (or any subsequent revisions).

Woodlands

Proposals for new development will not be permitted that would result in the loss of, or damage
to, woodland unless the benefits of the proposal clearly outweigh the impact and suitable
replacement woodland planting, either within or beyond the site boundary, can be undertaken.

Proposals for new development resulting in the loss or deterioration of ancient woodlands as
shown on the policies map, will be refused unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and a
suitable compensation strategy exists. Proposals affecting ancient woodland (including planted
ancient woodland sites) not previously identified as such, will be subject to the same
considerations.

Proposals for new development will be expected to maintain adequate stand-off distances
between woodland and new land-uses to avoid future conflicts, and integrate them fully into the
design having regard to their future management requirements and growth potential.

Hedges

Proposals for new development will not be permitted that would result in the loss of hedges of
high landscape, heritage, amenity or biodiversity value unless the need for, and benefits of, the
development clearly outweigh the loss.

Proposals for new development will be expected to retain existing hedgerows where appropriate
and integrate them fully into the design having regard to their management requirements.

Where any hedges are lost, suitable replacement planting or restoration of existing hedges, will
be required within the site or the locality, including appropriate provision for maintenance
and management.

5.435 Trees, woodlands and hedges make an important contribution to the beauty, diversity and
distinctiveness of our rural landscapes and the beauty and liveability of our townscapes. Tree and
woodland canopies create shelter and shade, intercept rainfall and airborne pollutants and regulate
the movement of water through river catchments, reducing soil erosion and the leaching of pollutants
into surface and ground waters. This helps to regulate local temperatures and climate change impacts.
Woodland ecosystems are a key component of the county's biodiversity providing habitats for both
rare and common species. The provision of ecosystem services by woodland and hedges makes
them an important part of our natural capital. Protecting and conserving the county’s woodlands and
substantially increasing woodland cover are important objectives of the County Durham Landscape
Strategy (2008).

5.436 Trees and woodlands take many years to mature, ancient woodlands and aged or veteran
trees in particular are irreplaceable. Ancient semi-natural woodlands make up only around 1.3% of
the county and contain plant and animal communities that survive from the very distant past. Natural
England has produced an inventory of ancient woodlands which the council has updated on the basis
of more recent information. This includes ancient semi-natural woodlands (ASNW) and planted ancient
woodland sites (PAWS) which are often important for the conservation of woodland species where
they persist in the under-storey. ASNW and PAWS are shown as Ancient Woodland on the policies
map but this is not definitive as many woodlands, and particularly small woodlands, are not picked
up by the inventory and are only found to be ancient after detailed survey. Where the council considers

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019216

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 466



that a woodland previously unidentified as such is likely to be ancient woodland a detailed survey will
be required as part of the application process. Where development proposals lie close to ancient
woodlands, including planted or otherwise damaged ancient woodlands, there may be opportunities
to carry out buffering, restoration or enhancement works in mitigation of the impact(s). These works
could be secured by planning obligations or other agreements, in accordance with the Developer
Contributions policy.

5.437 Aged and veteran trees are those which, because of their great age, size or condition are of
exceptional wildlife, landscape or cultural value. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
says that planning permission should be refused for development resulting in the loss or deterioration
of irreplaceable habitats, including ancient woodland, and the loss of aged or veteran trees found
outside ancient woodland, unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation
strategy is in place. Other trees of high landscape, amenity or biodiversity value include rare native
trees, trees covered by Tree Preservation Orders (TPO), mature trees that make a notable contribution
to the visual amenity of a landscape or townscape, and trees of significant historical or commemorative
importance. The value of individual trees needs to be assessed on an individual basis.

5.438 Mature trees, woodlands and hedges are sensitive to the impacts of development, either
directly through their removal or indirectly through the impacts of construction. Due to the length of
time and the cost taken to replace mature features, and the contribution they can make to the quality
of development, they should be retained and protected where possible.

5.439 Where trees within or adjacent to a site could be affected by development, a full tree survey
and arboricultural implications assessment to BS 5837 (the British Standard for Trees) will be required
as part of the planning application. This should be carried out at a sufficiently early stage to inform
the design of the development. The implementation of any protective measures it identifies, will be
secured by the use of planning conditions including for root protection.

5.440 Mature hedges can bring character and maturity to a new development and should generally
be retained, although in some circumstances there can be merit in not retaining lower value hedges
if this would compromise the quality of design. Consideration needs to be given to the growth potential
and shading characteristics of trees to ensure that they are properly integrated into the new landscape
without creating future conflicts and pressure for removal. Consideration also needs to be given to
the growth potential and management requirements of hedges. Where the loss of trees and hedges is
unavoidable they should be replaced with suitable new planting either within the site or in the locality
if this is more appropriate. In the case of hedges the renovation of existing hedges in the wider area
can be an appropriate form of mitigation. Development can make a positive contribution to the
tree resource in the area through on or off site planting, and particularly where the site lies in a
woodland priority area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy(152). Technical guidance
on the planting of trees, woodlands and hedges and the selection of species can be found in the
County Durham Landscape Guidelines.(153)

5.441 The council's Adopted Corporate Tree Management Policy sets out our approach to the
management of trees on our own land. In dealing with applications affecting, or works to, trees in
Conservation Areas or protected by TPO, the council will be guided by the principles set out in that
document (or any subsequent revisions) and particularly those sections dealing with tree care and
damage caused by trees.

152 Durham Landscape Strategy can be found here: http://www.durhamlandscape.info/
153 County Durham Landscape Guidelines can be found here:

http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10011/County-Durham-Landscape-Guidelines

217Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 467

http://www.durhamlandscape.info/
http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10011/County-Durham-Landscape-Guidelines


How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Net loss of trees/woodlands/hedges as a result of new development.

2. Loss of Ancient Woodland (hectares).

Target:

1. No net loss of trees/woodlands/hedges.

2. No loss of Ancient Woodland.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019218

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 468



Biodiversity and Geodiversity

Policy 42

Biodiversity and Geodiversity

Proposals for new development will not be permitted if significant harm to biodiversity or
geodiversity resulting from the development cannot be avoided, or appropriately mitigated, or,
as a last resort, compensated for.

Proposals for new development will be expected to minimise impacts on biodiversity by retaining
and enhancing existing biodiversity assets and features, and provide net gains for biodiversity
including by establishing coherent ecological networks(154). Measures should be appropriate,
consistent with the biodiversity of the site and contribute to the resilience and coherence of local
ecological networks.

Proposals for new development will be expected to protect geological features and have regard
to Geodiversity Action Plans, the Durham Geodiversity Audit and where appropriate promote
public access, appreciation and interpretation of geodiversity.

Development proposals where the primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity or
geodiversity will be permitted, where they accord with other relevant policies in the Plan.

Development proposals which are likely to result in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable
habitat(s) (such as peatlands or lowland fen) will not be permitted unless there are wholly
exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation strategy exists.

5.442 Biodiversity, the variety of life on earth, is at the heart of a more sustainable future for the
county. Retention and enhancement of biodiversity is a key measure of sustainability. The National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) confirms the government’s commitment to the conservation and
enhancement of the natural environment, including the protection and enhancement of biodiversity
and the benefits of ecosystems. Biodiversity is a key element of Natural Capital. The Natural
Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 places a duty on all local authorities to have
regard to the conservation of biodiversity and requires the Secretary of State to publish a list of priority
species and habitats for conservation. The government has laid out its targets for wildlife and
ecosystem services in 'Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem services'(155)

and planning policy should contribute to the delivery of its targets.

5.443 The retention and enhancement of ecosystems are essential for themaintenance and recovery
of priority species and habitats. This will enable their natural migration and spread in response to
climate change, as well as providing opportunities for landscape enhancement, creating an attractive
environment in which to live, work and play.

5.444 Proposals will also be expected to actively enhance biodiversity in order to provide net
gains. Adherence to the mitigation hierarchy is crucial in ensuring that impacts on biodiversity are
minimised and net gains are achieved. Within the mitigation hierarchy compensation through off-site
delivery is regarded as a last resort, after all reasonable measures have been taken first to avoid and

154 This can be achieved by contributing to the consolidation and development of local ecological networks, and the implementation
of the biodiversity and geodiversity action plans and management plans of local partnerships, including working across local
authority boundaries at a catchment or landscape scale.

155 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69446/pb13583-biodiversity-strategy-2020-111111.pdf

219Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 469

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69446/pb13583-biodiversity-strategy-2020-111111.pdf


minimise the impact of a development project and then to restore biodiversity on-site. The use of a
biodiversity impact assessment calculator may be appropriate in order to determine whether the
development delivers net gains onsite and if there is a requirement for offsite compensation.
Development proposals will be expected to protect and enhance on site biodiversity assets and these
would generally be defined as UK Priority and Biodiversity Action Plan habitats and species and those
features which form part of ecological networks. In circumstances where it is considered that the
enhancement of biodiversity might render the proposal unviable, the developer will be required to
demonstrate to the council's satisfaction that this is the case.

5.445 The re-use of previously developed land for new development makes a major contribution
to sustainable development. However, brownfield land can support an extremely rich diversity of
wildflowers and animals, and has its ownUKBAPPriority Habitat ‘OpenMosaic Habitats and Previously
Developed Land'. Where such sites have significant biodiversity or geological interest of recognised
local importance, this interest should be retained or incorporated into any development.

5.446 Given the important role peatlands play in carbon storage and sequestration there should
be no further loss or deterioration of peatlands and all recoverable peatlands should be restored to
a peat forming state, making them resilient to climate change and with long-term safeguards. The
North Pennines AONB Partnership has had success in restoring significant areas of peatland, through
its Peatland Programme and Carbon Connects Project, restoring over 25,000 hectares of blanket
bog.

5.447 The location and design of new development should be informed by the most
appropriate biodiversity data available. It will be expected that biological data gathered to support the
development process will be submitted to the local biodiversity record office. All development proposals
affecting International Sites will be considered against Policy 43 (Internationally Designated Sites).

5.448 Good sources of information are the MAGIC websites and the Environmental Records
Information Centre North East (ERIC). MAGIC has been operational since 2002 and is managed by
Natural England, it provides geographic information about the natural environment from across
government. The information covers rural, urban, coastal and marine environments across Great
Britain. MAGIC provides links to other sources of data in order to make best use of a wide range of
information available on other websites(156). ERIC holds environmental records for species, habitats
and protected sites within the north east(157).

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

2. Percentage of proposals permitted which would result in a loss of biodiversity or geodiversity
where mitigation or compensation has not been secured.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

2. Zero.

156 https://magic.defra.gov.uk/
157 http://www.ericnortheast.org.uk/home.html

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019220

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 470

https://magic.defra.gov.uk/
http://www.ericnortheast.org.uk/home.html


Internationally Designated Sites

Policy 43

Internationally Designated Sites

Development that has the potential to have an effect on an internationally designated site/sites,
(including all development within 0.4 kilometres of the sites, as shown on Map B of the policies
map document), either individually or in combination with other plans or projects, will need to be
screened in the first instance to determine whether significant effects on the site are likely and,
if so, will be subject to an Appropriate Assessment.

Development will be refused where it cannot be ascertained, following Appropriate Assessment,
that there would be no adverse effects on the integrity of the site, unless the proposal is able to
pass the further statutory tests of ‘no alternatives’ and ‘imperative reasons of overriding public
interest’ as set out in Regulation 64 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017. In these exceptional circumstances, where these tests are met, appropriate compensation
will be required in accordance with Regulation 68.

Where development proposals would be likely to lead to an increase in recreational pressure
upon internationally designated sites, a Habitats Regulations screening assessment and, where
necessary, a full Appropriate Assessment will need to be undertaken to demonstrate that a
proposal will not adversely affect the integrity of the site. In determining whether a plan or project
will have an adverse effect on the integrity of a site, the implementation of identified strategic
measures to counteract effects, can be considered during the Appropriate Assessment.

Land identified and/or managed as part of any mitigation or compensation measures should be
maintained in perpetuity. Development proposals which have an adverse impact on mitigation
or compensation measures will not be allowed.

The Legal Context and Responsibility for Appropriate Assessment

5.449 The need for Appropriate Assessment (AA) is set out within Article 6 of the EC Habitats
Directive 1992 (92/43/EEC). The Directive is given domestic effect by the Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations 2017 and Internationally Designated Sites are subject to these
regulations (and any successor or replacement regulations during the life of the Plan). Under these
Regulations, land use plans must be subject to AA if they are likely to have a significant adverse
effect on a Natura 2000 site (Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special Protection Areas
(SPAs)). It is government policy(158) for sites designated under the Convention on Wetlands of
International Importance (Ramsar sites); equivalent sites (potential SPAs and possible SACs) and
sites identified or required as compensatory measures for adverse effects on European sites, to be
treated as having equivalent status to Natura 2000 sites. As such, AA should also cover these sites.

5.450 Where development proposals may impact, either directly, indirectly, or in combination on
internationally designated sites, a screening assessment may be required to determine whether there
is a need for AA. Although it is the responsibility of the competent authority (the council) to undertake
the AA, developers must provide the council with the information required for the purposes of the
assessment or to enable them to determine whether an AA is required. This may require developers

158 Paragraph 176 of National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

221Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 471



to fund specialist surveys and evidence based reports. Where mitigation or compensation is required
this will be determined by the competent authority and dealt with through conditions, planning
obligations or other legal agreements.

The Current Position

5.451 Certain internationally designated sites are already experiencing recreational and urbanisation
impacts on site integrity. These are:

Northumbria Coast SPA/Ramsar site;

Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA/Ramsar site;

Durham Coast SAC; and

Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast potential SPA.

Future Development

5.452 In applying this policy the council has identified a buffer zone that extends 0.4 kilometres
from the perimeter of the SPA/SAC/Ramsar (measured as the crow flies) within which development
is likely to have significant effects on the site and due to issues of proximity it may not be possible to
sufficiently mitigate for the impacts of proposals within this zone. In this zone permission maybe
granted, provided it is demonstrated that the proposal will not adversely affect the integrity of the site
in question(159).

5.453 Where it can be shown that proposals to mitigate the effects of development would avoid or
overcome an adverse impact on the integrity of the site in question, or its qualifying features, planning
permission will be granted and the mitigation proposals secured by planning condition, Section 106
agreement or other legal agreements.

5.454 It should be noted that outside the 0.4 kilometre zone, development may still have the potential
to impact upon internationally designated sites. In coastal settlements, these may include residential
developments which increase the number of inhabitants and hence increase recreational pressure,
and non-residential developments which are likely to increase visitor numbers to Durham’s Coast.
Evidence has also shown that themajority of visitors accessing the coast come fromwithin 6 kilometres,
therefore any development that will increase visitor pressure within this buffer, including tourism
development, is unlikely to be screened out and will be subject to AA to demonstrate that the proposal
can be implemented without causing adverse effects to the integrity of one or more internationally
designated coastal site(s) (160) It should be noted that where specific works are needed to avoid and
mitigate the effect that occupiers of a development will have on a coastal European Protected Site(s),
these should be undertaken and in place before or in conjunction with those occupiers moving in. There
is further guidance available in the council's adopted 'Habitat Regulations Assessment:
Developer Guidance and Requirements in County Durham' document which comprises details of
how developers can source evidence for the AA and how they can provide, or contribute towards,
mitigation measures(161). This includes monitoring requirements to ensure timely delivery, efficiency
and effectiveness of mitigation and/or compensation measures.

159 Please refer to the Habitats Regulation Assessment of the County Durham Plan for the reasoning behind the establishment of these
zones.

160 . These thresholds may change in response to ongoing monitoring and evidence collation.
161 HRA guidance can be found at http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019222

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 472

http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/


Exceptional Circumstances

5.455 Regulation 64 of the Habitats Regulations(162) permits the approval of plans or projects where
there is a negative assessment under certain exceptional circumstances. In accordance with Regulation
64, development proposals which would have an adverse effect on the integrity of an internationally
designated site will only be permitted if they can demonstrate:

that there are no suitable alternative locations for development;

that all forms of mitigation (rather than compensation) have been fully considered;

that adequate compensatory measures to maintain the overall ecological coherence of the Natura
2000 network are in place (or at least could be put in place and will be delivered in advance of
any harm caused to a site); and

that there are ‘imperative reasons of overriding public interest’. In the case where the site hosts
a priority natural habitat or species (as defined in Article 1 of the Habitats Directive and listed in
Annexes I and II), only reasons relating to human health, public safety or beneficial consequences
of primary importance to the environment, can be considered, unless the competent authority
has sought and had regard to an opinion from the European Commission. For European sites
that do not host an Annex I or priority habitat or species it would also be possible to consider
projects which provide long term, large scale economic benefits.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of applications approved which have a likely significant effect upon the integrity of
an internationally designated site.

2. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. No applications approved which contravene the requirements of the Habitats Regulations
2017 (or subsequent amendments).

2. None upheld at appeal.

162 Which transposes into UK law the requirement of Article 6(4) of the Habitats Directive.

223Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 473



Protected Species and Nationally and Locally Protected Sites

Policy 44

Protected Species and Nationally and Locally Protected Sites

All development proposals in, or which are likely to adversely impact upon (either individually or
in combination with other developments), any of the following national designations (where not
a component of an internationally designated site):

Sites of Special Scientific Interest

National Nature Reserves

will only be permitted where the benefits of development in that location clearly outweigh the
impacts on the interest features on the site and any wider impacts on the network of sites.

All development proposals in, or which are likely to adversely impact upon, any of the
following local designations:

Local Sites (Geology and Wildlife)
Local Nature Reserves (LNRs)

will only be permitted when it can be demonstrated that the benefits of development in that
location outweigh the impacts on the local nature conservation interest or scientific interest on
the site and any wider impacts on the network of sites.

In all cases where development impacts adversely on a designated site, mitigation, or as a last
resort compensation, must be provided and it must be demonstrated that the proposed mitigation
or compensatory measures are appropriate to the designations assigned to the site and deliver
clear net gains for the habitats and/or species assemblages the site is designated for.

In relation to protected species and their habitats, all development which, alone or in combination,
has a likely adverse impact on the ability of species to survive, reproduce and maintain or expand
their current distribution will not be permitted unless:

a. appropriate mitigation, or as a last resort compensation, can be provided, which maintains
a viable population and where possible provides opportunities for the population to expand;
and

b. where the species is a European protected species, the proposal also meets the licensing
criteria (the 3 legal tests) of overriding public interest, no satisfactory alternative and
favourable conservation status.

5.456 Durham's natural environment is one of its greatest assets and includes a particularly large
proportion of the UK's biodiversity, including some of Europe and the UK's most significant sites which
are protected by national policy and national and European legislation (as detailed in Policy
44 (Internationally Designated Sites)). However the valuable natural environment includes not only

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019224

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 474



internationally protected sites, but also national and local sites such as Sites of Special Scientific
Interest, National Nature Reserves, Local Nature Reserves, Local Wildlife Sites and Local Geological
Sites, as well as other features of nature conservation value.

5.457 Whilst it is recognised that the legal protection given to local sites is less robust than that
given to European Protected Sites and SSSIs, the biodiversity value is just as great and the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requirement to protect and enhance as well as to provide net
gains for biodiversity applies equally across all protected site designations regardless of their legal
designation. The abundance of local sites means that they provide the greatest area of biodiverse
land outside of the western uplands and within the more developed areas of central and eastern
Durham. Their geographical spread makes them best placed to work for biodiversity at a landscape
level by contributing to the creation of ecological networks which in turn support priority species and
habitats. In practical terms they provide the best opportunity to halt the overall decline in biodiversity.

5.458 This policy, in conjunction with the overarching Biodiversity and Geodiversity policy (Policy
43), seeks to ensure the protection and enhancement of these sites and features. It is necessary to
help halt and reverse current negative trends and meet new challenges particularly arising from
climate change adaptation and pressures associated with an increasing population.

5.459 It is vital that all stages of development are informed by relevant ecological information, from
site selection and design, to planning decisions and long-term management. To determine the
likelihood of harm occurring, the effects on any existing habitats, species and/or features of nature
conservation importance should be assessed and the results documented. The method of survey
and level of detail will vary according to the size and type of development and whether priority species
and habitats exist on site.

5.460 All effects should be considered, including positive and negative, direct and indirect,
cumulative, and on and off site impacts over the lifetime of the development (including construction,
operational and restoration phases). There should also be consideration of disturbance effects such
as noise, lighting, recreational pressures, trampling, traffic, domestic pets, vandalism etc. The following
criteria should be addressed when development is proposed:

Avoidance of existing sensitive habitats and species through careful site selection;

Location and design should be based upon the most up to date biodiversity data available;

Retention of existing habitats and features of interest, and provision of buffer zones around any
sensitive areas;

Enhancement of biodiversity where possible through improving the condition of existing habitats
or creation of new ones. Particular attention should be paid to priority habitats referred to in the
Durham and/or UK Biodiversity Action Plan(163);

Where harm is identified as likely to result, provision of measures to adequately avoid or mitigate
that harm should be set out. Development may be refused if adequate mitigation cannot be
provided and there are no other material planning considerations which outweigh that harm or
the derogation tests in Article 16 of the Habitats Directive cannot be met; and

Provision of management of the retained and new features, appropriate to the habitats and
species present.

163 https://neenp.org.uk/natural-environment/biodiversity-priorities/

225Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 475

https://neenp.org.uk/natural-environment/biodiversity-priorities/


5.461 In relation to European protected species there will be circumstances in which the council,
as part of its statutory function, will be required to form a view on the likelihood of a licence being
granted by Natural England to allow a protected species to be captured, killed or disturbed. Licence
applications for a development should be regarded as the last available option where all other
reasonable alternative ways of avoiding or minimising impacts on the protected species have been
discounted and the action is nonetheless likely to result in an offence or offences under the species
protection provisions of the Habitat Regulations. In order to achieve this the proposal must demonstrate
that it can pass the three legal tests, as set out in the guidance note published by Natural England(164).

5.462 Compensation is a last resort, but will be necessary in some instances where other approaches
cannot guarantee to minimise the impacts on biodiversity and provide a net gain, and where any
unavoidable losses are outweighed by other sustainability considerations. Such measures should be
delivered within the development site where possible. However where this is not feasible it may be
more appropriate to deliver off site measures through legal agreements and landscape scale projects
as close to the development site as possible to avoid the degradation of local ecological networks or
ecosystem services. Further guidance can be found in the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) and
associated government guidance(165).

5.463 Development also provides opportunities to enhance the natural environment for wildlife and
Durham’s communities, particularly through landscaping, public open space, sustainable drainage
systems and features of the built environment e.g. bird boxes, bat boxes and bee bricks. Such
measures should contribute to the delivery of relevant Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) targets, but
also be tailored to local landscape character. Development may also open up opportunities to bring
degraded or neglected features back into favourable condition through sensitive management to
encourage wildlife. Such restoration will be particularly valuable where it contributes towards landscape
scale projects.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

164 Natural England Guidance Note (2010): European Protected Species and the Planning Process
165 https://www.gov.uk/protected-or-designated-areas

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019226

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 476

https://www.gov.uk/protected-or-designated-areas


Map 4 International, National and Local Biodiversity and Geodiversity Sites

Historic Environment

Policy 45

Historic Environment

Development will be expected to sustain the significance of designated and non-designated
heritage assets, including any contribution made by their setting. Development proposals should
contribute positively to the built and historic environment, and should seek opportunities to
enhance and better reveal the significance and understanding of heritage assets whilst improving
access where appropriate.

Designated Assets

Protection will be given to all designated assets and their settings (and non-designated heritage
assets of archaeological interest that are demonstrably of equivalent significance to scheduled
monuments) (166). Such assets should be conserved in a manner appropriate and proportionate
to their significance. Substantial harm or total loss to the significance of a designated heritage
asset will be permitted only in exceptional circumstances. In the case of designated heritage

166 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/conserving and enhancing the historic environment Reference ID: 18a-040-20140306

227Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 477



assets of the highest significance (167) substantial harm to or total loss of the significance will
only be permitted in wholly exceptional circumstances. Less than substantial harmwill be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal.

In determining applications, particular regard will be given to the following:

Scheduled Monuments

a. The sustainable management of the monument and its setting.

Listed Buildings

b. Respect for the historic form, setting, fabric, materials, detailing, and, any other aspects
including curtilage, which contribute to the significance of the building or structure; and

c. The retention of the character and special interest of buildings when considering alternative
viable uses.

Historic Battlefields

d. The sustainable management of the battlefield site and its setting.

Registered Parks and Gardens

e. The sustainable management of the landscape, its features and setting.

Conservation Areas

f. The demonstration of understanding of the significance, character, appearance and setting
of the conservation area and how this has informed proposals to achieve high quality
sustainable development, which is respectful of historic interest, local distinctiveness and
the conservation or enhancement of the asset;

g. The manner in which the proposal responds positively to the findings and recommendations
of conservation area character appraisals and management proposals; and

h. Respect for, and reinforcement of, the established, positive characteristics of the area in
terms of appropriate design (including pattern, layout, density, massing, features, height,
form, materials and detailing).

Non-designated Assets

A balanced judgement will be applied where development impacts upon the significance and
setting of non-designated heritage assets.

In the case of non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest that are demonstrably
of equivalent significance to scheduled monuments, these will be considered subject to the same
criteria as those for designated heritage assets.

167 Excluding Durham Cathedral and Castle World Heritage Site which are covered by Policy 47 (Durham Cathedral and Castle
World Heritage Site)

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019228

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 478



In determining applications which would affect a known or suspected non-designated heritage
asset with an archaeological interest, particular regard will be given to the following:

i. Ensuring that archaeological features are generally preserved in situ; and

j. In cases where the balanced judgement concludes preservation in situ should not be
pursued, it will be a requirement that they are appropriately excavated and recorded with
the results fully analysed and made publicly available.

Heritage at Risk

The council will seek to reduce the number of heritage assets identified at risk, from either neglect,
decay or other threat, and seek to avoid assets becoming at risk in the future. Weight will be
given to any significant improvements to at risk heritage assets as a result of development
proposals. The deteriorated state of the heritage asset will not be taken into account where
evidence shows that the asset has been deliberately neglected or damaged.

If the loss of the whole or part of a heritage asset is accepted, conditions will be secured to
ensure the new development proceeds after the loss has occurred. Full and proper recording of
the asset must be undertaken and made publicly available(168)prior to its loss, in a manner
proportionate to the importance of, and impact upon, the asset.

5.464 Heritage assets, designated and non-designated, are irreplaceable, so any harm or loss will
require clear and convincing justification. This policy aims to ensure that County Durham’s heritage
assets are preserved and enhanced so that they can continue to make an important contribution to
the environment, economy, quality of life and lifelong learning for this and future generations.

5.465 The historic environment is a non-renewable resource and once harmed, buildings and
places can irretrievably lose their character and their significance. A sustainable historic environment
is one in which future generations will have the same opportunity as people today to enjoy, study and
make use of our heritage assets. There is a presumption in favour of sustainable development of
which the conservation and enhancement of the historic environment forms an important part. In
seeking sustainable development great weight will be given to the conservation of heritage assets in
the county.

5.466 County Durham has a wide variety of heritage assets that evidence and reflect human
interaction with the landscape from prehistoric times to the present. These are manifested in
landscapes, towns and villages, individual buildings and features, ancient monuments, open spaces,
historic public realm and archaeological sites, with many phases, over time, inter-laid upon one
another. The county’s designated heritage assets include(169):

one World Heritage Site;

3,036 Listed Buildings (101 Grade I - 157 Grade II* - 2,778 Grade II);

93 Conservation Areas;

226 Scheduled Monuments;

168 Copies of evidence (and any archive generated) should be deposited with Council's Historic Environment Record or as directed
by the Conservation Team

169 List is correct at date of publication

229Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 479



17 Registered Parks and Gardens; and

one Historic Battlefield.

5.467 The county’s heritage assets are recorded on our Historic Environment Record (HER). The
HER is a publicly accessible computerised inventory of our historic environment which includes known
heritage assets, sites without statutory protection, and the find-spots of archaeological objects. This
inventory is also supplemented with a written report and cartographic and photographic material. As
part of the planning process the local authority can identify additional non-designated heritage assets
that are not currently statutorily protected. Impact on a non-designated heritage asset is in itself a
material consideration for planning decisions(170).

5.468 The county also contains an array of non-designated heritage assets, including:

buildings and structures, identified through the planning process, of special architectural and
historic significance;

parks and gardens of local interest;

spaces which contribute to the significance of the historic environment; and

assets of archaeological interest.

5.469 Neighbourhood Plans can identify any buildings and spaces that are considered worthy of
local designation or of assessment for protection, which would be enacted through the national
designation process. They can also identify a recommendation for new conservation areas or the
revision of existing ones using adopted conservation area character appraisals, or similar
characterisation methods, along with the need for a local heritage list or a 'heritage at risk' survey.

5.470 Sustainable management of the historic environment can have valuable economic benefits
by creating attractive places to work and do business, which helps to attract inward investment and
support regeneration. It can also have valuable environmental and social benefits, particularly in
relation to education, recreation and leisure opportunities.

5.471 Development will be of a high standard in order to maintain and enhance the quality of the
historic environment. Development should give great weight to the conservation of the asset.
Development should avoid or mitigate harm and take the opportunity to better reveal significance.
The use of appropriate materials that are in keeping with the setting of the heritage asset will be
required . Applicants are expected to reference and clearly respond to adopted conservation area
character appraisals and management proposals and other guidance produced at a national and
local level.

Supporting Information

5.472 All applications affecting heritage assets must be accompanied by a satisfactory Statement
of Heritage Significance and Impact (Heritage Statement). Applicants will be required to demonstrate
a full understanding of the assets' significance, including any contribution made by their setting.
Heritage Statements should be produced by a heritage specialist where appropriate and considered
necessary by the council and should be proportionate to the assets’ importance.

170 Please reference the National Heritage List for England (www.historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list) for up to date information on
nationally protected historic buildings and sites

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019230

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 480



5.473 Relevant researchmaterial, including primary sources, conservation area character appraisals,
management proposals and neighbourhood plans should be referenced and used to influence
development proposals. It is also recommended that the ICOMOS Guidance on Heritage Impact
Assessments is referenced. As a minimum the HERmust be consulted and any available information
utilised appropriately.

5.474 Development proposals which may affect archaeological heritage assets shall be informed
by sufficient evidence to enable their significance and the potential impact of the proposal to be fully
understood.

5.475 Where proposals are likely to affect sites of known importance, sites of significant
archaeological potential, or those that become apparent through the development management
process, background research followed up by archaeological investigation will be required prior to
their determination. This will also be a requirement for greenfield sites of one hectare or more in
extent. The findings of this assessment will be a material consideration which informs subsequent
mitigation and the determination of the planning application. All resultant information shall be made
available in an appropriate form for inclusion in the HER to advance understanding.

5.476 Where we consider there to be a threat to the character, appearance and significance of any
designated heritage asset, including conservation areas, and protection is required to prevent harm,
permitted development rights may in some circumstances be withdrawn under Article IV of the Town
and Country Planning Act (General Permitted Development Order) 1995 as amended.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of heritage assets lost.

2. Number of heritage assets removed from At Risk Registers as a result of the implementation
of a permitted scheme.

3. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

4. Number of enforcement cases taken against the owners of listed buildings.

Target:

1. No heritage assets subjected to unjustified loss.

2. 100% of heritage assets removed from the At Risk Register, that relate to permitted schemes.

3. None upheld at appeal.

4. Zero enforcement actions.

231Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 481



Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site

Policy 46

Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site

The Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site is a designated asset of the highest
significance. Development within or affecting the World Heritage Site and its setting will be
required to:

a. sustain and enhance the significance of the designated asset;

b. be based on an understanding of the Outstanding Universal Value (171)of the site, having
regard to the adoptedWorld Heritage Site Management Plan and Statement of Outstanding
Universal Value; and

c. protect and enhance the Outstanding Universal Value, the immediate and wider setting and
important views across, out of, and into the site.

Development that would result in harm to the Outstanding Universal Value of the World Heritage
Site or its setting will not be permitted other than in wholly exceptional circumstances.

5.477 Through the 1972 World Heritage Convention, the United Nations Educational, Scientific
and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO) has identified the formal recognition and management of World
Heritage Sites (WHS) as a key means of conserving the world's cultural and natural heritage for
present and future generations. The designation of the Durham Cathedral and Castle WHS in 1986
recognised its national and international significance.

5.478 The key attributes of the site relate to its historical, cultural and architectural importance and
are set out in the Statement of Outstanding Universal Value (SOUV). It is imperative therefore that
development does not detrimentally impact on the WHS and its OUV, and that opportunities to
positively enhance the site are supported. The Outstanding Universal Value is summarised as follows:

The site’s exceptional architecture demonstrating architectural innovation;
The visual drama of the Cathedral and Castle on the peninsula and the associations with notions
of romantic beauty;
The physical expression of the spiritual and secular powers of the medieval Bishops Palatine
that the defended complex provides;
The relics and material culture of the three Saints (Cuthbert, Bede, and Oswald) buried at the
site;
The continuity of use and ownership over the past 1,000 years as a place of religious worship,
learning and residence;
The site’s role as a political statement of Norman power imposed upon a subjugate nation, as
one of the country's most powerful symbols of the Norman Conquest of Britain;

171 http://whc.unesco.org/en/list/370/

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019232

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 482

http://whc.unesco.org/en/list/370/


The importance of the site’s archaeological remains, which are directly related to its history and
continuity of use over the past 1,000 years; and
The cultural and religious traditions and historical memories associated with the Relics of St
Cuthbert and the Venerable Bede, and with the continuity of use and ownership over the past
millennium.

5.479 The setting of the WHS is the environment in which it is experienced and understood. The
relatively compact and modest scale of the city and its tranquil nature, as well as views, impact upon
the setting of the WHS. While some of these features can be mapped, the setting cannot easily be
defined as a single geographical entity. Its setting can also be derived from our understanding of the
historic relationship between places, as well as other environmental factors such as noise or vibration
from other land uses in the vicinity. It is therefore imperative that development within the wider setting,
even where the WHS cannot be seen, respects the significance of the asset and its overall setting
and status in the city. Development outside of the designated boundary can have adverse impacts
on either the visual environment of the WHS or on attributes associated with it which contribute to its
Outstanding Universal Value.

5.480 The setting of the WHS is formed in part by an ‘inner bowl’ contained by nearby ridges and
spurs incised by the meandering River Wear, and a more diffuse ‘outer bowl’ contained by more
distant high ground including the limestone escarpment to the east and south, and higher spurs and
ridges to the west. These are known as the 'inner setting' and 'wider setting' in the World Heritage
Site Management Plan. They form important horizons and skylines in the backdrop of many views
of, from and within the WHS, and contain important vantage points from which the WHS is viewed.
Development within these areas can detract from the appearance of the WHS, as can development
beyond the outer bowl which breaks the skyline. This is particularly true for tall structures such as
wind turbines and masts.

5.481 In considering this policy, particular reference should be made to the SOUV for the WHS
and the Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site Management Plan. The Management
Plan provides a strategy for conserving theWHS that meets the needs of the site’s users and visitors.
It is not a statutory document, but an advisory framework to inform decisions about the management
of the site. It aims to:

conserve the site;

enhance the character of the site and its surroundings for the benefit of local communities and
visitors; and

maintain the site’s active role as a religious, educational and residential environment.

5.482 Applicants will be required to demonstrate that account has been taken of the impact of their
proposals upon the significance of the WHS (including cumulative harm) and its setting and
demonstrate that those proposals will have no adverse effect upon its OUV. Any harm to, or loss of,
designated heritage assets of the highest significance (including World Heritage Sites) should be
wholly exceptional requiring clear and convincing justification. Where a development proposal would
lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of the asset, this harm should be weighed against
the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use and realising the economic
potential of the WHS providing benefits are managed in a sustainable manner.

5.483 The impacts of development proposals which fall within the WHS boundary, or potentially
impact upon its setting, should be addressed within supporting evidence including Design and Access
and Heritage Statements. Considered use of evidence based documents (such as the Durham City
Conservation Area Character Appraisal, the Durham Castle and Cathedral WHS Management Plan,

233Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 483



and, the ICOMOS Guidance on Heritage Impact Assessments) should be demonstrated within
proposals. This includes how proposals need to demonstrate the relative qualitative impacts upon
characteristics and attributes of the WHS and its setting, especially those relating to its unique OUV.

Supporting Information

5.484 Due consideration should be given to Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) regulations
which list WHSs as ‘sensitive areas’. Development in, or otherwise affecting, the WHS would be
Schedule 2 Development and a Screening Opinion will be required from the council which will possibly
result in the need for Environmental Impact Assessment.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019234

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 484



Stockton and Darlington Railway

Policy 47

Stockton and Darlington Railway

Development which impacts upon the historic route of the Stockton & Darlington Railway
(S&DR) of 1825, the Black Boy and Haggerleases branch lines and the Surtees Railway, together
with their associated structures, archaeological and physical remains and setting, will be permitted
where the proposal:

a. seeks to reinstate a legible route or enhance any physical remains and their interpretation
on the ground, and otherwise respects and interprets the route(s) where those remains no
longer exist;

b. safeguards and enhances access to, and alongside, the route, branch lines and associated
structures, archaeological remains and their setting;

c. does not encroach upon or result in the loss of the original historic route(s), damage the
trackbed excepting archaeological or preservation works, or, prejudice the significance of
the asset; and

d. does not prejudice the development of the S&DR as a visitor attraction.

5.485 The Stockton & Darlington Railway (S&DR) was opened on 27 September 1825 and was
the place where passengers were pulled by a locomotive steam engine for the first time and marked
the birth of the modern railway network. It is therefore of international importance in the development
of rail transport and industrial technology. It differed from other early wagon-ways and railways in its
application and development of several areas of new engineering, not least the steam locomotive.
The S&DR also established a permanent rail infrastructure providing a regular service transporting
both goods and passengers.

5.486 By linking populated areas and attracting additional businesses and industries, the S&DR
resulted in population growth and increased movement. It was also designed from the outset to have
branch lines as well as the main line, these include the Black Boy, Haggerleases and Simpastures
lines. Of the main branch lines the Black Boy and Haggerleases lines are of particular relevance to
delivering the long term aims and objectives of the Stockton and Darlington Railway Heritage Action
Zone. The Surtees Railway dating from 1831 was used for passenger traffic and linked up with the
main S&DR line at New Shildon. It is marked by a popular path as far as Daniel Adamson’s Coach
House on Main Street, Shildon, a significant early railway building. The route of the 1825 line is shown
on the policies map, however further mapping work is in progress as part of the Heritage Action Zone
project. This will identify a more accurate and comprehensive set of information for mapping purposes,
which will be reflected in the County Durham Plan at the earliest opportunity following publication.

5.487 Part of the line of the railway is still in use by the Rail Industry. Along these sections of line
which remain operational railway, the permitted development rights and privileges of network and
franchise operators still apply although, in exercising these privileges such bodies should be mindful
of the historic nature of the route. Documents such as the East Coast Main Line Route Study have
already set out the potential improvements which could be made to meet the challenges of increased
growth.

235Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 485



5.488 Much of the original line is no longer used and now survives in various levels of preservation.
The historic trackbed, remains of the S&DR and the associated branch lines, structures and
archaeological deposits are unique in their scale, cross-boundary nature and importance to worldwide
railway history. The purpose of this policy is therefore to ensure the continued preservation and
enhancement of those sections of the line and associated structures that lie within County Durham.
This policy will supplement Policy 45 (Historic Environment).

5.489 The S&DR Historic Environment Audit identifies the historical importance and significance
of the railway. The Audit was jointly commissioned by Durham County Council, Darlington Borough
Council and Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council. The Audit also provides an action plan and makes
recommendations for the conservation, interpretation andmanagement of the route and its component
parts. Delivering appropriate improvements to facilitate access for walking and cycling is also
highlighted as a major opportunity, however all such improvements must be balanced with the
significance of the heritage asset and its conservation. Development affecting the setting of the
S&DR must also accord with policy 31 Sustainable Design in the Built Environment.

5.490 Any proposal for development of a S&DR related heritage asset must be informed by the
S&DR Historic Environment Audit, the research outcomes published as part of the Heritage Action
Zone, the current aims and objection of the Rail Heritage Board and any subsequent planning
documents adopted by the council, to demonstrate that appropriate regard has been had to the route
and its component parts and the requirements of the Plan.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019236

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 486



How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

237Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 487



Minerals and Waste

5.491 National planning policy requires the council to plan for the needs of mineral extraction and
waste management in order to ensure that there is a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the
infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods the country needs, and that waste is managed in a
sustainable and efficient manner in accordance with the waste hierarchy. We intend to fulfil this
requirement through the preparation of this Plan and a separate Minerals and Waste Policies and
Allocations document. The role of these two documents are different. This Plan document sets out
strategic policies for minerals and waste in County Durham over the Plan period and:

identifies, where possible, the scale of future minerals extraction and waste management capacity
that will need to be accommodated within the county over the period to 2035;

sets out as far as possible where and when new provision will be necessary;

provides clear guidance to enable site specific allocations and planning applications to be
considered in both locational and criteria based terms; and

allocates strategic sites for new minerals and waste development, where necessary.

5.492 TheMinerals andWaste Policies and Allocations document(172)will complement the minerals
and waste policies of this Plan. It will set out specific policies for a number of minerals not addressed
by this Plan, for example all forms of conventional and unconventional oil and gas including Shale
Gas and Underground Coal Gasification (UCG), vein minerals, peat and engineering clay. In addition
it will contain detailed development management policies for minerals and waste and, if necessary,
it will allocate any non-strategic mineral or waste sites which are required to meet longer term need.
Following the adoption of this Plan and in the interim until the Minerals and Waste Policies and
Allocations document is adopted, planning applications for newmineral working and waste development
will be determined in accordance with the policies of this Plan together with any remaining saved
policies of the County Durham Minerals Local Plan (December 2000) and the County DurhamWaste
Local Plan (April 2005). Once adopted the policies and provisions of the Minerals and Waste Policies
and Allocations document will replace any remaining saved policies of the County Durham Minerals
Local Plan and the County Durham Waste Local Plan.

Minerals in County Durham

5.493 Minerals are a fundamental natural resource. They are of vital importance to modern
economies and are essential to sustainable economic growth and quality of life. They contribute to
the local and national economy through both direct and indirect employment(173) and are essential
rawmaterials for a range of purposes including power generation, without which it would be impossible
for the building and construction industry to deliver the new development and infrastructure which is
required through the Plan.

5.494 County Durham is a geologically-rich county and possesses a wide range of mineral resources
of national and local importance. The production of aggregates(174) for use in the building and
construction sector is the largest in terms of output volume in County Durham today. County Durham

172 Further details of the role and scope of the Minerals andWaste Policies and Allocations document are set out in a scoping document
which has been published alongside the Local Plan Preferred Options.

173 In 2014 a total 467 direct and indirect jobs were provided by the minerals industry in County Durham. (Source Mineral Extraction
in Great Britain Business Monitor PA1007, March 2016, ONS/MHCLG).

174 Aggregates are normally defined as being hard granular, materials which are suitable for use either on their own or with the addition
of cement lime or a bituminous binder in construction. In Britain it is common practice to distinguish between primary aggregates
and alternative sources such as secondary aggregates. Primary aggregates are produced from naturally occurring mineral deposits,

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019238

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 488



is a regionally important producer of aggregates and produces significant quantities of magnesian
limestone(175), carboniferous limestone, dolerite and sand and gravel every year. Other important
non aggregate minerals worked in the county include: brick making raw materials including coal
measures mudstone and glacial clay to supply two of the region's four remaining brick works; and
natural building and roofing stone for a variety of purposes including general walling, building, paving,
roofing and architectural building stone.

5.495 Historically, County Durham has also been a major producer of coal. Although all deep coal
mines have now closed, continued interest remains in the extraction of coal by surface minedmethods.
Until very recently magnesian limestone was also worked for industrial purposes(176) for use in the
steel industry and a proportion of magnesian limestone, which is either unsuitable for aggregates or
high grade uses, is used to produce agricultural lime to correct the acidity in soil. In addition County
Durham contains a range of other mineral resources including deposits of fireclay that are sometimes
found in association with coal, silica sand and vein minerals such as fluorspar and barytes although
none are currently being worked today.

Waste in County Durham

5.496 Significant volumes of waste are currently managed, and are forecast to continue to need
to be managed in waste management facilities in County Durham over the plan period. The main
types of waste which arise within County Durham and which need to be managed and need to be
planned for are Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW), Commercial and Industrial waste
(C&I), Construction/Demolition and Excavation Waste (CDEW), Hazardous waste, Low Level
Radioactive waste, agricultural waste and waste water/sewage sludge waste(177). Within the county
the most significant waste streams by volume are LACW and C&I (which are also referred to as
non-hazardous waste) and CDEW. Only small quantities of hazardous waste, agricultural waste, low
level radioactive waste, and waste water arise and are managed in County Durham.

5.497 Managing waste arisings is a major challenge. It is important that waste arisings are managed
in a sustainable manner in order to avoid harm to the environment, human health and the amenity
of local communities. The way in which waste is managed has changed dramatically over the last 20
years as have attitudes towards waste management. Prior to the turn of the century, the majority of
waste in the plan area was disposed to landfill utilising voids created by previous mineral extraction,
without significant volumes of re-use, recycling or recovery. However, as a result of changes in
international and national policy, regulatory and also financial measures, this has now changed and
in accordance with the 'waste hierarchy' only waste which cannot be re-used, recycled or some value
recovered is now disposed to landfill. The key aim of national policy in England is to work towards a
'zero waste' economy as part of the transition to a sustainable economy(178).

5.498 Through the provisions of the plan we will set out our overarching strategic planning policies
for the management of waste in County Durham over the plan period. The plan policies will seek to
ensure that future waste arisings are managed sustainably and that waste management is driven up
the waste hierarchy, with the aim of less waste being generated through prevention, and more waste

extracted for use as aggregate and used for the first time. Secondary aggregates are usually defined as (a) aggregates obtained
as a by product of other quarrying and mining operations such as colliery spoil or (b) aggregates obtained as a by-product of industrial
processes such as power station ash.

175 Magnesian Limestone: Technically a limestone containing between 5 and 15% of the mineral dolomite, the remaining part being
largely the mineral calcite. The term is also used to identify Permian age limestone and dolomite features in eastern England.

176 Limestone is a rock composed of the mineral calcite, whose principal chemical component is calcium carbonate. Most limestones
contain some magnesian carbonate, and where this becomes significant (between 5 and 15%) the rock is described as magnesian
limestone. Where the proportion is in excess of 15% the rock is commonly known as dolomite. High Grade Dolomite is dolomite
rock which has few impurities, particularly iron oxide, silica and alumina, so that when it is used for the production of magnesia, as
a steel flux, as an iron sinter, or in the glass making industry such impurities do not impair the quality of the subsequent product.

177 The glossary of terms includes definitions of Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW), Commercial and Industrial waste (C&I),
Construction/Demolition and Excavation Waste (CDEW), Hazardous waste, Low Level Radioactive waste, agricultural waste and
waste water/sewage sludge waste.

178 Waste Management Plan for England December 2013, Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.

239Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 489



being considered and used as a resource and being reused, recycled and recovered. Similarly, in
line with the waste hierarchy the disposal of waste arising in the plan area will only take place as a
last resort. The plan policies will also seek to ensure that the county continues to contain a network
of suitably located and accessible waste management facilities which have sufficient waste
management capacity to enable the county to continue to manage the range of waste arisings it
currently manages at future forecast levels. Important waste management facilities will be safeguarded
from both loss and encroachment. The plan policies will also ensure new waste management facilities
are permitted where they assist the efficient collection, recycling, recovery and disposal of waste
materials, whilst also ensuring that waste is handled in a manner which protects human health, the
environment and the amenity of local communities.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019240

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 490



Sustainable Minerals and Waste Resource Management

Policy 48

Sustainable Minerals and Waste Resource Management

The development of a sustainable resource economy in County Durham will be promoted,
encouraged and facilitated by:

a. ensuring that waste is managed in line with the waste hierarchy in sequential order. In
particular:

1. supporting proposals that minimise waste production; help prepare waste for re-use; and
increase the capacity and capability of the county's network of waste management
facilities to reuse, recycle and recover value from waste materials;

2. resisting proposals for the disposal of residual waste via landfill or via the incineration
of waste without energy recovery unless a need can be demonstrated which cannot
be met by existing facilities and by treatment solutions higher in the waste hierarchy.

b. supporting opportunities for on-site management of waste where it arises and encouraging
co-location of waste developments with industrial uses so that waste can be used as a raw
material;

c. encouraging all proposals for mineral extraction to minimise the amount of mineral waste
produced in extraction, handling, processing and stockpiling; and to maximise the potential
for mineral waste to be used in recycling or on-site restoration. If mineral waste is not
required for these purposes then where practicable, a market for its potential use should
be identified;

d. encouraging and permitting the concurrent working of two or more minerals from the same
site provided that the operation or restoration of the site is not prejudiced or significantly
delayed, the overall proposal remains acceptable and does not have an unacceptable
adverse impact on either the environment, human health or the amenity of local communities;

e. permitting proposals for aggregate recycling facilities including at locations suitable for
permanent waste management facilities and also at active quarries and landfill sites.
Proposals at active quarries and landfill sites will only be permitted:

1. for a temporary period not exceeding the permitted life of the quarry or landfill site;

2. provided that the operation or restoration of the site is not prejudiced or significantly
delayed; and

3. provided that the overall proposal remains acceptable and does not have an
unacceptable adverse impact on either the environment, human health or the amenity
of local communities.

241Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 491



5.499 In order to deliver sustainable development, the plan seeks to encourage sustainable minerals
and waste resource management. This is considered important, as as how we deal with waste and
use minerals is important for our societies future as it affects the long term availability of rawmaterials
and both the local and wider environment in which we all live.

5.500 Waste is a resource and not re-using it or recovering value from it is a misuse of valuable
resources. Through future decisions we will seek to ensure that waste is valued and that all waste
types are managed in accordance with the principles of the waste hierarchy, which is a legal
requirement enshrined in law, whilst also protecting the environment, human health and the amenity
of local communities. The waste hierarchy gives top priority to waste prevention(179), followed by
preparing for reuse(180), then recycling(181), other types of recovery(182) and last of all disposal including
incineration without energy recovery. Accordingly, support will be given to proposals and facilities which
would help minimise waste production, which would help prepare waste for re-use, and increase the
capacity and capability of the county's network of waste management facilities to recycle and recover
value from waste materials. The disposal of waste without any recovery of value will be seen as a
last resort. Applicants seeking planning permission for new waste development will always need to
address the waste hierarchy and demonstrate that there are no other sequentially preferable
management routes.

Figure 5 Waste Heirarchy

5.501 The clear aim of government and international policy is a ‘zero waste’ or circular economy(183)

The circular economy is an alternative to the traditional 'linear' economy of make, use, and dispose.
It will involve more radical thinking and some aspects will be outside the reaches of this plan such
as more intelligent manufacturing, therefore designing out waste. The plan will support this, however,
by supporting innovative businesses through positive planning decisions. Industrial symbiosis, the
use of one industry's waste or by products as another's raw material, is another example of the
implementation of the 'zero waste' or circular economy. Such proposals help business earn new
revenue, reduce waste, reduce costs and carbon emissions and will help to establish markets for
recycled materials and provide local employment opportunities. It is therefore our intention to support
such applications provided that they are acceptable in all other respects.

179 Prevention means: using less material in design and manufacture; keeping products for longer; re-use; and using less hazardous
material.

180 Preparing for re-use means: checking, cleaning, repairing products; and refurbishing whole items or spare parts.
181 Recycling means turning waste into a new substance or product. It includes composting if it meets quality protocols.
182 Other recovery means include technologies such as anaerobic digestion, incineration with energy recovery, gasification and pyrolysis

which both produce energy (fuels, heat and power) and materials from waste; and some backfilling operations, for example using
inert waste as part of mineral site restoration.

183 The EU published its first Circular Economy Strategy in December 2015.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019242

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 492



5.502 Moving waste up the hierarchy is not simply concerned with new waste developments, all
new development proposals including new residential, commercial and industrial development can
help in the drive for a more sustainable use of resources and the achievement of a circular economy.
This can be from sustainable design and construction, the provision for facilities for the recycling of
waste in new development to designing out waste in the use of materials(184).

5.503 Minerals are a finite natural resource and can only be worked where they found. In order to
support their sustainable management and long term conservation it is essential to make best use
of them through:

providing for a steady and adequate supply of minerals including aggregates and industrial
minerals to provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs;

encouraging the conservation of minerals through the efficient extraction of minerals and the
reduction and productive use of mineral waste;

encouraging the concurrent working of minerals where two or more minerals naturally occur;
and

mineral safeguarding in order to ensure economically important minerals of local and national
importance remain available for the use of future generations and are conserved in the long
term;

encouraging the prior extraction of minerals in advance of sterilising development.

5.504 In order to help facilitate the use of recycled and secondary aggregates and reduce the
reliance on land won and marine aggregates, we will seek to permit proposals to establish both
permanent and temporary aggregate recycling facilities in appropriate locations. We will seek to
expand the county's permanent network of aggregate recycling facilities by permitting new facilities
on suitable industrial estates and will encourage the use of mobile aggregate recycling facilities at
redevelopment projects. We also recognise that opportunities may exist to locate temporary aggregate
recycling facilities at active quarries in conjunction with landfilling operations on a time limited basis,
which is in accordance and does not conflict with the primary planning permission at the quarry or
the landfill site.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Percentage of proposals permitted that either minimise waste production; help prepare
waste for re-use; and increase the capacity and capability of the county's network of waste
management facilities to reuse, recycle and recover value from waste materials.

2. Percentage of proposals permitted that enable the disposal of waste via landfill or via the
incineration of waste without energy recovery where an alternative treatment solution is
available at a higher level in the waste hierarchy.

184 The plans Sustainable Design policy addresses these matters and others where possible and seeks to minimise the use of
non-renewable and unsustainable resources, including energy, water and materials, during both construction and use by encouraging
waste reduction and appropriate reuse and recycling of materials, including appropriate storage space and segregation facilities for
recyclable and non-recyclable waste and prioritising the use of local materials. For proposals that are likely to generate significant
volumes of waste through the development or operational phases it will be useful to include a waste audit as part of the application.

243Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 493



3. Capacity (tonnage) of secondary and recycled aggregate management facilities.

4. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. 100%.

2. None.

3. Increase the capacity of secondary and recycled aggregate management facilities (against
the baseline figure).

4. None upheld at appeal.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019244

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 494



Safeguarding Minerals Sites, Minerals Related Infrastructure and Waste Management
Sites

Policy 49

Safeguarding Minerals Sites, Minerals Related Infrastructure and Waste
Management Sites

Existing and allocated minerals sites, minerals processing facilities and minerals related
transportation infrastructure and important waste management sites(185)(186), shall be safeguarded
and protected from all non-mineral and non-waste related development.

Planning permission will not be granted for non-minerals or non-waste related development that
would result in the loss of existing or allocated minerals processing facilities and minerals related
transportation infrastructure and waste management sites unless:

a. where the facility, infrastructure or site is in active use an alternative suitable site within an
acceptable distance can be provided, which is at least as appropriate and acceptable for
the use as the safeguarded site; or

b. the facility, infrastructure or site is not in active use and it can be demonstrated that it no
longer meets the current or anticipated future needs of theminerals, building and construction
industry or the waste management industry; or

c. the need for the alternative development outweighs the benefits of retaining the existing,
or allocated infrastructure, facility or site.

Planning permission will not be granted for non-minerals or non-waste related development next
to a safeguarded minerals processing facility, minerals related transportation infrastructure,
minerals site or waste management site, or within a defined minerals or waste site safeguarding
zone (where defined on Map C in the policies map document) other than for:

d. exempt development; or
e. where it can be demonstrated that the new non-minerals or non-waste development would

not prevent, prejudice or be prejudiced by the current or future use of the safeguarded
infrastructure, facility or site including through provision of adequate mitigation to reduce
any impacts to an acceptable level.

5.505 County Durham contains an established network of minerals sites, minerals processing
facilities, minerals-related transportation infrastructure and waste management sites. Many of the
these sites are considered essential to the continued operation of the minerals and construction
industry and to the collection and sustainable management of waste in County Durham. The sites
which are safeguarded are listed in Appendix C and are identified on Map C in the policies map
document and include:

185 Existing and allocated minerals sites, minerals processing facilities and minerals related transportation infrastructure and important
waste management sites are listed in Appendix C and shown on the policies map. Where sites are a temporary use of land they
shall be safeguarded in accordance with their planning permissions.

186 All minerals and waste allocations within the Plan and the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document will also be
safeguarded upon adoption.

245Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 495



mineral sites - including operational existing crushed rock, sand and gravel, brick clay and natural
building and roofing stone quarries and dormant quarries where a new scheme of working and
restoration is required to be submitted and agreed prior to working resuming, and allocations
for new mineral working;

mineral processing facilities - including brick works, coated road stone plants, concrete plants
and the kilns for the production of calcined material;

minerals related transportation infrastructure - including rail alignments, rail links to quarries and
railheads which could facilitate the sustainable transport of minerals by rail and by sea; and

waste management sites - important sites associated with the collection and management of a
local authority collected waste (LACW), commercial and industrial waste and inert waste including
household waste recycling centres (HWRCs), recycling and treatment facilities, waste transfer
stations and landfill sites.

5.506 Mineral processing facilities, minerals-related transportation infrastructure and important
waste management sites are safeguarded in order to protect them from loss and in order to ensure
their continued availability in the long term. While many mineral processing facilities and some waste
management sites are temporary permissions and are located within existing active mineral sites
and landfill sites and will continue to be protected by the principal mineral or waste permission, some
permanent facilities are located on industrial estates and other locations and as relatively low value
uses may be vulnerable to competing higher value land uses. However, it is recognised that alternative
uses may be permitted in certain circumstances. For example, where it can be demonstrated that an
alternative suitable site can be provided within an acceptable distance, or it can be demonstrated
that the infrastructure no longer meets the current or anticipated future needs of the minerals, building
and construction industry or the waste management industry, or the need for the alternative
development outweighs the benefits of retaining the site. Similarly, while the majority of minerals
extracted in the county are transported by road and County Durham has only limited mineral
transportation infrastructure such as rail heads and rail links to quarries, nonetheless, it is considered
necessary to safeguard them in order to help provide opportunities for the sustainable transport of
minerals by rail in the future. In particular, any proposal which would breach an unused rail alignment
via permanent development will not be acceptable. However, where a link is currently disused,
temporary uses which maintain the integrity of the alignment, such as recreational routes, may be
permissible.

5.507 The NPPF makes it clear that planning policies and decisions should ensure that new
development can be integrated with existing businesses and existing businesses and facilities should
not have unreasonable restrictions placed upon them as a result of development permitted after they
were established. In order to allow consideration of encroaching proximal development a new
designation to be known as a minerals and waste safeguarding site zone has been identified on the
policies map around some of the safeguarded sites. The purpose of the minerals and waste
safeguarding zone around such sites is to enable appropriate consideration to be given to the
compatibility of proposed new uses, with the existing established minerals or waste related use. For
example, it is considered that the introduction of other types of development such as housing, schools
and commercial and industrial development that may be sensitive to disturbance from impacts such
as noise and dust and may depend upon a high quality local environment (for example food
manufacture or glass manufacture) in close proximity to existing or allocated minerals or waste
management sites can result in a potential conflict with the established minerals and waste-related
uses. In instances where a minerals and waste safeguarding zone has not been identified,
consideration of the compatibility of the existing and proposed adjacent land uses will be required.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019246

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 496



5.508 The starting point for the identification of the minerals and waste safeguarding zones has
been a 250metre zone around all mineral sites (unless blasting is likely to take place, in such instances
the zone has been set at 500 metres), 100 metres around all mineral processing infrastructure and
250 metres around all landfill sites. It is considered that these distances are a starting point for
consideration and reflect a balance between ensuring that the potential for unacceptable adverse
impacts arising is allowed for, whilst limiting the extent to which consultation for safeguarding purposes
is required(187). However, it is recognised that not all development may be inappropriate within a
mineral and waste site safeguarding zone and for this reason a schedule of exempt development
has been prepared ( see Appendix C).

187 The 250 metre and 500 metre zones for mineral sites is consistent with the distances the Council has used for many years within
the County Durham Minerals Local Plan as a starting point for stand off distances, for new or extended mineral sites from existing
residential areas and groups of 10 or more dwellings. Similarly, the 250 metre zone for landfill sites is consistent with the distances
used within the County Durham Waste Local Plan

247Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 497



How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Percentage of relevant approved development proposals that do not have an adverse effect
or lead to the loss of a safeguarded Minerals Site, Minerals Related Infrastructure or Waste
Management site.

2. Percentage of relevant proposals within a Minerals and Waste Safeguarding Zone where
the compatibility of the proposed development with the safeguardedMinerals Site, Minerals
Related Infrastructure or Waste Management site is considered as part of the consideration
of the proposal.

3. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. 100% of relevant approvals are consistent with policy.

2. 100%.

3. None upheld at appeal.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019248

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 498



Primary Aggregates Provision

Policy 50

Primary Aggregates Provision

Throughout the plan period a steady and adequate supply of primary aggregates will be
maintained. This will be achieved by:

a. ensuring that sufficient permitted reserves will remain available over the plan period to
enable the extraction of 53.2million tonnes of crushed rock aggregate (comprisingmagnesian
limestone, carboniferous limestone and dolerite) at a rate of 2.8 million tonnes per annum
and 5.4 million tonnes of sand and gravel aggregate at rate of 285,000 tonnes per annum;

b. seeking to permit the extraction of an additional 14.3 million tonnes of carboniferous
limestone, which subject to acceptable planning applications forthcoming will supplement
existing permitted reserves. However, given the extent of existing permitted reserves of
magnesian limestone and dolerite the presumption within this plan is that no further provision
will be required over the plan period; and

c. ensuring the maintenance of at least a seven year sand and gravel landbank and of at least
a ten year crushed rock landbank at all times whilst ensuring that the capacity of County
Durham's quarries to supply a wide range of materials is not compromised.

The capability of County Durham to maintain a steady and adequate supply of aggregates will
be monitored through the collection of annual sales and permitted reserves information and will
be reported through the council's Local Aggregate Assessment and the Annual Monitoring Report.
Additional provision will be made through the review of the plan.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Annual and cumulative sales of sand and gravel.
2. Annual and cumulative sales of rushed rock.
3. Additional permitted reserves of carboniferous limestone.
4. Crushed rock land bank (years).
5. Sand and gravel land bank (years).

Target:

1. The extraction of 5.4 million tonnes of sand and gravel at a rate of no less than 285,000
tonnes per annum over the 19 year period 1.1.2017 to 31.12.2035.

2. The extraction of 53.2 million tonnes of crushed rock at a rate of no less than 2.8 million
tonnes per annum over the 19 year period 1.1.2017 to 31.12.2035.

3. That planning permission will be granted to permit the release of an additional 14.3 million
tonnes of carboniferous limestone over the 19 year period 1.1.2017 to 31.12.2035.

4. To maintain at least a minimum 10 year land bank of crushed rock.
5. To maintain at least a minimum 7 year land bank of sand and gravel.

249Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 499



Locational Approach to the Future Supply of Primary Aggregates

Policy 51

Locational Approach To The Future Supply Of Primary Aggregates

As far as practical, the main focus of aggregate working over the plan period should fall outside
of and not adversely affect the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), the
County Durham Heritage Coast, or upon the county's Parks and Gardens of Special Historic
Interest, Historic Battlefield, Conservation Areas and Scheduled Monuments. In addition, due to
the protection afforded to them new aggregate working will be strongly resisted in locations which
either contain or could adversely affect internationally and nationally designated sites and
irreplaceable habitats. Proposals in or affecting any designated or defined area, site or habitat
will be required to meet relevant plan policies. In relation to specific aggregate minerals the
following will apply:

a. Magnesian Limestone – In considering any proposals for non-strategic sites in the Minerals
andWaste Policies and Allocations document and planning applications, proposals for new
working on prominent escarpment slopes will be resisted in order to avoid unacceptable
landscape and visual effects.

b. Carboniferous Limestone - In considering any proposals for non-strategic sites in theMinerals
andWaste Policies and Allocations document and planning applications, proposals for new
working to meet identified need should normally be located outside of and should not
adversely impact upon the North Pennines AONB and internationally and nationally
designated sites.

c. Dolerite - In considering any proposals for non-strategic sites in the Minerals and Waste
Policies and Allocations document and planning applications, proposals for new working
will only be permitted provided that they do not adversely impact upon the North Pennines
AONB and internationally and nationally designated sites.

d. Sand and Gravel - In considering non-strategic sites in the Minerals and Waste Policies
and Allocations document, proposals for basal permian sand extraction from beneath the
floor of existing magnesian limestone quarries will be prioritised, followed by the lateral
extension of existing magnesian limestone quarries, followed by new sand and gravel
quarries outside of environmentally important areas. In considering both non-strategic
allocations and planning applications, if further basal permian sand working is proposed,
new or extended workings on prominent escarpment slopes will be resisted in order to avoid
unacceptable landscape and visual effects.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Percentage of permissions granted on sites or extensions to sites located on land outside
and land not adversely affecting designated and defined areas and in accordance with
specific policy criteria.

Target

1. 100%.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019250

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 500



Meeting Future Aggregates Requirements

Policy 52

Meeting Future Aggregate Requirements

Over the plan period it anticipated that the majority of the future needs for both crushed rock
aggregate and sand and gravel aggregate working will be met through the working of existing
permitted reserves and through the working of sites allocated as strategic sites within the plan
or if needed through the working of non-strategic sites allocated in Minerals and Waste Policies
and Allocations Document.

Allocated Sites

1) Proposals for new or extended aggregate workings will be permitted subject to appropriate
planning conditions where:

a. the site is allocated as a strategic site within the plan under Policy 58 or as a non-strategic
site in the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document; and

b. the site is allocated as an extension to an existing aggregate working it can be demonstrated
that additional permitted reserves are required to maintain continuity of supply; and

c. it can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts upon either the
environment, human health or the amenity of local communities.

Non-allocated Sites

2) Proposals for new or extended aggregate workings on land not allocated within the plan or
as a non-strategic sites in Minerals andWaste Policies and Allocations Document will be permitted
subject to appropriate planning conditions where:

a. taking into account forecast need over the plan period that the need for the proposed
additional mineral working can be adequately demonstrated; and

b. the planning benefits of the proposal including economic considerations clearly outweigh
any planning objections; and

c. the proposal accords with the locational approach to the future supply of primary aggregate
minerals; and

d. it can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts upon either the
environment, human health or the amenity of local communities.

Existing permitted Reserves

3) In recognition of the importance of the full recovery of permitted reserves, proposals to extend
the end date for working and restoration within existing mineral sites will be permitted:

a. where it can be demonstrated that permitted reserves would otherwise remain unworked
at the end of the existing planning permission; and

b. it can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts upon either the
environment, human health or the amenity of local communities.

This presumption will not apply to sites which have not been substantively worked within 10
years preceding the planning permission end date.

251Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 501



Improving the evidence base for future decision making

All new planning permissions and reviews of existing permissions under the Environment Act
1995 (or any statutory modification to or re-enactment of that Act) will be conditioned to require
the annual submission of information detailing the extent of remaining permitted reserves and
sales.

5.509 County Durham is a major source of primary aggregates in the North East of England,
producing a range of types of crushed rock aggregate. Through this plan and the Minerals andWaste
Policies and Allocations document we will seek to maintain a steady and adequate supply of primary
aggregates over the plan period and beyond. This is considered important in order to support
sustainable economic growth and enable County Durham tomeet its own needs for primary aggregates
whilst making an ongoing contribution to wider needs including that of the North East as a whole. In
accordance with government policy on landbanks and their operation, we will seek to maintain at all
times a minimum landbank(188) of at least seven years for land-won sand and gravel and 10 years
for crushed rock.

Overall Scale of Future Provision

5.510 The scale of future provision within this plan has been determined by the council's annual
Local Aggregate Assessment (LAA) which we have prepared in cooperation with councils in
Northumberland and Tyne and Wear. The council's most recent Joint LAA, the Joint Local Aggregate
Assessment for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne & Wear (Joint LAA) was last updated in
April 2018.

5.511 Table 8 below calculates the scale of provision which is required over the plan period to
2035. On the basis of the forecast ‘Annual Demand Provision’ figures set out within the Joint LAA, it
has been calculated that provision should be made to enable the extraction of 53,295,000 tonnes of
crushed rock aggregate and 5,415,000 tonnes of sand and gravel(189). Table 8 also sets out the extent
of permitted reserves, these are reserves within existing mineral sites which have planning permission
for extraction, and after taking into account the scale of provision which is required over the plan
period, the table sets out a positive balance between supply and demand over the period 2017 to
2035.

Table 10 Aggregates Requirement calculations 2017 to 2035 (19 years)

Sand and Gravel (all
figures in tonnes)

Crushed Rock (all
figures in tonnes)

322,1292,990,375Sales in 2016

225,5002,488,100Ten year sales average (2007 to 2016)

285,0002,805,000Three year sales average (2014 to 2016)

188 The landbank figure for both crushed rock and sand and gravel has been calculated using the annual demand figure set out within
the Joint Local Aggregate Assessment for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne andWear (Joint LAA) (April 2018). In essence
a landbank is a stock of permitted reserves with planning permission for mineral extraction. It includes all aggregate sites with
planning permission for future working but does not include currently dormant sites where a new scheme of modern working and
restoration conditions are required under the Planning and Compensation Act 1991 or the Environment Act 1995. The minimum
length of the landbank reflects the time that is needed to obtain planning permission and bring replacement operations into full
production.

189 The Joint LAA (April 2018) identifies an annual demand requirement figures of 2,805,000 tonnes for crushed rock and 285,000
tonnes for sand and gravel. The total demand provision figures over the period to 2035 are calculated using these figures. Reflecting
that 2016 sales and permitted reserves information are available the forecasts reflect the position over the 19 year period 1 January
2017 to 31 December 2035.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019252

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 502



Sand and Gravel (all
figures in tonnes)

Crushed Rock (all
figures in tonnes)

285,0002,805,000Annual Demand Provision Figure (as set out
in Joint Local Aggregate Assessment (April
2018))

5,415,00053,295,000Demand Forecast 1.1.17 to 31.12.351

7,610,000131,389,000Permitted Reserves 31.12.16

26.7 years46.8 yearsLandbank years at 31.12.16

+2,195,000+78,094,000Balance between supply and demand (2017
to 2035)1

Source: Joint Local Aggregates Assessment for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne andWear (April 2018). Notes 1: The demand forecast figures for 1.1.17 to 31.12.35 and the balance between

supply and demand (2017 - 2035) have been calculated to align with the plan period by using the annual demand provision figure.

5.512 Despite the overall healthy quantitative demand and supply position we have also sought to
consider the ability of County Durham's aggregates quarries to achieve the scale of production required
to both maintain sales in accordance with the ‘Annual Demand Provision’ figure set out in the Joint
LAA (April 2018) and the scale of working resulting from the recommended sub-regional apportionment
of the government's June 2009 National and Regional Aggregate Supply Guidelines(190). In addition
we have also considered the ability of County Durham's aggregates quarries to produce the range
of types of crushed rock aggregate and sand and gravel aggregate that County Durham has traditionally
produced. This has led the council to identifying a specific need for an additional 14.3 million tonnes
of carboniferous limestone. These matters are discussed below and are considered by each of the
main aggregate mineral types worked in County Durham.

Magnesian Limestone

5.513 Magnesian limestone underlies most of East Durham and has traditionally been divided into
the lower, middle and upper magnesian limestone(191). The most commercially important part is the
lower magnesian limestone (Raisby Formation), which outcrops along the escarpment of the East
Durham Limestone Plateau between Pittington and Shildon. Within this part of the plateau there is a
long history of quarrying which together with both past and current quarrying activity has had a
significant impact upon the area.

5.514 By scale of production, magnesian limestone for aggregate uses is the most important mineral
worked in County Durham today. Prior to the current economic recession approximately 2.5 million
tonnes of magnesian limestone was extracted from County Durham's permitted magnesian limestone
quarries and used for aggregate purposes every year, before falling to approximately 1.2 million
tonnes in 2012. More recently we estimate that production of magnesian limestone for aggregate
uses has risen to approximately 2 million tonnes in 2016 reflecting the recovery of the economy and

190 National and Sub National Guidelines are the government's new name for the National and Regional Aggregate Supply Guidelines.
The last National and Regional Aggregate Supply Guidelines were published by the government in June 2009. While these guidelines
were never formally apportioned the recommended apportionment for County Durham proposed an apportionment of 5 million
tonnes of sand and gravel (312,500 tonnes per annum) and 59.4 million tonnes of crushed rock (3,712,500 tonnes per annum).

191 The Magnesian Limestone has been traditionally divided into three formations the Lower Magnesian Limestone (Raisby Formation),
Middle Magnesian Limestone (Ford Formation) and Upper Magnesian Limestone (Seaham, Roker Dolomite and Concretionary
Limestone Formations).

253Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 503



demonstrating the ability of county's quarries to respond positively to increases in aggregate demand.
The county's magnesian limestone quarries are also recognised as an important source of
non-aggregate material(192).

5.515 A significant proportion of the county's crushed rock landbank lies within the county's existing
magnesian limestone quarries. At the end of 2016 permitted reserves of magnesian limestone
aggregate were estimated to be approximately 102 million tonnes. Available evidence provided by
operators also indicates that many of the county's magnesian limestone sites also have a significant
unrealised productive capacity. In overall terms we consider that existing sites will be sufficient to
meet the future need for magnesian limestone aggregate over the plan period.

5.516 The County Durham Minerals Local Plan (MLP) adopted in December 2000 set a strategy
for the working of quarries on the magnesian limestone escarpment in County Durham and, with the
exception of making explicit provision for further high grade dolomite workings at Thrislington West
Quarry, it set a presumption against future new working and extensions over the MLP plan period
which ran to 2006. This approach reflected the significant extent of existing permissions at the time
the MLP was adopted and the need to minimise the direct and cumulative impact of present and
future workings. Despite significant extraction of magnesian limestone for both aggregate and
non-aggregate working since the MLP was adopted the basis of this approach remains valid today.

5.517 For many years agricultural lime which is used to neutralise soil acidity and correct magnesium
deficiencies has been produced at a number of the county's magnesian limestone quarries, as an
additional product or as a by-product, where the primary purpose of mineral extraction has been the
production of aggregates or for use in the steel and chemical industry. The agricultural lime which
has been produced has either consisted of the fines which remain after magnesian limestone and
high grade dolomite have been crushed and screened to meet specifications for aggregates or other
markets or from specific upper horizons of the magnesian limestone succession which are unsuitable
for aggregate purposes.

5.518 With the exception of Bishop Middleham Quarry which has produced consistent tonnages
of agricultural lime for a number of years available information indicates that agricultural lime production
has generally been small scale or inconsistent, with large quantities being produced in one year
followed by small quantities or no production the following year. For example, records show that Witch
Hill Quarry last produced small quantities of agricultural lime in 2005. However, following the grant
of planning permission to enable the extension of Bishop Middleham Quarry it is now clear that this
quarry in association with other quarries on the East Durham Plateau will be able to maintain the
supply of agricultural lime consistent with previously reported levels of sales(193).

5.519 Given the close association of aggregates and agricultural lime extraction any proposal for
further agricultural lime extraction which also includes aggregate extraction will be determined in
accordance with Policy 52 (Meeting Future Aggregates Requirements).

192 Until they were recently mothballed a process of calcination has been used at the kilns adjacent to Thrislington West Quarry to
process up to 400,000 tonnes of high grade dolomitic limestone per annum to produce a high grade product for use in the steel
industry (see Policy 57 (The Conservation and Use of High Grade Dolomite)). Agricultural lime, which is used to correct the acidity
of soil, has been produced at six quarries as a secondary product (Thrislington West Quarry, Crime Rigg Quarry, Coxhoe Quarry,
Aycliffe Quarry, Witch Hill Quarry and Bishop Middleham Quarry). In recent years reported sales of agricultural lime have been
approximately 200,000 tonnes per annum, with 220,303 tonnes being sold in 2009, 202,248 tonnes in 2010, 205,261 tonnes in
2011, 120,377 tonnes in 2012, 177,445 in 2013, 200,320 in 2014 and 217,000 in 2015.

193 Following the grant of planning permission to extend Bishop Middleham Quarry in March 2015, and taking into account other
information, the council's best estimate of dedicated reserves suitable for use for agricultural lime, is that approximately 4.4 million
tonnes of reserves remain available for extraction in County Durham. This includes at least 2.8 million tonnes at Bishop Middleham
Quarry and further reserves at Witch Hill Quarry, Crime Rigg Quarry and at Running Waters Quarry. Through a submission made
as part of the ROMP at Witch Hill Quarry in 2015 it is understood that the quarry contains 3,125,000 tonnes of recoverable mineral.
It is assumed that 50% of this material would be suitable for agricultural lime with the remainder suitable for aggregates.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019254

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 504



Carboniferous Limestone

5.520 Carboniferous limestone naturally occurs in West Durham and outcrops fairly continuously
along the sides of Weardale above Frosterley and to the south of Barnard Castle along the A66.
Although similar in some respects to magnesian limestone, carboniferous limestone often differs in
some of its physical properties. In particular, it tends to be harder and more durable than magnesian
limestone and therefore suited to more heavy duty uses, for example in road building and sea defence
works. By volume it is the second most important mineral worked in the county today. Prior to the
economic downturn approximately 900,000 tonnes was extracted from County Durham's four active
quarries every year. Using more recent information provided by operators, we now estimate that
production of carboniferous limestone for aggregate use was approximately 700,000 tonnes in 2016.

5.521 Planning to maintain supplies of carboniferous limestone is a major challenge. For many
years no information has been available on the extent of permitted reserves or sales. However,
through work to develop an evidence base, we have been able to identify the overall contribution that
the county's existing carboniferous limestone sites make to overall crushed sales and the extent of
remaining permitted reserves within individual sites. We estimate that on 31 December 2016,
approximately 11.8 million tonnes, (approximately 9% of the county's overall crushed rock landbank)
remain within the county's four remaining carboniferous limestone sites.

5.522 Having considered the distribution and extent of permitted reserves of carboniferous limestone
it is considered that without additional provision it is likely that there will be a shortfall of carboniferous
limestone with at least two or three of the county’s four existing sites becoming exhausted during the
plan period. In quantitative terms it is calculated that an additional 5.3 million tonnes of carboniferous
limestone will be required to be permitted to meet need to 2035, with a further nine million tonnes of
carboniferous limestone being required to meet longer term need and prevent the exhaustion of all
permitted reserves by 2035. In order to meet a significant proportion of the identified need two strategic
site allocations are made under Policy 59 to enable extensions to Hulands Quarry, near Bowes and
Heights Quarry, near Westgate.

Dolerite

5.523 Dolerite is found as intrusions into the carboniferous limestone rocks in the west of the county.
It is exceptionally hard and durable and therefore an important source of aggregate for the top wearing
course of roads which have to withstand heavy volumes of traffic. It is also used as a concrete
aggregate and in the construction of sea defences. Currently, there is only one quarry producing
dolerite in the county, Force Garth Quarry in Teesdale. There are three dormant dolerite quarries
(Park End, Crossthwaite and Middleton Quarry) where working could theoretically resume, following
the agreement of new modern working and restoration conditions by the council under the provisions
of the Environment Act 1995 (or any statutory modification to or re-enactment of that Act) and subject
to permitted reserves remaining.

5.524 In considering how future supplies of this mineral can be maintained, given the extent of
permitted reserves at Force Garth Quarry, (estimated at approximately 18 million tonnes within the
current working area and recent sales approximately 150,000 tonnes per annum), more than sufficient
permitted reserves of this mineral exist to meet the long term needs for this mineral without the grant
of any further planning permissions in the Plan period(194). In terms of other additional sources of
supply, proposals for further working including at dormant sites would require a separate assessment

194 The majority of the Force Garth permission is designated as part of the Moor House-Upper Teesdale SAC and North Pennines
Moors SPA under the EU Habitats and EUWild Birds Directive. Until recently this had led to uncertainty over the future of this quarry.
While the periodic review of this site under the Environment Act is ongoing the County Council has now concluded the Regulation
63 Review under the Conservation of the Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended). It has been concluded that the
proposed working will have some affect but no likely significant effect on the integrity of the European designated sites either alone
or in combination with other mineral consents.

255Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 505



under the Habitats Directive. However, in the long term if it were not possible to extract dolerite in
County Durham it is possible that the need for this mineral would have to bemet from quarries outside
of County Durham.

Sand and Gravel

5.525 There are two main types of sand and gravel worked as an aggregate in County Durham:
basal permian sand which outcrops at the foot of the magnesian limestone escarpment and then
extends at depth under the overlying magnesian limestone; and fluvial and glacial sand and gravel
which is more widespread in its occurrence.

5.526 Taking into account the additional permitted reserves which have become available in recent
years and the potential productive capacity of the county's existing sand and gravel sites, which
significantly exceeds both recent and historical production levels over the last 10 years, we now
believe that more than sufficient sand and gravel will be available to enable County Durham to meet
its own needs for sand and gravel and to make an appropriate contribution to meeting the wider
regional need in the period up to 2035. We also believe that County Durham's five sand and gravel
sites should be able to maintain sales at a level which is more than sufficient to meet the annual
demand provision figure as set out in the Joint LAA (April 2018). Nevertheless, having considered
the distribution of permitted reserves across County Durham's five sand and gravel sites, we recognise
that there may be a need to extend the period of working at existing sites in order to allow the full
recovery of existing permitted reserves. For example, this is likely to be required at Old Quarrington
and Cold Knuckles Quarry and potentially at Crime Rigg Quarry.

5.527 Through the preparation and production of the annual Joint LAA we will monitor the overall
extent of the sand and gravel landbank, its adequacy and its distribution across County Durham's
sand and gravel quarries. If necessary, we will identify the need for further planning permissions to
be granted. However, on the basis of the extent and adequacy of the sand and gravel landbank, we
currently do not anticipate that there will be a need for any further planning permissions to be granted
until towards the end of the plan period. Through the preparation of the Minerals and Waste Policies
and Allocations document we will consider proposals for new allocations for sand and gravel working
and we will seek to allocate environmentally acceptable sites to meet longer term need. We will do
this in order to provide a degree of certainty as to where new or extended sand and gravel workings
may be permitted in the long term in order to ensure long term continuity of supply.

5.528 In terms of the locational approach to future sand and gravel working, it is clear that the
county's basal permian sand resource is an important resource, which is well related to the markets
in the North East and has potential to sustain significant additional working into the long term subject
to environmental acceptability of individual proposals, in particular hydro-geological impacts upon
groundwater resources and visual and landscape impact issues. The locational strategy for longer
term sand and gravel working will be to prioritise the working of allocations for further basal permian
sand extraction from beneath the floor of existing magnesian limestone quarries, followed by the
lateral extension of existing magnesian limestone quarries, or via extensions to other sand and gravel
sites or new sites outside of environmentally important areas.

Meeting Future Aggregates Requirements

5.529 Over the plan period the council anticipates that the majority of the county’s forecast future
requirements for both crushed rock and sand and gravel will be able to be met through the working
of existing permitted reserves. In addition the council also anticipates that if the overall scale of
provision outlined in Policy 50 is to low, that nevertheless that there is is significant scope for any
additional demand to be met from the county's existing permitted reserves. In any event should the
overall scale of provision be too low, this can be corrected through the review of the plan or through
the preparation and review of the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019256

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 506



5.530 Bearing in mind that the location of the majority of future working over the plan period has
already been determined through past planning permissions, Policy 52 seeks to provide a locational
guidance on where new working should be guided to or guided away from over the plan period to
2035. Policy 53 provides the strategic decision making framework for determining all planning
applications for both new sites and extensions to existing aggregate workings (including agricultural
lime) in County Durham over the plan period. Specifically, Policy 53(part 1) provides criteria for
determining strategic site allocations in the Local Plan and any non-strategic allocations in the Minerals
and Waste Policies and Allocations Document; Policy 53(part 2) provides criteria for determining
planning applications for non-allocated sites; and Policy 53(part 3) provides criteria for determining
planning applications to vary the the end date of existing sites where it is considered necessary to
do so to ensure the full recovery of existing permitted reserves.

Consideration of non-allocated sites

5.531 In accordance with government guidance when considering future planning applications for
aggregates working the starting point will always be to consider whether the future need for the mineral
can be adequately demonstrated taking into account key matters such as forecast need over the plan
period, and the capability of existing permitted reserves and of existing allocations to meet forecast
need.

5.532 Wewill always consider the full range of planning benefits which could include amongst other
benefits:

The safeguarding or creation of new employment associated with the mineral extraction;
The contribution of new or extended workings to increased sales where it can be demonstrated
that further production is necessary to enable the annual demand provision figure to be met and
it can be demonstrated that this cannot be met by existing sites;
Helping to ensure that competition in the supply of aggregates is maintained (195).
Enabling the continued production of non-aggregates as a by-product of extraction such as clay
for use in brick manufacture, engineering clay or agricultural lime; and
Securing the early cessation of working at a particular site and its early and high quality
restoration, in exchange for new permitted reserves within an alternative site which has no
unacceptable adverse impacts on either the environment, human health or the amenity of local
communities.

5.533 Similarly, we will always consider the full range of planning objections which may include
any direct, indirect and cumulative unacceptable adverse impacts upon either the county's environment,
human health or the amenity of local communities. The harm that additional working will have on the
ability of County Durham's existing mineral sites to be worked and restored in accordance with their
existing planning permissions will always be considered in the planning balance. In this regard it is
important that existing mineral operators are provided with the confidence to justify investment in new
plant and equipment and that any major investment decisions will secure a reasonable rate of return.
Similarly, it is also important that residents' expectations are given due consideration and that sites
are worked in accordance with the existing planning permissions whenever possible.

5.534 We will always consider whether the proposal accords with the locational approach to the
future supply of aggregates and whether it can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts upon either the environment, human health or the amenity of local communities.
However, where existing permitted reserves are more than sufficient to meet longer term needs,
unless explicit provision is recognised as being needed in this plan or identified within the Joint LAA
and the capability of existing sites is more than sufficient to meet the scale of working which is required

195 In considering this issue the council will always consider the extent of permitted reserves within the applicant's control within both
County Durham and within the North East region as a whole. In addition the council will consider competition on a regional basis.

257Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 507



to meet the annual demand requirement set out in the council's Local Aggregate Assessment,
applicants seeking planning permission for new or extended aggregate workings will always need to
provide robust reasons as to why further working is necessary.

Competition

5.535 Government policy requires that we should ensure that a large existing landbank bound up
in very few sites should not stifle competition. This is a complex matter and it must be stressed that
the council has no control over the merger and acquisition strategies of private companies. At the
end of December 2017 the crushed rock landbank in County Durham was distributed across 15 sites
in the ownership of six companies, although a significant proportion of the crushed rock landbank
lies within seven sites which are within the ownership of three mineral operators. Similarly, the sand
and gravel landbank in County Durham is distributed across five sites within the ownership of three
mineral operators. However, we are not aware of any evidence to demonstrate that competition in
the county is stifled. Indeed County Durham's six crushed rock aggregate companies and three sand
and gravel companies supply successfully and compete with operators based within and supplying
into Tyne & Wear, the Tees Valley and North Yorkshire. Furthermore, the results of the Competition
Commission inquiry into the 'Operation of the Aggregates, Cement and Ready-mix Concrete Market'
which were published in May 2013 are also pertinent and concluded that there were no adverse
effects of competition in any market supplying aggregates in Great Britain.

5.536 Nevertheless, in order to accord with government policy, through this Plan we must seek to
ensure that competition can be maintained. Where competition is raised by applicants as a reason
in support of a proposal the council will require conclusive evidence that competition is being stifled
and that a proposal would help maintain competition in the long term. Given that County Durham's
aggregate quarries operate on a regional level the council will require evidence that competition is
being stifled at a regional level in order to give this issue any weight in the planning balance.

Provision of information to aid future decision making

5.537 The maintenance of landbanks for the Plan period and beyond will depend on the availability
of consistent, reliable and, where necessary, publicly available information of sufficient detail to enable
the council to come to a considered judgement on the adequacy of the landbank. In order to ensure
a robust and credible evidence base for future decision making, all new planning permissions and
reviews of existing permissions under the Environment Act 1995 (or any statutory modification to or
re-enactment of that Act) will be conditioned to require the annual submission of information detailing
the extent of remaining permitted reserves and sales.

Sites Registered as Dormant and as Interim Development Orders

5.538 The council's Minerals Technical Paper identifies that within County Durham there are many
mineral sites which have been registered dormant or as Interim Development Orders under the
Planning and Compensation Act 1991 and the Environment Act 1995. While many of these mineral
sites are for non-aggregates there are also a number of carboniferous limestone, magnesian limestone,
dolerite and sand and gravel sites which potentially once new working and restoration conditions are
agreed could supplement the existing crushed rock and sand and gravel landbanks. However, the
council places no reliance upon the potential of these sites to meet future need for aggregates working
and expects that it unlikely that many of these sites will ever be worked prior to their end date of 21
February 2042.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019258

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 508



1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

259Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 509



Brick Making Raw Materials

Policy 53

Brick Making Raw Materials

Proposals for new workings to meet the raw material needs of brickworks in County Durham will
be permitted where:

a. they are required to maintain a stock of permitted reserves of appropriate properties and
that this need cannot be met from an existing permission associated with the
brickworks. Provision will be made to maintain a minimum supply of feedstock equivalent
to a 25 year stock of permitted reserves for each brickworks in the County; and

b. there will be no unacceptable adverse impact on the environment, human health or the
amenity of local communities.

Proposals for new workings which are intended to serve brickworks outside of County Durham
will be permitted where:

c. they are required to maintain a 25 year stock of permitted reserves of appropriate properties
and this need cannot be met from an existing permission or allocation related to the
associated brickworks;

d. it can be demonstrated that the raw material needs cannot be met from a site or sites closer
to the brickworks; and

e. there will be no unacceptable adverse impact on the environment, human health or the
amenity of local communities.

The provision of reserves from dedicated on-site pits will be preferred. Accordingly, proposals
for new standalone sites will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that provision can
not be met from dedicated on-site pits.

Where planning permission is granted, planning obligations or conditions will be used to restrict
the use of the brick making raw material to the associated brickworks.

Proposals to vary the time period of working at existing workings will be permitted where it can
be demonstrated that permitted reserves would otherwise remain unworked at the end of the
existing permission and provided that there will be no unacceptable adverse impact on the
environment, human health or the amenity of local communities.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019260

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 510



5.539 County Durham is an important source of brick making rawmaterials including coal measures
mudstone, glacial clay and fireclay(196). County Durham contains one operational brickworks(197).
Operationally, Todhills Brickworks is reliant on coal measures mudstone won from a dedicated clay
pit adjacent to the brickworks, supplemented by supplies of fireclay from surface mined coal sites.
The Union Brickworks operated by Ibstock Brick Ltd, is at Birtley in Gateshead, although the quarry
(Birtley Quarry) which supplies the brickworks lies within County Durham.

5.540 Ensuring continued supply of brick making rawmaterials is essential in ensuring that existing
brickworks can continue to produce the construction materials necessary to deliver new built
development both in the county and in the wider region. We will therefore seek to maintain supplies
of coal measures mudstone to meet the long term supply requirements of the operational brickworks
in the county and will work with Gateshead Borough Council under the Duty To Cooperate to meet
the supply requirements of the Union Brickworks for glacial clay. However, in accordance with the
existing pattern of working, in making future provision our preference is that further reserves should
be obtained wherever possible from dedicated on-site pits adjacent to the brickworks. This is considered
important in order to help minimise and restrict environmental impacts.

5.541 Long Lane Quarry currently meets the operational needs of Todhills Brickworks but is due
to cease mineral extraction in 2019 and so cannot provide a 25 year landbank or meet longer term
needs. In order to meet long term needs the intention of the Plan is to allocate an area of search to
the south of the brickworks.

5.542 Birtley Quarry currently meets the operational needs of the Union Brickworks which lies at
Birtley within Gateshead Borough. The current permission at Birtley Quarry was issued in August
2017 and will enable the needs of the Union Brickworks for glacial clay to be met until 2044. In the
long term in order to maintain a 25 year stock of permitted reserves it is recognised that potentially
further provision may be needed from within County Durham or an alternative site in Gateshead
Borough. In this respect, clay of suitable quality for brick manufacture is currently safeguarded at
Lamesley in the Newcastle/Gateshead One Core Strategy(198).

5.543 Interest in sourcing brick making raw materials from County Durham to meet the needs of
other brickworks in the region cannot be discounted. Given that it is generally desirable that brick
making raw materials should be extracted as close as practicable to the brickworks that it supplies,
on this basis in addition to environmental, amenity and health considerations proposals must
demonstrate that no closer site exists closer to the intended brickworks where the material is to be
used.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of years of approved reserves at brickworks in County Durham.

2. Number of years of approved reserves at the Union Brickworks at Birtley in Gateshead.

Target:

196 Due to the close association of fireclay and coal seams and that surface mined coal sites provide one of the few viable sources of
fireclay from which they are derived as a by-product proposals to extract fireclay will normally be considered under Policy 53 (Surface
Mined Coal and Fireclay).

197 For many years there have been two brickworks in County Durham, (Eldon and Todhills), both operated by Wienerberger. However,
Eldon Brickworks was mothballed by its operator in 2008 and was formally closed in 2012.

198 Paragraph 13.16 of the Newcastle/Gateshead 'One Core Strategy - Planning For The Future Core Strategy and Urban Core Plan',
which was adopted on 26March 2015 , states, 'The only potentially workable deposit of brick clay is located at Lamesley in Gateshead
and is safeguarded'.

261Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 511



1. To maintain a minimum 25 year stock of permitted reserves at brickworks in County Durham.

2. In association with Gateshead Council to maintain a minimum 25 year stock of permitted
reserves at the Union Brickworks at Birtley.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019262

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 512



Surface Mined Coal and Fireclay

Policy 54

Surface Mined Coal and Fireclay

Proposals for the extraction of coal and/or fireclay should not be granted permission unless:

a. they are environmentally acceptable and do not have an unacceptable adverse impact
on human health or the amenity of local communities, or can bemade acceptable by planning
conditions or obligations; or

b. they provide national, local or community benefits which clearly outweigh the unacceptable
adverse impacts of the proposal (including any residual environmental impacts) to justify
the grant of planning permission. In assessing such benefits particular regard will be had
to:

1. the economic benefits of the proposal including its contribution to the maintenance of
high and stable levels of economic growth through the provision of domestically
produced coal for power generation and other sectors of the UK economy and the
employment generated through the working, restoration and after-use of the site;

2. the environmental benefits of the proposal in particular those that can be delivered
through the high quality restoration and after-use of the site;

3. the directly related local and community benefits generated by the proposal which will
improve the economic and social well-being of the local communities affected by the
proposed development;

4. the contribution of the proposal towards the comprehensive reclamation of areas of
derelict or contaminated land, or the remediation of coal mining legacy issues;

5. the avoidance of the sterilisation of mineral resources in advance of development
which is either subject to a planning permission or allocated in the County Durham
Plan or a Neighbourhood Plan and is in accordance with Policy 56 (Safeguarding
Mineral Resources); and

6. the need for clay to meet the ongoing needs of local brickworks or if this is not possible,
other brickworks elsewhere in the country.

All proposals for surface coal mining should avoid the unnecessary sterilisation of fireclays and
brickclays.

In order to minimise the environmental impacts of surface coal extraction and provide certainty,
the piecemeal working of surface mined coal sites will not be permitted.

263Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 513



5.544 County Durham contains extensive areas of land which are underlain by coal, and for many
years has been an important source of both deep mined and surface mined coal(199). Like many other
coalfield areas, the deep mined industry in County Durham declined during the second half of the
20th Century and the last two deep mines closed in 1993(200). However, during the same period large
areas of the exposed coalfield within County Durhamwere worked by surface minedmethods. Despite
this long history of working the British Geological Survey believe that large coal reserves still remain
within the county.

5.545 Unlike other minerals such as aggregates where quantitative targets have been provided,
past government guidance(201) has been clear that it is not for the planning system to set limits on
the scale of production. Instead, for new surface mined coal working, it has been for individual
operators to determine the level of output they wish to aim for in light of market conditions and for
councils to determine the acceptability of individual projects through the development management
process and indeed this is still considered to be the right approach.

5.546 In recent years the scale of surface mined coal working in County Durham has been limited
and following a short period of time where no working occurred, there are now two surface mined
coal sites in operation in County Durham.(202) Over the Plan period we do not consider that the scale
of surface mined coal working will significantly increase over existing levels and indeed the scale of
working may fall as a result of government policy which requires the phasing out of the unabated use
of coal in electricity generation by 2025. However, it is considered that the national need for coal for
electricity generation and other sectors including industry, or the consequent wider non-site specific
environmental impacts of the use of coal are not matters which this policy should focus. Instead this
policy needs to address the site specific environmental acceptability of individual proposals for new
surface mined coal extraction, and if proposals are not environmentally acceptable whether there are
national, local or community benefits which clearly outweigh the likely impacts.

5.547 In locational terms, we will seek to provide a measure of certainty to both operators and the
public by considering potential surface mined coal allocations in the preparation of the Minerals and
Waste Policies and Allocations document and allocating them if they are environmentally acceptable
and do not have an unacceptable adverse impact on human health or the amenity of local
communities. However, to date, no proposals for site allocations have been submitted for
consideration. In addition the policies map which accompanies the Plan identifies the extent of the
exposed coalfield and the key environmental designations across this part of the county.

5.548 The exposed coalfield coincides with the most densely settled and populated part of the
county and many communities and the local environment in parts of the exposed coalfield have
historically experienced the cumulative impacts of a succession of sites over many years. However,
it is acknowledged that the limited scale of working in recent years now means that the scope for
cumulative impacts from other surface coal sites has now significantly reduced and indeed many
modern surface mined coal schemes incorporating mitigation measures may be able to be worked
in an acceptable manner whilst delivering high quality restoration schemes which will benefit the local
environment.

5.549 Within the exposed coalfield there are areas of valued landscapes including a small part of
the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Areas of Higher Landscape Value
(AHLV). Proposals for surface mined coal development will always need to fully consider the

199 Within County Durham the coalfield chiefly covers area east of the Pennine Uplands. The west of the coalfield, where the seams
lie close to the surface or actually outcrop is known as the exposed coalfield. Further east the, the coal measures are overlain by
a thick overburden of rock to form the concealed coalfield.

200 The last two deep coal mines in County Durham, Easington and Seaham/Vane Tempest ceased production in 1993.
201 Minerals Planning Guidance Note 3 (MPG3) 'Coal Mining and Colliery Disposal', March 1999.
202 Following the cessation of coaling at the Park Wall North surface mined coal site near Tow Law in 2013, no coal was extracted in

County Durham until 2018 when coaling commenced at the Bradley surface mined coal site near Leadgate and the Field House
surface mined coal site near Pittington.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019264

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 514



potential harm to the character, quality or distinctiveness of the landscape within which they are
proposed to be accommodated and to important features and views. Proposals should always seek
to incorporate appropriate measures to mitigate adverse landscape and visual effects to acceptable
levels. In particular, regard should always be had to the special qualities of designated landscapes
and the County Durham Landscape Character Assessment and the County Durham Landscape
Strategy.

5.550 Within the exposed coalfield there are also small areas designated as Special Protection
Areas and Special Areas of Conservation under the EUWild Birds Directive and EUHabitats Directive.
In accordance with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) a
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) will need to be undertaken where a development has the
potential to have an adverse effect upon a Natura 2000 site by virtue of its nature and the site's
particular sensitivities. Developers may be required to provide information to inform the screening
and/or Appropriate Assessment stages of the HRA. Where the HRA cannot ascertain that a
development either on its own or in combination with other plans or projects would not have adverse
impacts upon the integrity of a Natura 2000 site and cannot be adequately mitigated planning
permission will be refused. In these instances outweighing local or community benefits will not apply.

5.551 In instances where proposals for new working are considered to be environmentally
unacceptable or have an unacceptable adverse impact on human health or the amenity of local
communities and can not be made acceptable by planning conditions or obligations we will always
consider whether there are any outweighing national, local or community benefits. A detailed policy
on the benefits of minerals extraction will be including within the Minerals and Waste Policies and
Allocations document.

5.552 We acknowledge that the nature of modern surface coal mining involving the movement of
large amounts of material makes it a particularly suitable method of addressing contaminated and/or
derelict land and addressing the stabilisation of unstable ground. Although only limited amounts of
derelict land remain within the coalfield, there may be scope to allow new working as a means of
reclaiming such land without the public expense that would otherwise arise. It is also possible that
new areas of dereliction may arise during the Plan period which require reclamation. In assessing
any such applications it will be important to ensure that the area proposed for extraction fairly and
reasonably relates to the extent and nature of dereliction. Similar benefits may arise in allowing surface
mined coal extraction where it would enable the reclamation of contaminated land. As with derelict
land it will be important to ensure that any area proposed for extraction fairly and reasonably relates
to the extent and nature of contamination.

5.553 The avoidance of unnecessary sterilisation of minerals, wherever possible, will help to reduce
pressure on other sources of supply, and will help to ensure that mineral reserves are not, in effect,
wasted. Such benefits from prior extraction of coal should be realised, wherever they can be
accommodated in an environmentally acceptable manner, provided that the ensuing development is
not prejudiced or delayed significantly. Ideally, in order to avoid potential problems of delay, any
potential surface coal working should be included in an overall programme for the development.

5.554 Extensions to surface mined coal workings, or a series of proposals in the vicinity of particular
communities, add to the impacts from sites, and prolong the uncertainty and disruption for those
affected. These problems are compounded by the difficulties of achieving the most appropriate
restoration for an area in overall terms from a series of fragmented proposals. Given their short life,
relative to other kinds of mineral extraction, piecemeal workings of this kind should normally be
avoided, and an outline of any proposed future workings in an area should be included in the original
application. In some circumstances, and in consultation with local communities, it may be possible
to agree in advance a programme of working sites in an area to achieve their exploitation in an

265Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 515



acceptable manner. Where previously unforeseen circumstances, for example unexpected geological
faulting, led to an application for an extension, any such proposal will be considered under Policy
53 (Surface Mined Coal and Fireclay).

5.555 Surface mined coal seams generally occur in conjunction with other minerals, notably fireclay
and brickclay. In the interests of sustainable development, the efficient use of mineral resources is
desirable and it is important that the opportunity to work these other minerals commercially is fully
explored and exploited. The co-ordinated working of mineral deposits can reduce the need to extract
minerals elsewhere and prevent the unnecessary sterilisation of valuable mineral resources. In recent
years a number of proposals for surface mined coal extraction have proposed the recovery of fireclay
as part of the proposed scheme of working but it has been subsequently found that the mineral is not
of saleable quality. Accordingly, to provide certainty prior to the determination of any proposal and
in order to help enable to ascertain the weight that should be applied to the concurrent working of
fireclay and brickclay as a benefit from surface mined coal sites, we will always require evidence of
the quality of the material and its intended market.

5.556 The remaining brickworks operating in the North East have particular requirements for fireclay
resources which are best provided by local supplies. Where fireclay is extracted, it is important that
priority is given to these brickworks to utilise the resource so that current production and employment
levels are maintained. It is recognised that the local brickworks may not be able to use the fireclay
produced (at any given time) for various reasons and it is imperative that fireclay supplies are not
wasted. When this occurs, the resource should be utilised where possible by other brickworks.

5.557 In the event that no brickworks can utilise the fireclay resource, every effort should be made
to avoid the unnecessary wastage of the mineral by the stockpiling or storage of the mineral for future
use. It is recognised that there is the potential to store or stockpile fireclay both on and off-site, above
and below ground, but that each of these options have particular problems. Extensive testing of the
characteristics and firing qualities of the fireclay will need to be investigated by the operator prior to
any decision on its subsequent storage, stockpile or replacement in the void. This is a matter which
will need to be assessed on an individual site basis and would be subject to planning conditions
and/or obligations attached to any planning permission. This approach should provide fireclay to
assist in meeting local, regional and national demand for this mineral.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. None upheld at appeal.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019266

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 516



Natural Building and Roofing Stone

Policy 55

Natural Building and Roofing Stone

Planning permission will be granted for proposals for new and extensions to existing natural
building and roofing stone quarries where it can be demonstrated that it will help maintain a
steady, adequate and diverse supply of natural building and roofing stone and provided that
there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human health or the amenity
of local communities.

Locational Approach

In order to avoid unacceptable adverse impacts, proposals for natural building and roofing stone
working which are considered to be major mineral development, due to their scale and nature,
should not normally be located within the North Pennines AONB or in locations which could
adversely affect the setting of the AONB. All such proposals will be required to meet the tests
for major development and the requirements of Policy 40 (North Pennines Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty).

Proposals for natural building and roofing stone working within the AONB, which are not
considered to be major mineral developments, should demonstrate that they contribute to the
achievement of, or are consistent with, the North Pennines AONB Management Plan and North
Pennines AONB Planning Guidelines. Such proposals will:

a. be carefully assessed with great weight being given in decisions to the conservation of the
natural beauty of the landscape and countryside, the conservation of wildlife and the cultural
heritage and the need to avoid adverse impacts on recreational amenity; and

b. need to demonstrate that the stone is required primarily to meet the requirements arising
from new build or repair work within the AONB, or is for the repair of important designated
or undesignated buildings or structures which rely on the proposed source of stone as the
original source of supply, or as providing a directly equivalent product which can no longer
be provided from the original source supply.

All new planning permissions and reviews of existing permissions under the Environment Act
1995 will be conditioned to require the annual submission of information detailing the extent of
remaining permitted reserves and sales.

5.558 Natural building and roofing stone is a traditional building material that has been extensively
worked in County Durham for many years for a variety of purposes. These include general walling,
building, paving, roofing, high quality architectural building stone and for the repair and maintenance
of historic buildings and structures. The use of this material for construction has contributed to the
distinctive local character of a number of areas within the county. It is also widely used in the North
East of England and is also exported and used nationally.

5.559 There are six natural building and roofing stone quarries remaining in County Durham. With
the exception of two sites (Cat Castle Quarry and Dunhouse Quarry), all are relatively small scale
operations, with the overall scale of production being no more 500 to 2,500 tonnes per annum, and

267Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 517



with a number being worked only intermittently. Planning to maintain supplies of natural building and
roofing stone is a challenge. Unlike other minerals where recent information on production and
permitted reserves is available, only very limited information is available(203).

5.560 While it is impossible to predict the scale of new working which might be needed over the
the Plan period, we will seek to ensure that sufficient provision is made to enable a steady, adequate
and diverse supply of natural building and roofing stone to be maintained to enable County Durham
to meet its own needs whilst helping to contribute to meeting wider regional and national needs. Over
the period to 2035 we expect that the county's existing natural building and roofing stone quarries
will make a major contribution to meeting future needs for this material. However, it is recognised
that further permissions will be required to ensure that supplies can be maintained at steady and
adequate levels.

5.561 The sandstones of Carboniferous age (Namurian Sandstone) are recognised as the principal
building stone resources in County Durham. These sandstones naturally occur in the west of the
county much of which is designated as a nationally important Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
(AONB) and as nationally and internationally important areas of nature conservation importance.
Given the importance of these designations in broad locational terms the strategy of the Plan will be
to minimise environmental impacts from new working. This will be achieved by guiding proposals for
major working to those parts of County Durham which lie outside and do not adversely impact upon
the North Pennines AONB. Similarly, all proposals for new working will also be guided to locations
which do not impact upon and lie outside of internationally and nationally important nature conservation
sites. We believe that those parts of the county that lie outside the North Pennines AONB and
internationally and nationally important nature conservation sites have the most potential to
accommodate new natural building and roofing stone quarries, including those which require on site
processing plant, without unacceptable adverse environmental impacts.

5.562 In line with the North Pennines AONBManagement Plan 2014-2019 and specifically its vision
and objectives and the North Pennines AONB Planning Guidelines(204) we do recognise that there
may still be some scope for some further small scale working within the AONB in order to ensure the
continued availability of local stone which will help enable the character of the landscape, buildings
and settlements to be conserved and enable new development within the AONB to respect the special
qualities of the North Pennines. In addition we also recognise that this stone may also constitute an
important potential source of stone for the repair of important designated or un-designated buildings
or structures or as the original source of supply, or as providing a directly equivalent product which
can no longer be provided from the original source supply. All such planning applications will be
carefully assessed with great weight being given to the conservation of the natural beauty of the
landscape and countryside, the conservation of wildlife and the cultural heritage and the need to
avoid adverse impacts on recreational amenity and tourism within the AONB.

5.563 In considering proposals for new working in line with the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) we will always recognise the small scale nature and impact of natural building and roofing
stone quarries compared to aggregate quarries and the need for a flexible approach to the potentially
long duration of planning permissions reflecting the intermittent or low rate of working at many sites.

How will the Policy be monitored?

203 The Office of National Statistics (ONS) report Mineral Extraction in Great Britain PA 1007 reported that sales of natural building and
roofing stone in County Durham were 26,000 tonnes in 2003, 23,000 tonnes in 2004, 7,000 tonnes in 2005, 24,000 tonnes in 2006
and 11,000 tonnes in 2007. In recent years ONS have not published any new County Durham specific sales data and as a result it
is estimated that production in recent years may have fallen to between 10-15,000 tonnes per annum.

204 The North Pennines AONB Planning Guidelines set out some of the forces for change affecting the North Pennines landscape.
These include need to manage the piecemeal erosion of rural character in settlements and carefully managing the potential expansion
of quarries for the extraction of local stone if the character of buildings and settlements is to be conserved and new development
is to respect this character.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019268

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 518



Indicator:

1. Quantity of new permitted reserves granted.

Target:

1. To maintain a steady, adequate and diverse supply of natural building and roofing stone.

269Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 519



Reopening of Relic Building Stone Quarries for Heritage Projects

Policy 56

Reopening of Relic Building Stone Quarries for Heritage Projects

Proposals to temporarily reopen, on a time limited basis, relic natural building and roofing stone
quarries, including those identified by Historic England through the Strategic Stone Study, or for
new extraction adjacent to or close to these quarries to extract small quantities of stone required
for heritage projects, will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:

a. records indicate the quarry was the original source of stone used in the construction of a
historic building or monument or the stone is technically compatible with material in the
structure to be repaired; or

b. the stone from the quarry is, or will be, required for restoration or conservation in the absence
of viable alternatives; and

c. the stone can be worked and the site restored, taking into account the need to protect
designated sites and without other unacceptable adverse impact on the environment, human
health or the amenity of local communities.

5.564 In conservation work, it is vital to obtain stone which matches the original in terms of its
aesthetics, its mineral composition, density and its porosity. If not, the new stone could hasten the
decay of the original building or structure and is unlikely to weather the same, therefore looking very
different. To address these issues, Historic England have identified a number of relic natural building
and roofing stone sites in County Durham through their work to prepare a Strategic Stone Study for
England.

5.565 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local planning authorities to
consider how to meet any demand for small scale extraction of building and roofing stone at, or close
to, relic quarries needed for the repair of heritage assets, taking into account the need to protect
designated sites. While we are not aware of any current or past demand for the reopening of disused
quarries for this purpose, should proposals come forward to reopen disused natural building and
roofing stone quarries, they will be required to meet stringent tests and, if permitted, will be very
carefully controlled to minimise environmental, amenity and health related impacts. Many relic quarries
may be legitimately regarded as a heritage asset in their own right, perhaps due to a historic connection
to associated historic buildings and conservation areas. In considering proposals to reopen relic natural
building and roofing stone quarries identified by Historic England it will also be necessary to consider
the scale of harm to, or loss of, the asset's significance and this should be weighed in relation to the
wider public benefit of the proposed reopening and working of the site.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019270

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 520



1. Quantity of new permitted reserves granted on relic sites for natural building and roofing
stone working.

Target

1. No Target.

271Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 521



Safeguarding Mineral Resources

Policy 57

Safeguarding Mineral Resources

Planning permission will not be granted for non-mineral development that would lead to the
sterilisation of mineral resources within a Mineral Safeguarding Area or which will sterilise an
identified 'relic' natural building and roofing stone quarry as shown on Map C of the policies map
document unless one of the following applies:

a. It can be demonstrated that the mineral in the location concerned is no longer of any current
or potential value as it does not represent an economically viable and therefore exploitable
resource;

b. Provision can be made for the mineral to be extracted satisfactorily prior to the non-minerals
development taking place without unacceptable adverse impact on the environment, human
health or the amenity of local communities and within a reasonable timescale;

c. The non-minerals development is of a temporary nature that does not inhibit extraction
within the timescale the mineral is likely to be needed;

d. There is an overriding need for the non-minerals development which outweighs the need
to safeguard the mineral; or

e. It constitutes exempt development as set out in appendix C of the plan.

Unless the proposal is exempt development or temporary in nature, all planning applications for
non-mineral development within a Mineral Safeguarding Area must be accompanied by a Mineral
Assessment of the effect of the proposed development on the mineral resource beneath or
adjacent to the site of the proposed development. Where the mineral assessment has identified
that mineral is of potential value and economic to extract, an assessment of the viability of the
potential for prior extraction will be required. Where planning permission is granted for prior
extraction conditions will be imposed to ensure that the site can be adequately restored to a
satisfactory after-use should the following development be delayed or is not implemented.

5.566 Mineral resources are finite, and in accordance with the basic principles of sustainable
development, they must be protected to give future generations the best possible chance of meeting
their own needs. The Plan will therefore safeguard all known deposits of minerals that are, or may
potentially become of economic importance within the foreseeable future, from unnecessary sterilisation
by surface development through the designation of Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSAs). In addition
two specific areas of the county which have been identified to contain high grade dolomite are
specifically protected from all sterilising development by Policy 58 (The Conservation and Use of
High Grade Dolomite). Further information on the minerals which are to be safeguarded and upon
the extent of the safeguarded areas are set out in Appendix D and are shown on Map C in the policies
map document.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019272

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 522



5.567 Unlike other mineral planning designations which allocate land for development and where
there is a varying degree of presumption that extraction may be appropriate, there is no presumption
that resources defined in MSAs will be worked. The purpose of MSAs is not to preclude all other
forms of development, but to make sure that mineral resources are safeguarded from unnecessary
sterilisation by non-mineral development.

5.568 County Durham's MSAs have been developed in accordance with guidance published by
the British Geological Survey (BGS) and by using mineral resource information provided by the BGS
and the Coal Authority. Regard has also been had to the approach of adjoining Mineral Planning
Authorities and consultation has been undertaken with both adjacent and distant mineral planning
authorities, the minerals industry and their trade associations. County Durham's MSAs cover extensive
areas of the county and will ensure that the safeguarding of mineral resources are effectively
considered through the Plan and in the consideration of planning applications. In addition the policies
map also identifies a number of 'relic' quarries identified by Historic England's Strategic Stone Study
which have in the past been worked to produce natural building and roofing stone. Proposals for new
development which will sterilise 'relic' quarries will be considered, taking into account advice from the
council's Design and Conservation Team.

5.569 In order to determine planning applications for non-minerals development within a MSA it
will be necessary for sufficient information to be submitted by the applicant to allow a decision to be
made. Other than for development viewed as exempt, all other planning applications for non-minerals
development within MSAs will need to be accompanied by a mineral assessment of the effect of the
proposed development on the mineral resource beneath or adjacent to the site of the proposed
development and where an economic resource is present, the consideration of prior extraction (205)).
However, for some types of non-mineral development, it is recognised that the sterilising effect is
negligible. Accordingly, exemption criteria have been identified where a mineral assessment will not
be required, (please see Appendix C).

5.570 The prior extraction of safeguardedminerals will be encouraged in MSAs where it is necessary
for non-mineral development to occur. However, whether prior extraction will be possible will be
dependent upon a number of factors including whether this can be done without unacceptable adverse
impact on the environment, human health or the amenity of local communities and whether extraction
is achievable within an acceptable timescale. In instances where planning permission is granted for
prior extraction, planning conditions or obligations will always be imposed to ensure that the mineral
resource can be adequately worked and the site restored to a satisfactory after-use should the
following development be delayed or not implemented.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of eligible schemes, within the county's Mineral Safeguarding Area, that are
supported by a Mineral Assessment.

Target:

1. 100%.

205 The requirement for a mineral assessment will be administered by including mineral assessments on the local list of information for
mineral requirements. This will be based upon advice set out in Chapter 6 of the British Geological Survey Guide Mineral Safeguarding
in England: Good Practice Advice, (2011). Further advice on mineral assessments is set out in Appendix C.

273Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 523



The Conservation and Use of High Grade Dolomite

Policy 58

The Conservation and Use of High Grade Dolomite

The long term conservation and future use of high grade dolomite will be achieved by:

a. protecting areas of the county understood to be underlain by high grade dolomite by
non-mineral development and preventing their sterilisation; and

b. ensuring that both existing and future permitted reserves of high grade dolomite are worked
efficiently for high grade purposes and not used unnecessarily for low grade purposes.

It is expected that over the plan period that any demand for high grade dolomite will be met from
existing planning permissions in the county. Accordingly, planning permission for further reserves
of high grade dolomite will only be permitted subject to appropriate planning conditions where:

c. it can be demonstrated that there is a need for high grade dolomite which cannot be met
by existing planning permissions.

d. the purposes for which their specific qualities are essential are demonstrated and its use
for high grade purposes can be maximised; and

e. provided that there will be no unacceptable adverse impact on the environment, human
health or the amenity of local communities.

5.571 Through Policy 57 (Safeguarding Mineral Resources) the approach of the Plan is to safeguard
minerals resources of local and national importance through the designation of mineral safeguarding
areas so that they are not sterilised by non mineral development where this can be avoided. In addition
due to the national importance of specific mineral deposits within the county, this Plan seeks to provide
further protection from sterilisation and use for lower grade purposes, to one area of the county which
contains high grade dolomite which is of sufficient quality to make the deposits suitable for specific
industrial purposes, thereby helping to ensure the deposits long term conservation and availability
for use for high grade purposes.

5.572 This approach is in line with the long term approach of the council to the conservation and
use of high grade mineral resources as set out within the County Durham Minerals Local Plan
(December 2000) and its predecessor the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment Plan (July 1986) both
of which recognised the importance of reserves at Thrislington Quarry and identified the area to the
east of the A1(M) as one of two areas in Great Britain, other than inWhitwell in Derbyshire, containing
magnesian limestone (high grade dolomite) of suitable high quality for use in the steel and chemical
industries. In addition, the County Durham Minerals Local Plan (December 2000) also recognised
that high grade deposits of magnesian limestone (low iron high magnesia dolomite) suitable for
colourless glass manufacture also exist at Hawthorn Quarry and these deposits are currently protected
by legal agreement.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019274

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 524



5.573 While demand in the United Kingdom for high grade dolomite is currently low due to the
contraction in the downstream industries including the steel industry that utilises the high grade
material, it is considered important that the high grade dolomite reserves which lie within Thrislington
East Quarry and at Hawthorn Quarry(206) are not used for lower grade uses such as construction
aggregates, when lower grade alternatives are readily available in other quarries. Should planning
applications be received by the council to amend or vary the existing permissions at these quarries
the council will seek to protect the high grade dolomite reserves within these quarries so that proper
use can bemade of the high gradematerial and ensure that the high gradematerial remains available
for future use.

5.574 Given the current low demand for high grade dolomite, and the extent of high grade permitted
reserves within both Thrislington Quarry East and at Hawthorn Quarry it is now considered unlikely
that there will be a need for further permissions of high grade dolomite to be granted over the plan
period. However, should proposals for further working be proposed any applicant will need to
demonstrate that there is a need for high grade material which cannot be met by either existing
permissions or by lower grade material, that the high grade material is required for specific purposes,
that its use for high grade purposes can be maximised, and that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impact on the environment, human health or the amenity of local communities. In any event, in order
to conserve the high grade dolomite resource of the county, it is considered that specific protection
from sterilisation and also use for lower grade purposes should continue to be given to the 'high grade
dolomite' resource which was specifically identified in the Minerals Local Plan to the east of Thrislington
Quarry. This will protect this area from mineral working and other development over the Plan period.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of planning applications approved which sterilise areas believed to be underlain
by high grade dolomite.

2. Number of planning applications permitted which lead to the use of high grade dolomite
reserves for lower grade uses.

Target:

1. Zero.

2. Zero.

206 Hawthorn Quarry is currently subject to a periodic review to determine new planning conditions for working and restoration under
the Environment Act 1995. The availability of permitted reserves within the quarry are subject to the satisfactory completion of this
review process.

275Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 525



Preferred Areas for Future Carboniferous Limestone Working

Policy 59

Preferred Areas for Future Carboniferous Limestone Extraction

Proposals for the winning and working of carboniferous limestone from land to the east of Hulands
Quarry and from land to the west of Heights Quarry, within the Preferred Areas as shown on the
policies map, will be permitted subject to appropriate planning conditions/planning obligations
where they are in accordance with other relevant policies of the Plan and where:

a. they are accompanied by an acceptable scheme of phased working and a high quality
restoration and aftercare scheme which can be approved and which specifically:

1. includes such advance and preparatory works as are deemed necessary including
perimeter mounding/bunding and planting to safeguard the local landscape, environment
and amenities of the local area whilst also minimising views into the sites from nearby
public rights of way, and the strategic and local highway network; and

2. delivers a range of environmental benefits including landscape enhancement, and
habitat enhancement and creation; and

b. it can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable adverse impact on the environment,
human health or the amenity of local communities.

5.575 In order to assist in the steady and adequate supply of crushed rock aggregate and the
delivery of Policy 51 (Primary Aggregates Provision) two Preferred Areas for carboniferous limestone
working are allocated as extensions to Hulands Quarry in Teesdale and Heights Quarry in
Weardale. Both proposals have been carefully assessed and have been found to be suitable as
potential allocations, but their acceptability will need to be tested through the consideration of individual
planning applications.

5.576 Subject to planning permission being granted these allocations would enable both quarries to
make an major contribution to the identified need for further carboniferous limestone working from
County Durham over the plan period(207). In addition the carboniferous limestone produced at these
quarries will provide a source of aggregate to produce coated roadstone, ready mixed concrete
products and high quality pre-cast concrete products, whilst also helping to retain existing direct and
indirect employment associated with the winning and working of minerals.

Hulands Quarry Extension

5.577 Given the location of this preferred area within an identified Area of Higher Landscape Value
(AHLV) and near to, but lying outside of the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
(AONB) and adjacent to the A66(T) we recognise the importance of ensuring that proposals for its
working and restoration will need to be carefully designed. It will be essential to ensure that high

207 Aggregate Industries have advised the council that the proposed extension area to the east of Hulands Quarry contains 8.2 million
tonnes of limestone and that the quarry could produce up to 300,000 tonnes of carboniferous limestone per annum and that the
proposed extension to the west of Heights Quarry contains 3.7 million tonnes of limestone and that this quarry could produce up to
300,000 tonnes of carboniferous limestone per annum.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019276

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 526



environmental standards are achieved through a phased scheme of working and high quality restoration
and aftercare which minimise the adverse impact on the environment, human health or the amenity
of local communities, including cumulative impacts.

5.578 The detailed design of the scheme of working and restoration will be key to its acceptability.
Proposals for the extension should demonstrate how it will be worked and restored in conjunction
with the existing permitted operations. In particular, it will be necessary to consider permanent
perimeter mounds to the A66(T) augmented by tree planting to limit views into the site from the A66.
For example, through the restoration of this site there will be some potential to use landform replication
techniques including restoration blasting to leave exposed faces closer in character to natural crags
and develop a range of other attractive features such as buttresses and scree slopes, limestone
pavement and other bare ground habitat, native woodland, calcareous grassland and ground-water
fed wetland.

Heights Quarry Extension

5.579 Given the location of this preferred area within the North Pennines Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty (AONB) and its proximity to the North Pennine Moors Special Protection Area (SPA),
nationally important Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) and the Weardale Way and Pennine
Journey, we recognise the importance of ensuring that proposals for its working and restoration will
need to be carefully designed. In order to both conserve and enhance the natural beauty and landscape
of the AONB it will be essential to ensure that the highest environmental standards are achieved
through a phased scheme of sensitive working and high quality restoration and aftercare which
minimises the adverse impact on the environment, human health or the amenity of local communities,
including cumulative impacts.

5.580 The detailed design of the scheme of working and restoration will be key to its acceptability.
Proposals for the extension should demonstrate how it will be worked and restored in conjunction
with the existing permitted operations. In order to minimise landscape and visual impacts, maintaining
clean skylines in middle distance views and giving careful consideration to the effects of the storage
of soils and overburdens should be key considerations. In addition through the working and restoration
of the extension area in conjunction with the existing permitted operations a range of environmental
benefits including landscape, biodiversity and geodiversity enhancement measures will need to be
secured. For example, through the site’s restoration a range of attractive features and habitats including
crags, buttresses and scree slopes, limestone pavement and other bare ground habitat, native
woodland and calcareous grassland should be developed.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Quantity of additional permitted reserves of carboniferous limestone granted following the
grant of planning permission to enable extensions to Hulands Quarry and Heights Quarry.

Target:

1. 11.9 million tonnes.

277Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 527



Strategic Area of Search to the South of Todhills Brickworks

Policy 60

Strategic Area of Search to the South of Todhills Brickworks

In order to ensure that sufficient feedstock is available to provide and maintain a minimum 25
year stock of permitted reserves for Todhills Brickworks, a strategic area of search, as shown
on the policies map, is identified to the south of the brickworks. Proposals for the winning and
working of brick making raw materials from within the area of search will be permitted subject to
appropriate planning conditions/planning obligations and where they are in accordance with
Policy 52 (Brick Making Raw Materials) and where:

a. they are accompanied by an acceptable scheme of phased working and a high quality
restoration and aftercare scheme which specifically:

1. includes such advance preparatory works including perimeter mounding/bunding and
planting that are deemed necessary to safeguard the local landscape, environment
and amenities of the local area; and

2. delivers a range of environmental benefits including landscape enhancement and
habitat creation measures; and

b. it can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable adverse impact on the environment,
human health or the amenity of local communities.

5.581 In order to assist in the delivery of Policy 53 (Brick Making Raw Materials), the Plan is
allocating a strategic area of search, south of Todhills Brickworks(208).This allocation will play a vital
role in providing the long term feedstock for the adjacent brickworks once existing supplies of coal
measures mudstone from the current planning permission (Long Lane) are insufficient to meet the
long term needs of the brickworks (209).

5.582 The area of search will:

provide the necessary 25 year stock of permitted reserves for Todhills Brickworks;

provide security of supply for the owner of the brickworks and a basis for future investment,
thereby helping to guarantee its economic future;

assist in the production of bricks and other clay based products for use in County Durham and
the North East; and

safeguard existing employment at the brickworks.

208 The County Durham Minerals Local Plan (December 2000) recognised the potential shortfall of permitted reserves at this brick
manufacturing plant, in the period beyond 2006, and allocated an Area of Search for additional brick shale extraction south east of
the existing brickworks to meet longer term needs (Policy M11). This policy has been ‘saved’ until it is replaced by the provisions
of the Plan.

209 The current quarry which serves Todhills Brickworks (the Long Lane site) was granted in 1999 and has permission for extraction
until 27April 2019.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019278

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 528



5.583 Any proposal for future working within the area of search must ensure that unacceptable
adverse impacts on the environment, human health and the amenity of surrounding communities do
not occur. This is likely to be best achieved through a co-ordinated programme of comprehensive
screening, phased working and progressive high quality restoration and aftercare which satisfactorily
minimises adverse impacts and provides environmental benefits via landscape enhancement and
habitat creation measures which provide a net gain to biodiversity.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of years of approved reserves at Todhills Brickworks.

Target:

1. To maintain a minimum 25 year stock of permitted reserves at Todhills Brickworks.

279Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 529



Providing for Waste Management Capacity

Waste Management Provision

Policy 61

Waste Management Provision

Proposals for the provision of new or enhanced waste management capacity will be permitted
where they:

a. can demonstrate that they contribute to driving the management of waste up the waste
hierarchy and do not prejudice the movement of waste up the waste hierarchy; and

b. can demonstrate that they assist in moving the management of waste in County Durham
towards net self-sufficiency and/or make an appropriate contribution to regional net
self-sufficiency by managing waste streams as near as possible to their production.

c. assist in meeting the identified need, set out within this Plan, for new waste management
capacity to manage specific waste streams over the Plan period; or

d. can demonstrate an additional need for new waste management capacity to manage specific
waste streams over and above that set out within this Plan and which cannot be met by
existing operational facilities within County Durham or the North East.

5.584 This policy sets out criteria to assess proposals for new capacity to manage forecast waste
arisings over the Plan period in line with the waste hierarchy. It is based upon an understanding of
the capacity of existing waste management facilities, the scale of existing waste arisings, forecast
future waste arisings over the Plan period and established recycling targets. The policy approach
also has regard to the principle of self-sufficiency at a regional scale and the proximity principle, but
does however recognise that waste management is market-led and waste flows do naturally occur
across local authority boundaries through established management routes and this will continue to
occur throughout the Plan period.

The Waste Hierarchy

5.585 Moving the way waste is managed up the waste hierarchy is a key objective of government
policy. The waste hierarchy places a priority on the prevention of waste, followed by reuse then
recycling, then other recovery (which can include energy from waste). As part of this hierarchy, waste
disposal is the last resort. While the Plan is limited in what it can do to minimise the generation of
waste, the policy seeks to both maximise the management of waste up towards the highest practical
levels of the waste hierarchy and ensure that proposals do not prejudice the movement of waste up
the waste hierarchy by imposing a degree of restraint on other forms of development, such as
landfill, and incineration without energy recovery (which, as disposal options, represent the lowest
level of the hierarchy), unless a need is demonstrated. Applicants will be expected to demonstrate
how their proposed facility accords with this approach.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019280

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 530



Net Self-Sufficiency and the Proximity Principle

5.586 Government policy is clear that while there is a policy aim that waste planning authorities
should manage all of their own waste in line with the established waste planning principles of
self-sufficiency and the proximity principle that there is no expectation that each local planning authority
will be able to do so. In this regard, County Durham plays an important part in the management of
waste in the North East and established flows of waste exist between County Durham and adjoining
areas and other areas in the country. This is likely to continue as waste flows are driven by the market.

5.587 Provision for future waste management in County Durham is based upon providing facilities
to deal with the county's own waste arisings whilst acknowledging those flows which already exist
(net self-sufficiency). The County Durham Municipal Waste contract currently involves management
routes outside the county. The strategy for residual Local Authority CollectedWaste (LACW) therefore
makes use of spare capacity within the region which will allow management of waste close to source
and is more sustainable than providing strategic scale facilities unnecessarily within the county. It
may be necessary to provide further capacity for LACW towards the end of the Plan period depending
upon contracts and levels of recycling and recovery.

5.588 The policy should be read alongside the Location of New Waste Management Facilities and
Amenity and Pollution policies as these confirm further detail and mitigation for waste management
proposals.

Existing Waste Arisings and Current Waste Management Capacity

5.589 The table below sets out current estimates of waste arisings by stream in County Durham.
Waste arisings have been grouped into categories which relate to the way they are managed.

5.590 Non-hazardous waste includes LACW and Commercial and Industrial Waste. Agricultural
waste mainly comprises organic material and is typically managed on site. A small proportion of
agricultural waste consists of plastics and metals which would be managed through commercial and
industrial waste streams. Given that this is the component that gives rise to management facilities,
any capacity requirements are addressed through commercial and industrial waste streams.

5.591 Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste (CDEW) includes rubble, glass, wood, soils
and plastics. Most CDEW is classed as ‘inert’ waste in that it will not decompose.

5.592 Hazardous waste is any waste which contains materials or substances potentially harmful
to health or the environment, including oils, asbestos, batteries and fluorescent lighting.

5.593 Low Level Radioactive Waste also occurs within small quantities within County Durham.
Depending on the nature of this waste and its radioactive content, it can be suitable for disposal in a
conventional non inert landfill or at a specialist repository.

Table 11 County Durham Main Waste Streams

SourceArisings in thousand tonnes and from 2016 unless otherwise
stated

Waste Data Flow, Regional C&I
survey

Total: 644.2 of which Dry Recyclate:
246.9, Organic waste: 62.7 and Residual
waste: 334.6

Non-Hazardous Waste

Environment Agency Permit Returns623.3 (943.6 including imports)Inert/Construction,
Demolition and
Excavation Waste

281Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 531



SourceArisings in thousand tonnes and from 2016 unless otherwise
stated

Environment Agency Permit Returns43.7Hazardous Waste

Environment Agency Permit Returns3.0Agricultural Waste

Environment Agency IPPC Returns942 GBq(210)Low Level Radioactive
Waste

Northumbrian Water50Waste Water

5.594 Alongside these estimates of waste arisings, information published by the Environment
Agency (EA) suggests that a total of around 1.53 million tonnes of waste wasmanaged at EA permitted
waste management facilities in County Durham in 2016. There are also a range of import and export
movements across the county boundary, mainly to and from Tyne and Wear and the Tees Valley.

5.595 The table below sets out current available capacity by site type in County Durham to manage
waste arisings.

Table 12 Current Available Capacity by Site Type

Data Source(1)Available Capacity
(thousand tonnes per

annum)

Facility Type

Environment Agency270Mixed Materials Recovery Facility

Environment Agency190Composting

Environment Agency1,190.6(211)Non-Hazardous Transfer

Environment Agency72.4Anaerobic Digestion

Environment Agency30Clinical Waste Transfer

Environment Agency30(212)Hazardous Waste Transfer

Environment Agency98.6Inert Waste Transfer

Environment Agency12.7Non-hazardous residual waste
treatment/disposal

Environment Agency11,104,913 m3Inert Landfill, Non Hazardous Landfill and
Non-Hazardous (with SNRHW cell) Landfill

1. Source: LRS/Anthesis based upon Waste Data Interrogator ‘Active Sites listing’ 2016. At the time of writing the Anthesis report this
was the latest data available. Further capacity has been consented since the report was finalised.

Meeting Future Waste Management Capacity Needs

5.596 An assessment of future waste capacity needs has been undertaken over the plan period.
Subject to other considerations, the plan will seek to permit development in line with future needs.
Needs have been identified in line with waste stream and are set out in the table below. As part of

210 In waste water; no release in 2016 in solid waste.
211 This figure includes HWRC/CA Sites from EA WDI ‘Active Sites’ listings.
212 Excluding wrongly classified Annfield Plain Transfer Station.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019282

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 532



developing future capacity needs, consideration has been given to different future scenarios which
would impact upon waste arisings and management. This includes, recycling and recovery statutory
targets, landfill diversion targets and trends in waste management.

5.597 To note, arisings of Low Level Radioactive Waste in the region are likely to be relatively low
so projected growth is omitted from the table below. In relation to this waste type, there are also no
nuclear installations in the county and there is sufficient commercial capacity in other areas to manage
waste generated in County Durham and the North East to at least 2029. This will be subject to
monitoring over the plan period in discussion with neighbouring authorities as part of the duty to
cooperate.

Table 13 Future Projected Growth in Arisings by Waste Stream

Quantity (Tonnes)Waste Type

203520252016

267,099265,238246,924Non-Hazardous waste - recyclate

1,066,0971,066,0971,066,097Construction and Demolition (Inert)

43,04243,67243,760Hazardous waste

5.598 Future forecast arisings per waste type can be considered against forecast capacity to provide
an understanding of capacity surplus. A negative figure indicates a capacity shortfall, which is also
known as a capacity gap. The table below shows the expected gaps by facilities type in 2035.

Table 14 Available Capacity (Including Any Capacity Gap) by Site Type (to 2035)

Available Capacity (tonnes per
annum)

Facility Type

118.8Mixed Materials Recovery Facility

162.2Organic Recycling Capacity

817.3Non-Hazardous Transfer

122.6Anaerobic Digestion

28.6Clinical Waste Transfer

-11.2Hazardous Waste Transfer

78.9Inert Waste Transfer

-3,682 (m3x 1,000)Inert Landfill and Non-Hazardous Landfill

136.0Vehicle Depollution Facility

5.599 The table above indicates that there is therefore no significant need to identify new waste
management sites in the Plan area. In respect of hazardous waste transfer the forecasting has
evidenced that there would be a capacity gap at the end of the Plan period, however, in the context
of understanding how future waste is managed within County Durham, as previously noted the council
has a contract to export its Local Authority Collected Waste to the Suez energy from waste plant in

283Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 533



the Tees Valley. This contract currently runs until 2025. If a shortfall in capacity exists towards the
end of the Plan period, proposals for the management of either all or some of this LACW at a site
within County Durham, in accordance with the higher levels of the waste hierarchy will be looked
upon favourably where the proposal is acceptable in all other respects taking into account all relevant
Plan policies.

5.600 In respect of inert wastes, the county currently has a key role in the North East region with
approximately three quarters of the inert void space at the end of 2016 being in three landfill sites
within County Durham. In this regard the forecasting has suggested that based on current landfill
capacity and the closure dates of existing sites, due to current consents expiring during the Plan
period, capacity would be exhausted by 2032 (as reflected as a capacity gap the table above).
However, the situation is recognised to be very complex and much will depend upon how the county's
landfill sites are operated, the quantity of inert waste which requires disposal and the ongoing
availability of void space elsewhere in the North East.

5.601 In order to inform decision making and future plan preparation and review the council will
use EA information to seek to monitor landfill capacity and deposits within the county and across the
North East as a whole. Over the plan period the council will also seek to ensure that landfill void
space remains available to accommodate waste which can not be recycled. However, proposals for
the use of inert waste as a disposal operation which creates further landfill capacity or as a recovery
operation as part of mineral site restoration will be looked at most carefully taking into account all
relevant plan policies.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Waste Management Capacity Gap (calculated periodically).

2. New waste management capacity permitted by waste type and management type.

3. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. None identified.

2. None identified.

3. None upheld at appeal.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019284

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 534



Location of New Waste Facilities

Policy 62

Location of New Waste Facilities

Proposals for new or enhanced waste management facilities will be permitted where they will
assist the efficient collection, recycling and recovery of waste materials and they:

a. are located outside and do not adversely impact upon the setting or integrity of internationally,
nationally and locally designated sites and areas;

b. are located outside the Green Belt or are in locations which do not impact upon its openness;

c. minimise the effects of transporting waste including by locating as close to arisings as
practical; and

d. can be satisfactorily located as part of an existing waste management facility, or where the
waste management facility can be satisfactorily co-located with complimentary activities
and potential users of recovered materials, recyclates and soils, energy and heat, where
appropriate and feasible and where this represents a sustainable option; or

e. can be satisfactorily located on suitable land identified for employment use, or on suitable
previously developed land in the larger towns and villages where the site can serve a local
or larger catchment except where:

1. they are located on a strategic or specific use employment site. Such sites are generally
not considered to be appropriate for new waste management facilities unless it can
be demonstrated that the proposal will not cause unacceptable adverse impact on the
strategic or specific use employment site’s principal use;

2. they are small scale waste management facilities that genuinely require a rural or
outdoor location and that do not locationally conflict with the provisions of criterion (a)
or (b) and other relevant policies in the Plan. In such circumstances proposals will be
permitted where they can be satisfactorily located either:

i. within either existing redundant rural agricultural or forestry buildings and their
curtilages as part of farm diversification activities;

ii. within small scale new build adjacent to existing farm buildings or extensions to
existing farm buildings as part of farm diversification proposals; or

iii. using existing areas of hardstanding for outdoor compositing operations.

All proposals for farm based waste management facilities will be required to demonstrate that
the management of waste is ancillary and appropriate in scale to the existing primary use of the
site and that the waste to be managed arises either on site or within the local area.

All proposals must demonstrate that there will be no unacceptable adverse impact on the
environment, human health or the amenity of local communities.

285Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 535



5.602 The Plan seeks to ensure that suitable provision is made to manage anticipated future waste
arising in County Durham whilst ensuring that the environment and the amenity of local communities
in County Durham are protected and enhanced and that the health of local communities is not
endangered(213). Through its locational approach to accommodating new or extended waste
management facilities, it seeks to guide the majority of new or extended facilities to suitable locations,
where they can be satisfactorily located including by taking into account any necessary mitigation
and environmental enhancements, so that adverse environmental impacts are minimised and to areas
which are the most sustainable and well related to where the majority of waste is produced. In
responding to the pressures in the county and in particular the need to reduce reliance on landfill and
in the absence of strategic allocations within this Local Plan, the locational approach also sets the
basis for where any new non-strategic allocations for waste management facilities could be located
in the Minerals andWaste Policies and Allocations document. The locational approach is also forward
looking and should support future developments in waste management within County Durham and
emerging solutions in other strategic documents such as the council's Municipal Waste Management
Strategy over the Plan period.

5.603 In order to minimise adverse environmental impacts the locational approach seeks to guide
new waste management facilities to locations which lie outside of County Durham’s network of
internationally, nationally and locally designated sites(214)and to areas which will not have an adverse
or unacceptable adverse impact upon them in accordance with the provisions of the relevant policies
of the Plan. The locational approach also seeks to guide new waste management facilities to areas
outside and which do not impact on the openness of the Green Belt in County Durham. Green Belts
have special protection in respect to development and it is considered that there is scope to
accommodate waste management facilities outside the Green Belt in County Durham. Designated
sites and areas and the extent of the defined Green Belt in County Durham are shown on the policies
map with protection being afforded to these areas through relevant policies elsewhere in the Plan.

5.604 The locational approach seeks to guide the majority of new waste developments to where
they can be satisfactorily located either as part of an existing waste site or an integrated waste
management facility, or where the waste management facility can be satisfactorily co-located with
potential users of recovered materials, recyclates and soils, energy and heat. The locational approach
also recognises that land identified for general industrial or employment use or previously developed
land in the larger towns and villages where the site can serve a local or larger catchment is the most
suitable subject to the facilities being able to be satisfactorily located. Guiding the majority of new
waste management facilities to such suitable locations and sites is considered the most sustainable
approach, and bearing in mind that it is these locations within the county where the majority of waste
arises, is also in line with the proximity principle and will help minimise vehicular emissions associated
with transporting waste by road.

5.605 In the past the development of waste management facilities has been traditionally dogged
by poor image and negative perceptions. In accordance with the council’s established approach,
through the Plan we will seek to ensure that new waste management facilities when located on land
identified for general industrial or employment use will not adversely affect those locations’ suitability
for other employment development. This is considered important because the development of a
network of high quality and attractive employment locations has both been a priority and success of
the council.

213 Ensuring human health will not be endangered is a requirement of Article 13 of the Waste Framework Directive and therefore any
adverse impacts arising from a waste development should be satisfactorily mitigated.

214 This includes areas designated for cultural heritage; landscape; geodiversity and biodiversity. It would therefore include for example
the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB); World Heritage Site; Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) and Ramsar sites
as well as the Biosphere Reserve.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019286

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 536



5.606 Through accommodating themajority of waste management operations within contemporary
and well-designed buildings or enclosed structures appropriate to the technology or process, it is
considered that most environmental impacts associated with the management of waste can be
satisfactorily mitigated. It is however considered that there are some sites where waste management
facilities would not be appropriate, due to the nature of the site and the uses that the site contains or
is proposed to contain. Specifically this relates to the Aykley Heads strategic employment site in
Durham City, which is allocated in the Plan for significant new office development, and the specific
use employment site at NetPark. Other than these sites and based on evidence in the council’s
Employment Land Review we have taken the view (with the exception of the above sites which have
a specific role and purpose) that it is not possible to identify areas unsuitable for waste development
on a site by site basis.

5.607 Other exceptions to this approach include where it can be clearly demonstrated that any
unacceptable adverse environmental impacts associated with waste management can be mitigated
by alternative means, or where a waste management process genuinely requires an outdoor location
for example landfill, landraise or outdoor composting and where a waste management operation can
be suitably located within a rural area as part of a genuine farm diversification proposal. As a general
principle, the Plan seeks to prevent development that would have an unacceptable adverse impact
on the countryside. However, this policy recognises that there may be specific circumstances where
new small scale waste management facilities may be appropriate within rural areas in specific limited
circumstances where the proposed development can be satisfactorily located.

5.608 In considering all proposals for new or extended waste management facilities the council
will consider the compatibility of the proposal with the locational approach outlined in this policy and
whether the proposal can also be satisfactorily located taking into account the physical and
environmental constraints on and surrounding the site, the compatibility of the proposed development
with existing and proposed neighbouring land uses, the proximity of sensitive receptors and the
capacity and suitability of existing and potential transport infrastructure to support the sustainable
movement of waste and products arising from resource recovery.

5.609 This policy applies to the majority of waste management facilities with the exception of
sewage and waste water infrastructure, landfill and landraise developments and aggregate recycling
facilities which are addressed by other development plan policies.

How will the Policy be monitored?

Indicator:

1. Number of approved facilities located on land outside designated and defined areas and
upon land given priority by the policy.

2. Appeals upheld contrary to this policy.

Target:

1. 100%.

2. None upheld at appeal.

287Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 537



A Strategic Policies

A.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that local plans should make explicit
which policies are ‘strategic policies’. These should be limited to those necessary to address the
strategic priorities of the area (and any relevant cross-boundary issues), to provide a clear starting
point for any local policies that may be needed. Those local policies may come forward either as part
of a single local plan or as part of a subsequent local plan or neighbourhood plan. Durham County
Council consider the following policies in this Plan to be strategic:

Policy 1 - Quantity of Development
Policy 2 - Employment Land
Policy 3 - Aykley Heads
Policy 4 - Housing Allocations
Policy 5 - Durham City's Sustainable Urban Extensions
Policy 6 - Development on Unallocated Sites in the Built Up Area
Policy 7 - Visitor Attractions
Policy 8 - Visitor Accommodation
Policy 9 - Retail Hierarchy and Town Centre Development
Policy 10 - Development in the Countryside
Policy 11 - Rural Housing and Employment Exception Sites
Policy 12 - Permanent Rural Workers’ Dwellings
Policy 13 - Equestrian Development
Policy 14 - Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land and Soil Resources
Policy 15 - Addressing Housing Need
Policy 16 - DurhamUniversity Development, Purpose Built Student Accommodation and Houses
in Multiple Occupation
Policy 17 - Sites for Travellers
Policy 18 - Children's Homes
Policy 19 - Type and Mix of Housing
Policy 20 - Green Belt
Policy 21 - Non-Strategic Green Belt Amendments
Policy 22 - Delivering Sustainable Transport
Policy 23 - Durham City Sustainable Transport
Policy 24 - Allocating and Safeguarding Transport Routes and Facilities
Policy 25 Provision of Transport Infrastructure
Policy 26 - Developer Contributions
Policy 27 - Green Infrastructure
Policy 28 - Utilities, Telecommunications and Other Broadcast Infrastructure
Policy 29 - Safeguarded Areas
Policy 30 - Sustainable Design
Policy 31 - Hot Food Takeaways (A5 Uses)
Policy 32 - Amenity and Pollution
Policy 33 - Despoiled, Degraded, derelict, Contaminated and Unstable Land
Policy 34 - Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
Policy 35 - Wind Turbine Development
Policy 36 - Water Management
Policy 37 - Water Infrastructure
Policy 38 - Durham Heritage Coast and Wider Coastal Zone
Policy 39 - North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
Policy 40 - Landscape

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019288

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 538



Policy 41 - Trees, Woodlands and Hedges
Policy 42 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy 43 - Internationally Designated Sites
Policy 44 - Protected Species and Nationally and Locally Protected Sites
Policy 45 - Historic Environment
Policy 46 - Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site
Policy 47 - Stockton and Darlington Railway
Policy 48 - Sustainable Minerals and Waste Resource Management
Policy 49 - Safeguarding Minerals Sites, Minerals Related Infrastructure andWaste Management
Sites
Policy 50 - Primary Aggregates Provision
Policy 51 - Locational approach to the future supply of primary aggregates
Policy 52 - Meeting Future Aggregates Requirements
Policy 53 - Brick Making Raw Materials
Policy 54 - Surface Mined Coal and Fireclay
Policy 55 - Natural Building and Roofing Stone
Policy 56 - Reopening of Relic Building Stone Quarries for Heritage Projects
Policy 57 - Safeguarding Mineral Resources
Policy 58 - The Conservation and Use of High Grade Dolomite
Policy 59 - Preferred Areas for Future Carboniferous Limestone Working
Policy 60 - Strategic Area of Search to the South of Todhills Brickworks
Policy 61 - Waste Management Provision
Policy 62 - Location of New Waste Facilities

B Table of Superseded Policies

Table 15 Superseded Local Plans and saved policies

NotesSuperseded by the
Local Plan

Date of AdoptionCurrent Document

All remaining saved
Local Plan policies to be

replaced.

YesMay 2004City of Durham Local Plan

YesOctober 2003Chester-le-Street Local
Plan

Yes1997Derwentside District Local
Plan

YesDecember 2001Easington Local Plan

YesOctober 1996Sedgefield Borough Local
Plan

YesJune 2002Teesdale Local Plan

YesMarch 1997Wear Valley District Local
Plan

All saved policies will be
replaced with the

exception of the following:

PartiallyDecember 2000County Durham Minerals
Local Plan

M13, M16, M17, M37,
M38, M40, M41, M42,
M43, M45, M46, M47,

289Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 539



NotesSuperseded by the
Local Plan

Date of AdoptionCurrent Document

M50, M51 and M52.
These remaining saved
policies will remain extant
until they are replaced by
the provisions of the
Minerals and Waste

Policies and Allocations
document.

All saved policies will be
replaced with the

exception of the following:

PartiallyApril 2005County Durham Waste
Local Plan

W6, W26, W27, W29,
W31, W32, W34, W35,
W46, W47, W50, W54

and W55. These
remaining saved policies
will remain extant until
they are replaced by the
provisions of the Minerals
and Waste Policies and
Allocations document.

C Coal Mining Risk Assessments and Mineral Assessments

Coal Mining Risk Assessment (CMRA)

Policy drivers

Addressing unstable land is required by the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy 34
(Despoiled, Degraded, Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable Land) of the Plan.

Types of Application that require this information

All planning applications unless exempt(215)which fall within the Coal Mining High Risk Area as
defined by the Coal Authority. The council has been provided with maps identifying the extent
of High Risk Areas and Low Risk Areas (please refer to the Plan policies map).

Scope of the Coal Mining Risk Assessment

The Coal Mining Risk Assessment should be prepared by a suitably qualified and competent
person. The report should:

present a desk-based review of all available information on the coal mining issues which
are relevant to the application site. For example, site specific coal mining information
(including past/present/future underground mining, shallow coal workings, mine entries

215 Exempt development includes householder developments, heritage consents (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas),
Advertisement Consent, Lawful Development Certificates, Prior Notification (any type), hazardous substances consent, trees or
hedgerow works. This list is not exhaustive, the council will be able to advise you on whether a Coal Mining Risk Assessment
is required.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019290

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 540



(shafts or adits), mine gas, whether it is within an area which has a current licence to extract
coal, geological features, any recorded surface hazards, or whether it is within a former or
present surface mining [old opencast] area);

use that information to identify and assess what risks these coal mining issues, including
cumulative effects, pose to the proposed development;

set out appropriate mitigation measures to address the coal mining legacy issues affecting
the site, including any necessary remedial work and/or demonstrate how coal mining issues
have influenced the proposed development; and

demonstrate to the Local Planning Authority that the application site is, or can be made,
safe and stable to meet the requirements of national and local policy with regard to
development on unstable land.

Any development that involves intrusive activities which intersect, disturb or enter any coal seams,
coal mine workings or mine entries will require the prior written permission of The Coal Authority.
Note - if an Environmental Statement is required by the Town and Country Planning
(Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 1999 as amended, it is
suggested that the Coal Mining High Risk Areas is included as a subject within the Environmental
Statement.

Developers are advised that an up-to-date Coal Mining Report or Ground Stability Report can
be ordered on the www.groundstability.com website provides the coal mining information required
to inform a Coal Mining Risk Assessment.

Where to look for further assistance:

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) can be found on the MHCLG website:
www.direct.gov.uk

Organisations that can assist:

For information on coal unstable land and derived from the legacy of coal mining:

The Coal Authority Planning and Local Authority Liaison Department
200 Lichfield Lane
Berry Hill
Mansfield
Nottinghamshire
NG18 4RG.

Telephone: 01623 637 119
Website: www.coal.gov.uk/services/planning
Email: planningconsultation@coal.gov.uk

For further information on contaminated land in County Durham :

Land Quality Inspection Programme
Durham County Council
Environment, Health and Consumer Protection
Annand House
John Street North
Meadowfield

291Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 541

http://groundstability.com
http://www.direct.gov.uk
http://www.coal.gov.uk/services/planning
mailto:planningconsultation@coal.gov.uk


County Durham DH7 8RS

Telephone: (03000) 261 152

Email: landqualitysurvey@durham.gov.uk

C.1 Mineral Assessments

Policy Drivers

The safeguarding of mineral resources and prevention of unnecessary sterilisation of minerals
is required by the NPPF and Policy 56 (Safeguarding Mineral Resources) of the Plan.

Types of application that require this information

All planning applications which occur within a Mineral Safeguarding Area as shown on the policies
map should be accompanied by a mineral assessment, except the following:

1. Infilling in an otherwise built up frontage within a settlement;

2. Householder planning applications within the curtilage of a property;

3. Alterations and extensions to existing buildings including applications for new or improved
accesses;

4. Change of use of existing buildings;

5. 'Minor' works such as gates, walls and fences;

6. Agricultural buildings adjacent to existing farmsteads;

7. Advertisement consent;

8. Reserved matters applications following the grant of outline planning permission;

9. Listed Buildings Consent and Conservation Area Consent;

10. Applications to remove or amend a condition attached to an existing planning permission;

11. Prior notifications for telecommunications development, forestry and demolition;

12. Works to trees or removal of hedgerows;

13. Outside storage;

14. Open space (although not outdoor recreation facilities such as golf courses) and allotments;

15. Certificates of Lawfulness of Existing Use of Development (CLEUD); and

16. Certificates of Lawfulness of Proposed Use or Development (CLOPUD).

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019292

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 542

mailto:landqualitysurvey@durham.gov.uk


What information is required

Information should be relevant, necessary and material to the application in question.

All applicants are encouraged to undertake pre-application discussions on any planning
application. The requirement for a Mineral Assessment will be considered in this process.
Following pre-application discussions, the council will decide what level of Mineral Assessment
is required, if any. The council will also take into consideration the sterilisation potential of the
development proposed and the mineral resource being considered.

The two levels of Mineral Assessment are:

1. a site-specific desk based assessment of the existing surface and solid geological and
mineral resource information. This will comprise information on the mining and quarrying
history, mineral assessments andmarket appraisals, boreholes, site investigations, geological
memoirs, technical reports, mining plans and thickness of superficial geological deposits.

2. analysis of the site-specific information derived from level 1 including:

a. an estimate of the economic value (for example quantity and quality) of the mineral
resource;

b. its potential for use in the forthcoming development and an assessment of whether it
is feasible and possible to extract the mineral resource ahead of the development to
prevent unnecessary sterilisation;

c. where prior extraction can be undertaken, an explanation of how this will be carried
out as part of the overall development scheme.

Level 2 should be prepared by a suitably qualified and competent person. Should an applicant
believe that some or all of the information is not necessary, advice should be sought from the
council.

Where to look for further assistance

The National Planning Policy Framework can be found on the MHCLG website:
www.direct.gov.uk

Organisations that can assist

For information on mineral resources and mineral resource datasets:

British Geological Survey
Keyworth
Nottingham
NG12 5GG

Tel: +44(0115) 936 3143
Fax: +44(0)115 936 3276
Email: enquiries@bgs.ac.uk

For information on coal resources and coal datasets:

The Coal Authority Planning and Local Authority Liaison Department

293Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 543

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
mailto:enquiries@bgs.ac.uk


200 Lichfield Lane
Berry Hill
Mansfield
Nottinghamshire
NG18 4RG.

Telephone: 01623 637 119
Website: https://www2.groundstability.com/
Email: planningconsultation@coal.gov.uk

D Safeguarding Mineral Resources and Safeguarded Minerals and Waste Sites

D.1 This appendix supports Policy 49 (Safeguarding Minerals Related Infrastructure and Waste
Management Sites), Policy 57 (Safeguarding Mineral Resources) and Policy 58 (The Conservation
and use of High Grade Dolomite). It provides information on our approach to the preventing the
sterilisation and the safeguarding of minerals resources of local and national importance and also
identifies which mineral transportation facilities, mineral processing and secondary aggregate recycling
facilities and waste sites are to be safeguarded. In addition this appendix also provides information
on what development will be viewed as exempt development which would not be viewed as sterilising
development within aMineral Safeguarding Area (Policy 56) or be viewed as inappropriate development
within a Minerals and Waste Safeguarding Zone (Policy 50).

Table 16 Approach to safeguarding mineral resources

Approach takenMineral

We have safeguarded the most important parts of the magnesian limestone resource. Most quarrying
of the magnesian limestone in County Durham is from the Lower Magnesian Limestone (also known
as the Raisby Formation) which we have safeguarded, whilst buffering the eastern edge of the Lower

Magnesian Limestone
(including proved areas of
high grade dolomite)

Magnesian Limestone outcrop to take into account the likelihood of quarries working down into the
Lower Magnesian Limestone resource through the overlying Middle Magnesian Limestone (also
known as the Ford Formation). In addition we have also sought to safeguard an area of Middle
Magnesian Limestone in east Durham in the vicinity of Hawthorn Quarry which has previously been
identified as a Minerals Local Plan Mineral Consultation Area. In order to protect mineral resources
of recognised national importance we have safeguarded two quarries where high grade dolomite is
known to occur, as "High Grade Dolomite Reserves". These quarries are Thrislington Quarry East
near West Cornforth and Hawthorn Quarry which lies to the south of Seaham. In addition we have
also identified an area of land to the east of Thrislington Quarry East of the A1(M) which was
specifically protected by the Minerals Local Plan, as a "High Grade Dolomite Resource". Available
information also suggests that high grade dolomite from the middle magnesian limestone also lies
to the north and west of Hawthorn Quarry for an unknown distance. However, uncertainty in relation
to the extent and quality of the resource prevents its specific identification as a resource area.

We have safeguarded the entire carboniferous limestone resource.Carboniferous Limestone

We have safeguarded the entire dolerite resource.Dolerite

We have safeguarded the entirety of the fluvial and glacial sand and gravel resource. In addition we
have also safeguarded blown sand and raised beach deposits.

Sand and gravel

We have safeguarded the outcrop of basal permian sand and known areas where it lies at accessible
depths.

Basal permian sand

We have safeguarded the entire outcrop of silica sand.Silica sand

We have safeguarded existing permissions and the proposed area of search south of Todhills
Brickworks. Further potential areas containing brick clay and shale would be safeguarded through
our approach to safeguarding the coal resource area.

Brick clay and shale

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019294

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 544

https://www2.groundstability.com/
mailto:planningconsultation@coal.gov.uk


Approach takenMineral

We have safeguarded the entirety of the Coal Resource Area (identified by the Coal Authority on
their Coal Resource Plan).

Surface mined coal

Information on the distribution of building stone resources is less detailed than for other forms of
surface minerals. Geological deposits with potential to contain building stone resources are potentially
very extensive across the area, although in practice it is likely that only very small parts of these will

Natural building and roofing
stone

contain stone with the right technical and aesthetic properties to constitute viable sources of supply
of building stone. The council will safeguard all existing active natural building and roofing stone
quarries: Dunhouse Quarry; Stainton Quarry; Shipley Banks Quarry; Windy Hill Quarry; Cat Castle
Quarry; and Lingberry Quarry. The council will also safeguard all dormant natural building and roofing
stone quarries in County Durham. In addition the council will safeguard all relic sandstone and slate
quarries in County Durham identified by English Heritage through their Strategic Stone Study.

We have safeguarded all known fluorspar veins.Fluorspar

We have safeguarded all known barytes veins.Barytes

Table 17 Safeguarded Waste Management Sites

Type of OperationOperatorSite

Material Recycling Facility /
Non-Hazardous Landfill / CompostingJohn Wade GroupAycliffe Quarry and Landfill, Aycliffe Village

Composting / Non-Hazardous LandfillDurham County CouncilJoint Stocks Quarry and Landfill, Coxhoe

Household Waste Recycling CentreH.W.MartinPotterhouse Lane HWRC, Durham

Household Waste Recycling CentreH.W.MartinHeighington HWRC, Newton Aycliffe

Household Waste Recycling CentreH.W.MartinHorden HWRC, Peterlee

Household Waste Recycling CentreH.W.MartinMiddleton HWRC, Middleton-in-Teesdale

Household Waste Recycling CentreH.W.MartinRomanway HWRC, Bishop Auckland

Household Waste Recycling CentreH.W.MartinStrangford Road HWRC, Seaham

Household Waste Recycling CentreH.W.MartinTudhoe HWRC, near Spennymoor

Household Waste Recycling CentreH.W.MartinCoxhoe HWRC, Coxhoe

Household Waste Recycling CentreH.W.MartinHett Hills HWRC, Chester-le-Street

Household Waste Recycling CentreH.W.MartinThornley HWRC, Shotton Colliery

Household Waste Recycling CentreH.W.MartinAnnfield Plain HWRC, Annfield Plain

Household Waste Recycling CentreH.W.MartinStainton Grove HWRC, Barnard Castle

Inert LandfillW & M Thompson (Quarries) LtdBishopMiddlehamQuarry, BishopMiddleham

Inert LandfillBreedonCrime Rigg Quarry, Shadforth

Inert LandfillTarmacOld Quarrington Quarry, Bowburn

Non-Hazardous Waste TransferDurham County Council
Thornley Transfer Station, Thornley Station
Ind Est, Shotton Colliery

Non-Hazardous Waste TransferDurham County Council
Heighington Lane Transfer Station, Newton
Aycliffe

Non-Hazardous Waste TransferDurham County CouncilAnnfield Plain Transfer Station, Annfield Plain

295Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 545



Type of OperationOperatorSite

Non-Hazardous Waste TransferDurham County Council
Stainton Grove Transfer Station, Barnard
Castle

Non-Hazardous Waste TransferKen Thomas Site Clearance LtdOld Brickworks, Tanfield

Non-Hazardous Waste TransferJBT Waste Services Ltd
Westline Transfer Station, Westline Industrial
Estate, Birtley

Non-Hazardous Waste TransferTonks Recycling
Tonks Recycling, Tursdale Industrial Estate,
Durham

Table 18 Safeguarded Mineral Sites (Sites with planning permission for mineral working (position at 1
January 2019)).

Minerals extractedOperatorSite

Sand & GravelBreedonLow Harperley, near Wolsingham

Magnesian Limestone and Basal
Permian Sand

BreedonCrime Rigg Quarry, Shadforth

Magnesian LimestoneBreedonRunning Waters Quarry, Sherburn

Magnesian LimestoneTarmacCornforth West, West Cornforth

Magnesian LimestoneTarmacCornforth East, West Cornforth

Sand & GravelHall ConstructionHummerbeck, near West Auckland

Brickclay / ShaleIbstock Brick LtdBirtley Quarry, Birtley

Moulding SandHobson BrothersWeather Hill Quarry, near Stanhope

Magnesian LimestoneBreedonWitch Hill Quarry, Shadforth

Carboniferous LimestoneAggregate IndustriesHeights Quarry, Westgate

Magnesian Limestone and Basal
Permian Sand

TarmacOld Quarrington and Cold Knuckles Quarry,
Bowburn

Magnesian LimestoneHope Construction MaterialsRaisby Quarry (also known as Coxhoe Quarry),
Coxhoe

GanisterMr R ScottHarthope Head Quarry, Langdon Fell

Magnesian LimestoneW & M Thompson (Quarries) LtdBishop Middleham Quarry, Bishop Middleham

WhinstoneCemex UK Materials LtdForce Garth Quarry, High Force,
Middleton-in-Teesdale

SandstoneWindy Hill Quarry Construction CoWindy Hill Quarry, Barnard Castle

SandstoneShipley QuarriesShipley Banks Quarry, Marwood

SandstoneBorder Stone QuarriesLingberry Quarry, Staindrop

SandstoneDunhouse Quarry Co LtdDunhouse Quarry, Staindrop

SandstoneStainton Quarry LtdStainton Quarry, Stainton

SandstoneDunhouse Quarry Co LtdCat Castle Quarry, Lartington

Carboniferous LimestoneAggregate IndustriesHulands Quarry, Bowes

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019296

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 546



Minerals extractedOperatorSite

Carboniferous LimestoneKearton Farms LtdKilmond Wood Quarry, Bowes

Carboniferous LimestoneBreedonBroadwood Quarry, Frosterley

BrickclayWienerbergerLong Lane, Todhills

Carboniferous LimestoneIndigo PacificNewlandside Quarry, Staindrop

Magnesian Limestone and Basal
Permian Sand

TarmacThrislington Quarry West, West Cornforth

Magnesian Limestone and High Grade
Dolomite

TarmacThrislington Quarry East, West Cornforth

Bricklay / Shalen/aEldon Quarry, Eldon

Table 19 Safeguarded Mineral Sites which would require new schemes of working and restoration
conditions prior to working recommencing (position at 1 January 2019).

Mineral.Site

BarytesLunehead, Teesdale

Carboniferous LimestoneBollihope (Jopler Sykes), Frosterley, Wear Valley.

Carboniferous LimestoneBollihope L20, Frosterley, Wear Valley.

Carboniferous LimestoneBollihope L21, Frosterley, Wear Valley.

Carboniferous LimestoneCarriers Hill, Killhope, Wear Valley.

Carboniferous LimestoneGreenfield, Lanehead, Wear Valley.

Carboniferous LimestoneParson Byers, Stanhope, Wear Valley.

Carboniferous LimestonePuddingthorn. Lanehead, Wear Valley

Carboniferous LimestoneScutterhill, Westgate, Wear Valley

Carboniferous LimestoneSide Head, Westgate, Wear Valley

Carboniferous LimestoneWhite Hills, Ireshopeburn, Wear Valley

DoleriteCockfield, Teesdale

DoleriteCrossthwaite, Holwick, Teesdale

DoleriteGreenfoot, Stanhope, Wear Valley

DoleriteMiddleton, Holwick, Teesdale

DoleritePark End, Holwick, Teesdale

FluorpsarStotsfieldburn, Rookhope, Wear Valley.

FluorsparBollihope (Harnisha Burn & Yew Tree), Frosterley, Wear
Valley.

FluorsparBurtree Pasture, Cowshill, Wear Valley.

FluorsparSedling Mine, Cowshill, Wear Valley.

FluorsparSlitt Pasture, Westgate, Wear Valley.

297Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 547



Mineral.Site

FluorsparWest Blackdene, Ireshopeburn, Wear Valley

GanisterCastleside, Castleside.

GanisterCat Crag, Lanehead, Wear Valley.

GanisterDoctors Gate, Wolsingham, Wear Valley/Teesdale.

GanisterHarthope West, St John's Chapel, Wear Valley

GanisterHowden Burn, Frosterley, Wear Valley.

GanisterLintzgarth, Rookhope, Wear Valley.

GanisterMuggleswick Common, Stanhope, Derwentside.

GanisterRedmires, Wolsingham, Wear Valley.

GanisterRoundhill, Rogerley, Wear Valley.

Magnesian LimestoneTuthill Quarry, Haswell, Easington

Moulding SandHouselop Beck, Wolsingham, Wear Valley

Sand & GravelPage Bank, Byers Green, Wear Valley

Sand & GravelRoger Hill, Derwent Bridge Wear Valley

Sand & GravelWolsingham, Wear Valley

SandstoneBerry Bank, Edmondbyers ,Wear Valley

SandstoneViewly Hill, High Stoop Quarry, Wolsingham, Wear
Valley

SandstoneWharnley Burn Farm, Castleside, Derwentside.

Carboniferous LimestoneHarrowbank and Ashby Bank (IDO/3/1)

Magnesian LimestoneHawthorn (IDO/5/1)

Sand and gravelGypsy Lane (IDO/7/6)

Sand and gravelLand south of Gladstone Terrace, Chilton Quarry
(IDO7/3/1)

Table 20 Relic Quarries to be Safeguarded

Grid ReferenceGeologyQuarry
Name

546700393620NYGrindstone
Sandstone

Baxton Law
Quarry

542800408000NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Quickburn

543820408250NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Woodburn

544495409655NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Butsfield
Quarry

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019298

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 548



Grid ReferenceGeologyQuarry
Name

542973409437NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Drovers
Roadside
Quarry

543250409500NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Hermitage
Ganister

543525406505NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Salters Gate

531845425170NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Hall Heads

531865425085NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Hall Heads

531060423605NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Quarry
Houses

531100423780NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Westerton

531205424000NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Westerton

531180423660NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Westerton

548900409700NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Hown's
Quarry

544740413195NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Partridge
Close

543196409522NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Low
Hermitage

542545409375NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Drover
House

542574409398NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Drover
House

542566410311NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Adelpi
Plantation

542992410612NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Hermitage
Plantation

299Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 549



Grid ReferenceGeologyQuarry
Name

543017411366NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Coalford
Quarry

543201411481NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Coalford
Bridge

542865411077NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Steeley Burn

542260411027NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

KennelWood

541695411301NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Lodge Wood

541996410453NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Hutchet
Wood

543062409274NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Low
Hermitage

529905409105NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Rackwood
Hill

524629412169NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Cockfield Fell

524589412333NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Cockfield Fell

525083412983NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Butterknowle
Farm

524997413291NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Low Lands

524883413475NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Low Lands

524342411914NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Charley
Pasture
Quarry

524316410822NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Peathrow
East

524383409939NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Oaky Bank
Quarry

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019300

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 550



Grid ReferenceGeologyQuarry
Name

524574411043NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Lower West
Garth

525483412028NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Cockfield Fell

525427412061NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Cockfield Fell

525153412721NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Cockfield Fell

525275419658NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Brusselton
Wood

525068420166NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Brusselton
Quarry

525089420305NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Brusselton
Wood

525362419266NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Brusselton

525040420627NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Brusselton

524432418873NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Latterington
Hall

523718411459NZLower Coal
Measures
Sandstone

North Wood

550979423311NZMain Post
Sandstone

White Hall

552847423432NZMain Post
Sandstone

Blue House

553262423168NZMain Post
Sandstone

Rabbit Hills

553492423120NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Urpeth
Common

552112424517NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

High Row

551807425393NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Burnthouse
Quarries

301Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 551



Grid ReferenceGeologyQuarry
Name

550316424776NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Congburn

549459424754NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Smithydean
Quarries

549563424550NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Smithydean
Quarries

544564425911NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Sniperley

544510425227NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Sniperley

545990430391NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

LowBrasside
Moor

546095430235NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Brasside
Quarry

545651430663NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Mallygill
Quarry

545041429860NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Woodwell
House

544956429474NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Frankland
Wood

544873429633NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Frankland
Wood

544737429584NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Kepier Wood

544193429411NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Kepier Wood

544291432625NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

New
Pittington

544002429277NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Kepier
Quarries

539996420772NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

East Brandon
Wood

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019302

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 552



Grid ReferenceGeologyQuarry
Name

539956423243NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Brandon Hall

539965425802NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Littleburn

539956425905NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Borehole
Wood

539158420842NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Rabbit Hill
Plantation

538733425879NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Little Burn

539154420924NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Rabbit Hill
Plantation

539587424213NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Brandon
Colliery

538792425828NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Cascade
Walk

540751420327NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Long Hill

543091427346NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Pit Cottage

543191427436NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Crook Hill

533261429021NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Ferryhill

533185429158NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Strawberry
Cottage

528920423152NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Grange Hill

529800421991NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Sewell Wood

527336422154NZMiddle Coal
Measures
Sandstone

Shawbrow
Hill

529570384791NYSlateGreen Hill

303Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 553



Grid ReferenceGeologyQuarry
Name

550670401290NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Berry Bank

516470401400NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Catcastle
Quarry

545400396900NYStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Dead Friars 2
Quarry

519300411350NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Dunhouse
Quarry

533850386475NYStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Harthope
Head

520820401705NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Shipley
Banks
Quarry

519030406955NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Stainton
Quarry

521660402170NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Windy Hill
Quarry

538140408235NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Redgate

537665402285NYStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Wiserley Hill

518830407075NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Stainton
Grange

545185397180NYStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Dead Friars 1

520550408525NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Lingberry
Quarry

517018394918NYStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Catty Crag

519895397375NYStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Yew Scar

517450406305NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

West Town

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019304

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 554



Grid ReferenceGeologyQuarry
Name

517100405795NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Town Head

520925401560NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Shipley
Banks

520790402530NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Baxtongill

519820403450NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

High Park
Wall

513700398350NYStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Clints

512701414552NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

East
Middleton

511707413495NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Hutton Fields

522220396901NYStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Bail Hill
Quarries

522260397058NYStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Bail Hill
Quarries

522418402696NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Howe Gill
Quarries

522389402565NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Howe Gill
Quarries

521791402493NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Moss Close

520978402198NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Shipley
Banks
Quarries

521165401481NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Shipley
Banks
Quarries

521078401500NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Shipley
Banks
Quarries

519358404484NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Belle Vue

305Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 555



Grid ReferenceGeologyQuarry
Name

519225403794NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Knot Hill

519269403740NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Knot Hill

518884404199NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Knot Hill

517656403760NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Towler Hill

519308411195NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Bowes Dunn
House
Quarry

519256411133NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Dunn House
Quarry

519170411153NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Dunn House
Quarries

515794405295NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

West View

516338401096NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Cat Castle
Quarries

516397401202NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Cat Castle
Quarries

513208397357NYStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Sealgill
Quarries

517205408707NZStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Westwick
Moor

517837396977NYStainmore
Formation
Sandstone

Tinklers
Quarry

Table 21 Safeguarded Mineral Transportation Infrastructure

Weardale Railway Line - The Weardale Railway line also has the
potential to be used for mineral trans-shipment. Our current view
is that theWeardale Railway should be safeguarded with the proviso
that safeguarding will not prejudice the use of the line for passenger
traffic.

Thrislington rail head. This facility is connected to the rail
network via a small rail line connecting with the East Coast
Mainline).

Leamside LineFerryhill-Cornforth-RaisbyQuarry alignment. This rail alignment
has the potential to connect the East Coast Main Line with
Raisby Quarry.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019306

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 556



Railhead at Seaham Harbour and Port of Seaham.Rail Facility at Ferryhill Station

Table 22 Safeguarded Mineral Processing Infrastructure

OperatorLocationSite Name

WienerbergerTodhillsTodhills Brickworks

Cemex Uk Materials LtdForce Garth Quarry, High
Force,
Middleton-in-Teesdale

Coated road stone – Asphalt Plant

Aggregate Industries LtdHeights Quarry, WestgateCoated road stone – Asphalt Plant

Aggregate Industries LtdHulands Quarry, BowesCoated road stone – Asphalt Plant

TarmacCoxhoe QuarryCoated road stone – Asphalt Plant

TarmacThrislington Quarry,
Cornforth

Kilns for production of calcined material, Concrete Plant and
Sand recovery plant

Table 23 Safeguarded Recycled and Secondary Aggregate Sites

OperatorLocationSite Name

W&M ThomsonBishop MiddlehamBishop Middleham Quarry

Stonegrave AggregatesAycliffeAycliffe Quarry

TarmacCornforthThrislington Quarry

TarmacBowburnOld Quarrington Quarry

Aggregate IndustriesWestgateHeights Quarry

Aggregate IndustriesNear BowesHulands Quarry

Table 24 Safeguarded Concrete plants in County Durham

OperatorLocationSite

Cemex ReadymixMain Street, Crookhall, ConsettConsett Plant

Cemex ReadymixLittleburn Industrial Estate, Langley MoorDurham Plant

Cemex ReadymixBehind BSC, Off Cumbie Way, Newton AycliffeNewton Aycliffe Plant

Ready Mix ConcreteThrislington Quarry, West CornforthFerryhill

BreedonDurham Concrete Plant, Crime Rigg Quarry, Shadforth,
Sherburn Hill

Crime Rigg Quarry

Hope Construction MaterialsDragonville Industrial Estate, Rennys Lane, DurhamDurham

Hope Construction MaterialsRomanway Industrial Estate, Tindale Crescent, Bishop
Auckland

Bishop Auckland

Hope Construction MaterialsCoxhoe Quarry, off Station Road, Raisby Hill, CoxhoeCoxhoe

307Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 557



Exempt DevelopmentwithinMineral SafeguardingAreas andMinerals andWaste
Safeguarding Zones

D.2 The following types of development will be viewed as exempt development and will not be
considered as sterilising development within a Mineral Safeguarding Area (Policy 49) or be viewed
as inappropriate development within a Minerals and Waste Safeguarding Zone (Policy 49):

Infilling in an otherwise built up frontage within a settlement;

Householder planning applications within the curtilage of a property;

Alterations and extensions to existing buildings including applications for new or improved
accesses;

'Minor' works such as gates, walls and fences;

Agricultural buildings adjacent to existing farmsteads;

Advertisement consent;

Reserved matters applications following the grant of outline planning permission;

Listed Buildings Consent and Conservation Area Consent;

Applications to remove or amend a condition attached to an existing planning permission;

Prior notifications for telecommunications development, forestry and demolition;

Works to trees or removal of hedgerows;

Outside storage;

Proposals necessary for coastal management;

Certificates of Lawfulness of Existing Use of Development (CLEUD); and

Certificates of Lawfulness of Proposed Use or Development (CLOPUD).

D.3 In addition to the above the following types of development will be viewed as exempt
development and will not be considered as sterilising development within a Mineral Safeguarding
Area (Policy 49):

Open space (although not outdoor recreation facilities such as golf courses) and allotments; and

Change of use of existing buildings.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019308

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 558



E Glossary of Terms

This glossary of terms defines terms used in this report:

Affordable housing: housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs are not met by the market
(including housing that provides a subsidised route to home ownership and/or is for essential local
workers); and which complies with one or more of the following definitions:

a. Affordable housing for rent: meets all of the following conditions: (a) the rent is set in accordance
with the government's rent policy for Social Rent or Affordable Rent, or is at least 20% below
local market rents (including service charges where applicable); (b) the landlord is a registered
provider, except where it is included as part of a Build to Rent scheme (in which case the landlord
need not be a registered provider); and (c) it includes provisions to remain at an affordable price
for future eligible households, or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable housing
provision. For Build to Rent schemes affordable housing for rent is expected to be the normal
form of affordable housing provision (and, in this context, is known as Affordable Private Rent);

b. Starter homes: is as specified in Sections 2 and 3 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 and
any secondary legislation made under these sections. The definition of a starter home should
reflect the meaning set out in statute and any such secondary legislation at the time of plan-
preparation or decision-making. Where secondary legislation has the effect of limiting a
household’s eligibility to purchase a starter home to those with a particular maximum level of
household income, those restrictions should be used;

c. Discounted market sales housing: is that sold at a discount of at least 20% below local market
value. Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices. Provisions
should be in place to ensure housing remains at a discount for future eligible households;

d. Other affordable routes to home ownership: is housing provided for sale that provides a route
to ownership for those who could not achieve home ownership through the market. It includes
shared ownership, relevant equity loans, other low cost homes for sale (at a price equivalent to
at least 20% below local market value) and rent to buy (which includes a period of intermediate
rent). Where public grant funding is provided, there should be provisions for the homes to remain
at an affordable price for future eligible households, or for any receipts to be recycled for
alternative affordable housing provision, or refunded to government or the relevant authority
specified in the funding agreement

Aggregate: Sand, gravel, crushed rock and other bulk materials, used by the construction industry.

Air Quality Management Areas: Areas designated by local authorities because they are not likely
to achieve national air quality objectives by the relevant deadlines.

Ancient or veteran tree: A tree which, because of its great age, size or condition is of exceptional
biodiversity, cultural or heritage value. All ancient trees are veteran trees. Not all veteran trees are
old enough to be ancient, but are old relative to other trees of the same species. Very few trees of
any species reach the ancient life-stage.

Ancient woodland: An area that has been wooded continuously since at least 1600 AD. It includes
ancient semi-natural woodland and plantations on ancient woodland sites (PAWS).

Amenity: A broad concept that refers to the pleasant or satisfactory aspects of a place which add
positively to its overall character and to the enjoyment of residents or visitors. For example, it
encompasses human health, quality design, provision and protection of local services, local economy

309Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 559



and the protection of the countryside, historic environment, environmental character and visual, air
and noise quality. Amenity also encompasses leisure and sporting areas, such as playing fields and
other open spaces used for sport.

Archaeological interest: There will be archaeological interest in a heritage asset if it holds, or
potentially may hold, evidence of past human activity worthy of expert investigation at some point.

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB): An area with statutory national landscape designation,
the primary purpose of which is to conserve and enhance natural beauty. Together with National
Parks, they represent the finest landscapes.

Article 4 direction: A direction made under the Town and Country Planning Act to remove some or
all permitted development rights in an area or on a site.

Basal Permian Sand: This is a bedrock deposit of sand which is found along the base of the
Magnesian Limestone Escarpment and dips to the east beneath the limestone. The resource can be
used as a building and asphalting sand or combined with limestone fines to make a product suitable
for concreting purposes.

Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land: Land in grades 1, 2 and 3a of the Agricultural Land
Classification.

Brownfield Land: See previously developed land.

Brownfield land registers: Registers of previously developed land that local planning authorities
consider to be appropriate for residential development, having regard to criteria in the Town and
Country Planning (Brownfield Land Registers) Regulations 2017. Local planning authorities will be
able to trigger a grant of permission in principle for residential development on suitable sites in their
registers where they follow the required procedures.

Build to Rent: Purpose built housing that is typically 100% rented out. It can form part of a wider
multi-tenure development comprising either flats or houses, but should be on the same site and/or
contiguous with the main development. Schemes will usually offer longer tenancy agreements of
three years or more, and will typically be professionally managed stock in single ownership and
management control.

Built up area: The built up area is land contained within the main body of existing built development
of a settlement or is within a settlement boundary defined in a Neighbourhood Plan. Areas falling
outside this definition will be regarded as countryside.

Capacity (in waste context): The ability of existing facilities to deal with all the waste which occurs.

Climate change adaptation: Adjustments made to natural or human systems in response to the
actual or anticipated impacts of climate change, to mitigate harm or exploit beneficial opportunities.

Climate change mitigation: Action to reduce the impact of human activity on the climate system,
primarily through reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

Community Right to Build Order: An Order made by the local planning authority (under the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990) that grants planning permission for a site-specific development
proposal or classes of development.

Coastal change management area: An area identified in plans as likely to be affected by physical
change to the shoreline through erosion, coastal landslip, permanent inundation or coastal accretion.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019310

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 560



Commercial and Industrial waste:Commercial and Industrial waste (C&I) is produced by all business
and industrial sectors.

Comparison shopping: The provision of retail items not obtained on a frequent basis, i.e. not
classified as convenience shopping (see definition below), which the purchaser will compare on the
basis of price and quality before a purchase is made, e.g. clothes, fashion, gift merchandise, electrical
goods (white and brown), gas cookers and furniture.

Conservation (for heritage policy): The process of maintaining and managing change to a heritage
asset in a way that sustains and, where appropriate, enhances its significance.

Conservation Area: Areas of special architectural or historic interest, the character, appearance or
setting of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance.

Construction/Demolition and Excavation Waste: Construction/Demolition and Excavation Waste
(CDEW) is waste arising from site construction or refurbishment, demolition or excavation. Specific
types of waste which commonly fall under the CD&E definition include plasterboard, bricks, soils,
glass and tiles.

Convenience Shopping:Broadly defined as food shopping, drinks, tobacco, newspapers, magazines
and confectionery, purchased regularly for relatively immediate consumption.

Countryside: See built up area.

Crushed rock: Hard types of rock, which have been quarried, fragmented and graded for use as
aggregate.

Decentralised energy: Local renewable and low-carbon energy sources.

Degraded land: Land that has lost some degree of its natural productivity due to excessive or
inappropriate exploitation resulting in a deterioration in its quality i.e. its topsoil, vegetation, and/or
water resources.

Deliverable: To be considered deliverable, sites for housing should be available now, offer a suitable
location for development now, and be achievable with a realistic prospect that housing will be delivered
on the site within five years. Sites that are not major development and sites with detailed planning
permission, should be considered deliverable until permission expires, unless there is clear evidence
that homes will not be delivered within five years (e.g. they are no longer viable, there is no longer a
demand for the type of units or sites have long term phasing plans). Sites with outline planning
permission, permission in principle, allocated in the development plan or identified on a brownfield
register should only be considered deliverable where there is clear evidence that housing completions
will begin on site within five years.

Density: In the case of residential development, a measurement of either the number of habitable
rooms per hectare or the number of dwellings per hectare.

Derelict land: Land that has become damaged by industrial or other development and beyond
beneficial use without treatment. Treatment may include demolition and levelling. The land may have
been abandoned or have unoccupied buildings in an advanced state of disrepair.

Designated heritage asset: AWorld Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building, Protected
Wreck Site, Registered Park and Garden, Registered Battlefield or Conservation Area designated
under the relevant legislation.

311Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 561



Developable: To be considered developable, sites should be in a suitable location for housing
development with a reasonable prospect that they will be available and could be viably developed at
the point envisaged.

Development:Developmentmeans the carrying out of building, engineering, mining or other operations
in, on, over or under land, or the making of any material change in the use of any buildings or other
land.

Developmentmanagement: The process whereby a local planning authority manages, shapes, and
considers the merits of a planning application and whether it should be given permission with regard
to the development plan.

Development plan: Defined in section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, and
includes adopted local plans, neighbourhood plans that have been made and published spatial
development strategies, together with any regional strategy policies that remain in force. Neighbourhood
plans that have been approved at referendum are also part of the development plan, unless the local
planning authority decides that the neighbourhood plan should not be made.

Economic development: Development, including those within the B Use Classes, public
and community uses and main town centre uses (but excluding housing development).

Edge of centre: For retail purposes, a location that is well connected to, and up to 300 metres from
the primary shopping area. For all other main town centre uses, a location within 300 metres of a
town centre boundary. For office development, this includes locations outside the town centre but
within 500 metres of a public transport interchange. In determining whether a site falls within the
definition of edge of centre, account should be taken of local circumstances.

Employment land: Land identified for business, general industrial, and storage and distribution
development as defined by Classes B1, B2 and B8 of the Use Classes Order. It does not include
land for retail development.

Employment Land Review (ELR): The study will review current employment land supply and look
to identify the appropriate type, quantity and location of employment land which will be capable of
accommodating the economic growth trajectories.

Environment Agency:Government body with responsibility for issues relating to flood risk; pollution
and contamination; and waste licensing.

Environmental impact assessment: A procedure to be followed for certain types of project to ensure
that decisions are made in full knowledge of any likely significant effects on the environment.

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA): Seeks to ensure that plans will promote equality and assess
any risk of discrimination before policies are introduced or changed. The process checks that
reasonable steps are being taken to tackle disadvantage and meet the diverse needs for all
communities.

European site: This includes candidate Special Areas of Conservation, Sites of Community
Importance, Special Areas of Conservation and Special Protection Areas, and is defined in regulation
8 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010.

Evidence base: The information and data gathered by local authorities to justify the “soundness” of
the policy approach set out in Local Plans, including physical, economic, and social characteristics
of an area.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019312

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 562



Examination in Public: The process by which an Independent Planning Inspector publicly examines
a submitted development plan, together with any public representations, before issuing a report.

Fluvialand glacial sand: These are superficial deposits of sand laid down in the last two million
years. Once extracted the resource is often suitable for concreting sand.

Geodiversity: The range of rocks, minerals, fossils, soils and landforms.

Green Belt (not to be confused with the term ‘greenfield’): The fundamental aim of Green Belt
policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of
Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. Green Belt serves five purposes: a) to check
the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one
another; c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; d) to preserve the setting
and special character of historic towns; and e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the
recycling of derelict and other urban land.

Greenfield land or site: Land (or a defined site) which has never been built on before or where the
remains of any structure or activity have blended into the landscape over time.

Green infrastructure: A network of multi-functional green space, urban and rural, which is capable
of delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local communities.

Habitats Regulation Assessment: An assessment of the Plan's likely impact on wildlife habitats of
European importance. Also known as an 'Appropriate Assessment'.

Habitats site: Any site which would be included within the definition at regulation 8 of the Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 for the purpose of those regulations, including candidate
Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas and any relevant Marine Sites.

Hazardous waste:Material or substances potentially harmful to health or the environment, including
oils and asbestos, batteries, and fluorescent lighting.

Hectare: A metric unit to measure land. One hectare equals 2.47 acres or 10,000 square metres.
One hectare of land can often accommodate 30 houses.

Heritage asset: A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree
of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest. It includes
designated heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning authority (including local listing).

Heritage Coast: An area identified to focus attention on managing the best stretches of undeveloped
coast, where the needs of conservation, pressures of recreation and problems of pollution need to
be considered in a co-ordinated way.

Historic England: Government body with responsibility for all aspects of protecting and promoting
the historic environment.

Historic environment: All aspects of the environment resulting from the interaction between people
and places through time, including all surviving physical remains of past human activity, whether
visible, buried or submerged, and landscaped and planted or managed flora.

Housing Delivery Test : The Housing Delivery Test is an annual measurement of housing delivery.
It is a percentage measurement of the number of net homes delivered against the number of homes
required, as set out in the Local Plan over a rolling three year period.

Inert waste: Waste that does not cause contamination or danger to human health by decomposing
or reacting physically, chemically or biologically (e.g. Rubble, glass, concrete).

313Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 563



Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP): Identifies what physical, social and green infrastructure is needed,
such as new roads, schools and open spaces, who will deliver this and when.

Irreplaceable Habitat:These are areas such as ancient woodland or limestone pavement, the
significance of which may be derived from habitat age, uniqueness, species diversity and/or the
impossibilities of re-creation.

Listed building: A building of special architectural or historic interest. Graded I (highest quality), II*
or II. Listing includes the interior as well as the exterior of the building, and includes any buildings or
permanent structures within its curtilage which have formed part of the land since before 1 July 1948.
Historic England is responsible for designating buildings for listing in England.

Local Aggregate Assessment: An annual assessment of the demand for and supply of aggregates
in a mineral planning authority’s area. A mineral planning authority must either prepare a Local
Aggregate Assessment on its own or jointly with one or more other minerals planning authority if it
wishes.

Local Authority CollectedWaste (LACW):All waste collected by the local authority (and is sometimes
known as municipal waste). LACW generally consists of all waste produced by householders
and collected by the council or delivered to household waste recycling centres. It includes both
non-municipal waste fractions (such as construction and demolition waste if collected by the Local
Authority) and waste which is 'similar in nature and composition' (such as business waste).

Local Enterprise Partnership:A body, designated by the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities
and Local Government, established for the purpose of creating or improving the conditions for economic
growth in an area.

Local housing need: the number of homes identified as being needed through the application of
the standard method set out in national planning guidance, or a justified alternative approach.

Local Strategic Partnership (LSP): An overall partnership of public, private, community and voluntary
organisations within a local authority area, with the objective of improving people’s quality of life. The
County Durham Partnership is the LSP for County Durham and it is responsible for the production of
the Sustainable Community Strategy (as referred to below).

Low Level Radioactive: Low Level Radioactive waste produced by activities such as clinical and
laboratory testing.

Main town centre uses: Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres);
leisure, entertainment and more intensive sport and recreation uses (including cinemas, restaurants,
drive-through restaurants, bars and pubs, nightclubs, casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor
bowling centres, and bingo halls); offices; and arts, culture and tourism development (including
theatres, museums, galleries and concert halls, hotels and conference facilities).

Major development: For housing, development where 10 or more homes will be provided, or the
site has an area of 0.5 hectares or more. For non-residential development it means additional
floorspace of 1,000m2 or more, or a site of one hectare or more, or as otherwise provided in the Town
and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. For the purposes
of development within the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and the County Durham
Heritage Coast, whether a proposal is ‘major development’ is a matter for the decision maker, taking
into account its nature, scale and setting, and whether it could have a significant adverse impact on
the purposes for which the area has been designated or defined.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019314

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 564



Major hazard sites, installations and pipelines:Sites and infrastructure, including licensed explosive
sites and nuclear installations, around which Health and Safety Executive (and Office for Nuclear
Regeneration) consultation distances to mitigate the consequences to public safety of major accidents
may apply.

Material consideration: A material consideration is a matter which the decision maker must take
into account when assessing a planning application.

Mineral Resource: A potential mineral deposit where the quality and quantity of material present
has not been tested.

Minerals resources of local and national importance: Minerals which are necessary to meet
society’s needs, including aggregates, brickclay (especially fireclay), silica sand (including high grade
silica sands), cement raw materials, fluorspar, shallow and deep-mined coal, oil and gas (including
conventional and unconventional hydrocarbons) and local minerals of importance to heritage assets
and local distinctiveness.

Mineral Safeguarding Area: An area designated by a minerals planning authority such as a county
council and which covers known deposits of minerals which are desired to be kept safeguarded from
unnecessary sterilisation by non-mineral development.

Municipal waste: Waste from households as well as other waste which, because of its nature or
composition, is similar to waste from households. This includes a significant amount of waste that is
generated by businesses and not handled by local authorities.

Natural capital: This term is a way of defining the wide range of benefits that we derive from nature,
either directly or indirectly bringing value to people and the country at large. They do this in many
ways but chiefly by providing us with food, clean air and water, wildlife, energy, wood, recreation and
protection from hazards.

Natural England: Government advisors on nature conservation, biodiversity and landscape in
England.

Neighbourhood plans:A plan prepared by a parish council or a neighbourhood forum for a designated
neighbourhood area. In law this is described as a neighbourhood development plan in the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Non-Designated Heritage Assets: Buildings, monuments, sites, places, areas or landscapes
identified as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions but which
are not formally designated heritage assets.

Non-hazardous waste:Consists of Municipal Waste (formerly MSW) and Commercial and Industrial
(C&I) waste. 'Municipal waste' traditionally meant waste managed by a local authority. The Landfill
Directive defines municipal waste as waste from households as well as other waste which, because
of its nature or composition, is similar to waste from households. This includes a significant amount
of waste that is generated by businesses and not handled by local authorities.

Non-strategic minerals and waste sites: These are sites which could be allocated in the Minerals
andWaste Policies and Allocations Document. They are not fundamental to the delivery of the strategy
of the Plan for either minerals or waste. For example, all surface mined coal sites and natural building
and roofing stone sites would not be considered fundamental to the delivery of the strategy of the
Plan for minerals or waste.

Non-strategic policies: Policies contained in a neighbourhood plan, or those policies in a local plan
that are not strategic policies.

315Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 565



Objectively Assessed Need: An assessment of the future amount of housing and other uses needed.

Older people: People over or approaching retirement age, including the active, newly-retired through
to the very frail elderly, and whose housing needs can encompass accessible, adaptable general
needs housing through to the full range of retirement and specialised housing for those with support
or care needs.

Open space: All open space of public value, including not just land, but also areas of water (such
as rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs) which offer important opportunities for sport and recreation
and can act as a visual amenity.

Out of centre: A location which is not in or on the edge of a centre but not necessarily outside the
urban area.

Outstanding universal value: Cultural and/or natural significance which is so exceptional as to
transcend national boundaries and to be of common importance for present and future generations
of all humanity.

Permitted reserves: Mineral deposits with the benefit of planning permission for extraction.

Permission in principle: A form of planning consent which establishes that a site is suitable for a
specified amount of housing-led development in principle. Following a grant of permission in principle,
the site must receive a grant of technical details consent before development can proceed.

Planning condition: A condition imposed on a grant of planning permission (in accordance with the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990) or a condition included in a Local Development Order or
Neighbourhood Development Order.

Planning obligation: A legal obligation entered into under section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 or a unilateral undertaking to mitigate the impacts of a development proposal.

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG): The government's guidance on planning issues.

Previously developed land: Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the
curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage
should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: land that is or
was last occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has been developed for minerals
extraction or waste disposal by landfill where provision for restoration has been made through
development management procedures; land in built-up areas such as residential gardens, parks,
recreation grounds and allotments; and land that was previously-developed but where the remains
of the permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape.

Primary shopping area: Defined area where retail development is concentrated.

Primary and secondary frontages: Primary frontages are likely to include a high proportion of retail
uses which may include food, drinks, clothing and household goods. Secondary frontages provide
greater opportunities for a diversity of uses such as restaurants, cinemas and businesses.

Recovery: Value can be recovered from waste by recovering materials through recycling, composting
or recovery of energy.

Registered providers: Social rented housing is owned by registered providers.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019316

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 566



Renewable and low carbon energy: Includes energy for heating and cooling as well as generating
electricity. Renewable energy covers those energy flows that occur naturally and repeatedly in the
environment – from the wind, the fall of water, the movement of the oceans, from the sun and also
from biomass and deep geothermal heat. Low carbon technologies are those that can help reduce
emissions (compared to conventional use of fossil fuels).

Residual waste: Waste remaining after materials for re-use, recycling and composting have been
removed.

Rural exception sites: Small sites used for affordable housing in perpetuity where sites would not
normally be used for housing. Rural exception sites seek to address the needs of the local community
by accommodating households who are either current residents or have an existing family or
employment connection. A proportion of market homes may be allowed on the site at the local
authority’s discretion, for example where essential to enable the delivery of affordable units without
grant funding.

Safeguarded Aerodrome: Certain civil aerodromes, selected on the basis of their importance to the
national air transport system, are officially safeguarded, in order to ensure that their operation and
development are not inhibited by buildings, structures, erections or works which infringe protected
surfaces, obscure runway approach lights or have the potential to impair the performance of aerodrome
navigation aids, radio aids or telecommunication systems; by lighting which has the potential to distract
pilots; or by developments which have the potential to increase the number of birds or the bird hazard
risk.

Seascape: Landscapes with views of the coast or sea, and the adjacent marine environment with
cultural, historical and archaeological links with each other.

Self-build and custom-build housing: Housing built by an individual, a group of individuals, or
people working with or for them, to be occupied by that individual. Such housing can be either market
or affordable housing. A legal definition, for the purpose of applying the Self-build and Custom
Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended), is contained in section 1(A1) and (A2) of that Act.

Setting of a heritage asset: The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent
is not fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may
make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to
appreciate that significance or may be neutral.

Significance (for heritage policy): The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations
because of its heritage interest. The interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic.
Significance derives not only from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting. For
World Heritage Sites, the cultural value described within each site’s Statement of Outstanding Universal
Value forms part of its significance.

Solar shading: A system to control the amount of heat and light from the sun entering a building.
Also known as Brise Soleil, these normally consist of horizontal or vertical strips of material, or 'fins',
which protect a building from the heating affects of the sun.

Statutory undertakers / Statutory utilities: Providers of essential services such as gas, electricity,
water or telecommunications.

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA):A procedure (set out in the Environmental Assessment
of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004) which requires the formal environmental assessment
of certain plans and programmes which are likely to have significant effects on the environment
including those in the field of planning and land use, which complies with the EU Directive 2001/42/EC.

317Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 567



Strategic mineral and waste sites: These are sites which are allocated in the Local Plan by virtue
that they are fundamental to the delivery of the strategy of the Plan for minerals and waste. Such
sites would make a major contribution to meeting the established need for a particular mineral or for
the treatment of a particular waste stream, for example by providing a 25 year stock or more of
permitted reserves of brick making raw materials for a particular brick works.

Supplementary Planning Documents: These are documents which add further detail to the policies
in the Local Plan. They can be used to provide further guidance for development on specific sites,
or on particular issues, such as design.

Sustainable transport modes: Any efficient, safe and accessible means of transport with overall
low impact on the environment, including walking and cycling, low and ultra low emission vehicles,
car sharing and public transport.

Sustainability Appraisal (including Environmental Appraisal): The process of weighing and
assessing all the policies in a development plan document for its global, national and local implications.
(See also Strategic Environmental Assessment).

Town centre: Area defined on the local authority’s policies map, including the primary shopping area
and areas predominantly occupied bymain town centre uses within or adjacent to the primary shopping
area. References to town centres or centres apply to city centres, town centres, district centres and
local centres but exclude small parades of shops of purely neighbourhood significance. Unless they
are identified as centres in the development plan, existing out-of-centre developments, comprising
or including main town centre uses, do not constitute town centres.

Transport assessment: A comprehensive and systematic process that sets out transport issues
relating to a proposed development. It identifies measures required to improve accessibility and safety
for all modes of travel, particularly for alternatives to the car such as walking, cycling and public
transport and measures that will be needed deal to with the anticipated transport impacts of the
development.

Travel plan: A travel plan aims to promote sustainable travel choices (for example cycling) as an
alternative to single occupancy car journeys that may impact negatively on the environment, congestion
and road safety.

Viability: Financial viability is a test of the ability of a development to meet its costs including the
cost of planning obligations, while ensuring an appropriate Site Value for the landowner and a market
risk adjusted return to the developer in delivering that project.

Waste audit: This is an audit which would be useful to prepare for proposals that are likely to generate
significant volumes of waste through their development or operational phases. The audit should
demonstrate that waste will be minimised as far as possible and that the waste generated will be
managed in an appropriate manner in accordance with the waste hierarchy. Whether a proposal will
generate significant volumes of waste is dependent on the nature and scale of the proposed
development.

Waste hierarchy: A framework for securing a sustainable approach to waste management. Wherever
possible, waste should be minimised. If waste cannot be avoided, then it should be: re-used; recycled
or composting; or converted to energy; and finally landfill disposal.

Windfall sites: Sites not specifically identified in the plan.

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019318

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 568



World Heritage Site: A cultural or natural site of outstanding universal value which is so exceptional
as to transcend national boundaries and to be of common importance for present and future
generations, as determined by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation
(UNESCO).

319Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Pre-Submission Draft January 2019

Page 569



Braille Audio Large print

Cdpconsultation@durham.gov.uk
03000 260 000

Page 570



Page 1 of 61 

Health Impact Assessment Executive Summary 
 

Report of Chris Woodcock, Public Health Strategic Manager and 
Michelle Robinson, Spatial Policy Team Leader 
 
Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide public health senior management team with an update on the health 

impact assessment (HIA) on the County Durham Preferred Options (the Local 

Plan). 

Executive summary 

2 This brief report makes recommendations for the County Durham Plan (CDP) 

process which may have a positive impact upon health outcomes in County 

Durham.  

3 Assessing the direct health impacts of the Local Plan such as a possible 

exposure to pollutants such as noise, as well as indirect influence on health 

such as access to a job market or the accessibility of public space has helped 

to make recommendations to create healthier public policy. 

Recommendations 

4 PHSMT is recommended to: 

(a) Note the contents of this report; 

(b) Support the HIA recommendations. 

Background 

5 In order to ensure that County Durham is a successful place to live, work, invest 

and visit the Local Plan focusses on supporting and creating vibrant communities by 

delivering: 

 More and better jobs and sustained economic growth;   

 A wide choice of high quality homes that supports economic growth and 

meets the needs of all people;  

 A high quality built and enhanced natural environment; and 

 The necessary supporting infrastructure including transport, health and 

educational needs. 

 

6 On the 13th June 2018, Cabinet approved the Preferred Options for a six week 

consultation between the 22nd June and the 3rd August 2018. The Preferred Options 

have been informed by integral assessments. These include the Sustainability 

Appraisal, the Habitats Regulations Assessment, Equalities Impact Assessment 

Page 571



Page 2 of 61 

and the Spatial Strategy Justification. The Preferred Options propose an ambitious 

Vision and Objectives for the future development of County Durham up to 2035 and 

are informed by a suite of further evidence. 

 

7 To ensure that health considerations have been embedded into the Preferred 

Options, health has been included as a key part of the Sustainability Appraisal 

process.  

 
8 A Health Impact Assessment has been undertaken working with a range of 

colleagues to inform the next stage of the County Durham Plan process. The HIA 

has corporate support as the process will consider further opportunities to provide 

good jobs and places to live, learn and play. 

 
Health Impact Assessment (HIA) 

 

9 HIA is a structured, solution-focused and action orientated approach to maximising 

the positive and minimising the negative impacts of new initiatives. This approach is 

not about advocating for the removal of a policy but more positively how additions 

or recommendations to the existing polices could help deliver improved health 

outcomes to our residents. The selection of a policy for the HIA is not a reflection on 

its quality, but the opportunities it presents to further enhance the positive impacts 

upon our community. Importantly it aims to reduce or eliminate health inequities and 

social inequities occurring as part of the proposal. 

 

10 Assessing the health impacts of different policies further enhances the 

collaborations between health and planning colleagues which subsequently helps to 

ensure that health considerations are integrated into planning across all 

departments going forward. Health benefits are more likely to be realised across the 

broad spectrum of local authority functions through this improved health and 

planning relationship, rather than remaining as individual strands of good practice.  

 

11 Health impacts are the overall effect, direct or indirect, of a policy on the health of 

population. Direct effects could be exposure to pollutants including noise, which a 

proposal may release in the air, water or soil. It also considers indirect influence on 

health such as access to a job market or the accessibility of public space. 

 

12 An HIA takes a broad view of health in that health means more than health care 

provision or clinical care. It is now generally accepted that the built environment is 

one of the many interrelated factors that influence people’s behaviour and the 

choices that they are able to make. Sir Michael Marmot’s report ‘Steps to Healthy 

Planning: Proposals for Action’ found evidence that the following ‘planning’ issues 

impact on physical and mental health: 

 

 The location, density and mix of land uses 

Page 572



Page 3 of 61 

 Street layout and connectivity 

 Access to public services, employment, local fresh food and other services 

 Safety and security 

 Open and green space 

 Affordable and energy efficient housing 

 Air quality and noise 

 Extreme weather events and a changing climate 

 Community interaction 

 Transport 

 
13 Poor health outcomes affect not only the individual’s health, but their school 

attainment, employability and employment status. Good health should be outcome 

of the plan, but also an underpinning component of the vision to deliver economic 

growth and sustainable communities.   

 
14 An HIA considers the impact directly upon disease and also considers the social 

determinants of health which impact our residents, unequally, across County 

Durham. By taking into account these social determinants an HIA can support the 

development of healthy public policy. 

 

15 An HIA is an established approach with a strong evidence base of positive 

outcomes in policy development. Recent local high profile examples include the HIA 

for the second Tyne Tunnel which led to a number of recommendations such as 

creating more direct transport routes and avoiding directing traffic through existing 

settlements, to further enhance the policy beyond its initial intent.  

 
 
The Health Impact Assessment Process 

 

16 HIA training has taken place with a number of colleagues across Durham County 

Council (DCC). This was aimed at ensuring that there was a shared skill set and 

narrative in our approach to a HIA. Feedback from the session was universally 

positive with many participants highlighting that the approach had enabled further 

constructive discussion between planners and public health professionals. 

 
17 Following the training a steering group has been established to ensure the delivery 

of the HIA. This group has membership from spatial policy, sustainability, public 

health, research and public health intelligence and the AAPs. The terms of 

reference are included in Appendix 2. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 573



Page 4 of 61 

18 An HIA process typically follows the diagram below.  

 
 

 
 

Screening 

 

19 The first stage of a HIA is a screening exercise. This determines whether an HIA is 

required so that resources, time and effort are targeted appropriately. The task and 

finish group have completed a two stage screening exercise.  

 
20 As the County Durham Plan contains 61 policies, the first stage was a rapid screen 

using a screening tool. The 61 policies were allocated across the task and finish 

group and assessed against possible impacts upon the social determinants of 

health and impact upon health equity, based on the detail provided in the policy. 

This produced a longlist of 17 possible policies. 

 

21 The second step covered a more detailed screen of the longlisted 17 policies which 

was conducted, where possible, in partnership with another member of the task and 

finish group. This screening step allowed for a more detailed screen which covered 

issues around size and scale of the initiative, overall possible impact, impact upon 

the community, priority within the organisation, nature of the evidence base and 

potential to make recommendations associated with the policy. Appendix 3 provides 

an example of the screening tool. 

 
Screening results 

 
22 A shortlist of 11 policies were identified to move forward onto the next stage of the 

HIA process. Certain polices have been grouped together as whilst their impact 

maybe geographically specific, the evidence base from which the potential impacts 

would be identified and the possible recommendations, would be the same.  

 

Page 574



Page 5 of 61 

POLICY NO. POLICY NAME

Policy 4 Aykley Heads

Policy 5 Housing Allocations

Policy 6 Durham City's Sustainable Urban Extensions

Policy 16 Addressing Housing Need

Policy 17 Durham University Development Purpose Built Student

Policy 23 Delivering Sustainable Transport

Policy 24 Durham City Sustainable Transport

Policy 26 Provision of Transport Infrastructure

Policy 51 Meeting and Need for Primary Aggregates

Policy 53 Surface Mined Coal and Fireclay

Policy 58 Preferred Area for Future Carboniferous Limestone Working  
 

23 The HIA process focuses on the identified policies and the steering group will move 

onto scoping those policies. The scoping process begins to assess the policy in 

detail, specify the health impact to be assessed, develop the work plan to ensure 

delivery and identify the possible evidence required to help inform the 

recommendations.  

 
Health promoting facilities and policies 

 
24 Education, early years and health care provision may feature within another policy 

as supposed to being a standalone policy. If a policy is concerned with a large 

development and would likely have an impact upon the population size within a 

specific geography and therefore an impact upon existing services, then the current 

policy would consider the requirements for additional provision. 

 

25 The Hot Food Takeaway (HFT) policy is part of the Local Plan. The policy was 

developed in conjunction with an evidence review of the impact of HFT on levels of 

obesity. This policy is a good example of a health promoting policy developed in 

partnership between planning and public health, and the screening process 

acknowledged that further policy assessment was not required.  

 
Developing Public Health Policy 

 
26 The screening process has also highlighted polices which may not be suitable for 

an HIA, but present an opportunity to be strengthened with minimal changes to the 

policy, or act as a supporting document once the details of a development are clear. 

This will be explored outside of this specific HIA process. Policies such as Retail 

Hierarchy and Town Centre Development often indicate that a masterplan for a 

specific settlement has been development. The masterplan as supposed the 

overarching policy within the Local Plan, would provide the detail required for an 

HIA. 

 
27 A further consideration for the Local Plan is to reflect the possibility of a future HIA 

or similar, once a policy is enacted. Many polices provide high level strategic 

direction, but until a specific development progresses, then assessing health 

Page 575



Page 6 of 61 

impacts remains too hypothetical. However, it may be advisable to consider an HIA 

process, at a later date, once the specific details are identified.  

 
28 This collective approach has provided the task and finish group with opportunities to 

engage colleagues across the authority, share expertise and explore pragmatic 

approaches to improving health promoting policies within DCC.  

 
Scoping 

 
29 Scoping involves planning and designing the HIA, setting out the parameters. This 

involved process saves times and resources in subsequent steps but nevertheless 

is an iterative process whereby HIA members agree the health impacts to be 

assessed against. Given the scale and potential impact of the proposals alongside 

the time and capacity, a rapid HIA was the agreed approach.  

 

 

 

30  The scoping process assesses the policy in detail, specifies the health impact to be 

assessed and the possible evidence required to help inform the recommendations.   

 For each policy broad and specific health impacts and potential health outcomes of 

the proposed action have been identified.   

 For each policy, the task and finish group met regularly to debate the policy 

implications and health outcomes and these have been prioritised into broad health 

impacts and causal associations have been mapped across the other identified 

health determinants and health outcomes for that policy. Given the time constraints, 

guidance recommends three impacts (Health Impact Assessment a practical guide). 

Page 576



Page 7 of 61 

 These outcomes have been mapped in a driver diagram. This allowed the working 

group and the subsequent HIA assessment workshop participants to establish a 

plausible pathway from a policy to an impact upon health.  It should be noted that at 

this stage, no judgement is made about whether the impact is positive or negative, 

only that it is plausible that a change will occur as a result of the policy. An example 

driver diagram is available in Appendix 4. 

 Following mapping, broad research questions have been identified for each policy.  

For some policies, research questions were similar to those of other policies 

supporting the rationale for the grouping exercise previously carried out. 

 The steering group acknowledged that ‘change in economy’ would be relevant to 

most/if not all policies and ‘economy’ was not screened or mapped at individual 

policy level but was acknowledged as an overarching factor for consideration.  

31 During the scoping exercise it became clear that the overlap between policy 24 

policy 25 and policy 26 was so significant that the health impacts and driver 

diagrams were too similar to warrant individual assessment. Instead the steering 

group agreed to focus on policy 24 as this was deemed to be the most impactful 

and amenable policy for HIA purposes.  

32 For each policy and individual scoping document was developed and agreed. The 

full list is available in appendix 4. 

33 The steering group reviewed and refined search criteria/research questions where 

evidence was unclear. During the course of the literature search the HIA group 

developed an evidence criteria based on previous work by Bambra et al 2010, and 

adopted by Public Health England.  

 

Identification 

34 The identification stage develops a profile of the local community which is more 

likely to be affected by the proposal. This allows the HIA process to collect the 

necessary information to identify the potential health impacts of the proposal.  

35 Multiple literature sources have been reviewed by the HIA team. These secondary 

sources of information have been collated from a range of sources including peer 

reviewed journal articles, national policy documents and previous other HIA or 

impact assessments. This has included searching literature reviews, systematic 

reviews and grey literature. Grey literature sources were identified by the steering 

group based on their expertise in spatial policy, sustainable development and public 

health.  

36 Initially very brief literature reviews were intended for each policy. However due to 

the overlap within grouped policies (e.g. impact of traffic or green environment), for 

timeliness an umbrella review was produced. The umbrella review examined the 

health impacts and the evidence base relating to the policies identified in the local 

plan.  

 

37 Umbrella reviews have emerged in recent years as an attractive strategy for 

assessing existing review level evidence. Unlike traditional systematic reviews, 

umbrella reviews involve a ‘rapid review’ approach to evidence synthesis and aim to 

Page 577



Page 8 of 61 

produce an overview of the evidence in a short space of time (Joanna Briggs 

Institute, 2014; Khangura et al., 2012).  

38 Umbrella reviews are increasingly used in public health research and practice, 

bringing together a wide range of evidence to explore what is known about a topic 

in an attempt to guide the decisions of policy makers (Bambra et al., 2009; Bambra 

et al., 2010; Horodyska et al., 2015; Theodoratou et al., 2014). 

39 Traditionally, umbrella reviews focus on existing systematic review level evidence 

alone (Becker & Oxman, 2008; Ioannidis, 2009). Given the scope of the rapid HIA 

and that the findings of this review are targeted at public sector colleagues, whose 

interpretation of evidence may differ according to context, relevant stakeholder 

organisation documentation has also been inlcuded (e.g., non-systematic evidence 

reviews by professional bodies) [1]. 

These were: 

 Age UK 

 BRE - Building research establishment 

 DEFRA – Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs 

 Health education England 

 Institute for public health in Ireland 

 Institute for public policy research 

 Joint air quality unit 

 Marmot review team 

 Mind 

 National audit office  

 National trust  

 NICE – National institute for health care excellence  

 NUS – Nation union of students 

 Public Health England 

 Royal college of physicians 

 Royal college of psychiatrists  

 Shelter  

 The King’s Fund 

 Universities UK 
 

40 A far larger literature review was initially developed covering a wider range of 

impacts within the driver diagrams for the overarching project see appendix 5, in 

order to highlight the extent of the evidence search. This allowed the group to judge 

the overall quality of the evidence in order to create the hybrid version that would be 

required for the latter stages of the HIA process.  

 

41  Any assessment of impact will need to be taken with a consideration on the current 

health status of a local population. This allows for an appropriate assessment to 

impact and may be especially important when considering health equity. Any 

possible policy outcomes which may have a determinants impact upon health, when 

viewed through an equity lens may lead to slightly different recommendations. This 

would align to recommendations by Marmot (ref) around proportionate universalism.  

Page 578



Page 9 of 61 

42 The County Durham health profile was created by the public health intelligence 

team and covered key information surrounding demographics, health status, 

lifestyle indicators and some other key health determinants. The full health profile is 

available in appendix 6.  

43 As part of the consultation on the County Durham Plan, a significant countywide 

consultation occurred which generated over 4000 representations to the plan. This 

provided a huge public response to utilise for the assessment of a health impact. 

This provides critical input, challenge and support from those most likely to be 

affected from any proposals.  

44 The HIA steering group reviewed the public feedback and categorised feedback in 

relation to the HIA identified polices, and then health impacts as identified in the 

scoping driver diagrams.  

45 This qualitative primary feedback allowed for an assessment of the possible health 

impacts as highlighted by the community themselves. This qualitative information 

adds depth to the HIA as it represents community experience, knowledge, passion 

and perceptions of our residents and stakeholders with ‘expert’ knowledge. This 

may be especially important when assessing social factors which may be difficult to 

portray in a traditional health profile. The full list of policy aligned public 

representations is available in Appendix 6.  

46 This combination of data sources, from secondary data to create health profiles, the 

evidence, and the qualitative feedback, can be triangulated to allow for the 

assessment of the policies. 

47 During this process the scoping pathway documents were amended. This was to 

reflect the continual learning from the identification process to ensure that the 

remaining health impacts were those that resonated with the community, with the 

available evidence and with the health profile of County Durham. This triangulation 

process gave the HIA steering group confidence that given the rapid nature of the 

HIA, the most appropriate and relevant impacts were being assessed. 

Stakeholders  

48 The County Durham Health and Wellbeing board was also consulted within this 

process during a workshop session in October 2018. The board comprises the key 

stakeholder organisations in the health and social care sphere in County Durham 

and provided expert insight and overview into the HIA process and impacts upon 

the populations that they service and the organisation that they represent. The 

health and wellbeing board agreed to receive future reports with regards to the HIA. 

Assessment  
 

49 The assessment allowed the HIA steering group and other participants to 

synthesise the available information collected to then assess the potential impacts 

and the consideration of any future next steps.  

 

50  As mentioned previously, evidence summaries were created based on the steering 

group’s judgment of whether the evidence was of a higher quality. Appendix 7 

provides the overview.  

Page 579



Page 10 of 61 

  

51 An assessment meeting was convened in October 2018. This included the HIA 

steering group but also representation from individuals who had attended the HIA 

training in June 2018. This ensured that the assessment session had a wide 

perspective and a mix of those who were deeply involved in the process and those 

that presented the views of the community (area action partnerships) or key partner 

organisation such as clinical commissioning groups.  

 

Assessment meeting 

 

52 The assessment session was led by a Health Impact Assessment expert (Katie 

Hirono of Society of Practitioners of Health Impact Assessment (SOPHIA) to 

provide guidance, experience and an independent voice during the process. The 

workshop participants were all provided with the health profiles (the County Durham 

Heath profile (PHE 2018) was also utilised as this provided a quick reference guide 

to key health outcomes), the public representations, County Durham Plan policy 

overviews, the evidence overviews and the full literature review packs.  

 

53 The assessment session reintroduced all participants into the County Durham plan, 

the determinants of health and the concept of health inequalities so to that all 

participants were in agreement in their purpose.  

 

54 An assessment matrix was developed for use within the session based on the 

following assessment criteria:  

 

 Policy number – local plan policy 

 Heath determinants – the policy outcome which may impact upon an individuals 

health status 

 Possible impacts – the consequence of the of the determinant  

 Strength of information – a judgement on the literature source and ‘quality 

 Nature of impact – positive or negative 

 Duration of impact – whether it is immediate or a long term impact upon outcomes 

 Who is impacted – the population who is likely to be impacted by the policy 

outcome 

 Magnitude of impact – size of impact dependent on the size of and risk to the local 

population 

 Likelihood – judgement on how likely the impact is to occur 

 Unfair – consideration of equity and whether the impact affects everyone equally  

 

55 The full assessment matrix development during the assessment session and in 

subsequent HIA steering group, is shown below. 

Page 580



Page 11 of 61 

Policy Health determinant Possible impact

Source of 

information

Nature 

of 

impact

Duration 

of impact Who is impacted

Magnitude of 

impact Likelihood Unfair

Noise Impacts on mental wellbeing Medium Negative Continual

Residents Older people 

and chidlren Medium Medium Unknown

Access to green space Impacts on mental/physical wellbeing Strong Positive Continual

Residents, workers, 

and visitors Medium/high Medium No

Access to employment Impacts on mental wellbeing Medium Positive Continual Employees Medium Medium Unknown

Access to green space 

Impacts on mental wellbeing and physical 

activity Strong Positive Continual

Residents, children 

(play parks) High Possible Unknown

Infrastucture 

Does a population increase have a negative 

have a negative impact upon health due to 

Low 

evidence/hig Negative Contniual Residents Low Low Unknown

Social cohesion Impact upon wellbeing weak negative continual Immediate residents ? ? No

Noise (building) Wellebing, respiratory disease strong negative continual

immediate residents, 

future residents medium low no

Noise (traffic) Wellebing, respiratory disease strong negative continual immediate residents, medium unknown no

Housing quality impacts frailty Strong Positive Lifetime

Vulnerable 

adults/young families medium/high High No

Community cohesion mixed use - mental wellbeing Strong Positive Lifetime

residents - the 

community Medium Probable

Yes (due 

equity of 

distributio

Affordable housing impacts health Medium Positive

Long term 

increment

al

Those in need of 

housing, young/elderly Medium Possible

Yes (due 

equity of 

distributio

Community cohesion Impact upon wellbeing Weak Negative Continual Residents Low Low No

Healthcare provision

impact upon physical/mental health through 

lack of  access Medium Negative Continual Students popualtion

Medium (low 

volume/high Medium Yes

Process of removing 

green space Impacts mental wellbeing Low Negative Continual Local residents unknown unknown Unknown

Process of removing 

green space (traffic) Affects pre-exisiting respiratory disease Low Negative Continual

Local residents with pre-

exisiting respiratory Low unknown

Yes effects 

those with 

Change in traffic 

impacts upon injuries and non-communicable 

diseases Strong Negative Continual

Specific geographies 

identified in the plan High Medium

Yes (due 

to specific 

geographi

Air quality (dust) Impacts upon non-communicable diseases Low Negative Continual

Specific geographies 

identified in the plan Unknown Unknown

Yes (due 

to specific 

Local employment Impacts upon mental wellbeing Medium Positive Unknow Unknown Unknown Unknown Unknown

Policy 

58 Loss of green space

Impacts mental wellbeing and non-

communicable diseases Medium Negative

2024-

2048

Specific geographies 

identified in the plan Medium high

Yes (due 

to specific 

Policy 

51

Policy 4

Policy 5

Policy 6

Policy 

16

Policy 

17

Policy 

24

 
 
 
 
Recommendations matrix 
 
56 During the assessment session and the subsequent steering group meetings, 

members began to formulate a set of suggested recommendations. Following this 

the HIA steering group reviewed them in conjunction with the evidence, to develop 

recommendations most likely to have a positive impact upon health outcomes and 

practically be delivered within the plan process. In many instances the 

recommendations were based around enhancing elements of the current policy in 

order to deliver further and continued health benefits. The draft recommendation 

matrix is shown below. 

 
 

Page 581



Page 12 of 61 

Policy

Health 

determinant Possible impact Recommendations Recommendations

Noise
Impacts on mental 

wellbeing
Better health at work - employer pledge, cycle parking, 

pedestrian access. Consider how active travel is sustained.

Access to green 

space

Impacts on 

mental/physical 

wellbeing

Maintaining greenspace on the Aykley Heads site through the 

Master Planning process and subsequent planning application 

is key to increasing mental wellbeing of those employed on 

the site, local residents and visitors. 

Consider a walkable environment which can lead to increased 

levels of physical activity and improved mental wellbeing. 

Ideally, where Durham County Council are able to retain 

control of business units encouraged, through contracts as 

landlord, businesses to sign up to BHAWA and measure sign 

up 

Access to 

employment 

Impacts on mental 

wellbeing
Linking with existing further education institutions to ensure 

that the local education system sustains the workforce

Development provides job opportunities and training for local 

people. 

Access to green 

space 

Impacts on mental 

wellbeing and 

physical activity 
Green space should be sufficient amount, high quality, 

designed for various users within appropriate location i.e. 

accessible and safe, Including improvement of existing green 

space, Rest/benches for elderly, OSNA data kept up to date

Ensure connected streets to allow for increased levels of 

physical activity. Ensure public realm improvements i.e. street 

lights, benches, 20mph zones, (see healthy streets toolkit) in 

order to improve mental wellbeing. Ensure access to high 

quality playspace. Consider bringing forward the creation of 

amenities much earlier in the development to allow for 

immediate use and adoption of healthy behaviours. 

Infrastructure 

Does a population 

increase have a 

negative have a 

negative impact 

Mini HIA when a site is allocated (if over 800 properties and/or 

significant public interest and section 106 get apportioned 

according the impacts of the HIA/need, and locality assets

Ensure there is sufficient access to amenities and facilities as 

this could improve mental health and increase mobility and 

participation especially amongst older adults. 

Social cohesion
Impact upon 

wellbeing
Endorse proposals for park on site

Prioritise walkable access to amenities to recreational areas 

and social amenities as this can increase PA at all ages, and  

increases levels of connectivity.

Noise (building)

Wellbeing, 

respiratory 

disease

Planning applications includes a standard condition regarding 

operational hours for construction. 

Noise (traffic)

Wellbeing, 

respiratory 

disease

Recommend sustainable roads of transport, links to sniperley 

park and ride, it's bus routes, safe and attractive cycle/ 

walkways (best practice),  

Buffer zones around developments. Noise mitigation. Limit 

car parking, make sure it doesn't restrict the walking/cycling 

routes.

Housing quality impacts frailty

Recommendation: feed into SHMAA process, implications for 

future policy 10%

Reduced home hazards, reducing likelihood of falls. Walkable 

neighbourhoods may help to maintain levels of physical 

activity. Create warm and energy efficient homes, which can 

improve general health and reduce respiratory conditions.

Community 

cohesion

mixed use - 

mental wellbeing
Explore pooling of affordable housing, shared countywide, 

use of empty properties, enforcing mixed use developments

Mixed use developments, connected streets, accessible 

amenities, community facilities are provided early in a 

development

Affordable 

housing
impacts health Explore pooling of affordable housing, shared countywide, 

use of empty properties, enforcing mixed use developments

Improved mental wellbeing among adolescents and adults. 

Increased quality of life.

Policy 4

Policy 5

Policy 6

Policy 16

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 582



Page 13 of 61 

Policy

Health 

determinant Possible impact Recommendations Recommendations

Community 

cohesion

Impact upon 

wellbeing

Endorse approach to HMOs to avoid concentration. 

Recommend including in the supporting text the Landlord 

accreditation scheme Endorse reference to waste recycling.

Healthcare 

provision

impact upon 

physical/mental 

health through 

lack of  access

Additional services may be required based on need. Consider 

additional health care policy. 

Buildings have attractive, visible signed stairwells. Buildings 

include cycle racks, cycle storage, internal design promote 

physical activity, car parking spaces are minimised, 

developments include a sustainable travel plan

Process of 

removing green 

space

Impacts mental 

wellbeing Recommendation - improving the existing green space, work 

with communities on any recreational routes that may be 

impacted by scheme and ensure implementation of new 

routes as part of planning

Consider all opportunities to create walkable environments, 

consider all opportunities to offer alternative access to the 

natural environment. Prioritise cycling infrastructure to 

mitigate the impact of green space loss by providing 

alternative options to improve physical and mental wellbeing. 

Recommend adopting the TCPA guidance on a healthy weight 

environment. Houses are no more than 300 m from nearerest 

area of green space. 

Process of 

removing green 

space (traffic)

Affects pre-

existing 

respiratory 

disease

Include reference that there should be a compensatory 

scheme proposed as part of any planning applications to 

ensure that any existing recreational routes / PROW, 

important areas of green space are mitigated, Public Health to 

link into the Air Quality work ongoing with Environmental 

Health and Aecom 

Enhance street connectivity through increased walking and 

cycling infrastructure to improve access to sustainable public 

transport. Consider reviewing developers planning 

applications to evaluate whether aspects such as walking and 

cycling distances meet thresholds for good practice. 

Change in traffic 

impacts upon 

injuries and non-

communicable 

diseases

Transport and environmental assessment explore whether 

part of major development HIA is required on mineral 

extraction policy? Update the Technical Advice Notes for noise, dust, light etc. 

Air quality 

(dust)

Impacts upon non-

communicable 

diseases 

Continue the lobbying of  the leamside line,  alternative and 

feasibility mechanisms to transport minerals i.e. rail, sea, 

technical advice notes for minerals

Continue efforts to minimise or remove exposure to air 

pollutants. 

Local 

employment

Impacts upon 

mental wellbeing 

Every new application considers employment from local 

community (pay living wage)

Minimise adverse effects on recreation/rural amenity by 

relocation/mitigation

Policy 58
Loss of green 

space

Impacts mental 

wellbeing and non-

communicable 

diseases 

See previous recommendation on green space

Recommendation around restoration of minerals DPD, HIA on 

that development. Consider how current rights of way 

infrastructure may be improved in order to provide greater 

connectivity for communities. 

Policy 17

Policy 24

Policy 51

 
 
57 Following this the recommendations were drafted into a more concise and where 

possible, action orientated set of recommendations. These recommendations were 
shared with those key stakeholder most likely to implement or be impacted by the 
recommendations. The full list of recommendations are available below.  

 
Assessment overview 
 
58 The assessment process is reported below to highlight how the data sources were 

combined to inform the recommendations.  

Policy 4: Aykley Heads Strategic Employment Site 

 
Summary: 

Allocates an employment site known as Aykley Heads within Durham City for B1(a) uses 

(offices). The policy, supported by the approved masterplan for the Aykley Heads site, 

aims to provide a high quality employment location to contribute to the delivery of the new 

and better jobs Durham City and County Durham need. In doing so, it provides an 

opportunity for the unique landscapes to be used to create an urban park and for bus, 

pedestrian and cycle routes to be incorporated and to encourage the use of park and ride 

schemes. 

Page 583



Page 14 of 61 

 

59 Questions: 

o Will the provision of green space on the site facilitate physical activity and promote 

mental wellbeing?  

o Will the people employed in the jobs created by the new site experience good 

mental wellbeing?  

o Will the site create good employment opportunities for residents of County Durham 

(and therefore all the benefits that employment brings)? 

 

 

Public representation 

60 Access to green space - Benefits of developing green space with the aim to 

improve green infrastructure were highlighted in the public consultation, such as 

including sustainable water drainage systems and biodiversity enhancement plans. 

Challenges around the environmental impact of this policy on greenbelt land were 

also raised during the public consultation including; ecological effects, and 

increased light, noise and air pollution.  

 

61 Change in mode of travel - Increased congestion was a challenge raised by local 

residents. Strengthening cycling and pedestrian infrastructure was raised as an 

important consideration in this development, alongside other methods for reducing 

congestion.  

 

Evidence  

 

62 Green space - There are many identified health benefits of access to green space. 

In a recent publication by the king’s fund they cited that access to green space 

impacted on blood pressure control, cholesterol levels, reduced stress and 

increased people’s ability to face problems. (The King's Fund, 2018) 

 

63 Based on evidence gathered together by Public Health England, the Institute of 
Health Equity at University College London has concluded that increases in the use 
of good-quality green spaces by all social groups is likely to improve health 
outcomes and reduce health inequalities, and can also bring other benefits such as 
greater community cohesion and reduced social isolation. (Pubilic Health England, 
2014) 

 

64 Traffic impacts on health - Each year in the UK, around 40,000 deaths are 

attributable to exposure to outdoor air pollution, with more linked also to exposure to 

indoor pollutants. Road transport accounts for 31% of nitrogen oxides (NOx), 19.5% 

of PM2.5 and 18% of PM10 UK emissions. (Royal College of Physicians, 2016) 

(NICE and Public Health England, 2017) 

 

Page 584



Page 15 of 61 

Health profile 

 

65 Employment - The latest figures (2017/18) estimate that 71.2% of the county’s 16 

to 64 population are employed.  This is slightly higher than the regional level 

(71.0%) but lower than national levels (75.1%). To achieve national levels of 

employment an additional 12,700 people of working age in County Durham would 

need to enter employment. This could be achieved if some of those people 

currently economically inactive and wanting a job (17,400 people) were to enter 

employment. The employment rate in County Durham for those with an Equality Act 

(EA) core or work limiting disability is 44.2%, much lower than the rate for those 

without a disability (80.6%). 

 

Recommendations  

 

66 Recommendation 1  

 Consider an active environment which promotes physical activity. Consider the 

guidance within the Building for Life (BfL) SPD so that facilities are linked in a 

walkable/cyclable environment.  

 Consider during the master planning process how green space is enhanced where 

practical to help facilitate benefits to those employed on site, local residents and 

visitors. 

   

67 Recommendation 2 

 Consider recommending to all prospective businesses take part in the Better Health 

at Work Award. The site could consider becoming a healthy business park and 

each employer recognise the business and social benefits of a healthy environment 

and workforce.  

 

68 Recommendation 3 

 Linking with current further education establishments to develop a workforce for 

tomorrow and promote the opportunities that exist within County Durham.  

 

Page 585



Page 16 of 61 

 

Policy 5 – Sites allocated to meet housing need 

 

Summary: 

Allocates sites to accommodate the new homes needed to ensure that housing need is 

met over the Plan period. Having had regard to housing need in the county (set out in the 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment); availability of land for housing in the county (set 

out in the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment); viability in different areas; and 

to the government’s figures for housing needed for County Durham, the policy sets out 

housing sites by monitoring area. We are expected to demonstrate a rolling five 5 year 

supply of deliverable sites calculated against Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) set out in 

Policy 2 with a buffer of 5% or 20% added depending on past delivery.  

 

69  Questions: 

o Will changes in access to green space impact upon mental health and 

wellbeing? 

o Will the provision of schools health, care and community facilities be 

sufficient to meet the health and wellbeing needs of current and future 

residents? 

 

Public representation 

 

70 Access to green space - The public consultation outlined some key points regarding 

the effect of policy 5 on green space in the proposed areas of development. A 

negative impact on the mental health, physical health and wellbeing of those living 

close to development due to a reduction in their access to green space was a 

concern.     

 

71 Changes to infrastructure - Challenges were raised about pressures that might be 

put on local schools and healthcare services by an increase in population size. 

Increased traffic and pedestrian safety were also highlighted. 

 

72 Changes in housing standards/accessibility and affordability - Building homes on 

the Sniperley park site was felt to offer an opportunity to deliver an appropriate 

proportion of housing to meet the needs of Durham. Some responses raised 

concerns about the effect on house prices of existing properties in the area. 

 

Evidence  

 

73  Access to green space – see evidence in policy 4 

Page 586



Page 17 of 61 

74 Changes in infrastructure - Increasing access to community facilities can improve 

mobility, physical and mental health and wellbeing. (MOTT Macdonald Limited , 

2017) 

 

75 Good access to general practice reduces pressure on other parts of the NHS, 

particularly hospital accident and emergency (A&E) departments. This helps the 

health system to make the best use of its resources. (National audit office, 2015) 

Recommendations 

76 Overarching recommendation - Consider health outcomes and health inequalities 

as part of the in house review process that assesses housing development 

schemes against the Building for Life outcomes. 

 

77 Recommendation 4 - Align to the recommendation in the BFL SPD to ensure that 

facilities are available and accessible within short walks from people’s homes. This 

could consider the needs of the local population so that the development is easy to 

navigate from a physical and mental perspective reflective of the local health profile.  

 

78 Development management could consider facilities and amenities being built 

sooner in the development process to allow for the immediate use and adoption of 

healthy behaviours. 

 

79 Recommendation 5 

 Complete a health impact assessment for sites of over 800 properties and/or 

significant public interest to explore the health needs and the supporting 

infrastructure.  

 Utilise the education policy when/if need is identified.  

 Consider the developments of a healthcare policy to support a practical response to 

any possible additional health care requirements.  

 Ensure that existing or developing community facilities are easy to get to because 

they are conveniently located near to where people live, are well signposted, and 

are close to public transport and on walking and cycling networks. 

Page 587



Page 18 of 61 

 

Policy 6: Durham City’s Sustainable Urban Extensions 

 

Policy 6 Summary 

In order to promote sustainable patterns of development and meet housing need, some 

land is removed from the Greenbelt and allocated for housing at Sniperley Park and 

Sherburn Road (1900 houses at Sniperley Park; and 420 houses at Sherburn Road). This 

will include comprehensive masterplanning and timely provision of infrastructure. 

 

80 Questions: 

o Will the provision of schools health, care and community facilities be 

sufficient to meet the health and wellbeing needs of current and future 

residents? 

o Will an increase in noise created through the building process impact on 

resident’s mental wellbeing? 

o Will the developments impact on wellbeing and respiratory disease through 

the improvement of public transport and active travel? 

o Will new roads impact on traffic noise? 

 

Public representation 

81 Social cohesion - Having existing services and routes in place from first occupation 

of a development was felt to support sustainable choices being made, increasing 

the potential for non-car trips and limiting the impacts of air pollution on health.  

  

82 Changes in infrastructure - Residents expressed a desire for increased health care 

services like the provision of extra GP surgeries at sites of large developments. 

 

Evidence  

 

83 Changes in infrastructure – evidence in policy 5 

Recommendations  

84 Recommendation 6 - Ensure there is sufficient access to amenities and facilities as 

this could improve mental health and increase mobility and participation especially 

amongst older adults. Make it easy for all people to get around the development in 

line with the BFL guidance.  

 

85 Recommendation 7 - Planning applications include a standard condition regarding 

operational hours for construction. 

 

Page 588



Page 19 of 61 

86 Recommendation 8 - Recommend promoting and prioritising sustainable modes of 

transport as a healthier approach.  Provide suitable links to existing infrastructure 

such as Sniperley park and ride and ensure the scheme has good access to public 

transport to help reduce car dependency as highlighted in BfL. Consider how the 

development can maximise the number of homes with a short walk from the nearest 

public transport route.  

 
87 Consider how the development can contribute towards encouraging more 

sustainable travel choices, i.e. bike racks, electric car charging etc.   
 

88  Recommendation 9 - Consider buffer zones such as an earth bund around 

developments to limit the impact of noise from roads that may run the length of a 

development.   

 
Policy 16, addressing housing need has the potential to impact on health in County 

Durham 

 

Policy 16 Summary: 

The policy sets out the proportions of new housing that should be affordable and suitable 

for older persons and those with specialist needs. This is dependent on the viability of the 

area, with the highest value areas having the largest percentage of housing units. The 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) update undertook an assessment of the 

shortfall in affordable housing in the county. 

 

89 Questions: 

o Will provision of affordable housing have an impact on mental health and 

wellbeing? 

o Will provision of housing suitable for older persons and those with specialist 

needs impact health and wellbeing? 

o Will provision of affordable housing affect social cohesion and impact on 

mental wellbeing? 

Public representation 

90  Housing and Health - At consultation, resident’s highlighted challenges about new 

properties meeting the long term needs of modern family life including older adults 

with health issues. Also, it was identified that properties should be able to be 

adapted for when fit and healthy people experience failing health; particularly to 

allow for care to be provided at home for longer. 

Page 589



Page 20 of 61 

 

Health profile  

 

91 Frailty  

 The number of people aged 65 and over has increased nearly 30% over the last 

couple of decades and now represents one fifth of the county’s resident population 

– this increase is predicted to continue.  

 County Durham has an ageing population with over 105,000 people aged 65+ and 

over 12,000 aged 85 and over.  

 There are over 2,000 emergency hospital admissions due to falls in 65 and overs 

per year 

 There are around 600 hip fractures in 65 years + per year 

 For the period 2013-16 there were over 1,000 excess winter deaths in County 

Durham, averaging at 335 deaths per year 

 Over 55,000 of our GP registered population are estimated to have a common 

mental disorder (16-74 years) 

 

92  Social cohesion  

 Social cohesion as measured by proxy indicators is predicted to be good in County 

Durham compared to the national picture 

 There is a lower level of population turnover in County Durham than England, 64 

per 1,000 resident population compared to 100.7 per 1,000. 

 

Evidence  

93  Housing and frailty/health  

 Hazards in the home and poor accessibility contribute to falls and accidents. (Age 

UK, 2014) 

 The Building Research Establishment (BRE) estimate that poor housing costs the 

health service £600 million every year and that the total cost to society could be as 

high as  £1.5 billion in 2012 (Building Research Establishment (BRE), 2010) 

 Interventions to reduce hazards in the home can lead to improved social outcomes 

and reduce fall-related injuries among older adults (Public Health England, 2017) 

 There is evidence to suggest that living in a warm and energy efficient property can 

improve general health outcomes, reduce respiratory conditions, improve mental 

health and reduce mortality. (Public Health England, 2017) 

 Research carried out by the Marmot Review Team (Marmot Review team, 2011) 

found a significant correlation between cold temperature and cardiovascular and 

respiratory disease.  There are also links with colds, flu and pneumonia, as well as 

arthritis. (Age UK, 2014) 

 Cold can also affect mental health, which is likely to be exacerbated by worries 

about high energy bills. (Age UK, 2014)  

 

Page 590



Page 21 of 61 

94 Tenure and cohesion/mental health  

 High quality and stable housing plays a large role in maintaining mental health and 

aiding recovery if someone has developed metal health problems (Mind, 2017) 

 People with mental health problems are much more likely to live in poor quality 

accommodation and are dramatically overrepresented amongst people who are 

homeless. They are also twice as likely as the general population to be unhappy 

with their housing and four times more likely to say that it makes their health worse. 

(Mind, 2017) 

 

95 Given the strong evidence presented above we conclude that providing new 

housing of high quality for older persons is highly likely to result in improved mobility 

and independence (or reduced risks) and therefore likely to positively impact on 

reducing frailty and associated health outcomes for older people in County Durham. 

Recommendations 

96 Recommendation 10 - Recommend considering health outcomes within the SHMAA 

process to assist with identifying current and future need.  

 

97 Consider the design of homes which reduces possible hazards and minimises the 

likelihood of falls. Create warm and energy efficient homes, which can improve 

general health and may reduce the impact of respiratory conditions. 

 

98 Create walkable and physically active neighbourhoods in line with BfL 

recommendations to help promote and maintain levels of physical activity. Ensure 

amenities are accessible. 

 

Community cohesion 

99 Recommendation 11 - Develop mixed use development that are reflective of local 

need as recommended in BfL, taking into consideration the health profiles of the 

area.  

 

100 Ensure connected streets, accessible amenities and consider community facilities 
being provided early in a development to help maximise the opportunities for 
healthy behaviour change.  

 

Affordable housing 

101 Recommendation 12 - Endorse the policy to allocate affordable housing due to its 

positive impact upon mental wellbeing and improved quality of life.  

 

102 Endorse efforts for mixed use developments which could create a sense of 

community, improve a sense of cohesion and create a physically active 

neighbourhood. 

 

103 Explore the pooling of affordable housing so that it can be allocated on a 

countywide as supposed to a development basis.  

Page 591



Page 22 of 61 

 

104 Endorse the scheme to bring empty properties back up to ‘better homes standard’. 

 

Policy 17: Durham University refurbishment of existing buildings, allocated sites for 

development and restrictions on HMOs 

 

Summary: 

Part one of the policy relates to the Durham University Masterplan. It sets out the criteria 

by which planning permission for new University facilities and the refurbishment of existing 

buildings will be permitted. The policy allocates purpose built student accommodation sites 

too and sets out restrictive criteria towards additional purpose built accommodation. Part 3 

of the policy is also restrictive towards houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) in order to 

maintain mixed and cohesive communities. It uses a threshold of 10% of Class N student 

exempt council tax properties within 100 metres of the application site.  

 

 

105  Questions: 

o Will restrictions on HMOs and policies for new development improve 

community cohesion through limiting noise and litter? 

o Will the increase in the student population reduce health care provision and 

impact on sexual health service access and health outcomes? 

 

Public representation 

106 Change in community cohesion - Health and safety in residential areas around 

HMOs, with proper waste management and the hazards caused by this a concern 

of local residents.   

Evidence  

107 ‘Following the expansion of higher education in the 1990s, there have been 

increasing concerns amongst residents in some areas that the growing number of 

students living in the private rented sector has resulted in more rubbish and litter, 

noise, antisocial behaviour, poor housing quality and feelings of a ‘loss of 

community and neighbourhood’ (Universities UK/NUS/Distinction and diversity in 

higher education, 2010). 

Page 592



Page 23 of 61 

Recommendations  

108 Recommendation 13 - Endorse approach to Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMOs) 

to avoid over concentration. Recommend promoting the landlord accreditation 

scheme. 

 

109 Endorse the references to waste recycling in order to minimise the impact of litter. 

Endorse the references to the Car Parking and Accessibility Guidelines. Consider 

all opportunities to promote and provide opportunities for sustainable travel. 

 

110 Recommendation 14 - Work closely with Durham University to address the health 

needs of the student population. 

 

111  Endorse the references to the Car Parking and Accessibility Guidelines. Consider 

all opportunities to promote and provide opportunities for sustainable travel. In 

relation to PBSA consider how build may incorporate cycle racks, cycle storage, 

and attractive visible signed stairwells, in order to support an active lifestyle and 

promote good health.  

 

Policy 24: Transport measures to relieve the highway network including Northern and 

Western Relief Roads 

 
Summary:  

Sets out the transport measures to relieve existing highway network problems, improve air 

quality and road safety issues, facilitate growth and improve the historic environment 

around Durham City, including demand management measures; re-allocation, sharing and 

creation of highway space; and the provision of a Northern Relief Road and a Western 

Relief Road. 

 

112  Question: 

Will removing green space impact on physical and mental wellbeing? 

 

Public representation 

113 At public consultation residents raised challenges about access to green space and 
how new roads may compromise this. They cited exercise, as well as mental health 
and wellbeing as current benefits from the access to green space and expressed 
concerns that this may be compromised by the proposals set out in policy 24.  

 

Evidence  

114 Change in green space – see evidence summary in policy 4 

Page 593



Page 24 of 61 

 

Recommendations  

115 Recommendation 15 - Improve the existing green space and work with communities 

on any recreational routes that may be impacted by any new schemes. Consider all 

opportunities to offer alternative access to the natural environment.  

 
116 Seek to prioritise cycling/walking infrastructure in order to promote physical and 

mental wellbeing.  
 
117 Recommendation 16 - Seek to prioritise cycling/walking infrastructure in order to 

promote physical and mental wellbeing and ensure they align to the principles of 
BfL.  

 
118 Support the work of Environmental Health on air quality and efforts to promote 

sustainable modes of transport.  
 

Policy 51: Meeting the Need for Primary Aggregates 

 

Summary: 

Supports making sufficient land available for mineral working to enable the maintenance of 

a steady and adequate supply of primary aggregates. Identifies further need for 

Carboniferous Limestone and sets out the locational approach to the working of 

Magnesian Limestone, Carboniferous Limestone, Dolerite and Sand and Gravel. No new 

or extended working areas for magnesian limestone will be permitted on the East Durham 

Limestone Plateau for aggregate, high grade purposes, or for agricultural lime production. 

The policy prioritises basal Permian sand extraction under existing magnesian limestone 

quarries, followed by the lateral extension of existing magnesian limestone quarries. For 

dolerite, proposals for new working will only be permitted provided that proposals do not 

adversely impact upon the North Pennines AONB, Special Areas of Conservation or 

Special Protection Areas. No minerals allocations are made by this policy. Government 

policy requires that we ensure that a large landbank bound up in very few sites should not 

stifle competition. 

 
 

119  Questions: 

Will increased traffic impact levels of injury and non-communicable diseases? 

Will changes in air quality impact upon non-communicable disease? 

 

Evidence  

120 Change in traffic – See evidence summary in policy 4 

Page 594



Page 25 of 61 

121 Change in employment - In general, good work is beneficial to health and well-

being. Employment provides a monetary reward, but also non-financial gains, to the 

worker. These additional benefits include social identity and status; social contacts, 

support and involvement; a means of structuring and occupying time; and a sense 

of personal achievement’. (Royal College of Psychiatrists - Masood Khan and Dr 

Jed Boardman, 2017) 

 

122 ‘For every 10 per cent increase in older people suffering deprivation, life expectancy 

falls by six months; for a 10 per cent increase in employment deprivation (those 

involuntarily unemployed), life expectancy is a year lower.’ (The King's Fund, 2015) 

Local profile 

123 Change in employment - The latest figures (2017/18) estimate that 71.2% of the 

county’s 16 to 64 population are employed.  This is slightly higher than the regional 

level (71.0%) but lower than national levels (75.1%). To achieve national levels of 

employment an additional 12,700 people of working age in County Durham would 

need to enter employment. This could be achieved if some of those people 

currently economically inactive and wanting a job (17,400 people) were to enter 

employment. The employment rate in County Durham for those with an Equality Act 

(EA) core or work limiting disability is 44.2%, much lower than the rate for those 

without a disability (80.6%). 

 

Recommendations  

124 Recommendation 17 - Transport and environmental assessments will explore 

whether as part of a major development an HIA is required as part of the mineral 

extraction policy.  

 
125 Continue to lobby for the Leamside line as an alternative mode of transport and 

explore the feasibility mechanisms to transport minerals i.e. rail, sea, 
 
126 Update the Technical Advice Notes for noise, dust, light.  
 

127 Recommendation 18 - Continue efforts to minimise or remove exposure to air 

pollutants.  

 

Local employment 

129 Will local employment opportunities effect mental wellbeing? Recommendation 19 - 
Every new application considers employment or training opportunities through the 
Targeted Recruitment and Training policy.

Page 595



Page 26 of 61 

 

Policy 58: Preferred Area for Future Carboniferous Limestone Extraction 

 

Summary: 

In order to assist in the steady and adequate supply of carboniferous limestone and the 

delivery of Policy 51 (Meeting the Need for Primary Aggregates) a Preferred Area for 

carboniferous limestone working is allocated as an eastern extension to Hulands Quarry 

in Teesdale. Subject to planning permission being granted, this allocation would enable 

this quarry to make a significant contribution to the identified need for further carboniferous 

limestone working from County Durham over the plan period. In addition the carboniferous 

limestone produced at this quarry will provide a source of aggregate to produce coated 

roadstone and ready mixed concrete products. 

 

130  Question: 

o Will loss of green space impact upon mental wellbeing and non-communicable 

disease? 

 

Evidence  

131 See green space evidence in policy 4. 
 

Recommendations  

132 Recommendation 20 - Consider a restoration of mineral sites SPD. Consider how 

any impacts Rights of Way can be mitigated by improvements to the current 

infrastructure which may provide increased connectivity for local communities.  

 
Monitoring 

133 Periodic monitoring will allow the steering group to re-group and assess the 
implementation and impact of the recommendations. The impact upon health 
outcomes will be monitored primarily through the Public Health England 
public health outcomes framework.  

134 Enhanced partnership working has been acknowledged as a positive impact 
across the steering group. Using the HIA as a mechanism to raise the profile 
of the impact of the built and natural environment upon health has been 
useful to gain greater support for healthier public policy.  

Conclusion 

135 Assessing the health impacts of different policies and collaborations between 
health and planning colleagues has helped to ensure that health 
considerations are integrated into planning across all departments. This will 
ensure that health benefits are realised across the broad spectrum of local 
authority functions, rather than remaining as individual strands of good 
practice.  

Page 596



Page 27 of 61 

136 The HIA process has considered further opportunities to provide good jobs 
and places to live, learn and play in County Durham.  

 
 
 
Appendix 2 
 
 

 

 
Terms of Reference  

 
County Durham Plan Preferred Options 2018 – Health Impact 

Assessment Steering Group 

 
Aim 
 
The group members will be responsible for the delivery of the Health Impact Assessment. 
  
Remit 

The group will plan and deliver agreed actions to ensure that the six steps of a Health 
Impact Assessment are completed comprehensively and on time. The following set of 
principles will be adopted: 

 A holistic definition of health and wellbeing is adopted (physical and mental health)  

 Ensure preventing ill-health (primary prevention) and creating conditions for good 

health is given a priority.  

 Aim to develop positive working relationships across service groupings and support 

the development of HIA skills amongst members 

 Aspire to meaningful engagement and participation of our communities 

 Promoting HIA as a product to add value to other key policies and plans in the 

future 

 
Objectives 
 

 Ensure that there a comprehensive consideration of health and wellbeing is 

embedded in the next stage of the County Durham Plan process 

 To enhance opportunities for positive health impacts and reduce negative impacts   

 Deliver a set of clear recommendations to the County Durham Board and seek 

endorsement from the Health and Wellbeing Board.  

 
 
Membership 
 
Membership of the group will consist of representation within Durham County Council 
from: 
 

Page 597



Page 28 of 61 

• Public Health 
• Research and Intelligence   
• Spatial Policy  
• Climate Change and Sustainability  
• Area Action Partnerships 

 
Where permanent members feel that expertise or topic specific knowledge is required, 
experts may be invited to sit on group for a limited period. 
 
Members are expected to act as a two way conduit for information and actions. 
 
Working arrangements  
 

 All permanent members will be given protected time from their line managers to 
deliver against their designated tasks 

 Group meetings will be at least fortnightly and weekly when required 

 Each meeting will consider an action log against the agreed work plans 

 The action log will form the agenda and will be circulated two working days before 
the meeting 

 If members are not able to attend, a fully briefed representative will attend on their 
behalf 

 The group will be chaired by Chris Woodcock, Public Health Strategic Manager and 
vice chair Katie Dunstan-Smith, Research and Intelligence 

 
  
Accountability arrangements 
 

 The County Durham Plan HIA steering group will be accountable to the County 
Durham Plan Board. 

 Report will be submitted in a timely manner to the Board to meet the deadlines 
agreed in the HIA scoping report. 

 
Date agreed: 22 June 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 598



Page 29 of 61 

Appendix 3 – Example Second Stage Screening 
 

Policy Name

Policy Number

For HIA Against HIA

Does the initiative affect health 

directly?

Does the initiative affect health 

indirectly?

Are there any potentially 

serious negative health 

impacts that you currently 

know of?

Is further investigation 

necessary because more 

information is required on the 

potential health impacts?

Are the potential health 

impacts well known and is it 

straightforward to suggest 

effective ways in which 

beneficial effects are 

maximised and harmful effects 

minimised?

Are the potential health 

impacts identified judged to be 

minor?

Is the population affected by 

the initiative large?

Are there any socially 

excluded, vulnerable, 

disadvantaged groups likely to 

be affected?

Are there any community 

concerns about any potential 

health impacts

Is the size of the initiative 

large?

Is the cost of the initiative 

high?

Is the nature and extent of the 

disruption to the affected 

population likely to be major?

Is the initiative a high 

priority/important for the 

organisation/partnership?

Is there potential to change 

the proposal?

11 2

Addressing Housing Need

1

Community

Initiative

Organisation

Total (count ticks) 

Health Impacts

16

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

not sure

Yes

Yes

not sure

not sure

not sure

No

No

No

No

YesNo

Yes

not sure
No

Yes

not sure
No

Yes

not sure
No

Yes

not sure
No

Yes

not sure
No

Yes

not sure
No

No

No

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 599



Page 30 of 61 

 

 

 

Appendix 3 Scoping driver diagrams 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 600



Page 31 of 61 

Appendix 4 Evidence summaries 
 
Access to employment opportunities impacts upon health 
 

Mental Health  

 In general, good work is beneficial to health and well-being (Waddell & Burton, 

2006). Employment provides a monetary reward, but also non-financial gains, to the 

worker. These additional benefits include social identity and status; social contacts, 

support and involvement; a means of structuring and occupying time; and a sense 

of personal achievement. [1] 

 

Inequalities  

 For every 10 per cent increase in older people suffering deprivation, life expectancy 

falls by six months; for a 10 per cent increase in employment deprivation (those 

involuntarily unemployed) life expectancy is a year lower. [2] 

 

Change in social isolation 

 Having fewer local connections disproportionately affected men, who accounted for 

63% of the isolated group. Another significant finding was that 50% of unemployed 

people were socially isolated, though it was uncertain whether this was due to 

income deprivation or loss of contacts due to unemployment, or both. Key aspects 

of social networks highlighted by the RSA survey relate to the power to influence 

one’s own individual circumstances (for example with respect to employment or 

housing). A major benefit of social networks is the empowerment of individuals; 

conversely, disconnection from networks of influence signals disempowerment. [3] 

 

 

Page 601



Page 32 of 61 

 

References 

 

[1]  Royal College of Psychiatrists - Masood Khan and Dr Jed Boardman, “Employment 

and mental health,” 2017. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/files/pdfversion/OP101.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[2]  The King's Fund, “Inequalities in life expectancy Changes over time and implications 

for policy,” 2015. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/inequalities-

in-life-expectancy-kings-fund-aug15.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[3]  Public health England/UCL institute of Health Equity, “Local action on health 

inequalities Reducing social isolation across the lifecourse,” 2015. [Online]. Available: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme

nt_data/file/461120/3a_Social_isolation-Full-revised.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

 

 
Access to healthcare facilities, schools and community facilities impacts on health 
 

Healthcare facilities 

 Good access to general practice reduces pressure on other parts of the NHS, 

particularly hospital accident and emergency (A&E) departments. This helps the 

health system to make the best use of its resources. Research has estimated that in 

2012-13, 5.8 million patients attended A&E or walk-in centres because they were 

unable to get an appointment or a convenient appointment in general practice. We 

estimated that a typical consultation in general practice costs £21, whereas 

hospitals are paid £124 for a visit to A&E [1] 

 Deprived areas tend to have a lower ratio of GPs and nurses to patients, and where 

the ratio is lower it is harder for patients to get appointments. The distribution of 

general practice staff across the country does not reflect need. NHS England 

allocates funding to local areas using weighted populations that reflect factors such 

as demographics, health needs and local costs. Despite this inequalities remain, 

with the combined number of GPs and nurses in each local area ranging from 63 to 

114 per 100,000 weighted population. Patients living in more deprived areas had, 

on average, a lower ratio of general practice staff to patients and, unsurprisingly, we 

found that it was harder to book and access appointments where the ratio of staff to 

patients was lower. However, the gap between ratios of general practice staff to 

patients in the most and least deprived areas has narrowed since 2010 [1] 

 Coastal and rural Durham has been nationally identified as an area that struggles to 

recruit GP trainees and is now part of the national targeted enhanced recruitment 

scheme.  

GP training directors identified those areas with consistently low fill rates over the 

last three years. [2] 

 

Page 602



Page 33 of 61 

Schools 

Active travel  

 Increase access to facilities and amenities: Long distance trips have been identified 

as having a potentially negative impact on walking and cycling and social 

engagement. Mixed land use developments that prioritise access to schools, 

recreational centres and social amenities may increase physical activity among 

children, adolescents and older adults. The provision of local amenities may 

improve mobility and social engagement among older adults. [3] 

 Increasing how much someone walks or cycles may increase their overall level of 

physical activity, leading to associated health benefits. These include: Reducing the 

risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, cancer, obesity and type 2 diabetes. Keeping 

the musculoskeletal system healthy. Promoting mental wellbeing. An increase in 

walking or cycling can also help: Reduce car travel, leading to reductions in air 

pollution, carbon dioxide emissions and congestion. Reduce road danger and 

noise. Increase the number of people of all ages who are out on the streets, 

making public spaces seem more welcoming and providing opportunities for social 

interaction. Provide an opportunity for everyone, including people with an 

impairment, to participate in and enjoy the outdoor environment. [4] 

Community Facilities  

 Improving access is likely to lead to greater mobility of the population, as well as 

improving health, mental and physical wellbeing. The Institute of Public Policy 

Research (IPPR) estimates that nationally, almost one in five over 75 year olds say 

that they ‘felt lonely much of the time during the last week’. The report also 

suggests that more than one million older people feel trapped in their own home. 

Furthermore, a report by disability charity, Sense, found that over half of disabled 

people (53%) report of feeling lonely. Common barriers to reducing social isolation 

were problems with mobility and being able to get to community facilities. [5] 

 

 

 

Page 603



Page 34 of 61 

 

References 

 

[1]  National audit office , "Stocktake of access to general practice in England," 2015. 

[Online]. Available: https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Stocktake-

of-access-to-general-practice-in-England-Summary.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[2]  Health education England, "GP recruitment - targeted enhanced recruitment," 2017. 

[Online]. Available: https://gprecruitment.hee.nhs.uk/recruitment/TERS/England. 

[Accessed 2018]. 

[3]  Public Health England, "Spatial Planning for Health An evidence resource for 

planning and designing healthier places," 2017. [Online]. Available: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach

ment_data/file/729727/spatial_planning_for_health.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[4]  NICE, "Physical activity: walking and cycling - Public health guideline [PH41]," 2012. 

[Online]. Available: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph41/chapter/1-

recommendations#benefits-of-walking-and-cycling. [Accessed 2018]. 

[5]  MOTT Macdonald Limited , "South Wales Metro - Rapid Health Impact Assessment," 

2017. [Online]. Available: 

https://tfw.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Rapid%20Health%20Impact%20A

ssessment_2.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

 

Affordable housing impacts on inequalities in health, self-care, use of social care and social 
cohesion  
 

Overview 

 Children are more likely to live in overcrowded housing than working-age adults and 

pensioners (Department for Communities and Local Government 2015). This 

relates particularly to children living in low income families. Evidence suggests that 

children living in cold, overcrowded or unsafe housing are more likely to be bullied, 

to not see friends, to have a longstanding health problem, disability or infirmity and 

be below average in key academic areas as a direct consequence of living in poor-

quality housing. [1] 

 If someone has developed a mental health problem, high quality and stable housing 

is key to maintaining good mental health and is important for recovery (Mental 

Health Taskforce, 2016). However, people with mental health problems  are much 

more likely to live in poor quality accommodation (Kyle & Dunn, 2008) and are 

dramatically overrepresented amongst people who are homeless (Rees, 2009). 

They are also twice as likely as the general population to be unhappy with their 

housing and four times more likely to say that it makes their health worse (Social 

Exclusion Unit, 2004) [2] 

 Provision of abstinent housing 1 was found to be effective in supporting housing 

status, substance abuse relapse, engagement with health services, and improved 

Page 604



Page 35 of 61 

psychiatric outcomes than non-abstinent housing or no housing. There is evidence 

from the UK for the positive impact of the provision of dispersed housing 1 for 

people with intellectual disability on quality of life outcomes, when compared with 

clustered housing (Mansell & Beadle-Brown, 2009). There is support for an 

association between the provision of affordable, secure tenancy and improved 

health outcomes among inadequately housed people living with HIV/AIDS. Positive 

outcomes include engagement with health services, improved psychiatric 

outcomes, sustained viral suppression, and reduced engagement in risky sexual 

behaviours (Aidala et al., 2016; Fitzpatrick-Lewis et al., 2011; Leaver et al., 2007). 

There is moderate quality evidence reporting that provision of affordable, secure 

tenancy for the homeless living with severe and persistent mental illness can lead to 

improved mental health, healthcare utilisation and quality of life outcomes. 

However, the impact of such interventions for those who are housed but living in a 

precarious housing situation remains unclear (Kyle & Dunn, 2008; Nelson, Aubry & 

Lafrance, 2007). [3] 

 Provision of mixed-use affordable housing: The provision of mixed land use and 

affordable housing is strongly associated with improved safety perceptions in the 

neighbourhood, particularly among individuals from low-income groups.  However, 

the impact of such housing provision on improving health outcomes and reducing 

health inequalities is unclear. [3] 

Page 605



Page 36 of 61 

 

References 

 

[1]  The King's fund, "Housing and health Opportunities for sustainability and 

transformation partnerships," 2018. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-03/Housing_and_health_final.pdf. 

[Accessed 2018]. 

[2]  Mind, "Brick by brick A review of mental health and housing," 2017. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.mind.org.uk/media/17947884/20171115-brick-by-brick-final-low-res-pdf-

plus-links.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[3]  Public Health England, "Spatial Planning for Health An evidence resource for planning 

and designing healthier places," 2017. [Online]. Available: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme

nt_data/file/729727/spatial_planning_for_health.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

 

Changes in green space impact the environment 
 

Flooding  

 These goods and services are significant – for example the NEA demonstrated that 

our coastal wetlands can be valued at providing £1.5 billion annually in benefits 

through buffering the effects of storms and managing flooding. Historically such 

values have been taken for granted, but this cannot continue. This is why 

Government is committed to doing more to reflect the true economic value of 

biodiversity and its constituent ecosystems in our decisions and policies. [1] 

 Green spaces can act as a natural floodplain, reducing surface run off after rains 

through infiltration, absorption and evapotranspiration (the sum of evaporation and 

plant transpiration). Increasing the quantity and quality of green spaces can reduce 

risk of surface water and fluvial flooding. Modelling based upon Manchester data 

estimates that increasing green cover by 10% in urban residential areas reduces 

run off during heavy rainfall by 4.9%. Increasing tree cover by 10% reduces the run 

off by 5.7%. [2] 

Biodiversity 

 Green Belts as places which are rich in biodiversity…. healthy natural environment 

contributing positively to the ecosystem services required to support life.  

The UK Biodiversity Action Plan identifies the most important habitats for nature 

conservation. Of those that are mapped, 13% of the area covered occur within the 

Green Belt [3] 

 

 

Page 606



Page 37 of 61 

 

References 

 

[1]  DEFRA, "Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem services," 

2011. [Online]. Available: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme

nt_data/file/69446/pb13583-biodiversity-strategy-2020-111111.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[2]  National trust, "Urban green space and health Literature review," [Online]. Available: 

file:///C:/Users/willow.finch/AppData/Local/Packages/Microsoft.MicrosoftEdge_8wekyb

3d8bbwe/TempState/Downloads/Urban%20green%20space%20literature%20review

%20(1).pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[3]  Natural England, Campaign to protect rural England, "Green belts a greener future," 

[Online]. Available: 

file:///C:/Users/willow.finch/AppData/Local/Packages/Microsoft.MicrosoftEdge_8wekyb

3d8bbwe/TempState/Downloads/SOGB[1].pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

 

 

Exposure to dust/contamination related to opencast mining impacts upon health 
 

Overview 

 A study examining the effects of opencast mining on children’s health (PlessMulloi 

2000) found that children in opencast communities has significantly more GP 

consultations for respiratory illness within the study period than children in control 

communities and whilst no significant association was found between living in an 

opencast community and the rate of consultation for any reason, the odds of 

respiratory, eye and skin consultations and respiratory consultations were around 

40% respectively higher in the majority of opencast communities considered in the 

study . There was little evidence of an association between living in an opencast 

community and the cumulative prevalence of wheeze, asthma or bronchitis or the 

period prevalence of exposure effects asthma attacks and their severity. Children in 

opencast communities were exposed to a small but significant amount of additional 

PM10, to which the opencast mines were a measureable contributor and small but 

significant associations were found between daily respiratory symptoms and daily 

concentrations of PM10. Research by Howell et al (2001) found that the association 

between PM10 levels and prevalence and incidence of respiratory morbidity were 

generally positive with the proportion of shale particles and PM10 levels higher in 

samples from opencast communities.  The specific health effects for all particulates 

are believed to be: Short term exposure: lung inflammatory reactions, respiratory 

symptoms, adverse effects on the cardiovascular system, increase in medication 

usage, increase in hospital admissions and increase in mortality. Long term 

exposure: increase in lower respiratory symptoms, reduction in lung function in 

children, increase in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, reduction in lung 

function in adults and reduction in life expectancy [1]  

Page 607



Page 38 of 61 

 

Access to Green Space Impacts upon Health 
 

Non communicable disease 

• These findings are supported by further review level evidence, drawn from the UK 

and other high and middle-income countries, in which access to green or open 

spaces has been shown to be associated with improved mental health outcomes [1] 

[2] 

• Reduction of CVD mortality risk associated with increased residential greenness [2] 

[3] 

• Use of green spaces is associated with: a decrease in health complaints, improved 

blood pressure and cholesterol levels, reduced stress, improved general health 

perceptions and a greater ability to face problems [4] 

Change in activity Levels 

• Urban environments that lack public gathering places can encourage sedentary 

living habits, while the provision of attractive parks and open spaces can facilitate 

opportunities for exercise [5] 

• The likelihood of being physically active may be up to three times higher in 

residential environments that contain high levels of greenery, and the likelihood of 

being overweight or obese may be up to 40% less [5] 

• The links between access to green space and levels of physical activity are well-

established in research, which shows higher levels of physical activity in areas with 

more green space.10 Estimates suggest that an inactive person is likely to spend 

37% more time in hospital and visit the doctor 5.5% more often than an active 

person.11 In 2007, physical inactivity was estimated to cost the NHS between £1 

billion and £1.8 billion. [5] 

Social capital 

 Based on evidence gathered together by Public Health England, the Institute of 

Health Equity at University College London has concluded that increases in the use 

of good-quality green spaces by all social groups is likely to improve health 

outcomes and reduce health inequalities, and can also bring other benefits such as 

greater community cohesion and reduced social isolation. [6] 

 High-quality natural green open spaces of different sizes are easy to get to from 

dwellings –for example, no-one should live more than 300 metres from their nearest 

area of natural green space of at least two hectares in size. [7] 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 608



Page 39 of 61 

 

References 

 

[1]  c. Clark, R. Myron, S. Stansfield and B. Candy, “A systematic review of the evidence 

on the effect of the built and physical environment on mental health,” Journal of Public 

Mental Health, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 14-27, 2007.  

[2]  Public Health England, “Spatial Planning for Health An evidence resource for planning 

and designing healthier places,” 2017. [Online]. Available: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme

nt_data/file/729727/spatial_planning_for_health.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[3]  M. Gascon, M. Triguero-Mas, D. Martinez, P. Dadvand, D. Rojas-Rueda, A. Plasencia 

and M. Nieuwenhuijsen, “Residential green spaces and mortality: A systematic 

review,” Environmental International , vol. 86, pp. 60-67, 2016.  

[4]  The King's Fund, “Time to think differently,” 2018. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-broader-

determinants-health-parks-green-spaces. 

[5]  The institute of Public health in Ireland, “Health Impacts of the Built Environment a 

review,” 2006. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.publichealth.ie/files/file/Health_Impacts_of_the_Built_Environment_A_Rev

iew.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[6]  Pubilic Health England, “Local Action on Health Inequalities: Improving Access to 

Green Spaces,” 2014. [Online]. Available: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme

nt_data/file/355792/Briefing8_Green_spaces_health_inequalities.pdf. [Accessed 

2018]. 

[7]  TCPA - Town and country planning association, Public health england, “Planning 

healthyweight environments – a TCPA reuniting health with planning project,” 2014. 

[Online]. Available: 

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Planning_healthy_weight_environment

s.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

 

 

Housing impacts on health 
 

Overview  

 It is estimated that 20% of the UK’s housing stock does not meet decent home 

standard and that the cost to the NHS of poor quality housing is £2.5 billion per 

annum (BRE, 2010). [1] [2] 

 There is evidence to suggest that living in a warm and energy efficient property can 

improve general health outcomes, reduce respiratory conditions, improve mental 

Page 609



Page 40 of 61 

health and reduce mortality  (Gibson et al., 2011; Krieger et al., 2014; Thomson et 

al., 2009; Thomson et al., 2013; WHO 2005) [1] 

Children 

Pregnancy and early development 

 Homelessness and temporary accommodation during pregnancy are associated 

with an increased risk of preterm birth, low birth weight, poor mental health in 

infants and children, and developmental delay (Stein and Gelberg 2000; Richards et 

al 2011, cited in NSPCC undated). [3] 

 

Non communicable diseases  

 Children living in cold homes are twice as likely to develop respiratory problems as 

those in warm homes and there are clear effects of fuel poverty on the mental 

health of adolescents (Marmot Review Team 2011). [3] 

 Children living in overcrowded and unfit conditions are more likely to experience 

respiratory problems such as coughing and asthmatic wheezing. For many children 

this means losing sleep, restricted physical activity, and missing school. [4] 

 Overcrowded conditions have been linked to slow growth in childhood, which is 

associated with an increased risk of coronary heart disease in later life. [4] 

 

Communicable diseases 

 

 Children in overcrowded housing are up to 10 times more likely to contract 

meningitis than children in general. Meningitis can be life threatening. Long-term 

effects of the disease include deafness, blindness and behavioural problems.   

 There is a direct link between childhood tuberculosis (TB) and overcrowding. TB 

can lead to serious medical problems and is sometimes fatal.  [4] 

 

Injuries  

 Poor-quality and overcrowded housing is associated with increased prevalence of 

injuries in children (RoSPA undated a) [4] 

 Almost half of all childhood accidents are associated with physical conditions in the 

home. Families living in properties that are in poor physical condition are more likely 

to experience a domestic fire. [4] 

 

Older adults 

Injuries  

 Hazards in the home and poor accessibility contribute to falls and accidents. [5] 

 Costs to the health service The Building Research Establishment (BRE) estimate 

that poor housing costs the health service £600 million every year and that the total 

cost to society could be as high as  £1.5 billion.27 In 2012 [5] 

 improvements to residential lighting and interventions to reduce hazards in the 

home can lead to improved social outcomes and reduce fall-related injuries among 

older adults (Bambra et al., 2010; McClure et al., 2008) [6] [1] 

 

Page 610



Page 41 of 61 

 

Non communicable diseases  

 Research carried out by the Marmot Review Team [7] found a significant correlation 

between cold temperature and cardiovascular and respiratory disease.  There are 

also links with colds, flu and pneumonia, as well as arthritis. [5] 

 Cold can also affect mental health, which is likely to be exacerbated by worries 

about high energy bills. [7] [5] 

 

References 

 

[1]  Public Health England, "Spatial Planning for Health An evidence resource for planning 

and designing healthier places," 2017. [Online]. Available: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme

nt_data/file/729727/spatial_planning_for_health.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[2]  Building Research Establishment (BRE), "The cost of poor housing to the NHS," 2010. 

[Online]. Available: https://www.bre.co.uk/filelibrary/pdf/87741-Cost-of-Poor-Housing-

Briefing-Paper-v3.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[3]  King's Fund, "Housing and Health," 2018. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-03/Housing_and_health_final.pdf. 

[4]  Shelter, "Chance of a lifetime The impact of bad housing on children’s lives," 2006. 

[Online]. Available: 

https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/39202/Chance_of_a_Lifetim

e.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[5]  Age UK, "Housing in later life," 2014. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-

publications/reports-and-briefings/safe-at-

home/rb_july14_housing_later_life_report.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[6]  C. Bambra, M. Gibson, A. Sowden, K. Wright, M. Whitehead and M. Petticrew, 

"Tackling the wider social determinants of health and health inequalities: Evidence 

from systematic reviews," Epidemiol Community Health, vol. 64, pp. 284-291, 2010.  

[7]  Marmot Review team, " The Health Impacts of Cold Homes and Fuel Poverty," 2011. 

[Online]. Available: http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/ projects/the-health-impacts-

of-cold-homes-and-fuel-poverty. 

 

 

Traffic Impacts upon Health and Community cohesion 
 

Overview 

Page 611



Page 42 of 61 

 Each year in the UK, around 40,000 deaths are attributable to exposure to outdoor 

air pollution, with more linked also to exposure to indoor pollutants. [1] 

 Road transport accounts for 31% of nitrogen oxides (NOx), 19.5% ofPM2.5 and 

18% of PM10 UK emissions. [2] 

 

Children  

 Peak times for pollution caused by traffic can coincide with times when children are 

walking or cycling to school. [3] 

 

Non communicable diseases  

 Evidence collated by Defra, Public Health England and the Local Government 

Association shows that short-term exposure to high levels of air pollution can cause 

a range of adverse health effects including exacerbation of asthma, effects on lung 

function, increases in hospital admissions and mortality. A review by the World 

Health Organization concludes that long-term exposure to air pollution reduces life 

expectancy by increasing deaths from lung, heart and circulatory conditions. [4] 

Noise 

 The impacts on health can be difficult to quantify particularly when noise levels 

cause annoyance rather than actual damage to hearing. This is partly due to the 

subjective nature of annoyance which includes personal preferences and tolerance 

levels.   A report on noise effects and illness showed a causal chain between 

health, annoyance and illness but the links were mainly associated with how the 

individual experiences the noise and the control they exert over their environment. 

Other research has found noticeable differences between annoyance impacts on 

different age groups.  For adults, the main symptoms included depression and 

impacts on the cardiovascular, respiratory and musculo-skeletal systems. The main 

symptom experienced by the elderly population was an increase in stroke, while for 

children the effects of noise were primarily seen in respiratory symptoms. Night time 

noise is thought to be particularly problematic as it can affect sleep with subsequent 

impacts on health. Furthermore, research in the UK found that noise levels 

contributed to an exacerbation of asthma where city dwellers where unable to sleep 

with their window open because of noise [5] 

Community cohesion  

 All aspects of perceived liveability—absence of noise, stress, and pollution; levels of 

social interaction, territorial extent, and environmental awareness; and safety—were 

found to correlate inversely with traffic intensity. Traffic increases were also 

accompanied by the departure of families with children from these streets. (San 

Francisco) [6] 

 The results confirmed that Appleyard‟s findings are applicable to the UK in the 21st 

century; specifically that the number of friends and acquaintances reported by 

residents was significantly lower on streets with higher volumes of motor traffic. The 

extent of people’s home territories also diminished as motor traffic increased. Other 

notable outcomes from the research include the finding that individuals‟ perceptions 

of road safety in their neighbourhood may be disproportionately influenced by the 

Page 612



Page 43 of 61 

traffic conditions on their street of residence, especially affecting the degree of 

independence granted to children. (Replication of the above in Bristol.) [7] 

 

 

 

References 

 

[1]  Royal College of Physicians, “Every breath we take. The lifelong impact of air 

pollution,” 2016. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-

air-pollution. [Accessed 2018]. 

[2]  NICE and Public Health England, “Air pollution: outdoor air quality and Air pollution: 

outdoor air quality and health,” 2017. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng70/resources/air-pollution-outdoor-air-quality-

and-health-pdf-1837627509445. [Accessed 2018]. 

[3]  Local Government association and Public health England, “Health and wellbeing in 

rural areas,” 2017. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/1.39_Health%20in%20rural%2

0areas_WEB.pdf. 

[4]  Joint air quality unit , “UK plan for tacking roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations 

An overview,” [Online]. Available: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach

ment_data/file/633269/air-quality-plan-overview.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[5]  The institute of Public health in Ireland, “Health Impacts of the Built Environment a 

review,” 2006. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.publichealth.ie/files/file/Health_Impacts_of_the_Built_Environment_A_R

eview.pdf. [Accessed 2018]. 

[6]  D. Appleyard and M. Lintell, “The Environmental Quality of City Streets: The 

Residents' Viewpoint,” Journal of the American Institute of planners, vol. 38, no. 2, 

pp. 84-101, 1972.  

[7]  J. Hart and G. Parkhurst, “Driven to excess: Impacts of motor vehicles on the quality 

of life of residents of three streets in Bristol UK,” World Transport Policy and Practice 

, vol. 2, no. 17, pp. 12-30, 2011.  

 

 

University development; health needs and social cohesion 
 

Social cohesion  

Page 613



Page 44 of 61 

 Following the expansion of higher education in the 1990s, there have been 

increasing concerns amongst residents in some areas that the growing number of 

students living in the private rented sector has resulted in more rubbish and litter, 

noise, antisocial behaviour, poor housing quality and feelings of a ‘loss of 

community and neighbourhood’.  [1] 

Mental health  

 Over the past 10 years, there has been a significant increase in the number of first-

year students who disclose a mental health condition to their HEI (see figure 4.1). In 

2015/16, there were 15,395 UK-domiciled first-year students at HEIs in the UK who 

disclosed a mental health condition – almost five times the number in 2006/07 

(3,145). [2] 

 

 

 

References 

 

[1] Universities UK/NUS/Distinction and diversity in higher education, "Living together, 

Working together," 2010. [Online]. Available: https://www.universitiesuk.ac.uk/policy-

and-analysis/reports/Documents/2010/living-together-working-together.pdf. [Accessed 

2018]. 

 

Appendix 5 County Durham Health Profile 

 

County Durham Health Profile 

County Durham is the seventh largest authority in England, lying at the heart of the North East 

region. It covers a total area of 862 square miles with a variety of landscapes rich in wildlife, 

attractive countryside, villages, historic towns and coastline. It is home to around 523,000 people. 

County Durham shares many of the problems of the North of England, arising from a long-term 

pattern of sectoral change and industrial decline. It also has unique challenges arising from its 

legacy of scattered industrial settlements, and its lack of large urban areas to drive growth.  

 

The footprint of the Local Authority is coterminous with two Clinical Commissioning Groups 

(CCGs); North Durham CCG and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG. These can be 

further subdivided into six clinical commissioning localities/constituencies.  AAPs have been set up 

to give people in County Durham a greater choice and voice in local affairs. The 14 partnerships 

allow people to have a say on services, and give organisations the chance to speak directly with 

local communities. AAP actions and spending are linked to the needs of local communities and 

focus on issues important them. 

 

The health and wellbeing of the people in County Durham has improved significantly over recent 

years, but remains worse than the England average. Health inequalities remain persistent and 

pervasive. Levels of deprivation are higher and life expectancy is lower than the England average. 

There is also inequality within County Durham for many measures (including breastfeeding, babies 

Page 614



Page 45 of 61 

born to mothers who smoke, childhood obesity and premature deaths). The impact of this becomes 

obvious when looking at life expectancy; a child born today in the most deprived areas of County 

Durham could expect to live between 7 and 8 years less than one born in the least deprived areas. 

 

General attributes of the population (including size, density, age, gender, income and 

employment, socio-economic status etc.) 

The county, though commonly regarded as a predominantly rural area, varies in character from 

remote and sparsely populated areas in the west, to the former coalfield communities in the centre 

and the east, where villages tend to accommodate thousands rather than hundreds. Around 90% 

of the population lives east of the A68 road in approximately half of the county by area.  

 

The 2017 Office for National Statistics (ONS) mid-year estimate of population for County Durham 

was 523,662. Between 2001 and 2017 the population of County Durham increased by 30,000 

people (6.1%) with the North East increasing by 4.1% over the same period.  These latest 

estimates show that the county’s population has grown in number for each of the last 14 

consecutive years. ONS predict (2016 projections) that the county’s population will continue to 

grow over the coming years, increasing by 3.0% by 2026 and by 5.6% overall by 2041. 

 There are around 28,000 children under 5 years old living in the county and over 100,000 

under 18s. 

 Unlike the national trend, the county has seen a gradual fall in the number of its children 

and young people since 2001. 

 However, the number of pre-school children aged 0 to 4 is projected to increase by 3% by 

2039. 

 There are around 316,000 people of working age (18-64) living in County Durham and this 

is predicted to decline by over 2% by 2039. 

 County Durham has an ageing population with over 105,000 people aged 65+ and over 

12,000 aged 85 and over. 

 The number of people aged 65 and over has increased nearly 30% over the last couple of 

decades and now represents one fifth of the county’s resident population – this increase is 

predicted to continue. 

 

Employment/income 

The latest figures (2017/18) estimate that 71.2% of the county’s 16 to 64 population are employed.  

This is slightly higher than the regional level (71.0%) but lower than national levels (75.1%). To 

achieve national levels of employment an additional 12,700 people of working age in County 

Durham would need to enter employment. This could be achieved if some of those people 

currently economically inactive and wanting a job (17,400 people) were to enter employment. The 

employment rate in County Durham for those with an Equality Act (EA) core or work limiting 

disability is 44.2%, much lower than the rate for those without a disability (80.6%). 

Latest data from NOMIS (for 2017) states that over 25,000 people in County Durham are 

economically inactive due to long term sick. That’s almost 33% of all those economically inactive 

(aged 16-64), compared to 27.5% in the North East and 21% in England. Unemployment and 

Page 615



Page 46 of 61 

economic inactivity play a significant role in increasing poverty, social isolation and loss of self-

esteem. These issues also decrease psychological wellbeing, physical health and mental health 

and wellbeing. 

In County Durham, weekly gross pay for full-time workers has increased from £387.80 in 2008 to 

£492.20 in 2017, an increase of 27%. However, this equates to £71.50 per week below the UK and 

£22.80 per week below the North East per week. 

Deprivation 

County Durham experiences higher levels of deprivation than the national average. Over 40% of 

our population live in relatively deprived areas (43% of County Durham’s Lower Super Output 

Areas (LSOAs) are in the 30% most deprived nationally). The variation in County Durham is shown 

on the map below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

It should be noted that pockets of relative deprivation exist across the County, even in more 

relatively affluent areas such as Durham and Chester-le-Street. 

 

Page 616



Page 47 of 61 

 

Health status, particularly of the population groups already identified as vulnerable and 

likely to benefit or be harmed by the proposal  

Too many of our population suffer from avoidable ill-health or die prematurely. Lifestyles remain a 

key driver to reducing premature deaths but it is clear that social, economic and environmental 

factors also have a significant and direct impact on health and wellbeing. Marmot identified a clear 

social gradient for mortality and morbidity, where the poorer are sicker and die earlier. Mortality 

and morbidity, along with life expectancy and healthy life expectancy are influenced by the 

conditions in which one is born, lives and dies.  

Life expectancy 

Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy can be used as important measures of the overall 

health of County Durham’s population. People in County Durham are living longer; life expectancy 

for both men and women has been improving over time, but the rate of this increase has slowed 

and there is still a significant gap between the life expectancy in County Durham and the England 

average. The most recent figures are shown below. 

Key life expectancy figures, men and women, County Durham and England. Source: PHOF, PHE. 

 

 

Page 617



Page 48 of 61 

 

There is inequality in life expectancy between County Durham and England. There is also a social 

gradient to LE within County Durham, where men and women in the most deprived areas have a 

life expectancy of between 7 and 8 years shorter than the least deprived areas. 

It is also important to determine whether additional years of life are being spent in good health or 

prolonged poor health and dependency.  Healthy life expectancy adds a quality of life dimension to 

life expectancy. Similar to LE there is inequality in healthy life expectancy between County Durham 

and England, and within County Durham. Male and female HLE in County Durham is statistically 

significantly lower than; men 59.1 years, women 59 years. There is also a social gradient to HLE 

within County Durham, where men and women in the most deprived areas have a life expectancy 

of between 13.8 and 14.5 years shorter than the least deprived areas. 

The bus ride across County Durham show how healthy life expectancy differs across the length 
and breadth of our diverse county highlighting health inequalities. 
 
Healthy life expectancy infographic. 

 

Page 618



Page 49 of 61 

Cause of death 

The PHE Segment Tool shows the relative contribution to the difference in life expectancy made by 

various causes of death 1) between County Durham and England and 2) between the most and 

least deprived areas of County Durham. Results for County Durham illustrate the key role played 

by avoidable causes of death such as coronary heart disease and lung cancer on inequalities in life 

expectancy. It should be noted that deaths in younger people contribute to a larger proportion of 

the gap, as more years of life are lost. 

 

The table below shows the main contributors to the lower life expectancy in County Durham 

compared to England. It illustrates that: 

 For men 

o around one-third of the gap between County Durham and England (33.1%) is 

caused by higher rates  

of mortality from external causes (including suicide).  

o Around one-third of the gap between County Durham and England (30.9%) is 

caused by higher rates of cancer mortality. 

o Circulatory mortality accounts for 12% of the gap between County Durham and 

England. 

 For women 

o Around one-quarter of the gap between County Durham and England (27.5%) is 

caused by higher rates of cancer mortality.  

o Respiratory mortality accounts for almost 20% of the gap between County Durham 

and England. 

o Circulatory mortality accounts for 12% of the gap between County Durham and 

England. 

Scarf chart showing the breakdown of the life expectancy gap between County Durham as a whole 

and England as a whole, by broad cause of death, 2012-14. Source: The Segment Tool, PHE, 

2016. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Men Women

Circulatory 12.0 15.0

Cancer 30.9 27.5

Respiratory 6.3 19.8

Digestive 4.1 13.1

External causes 33.1 8.4

Mental & behavioural 2.5 5.0

Other 10.8 11.3

<28 days 0.0 0.0

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Page 619



Page 50 of 61 

Figure shows the main contributors to the lower life expectancy between the most and least 

deprived communities in County Durham. It illustrates that: 

Cancer is the biggest contributor to the gap between the most and least deprived communities in 

County Durham for both men (28.6%) and women (35.8%). Around 45% of excess cancer mortality 

in County Durham was due to lung cancer. Circulatory disease is the second biggest contributor to 

the gap between least and most deprived in County Durham for men (20.8%) and women (15.6%). 

External causes of death for men (15%) have a greater contribution to the gap between deprived 

and affluent communities in County Durham compared to women (5.1%). 

Scarf chart showing the breakdown of the life expectancy gap between the most and least 

deprived quintiles in County Durham, %, by broad cause of death, 2012-14. Source: The Segment 

Tool, PHE, 2016. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Men Women

Circulatory 20.8 15.6

Cancer 28.6 35.8

Respiratory 13 20.1

Digestive 10.2 11.3

External causes 15 5.1

Mental & behavioural 3.1 0.4

Other 9.3 11.7

<28 days 0 0

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Page 620



Page 51 of 61 

 

 

Many people in County Durham continue to engage in unhealthy behaviours when compared to 

England, directly linked to the social, economic and environmental factors outlined above.  

Role of lifestyle 

Indicators relating to unhealthy and risky behaviours in adults, County Durham, North East and 

England 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Unhealthy behaviours County Durham North 
East 

England 

 
% of adults who are current 
smoker  

 
 
 

 
14% 

 
16% 

 
15% 

 
% of adults who are not 
physically active 

 
 
 

 
33% 

 
36% 

 
34% 

% of adults drinking over 14 
units of alcohol a week 
 

 33% 30% 26% 

% adults not eating the 
recommended ‘5 –a-day’ 
 

 43% 44% 43% 

% of adults with excess 
weight 
 

 
 

 67% 
 

64% 
 

66% 

Unhealthy behaviours County Durham North 
East 

England 

% deliveries to teenage 
mothers 

 

 

 

1.5% 1.4% 0.8% 

 
% of 15 year olds who are 
regular drinkers 
 

 
 

9% 
 

9% 
 

6% 

% 15 year olds who are 
current smokers 
 
 

 

11% 10% 8% 

 
% of mothers smoking at 
time of delivery  
 

 
 
 

 
17% 

 
16% 

 
11% 

 
% of 4-5 year olds with 
excess weight 
 

 
 
 

 
24% 

 
25% 

 
23% 

 
% of 10-11 year olds with 
excess weight 
 

 
 

 38% 
 

37% 
 

34% 

% of 15 year olds not 
eating the recommended ‘5 

 43% 44% 43% 

Page 621



Page 52 of 61 

 

 

 

 

Indicators relating to unhealthy and risky behaviours in perinatal period, children and 

young people, County Durham, North East and England 

 

Quality of life indicators  

The county has many physical assets with a World Heritage Site, 70 parks and open spaces, an 

area of outstanding natural beauty covering upper Teesdale and Weardale and 15km of defined 

Heritage Coast. The attractiveness of the local environment is reflected in the number of awards 

the county has received which includes 21 green flags for parks and green spaces. 

 

34.6% of residents have access to woodland of at least 2 hectares within 500m. This is the highest 

percentage in the North East and over twice that of England (16.8%). The proportion of people who 

use outdoor space for exercise (14.1%) is lower than the North East (17.3%) and England (17.9%) 

figures. County Durham is ranked second from bottom within both the North East and CIPFA 

nearest neighbour groupings. 

Air pollution causes approximately 4% of annual deaths from all causes in those ages over 30 

years. 

Data modelling suggests that around 2% of the County Durham’s population is exposed to road, 

rail and air transport noise of 65dB(A) or more during the daytime. This rises to 4% at night-time. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

–a-day’ 
 

% of 15 year olds not 
eating the recommended ‘5 
–a-day’ 
 

 55% 53% 48% 

Page 622



Page 53 of 61 

Health profile for geographic locations of policies selected for HIA 

Policies 16, 12, 26 and 51 are county-wide policies and therefore the profile presented above for 

County Durham is the most relevant. Policy 5 related to 43 housing sites across the county and it is 

not within the scope of this HIA to examine each site in detail so therefore again, the County 

Durham profile is the most relevant. The five remaining policies do have a geographical focus. 

Four relate to sites within Durham City (policies 4, 6, 17 and 24) and one to a site within Durham 

Dales (policy 58). 

The proposed sites within Durham City fall within Durham Area Action Partnership (AAP) (save for 

a section of Policy 24 the Western Relief Road). Some of the health issues experienced by 

residents of Durham AAP are set out in the following ‘walk through the life course’. It shows how 

this area of the County compares to the other 13 AAPs, from starting well, living well and through 

to aging well. Understanding the differences helps us to focus our attention as to how policy 

changes may impact upon health. 

Men and women in Durham AAP can expect to live 62 and 64 years respectively in good health. 

This is longer than the County Durham average of 59 years for men and 61 years years for 

women.  

Durham AAP is the best in the County for: 

 % deliveries that are to teenage mothers 

 % breastfeeding at 6/8 weeks 

 % of registered patients diagnosed with COPD 

 % of registered patients diagnosed with asthma 

 % living with a limiting long term illness or disability 

In addition to the above, Durham AAP is 20% better than the County Durham average for: 

 % children living in poverty 

 % mothers smoking at time of delivery 

 % people living with low income 

 % breastfeeding initiation 

 % older people living in deprivation 

 % unemployment 

Durham AAP is not 20% worse than the County Durham average for any of the indicators. 

 
The proposed site within Durham Dales (policy 58) fall within Teesdale Area Action Partnership 

(AAP). Some of the health issues experienced by residents of Teesdale AAP are set out in the 

following ‘walk through the life course’. It shows how this area of the County compares to the other 

13 AAPs, from starting well, living well and through to aging well. Understanding the differences 

helps us to focus our attention as to how policy changes may impact upon health. 

Men and women in Teesdale AAP can expect to live 65 and 67 years respectively in good health. 

This is longer than the County Durham average of 59 years for men and 61 years years for women   

Teesdale AAP is the best in the County for: 

 % mothers smoking at time of delivery 

 % breastfeeding initiation 

 % children living in poverty 

Page 623



Page 54 of 61 

 % children with excess weight (reception) 

 % living with low income 

 % unemployment 

 % pensioners living alone 

In addition to the above, Teesdale AAP is 20% better than the County Durham average for: 

 % breastfeeding at 6/8 weeks 

 % registered patients diagnosed with COPD 

 % people living with low income 

 % registered patients reporting moderate to extreme anxiety or depression 

 % older people living in deprivation 

 % registered patients recorded as smokers 

 Admissions to hospital attributable to alcohol 

Teesdale AAP is 20% worse than the County Durham average for: 

 % registered patients diagnosed with dementia 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 624



Page 55 of 61 

Appendix 7 County Durham Plan Policies Map 

 

 

 

Page 625



Page 56 of 61 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 8 Public representations 
 

Policy 4: Aykley Heads 

Policy 
Outcome 

Summary of representations 

Change in 
economy 

 The development of this nature is vital to broadening Durham City’s economic base and offering office space 
to rival the best in the North East. 

 Aykley Heads may be an excellent location for high quality employment and offers a real opportunity to 
increase the number of graduates who choose to remain in Durham.  

 I would like to compliment Durham County Council on their ambitious plans to create a prestige Business Park 
creating 6,000 much needed jobs for our ever improving City and Villages. Allows us to compete with other 
cities. 

 There should not be hotels, restaurants, gym and drinking establishments allowed on the Aykley Heads site if 
this is allocated as a Strategic Employment Site. This would turn the site into an out of town leisure area with a 
night time economy in what is at present a quiet area of the city in the evenings and at weekends. It is also 
close to a residential area. Workers should not be encouraged to drink alcohol in their lunch hours.  

Access to 
jobs 

 Wish to see the emphasis on sustainable travel provision in Policy 4 considerably strengthened to reflect the 
site’s easy access by bus and rail transport. 

 The site is NOT close to transport links other than public transport as the major highway links are to the East 
of the city. 

Change in 
green 
space 

 ...with the loss of significant and valuable green space 

 City dwellers can currently access the site for relaxation, exercise and recreation, and the loss of any part 
of this site for development purposes would have an impact on the welfare of the people of Durham.  

 My concern is based both on intrusion into or loss of Green-Belt land and serious environmental degradation 

Page 626



Page 57 of 61 

which will impact in a totally unacceptable way in our neighbourhood where additional traffic flows will 
converge.  Ecological loss - noise, air & light pollution.  

 Green Belt in Durham seems to be something that can be moved whenever it suits the council. 

 However, the DLI grounds are not mentioned. These are incredibly sensitive and important to local people. 

 By designing a development site to utilise green infrastructure with sustainable drainage systems, the green 
infrastructure is able to provide further benefits in the form of improved water quality, reduced flood risk, whilst 
continuing to deliver the more recognised benefits, including amenity value and biodiversity enhancement. 

 The plan in its current form would result with the loss of significant and valuable green space It would in my 
view also severely harm the appeal of the historic City of Durham as a tourist attraction. The loss of the 
green belt will result in the historic city centre losing its appeal to visitors.   

Change in 
mode of 
travel 

 Traffic congestion which would also have a negative effect on city dwellers. 

 Impact to local traffic - more specifically has the impact on access for emergency vehicles to the hospital 
been considered?  

 That part of Durham City which will be directly impacted by these proposals faces the prospect of grid-
lock, tailbacks and air and noise pollution as a direct consequence of traffic convergence through a complex 

of roundabouts surrounding the area in which we live. 

 Highway improvement should occur before office development alongside the improvement to pedestrian and 
cycling infrastructure  

 There is no infrastructure regarding roads, traffic congestion already at a standstill, schools, doctors etc.  

 Aykley heads will engender a level of increased traffic pressure in our neighbourhood which less intensive 

development at both Aykley Heads and Sniperley Park would moderate. 

 Aykley Heads which, when linked to 1900 new houses planned for Sniperley Park, will engender a level of 
increased traffic pressure in our neighbourhood which less intensive development at both Aykley Heads and 

Sniperley Park would moderate. This will include increased noise and light pollution, and, most worryingly, 
worsening air quality which would be intolerable. 

 We are concerned with the traffic congestion issues in and around Durham City and do not see any 

transport schemes to alleviate that.  

 The Aykley Heads site is located within very easy walking distance of main line rail services and bus services, 
and is at the centre of the County’s largest settlement, on which all public transport services converge.  

 We know we have traffic issues caused by a lack of planning when allocating the busiest services e.g. 

schools, hospitals, land registry offices and County Hall to inner city sites.  

 We are pleased that the plan for Aykley Heads does not included the Green Belt (except for the small space 
currently the County Hall car park). The points about including and enhancing existing open spaces and green 
assets in the design and protecting the conservation aspects and World Heritage Site views are crucial.  

 To bring this many jobs into the city centre and close to our site of historic interest is totally at odds with the 
stated objective of protecting that site and improving air quality within the city.  

Change 
occurring 
during the 
building 
process 

 No Comments 

 

 

 

Policy 5: Housing Allocations 

Policy Outcome Summary of representations 

Changes in housing 
standards/accessibility 
and affordability 

 Sniperley Park offers a considerable opportunity to deliver an appropriate proportion of the housing 
need in Durham City. As the site is in a high value area, it is deliverable and will contribute a large 
number of the affordable and market dwellings required. The site represents a desirable location to live 
and is in close proximity to the facilities and services in Durham City. 

 There are already housing projects going on in Consett as well of the hundreds of new homes already 
completed but there are no new facilities to accommodate the boost in population. More housing is 
likely to decrease house prices. 

 High West Road, Crook: the proposed sites location is ideal, it is close enough to walk into the town 
and use the facilities and go shopping, use the restaurants and bars. There are bus stops close to the 
site for commuters who choose to use public transport to go to work.  

 The noise pollution from roads would in my option have a negative impact on the ability to sell 

houses on the proposed site.  

Change in 
greenspace 

 Sniperley Park - There are other towns in the county where this scale of housing could be provided – 
which would then reduce the pressures on congested Durham roads and reduce the need for 
the major road infrastructure in Durham as discussed above.  

 Given the current high profile of the positive contribution made by spending time in the natural 
environment to mental health and wellbeing - Loss of greenspace leads to less healthy lifestyle. 

 The footpaths and grassed area allotments and footpaths at the rear of Fellside has allowed parents 

Page 627



Page 58 of 61 

and children safe access to the surrounding countryside.  Housing in this area is not needed and 
would have an adverse effect on the health and wellbeing of local residents of Templetown and 

Delves Lane - destroying people’s recreational walking routes.  

 1.23 of the Plan says it ‘plays a key role in shaping the physical environment which can have a 
significant impact on health and well-being and making it possible for people to make healthier 
lifestyle choices’.  It is proven that when amenities are on your doorstep and easy to access they are 

more likely to be used.  These fields are on our doorstep. 

 My daughter is my carer (I am 85) and she cannot leave me for very long periods of time. The local 
walks around the area in front of our house has been a lifeline to my daughter, it enables her to get out 
of the house for short periods & get some exercise and fresh air while not leaving me alone for too 

long. Building houses on these fields would take all that away from us. 

 A peaceful quiet neighbourhood allows you to relax or unwind easier & is key for many people as a 
way of coping & being able to walk out of your door & be in the countryside within 2 to 3 minutes 
helps so much. Building and additional 290 could severely impact on people’s psychosocial 
outlook. The increased traffic levels would could mean increased stress levels. Consider the 

additional stress on people who house value will decrease due to the planned development putting 
many into negative equity, this could have a dramatic effect on people’s health if we also have an 
increase in mortgage interest rates. 

Change in 
infrastructure i.e. 
school, community 

 Traffic - Areas are already heavily congested with vehicles parking on the footpath on the other side of 

the shops on Front Street. On occasion cars have mounted the pavement and driven straight at me. - 
Pedestrian safety is a prime concern. This amount of housing will create at least 2000 extra cars plus 
the amount of cars joining the a691 via the proposed relief roads would add to the congestion. - I am 
concerned that the increased traffic will cause a danger to local children who play in the green areas 

at the moment. - I believe this land is unsuitable for housing due to its proximity to a high speed road 
A688, which may have a significant safety risk and future health issues with the sound and air 
pollution. - Air pollution - the air quality that is already poor because of traffic, congestion and 

construction will be suffer greatly. 

 Health facilities are already struggling to cope with a large existing population; traffic flow to local 

amenities such as the Arnison retail park is already an issue, particularly at peak times; and the local 
schools are oversubscribed. Doctor’s surgeries are full with waiting times for an appointment on 
average over 2 weeks. Regardless of the building of new surgeries, the current lack of GP will mean 
that the surgeries could not run effectively.  

 The County Council should be aware of the large spoil heap which was dumped by the last developer 
which leads up to the running track & also at the back of some of the houses.  This has caused 
flooding & a large retaining wall to collapse in the past.  I think the Council should think long & 
hard about this building project.  Once again I must stress the health & safety problems this would 
cause. 

 I believe we need pedestrian crossings with lights and sound to enable visually, hearing and 
physically impaired people, able bodied walkers and bicycle users to cross the roads safely.  If we 
want healthier communities through walking and cycling we need to ensure their safety. 

 Dust pollution – The development will take years to complete increasing the level of dust pollution 
and therefore affecting residents health.  

 Schools:  Local primary schools are already full of all available spaces including changing rooms, 

libraries etc., being transformed into new class rooms to keep up with the demand.  

 The effect on the environment due building work would have consequences on people’s physical 
and mental health.   

 

 

Policy 6: Durham City’s Sustainable Urban Extensions 

Policy Outcome Summary of representations 

Change in social 
cohesion 

 You talk about healthy communities yet this plan clearly impinges on that, in terms of the new 
development at Sniperley (1900 houses) and the proposed new employment at Aykley Heads. This 
smacks of building a new road to feed employment and the amount of traffic movement from 
Sniperley to proposed inner city employment is unacceptable.  

 Public Transport services adjacent to the site allow connections directly to health care facilities 
including: Durham university hospital and doctors surgeries at Belmont.  Behaviours of residents are 
key to use sustainable modes as part of their everyday life. Having existing services and routes in 
place from first occupation of a development supports sustainable choices being made, increases the 
potential for non-car trips and limits the impacts of air pollution on health. 

 By not considering demographic distribution within the city's traditional boundary, the Plan may 
encourage the growth of student ghettos. Note recent media interest in declining mental health 
among students. 

Changes in green 
infrastructure 
(greenbelt) 

 The proposed housing at Sniperley along with the western relief road would cripple the environment 
both visually and physically and totally goes against conserving the natural environment as it is 
proposed to be built on greenbelt land which is unspoiled, visually stunning and a sanctuary to 
important wildlife, as well as an important place for people to enjoy for their leisure and health.   

 I would emphasise that Durham’s Green Belt is a haven for wildlife and home to many historic rights 

Page 628



Page 59 of 61 

of way where local people habitually exercise, explore nature and enjoy the natural environment to 
the great benefit of their health, both physical and mental. Green Belt is a unique and irreplaceable 
asset which we would say the County Plan should seek to nurture, protect and enhance rather than 
diminish.  

 The land is attractive, well used by walkers, dog-walkers, runners, football teams and harbours 
valuable flora and fauna.  Loss of greenbelt land and proximity to congested traffic routes has been 
shown to have a detrimental effect on health and wellbeing of residents. 

Change in noise  No comments 

Change in 
infrastructure  

 We must have a new doctor’s surgery/health centre as part of the Sniperley development. Simply 
trying to expand existing facilities will not work and will exacerbate existing traffic problems. 

 We suggest there is mounting evidence from within the UK, and further afield, of a growing 
disaffection with the motor car. This is related we believe to issues, for example, around climate 
change, air pollution and the health scares associated with this, to the lack of exercise issue with 
regard to driving, not to mention the frustration of daily car commuting which often includes a spell of 
‘stop-start’ motoring at some point on the journey.  

 

 

Policy 16: Addressing Housing Need 

Policy Outcome Summary of representations 

Change in housing quality  The family properties should be built to anticipate long term needs; older children remaining with 
parents longer need larger bedrooms, level access to support parents with young children and 
older adults with health issues. A downstairs toilet helps young and old families alike. Make it 

standard to have several dropped kerb in every road. 

Change in community 
cohesion 

 The Relly development would be community based and centred on mutual support, in an 
environment which lends itself to helping to maintain good physical, mental and emotional 
health, so reducing the damaging effects of isolation and loneliness, while raising the levels of 

overall ‘wellbeing’. Facilities would encourage a healthy lifestyle for its residents with a 
communal meeting room/hall: allotment area: a communal outside sitting/recreation area plus a 
perimeter exercise path of approximately 1000 meters.       

Change in inequalities  Affordable housing for elderly a must but please consider possible failing health and allow 

space for equipment 2 bedrooms to allow carers access to beds etc. when trying to keep people 
at home. Elderly may be fit when they get these homes but are likely to need support in future. 

 

 

Policy 17: Durham University Development 

Policy Outcome Summary of representation 

Change in trade  No comments 

Change in community 
cohesion 

 Poor management of rubbish and recycling at HMOs can lead to unattractive 
frontages, problems with vermin and raise concerns over health and safety. Such 

issues can affect the amenity of nearby properties and may lead to complaints from 
neighbouring residents. These matters should therefore be appropriately 
addressed at the planning application stage.  

Change in healthcare 
provision 

 No comments 

 

 

Policy 24: Durham City Sustainable Transport 

Policy Outcome Summary of representation 

Change in traffic 
and emissions 

 The resulting pollution would damage the locality and impact the health and well-being of local 

residents. 

 The effect of increased noise pollution and vehicle emissions would be detrimental to the quality of life 
and health for the residents affected.  

 The Wear Valley to the north of Durham city centre - hemmed -in by the NRR and the existing A690 
link road - could also become a pollution "hot spot". In addition to the well-known health problems 
associated with air pollution, noise pollution caused by traffic has also been linked to poor mental 
health in light sleepers, and to increase anxiety in others (e.g. https://theconversation.com/can-noise-
pollution-damage-your-health-54016). 

 The sustainable transport would encourage more people that work in and visit Durham to leave the car 
at home. This idea would also have its own health benefits helping to ease pressure on the University 
Hospital. 

 These locations will be below average for car ownership and above average for depravation and poor 
health associated with obesity and inactivity. Providing a great cycle route that provides a high 

quality link from the villages to Durham City and the allocated employment areas would provide the 
opportunity for people to incorporate active travel into their routine, saving money and getting 

Page 629



Page 60 of 61 

healthier at the same time. 

Removal of green 
space 

 The proposed housing at Sniperley along with the western relief road would cripple the environment 
both visually and physically and totally goes against conserving the natural environment as it is 
proposed to be built on greenbelt land which is unspoiled, visually stunning and a sanctuary to 
important wildlife, as well as an important place for people to enjoy for their leisure and health.  

 You should be ashamed even considering destroying such a beautiful area with no consideration for 
the wildlife, people’s health or wellbeing. In a time when there is such a focus both on exercise and 
mental health - both of which can be helped with easy access to green space - it seems extraordinary 

that our council would even consider this plan. 

 The western bypass and northern by pass roads were still part of the proposal despite the immense 
destruction they would cause to the local environment, the rural character and setting of Durham, the 
enjoyment of the countryside that benefits the health and wellbeing of local residents on the 

immediate outskirts of Durham city, the degrading and ruination of sustainable walking and cycling 
routes into Durham, and the destruction and loss of connectivity of valuable habitat, including mature 
woodland, both in the Browney valley and along the river Wear to the north of Durham. 

 People need these green spaces for mental health and wellbeing; new roads will bring increased 

pollution (both noise and fumes) the potential for more building developments alongside them, and 
slowly and surely the green belt will be eroded along with the character of Durham. 

 I use the nature reserve and old waggonways/rights of way as an area to exercise and enjoy doing so. 
Many other people in the area also use the area for this purpose as well as for general walks. This 
ensures a healthy and happy population. In a time when there is such a focus both on exercise and 
mental health - both of which can be helped with easy access to green space - it seems extraordinary 
that our council would even consider this plan. 

Process of 
removing green 
space 

 No comments 

 

 

Policy 51: Meeting the needs for primary aggregates 

Policy Outcome Summary of representations 

Change in traffic  No comments 

Change in air quality  No comments 

Change in employment  No comments 

 

 

Policy 53: Surfaced Mined Coal and Fireclay 

Policy Outcome Summary of representations 

Change in housing values  No comments 

Change in traffic  No comments 

Change in employment  Part b1 also seems to suggest that there are sustainable employment opportunities 

from open casting. This is contrary to employment data since 2014 and the future 
closure of more markets for coal. As positive suggestions for the Plan, DCC could start 
by re-evaluating its association with opencast coal mining operators and develop 
strategies and collaborations which look ahead to 2035 to a low carbon renewable 
planning landscape. There are opportunities to investigate building upon the present 
wind generating technology base in the North East and sustainable employment 
opportunities for integrated solar generation in new build. 

 The economic benefits of the proposal including its contribution to the maintenance of 
high and stable levels of economic growth through the provision of domestically 
produced coal for power generation and other sectors of the UK economy and the 
employment generated through the working, restoration and after-use of the site; 

Opencast coal extraction does not provide sustainable employment and should not be 
supported within the Durham Plan preferred options. The 2017 Digest of UK Energy 
Statistics (DUKES report), showed employment in opencast coal had fallen from just 
over 500 jobs in 2014 to 198 in 2016. 

 

Change in greenspace 
 

 Our countryside is of much more worth left intact as a health, leisure and tourism 
resource. In fact, double the benefit can be gained from leaving coal in the ground and 

this rules out the harmful immediate effects of dust and pollutants as well as protecting 
local landscapes which are invaluable amenities for health promotional activities.  

 

 

 

Policy 58: Preferred Area for Future Carboniferous Limestone Working 

Page 630



Page 61 of 61 

Policy Outcome Summary of representation 

Change in 
housing value 

 No comments 

Change in traffic  No comments 

Exposure to dust, 
materials, 
contamination 

 No comments 

Change in 
economy 

 Aside from these mineral need and land bank issues, the proposed extension will 
help secure/ retain the jobs of those already directly and indirectly employed as part 
of the quarry operations and which contribute to the local economy through wages, 
business rates, use of local suppliers, and at a national level; to the economy 
through aggregates levy and other taxation processes. 

 

 

 

Page 631



This page is intentionally left blank



1

P
age 633

A
genda Item

 15



he

Dry January 2019

Launched 13 December 2018

External promotions

• Press release by Balance

• Durham County News residents 

magazine

• Digital advert in Durham City

• Information distributed through customer 

access points, One Point family centres 

and hubs

• Social media – sharing of messages and 

video from 

At early January, there were more than 700 app 

downloads in County Durham making County 

Durham top local authority area for downloads 

at that point.

2

P
age 634



he

Dry January - 2019

3

DCC internal promotions

• Video from Kevin Lough, Health and Safety manager successfully 

completing Dry January last year.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_BlFbmixWpM

• Face to face engagement with staff at sites around county.

• Internal promotions through Intranet and staff magazine

More than 240 DCC staff signed up.

P
age 635

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_BlFbmixWpM


he

Alcohol

4

Next campaign: Spot of lunch – highlighting                                                                     

the links between alcohol and breast cancer

Re-launch by Balance on Monday 4 

February

Campaign will include TV and digital 

advertising

Campaign website  -

www.reducemyrisk.tv/

Supporting through social media, digital 

screen in Durham City and internal 

communications to staff

P
age 636

http://www.reducemyrisk.tv/


5

Time to Talk

7 February

P
age 637



he

Time to Talk Day

Durham County Council – signed Time to Change pledge October 2018

Time to Change champions – over 80 members of staff to promote good 

mental health.

Training underway for tier 4 managers. Tier 5 manager training to commence 

shortly.

Time to Talk Day

• Promotion of Time to Change champions

• Promotion of Time to Change mental health quiz

• Promotional materials to be distributed to all DCC sites to encourage 

conversations about mental health.

• Senior manager vlog

• Activities by health advocates and Time to Change champions

6

P
age 638



he

National Autism Awareness week

Monday 1st April to Sunday 7th April 2019

• Discussions are underway with Durham County Council and partners to 

develop a programme of activities across County Durham during Autism 

Awareness Week

• Further details to be provided to the Health and Wellbeing Board at its 

meeting on 6th March 2019

7

P
age 639



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 2018
	6 Summaries of Planning Guidance and NHS Long Term Plan: Report of Chief Operating Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups
	7 Monitoring update of SEND written statement of action: Report of Corporate Director, Children and Young People's Services, Durham County Council
	8 Health and Wellbeing Board Charters: Report of Strategic Manager Partnerships, Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council
	Item 8 - HWB Charters Report - Appendix 2

	9 Health Protection Annual Assurance: Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Durham County Council
	Item 9 - HP Assurance - Appendix 2 scorecard
	Item 9 - HP Assurance - Appendix 3 HP Draft POP
	Item 9 - HP Assurance - Appendix 4 HP POP
	Item 9 - HP Assurance Presentation

	10 Children, Young People and Adults with Autism: Report of Head of Commissioning, Durham County Council, and Principal Educational Psychologist, Durham County Council
	Item 10 - Autism - Appendix 2

	11 Review of suicide rates and mental health and wellbeing in County Durham: Report of Chair of Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Durham County Council
	Item 11 - Suicide rates & MH - Appendix 2

	12 Sustainable Primary Care Services in County Durham - GP surgeries: Report of Chief Clinical Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups
	13 JTAI Action Plan: Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services, Durham County Council
	14 County Durham Plan: Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services, Durham County Council
	Item 14 - County Durham Plan - DRAFT Pre-Submission Plan
	Item 14 - County Durham Plan - HIA  Executive Summary Report

	15 Public Health Campaigns: Presentation of Director of Public Health County Durham, Durham County Council

